Neuroendocrine Tumours

Diagnosis and Management

Suayib Yalcin Kjell Öberg *Editors*



Neuroendocrine Tumours

Suayib Yalcin • Kjell Öberg Editors

Neuroendocrine Tumours

Diagnosis and Management



Editors Suayib Yalcin Department of Medical Oncology Hacettepe University Cancer Institute Ankara, Turkey

Kjell Öberg Department of Endocrine Oncology Uppsala University Hospital Uppsala, Sweden

ISBN 978-3-662-45214-1 ISBN 978-3-662-45215-8 (eBook) DOI 10.1007/978-3-662-45215-8

Library of Congress Control Number: 2015941427

Springer Heidelberg New York Dordrecht London © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made.

Printed on acid-free paper

Springer-Verlag GmbH Berlin Heidelberg is part of Springer Science+Business Media (www.springer.com)

Contents

| 1 | Introduction to Neuroendocrine Tumours |
|----|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| 2 | History of Neuroendocrine Tumors.7Paula Marincola and Eric H. Liu |
| 3 | Epidemiology of Neuroendocrine Tumors 23Saadettin Kilickap and Kadir Mutlu Hayran |
| 4 | Molecular Biology of Neuroendocrine Tumors35Aldo Scarpa, Vincenzo Corbo, Stefano Barbi,Ivana Cataldo, and Matteo Fassan |
| 5 | Genetic Syndromes Associated with Neuroendocrine Tumours 51 Wouter W. de Herder and Gerlof D. Valk |
| 6 | Pathological Evaluation and Classificationof Digestive Neuroendocrine Tumours59Anne Couvelard |
| 7 | Circulating Biomarkers in Neuroendocrine Tumours |
| 8 | Cross-Sectional Imaging of Neuroendocrine Tumours |
| 9 | Nuclear Medicine Imaging in Neuroendocrine Tumors |
| 10 | Neuroendocrine Tumors of the Lung |
| 11 | Overview of Gastrointestinal Neuroendocrine Tumours |
| 12 | Insulinoma |

| 13 | Gastrinoma 19 Janice L. Pasieka and Anthony J. Chambers | | | |
|----|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----|--|--|
| 14 | VIPoma and PPoma Christian Rolfo, Giuseppe Bronte, Leonor Leider, Patrick Pauwels, Konstantinos Papadimitriou, Antonio Russo, and Marc Peeters | 223 | | |
| 15 | Glucagonoma Suayib Yalcin, Cenk Sokmensuer, and Ece Esin | 233 | | |
| 16 | Somatostatinoma James M.L. Williamson | 251 | | |
| 17 | Less Common Types of Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors | 271 | | |
| 18 | Nonfunctioning Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors | 275 | | |
| 19 | Gastroenteropancreatic Neuroendocrine Carcinoma | 299 | | |
| 20 | The Multiple Endocrine Neoplasia Syndromes Simona Grozinsky-Glasberg and David J. Gross | 317 | | |
| 21 | Thyroid Cancer E. Nilüfer Güler, Murat Fani Bozkurt, Serdar Ozbas, and Suayib Yalcin | 353 | | |
| 22 | Medullary Thyroid Cancer Aydin Ciltas, Yusuf Gunaydin, and Mustafa Benekli | 389 | | |
| 23 | Diagnosis and Management of Adrenocortical Carcinomas Bulent Orhan, Omer Dizdar, and Suayib Yalcin | 403 | | |
| 24 | Pheochromocytoma and Paraganglioma Eleonora P. Corssmit and Leonie T. van Hulsteijn | 419 | | |
| 25 | Surgical Approach in the Treatment of Neuroendocrine Tumours Göran Åkerström, Peter Stålberg, Olov Norlén, and Per Hellman | 437 | | |
| 26 | Liver-Directed Therapies in Neuroendocrine Tumors Magaly Zappa, Annie Sibert, Mohamed Abdel-Rehim, Olivia Hentic, Maxime Ronot, Marie-Pierre Vullierme, Valérie Vilgrain, and Philippe Ruszniewski | 475 | | |
| 27 | Peptide Receptor Radionuclide Therapy | 491 | | |

| 28 | Management of Hormonal SymptomsBeata Kos-Kudla | 501 |
|-----|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----|
| 29 | Carcinoid Syndrome Saadettin Kilickap and Suayib Yalcin | 513 |
| 30 | Somatostatin Analogs and Interferon in the Treatment of Neuroendocrine Tumors Jonathan Strosberg | 523 |
| 31 | Chemotherapy Barbro Eriksson | 535 |
| 32 | Targeted Therapies Marianne Ellen Pavel | 551 |
| 33 | Societies and Guidelines for Neuroendocrine Tumors | 563 |
| Ind | ex | 567 |

Introduction to Neuroendocrine Tumours

Suayib Yalcin

1.1 Introduction

Including a wide range of clinicopathological entities, neuroendocrine tumours (NET) are a group of diverse neoplasms arising from cells of neuroendocrine origin. Recently, significant progress has been observed not only in our understanding of the biology and genetics of NET but also in the diagnosis and treatment [1, 2]. Besides, newer classification and staging system have been adapted and guidelines published to help to establish a more standardised approach [3, 4].

The incidence of NET is increasing in the last few years. The estimated incidence of 5.25/100,000 in 2004 is expected to reach to 8/100,000 today [5]. Although some series report slightly higher incidence in men compared to women, there appears no significant difference in terms of gender [6]. The prevalence of the disease is however estimated to be much higher and ranks only second after colorectal cancers among gastrointestinal (GI) tumours in the USA [5, 7]. Although NETs may occur at any age, it is more common after the age of 50 [6]. NETs may be associated with familial genetic neuroendocrine tumour syndromes such as multiple endocrine neoplasia (MEN) syndromes (MEN-1 and MEN-2), neurofibromatosis type 1, von Hippel-Lindau (VHL) disease, tuberous sclerosis and Carney complex. In patients with these syndromes, the age of diagnosis is 15–20 years lower than those with sporadic NETs [5–7].

NETs are usually slow-growing tumours. They can arise from many organs but commonly from GI tract and pancreas, lung, thymus and other endocrine organs. NETs may synthesise and secrete peptides and/or amines. These secreted peptides/ amines can be used as tumour markers, and they may lead to clinical symptoms.

Diagnosis and Management, DOI 10.1007/978-3-662-45215-8_1

1

S. Yalcin, MD

Medical Oncology Department, Cancer Institute, University of Hacettepe, Sihhiye, Ankara, Turkey e-mail: suayibyalcin@gmail.com

[©] Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

S. Yalcin, K. Öberg (eds.), Neuroendocrine Tumours:

About 67 % of NETs are located in the GI system; these NETS are sometimes also called carcinoids or GI NETs. Carcinoids secrete numerous peptides, including serotonin (5-HT) and tachykinins. About 10 % GI NETs metastasize to liver and release 5-HT into the blood resulting in carcinoid syndrome characterised by cutaneous flushing, diarrhoea and abdominal pain. Pancreatic NETs comprise the second common group of NETs. These tumours may be functional (~40 %) or non-functional (~60 %). Functional pancreatic NETs are usually defined by the predominant, clinically relevant hormone secretion such as insulin, gastrin, glucagon, vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP), etc.

NETs have some common histopathologic characteristics. They show similar immune reactivity to pan-neuroendocrine markers, chromogranin A and synaptophysin [8]. Neuron-specific enolase (NSE), CD56 and CD57 are less specific markers; they can be used to identify poorly differentiated NETs. Immunohistochemical assessment of specific hormone expression is not routine in pathological evaluation, and positive immune reaction for hormone expression in the tumour tissue does not indicate that the tumour is functional [8].

NETs are graded based on mitotic count and Ki-67 index (Table 1.1). Grading should be combined with organ-specific TNM staging system. Primary localization, size and invasion depth of the tumour and status of surgical margin of the excision/ resection material are also important [8, 9].

NETs usually express somatostatin receptors; therefore, somatostatin expression can be used both diagnostically and therapeutically [10]. Somatostatin receptor imaging (¹¹¹In-DTPA-octreotide or preferably ⁶⁸Ga-DOTATATE) can be used for initial staging, follow-up and selecting patients for peptide receptor radionuclide therapy (PRRT) [11, 12]. According to the localization of the primary tumour, computerised tomography and/or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) should also be used for diagnosis and staging. Ultrasound and endoscopic ultrasound can be used when necessary as complementary examinations. 5-Fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG)-positron emission tomography (PET) can be used in diagnosis, staging and follow-up of aggressive, poorly differentiated NETs. FDG-PET may also show transformation to aggressive biological behaviour [11, 12]. The role of newer PET tracers warrants further validation for routine clinical practice. Endoscopic evaluation of the patients with esophagogastroduodenoscopy, colonoscopy, double-balloon enteroscopy or capsule endoscopy is critical according to the localization of the primary tumour and also in patients with primary unknown metastatic neuroendocrine tumour or carcinoma.

| Mitosis index | Ki-67 index (%) | ENETS/WHO definition | |
|---------------|-----------------|---------------------------------------------|-----------|
| <2 | <3 | NET | Grade I |
| 2-20 | 3–20 | NET | Grade II |
| >20 | >20 | NEC (small cell or large cell) | Grade III |
| | | Mixed adenoneuroendocrine carcinoma (MANEC) | |

 Table 1.1
 Grading system for neuroendocrine tumours

NET neuroendocrine tumour, *NEC* neuroendocrine carcinoma, *ENETS* European neuroendocrine tumour society, *WHO* World Health Organization

Surgery is the only potentially curative treatment modality. Surgery should be considered for patients with early-stage disease, in patients with locoregional and resectable metastatic disease and in some selected symptomatic patients [13]. Resection of the primary tumour and metastasectomy should be considered for all suitable patients. However, surgery can not be used, because many patients are diagnosed at an advanced stage. Hence, medical treatment is necessary for both symptom and tumour control. Since somatostatin analogues have provided critical symptom control which was once the main reason for significant morbidity and mortality, now tumour bulk-related complications have become the leading cause for death [14]. The main clinical symptoms are pain, obstruction, diarrhoea, hypoglycaemia symptoms, hyperglycaemia, weight loss and carcinoid syndrome findings. Clinical symptoms may vary according to functionality of the tumour and depend on the localization and size of the tumour. The majority of these findings can be eliminated by treatment of the tumour. If carcinoid symptoms are present, somatostatin analogues, interferon, symptomatic treatment for diarrhoea, mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) inhibition and appropriate treatments can be used.

More patients are diagnosed at earlier and asymptomatic stage, and more nonfunctional tumours are detected with the aid of widespread use of improved diagnostic and pathological tools, coupled with increased awareness of the public and medical community. However, this disease is still diagnosed more commonly at advanced stage, making cure difficult to provide. The good side of the story is that the outcome of patients with NET is becoming more favourable with increased survival rates although cure may not be possible [1].

In addition to early diagnosis, improved surgical techniques can be used either aggressively or conservatively according to the presentation of the case [15, 16]. There are reported series of successful liver transplantation in selected cases, although the criteria for liver transplantation have not yet been fully established for NETs. Especially in cases with removed primary tumours, liver-directed therapies, ablation methods such as radio-frequency ablation (RFA), cryotherapy, radiosurgery or blant embolization and chemoembolization or radioembolization can be offered where surgery is not amenable. PRRT can be used in patients with well-differentiated low-grade NETs if positive for somatostatin receptor imaging. PRRT can be considered independently from primary tumour site in both functional and non-functional tumours. ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTA-Tyr3-octreotate is preferred as it has less renal toxicity and higher somatostatin receptor 2 affinity. Response rates are higher in PNETs in comparison to small intestinal NETs [17].

Besides symptom control, somatostatin analogues improve the patient's quality of life and provide the control of tumour progression in NETs [10]. Somatostatin analogues, octreotide LAR and lanreotide, can be used in functional and non-functional, well-differentiated gastrointestinal and pancreatic NETs for anti-proliferative purposes [18, 19].

Interferon (IFN) has been used alone and in combination with chemotherapy and somatostatin analogues for both symptom and tumour control. IFN can be used in selected cases as salvage therapy.

Systemic chemotherapy is more effective in patients with a rapidly progressive disease or a tumour with high proliferation rate and aggressive pathological features. Combination chemotherapy is more effective than single-agent chemotherapy in NETs. The role of chemotherapy is relatively established for pancreatic NETs and for poorly differentiated tumours. There is a strong need for data to define the role of adjuvant treatment in low- or intermediate-degree tumours that are surgically resected [1].

Targeted agents are recently proven to show clinical activity [20, 21]. mTOR is a serine/threonine protein kinase that is a part of the phosphatidylinositol-3'kinase (PI3K)-AKT signalling pathway [20]. Everolimus is an mTOR inhibitor. Sunitinib is a multi-targeted tyrosine kinase inhibitor, inhibiting VEGFR-1, VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3, as well as platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), KIT and FLT3 [21]. Both of these agents have shown clinical efficacy in phase 3 randomised studies in pancreatic NETs.

The follow-up of patients who have been completely resected with surgery or endoscopy should be at 3- to 6-month intervals. Response evaluation in patients receiving systemic treatment should be performed at 3-month intervals. The imaging method to be used depends on primary disease site, the course of the disease and the best imaging method used at diagnosis.

References

- 1. Yalcin S (2011) Advances in the systemic treatment of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Cancer Treat Rev 37:127–132
- Burnik FS, Yalçin S (2009) NFKB1–94 insertion/deletion ATTG polymorphism in gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Chemotherapy 55:381–385
- Rindi G, Arnold R, Bosman FT et al (2010) Nomenclature and classification of neuroendocrine neoplasms of the digestive system. In: Bosman FT, Carneiro F, Hruban RH, Theise ND (eds) WHO classification of tumours of the digestive system. IARC Press, Lyon, pp 13–14
- Öberg K, Knigge U, Kwekkeboom D, Perren A (2012) Neuroendocrine gastro-entero pancreatic tumors: ESMO clinical practice guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol 23(Suppl 7):vii124–vii130
- Yao JC, Hassan M, Phan A et al (2008) One hundred years after "carcinoid": epidemiology of and prognostic factors for neuroendocrine tumors in 35,825 cases in the United States. J Clin Oncol 26:3063–3072
- Yalcin S, Glasberg S, Abali H, Aykan F, et al (2014) Gastroenteropancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors (GEPNET) registry: update from an International Collaboration. Ann Oncol 25 (Suppl 4):iv394–iv405. doi:10.1093/annonc/mdu345.
- National Cancer Institute. SEER Cancer Statistics Review 1975–2004. Complete and limitedduration cancer prevalence estimates. http://seer.cancer.gov/csr/1975_2004/results_merged/ topic_prevalence.pdf.
- Klimstra DS, Modlin IR, Adsay NV et al (2010) Pathology reporting of neuroendocrine tumors: application of the Delphic consensus process to the development of a minimum pathology data set. Am J Surg Pathol 34:300–313
- Klimstra DS, Modlin IR, Coppola D, Lloyd RV, Suster S (2010) The pathologic classification of neuroendocrine tumors: a review of nomenclature, grading, and staging systems. Pancreas 39:707–712

- 10. Keskin O, Yalcin S (2013) A review of the use of somatostatin analogs in oncology. Onco Targets Ther 6:471–483
- Gabriel M, Decristofori C, Kendler D et al (2007) 68 Ga-DOTA-Tyr 3 -octreotide PET in neuroendocrine tumors: comparison with somatostatin receptor scintigraphy and CT. J Nucl Med 48:508–518
- Buchmann I, Henze M, Engelbrecht S et al (2007) Comparison of 68 Ga-DOTATOC PET and 111 In-DTPAOC (Octreoscan) SPECT in patients with neuroendocrine tumours. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 34:1617–1626
- Partelli S, Maurizi A, Tamburrino D, Baldoni A, Polenta V, Crippa S, Falconi M (2014) GEP-NETS update: a review on surgery of gastro-entero-pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Eur J Endocrinol 171:R153–R162
- Oberg KE, Reubi JC, Kwekkeboom DJ, Krenning EP (2010) Role of somatostatins in gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumor development and therapy. Gastroenterology 139: 742–753
- Coppa J, Pulvirenti A, Schiavo M et al (2001) Resection versus transplantation for liver metastases from neuroendocrine tumors. Transplant Proc 33:1537–1539
- Elvin A, Skogseid B, Hellman P (2005) Radiofrequency ablation of neuroendocrine liver metastases. Abdom Imaging 30:427–434
- Bodei L, Kidd M, Paganelli G, Grana CM et al (2015) Long-term tolerability of PRRT in 807 patients with neuroendocrine tumours: the value and limitations of clinical factors. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 42:5–19
- Rinke A, Müller HH, Schade-Brittinger C et al (2009) Placebo-controlled, double-blind, prospective, randomized study on the effect of octreotide LAR in the control of tumor growth in patients with metastatic neuroendocrine midgut tumors: a report from the PROMID Study Group. J Clin Oncol 27:4656–4663
- Caplin ME, Pavel M, Ćwikła JB, Phan AT, et al; CLARINET Investigators (2014) Lanreotide in metastatic enteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. N Engl J Med 371(3):224–233
- Yao JC, Shah MH, Ito T et al (2011) Everolimus for advanced pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. N Engl J Med 364:514–523
- Raymond E, Dahan L, Raoul JL et al (2011) Sunitinib malate for the treatment of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. N Engl J Med 364:501–513

History of Neuroendocrine Tumors

Paula Marincola and Eric H. Liu

2.1 Introduction

Neuroendocrine tumors (NETs) are a heterogeneous group of neoplasms that arise in many tissues throughout the body. They share common pathologic features but have a broad spectrum of clinical presentations and malignant behavior [1]. The history of NETs, their discovery and classification, the evolution of their treatment, and the scientists who were responsible for these advancements over the past two centuries are the background upon which we now base our modern understanding of these cancers. This chapter will highlight the contributions of scientists in the field of NETs and the gastrointestinal neuroendocrine system from which they derive.

2.2 Pavlov, Starling, and the Discovery of the Gastrointestinal Neuroendocrine Axis

Ivan Pavlov (1849–1936) first introduced the concept of nervism in 1883, based on research by Ivan Sechenov (1849–1936) in the 1860s and 1870s. Pavlov's subsequent work with dogs supported his theory that the nervous system plays the dominant role in the regulation of all bodily functions. In 1935, he wrote, "the more developed the nervous system becomes in an animal, the more centralized it is and the more its highest division acts as the director and distributor of all functions of the organism... This highest division controls all of the phenomena that originate in the

e-mail: paula.r.marincola@vanderbilt.edu

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

Diagnosis and Management, DOI 10.1007/978-3-662-45215-8_2

P. Marincola, MD (🖂) • E.H. Liu, MD

Department of Surgery, Surgical Oncology, Vanderbilt University Medical Center, Nashville, TN, USA

S. Yalcin, K. Öberg (eds.), Neuroendocrine Tumours:

body" [2–6]. Although revolutionary, Pavlov's work was incomplete in its failure to recognize the effects of the endocrine system in the regulation of organ systems. As a result of his theory, arguably overemphasized in the medical community, the role of hormones in the regulation of bodily functions was neglected for nearly 20 years.

William Bayliss (1860–1924) and Ernest Starling (1866–1927), English physiologists and later brothers-in-law, were the first to challenge the concept of nervism, in 1902 [7]. In a series of graceful experiments conducted on the small intestines of animals, Bayliss and Starling suggested that blood alone could be responsible for physiologic responses in the gastrointestinal (GI) tract. In January 1902, they skeletonized an isolated loop of jejunum, such that only the mesenteric vessels remained. A dilute solution of hydrochloric acid was introduced into the jejunal lumen, resulting in excretion of pancreatic juices; this contradicted previous theories that a dedicated loop of reflex nerves between the duodenum and pancreas was solely responsible for pancreatic secretions, suggesting instead that blood alone could carry the signal for pancreatic secretion [2, 7–10].

In follow-up experiments, Bayliss and Starling created an extract from scraped jejunal mucosa that they injected intravenously into the pancreatic blood supply. This elicited pancreatic secretion, just as in the previous experiment. A boiled preparation of the jejunal mucosa elicited the same response when delivered intravenously, but a preparation from the distal ileum did not. As a result of these experiments, Starling famously proclaimed, "Then it must be a chemical reflex." The pair presented their findings at the meeting of the Royal Society only six days later, calling their newly discovered chemical agent "secretin" [2, 11]. Support for the chemical messenger theory grew. Even Pavlov had a laboratory assistant repeat the experiment later that year, and after the team watched the experiment unfold as it had for Starling and Bayliss, Pavlov retreated to his study without a word. When he returned half an hour later, he stated, "Of course, they are right. It is clear that we did not take out an exclusive patent for the discovery of truth" [12, 13]. Despite this famous admission, when Pavlov was awarded the Nobel Prize in 1904 for his work on the mechanism of digestion, he made no mention of Bayliss, Starling, secretin, or the possibility that any mechanism other than nerves was responsible for the physiology of digestion. Pavlov is said to have given up his research on the physiology of the digestive tract around this same time [14].

William Hardy (1864–1934) may have been the one to originally suggest the word "hormone" to Starling during a casual dinner conversation in 1905. The Greek word $\delta\rho\mu\omega\omega$ (*ormao*), meaning to "excite" or "arouse," was proposed as fitting to describe these chemical messengers, and Starling scribbled it into his pocketbook. The word made its début only a few weeks later during a lecture given by Starling at the Royal College of Physicians in London. He stated, "These chemical messengers... or 'hormones'... as we might call them, have to be carried from the organ where they are produced to the organ where they affect..." [15, 16].

In the years that followed, Starling recognized that pancreatic gland secretion was in fact under dual control of both hormones and nerves, and thus came the recognition of the gastroenteropancreatic (GEP) neuroendocrine system [7].

2.3 Langerhans, Kulchitsky, and the Histology of the GEP Neuroendocrine System

Throughout the final years of the nineteenth century while the concept of internal secretion and its relation to the neural system were being studied extensively, debate about the cells that comprise this GEP neuroendocrine system was vigorous. Paul Langerhans (1847–1888) was a German pathologist and physiologist who made multiple histologic discoveries while he was a medical student in Berlin. Perhaps most famously, during the summer of 1867 while working in Rudolf Virchow's (1821–1902) laboratory, he discovered previously unrecognized clusters of pancreatic cells embedded within sheets of acinar cells. In his Doctorate of Medicine thesis that he defended publicly in February 1869, he noted that scattered among the exocrine acinar cells, in the interacinar spaces, were "…small cells of almost perfect homogenous content and of a polygonal form, with round nuclei without nucleoli, most likely lying together in pairs or small groups." Although Langerhans recognized these as novel structures, he did not identify their endocrine function, and again, time would pass before a French pathologist proposed a viable function for these newly discovered cells [17].

Edouard Laguesse (1861–1927), the French pathologist, studied the pancreatic cell clusters discovered by Langerhans and postulated that they produced an internal secretion. When he published his theory in 1893, he named them "les ilots de Langerhans" – or "islets of Langerhans" – after the young pathologist who had first described the clusters nearly three decades before. It was Laguesse's characterization of these clusters as *islets* that led to the hormone they secrete, described 30 years later by Nobel Prize winners Frederick Banting (1891–1941) and Charles Best (1899–1978), to be named *insulin* [17–19].

The identification and description of other GEP cells were no less convoluted. Enterochromaffin (EC) cells in the gastric mucosa of rabbits and dogs were first described in 1868 by Peter Heidenhain (1834–1897), a prodigy who received his doctorate at the age of twenty. He noted the cells contained acidophilic granules unlike the surrounding mucosal cells. Two years later, he also identified small, granulated yellow-staining cells on the surface of gastric glands that are now understood to be the histamine-secreting enterochromaffin-like (ECL) cells [20]. In 1891, Adolphe Nicolas (1861–1939) reported the wide distribution of EC cells throughout the GI tract in lizards, laying the framework for the subsequent description of the diffuse neuroendocrine system [21, 22].

In 1897, the Russian Nikolai Kulchitsky (1856–1925) noted similar granular cells with acidophilic properties in the crypts of Lieberkuhn in the intestinal mucosa of cats and dogs. Kulchitsky was uncertain of the function of these cells due to limited understanding of chemical messengers at the turn of the nineteenth century, but he postulated that the "acidophilic granules within the epithelial cells are a result of the digestive activity of the intestinal tract," citing his observation that these granules appear only during times of digestion and are absent during periods of starvation [23]. It is believed that at the time of his publication, Kulchitsky was aware of Heidenhain's discovery 29 years before, but he did not comment on this parallel

observation that potentially may have expedited the realization that the observations were describing the same cellular entity [21].

Unfortunately, at the time of these discoveries, eponyms were the method of choice for labeling new discoveries. This custom proved to confuse the scientific community about the proposed functions of the "clear cells" being independently described variously in the literature as "cells of Nicolas-Kulchitsky," "yellow cells of Schmidt," "enterochromaffin cells of Ciaccio," "argentaffin or silver-reducing cells of Masson," and "chromoargentaffin cells of Cordier" [24]. Finally, in 1906, M.C. Ciaccio (1877–1956) was the first to suggest the term enterochromaffin (EC) cells to replace the various eponymous terms. This name, he explained, simply reflects both the special staining properties of these unique cells and their anatomical location [21, 25].

2.4 Carcinoid Tumors

Around the same time that the GEP neuroendocrine system was being described, two different German pathologists were describing a series of unusual tumors of the small intestine. In 1867, Theodor Langhans (1839–1915) wrote about a small, firm, mushroom-shaped submucosal tumor that was found on autopsy in the ileum of a 50-year-old woman who died of tuberculosis. He described this tumor as unusual in appearance, with sharp borders and no signs of peritumor invasion [10, 26].

Langhans' publication was solely descriptive, and it wasn't until 21 years later that another description of these unusual tumors appeared in the literature. Otto Lubarsch (1860–1933) published a case report of another series of patients with ileal tumors on autopsy. Lubarsch again noted the abnormal growth of these tumors and indicated that their histologic features were not consistent with previously described carcinomas of the small bowel. He also noted that profuse diarrhea was a prominent symptom of one of these patients, a feature that is consistent with what we now call carcinoid syndrome [27].

In 1890, a third pathologist described the first documented case of metastatic disease in the case of a 50-year-old woman with menorrhagia, abdominal pain, diarrhea, and wheezing. In life, her symptoms were attributed to uterine fibroids, but on autopsy, William Ransom (1860–1909) found several ileal nodules with histologic appearance similar to those described by Langhans and Lubarsch as well as corresponding hepatic tumors. He agreed with the German pathologists that the histologic appearance of these tumors was in fact peculiar and atypical of previously described small bowel carcinomas and went a step further by suggesting that they may have malignant potential [28].

It was 40 years after Langhans described the first of these strange tumors of the small bowel that Siegfried Oberndorfer (1876–1944) gave them a name, "karz-inoide" – or "carcinoma-like." Oberndorfer, like Langhans, Lubarsch, and Ransom, was a pathologist who had independently identified a series of unusual tumors in the small intestines of autopsy specimens. In his seminal paper in 1907, he described six cases of individuals who had died from a variety of causes (including

tuberculosis and typhoid fever) that had multiple small tumors of the ileum, spaced far apart, with nests of cells and fibrous connective tissues spreading in the peritumor area. He concluded that these must be multiple primary malignant tumors of the same organ and that they were not true carcinoma but rather grew slowly, had sharp borders, and did not metastasize. Given their supposed lack of malignant potential, Oberndorfer categorized them as distinct from "true" carcinomas, hence the name "carcinoid" [29].

Unfortunately, Oberndorfer's initial description did not accurately represent the malignant potential of these tumors, and it would be twenty-two more years before he would revise his initial assessment to reflect the true nature of carcinoid tumors. In 1929, he published a description of thirty-six more cases of carcinoid tumors of the small intestine and appendix, describing their ability to metastasize and describing their characteristics much the way that we understand them today [30].

A. Gosset (1872–1944) and P. Masson (1880–1959) made the connection between carcinoid tumors and EC cells in 1914. Using silver impregnation techniques, they demonstrated the argentaffin-staining properties of appendiceal carcinoid tumors and proposed an EC cell origin [31]. Subsequent studies by H. Kull confirmed that carcinoid tumors exhibited argentaffinity and argyrophilia in response to silver salts and pointed out that similar granular cells exist throughout the gut mucosa. However, he incorrectly postulated that these cells were of mesodermal origin and secondarily migrated into the gut epithelium [32].

Finally, in 1938, Friedrich Feyrter (1895–1973) of Poland proposed that EC cells represent a diffuse endocrine system based on the observation that these argentaffinpositive and argyrophilic "clear cells" existed throughout the gut and pancreas. He postulated, correctly, that this diffuse cellular entity was in fact the source of the mysterious carcinoid tumor [33, 34].

2.5 Cushing, Bauer, and Hypercortisolism

The two endocrine organs now known to be responsible for the clinical presentation of hypercortisolism – the adrenals and the pituitary – have been known to the medical community for hundreds of years. Bartolomeo Eustachius (1520–1574) first described the adrenal glands in 1563. He called them "glandulae renibus incumbentes." For many years following their anatomical description in *Opuscula anatomica*, they were believed to be hollow inside, containing a dark, bilious fluid that was passed from the adrenals to the kidneys and into the urine [35]. This misconception was likely due to the postmortem liquefaction of the medulla observed on autopsy [36]. In the nineteenth century, the idea of a central cavity was entertained, and in 1827, J.R. Coxe published that this central cavity had a function only in the fetus and suggested that they be renamed "diverticula urinae" to reflect this function [37].

Amazingly, the pituitary gland has been known even longer – since antiquity. For almost 1500 years, the gland was believed to secrete phlegm into the nasal pharynx, a view put forth by Galen of Pergamon (129–201 A.D.), and it was not until the seventeenth century that C.V. Schneider – a distinguished anatomist of

Wittenberg – demonstrated that this was anatomically impossible [38]. Even as recently as the twentieth century, the function of the pituitary was largely unknown, which is rather striking given that several descriptions of acromegalic individuals with pituitary tumors had been published by this time [39-42].

There have been reports of adrenal tumors associated with hypertension, truncal obesity, hirsutism, and pyoderma since 1756 [43, 44]. In 1912, Harvey Cushing (1869–1939) reported on a 23-year-old woman, Minnie G., with weight gain, muscle weakness, back pain, irregular menstruations, hypertrichosis, hyperpigmentation, mucosal bleeding, hypertension, papilledema with diminished visual acuity, and a large, round face who had been admitted to Johns Hopkins Hospital in 1910. Cushing believed her hypercorticism to have a polyglandular etiology, involving the pituitary, pineal, thyroid, and adrenal glands as well as the testes and ovaries, although he noted that a primary pituitary disorder was "questionable" [45, 46]. As the patient's vision continued to deteriorate, a decision was made to do a craniotomy to reduce Minnie's intracranial pressure. Although Cushing was reportedly considering a subsequent operation on the adrenals, this was deemed unnecessary after Minnie began to show marked clinical improvement postoperatively. In 1932, Cushing reported that Minnie remained alive and in "reasonable good health," and it is believed that she lived to be 71 [47]. Minnie's unusual course, spanning a period of approximately 50 years, may suggest that she was suffering from what we now understand to be pigmented, adrenocortical dysplasia [48].

In 1919, an autopsy performed for a fatal case of hypercortisolism revealed both adrenal hyperplasia and a pituitary adenoma. In the discussion of the case report, V. Reichman reflected on the possibility of simultaneous hyperfunctioning of both the adrenals and the pituitary, but failed to draw conclusions about a causal relationship between the two [49].

Then, 20 years after his first study, Cushing published his modified views on "pituitary basophilism" based on 12 cases of clinical hypercortisolism. In such a review, it was noted that the disease was not all that uncommon, that severe infections were a common feature, and that the prognosis tended to be poor. He postulated that the main factor in the disease process was a pituitary (basophil) adenoma, as opposed to a primary adrenal lesion as he had previously assumed [50]. In a later paper, he again concluded, "probably the pituitary lesion (the basophil adenoma) is the cause of the syndrome" [51].

Cushing was well aware of the adrenocortical hypertrophy that was commonly found in syndromes of hypercortisolism and knew that hypersecretion of an adrenal substance may have been of significance [52]. He theorized that gonadotropin might be the factor responsible, and pursued this possibility in animal studies, but was unable to recreate the appropriate symptoms [53]. At no point did Cushing consider a connection between the hypertension associated with these patients and adrenal cortex hypersecretion, which is peculiar considering that this relation was well known in patients with symptoms similar to those described by Cushing [54]. In 1932, shortly after Cushing pointed to the pituitary adenoma as the causative agent in this syndrome of hypercortisolism, P.M.F. Bishop and H.G. Close named the disease, "Cushing's syndrome" [55].

For years, the roll of the pituitary versus the adrenals was debated in the pathophysiology of Cushing's syndrome. Breakthroughs in the understanding of this syndrome were made in 1933 when adrenocorticotroph hormone (ACTH) was reported for the first time and in 1935 when ACTH was found to be elevated in the serum of patients with hypercortisolism [56, 57]. In 1950, a clear concept of Cushing's syndrome emerged when Julius Bauer (1887–1977) published a review article on "so-called Cushing's syndrome." He stated that the disease could be caused by either the pituitary or an adrenal tumor and proposed that the eponym "Cushing's disease" be reserved for those cases of hypercortisolism caused by the pituitary adenomas [58]. Bauer even made mention of the possibility of an ectopic Cushing's syndrome, but it was not until the 1960s that a complete description of ACTH-producing tumors of "non-endocrine" tissue was identified and described [59–62].

Interestingly, in 1924, a Russian physician, Nikolai Itsenko (1889–1954), published in a little-known Russian public health journal a description of a case of hypercortisolism. As this article made no reference to Cushing's article from 1912, it appears entirely plausible that both Cushing and Itsenko independently described this syndrome. In Russia, the eponym Itsenko-Cushing's syndrome is still in use to describe the syndrome of hypercortisolism [63].

2.6 Banting, Best, and Whipple: Hyperglycemia and Hyperinsulinemia

The discovery of insulin is arguably the most substantial contribution to endocrinology and medicine in the past hundred years. Prior to its discovery, diabetes was a lethal disease of childhood with a prognosis worse than cancer. During the nineteenth century, the best physicians could offer patients was a strict low glucose diet which at best extended life by a handful of months, and at worst killed by starvation. When Frederick Banting (1891–1941), a little-known surgeon in London, Ontario, suggested in early 1921 to Professor John Macleod (1876-1935), a distinguished researcher in the treatment of diabetes at the University of Toronto, that he might be able to isolate the internal secretions of the pancreas, Macleod was skeptical. Nonetheless, he was persuaded to provide Banting with a small laboratory with minimal equipment, ten dogs, and a medical student, Charles Best (1899–1978) [64]. Banting and Best ligated the pancreatic ducts of dogs, inducing atrophy of the acinar cells and therefore isolation of the islet cells. Pancreatic extracts were made from this isolated material and administered to a diabetic dog. Using this serum, in the summer of 1921, Banting and Best were able to dramatically prolong the lives of several diabetic dogs, convincing Macleod that they were onto something great. He allocated to the pair a larger lab, more equipment, and a biochemist, Bertram Collip (1892–1965), to help purify this internal secretion, now called *insulin*, for human trials [64].

Banting and Best began testing the pancreatic extract, now being obtained from cattle and purified by Collip, on themselves. Besides feeling week and dizzy following the injection, they had no major side effects from the injections and learned they could counteract the effects of an insulin overdose by eating high-glucose foods. In January 1922, the first person with diabetes, a 14-year-old boy in Toronto, was chosen to receive insulin. Previously near death, he responded dramatically, regaining strength, weight, and appetite. News of this success spread rapidly and caught the attention of pharmaceutical company Eli Lilly, who began large-scale production of the drug. By 1923, the firm was producing enough insulin to supply the entire North American continent [64–66].

In 1924, shortly after Banting and Best discovered insulin, the American Seale Harris (1870–1957) postulated the existence of spontaneous "hyperinsulinism" – as opposed to the "hypoinsulinism" of diabetes [67, 68]. Four scientists – R. Wilder, F. Allan, M.H. Power, and H.E. Robertson – first published verification of the hypothesis in 1927 in the *Journal of the American Medical Association*. This case report described a patient with intractable hypoglycemia who, on surgical exploration, showed evidence of carcinoma of the pancreatic islet cells with metastases to the liver. The hepatic metastases were shown to express insulin [69]. Two years later, the first case of islet adenoma was diagnosed preoperatively, identified on operation, and excised with a favorable result [68, 70].

A review published in 1935 of 157 cases of hyperinsulinism and islet cell tumor by Allen O. Whipple (1881–1963) and Virginia K. Frantz (1896–1967) proposed that although it was possible to cure refractory hypoglycemia due to insulinoma by surgical excision, the majority of patients with symptoms of hypoglycemia had no need for surgery. However, diagnostic tests of the time were rudimentary. Beyond an indirect measure of blood glucose levels through an assay for reducing substances in serum, there was no way to directly measure blood insulin levels or obtain abdominal imaging that might visualize a pancreatic tumor. As such, Whipple – a well-known surgeon who had pioneered pancreatic surgery - proposed in an article titled "The surgical therapy of hyperinsulinism" that no pancreatic surgery be performed for the treatment of hypoglycemia unless (1) symptoms were known or likely to be caused by hypoglycemia, (2) a low plasma glucose was measured at the time of symptoms, and (3) symptoms were relieved when glucose levels are raised to normal [71, 72]. These criteria, known as "Whipple's triad," although less commonly used today given the availability of serum assays and imaging technologies, remain an important means of separating "true hypoglycemia" from other conditions.

2.7 Zollinger, Ellison, and Gastrinoma

Insulinomas were the only functional islet cell tumors recognized at the time that S.Z. Sailer in 1946 described the case of a patient with a large pancreatic islet cell tumor and no clinical or biochemical evidence of hyperinsulinemia. Although a duodenal ulcer was present in this patient, Sailer failed to associate the ulcer with the pancreatic tumor [73] and it would be nine more years before an association between these two findings was recognized [74].

Robert Zollinger (1903–1992) and Edwin Ellison (1918–1970) first made this connection in a presentation of two cases in front of the American Surgical Association in Philadelphia in April 1955. Both cases were young women with intractable abdominal pain, diarrhea, jejunal ulceration, and gastric hypersecretion who had failed multiple surgical procedures in the preceding years, including vagotomies, antrectomies, and subtotal gastrectomies, and they stated, "it would seem a heretofore unrecognized islet cell tumor of the pancreas with an ulcerogenic potential must be considered in certain atypical cases of peptic ulcer disease (PUD)" [75]. This syndrome – now recognized as the triad of primary peptic ulceration in unusual locations, gastric hypersecretion, and the presence of a nonspecific islet cell tumor of the pancreas – would be named Zollinger-Ellison syndrome (ZES) in 1956 [76]. Interestingly, both of the patients presented by Zollinger and Ellison had family histories of multiple pancreatic tumors and were most likely suffering from the yetto-be-discovered multiple endocrine neoplasia [74].

Following Zollinger and Ellison's seminal paper, clinical awareness of ZES increased dramatically. At that time, preoperative diagnosis was based on clinical suspicion in those patients who presented with recurrent ulceration despite multiple surgical attempts to control gastric hypersecretion. Gastric analysis and plain X-ray of the abdomen in search of gastric hypertrophy or jejunal ileus minimally enhanced the accuracy of preoperative diagnosis [77].

In the 1960s, major advancements were made in the preoperative diagnosis and characterization of the islet cell tumors commonly seen in patients with ZES. In 1960, R.A. Gregory (1913–1990) and his colleagues identified a substance in the pancreatic tumor of a patient with ZES that might be responsible for ulceration. After injecting the extract of a ZES-associated pancreatic tumor into fasting dogs, they observed a robust and prolonged secretory response that resembled the response produced by gastrin (which had been isolated and identified as the major acid-producing hormone in 1942 by S. Komarov, who ironically studied under the Father of Nervism, Pavlov) [78]. This response could not be reproduced with the administration of histamine or insulin [79, 80]. In 1964, the same group showed definitively that the ZES tumors secreted gastrin, and these tumors became known as gastrinomas [79, 80].

In 1968, McGuigan and Trudeau developed a radioimmunoassay technique to measure serum gastrin levels. This technique was tested on four patients with ZES and compared to twenty-four hospitalized patients without any identified GI pathology. They discovered that even in the ZES patient with the lowest serum gastrin level, it was over eight times higher than the median value of the control subjects [81]. This simple development provided clinicians with a cheap and reliable way to diagnose ZES preoperatively and to monitor their disease progression postoperatively [82].

Until the 1970s, the treatment of choice for gastrinomas was the removal of potentially ulcerogenic tissue (total gastrectomy). As early as 1964, nonsurgical options were being explored, as exemplified by Victor Richards' (1919–2003) quote: "the demonstration by Gregory that these tumors produce either gastrin or a gastrin-like substance has led many people to work experimentally on the concept of producing an antihormone. I do not know of any clinical experience, however, with the use of antigastrin in the management of these cases, but it is an idea that is worth thinking about for the future" [83]. However, it would not be until a decade later that the development of H_2 blockers and proton pump inhibitors would enable a near-total elimination of ulceration in gastrinoma patients [84–86], allowing the focus to shift from preventing ulcer diathesis towards resection of the primary tumors.

2.8 Multiple Endocrine Neoplasia

Although most NETs are sporadic, multiple inherited syndromes associated with NETs exist, including multiple endocrine neoplasia (MEN) types 1 and 2, von Hippel-Lindau disease, neurofibromatosis 1, and tuberous sclerosis. Among pancreatic NETs, an estimated 10–15 % are part of an inherited disorder, whereas the hereditary aspect of carcinoid tumors is believed to be far less common [87, 88].

In 1903, Austrian pathologist Jakob Erdheim (1874–1937) was the first to describe a patient with tumors in two different endocrine organs. At the autopsy of a 43-year-old acromegalic man, he found a large pituitary adenoma and three enlarged parathyroid glands [89, 90]. Between 1912 and 1952, at least thirteen different cases of patients with various combinations of endocrine adenomas or hyperplasia of the pituitary, parathyroids, and pancreatic islets were described, all lacking a suggestion of underlying etiology. Notably, in 1927, Cushing and L.M. Davidoff described an acromegalic patient with four concurrent endocrine organ adenomas in the parathyroid, pancreas, bilateral adrenals, and pituitary, in addition to a lipoma of the thigh. They asserted that the pancreatic lesion was most certainly an islet cell tumor [91]. In 1929, P.C. Lloyd described a similar case and, in his interpretation of the findings, found that "it seems more than likely that [the anatomic changes in the three endocrine tissues] are related, but the evidence is insufficient to draw such a conclusion" [92].

Fifty years after the initial description of concurrent endocrine neoplasia, three Mayo Clinic physicians - L. Underdahl (1907-1997), an endocrinologist; L. Woolner (1913–2014), a surgical pathologist; and B.M. Black (1910–1997), a surgeon - published an article in which they describe in detail eight complicated cases featuring tumors of the pituitary, parathyroid, and pancreatic islets, in addition to fourteen cases with two of the three tumors [93]. Although five of the eight patients had at least one family member with symptoms or biochemical or pathological findings similar to the patients presented in the report, the suggestion of the familial and genetic nature of the syndrome escaped the authors. Paul Wermer (1899–1978), an American internist at Columbia Presbyterian Hospital in New York, commented 20 years later: "It was only in 1953 when an excellent clinical and pathological description of the adenomatosis was published by Mayo Clinic that one began to recognize the syndrome as a very peculiar disorder which merited the interest of clinicians and pathologists. In reading this article, one is impressed to find cases in which the hereditary origin is evident and it seems remarkable to us today that this completely escaped the attention of the authors.

Genetics was not yet popular with clinicians in 1953" [94]. In 1954, Wermer had concluded that the tumor combination described by Underdahl and his colleagues at the Mayo Clinic the year before was a genetic disorder of autosomal dominant inheritance. This genetic syndrome, which originally bore Wermer's name, was later named MEN type 1 [90].

In 1959, John H Sipple (1930–), then a third-year medical student, was the first to suggest an association between pheochromocytoma and carcinoma of the thyroid gland. Sipple encountered a 33-year-old previously normotensive man with unexplained episodic hypertension complicated by several intracranial hemorrhages. On autopsy, Sipple "was astounded by the findings of bilateral pheochromocytoma, bilateral carcinoma of the thyroid gland, and parathyroid adenoma." Perplexed that his patient could have bilateral tumors of multiple endocrine organs, he searched *Index Medicus* for documented cases of pheochromocytoma. Of the 537 cases identified, five were reported to have thyroid carcinoma on postmortem exam. He noted that, "although the overall incidence of malignancy of other organs is not increased in pheochromocytoma, the incidence of carcinoma of the thyroid is increased far beyond expectations based on chance occurrence." Sipple calculated the incidence of thyroid carcinoma in patients with pheochromocytoma to be fourteen times that of the general population [95]. This association between pheochromocytoma and carcinoma of the thyroid became known as "Sipple syndrome," which describes what we now consider to be the key features of both MEN types 2A and 2B [90, 96].

As has been the case for the entire GEP neuroendocrine system, the nomenclature for the inherited NET syndromes was unsatisfactory and led to much confusion in the literature over a number of years. Different authors variously used "multiple endocrine neoplasia," "multiple endocrine adenomatosis," "Wermer syndrome," "Sipple syndrome," "pluriglandular syndrome," and "pluriglandular adenomatosis" for years. It was not until 1989 that a consensus was reached to use MEN type 1, MEN type 2A, and MEN type 2B to describe the syndromes of pituitary, parathyroid, and pancreatic islet adenomas; medullary thyroid cancer, pheochromocytoma, and parathyroid adenomas; and mucosal neuromas, mesodermal dysplasia, medullary thyroid cancer, and pheochromocytoma, respectively [97].

In the last few decades, there has been significant progress in the understanding, detection, and treatment of the MENs and other inheritable NET syndromes, largely due to improved understanding of genetics and molecular genetic screening techniques. The history of identification of the specific genes responsible for these inherited syndromes and their respective new detection and treatment modalities is outside of the scope of this chapter but will be discussed briefly in later sections that focus on each of these disorders.

Conclusion

The history of NETs is filled with confusing pathology, hormones, and diagnoses. Even the nomenclature itself ("carcinoids" and "APUDomas") caused great confusion [98]. However, with the establishment of consensus guidelines in pathology and a greater understanding of the biology of this disease, the diagnosis and treatment of NETs will only continue to improve.

References

- Oberg K, Castellano D (2011) Current knowledge on diagnosis and staging of neuroendocrine tumors. Cancer Metastasis Rev 30:33–37
- 2. Martin C (1927) Ernest Henry Starling: life and work. BMJ 1:900-904
- 3. Pavlov I (1888) Die Innervation des Pankreas. Klin Wochenzeitung 32:667-675
- 4. Pavlov I (1897) Lektsii o rabote glavnykh pischchevaritel'nykh zhelez. Piroda, St. Petersburg
- 5. Pavlov I (1910) Lectures on the work of digestive glands. Charles Griffin and Company, London
- 6. Pavlov I (1940) Poln Sobr Trudov 1:410
- Liu E, Oberg K (2010) The history and development of the gastroenteropancreatic endocrine axis. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am 39(4):697–711
- Modlin I (1990) From prout to the proton pump a history of the science of gastric acid secretion and the surgery of peptic ulcer. Surg Gynecol Obstet 170:81–96
- 9. Modlin I, Kidd M (2001) Ernest Starling and the discovery of secretin. J Clin Gastroenterol 32:187–192
- Modlin IM, Shapiro MD, Kidd M (2004) Siegfried oberndorfer: origins and perspectives of carcinoid tumors. Hum Pathol 35(12):1440–1451
- 11. Bayliss W, Starling E (1902) The mechanism of pancreatic secretion. J Physiol 28:325-352
- 12. Babkin B (1951) Pavlov a biography, Victor Gollancz, Ltd. London
- 13. Hirst B (2004) Secretin and the exposition of hormonal control. J Physiol 560:339
- 14. Gunga H-C (2005) Nathan Zuntz: his life and work in the fields of high altitude physiology and aviation medicine. Oxford University Press, Inc., New York
- Henderson J (2005) Ernest Starling and 'Hormones': an historical commentary. J Endocrinol 184:5–10
- 16. Starling E (1905) The chemical correlation of the functions of the body. In: Meeting of the Royal College of Physicians. London
- 17. Moorison H (1869) Contributions to the microscopic anatomy of the pancreas, Jhons Hopkins Press, Baltimore. Berlin
- 18. Banting F, Best C (1922) The internal secretion of the pancreas. J Lab Clin Med 7:251-266
- 19. Sakura A (1988) Paul Langerhans (1847–1888): a centenary tribute. J R Soc Med 81: 414–415
- 20. Heidenhain R (1870) Untersuchungen uber den Bau der Labdrusen. Arch Mikr Anat 6:368
- Drozdov I, Modlin I, Kidd M, Goloubinov V (2009) From Leningrad to London: the saga of Kulchitsky and the legacy of the enterochromaffin cell. Neuroendocrinology 89:1–12
- 22. Nikolas A (1891) Recherches sur l'epithelium de l-intestin grele. Intern Monatssch Anat Physiol 8:1
- 23. Kulchitsky N (1897) Zur Frage uber den Bau des Darmkanals. Arch Mikr Anat 49:7–35
- Simard L, Campenhout T (1932) The embryonic development of argentaffin cells in the chick intestine. Anat Rec 53:141–159
- Ciaccio M (1906) Sur une nouvelle espece cellulaire dans les glandes de Lieberkuhn. C R Seances Soc Biol Fil 60:76–77
- Langhans T (1867) Uber einen Drusenpolyp im ileum. Virchows Arch Pathol Anat Physiol Klin Med 38:550–560
- Lubarsch O (1888) Uber dem primaren Krebs des ileum nebst bemerkungen uber das gleichzeitige Vorkommen van Krebs und Tuberculose. Virchows Arch 111:280–317
- 28. Ransom W (1890) A case of primary carcinoma of the ileum. Lancet 2:1020-1023
- 29. Oberndorfer S (1907) Karzinoid Tumoren des Dunndarms. Frankf Z Pathol 1:426–432

- Oberndorfer S (1928) Karzinoide Handbuch der Speziellen. In: Handbuch der Speziellen Pathologischen Anatomie und Histologie. Verlag von Julius Springer, Berlin, pp 814–847
- 31. Gosset A, Masson P (1914) Tumeurs endocrines se lappendice. Presse Med 25:237-240
- 32. Kull H (1925) Die chromaffinen Zellen des Verdauungstraktus. Z Mikr Anat Forsch 2:163
- 33. Feyter F (1938) Ueber diffuse endokrine epitheliale Organe. Zentralbl Innere Med 545:31-41
- 34. Rindi G, Leiter A, Kopin A, Bordi C, Solcia E (2004) The 'normal' endocrine cell of the gut: changing concepts and new evidence. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1014:1–12
- 35. Bartholin T (1668) Bartholinus anatomy in four books and four manuals. N Culpepper, London
- 36. Lindholm J (2000) Cushing's syndrome: historical aspects. Pituitary 3:97-104
- 37. Coxe J (1827) On the function of the capsule renales. Am J Med Sci 6:40-49
- 38. Schneider C (1655) Dissertatio de osse cribriformi. Wittenberg
- Cunningham E (1879) A large sub-arachnoid cyst involving the greater part of the parietal lobe of the brain. J Anat Physiol 13:508–517
- 40. Fritsche C, Klebs E (1884) Ein Beitrag zur Pathologie des Riesenwuchses. Vogel, Leipzig
- Landolt A, Zachmann M (1980) The Irish Giant: new observations concerning the nature of his ailment. Lancet 1:1311–1312
- Schaefer E, Hering P (1908) The action of pituitary extracts upon the kidney. Philos Trans R Soc London Series B 199:1–29
- Bulloch W, Sequeira J (1905) On the relation of the suprarenal capsules to the sexual organs. Trans Path Soc London 56:189–208
- 44. Guthrie L, Emery W (1907) Precocious obesity, premature sexual and physical development, and hirsuties in relation to hypernephroma and other morbid conditions. Trans Clin Soc Lond 40:175–202
- 45. Cushing H (1912) The pituitary body and its disorders. Lippincott Comp, Philadelphia/London
- 46. Cushing H (1914) Surgical experiences with pituitary disorders. JAMA 63:1515-1525
- Carney J (1995) The search for Harvey Cushing's patient, Minnie G., and the cause of her hypercortisolism. Am J Surg Pathol 19:100–108
- 48. Young WJ, Carney J, Musa B, Wulffstraat N, Lens J, Drexhage H (1989) Familial Cushing's Syndrome due to primary pigmented nodular adrenocortical disease. Reinvestigation 50 years later. N Engl J Med 321:1659–1664
- Reichman V (1919) Uber ein ungewohlisches Krankheitsbild bei Hypophysenadenom. Dtsch Arch Klin Med 130:133–150
- Cushing H (1932) The basophilic adenomas of the pituitary body and their clinical manifestations (pituitary basophilism). Bull Johns Hopkins Hosp 50:137–195
- 51. Cushing H (1932) Further notes on pituitary basophilism. JAMA 99:281-284
- Cushing H (1933) Dyspituitarism: twenty years later; with special consideration of the pituitary adenomas. Arch Intern Med 51:487–557
- Thompson K, Cushing H (1932) Experimental pituitary basophilism. Proc Royal Soc Lond (Series B) 115:88–100
- Oppenheimer B, Fishberg A (1924) The association of hypertension with suprarenal tumors. Arch Intern Med 34:631–644
- Bishop P, Close H (1932) A case of basophil adenoma of the anterior lobe of the pituitary; "Cushing's syndrome". Guys Hosp Rep 82:143–153
- 56. Jores A (1935) Uber Hormonuntersuchungen bei Morbus Cushing. Klin Wochensch 14:1348–1352
- Collip J, Anderson E, Thomson D (1933) The adrenotropic hormone of the anterior pituitary lobe. Lancet 2:347–348
- Bauer J (1950) The so-called Cushing's syndrome, its history, terminology, and differential diagnosis. Acta Med Scand 137:411–416
- Belsky J, Cuello B, Svanson L, Simmons D, Jarrett R, Brasa F (1985) Cushing's syndrome due to ectopic production of corticotropin-releasing factor. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 60:496–500
- Carey R, Varma S, Drake C, Thorner M, Kovaces K, Rivier J, Vale W (1984) Ectopic secretion of corticotropin-releasing factor as a cause of Cushing's syndrome. N Engl J Med 311:13–20

- Christy N (1961) Adrenocorticotrophic activity in the plasma of patients with Cushing's syndrome associated with pulmonary neoplasms. Lancet 1:85–86
- 62. Meador C, Liddle G, Island D (1962) Cause of Cushing's syndrome in patients with tumors arising from "nonendocrine" tissue. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 22:693–703
- 63. Christy N (1971) Cushing's syndrome: the natural disease. In: The human adrenal cortex. Harper & Row, New York, pp 360–364
- 64. The Discovery of Insulin (2009) In *Nobelprize.org*. Nobel Media AB 2014 Web.25 Feb 2015. http://www.nobelprize.org/educational/medicine/insulin/discovery-insulin.html
- 65. Best C, Scott D (1923) The preparation of insulin. J Biol Chem 57:709-723
- 66. Simoni R, Hill R, Vaughan M (2002) The discovery of insulin: the work of Frederick Banting and Charles best. J Biol Chem 277:31–32
- 67. Harris S (1924) Hyperinsulinism and dysinsulinism. JAMA 83:729
- Liu S, Loucks H, Chou S, Chen K (1936) Adenoma of pancreatic islet cells with hypoglycemia and hyperinsulinism. J Clin Invest 15:249–260
- 69. Wilder R, Allan F, Power M, Robertson H (1927) Carcinoma of the islands of the pancreas. Hyperinsulinism and hypoglycemia. JAMA 89:348
- Howland G, Campbell W, Maltby E, Robinson W (1929) Dysinsulinism: convulsions and coma due to islet cell tumor of pancreas with operation and cure. JAMA 93:674
- 71. Whipple A (1938) The surgical therapy of hyperinsulinism. J Int Chir 3:237-276
- 72. Whipple A, Frantz V (1935) Adenoma of islet cells with hyperinsulinism. A review. Ann Surg 101:1299
- Sailer S (1946) Massive islet cell tumor of the pancreas without hypoglycemia. Surg Gynecol Obstet 82:301–305
- 74. Yeung M, Pasieka J (2009) Gastrinomas: a historical perspective. J Surg Oncol 100:425-433
- Zollinger R, Ellison E (1955) Primary peptic ulcerations of the jejunum associated with islet cell tumors of the pancreas. Ann Surg 142:709–723
- 76. Eiseman B, Maynard R (1956) A noninsulin producing islet cell adenoma associated with progressive peptic ulceration (the Zollinger-Ellison syndrome). Gastroenterology 31:296–304
- 77. Ellison E, Wilson S (1967) The Zollinger-Ellison syndrome updated. Surg Clin North Am 47: 1115–1124
- Komaroz S (1942) Methods of isolation of a specific gastric secretagogue from the pyloric mucous membrane and its chemical properties. Rev Can Biol 1:191–207
- Gregory R, Grossman M, Tracy H (1967) Nature of the gastric secretagogue in Zollinger-Ellison tumours. Lancet 2:543–544
- 80. Zollinger R (1981) The Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. World J Surg 5:773-775
- McGuigan J, Trudeau W (1968) Immunochemical measurement of elevated levels of gastrin in the serum of patients with pancreatic tumors of the Zollinger-Ellison variety. N Engl J Med 278:1308–1313
- Jaffe B, Paskin G, Kaplan E (1972) Diagnosis of occult Zollinger-Ellison tumors by gastrin radioimmunoassay. Cancer 29:694–700
- Oberhelman H, Nelsen T (1964) Surgical consideration in the management of ulcerogenic tumors of the pancreas and duodenum. Am J Surg 108:132–141
- Fiddian-Green R (1978) Cimetidine or surgery for the Zollinger-Ellison syndrome? Gastroenterology 75:163–164
- Thompson M, Vanables C, Miller I (1975) Letter: Metiamide in Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. Lancet 1:35–36
- Richardson C, Walsh J (1976) The value of a histamine H2-receptor antagonist in the management of patients with the Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. N Engl J Med 294:133–135
- Eads J, Meropol N (2012) A new era for the systemic therapy of neuroendocrine tumors. Oncologist 17:326–338

- Kulke M, Sui L, Tepper J (2011) Future directions in the treatment of neuroendocrine tumors: consensus report of the National Cancer Institute Neuroendocrine Tumor clinical trials planning meeting. J Clin Oncol 29:934–943
- Erdheim J (1903) Zur normalen und pathologischen Histologie der Glandula thyreoidea, parathyroidea und Hypophysis. Beit Z Path Anat Z Allg Path 33:158–236
- 90. Carney J (2005) Familial multiple endocrine neoplasia: the first 100 years. Am J Surg Pathol 29:254–274
- Cushing H, Davidoff L (1927) The pathological findings in four autopsied cases of acromegaly with a discussion of their significance. Rockefeller Institute for Medical Research, New York, pp 1–77
- 92. Lloyd P (1929) A case of hypophyseal tumor with associated tumor-like enlargement of the parathyroids and islands of Langerhans. Bull Johns Hopkins Hospital 45:1–14
- Underdahl L, Woolner L, Black B (1953) Multiple endocrine adenomas: report of 8 cases in which the parathyroids, pituitary and pancreatic islets were involved. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 13:20–47
- 94. Wermer P (1973) Syndrome d'hyperplasie adenomateuse polyendocrienne familiale. Actual Endocrinol 13:5–13
- 95. Sipple J (1961) The association of pheochromocytoma with carcinoma of the thyroid gland. Am J Med 31:163–166
- Kaye R, Zak F (1964) Co-existent pheochromocytoma and thyroid carcinoma (Sipple's syndrome). J Mt Sinai Hosp 31:476–486
- 97. Gagel R, Jackson C, Ponder B et al (1989) Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2 syndromes: nomenclature recommendations from the workshop organizing committee. Henry Ford Hosp Med J 37:99
- Spence RW, Burns-Cox CJ (1975) ACTH-secreting 'apudoma' of gallbladder. Gut 16: 473–476

Epidemiology of Neuroendocrine Tumors

Saadettin Kilickap and Kadir Mutlu Hayran

3.1 Incidence

Neuroendocrine tumors (NETs) are a heterogeneous group of tumors secreting various bioamines and peptides arising from neuroendocrine cells in the endocrine and central nervous systems. NETs are responsible from approximately 0.5 % of all cancers [1]. The crude incidence is about 0.2/100,000. The incidence has gradually increased from 1.9 to 5.2/100,000 people per year during the last three decades [2, 3]. The increase at the incidence of NETs is faster in comparison to other tumors of the same organ [4]. It increases with age and peaks between 50 and 70 years. Improvement in the classification system, diagnostic techniques such as increased use of endoscopy and imaging techniques, and histopathologic examination of these tumors are considered to be largely responsible for the increased incidence [2, 5]. Due to slowly growing nature of NETs, its prevalence is increasing along with its incidence. The prevalence has been estimated to be 35/100,000/year. Frequency, incidence, and survival rates of NETs are presented in Table 3.1.

Most of NETs are diagnosed at advanced stages. According to SEER data including 19,669 cases with NETs, 59.9 % of NETs arising in gastrointestinal tract were at the localized stage followed by regional (19.9 %) and distant stages (15.5 %) [6]. Data from Spanish registry showed that gastroenteropancreatic NETs were often diagnosed at advanced stage with 44.2 %, followed by localized and regional stages with 36.4 % and 14.2 %, respectively, and then unknown stage and undetermined cases with 5.3 % [7]. However, NETs originating in pancreas tend to be aggressive and about 60 % of these tumors are malignant at the time of diagnosis.

Department of Preventive Oncology,

Hacettepe University Cancer Institute,

e-mail: skilickap@yahoo.com

S. Yalcin, K. Öberg (eds.), Neuroendocrine Tumours:

Diagnosis and Management, DOI 10.1007/978-3-662-45215-8_3

S. Kilickap, MD, MSc (🖂) • K.M. Hayran, MD, PhD

Sıhhiye-Ankara 06100, Turkey

[©] Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

| Location | Within NETs (%) | Within GEP-NETs | Incidence SEER (/100,000) | Incidence (% of primary site) | 5-year OS (%) |
|--------------------------|--------------------|--------------------|------------------------------|----------------------------------|------------------|
| GEP-NETs | 67 | | 5.25 | <2 | 75-82 |
| Gastric | | 9–20 | 0.3 | 1 | 45-64 |
| Small intestine | | 39–42 | 1.1 | 37–52 | 62–71 |
| Appendix | | 6 | 0.15 | 30 | 90 |
| Colon | | 9–20 | 0.35 | <1 | 67 |
| Rectum | | 26 | 1.1 | <1 | 90 |
| Pancreas | | 7–12 | 0.5-1.0 | 1–2 | 27–38 |
| Bronchopulmonary | 27 | | 0.46 | <2 | 44-87 |
| Other sites ^a | 6 | | 0.38 | | |

Table 3.1 Frequency, incidence, and survival rates of neuroendocrine tumors

NETs neuroendocrine tumors, *GEP-NETs* gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors, *SEER* Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results Program, *OS* overall survival ^aEsophageal, endometrium, ovary, breast, etc.

3.1.1 NETs of Gastrointestinal Tract (GT-NETs)

Although NETs have arisen from neuroendocrine cells located throughout the body including the lung, breast, ovary, and endometrium, gastrointestinal system is the most common localization of these tumors. The incidence of gastroenteropancreatic NETs (GEP-NETs) is similar in male and female [8, 9]. The incidence increases with age. Median age is lower in NETs arising from appendix and pancreas compared to those of other organs of gastrointestinal tract. The median age is less than 50 years for appendix and pancreatic NETs, but more than 60 for the others [9, 10]. Most of GEP-NETs are symptomatic and the most common symptoms were abdominal pain and weight loss.

NETs of gastrointestinal system, accounting for approximately two-thirds of all NETs, are most commonly located in the gastric mucosa, the small intestine, the rectum, and the pancreas [11]. They comprise less than 2 % of gastrointestinal system tumors. GT-NETs are the second most common gastrointestinal tract tumors after colorectal cancer and more frequent than the other NETs [12]. Distribution and stages at the time of diagnosis of NETs arising in the gastrointestinal tract are presented in Figs. 3.1 and 3.2. Incidence rates of GEP-NETs in different populations are illustrated in Fig. 3.3.

In the developed countries, small bowel is the most common primary site of GEP-NETs [2, 13, 14]. They account for 39–42 % of all GEP-NETs followed by the rectum and the colon [11, 13, 14]. The ileum is the most common location of the small intestinal NETs [13]. In Western countries, the small intestinal NETs are more common than in Asian population [15]. The small bowel NETs slowly progress and usually present with advanced stages at diagnosis. Rectum is one of the most common localization of NETs arising in gastrointestinal system and accounts for 14 % of all NETs [11]. About 1 % of all rectal tumors are NETs [16]. However,



Fig. 3.1 Distribution of NETs arising in the gastrointestinal tract



Fig. 3.2 Stage distribution of NETs arising in the gastrointestinal tract

NETs originated from colon represent about 8 % of NETs [11]. Cecum is the most common site for colonic NETs.

NETs originating in gastric mucosa are less common. It accounts for about 9–20 % of GEP-NETs and less than 1 % of all gastric tumors [11, 17, 18]. Recently, the incidence has been increased due to more widespread use of gastrointestinal endoscopy [19]. Gastric NETs are classified into three groups as types I, II, and III. The etiology and survival of these tumors are different. Type I gastric NETs,



Fig. 3.3 Incidence rates of GEP-NETs in different populations

which are the most common gastric NETs (70–80 %), are associated with autoimmune chronic atrophic gastritis and hypergastrinemia, whereas type II, which accounts for 5–6 % of gastric NETs, develops in patients with multiple endocrine neoplasia (MEN) type 1 [20–23]. Tumor size of type I and II gastric NETs is usually less than 1 cm and the prognosis is good. Type I gastric NETs are usually benign tumors. On the other hand, type III gastric NETs develop in normal gastric mucosa and are responsible for 14–25 % of gastric NETs. Their prognosis is worse than type I and II tumors [20, 22, 24].

In a multicenter registry study, the authors aimed to assess the prevalence and incidence of patients with GEP-NET in Asia-Pacific, Middle East, Turkey, and South Africa [9]. In contrast to the literature reporting the western population figures, pancreas and stomach were the most frequently reported primary sites (42 % and 17 %, respectively).

3.1.2 Pancreatic NETs (PaNETs)

Pancreatic NETs (PaNETs) are responsible for 1-2 % of all pancreatic neoplasms and the overall incidence is 0.5/100,000 people per year [25]. However, the incidence ranges from 0.8 to 10 % in autopsy series [26]. In developed countries, small intestine is the most frequent localization of NETs, but pancreas is the most common in the eastern population [9, 13, 14].



Fig. 3.4 Stage distribution of typical and atypical bronchopulmonary carcinoids

About 10–20 % of PaNETs are associated with MEN type 1 [27]. PaNETs may be functional by secreting various hormones and peptides. The most commonly observed functional tumor is insulinoma with 70–80 % of all PaNETs, but only less than 10 % of insulinoma is malignant [28]. Mostly, the other types of PaNETs such as glucagonoma, VIPoma, and gastrinoma tend to be malignant. PaNETs are usually characterized as slow growing and indolent tumors.

3.1.3 Bronchopulmonary NETs

Bronchopulmonary NETs are classified as three main entities such as carcinoid tumors (typical and atypical carcinoids), large cell NETs, and small cell carcinoma [29]. Well-differentiated low-grade NETs are known as typical carcinoids, and intermediate-grade NETs are atypical carcinoids. Prognosis of typical carcinoids is excellent. Large cell NETs and small cell NETs are considered as poorly differentiated NETs and are known to have a worse prognosis. Stage distribution of typical and atypical bronchopulmonary carcinoids is shown in Fig. 3.4.

The second most common location of NETs after gastrointestinal tract is the bronchopulmonary system and it accounts for about 27 % of all NETs [11]. Less than 2 % of all lung tumors are NETs including typical and atypical carcinoids. Contrary to small cell lung cancer, the lung carcinoids occur in younger and non-smoker patients [30]. Large cell NETs account for 3 % of all lung cancers [30]. Incidence of bronchopulmonary NETs increases linearly similar to the GEP-NETs. Bronchopulmonary NETs may present with dyspnea, cough, and hemoptysis. In some patients, they are discovered incidentally. Bronchopulmonary carcinoid tumors can be cured with surgical excision.

3.2 Survival

NETs are very heterogeneous tumors. Most of NETs are well or moderately differentiated tumors, with relatively indolent course and slow growth. Thus, overall survival of NETs is different for each tumor. Overall survival in patients who have poorly differentiated tumors and who have distant metastases is shorter than those who have well-differentiated and localized tumors. For example, median survival in patients with distant metastases for nonfunctioning PaNETs was shorter with 23 months than localized and regional disease (124 and 70 months, respectively) [2]. The survival has improved in the last two decades. Prognostic factors influencing survival are known as distant metastasis, poorly differentiated tumor, grade, age, number of liver metastasis, extrahepatic metastasis, and the presence of positive surgical margin [2, 30–35].

While the best survival rates are observed in patients with NETs arising in the rectum and appendix, the prognosis of colonic NETs is worse. The 5-year disease-specific survival rates are about 96 % for rectum and 90 % for appendix [6, 11, 36], while the survival rates are lower in the other GEP-NETs including small intestine (86 %) and colon (67 %). For NETs arising in the small bowel, the 5-year survival varies between 60 and 75 % [11, 37–39]. However, the best survival rates among small intestinal NETs were reported for appendiceal NETs. The prognosis is excellent with the 5-year disease-free survival rates of 89–95 % [6, 38, 40]. In a published study from Denmark, the 5-year survival rate was found to be 77 % in patients with small intestinal NETs [41]. Similarly, the 5-year survival rates are observed for each country. The 5-year overall survival was reported as 71 % in the US-based SEER database [44]. Higher rates were reported from Italy and Spain with 72–89 %, while in France they were lower with 56 % [7, 45, 46].

For type I gastric NETs, the prognosis is very good and 5-year survival is about 95 % [47]. However, the survival rates for type II and III gastric NETs are 70 % and 35 %, respectively. The survival rates in the USA have been reportedly higher when compared to those of Europe [6, 7, 45, 48]. While the 5-year survival rate based on the SEER database was 75–82 %, the rates were 61 % in Spain, 63 % in Italy, and 45 % in Norway.

Survival rates are lower in PaNETs than other GEP-NETs. The survival is about 27–38 % in advanced stage PaNETs [2, 13, 26, 48, 49]. In patients with functioning PaNETs, the survival is better [50]. Higher 5-year survival rates have been reported from Norway with 43 % and from Spain with 78 % [7, 48]. Incidence of NETs arising in GEP and bronchopulmonary systems has a marked increase in male and female in the last 30 years worldwide.

3.3 Factors Associated with NETs

3.3.1 Age and Gender

Incidence of NETs increases with age. Although the disease can appear at all ages, it peaks between sixth and seventh decades. NETs are rarely seen in pediatric patients. Median age at the time of presentation is 60 years [2, 26, 40, 49, 51, 52].

While incidence rates are similar between both sexes in the USA [11, 53, 54], some NETs such as NETs at rectal location are slightly higher in men than in women [55, 56]. The small intestinal NETs and PaNETs are more common in males [11, 26, 45, 46, 57, 58], but low-grade NETs in the appendix and bronchopulmonary appear to be more often in women compared with men [10].

3.3.2 Race and Ethnicity

According to SEER database, NETs such as carcinoid tumors in the appendix are more prominent in whites. However, certain NETs such as those of the small bowel and PaNETs are more common in African-Americans and Asian population within the USA [2, 11, 26, 48]. Incidence of rectal NETs is about three times higher in Asian than non-Asian populations [11]. These tumors are also more common for both males and females in blacks compared to whites [2, 11, 48, 59].

3.3.3 Genetic and Family History

Although majority of NETs occur sporadically, some may be hereditary and can appear with genetic syndromes such as MEN type 1, MEN type 2, and von Hippel-Lindau disease [2, 18]. The familial von Hippel-Lindau disease-related PaNETs are not as high as MEN type 1 [60, 61]. NETs may also be associated with certain allelic losses. For example, loss of 22q13.1-q13.31 is considered to have associated with development of insulinoma [62].

Data from SEER and Swedish study showed that first-degree relatives of patients with carcinoid tumors are associated with increased risk of also developing a carcinoid tumor [57, 63]. PaNETs may develop in 35–75 % of patients with MEN type 1 [64], and these patients tend to be a younger.

3.3.4 Occupational Risks

The association between occupational exposure and carcinoid tumors has been investigated in epidemiological studies. In a multicenter population-based case-control study, the authors reported that employment in industry of food and beverages (odds ratio, 8.2; 95 % CI, 1.9–34.9) and in the manufacture of motor vehicle bodies (odds ratio, 5.2; 95 % CI, 1.2–22.4), footwear (odds ratio, 3.9; 95 % CI, 1.9–16.1), and metal structure footwear (odds ratio, 3.3; 95 % CI, 1.0–10.4) is associated with the increased risk of small intestine carcinoid [65]. The results of a large prospective study which evaluated risk factors for adenocarcinomas and malignant carcinoid tumors of the small intestine suggested that age (HR for \geq 65 vs. 50–55 years, 3.31; 95 % CI, 1.51, 7.28), male sex (HR=1.4; 95 % CI, 1.0–2.1), body mass index (BMI, HR for \geq 35 kg/m² vs. <25 kg/m², 1.9; 95 % CI, 1.1, 3.6), and current menopausal hormone therapy use (HR=1.9, 95 % CI, 1.1, 3.5) were positively associated with malignant carcinoids [66].

3.4 Summary

The incidence and prevalence of NETs have increased about fourfold for the last 30 years because of improvement in the diagnostic techniques. PaNETs are more aggressive tumors compared with NETs originating in the other sites. Also, most of PaNETs are malignant and tend to be in advanced stage at the time of diagnosis. Gastrointestinal tract is the most common location and is responsible for two-thirds of NETs. Small bowel is the most common primary site of GEP-NETs in the developed countries. PaNETs are divided into nonfunctional and functional tumors which secrete hormones and peptides. In association with hormone and peptide secretion, functional endocrine tumors may be symptomatic. Bronchopulmonary system is the second most common location of NETs. These tumors consist of one-third of all NETs. Typical and atypical carcinoids of the lung tend to slowly grow. Most of nonfunctional lung carcinoids have been incidentally diagnosed.

The prognosis of NETs associates with their location, functional status, differentiation, and initial stages. In advanced stage, the prognosis is poor. However, the overall survival of well-differentiated and localized NETs is longer. The best survival rates are observed in patients with NETs arising in the rectum and appendix. The 5-year survival rates of these tumors are excellent with over 90 %.

References

- 1. Taal BG, Visser O (2004) Epidemiology of neuroendocrine tumours. Neuroendocrinology 80(Suppl 1):3–7
- Yao JC, Hassan M, Phan A et al (2008) One hundred years after "carcinoid": epidemiology of and prognostic factors for neuroendocrine tumors in 35,825 cases in the United States. J Clin Oncol 26:3063–3072
- Modlin IM, Moss SF, Chung DC, Jensen RT, Snyderwine E (2008) Priorities for improving the management of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. J Natl Cancer Inst 100:1282–1289
- Modlin IM, Oberg K, Chung DC et al (2008) Gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumours. Lancet Oncol 9:61–72
- Mamikunian G, Vinik AI, O'Dorisio TM, Woltering EA, Go VLW (2009) Diagnosing and treating gastroenteropancreatic tumors, including ICD-9 codes. In: Neuroendocrine tumors: a comprehensive guide to diagnosis and management, 4th edn. Inter Science Institute, Inglewood, pp 1–43
- Tsikitis VL, Wertheim BC, Guerrero MA (2012) Trends of incidence and survival of gastrointestinal neuroendocrine tumors in the United States: a seer analysis. J Cancer 3:292–302
- Garcia-Carbonero R, Capdevila J, Crespo-Herrero G et al (2010) Incidence, patterns of care and prognostic factors for outcome of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors (GEP-NETs): results from the National Cancer Registry of Spain (RGETNE). Ann Oncol 21:1794–1803
- Fraenkel M, Kim M, Faggiano A, de Herder WW, Valk GD, Knowledge NETwork (2014) Incidence of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumours: a systematic review of the literature. Endocr Relat Cancer 21:R153–R163
- Yalcin S, Glasberg S, Abali H et al (2014) Gastroenteropancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors (GEPNET) Registry: update from an International Collaboration. Ann Oncol Suppl 4;Abstract number: 1141PD
- Korse CM, Taal BG, van Velthuysen ML, Visser O (2013) Incidence and survival of neuroendocrine tumours in the Netherlands according to histological grade: experience of two decades of cancer registry. Eur J Cancer 49:1975–1983
- Modlin IM, Lye KD, Kidd M (2003) A 5-decade analysis of 13,715 carcinoid tumors. Cancer 97:934–959
- Schimmack S, Svejda B, Lawrence B, Kidd M, Modlin IM (2011) The diversity and commonalities of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Langenbecks Arch Surg 396:273–298
- Lawrence B, Gustafsson BI, Chan A, Svejda B, Kidd M, Modlin IM (2011) The epidemiology of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am 40:1–18
- Ellis L, Shale MJ, Coleman MP (2010) Carcinoid tumors of the gastrointestinal tract: trends in incidence in England since 1971. Am J Gastroenterol 105:2563–2569
- 15. Cho MY, Kim JM, Sohn JH et al (2012) Current trends of the incidence and pathological diagnosis of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors (GEP-NETs) in Korea 2000–2009: multicenter study. Cancer Res Treat 44:157–165
- 16. Fahy BN, Tang LH, Klimstra D (2007) Carcinoid of the rectum risk stratification (CaRRS): a strategy for preoperative outcome assessment. Ann Surg Oncol 14:396–404
- 17. Hirano Y, Hara T, Nozawa H et al (2008) Combined choriocarcinoma, neuroendocrine cell carcinoma and tubular adenocarcinoma in the stomach. World J Gastroenterol 14:3269–3272
- Niederle MB, Hackl M, Kaserer K, Niederle B (2010) Gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumours: the current incidence and staging based on the WHO and European Neuroendocrine Tumour Society classification: an analysis based on prospectively collected parameters. Endocr Relat Cancer 17:909–918
- Chen WF, Zhou PH, Li QL, Xu MD, Yao LQ (2012) Clinical impact of endoscopic submucosal dissection for gastric neuroendocrine tumors: a retrospective study from mainland China. Scientific World J 2012:869769. doi:10.1100/2012/869769
- 20. Rindi G, Bordi C, Rappel S et al (1996) Gastric carcinoids and neuroendocrine carcinomas: pathogenesis, pathology, and behavior. World J Surg 20:168–172
- Borch K, Ahrén B, Ahlman H et al (2005) Gastric carcinoids: biologic behavior and prognosis after differentiated treatment in relation to type. Ann Surg 242:64–73
- Akerström G, Hellman P (2007) Surgery on neuroendocrine tumours. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab 21:87–109
- Thompson NW (1998) Management of pancreatic endocrine tumors in patients with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. Surg Clin N Am 7:881–891
- 24. Christ E, Wild D, Forrer F, Brändle M, Sahli R, Clerici T, Gloor B, Martius F, Maecke H, Reubi JC (2009) Glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor imaging for localization of insulinomas. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 94:4398–4405
- 25. Klimstra DS, Arnold R, Capella C et al (2010) Neuroendocrine neoplasms of the pancreas. In: Bosman FT, Carneiro F, Hruban RH, Theise ND (eds) WHO classification of tumours of the digestive system. IARC Press, Lyon, pp 322–326
- Halfdanarson R, Rubin J, Farnell MB, Grant CS, Petersen GM (2008) Pancreatic endocrine neoplasms: epidemiology and prognosis of pancreatic endocrine tumors. Endocr Relat Cancer 15:409–427
- Metz DC, Jensen RT (2008) Gastrointestinal neuroendocrine tumors: pancreatic endocrine tumors. Gastroenterology 135:1469–1492
- Valente M, Catena L, Milione M, Pusceddu S, Formisano B, Bajetta E (2010) Common diagnostic challenges in the histopathologic diagnosis of neuroendocrine lung tumors: A case report. Case Rep Oncol 3:202–207
- 29. Rekhtmann N (2010) Neuroendocrine tumors of the lung. Arch Pathol Lab Med 134:1628–1638
- Bilimoria KY, Talamonti MS, Tomlinson JS et al (2008) Prognostic score predicting survival after resection of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors: analysis of 3,851 patients. Ann Surg 247:490–500

- Bettini R, Boninsegna L, Mantovani W et al (2008) Prognostic factors at diagnosis and value of WHO classification in a mono-institutional series of 180 non-functioning pancreatic endocrine tumours. Ann Oncol 19:903–908
- 32. Madeira I, Terris B, Voss M et al (1998) Prognostic factors in patients with endocrine tumours of the duodenopancreatic area. Gut 43:422–427
- Jarufe NP, Coldham C, Orug T et al (2005) Neuroendocrine tumours of the pancreas: predictors of survival after surgical treatment. Dig Surg 22:157–162
- 34. Scarpa A, Mantovani W, Capelli P et al (2010) Pancreatic endocrine tumors: improved TNM staging and histopathological grading permit a clinically efficient prognostic stratification of patients. Mod Pathol 23:824–833
- 35. Mignon M (2000) Natural history of neuroendocrine enteropancreatic tumors. Digestion 62(suppl 1):51–58
- Landry CS, Brock G, Scoggins CR, McMasters KM, Martin RC 2nd (2008) Proposed staging system for colon carcinoid tumors based on an analysis of 2,459 patients. J Am Coll Surg 207:874–881
- Janson ET, Holmberg L, Stridsberg M et al (1997) Carcinoid tumors: analysis of prognostic factors and survival in 301 patients from a referral center. Ann Oncol 8:685–690
- Shebani KO, Souba WW, Finkelstein DM et al (1999) Prognosis and survival in patients with gastrointestinal tract carcinoid tumors. Ann Surg 229:815–823
- 39. Pape UF, Böhmig M, Berndt U, Tiling N, Wiedenmann B, Plöckinger U (2004) Survival and clinical outcome of patients with neuroendocrine tumors of the gastroenteropancreatic tract in a German referral center. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1014:222–233
- 40. Quaedvlieg PF, Visser O, Lamers CB, Janssen-Heijen ML, Taal BG (2001) Epidemiology and survival in patients with carcinoid disease in The Netherlands. An epidemiological study with 2391 patients. Ann Oncol 12:1295–1300
- Hoej LB, Nykjær KM, Gronbaek H (2012) Incidence and survival of patients with small intestinal neuroendocrine tumours in a Danish NET center. Scientific World Journal 2012:206350. doi:10.1100/2012/206350
- 42. Yalcin S (2011) Advances in the systemic treatment of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Cancer Treat Rev 37:127–132
- Ellison TA, Edil BH (2012) The current management of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Adv Surg 46:283–296
- 44. Modlin IM, Champaneria MC, Chan AK, Kidd M (2007) A three-decade analysis of 3,911 small intestinal neuroendocrine tumors: the rapid pace of no progress. Am J Gastroenterol 102:1464–1473
- 45. Caldarella A, Crocetti E, Paci E (2011) Distribution, incidence, and prognosis in neuroendocrine tumors: a population based study from a cancer registry. Pathol Oncol Res 17:759–763
- 46. Lepage C, Bouvier AM, Manfredi S, Dancourt V, Faivre J (2006) Incidence and management of primary malignant small bowel cancers: a well-defined French population study. Am J Gastroenterol 101:2826–2832
- Kulke HM, Anthony LB, Bushnell DL et al (2010) Well-differentiated neuroendocrine tumors of the stomach and pancreas. NANETS guidelines. Pancreas 39:735–752
- Hauso O, Gustafsson BI, Kidd M et al (2008) Neuroendocrine tumor epidemiology: contrasting Norway and North America. Cancer 113:2655–2664
- Yao JC, Eisner MP, Leary C et al (2007) Population-based study of islet cell carcinoma. Ann Surg Oncol 14:3492–3500
- Haselkorn T, Whittemore AS, Lilienfeld DE (2005) Incidence of small bowel cancer in the United States and worldwide: geographic, temporal, and racial differences. Cancer Causes Control 16:781–787
- 51. Faggiano A, Ferolla P, Grimaldi F et al (2012) Natural history of gastro-entero-pancreatic and thoracic neuroendocrine tumors. Data from a large prospective and retrospective Italian Epidemiological study: the NET Management Study. J Endocrinol Invest 35:817–823
- Ploeckinger U, Kloeppel G, Wiedenmann B, Lohmann R (2009) The German NET-registry: an audit on the diagnosis and therapy of neuroendocrine tumors. Neuroendocrinology 90:349–363

- 53. Bogacka B, Marlicz W, Białek A et al (2009) Trends in colorectal neuroendocrine tumors: a 10 years review. Gut 58:A296
- 54. Kamiński MF, Polkowski M, Reguła J et al (2007) Prevalence and endoscopic features of rectal neuroendocrine tumours among 50 148 participants of the Polish Colorectal-Cancer Screening Programme. Gut 56:A310
- 55. Scherübl H, Streller B, Stabenow R et al (2013) Clinically detected gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors are on the rise: epidemiological changes in Germany. World J Gastroenterol 19:9012–9019
- 56. Soga J (2005) Early-stage carcinoids of the gastrointestinal tract. Cancer 103:1587-1595
- 57. Hemminki K, Li X (2001) Incidence trends and risk factors of carcinoid tumors: a nationwide epidemiologic study from Sweden. Cancer 92:2204–2210
- Levi F, Te VC, Randimbison L, Rindi G, La Vecchia C (2000) Epidemiology of carcinoid neoplasms in Vaud, Switzerland, 1974–97. Br J Cancer 83:952–955
- 59. Godwin JD 2nd (1975) Carcinoid tumors. An analysis of 2,837 cases. Cancer 36:560-569
- 60. Maher ER, Neumann HP, Richard S (2011) von Hippel-Lindau disease: a clinical and scientific review. Eur J Hum Genet 19:617–623
- Thakker RV, Newey PJ, Walls GV et al (2012) Clinical practice guidelines for multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1). J Clin Endocrinol Metab 97:2990–3011
- Jonkers YM, Ramaekers FC, Speel EJ (2007) Molecular alterations during insulinoma tumorigenesis. Biochim Biophys Acta 1775:313–332
- Babovic-Vuksanovic D, Constantinou CL, Rubin J, Rowland CM, Schaid DJ, Karnes PS (1999) Familial occurrence of carcinoid tumors and association with other malignant neoplasms. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 8:715–719
- 64. Pieterman CR, Vriens MR, Dreijerink KM, van der Luijt RB, Valk GD (2011) Care for patients with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1: the current evidence base. Fam Cancer 10:157–171
- 65. Kaerlev L, Teglbjaerg PS, Sabroe S et al (2002) Occupational risk factors for small bowel carcinoid tumor: a European population based case-control study. J Occup Environ Med 44:516–522
- 66. Cross AJ, Hollenbeck AR, Park Y (2013) A large prospective study of risk factors for adenocarcinomas and malignant carcinoid tumors of the small intestine. Cancer Causes Control 24:1737–1746

Molecular Biology of Neuroendocrine Tumors

4

Aldo Scarpa, Vincenzo Corbo, Stefano Barbi, Ivana Cataldo, and Matteo Fassan

4.1 Introduction

Neuroendocrine tumors (NETs) are diagnostically challenging tumors, as they comprehend a heterogeneous group of epithelial neoplasms with neuroendocrine differentiation [1, 2].

In the past, medical treatment has been mostly chemotherapy based and has not taken into consideration varying tumor biology. In fact, the molecular study of NETs has been significantly limited for many years, due in large part to their relative scarcity. As a result, the knowledge of their cellular and molecular biology was significantly limited in comparison to that of other more common cancers [3, 4].

Moreover, the clinicotherapeutic management of NET patients considerably suffered by the lack of universally accepted standards for the disease, including both a diagnostic nomenclature and a staging system [1]. This significantly limited the conduction of appropriate clinical trials, and thus, survival rates have remained virtually unchanged for decades.

However, recent findings have significantly expanded our knowledge of NET molecular landscape, which provide better patient stratification and improved targeted therapeutic agents in order to achieve personalized patient care [4, 5].

A. Scarpa, MD, PhD (🖂) • V. Corbo, PhD • S. Barbi, PhD

I. Cataldo, MD • M. Fassan, MD, PhD

Department of Pathology and Diagnostics, ARC-NET Research Centre,

University of Verona, Policlinico GB Rossi,

Piazzale L.A. Scuro, 10; Piastra Odontoiatrica (II floor),

³⁷¹³⁴ Verona (VR), Italy

e-mail: aldo.scarpa@univr.it; vincenzocorbo@gmail.com; stefanobarbi@gmail.com; ivana_cataldo@yahoo.it; matteo.fassan@gmail.com

[©] Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

S. Yalcin, K. Öberg (eds.), Neuroendocrine Tumours:

Diagnosis and Management, DOI 10.1007/978-3-662-45215-8_4

4.2 The Lesson from Hereditary Syndromes

The vast majority of NETs are sporadic; however, a small fraction arises in a variety of inherited cancer-predisposition syndromes (Fig. 4.1).

The most common NET-related inherited syndrome is the multiple endocrine neoplasia type I (MEN1; OMIM 131100). MEN1 is an autosomal dominant cancer susceptibility syndrome in which there is a greatly elevated risk of a variety of endocrine tumors, including pituitary tumors, parathyroid tumors, and pancreatic NETs (pNETs). By the clinical point of view, MEN1 patients typically harbor multiple small (<0.5 cm) pancreatic neuroendocrine microadenomas, which are thought to be precursor lesions to pNETs. These data support an early involvement of the *MEN1* tumor suppressor gene in pNET tumorigenesis [6–8].

Menin, the protein encoded by the *MEN1* gene, is a ubiquitously expressed nuclear protein that interacts with a SET1-like histone methyltransferase (HMT) complex containing the MLL (KMT2A) protein which functions to methylate lysine 4 of histone 3 (H3K4), an epigenetic modification associated with actively transcribed genes [9]. In normal pancreatic islet cells, menin appears to negatively regulate islet cell growth by targeting this HMT complex to the gene promoters of two



Fig. 4.1 In NETs, the study of inherited syndromes allowed the identification of the common deregulation of genes involved in the mTOR pathway in these tumors. As a master regulator of different cell functions, mTOR activation is subjected to tight and coordinated regulations through diverse positive and feedback regulatory loops. The more recent "next-generation sequencing" effort further identified high prevalence of *ATRX/DAXX* and *PTEN* mutations in pancreatic sporadic tumors. The upregulation of miR-21 also represents a major driver alteration in inherited and sporadic NETs

key negative regulators of the cell cycle: p18 (*CDKN2C*) and p27 (*CDKN1B*), thus fostering their expression. Menin may exert additional effects on the cell cycle via the PI3K/Akt/mTOR signaling pathway by inhibiting the activity of the key serine-threonine kinase Akt1 [10].

In addition to its role on cell proliferation regulation, menin is also involved in the response to DNA damage. In fact, menin activates the transcription of several genes whose protein products are involved in the homologous recombination pathway of DNA repair (e.g., *BRCA1* and *RAD51*) [11]. As a result, depletion of menin leads to increased use of nonhomologous end joining DNA repair activity, a more error-prone repair pathway [12].

Taken together, the above results suggest that loss of menin causes deregulation of normal cell growth control in conjunction with increased genomic instability, an ideal setting for the initiation of malignant transformation. *MEN1* mutations or chromosomal deletions involving the *MEN1* locus at 11q13 locus have been observed in up to 30 % NET sporadic cases [2, 13–21]. To further support these findings, in vivo studies demonstrated that *MEN1* deficiency leads to pancreatic islet cell hyperplasia and neuroendocrine tumors [22]. Weak or negative nuclear expression of menin, as assessed by immunostaining, has been reported in 40 % of sporadic pNET cases, while 27 % of cases had MEN1 gene mutations, most of which were inactivating mutations [13]. In lung carcinoids, the presence of *MEN1* mutation or loss had shorter overall survival and low *MEN1* mRNA levels correlated with distant metastasis and shorter survival [23].

A second autosomal dominant hereditary syndrome is the multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2 (MEN 2). MEN2 is associated with NETs occurring in the thyroid, in the parathyroid, and in the adrenals [24]. The most common tumor among these patients is the medullary thyroid carcinoma (MTC), and overall the 25 % of MTCs are hereditary cases. By the clinical point of view, MEN2 is subclassified in three further inherited syndromes MEN2A, MEN2B, and familial medullary thyroid cancer, which are all caused by mutations of the *RET* oncogene. *RET* encodes a receptor tyrosine kinase that normally binds a family of ligands including glial-derived neurotrophic factor and is thought to provide growth and survival signaling via the RAF-MEK-ERK and PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathways [24]. Thus, activating mutations in *RET* can confer ligand-independent growth and resistance to apoptotic stimuli.

Also the von Hippel-Lindau disease is an autosomal dominant predisposition syndrome featuring an elevated rate of NETs (VHL; OMIM 193300). This syndrome is caused by mutation of the *VHL* tumor suppressor gene located at 3p25 and features nonfunctional pNETs in 5–17 % of patients [25]. Compared to the *MEN1* gene, the *VHL* gene is infrequently mutated in sporadic tumors. However, the *VHL* gene may be inactivated by alternative means, such as promoter hypermethylation or deletion, as has been reported for up to 25 % of pNETs [26]. The *VHL* gene product is involved in the oxygen-regulated degradation of hypoxia-inducible-factor alpha, a transcription factor which regulates gene expression in response to low-oxygen conditions, and tumors harboring *VHL* gene inactivation display elevated expression of HIF1 alpha target genes [26].

Two other inherited autosomal dominant cancer-predisposition syndromes that develop NETs, albeit infrequently, are neurofibromatosis type I (NF1; OMIM 162200) and tuberous sclerosis (TS; OMIM 191100). NF1 (formerly known as von Recklinghausen disease) is caused by a germline mutation of the NF1 gene at 17q11.2, which encodes the protein neurofibromin. This protein normally functions as a negative regulator of the Ras oncogene and the mTOR signal transduction pathways [27]. Tuberous sclerosis is caused by mutations in one of two different genes: the TSC1 gene located at 9q34 and the TSC2 gene located at 16p13.3, which encode for the proteins hamartin and tuberin, respectively. Despite a rare occurrence of NETs in the frame of a TS syndrome [28], the TSC2 gene has an important role in sporadic pNET pathogenesis. Our group demonstrated that Tsc2 expression is downregulated in 35 % of sporadic pNETs, and, more recently, Jiao and colleagues found the TSC2 gene to be mutated in 8.8 % of sporadic pNETs [17, 29]. As with neurofibromin, tuberin also functions as a negative regulator of the mTOR pathway, thus lending further support for the potential importance of deregulation of this pathway in NETs.

4.3 Next-Generation Sequencing Era: The Discovery of Novel Cancer Pathways

The advent of massively parallel, high-throughput sequencing, also known as "nextgeneration sequencing" (NGS), has exceptionally revolutionized the field of cancer genetics over the past decade. This technology allows for the identification of tumor-associated genetic alterations with single-nucleotide level precision, in an unbiased manner, across the entire genome or the entire exome, which consists of the protein-coding regions of the genome [30]. The recognition of driver oncogene mutations in specific tumors has provided a compelling rationale for the introduction of novel targeted therapies [4].

The first NET whole-exome study was published by Jiao and colleagues in 2011 on pNETs [17]. An average mutation rate of 16 mutations per tumor was significantly lower than that previously observed for pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (i.e., 66 mutations per tumor) [31]. Furthermore, the genes most frequently mutated in pancreatic adenocarcinoma (*CDKN2A, KRAS, TP53, TGFBR1, SMAD3*, and *SMAD4*) were either wild type or only rarely mutated (*TP53*; 5 %) in PanNETs. As anticipated from prior studies, *MEN1* was found to be frequently mutated (44 %). In addition to *MEN1*, genes in the mTOR signaling pathway were also mutated in a significant frequency of cases, with inactivating mutations in *TSC2* (8.8 %) and *PTEN* (7.3 %) observed, plus a single case was found to possess an activating mutation in *PIK3CA*.

Two novel genes were implicated in NET carcinogenesis: the *ATRX* (alphathalassemia/mental retardation syndrome, X-linked; OMIM 300032; located on Xq21.1) and *DAXX* (death domain-associated protein; located on 6p21.3) genes. A total of 43 % tumors possessed either an *ATRX* or *DAXX* gene mutation (18 % and 25 %, respectively). Intriguingly, mutations in *ATRX* or *DAXX* were mutually exclusive, implying that *ATRX* and *DAXX* function in a common pathway important in the pathogenesis of pNETs. In 53 % of cases with either *ATRX* or *DAXX* mutations, *MEN1* was also found to be mutated as well.

Atrx is a large nuclear protein of the SWI/SNF family of chromatin remodeling proteins [32]. Germline mutations in the *ATRX* gene cause the rare syndrome ATRX, which features alpha-thalassemia plus impaired intellectual development [33]. The types of *ATRX* gene mutation differ significantly between those causing the ATRX syndrome and those associated with pNETs. Inherited syndromic *ATRX* mutations are typically hypomorphic missense mutations, whereas sporadic cancerassociated mutations tend to be nonsense mutations or insertions and deletions which lead to a loss of protein expression [17, 33, 34]. This is in keeping with the observation that engineered *ATRX* loss in the mouse is embryonic lethal. Thus, inherited inactivating mutations in humans are likely also to be lethal and, as such, are not observed. Furthermore, individuals with ATRX syndrome do not appear to have an elevated risk of the types of tumors associated with somatic inactivating *ATRX* mutations [17].

Daxx is also a nuclear protein involved in the regulation of chromatin structure and gene transcription. Daxx contains a SUMO-recognition motif, responsible for its association with numerous proteins in their SUMO-modified (sumoylated) state, including a number of transcription factors [35, 36]. Of particular note, Daxx binds the histone variant H3.3 and physically interacts with Atrx to form a histone chaperone-chromatin remodeling complex [37]. This complex acts to deposit H3.3 at a number of locations throughout the genome, including the upstream regions of several active genes, as well as both peri-centromeric and telomeric heterochromatin [37, 38].

Heaphy and colleagues demonstrated that mutations in either *ATRX* or *DAXX* or loss of protein expression were perfectly correlated with the alternative telomerase-independent telomere maintenance mechanism termed alternative lengthening of telomeres (ALT) [34]. At the cellular level, the ALT mechanism is characterized by abnormally enlarged PML nuclear bodies containing large amounts of telomere-specific FISH analysis [39]. Intriguingly, whereas ALT is observed in approximately half of all PanNET cases, to date it has only rarely been observed in other NETs: in 5 of 107 cases of gastrointestinal NETs and 0 of 7 lung carcinoids [34, 40].

In order to evaluate the timing of *ATRX* and *DAXX* mutations during pNET tumorigenesis and progression, de Wilde and colleagues assessed Atrx or Daxx nuclear protein expression and ALT status in tissues obtained from a cohort of MEN1 syndrome patients [41]. Loss of either Atrx or Daxx and ALT-positivity were found exclusively in PanNETs and not in any of neuroendocrine microadenomas. In addition, a significant correlation was observed between these abnormalities and higher tumor grade (G2 *versus* G1), and tumor diameter >3 cm. Overall, these findings suggest that *ATRX* and *DAXX* mutations are relatively late events in pNET tumorigenesis.

Of interest, the spectrum of commonly mutated genes in poorly differentiated, high-grade pancreatic neuroendocrine carcinomas (pNECs) differs substantially from those seen in either pancreatic adenocarcinomas or pNETs [42]. *KRAS* and *CDKN2A*, which are commonly mutated in adenocarcinomas, and *MEN1*, *ATRX*, *DAXX*, and mTOR pathway genes, frequently mutated in pNETs, are mutated infrequently or not at all in pNECs. On the other hand, mutations in *TP53* and *RB1* are very common in this group of tumors. *TP53* is rarely mutated in well-differentiated pNETs, but its pathway is likewise inactivated by the frequent prevalence of extra gene copies of p53-related genes, such as MDM2 (22 %), MDM4 (30 %), and WIP1 (51 %) [43]. In the same way, 80 % of pNETs show an unchanged *RB1* gene but display genetic alterations of other components of the Rb pathway, such as cyclin-dependent protein kinase 4 and 6 and cyclin D [44].

In addition to pNETs, the genomic landscape of small intestinal NETs (SI NET) has recently been investigated [45, 46]. The group led by Matthew Ames [45] performed an integrative analysis of somatic mutations and copy number variations of 48 small intestine NETs. They reported genetic alterations of different members of the PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway in 30 % of the samples and the loss of SMAD genes in 45 % of samples. Overall, the average per case mutation rate in this study was significantly lower than that of typical carcinomas but comparable to that reported for pNETs [17]. Among these small intestinal NETs, a positive correlation was observed between primary tumors with higher numbers of mutations and the presence of liver metastases. Interestingly, although mutations were identified in several genes previously associated with cancer (e.g., BRAF, EZH2, FANCD2, FGFR2, MEN1, VHL), these mutations were found in only single cases in this series of 48 carcinoid tumors. Notably, many other cancer genes, including those frequently mutated in pNETs, pNECs, and pancreatic adenocarcinomas, were wild type in all of the SI NETs sequenced. Concomitantly, another group identified p27 (CDKN1B) as a putative tumor suppressor in small intestinal NETs [46]. CDKN1B encodes a cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p27Kip1, which is a master regulator of the cell cycle and frequently inactivated in many forms of cancer. Importantly this gene is inactivated in MEN1 patients testing negative for MEN1 mutations [47]. While these mutations may be present in a subset of carcinoid patients, they do not account for the vast majority of the neoplastic lesions [45, 46].

The whole-exome sequencing of 17 sporadic MTCs showed that approximately 90 % of tumors had mutually exclusive mutations in *RET*, *HRAS*, and *KRAS* genes, suggesting that RET and RAS are the predominant driver pathways in MTC [24]. Relatively few other mutations and no commonly recurrent driver mutations were observed.

A recent gene copy number analysis, genome/exome, and transcriptome sequencing of pulmonary carcinoids demonstrated frequent mutations in chromatin remodeling genes. Covalent histone modifiers and subunits of the SWI/SNF complex were mutated in 40 % and 22 % of the cases, respectively, with *MEN1*, *PSIP1*, and *ARID1A* being recurrently affected [48]. In contrast to small-cell lung cancer and large-cell neuroendocrine lung tumors, *TP53* and *RB1* mutations were rare events.

4.4 Epigenetic Changes in NETs

In recent years, thanks to the advent of molecular techniques allowing genome-wide assessment of epigenetic marks, such as chromatin immunoprecipitation sequencing (ChIP-Seq) and genome-wide DNA methylation analysis, it has become readily apparent that epigenetic abnormalities are widespread in cancer

DNA methylation has been studied rather extensively in a variety of NETs [49]. The long-standing observation that menin is an epigenetic regulator being part of a histone methyltransferase complex further supports that epigenetic, rather than genetic, changes may play a central role in NETs.

Using global analysis of the methylation status of LINE-1 and Alu repeat sequences that are widely distributed throughout the genome, it was found that these sequences were hypomethylated in the vast majority of cases, when compared to adjacent normal tissues and, when present, hypomethylation correlated with clinicopathological parameters such as tumor grade [50, 51].

Another phenomenon involving widespread DNA methylation is CIMP, which stands for CpG island methylator phenotype. First described in colorectal cancer, CIMP-positive tumors display simultaneous abnormal methylation of multiple CpG islands, including several associated with known tumor suppressor genes. In a large series of foregut and midgut NETs, CIMP prevalence was 50 % in gastrinomas and 100 % in VIPomas and glucagonomas [52]. CIMP has also been found in over half of poorly differentiated colorectal neuroendocrine carcinomas, where it was also associated with MSI positivity [53, 54].

Among the others, three genes have been demonstrated to be highly methylated in NETs: *MGMT*, *RASSF1A*, and *CDKN2A*.

MGMT is commonly deficient in pNETs (up to 51 % of cases) and, more importantly, its status can be used to predict response to alkylating agents. On the other hand, MGMT is usually expressed in most G1 GEP-NETs, which likely explains much of the differential sensitivity to temozolomide-based therapies between these two tumor types [55, 56].

The *RASSF1A* tumor suppressor gene, located on 3p21, is rarely mutated in cancer; however, it is frequently silenced via promoter hypermethylation [57]. In pNETs, the *RASSF1A* promoter is reportedly methylated in 75–83% of lesions, where methylation is correlated with reduced *RASSF1A* mRNA expression, increased tumor size, and the presence of metastases [55, 58–60]. However, *RASSF1A* methylation is also observed in a significant fraction of tumor-adjacent normal pancreas tissue, strongly affecting its specificity as potential tumor biomarker [55, 58–60].

The *CDKN2A* gene codes for the p16 tumor suppressor protein, a member of the Rb cell cycle regulatory pathway that, among other cellular processes, regulates entry into S-phase. This pathway is thought to be disrupted in practically all human cancers, and *CDKN2A* has been reported to be methylated in 10–58 % of pNETs and up to 44 % of small intestinal carcinoids [44, 55, 61]. Unlike the case of *RASSF1A*, methylation of the *CDKN2A* displayed good specificity for tumor tissue versus adjacent normal tissue [44, 55, 61].

4.5 microRNA Deregulation in NETs

In contrast to many other tumor types, very little is known about microRNA (miRNA) expression patterns in NETs. However, a significant number of oncogenic and suppressor miRNAs have been identified so far, further supporting the possible use of specific miRNAs signatures to predict clinical outcome in NETs [62–65].

Of interest, unlike most mRNAs, miRNAs are long-living in vivo and very stable in vitro. This structural solidity is fundamental to miRNAs analysis in FFPE samples, in which they can also be investigated at the level of individual cells by applying in situ hybridization [ISH] techniques [66]. Another important point is the evidence for applicability of miRNAs as noninvasive biomarkers, as they are easily and reproducibly detectable in all body fluids [66].

In our seminal report, we investigated global microRNA expression signatures of normal pancreas, Langerhans' islets, pNETs, and pancreatic acinar carcinomas [62]. The overexpression of miR-103 and miR-107, associated with lack of expression of miR-155, significantly discriminated tumor from normal samples. Moreover, a set of 10 miRNAs (miR-125a, miR-99a, miR-99b, miR-125b-1, miR-342, miR-130a, miR-132, miR-129-2, miR-125b-2) allowed the discrimination of PNETs from acinar tumors. This specific miRNA signature is possibly associated with either normal endocrine differentiation or endocrine tumorigenesis.

Among pNETs, miR-204 was primarily expressed in insulinomas (welldifferentiated) and correlated with immunohistochemical expression of insulin. On the other hand, miR-21 overexpression was associated with higher Ki67 proliferation index and the presence of liver metastases [62]. The fact that *PTEN* is one of miR-21 targets further supports the increasing evidence of mTOR pathway involvement in NET pathogenesis.

Further confirming miRNAs' stability in body fluids, a nine-miRNA expression pattern (miR-24, miR-30a-3p, miR-18a, miR-92a, miR-342-3p, miR-99b, miR-106b, miR-142-3p, and miR-532-3p) derived from the analysis of selected miRNAs in cyst fluid samples, successfully discriminated cystic forms of pNETs from other – more common – pancreatic cystic lesions [67].

Another group from the Johns Hopkins identified the downregulation of miR-1290 that had the best diagnostic performance in discriminating pNETs from adenocarcinomas [68].

Two relatively recent miRNA expression profile studies find evidence of miRNA deregulation in ileal NET progression [63, 64]. Rubel and colleagues from Mayo Clinic associated miRNA-133a downregulation to progression from primary to metastatic carcinoid tumor, suggesting that it may have an important role in ileal NET development and progression with use for diagnosis and/or prognosis [63]. The same group in collaboration with the Uppsala University investigated miRNA expression in well-differentiated small intestinal NETs. Nine miRNAs were significantly deregulated: five (miR-96, miR-182, miR-183, miR-196, and miR-200) were upregulated during tumor progression, whereas four (miR-31, miR-129-5p, miR-133a, and miR-215) were significantly downregulated in ileal NETs [64].

MiRNAs have been also demonstrated to be significantly deregulated in MTCs, with miR-224 upregulation associated with a better outcome [69]. In lung NETs, members of the miR-29 family seem to have a significant role in the carcinogenetic process [70].

4.6 From Single Gene Alteration to Signaling Pathways Perturbations

In recent years, much attention has focused on identifying key cellular signal transduction pathways that are abnormally activated or deactivated in cancer cells [71]. Such pathways regulate cancer-relevant cellular processes, such as cell growth, cell division, and cell survival. Typically, these pathways involve cascades of cytoplasmic kinases that ultimately impinge on gene transcription. Therapeutically, kinases are attractive drug targets; thus, there is keen interest in elucidating the specific pathways altered in a given tumor in order to identify relevant targets and help predict treatment responses.

Our group sequenced 35 kinase genes implicated in cancer in a series of 36 primary pNETs but found only three mutations – one in *KIT* and two in ATM – indicating a low mutation rate for these genes in pNET [72]. Further mutations were identified in pNET-derived cell lines (QGP1, CM, and BON) in the *FGFR3*, *VEGFR1*, and *PIK3CA* genes. Of interest, the membranous immunohistochemical expression of c-Kit was associated with shorter patient survival [72].

The PI3K/Akt/mTOR signaling pathway resulted affected in most NET NGS studies [29, 73–75]. This pathway regulates several cellular processes, including cell growth, proliferation, anabolic metabolism, and apoptosis [76]. The RADIANT-2 and RADIANT-3 trials showed that mTOR inhibitor everolimus had significant antitumor efficacy in the treatment of patients with advanced disease [4]. However, further studies should characterize the molecular bases and find how to overcome the acquisition of therapy resistance.

Somatostatin and its synthetic analogs (e.g., lanreotide, octreotide) act through a family of 5 G-protein couple receptors termed sst1–sst5 to exert a variety of functions, including inhibition of endocrine and exocrine secretions and of tumor cell growth [77]. Somatostatin analogues have been successfully implemented into clinical practice; however, patients may develop resistance to treatment over time [78]. This has been partially explained by the recent finding of novel truncated sst5 receptor variants in humans [79]. One variant, sst5TMD4, which is barely expressed in normal human tissues, shows a marked upregulation in tumors, where it seems to entail pathologically relevant functions. Thus, for example, expression of sst5TMD4 in pituitary adenomas causing acromegaly is related to the reduced ability of octreotide at normalizing hormone secretion in poorly responsive tumors [79].

A pathogenic role for Src family non-receptor tyrosine kinases has been suggested in NETs. In a gene expression profiling study of advanced pNETs, Capurso and colleagues identified the Src-related kinase LCK as one of the genes overexpressed in these cancers [80]. An increased copy number of the *SRC* gene has been observed in 11/48 (23 %) small intestinal NETs, as well as an increased Src expression in putative GI carcinoid cancer stem cells [45, 81]. Of interest, a potential link between Src and mTOR pathway activation has been identified by immunohistochemical studies, and the concomitant inhibition of the two pathways is more active in impairing cell growth than the use of single agents [82, 83]. Notably, whereas treatment with mTOR inhibitors triggered the activation of a prosurvival feedback dependent on PI3K/Akt signaling, the simultaneous inhibition of both pathways blocked this escape signal.

The VEGF signaling pathway is also deregulated in NETs [84]. NETs are highly vascularized tumors, and a link between the VEGF pathway and pNETs was recognized in the RIP-Tag transgenic mouse model of pNET. Moreover, strong mRNA expression of *VEGFA* and its encoded protein's receptors (*VEGFR1* and *VEGFR2*) were observed in tumors of VHL-related disease [85]. Several VEGF pathway inhibitors including the VEGF inhibitor bevacizumab and the VEGF receptors inhibitors sunitinib, pazopanib, and sorafenib have shown clinical activity [4, 86].

Activation of the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) may play a role in GI carcinoids [87]. In an immunohistochemical study, Shah and colleagues found evidence for activated EGFR in 63 % of 89 GI NET samples as well as activation of Erk and Akt proteins, the downstream targets of activated EGFR [88].

Conclusions

NETs are a challenging group of heterogeneous cancers whose clinical course is often difficult to predict. Currently, there are only a limited number of useful clinicopathological prognostic indicators for these tumors, including tumor grade and the presence of metastases.

In recent years, the data generated in high-throughput studies provided important background for understanding tumor biology in various NET subtype, improving therapeutic decision making and patient stratification. In addition, several novel targetable pathways have been identified, opening the possibility of tailoring treatment to different subtypes of tumors and personalizing medicine.

References

- Capelli P, Fassan M, Scarpa A (2012) Pathology grading and staging of GEP-NETs. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 26:705–717
- 2. Capelli P, Martignoni G, Pedica F, Falconi M, Antonello D et al (2009) Endocrine neoplasms of the pancreas: pathologic and genetic features. Arch Pathol Lab Med 133:350–364
- 3. de Wilde RF, Edil BH, Hruban RH, Maitra A (2012) Well-differentiated pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors: from genetics to therapy. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 9:199–208
- 4. Oberg K, Casanovas O, Castano JP, Chung D, Delle Fave G et al (2013) Molecular pathogenesis of neuroendocrine tumors: implications for current and future therapeutic approaches. Clin Cancer Res 19:2842–2849
- Meeker A, Heaphy C (2014) Gastroenteropancreatic endocrine tumors. Mol Cell Endocrinol 386:101–120

- Anlauf M, Schlenger R, Perren A, Bauersfeld J, Koch CA et al (2006) Microadenomatosis of the endocrine pancreas in patients with and without the multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 syndrome. Am J Surg Pathol 30:560–574
- Perren A, Komminoth P, Saremaslani P, Matter C, Feurer S et al (2000) Mutation and expression analyses reveal differential subcellular compartmentalization of PTEN in endocrine pancreatic tumors compared to normal islet cells. Am J Pathol 157:1097–1103
- Davi MV, Boninsegna L, Dalle Carbonare L, Toaiari M, Capelli P et al (2011) Presentation and outcome of pancreaticoduodenal endocrine tumors in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 syndrome. Neuroendocrinology 94:58–65
- Agarwal SK, Kennedy PA, Scacheri PC, Novotny EA, Hickman AB et al (2005) Menin molecular interactions: insights into normal functions and tumorigenesis. Horm Metab Res 37:369–374
- Wang Y, Ozawa A, Zaman S, Prasad NB, Chandrasekharappa SC et al (2011) The tumor suppressor protein menin inhibits AKT activation by regulating its cellular localization. Cancer Res 71:371–382
- 11. Francis J, Lin W, Rozenblatt-Rosen O, Meyerson M (2011) The menin tumor suppressor protein is phosphorylated in response to DNA damage. PLoS One 6:e16119
- 12. Fang M, Xia F, Mahalingam M, Virbasius CM, Wajapeyee N et al (2013) MEN1 is a melanoma tumor suppressor that preserves genomic integrity by stimulating transcription of genes that promote homologous recombination-directed DNA repair. Mol Cell Biol 33:2635–2647
- Corbo V, Dalai I, Scardoni M, Barbi S, Beghelli S et al (2010) MEN1 in pancreatic endocrine tumors: analysis of gene and protein status in 169 sporadic neoplasms reveals alterations in the vast majority of cases. Endocr Relat Cancer 17:771–783
- 14. Perren A, Anlauf M, Henopp T, Rudolph T, Schmitt A et al (2007) Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1): loss of one MEN1 allele in tumors and monohormonal endocrine cell clusters but not in islet hyperplasia of the pancreas. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 92:1118–1128
- Hessman O, Lindberg D, Einarsson A, Lillhager P, Carling T et al (1999) Genetic alterations on 3p, 11q13, and 18q in nonfamilial and MEN 1-associated pancreatic endocrine tumors. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 26:258–264
- Hessman O, Skogseid B, Westin G, Akerstrom G (2001) Multiple allelic deletions and intratumoral genetic heterogeneity in men1 pancreatic tumors. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 86:1355–1361
- Jiao Y, Shi C, Edil BH, de Wilde RF, Klimstra DS et al (2011) DAXX/ATRX, MEN1, and mTOR pathway genes are frequently altered in pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Science 331:1199–1203
- Moore PS, Missiaglia E, Antonello D, Zamo A, Zamboni G et al (2001) Role of diseasecausing genes in sporadic pancreatic endocrine tumors: MEN1 and VHL. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 32:177–181
- Gortz B, Roth J, Krahenmann A, de Krijger RR, Muletta-Feurer S et al (1999) Mutations and allelic deletions of the MEN1 gene are associated with a subset of sporadic endocrine pancreatic and neuroendocrine tumors and not restricted to foregut neoplasms. Am J Pathol 154:429–436
- Debelenko LV, Emmert-Buck MR, Zhuang Z, Epshteyn E, Moskaluk CA et al (1997) The multiple endocrine neoplasia type I gene locus is involved in the pathogenesis of type II gastric carcinoids. Gastroenterology 113:773–781
- Toliat MR, Berger W, Ropers HH, Neuhaus P, Wiedenmann B (1997) Mutations in the MEN I gene in sporadic neuroendocrine tumours of gastroenteropancreatic system. Lancet 350:1223
- 22. Karnik SK, Hughes CM, Gu X et al (2005) Menin regulates pancreatic islet growth by promoting histone methylation and expression of genes encoding p27Kip1 and p18INK4c. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:14659–14664
- Swarts DR, Scarpa A, Corbo V et al (2014) MEN1 gene mutation and reduced expression are associated with poor prognosis in pulmonary carcinoids. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 99:E374–E378

- 24. Agrawal N, Jiao Y, Sausen M et al (2013) Exomic sequencing of medullary thyroid cancer reveals dominant and mutually exclusive oncogenic mutations in RET and RAS. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 98:E364–E369
- Corcos O, Couvelard A, Giraud S, Vullierme MP, Dermot OT et al (2008) Endocrine pancreatic tumors in von Hippel-Lindau disease: clinical, histological, and genetic features. Pancreas 37:85–93
- 26. Schmitt AM, Schmid S, Rudolph T et al (2009) VHL inactivation is an important pathway for the development of malignant sporadic pancreatic endocrine tumors. Endocr Relat Cancer 16:1219–1227
- Johannessen CM, Reczek EE, James MF et al (2005) The NF1 tumor suppressor critically regulates TSC2 and mTOR. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:8573–8578
- Arva NC, Pappas JG, Bhatla T et al (2012) Well-differentiated pancreatic neuroendocrine carcinoma in tuberous sclerosis – case report and review of the literature. Am J Surg Pathol 36:149–153
- 29. Missiaglia E, Dalai I, Barbi S, Beghelli S, Falconi M et al (2010) Pancreatic endocrine tumors: expression profiling evidences a role for AKT-mTOR pathway. J Clin Oncol 28:245–255
- Vogelstein B, Papadopoulos N, Velculescu VE, Zhou S, Diaz LA Jr et al (2013) Cancer genome landscapes. Science 339:1546–1558
- Jones S, Zhang X, Parsons DW et al (2008) Core signaling pathways in human pancreatic cancers revealed by global genomic analyses. Science 321:1801–1806
- 32. Argentaro A, Yang JC, Chapman L et al (2007) Structural consequences of disease-causing mutations in the ATRX-DNMT3-DNMT3L (ADD) domain of the chromatin-associated protein ATRX. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104:11939–11944
- Gibbons RJ, Picketts DJ, Villard L, Higgs DR (1995) Mutations in a putative global transcriptional regulator cause X-linked mental retardation with alpha-thalassemia (ATR-X syndrome). Cell 80:837–845
- 34. Heaphy CM, de Wilde RF, Jiao Y et al (2011) Altered telomeres in tumors with ATRX and DAXX mutations. Science 333:425
- Shih HM, Chang CC, Kuo HY, Lin DY (2007) Daxx mediates SUMO-dependent transcriptional control and subnuclear compartmentalization. Biochem Soc Trans 35:1397–1400
- Lindsay CR, Morozov VM, Ishov AM (2008) PML NBs (ND10) and Daxx: from nuclear structure to protein function. Front Biosci 13:7132–7142
- 37. Lewis PW, Elsaesser SJ, Noh KM, Stadler SC, Allis CD (2010) Daxx is an H3.3-specific histone chaperone and cooperates with ATRX in replication-independent chromatin assembly at telomeres. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:14075–14080
- Goldberg AD, Banaszynski LA, Noh KM et al (2010) Distinct factors control histone variant H3.3 localization at specific genomic regions. Cell 140:678–691
- Cesare AJ, Reddel RR (2010) Alternative lengthening of telomeres: models, mechanisms and implications. Nat Rev Genet 11:319–330
- 40. Heaphy CM, Subhawong AP, Hong SM et al (2011) Prevalence of the alternative lengthening of telomeres telomere maintenance mechanism in human cancer subtypes. Am J Pathol 179:1608–1615
- 41. de Wilde RF, Heaphy CM, Maitra A et al (2012) Loss of ATRX or DAXX expression and concomitant acquisition of the alternative lengthening of telomeres phenotype are late events in a small subset of MEN-1 syndrome pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Mod Pathol 25:1033–1039
- 42. Yachida S, Vakiani E, White CM et al (2012) Small cell and large cell neuroendocrine carcinomas of the pancreas are genetically similar and distinct from well-differentiated pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Am J Surg Pathol 36:173–184
- 43. Hu W, Feng Z, Modica I et al (2010) Gene amplifications in well-differentiated pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors inactivate the p53 pathway. Genes Cancer 1:360–368

- 44. Tang LH, Contractor T, Clausen R et al (2012) Attenuation of the retinoblastoma pathway in pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors due to increased cdk4/cdk6. Clin Cancer Res 18:4612–4620
- Banck MS, Kanwar R, Kulkarni AA et al (2013) The genomic landscape of small intestine neuroendocrine tumors. J Clin Invest 123:2502–2508
- 46. Francis JM, Kiezun A, Ramos AH, Serra S, Pedamallu CS et al (2013) Somatic mutation of CDKN1B in small intestine neuroendocrine tumors. Nat Genet 45:1483–1486
- 47. Georgitsi M, Raitila A, Karhu A, van der Luijt RB, Aalfs CM et al (2007) Germline CDKN1B/ p27Kip1 mutation in multiple endocrine neoplasia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 92:3321–3325
- 48. Fernandez-Cuesta L, Peifer M, Lu X, Sun R, Ozretic L et al (2014) Frequent mutations in chromatin-remodelling genes in pulmonary carcinoids. Nat Commun 5:3518
- Elsasser SJ, Allis CD, Lewis PW (2011) Cancer. New epigenetic drivers of cancers. Science 331:1145–1146
- Stricker I, Tzivras D, Nambiar S, Wulf J, Liffers ST et al (2012) Site- and grade-specific diversity of LINE1 methylation pattern in gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumours. Anticancer Res 32:3699–3706
- Choi IS, Estecio MR, Nagano Y et al (2007) Hypomethylation of LINE-1 and Alu in welldifferentiated neuroendocrine tumors (pancreatic endocrine tumors and carcinoid tumors). Mod Pathol 20:802–810
- 52. Arnold CN, Sosnowski A, Schmitt-Graff A, Arnold R, Blum HE (2007) Analysis of molecular pathways in sporadic neuroendocrine tumors of the gastro-entero-pancreatic system. Int J Cancer 120:2157–2164
- Arnold CN, Nagasaka T, Goel A et al (2008) Molecular characteristics and predictors of survival in patients with malignant neuroendocrine tumors. Int J Cancer 123:1556–1564
- 54. La Rosa S, Marando A, Furlan D, Sahnane N, Capella C (2012) Colorectal poorly differentiated neuroendocrine carcinomas and mixed adenoneuroendocrine carcinomas: insights into the diagnostic immunophenotype, assessment of methylation profile, and search for prognostic markers. Am J Surg Pathol 36:601–611
- 55. House MG, Herman JG, Guo MZ, Hooker CM, Schulick RD et al (2003) Aberrant hypermethylation of tumor suppressor genes in pancreatic endocrine neoplasms. Ann Surg 238:423–431; discussion 431–422
- 56. Kulke MH, Hornick JL, Frauenhoffer C, Hooshmand S, Ryan DP et al (2009) O6-methylguanine DNA methyltransferase deficiency and response to temozolomide-based therapy in patients with neuroendocrine tumors. Clin Cancer Res 15:338–345
- 57. Dammann R, Schagdarsurengin U, Strunnikova M, Rastetter M, Seidel C et al (2003) Epigenetic inactivation of the Ras-association domain family 1 (RASSF1A) gene and its function in human carcinogenesis. Histol Histopathol 18:665–677
- Dammann R, Schagdarsurengin U, Liu L et al (2003) Frequent RASSF1A promoter hypermethylation and K-ras mutations in pancreatic carcinoma. Oncogene 22:3806–3812
- 59. Malpeli G, Amato E, Dandrea M et al (2011) Methylation-associated down-regulation of RASSF1A and up-regulation of RASSF1C in pancreatic endocrine tumors. BMC Cancer 11:351
- 60. Pizzi S, Azzoni C, Bottarelli L et al (2005) RASSF1A promoter methylation and 3p21.3 loss of heterozygosity are features of foregut, but not midgut and hindgut, malignant endocrine tumours. J Pathol 206:409–416
- 61. Liu L, Broaddus RR, Yao JC et al (2005) Epigenetic alterations in neuroendocrine tumors: methylation of RAS-association domain family 1, isoform A and p16 genes are associated with metastasis. Mod Pathol 18:1632–1640
- 62. Roldo C, Missiaglia E, Hagan JP et al (2006) MicroRNA expression abnormalities in pancreatic endocrine and acinar tumors are associated with distinctive pathologic features and clinical behavior. J Clin Oncol 24:4677–4684

- Ruebel K, Leontovich AA, Stilling GA et al (2010) MicroRNA expression in ileal carcinoid tumors: downregulation of microRNA-133a with tumor progression. Mod Pathol 23:367–375
- 64. Li SC, Essaghir A, Martijn C et al (2013) Global microRNA profiling of well-differentiated small intestinal neuroendocrine tumors. Mod Pathol 26:685–696
- 65. Luzi E, Brandi ML (2011) Are microRNAs involved in the endocrine-specific pattern of tumorigenesis in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1? Endocr Pract 17(Suppl 3):58–63
- 66. Vicentini C, Fassan M, D'Angelo E et al (2014) Clinical application of microRNA testing in neuroendocrine tumors of the gastrointestinal tract. Molecules 19:2458–2468
- 67. Matthaei H, Wylie D, Lloyd MB et al (2012) miRNA biomarkers in cyst fluid augment the diagnosis and management of pancreatic cysts. Clin Cancer Res 18:4713–4724
- Li A, Yu J, Kim H et al (2013) MicroRNA array analysis finds elevated serum miR-1290 accurately distinguishes patients with low-stage pancreatic cancer from healthy and disease controls. Clin Cancer Res 19:3600–3610
- Mian C, Pennelli G, Fassan M et al (2012) MicroRNA profiles in familial and sporadic medullary thyroid carcinoma: preliminary relationships with RET status and outcome. Thyroid 22:890–896
- Mairinger FD, Ting S, Werner R et al (2014) Different micro-RNA expression profiles distinguish subtypes of neuroendocrine tumors of the lung: results of a profiling study. Mod Pathol 27(12):1632–1640
- Oberg K (2013) Neuroendocrine tumours in 2012: insights into signalling pathways could individualize therapy. Nat Rev Endocrinol 9:70–72
- 72. Corbo V, Beghelli S, Bersani S et al (2012) Pancreatic endocrine tumours: mutational and immunohistochemical survey of protein kinases reveals alterations in targetable kinases in cancer cell lines and rare primaries. Ann Oncol 23:127–134
- 73. Shida T, Kishimoto T, Furuya M, Nikaido T, Koda K et al (2010) Expression of an activated mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) in gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 65:889–893
- 74. Kasajima A, Pavel M, Darb-Esfahani S et al (2011) mTOR expression and activity patterns in gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumours. Endocr Relat Cancer 18:181–192
- 75. Capurso G, Fazio N, Festa S et al (2009) Molecular target therapy for gastroenteropancreatic endocrine tumours: biological rationale and clinical perspectives. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 72:110–124
- Efeyan A, Sabatini DM (2010) mTOR and cancer: many loops in one pathway. Curr Opin Cell Biol 22:169–176
- 77. Patel YC (1999) Somatostatin and its receptor family. Front Neuroendocrinol 20:157-198
- Hofland LJ, Lamberts SW (2003) The pathophysiological consequences of somatostatin receptor internalization and resistance. Endocr Rev 24:28–47
- 79. Duran-Prado M, Gahete MD, Martinez-Fuentes AJ et al (2009) Identification and characterization of two novel truncated but functional isoforms of the somatostatin receptor subtype 5 differentially present in pituitary tumors. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 94:2634–2643
- Capurso G, Lattimore S, Crnogorac-Jurcevic T et al (2006) Gene expression profiles of progressive pancreatic endocrine tumours and their liver metastases reveal potential novel markers and therapeutic targets. Endocr Relat Cancer 13:541–558
- Gaur P, Sceusi EL, Samuel S et al (2011) Identification of cancer stem cells in human gastrointestinal carcinoid and neuroendocrine tumors. Gastroenterology 141:1728–1737
- 82. Di Florio A, Capurso G, Milione M et al (2007) Src family kinase activity regulates adhesion, spreading and migration of pancreatic endocrine tumour cells. Endocr Relat Cancer 14:111–124
- Di Florio A, Adesso L, Pedrotti S et al (2011) Src kinase activity coordinates cell adhesion and spreading with activation of mammalian target of rapamycin in pancreatic endocrine tumour cells. Endocr Relat Cancer 18:541–554

- Zhang J, Francois R, Iyer R et al (2013) Current understanding of the molecular biology of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. J Natl Cancer Inst 105:1005–1017
- Speisky D, Duces A, Bieche I et al (2012) Molecular profiling of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors in sporadic and Von Hippel-Lindau patients. Clin Cancer Res 18:2838–2849
- Raymond E, Dahan L, Raoul JL et al (2011) Sunitinib malate for the treatment of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. N Engl J Med 364:501–513
- Kidd M, Schimmack S, Lawrence B (2013) EGFR/TGFalpha and TGFbeta/CTGF signaling in neuroendocrine neoplasia: theoretical therapeutic targets. Neuroendocrinology 97:35–44
- Shah T, Hochhauser D, Frow R et al (2006) Epidermal growth factor receptor expression and activation in neuroendocrine tumours. J Neuroendocrinol 18:355–360

Genetic Syndromes Associated with Neuroendocrine Tumours

5

Wouter W. de Herder and Gerlof D. Valk

5.1 Introduction

Neuroendocrine tumors (NETs) are uncommon diseases which can occur either sporadically or in the spectrum of multisystem autosomal dominant inherited genetic disorders (Table 5.1) [1, 2].

The four most common endocrine tumor syndromes are multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN-1), multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2 (MEN-2a and MEN-2b), von Hippel-Lindau disease (VHL), and Carney complex (CC). Less commonly, endocrine tumors of the pancreas, parathyroids, and adrenal glands have been observed in neurofibromatosis type 1 (NF-1) and tuberous sclerosis complex (TSC) (Table 5.1) [3–10].

According to the Knudson multiple-hit hypothesis, most endocrine tumorpredisposing disorders are related to inactivation of growth suppressor genes, except MEN-2a, MEN-2b, and familial medullary thyroid carcinoma (FMTC) which occur through dominant activation of the RET tyrosine kinase receptor.

This chapter will only focus on tumor syndromes associated with NET of the digestive tract, pancreas, lung, and thymus.

MEN-1 (MIM 131100) is a multisystem autosomal dominant inherited genetic disorder characterized by hyperplasia and/or multiple adenomas of the parathyroid glands, single or multiple NET of the pancreas and/or duodenum and stomach, adenomas of the anterior pituitary, NET of the thymus and lung and functioning and nonfunctioning hyperplasia, or adenomas of the adrenal cortex.

W. W. de Herder (🖂)

G. D. Valk Department of Internal Medicine, University Medical Center Utrecht, Utrecht, The Netherlands

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

S. Yalcin, K. Öberg (eds.), Neuroendocrine Tumours:

Diagnosis and Management, DOI 10.1007/978-3-662-45215-8_5

Department of Internal Medicine, Sector of Endocrinology, Erasmus MC, Rotterdam, The Netherlands e-mail: w.w.deherder@erasmusmc.nl

| Name | Neuroendocrine tumor (NET) (frequency) |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------|
| MEN-1 syndrome (MEN-1) (MIM 131100) | Pituitary adenoma (5-65 %) |
| (Wermer's syndrome) | Pancreatic NET (80–100 %) |
| | <i>Thymic NET</i> (mostly ठ), (<10 %) |
| | Lung NET (20–25 %) |
| | Gastric, type 2, NET (ZES related) (5-35 %) |
| MEN-2a syndrome (MEN-2a) (MIM 171400) | Medullary thyroid carcinoma |
| (Sipple syndrome) | Pheochromocytoma |
| MEN-2b syndrome (MEN-2b) (MIM 162300) | Medullary thyroid carcinoma |
| | Pheochromocytoma |
| Familiarly medullary thyroid carcinoma | Medullary thyroid carcinoma |
| (FMTC) (MIM 155240) | |
| von Hippel-Lindau (VHL) syndrome (MIM | Pancreatic NET (5–10 %) |
| 193300) | Pheochromocytomas (10-20 %) |
| Neurofibromatosis I (NF 1, MIM 162200) | Periampullary NET |
| | (Somatostatinoma) |
| | Pheochromocytoma |
| Tuberous sclerosis (TSC, MIM 191100) | Pituitary adenoma?? |
| | Pancreatic NET? |
| Carney complex I (CNC1, MIM 160980) | Pituitary adenoma |
| Carney-Stratakis syndrome (MIM 606864) | Paraganglioma |
| MEN-4 (MEN-X) syndrome (MIM 610755) | Pituitary adenoma |
| Familial paraganglioma syndromes | Paraganglioma |
| (MIM 115310, MIM 168000, MIM 601650, MIM 605373, MIM 614165) | Pheochromocytoma |

Table 5.1 Hereditary tumor syndromes associated with neuroendocrine tumors

MIM: OMIM-online catalog of Merdelian inheritance in man catalog number

Less common lesions associated with MEN-1 include cutaneous lesions like angiofibroma, collagenoma, lipoma, and melanoma and peripheral or central nervous system (CNS) tumors such as ependymoma and meningioma [4, 11–14]. The prevalence of the MEN-1 syndrome is approximately 1 in 20,000–40,000 individuals. MEN-1 should be suspected in patients with characteristic endocrine pathology in 2 out of the 3 characteristic affected organs or with a characteristic endocrine disorder in one of these organs plus a first-degree relative affected by the MEN-1 syndrome [11–15].

In 1903, the autopsy of an acromegalic patient with a pituitary adenoma and enlarged parathyroid glands, suggestive of MEN-1, was described by Jakob Erdheim [16]. In 1927, Harvey Williams Cushing and Leo M. Davidoff reported the first patient with the classic MEN-1 tumor triad [17]. In 1953, Laurentius O. Underdahl, Lewis B. Woolner, and B. Marden Black performed the first review of cases with a syndrome of pituitary, parathyroid, and pancreatic NET [18]. Paul Wermer in 1954 was the first who reported that the MEN-1 phenotype was transmitted in an autosomal dominant inheritance pattern giving the syndrome its initial eponym

"Wermer's syndrome" [19]. The MEN-1 clinical phenotype was subsequently fully characterized in the 1960s when radioimmunoassay's for peptides and hormones and standard imaging protocols were developed [20].

The MEN-1 syndrome is the result of an inactivating mutation of the MEN-1 tumor suppressor localized on chromosome 11q13. The 7–10 Kb MEN-1 gene was identified in 1997. It encodes for the 67 kd tumor-suppressor protein menin, consisting of 610 amino acids [21-23]. More than 1,100 unique germline mutations and more than 200 somatic mutations have now been identified in MEN-1 family probands [24]. There is no recognizable genotype/phenotype relation among germline and somatic MEN-1 mutations.

Somatic mutations have also been reported in sporadic forms of endocrine tumors with variable incidence of 20–40 % in pancreatic and lung NET [25, 26]. Clinically, mutations of the MEN-1 and DAXX/ATRX genes seem to be associated with a better prognosis of pancreatic NET [25]. Patients with pancreatic NET with mutations in both the MEN-1 gene and DAXX/ATRX survived at least 10 years, whereas patients without these mutations died within 5 years of diagnosis [25].

Clinical screening of patients remains a prerequisite of genetic analysis [11-15]. Patients with MEN-1 have a shorter life expectancy than the general population. Nowadays this is mainly caused by the malignant potential of the MEN-1-related NET. The 20-year survival of patients affected with MEN-1 is estimated to be 64 % [11-15].

Gastroenteropancreatic (GEP) NET occur in about 30-80 % of MEN-1 patients and are the second most frequent clinical manifestation of MEN-1 [11–15, 27, 28]. Unlike sporadic GEP NET, they are frequently characterized by multiple tumors that are usually diagnosed a decade earlier than sporadic GEP NET. About 2/3 of these tumors are clinically active, i.e., producing an excess of one or more peptides/ hormones, which cause the distinct clinical syndromes. The most common functional pancreatic NET are insulinomas (15 %) (11–15; 17). Gastrinomas represent more than half of all functional GEP NET in MEN-1. The great majority of (multiple) gastrinomas (>90 %) in MEN-1 patients is located in the duodenum. In MEN-1 patients, these tumors can manifest with the typical symptoms of the Zollinger-Ellison syndrome before the age of 40 and a generally diagnosed when metastases have occurred [27–29]. Gastrinomas represent one of the major causes of morbidity and mortality in MEN-1 patients and are associated with a poor prognosis [29, 30]. Multiple insulinomas in MEN-1 patients are usually also diagnosed before the age of 40 - many times in association with gastrinomas - which is generally earlier than the diagnosis of sporadic insulinomas [31]. Glucagonomas have also been reported in only a few MEN-1 cases.

Thymic NET almost exclusively occur in male patients with MEN-1. Their prevalence is between 3 and 4 %, and the 10-year survival of patients with these tumors is approximately 25 %. Lung NET occur in 20–25 % of MEN-1 patients. MEN-1 patients with a lung NET, as compared to those with a thymic NET, have a much better 10-year survival (>70 %) [32, 33].

The therapy of NET and NET syndromes in MEN-1 patients is essentially not different from the therapies for their sporadic counterparts. However, there is

discussion as to whether gastrinoma surgery should be generally attempted in MEN-1 patients [29, 34–36]. Gastric NET in MEN-1 patients almost exclusively develop in the presence of the Zollinger-Ellison syndrome [37, 38]. They are generally characterized as type 2 ECL-omas, or gastric carcinoids. These generally well-differentiated lesions usually show a benign clinical course [38].

Periodic screening for tumor manifestations and subsequent treatment of asymptomatic MEN-1 mutation carriers can prevent complications and may lead to a more favorable course of the disease. Therefore, according to the recently published Clinical Practice Guidelines for MEN-1, periodic radiological (and biochemical) screening for pancreatic, thymic, and lung NET is recommended every 1–2 years using thoracic and abdominal CT or MRI [15]. According to these guidelines, MEN-1 germline mutation testing should be offered to index patients with MEN-1 and to their – many times asymptomatic – first-degree relatives from the age of 5 years [13].

von Hippel-Lindau (VHL; MIM 193300) disease is a multisystem autosomal dominant inherited genetic disorder that may manifest with retinal angiomas, Central Nervous System (CNS) hemangioblastomas (involving the cerebellum, spinal cord, or brainstem), clear cell renal carcinoma, uni- or bilateral pheochromocytoma(s), pancreatic lesions (see later), endolymphatic sac tumors of the middle ear, and papillary cystadenomas of the epididymis and broad ligament [8, 39]. The prevalence of the VHL syndrome is approximately 1 in 36,000 newborns [8].

Patients with VHL may be divided into two groups: type 1 and type 2, both leading to a specific phenotype. Patients with type 1 VHL do *not* develop pheochromocytoma(s), whereas those from type 2 disease are at high risk for developing pheochromocytoma(s). Type 2 VHL is further divided into type 2A, 2B, and 2C. Patients with type 2A VHL have a low risk for renal clear cell carcinoma in contrast with type 2B VHL, and patients with type 2C VHL develop pheochromocytomas only [8, 40].

In 1904, the ophthalmologist Eugen von Hippel first described retinal angiomas [41]. Arvid Vilhelm Lindau described the hemangiomas of the CNS in 1927 [42].

In a recent review of patients affected by VHL, 60 % of VHL patients had pancreatic involvement including true cysts, serous cystadenomas, and NET (in 15 %) [27, 28, 43]. Studies also suggest that VHL-related pancreatic NET are mostly nonfunctional [44]. VHL-related pancreatic NET might be distinguished from MEN-1related NET based on the (1) absence of duodenal tumors, (2) frequent clinically nonfunctional tumors, and (3) frequent occurrence of cystic adenomas around the pancreatic NET. Libutti and colleagues have formulated guidelines for the followup of pancreatic NET in patients with VHL [45]. For pancreatic NET ≤ 1 cm, they recommend follow-up with CT or MRI every 12 months; for NET between 1 and 3 cm, a case-by-case assessment is recommended; and NET >3 cm that are symptomatic or functional or lesions that are increasing in size are considered for resection [45].

The VHL gene is a tumor-suppressor gene located on chromosome 3p25-26. The VHL protein binds to elongin C and elongin B, thereby inhibiting transcription elongation, Cul2, and Rbx1 and degrades the α -subunits of hypoxia-inducible factors (HIF). This mechanism is influenced by oxygen. In absence of the VHL

protein, lack of degradation of HIF results in uncontrolled production of factors, like vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), that promote formation of new blood vessels and tumor development [8, 9]. Germline mutations in the VHL gene are now identifiable in virtually all VHL families [8]. VHL gene sequencing has been useful in VHL disease for presymptomatic diagnosis [8]. The exact molecular mechanism of development of NET in VHL is yet unknown.

Neurofibromatosis type 1 (NF-1) (von Recklinghausen disease, MIM 162200) is a multisystem autosomal dominant inherited genetic disorder characterized by neurofibromas, multiple café au lait spots, axillary and inguinal freckling, iris hematomas (Lisch nodules), skeletal abnormalities, CNS gliomas, pheochromocytomas, and paragangliomas and occasionally with periampullary somatostatinomas [46].

The disorder was first characterized by Friedrich Daniel von Recklinghausen in 1882 [47]. The prevalence of NF-1 is about 1 in 3,000 individuals.

Approximately 40 % of the periampullary somatostatinomas are associated with NF-1 [46].

The NF-1 gene is located on chromosome 17q11.2. It encodes for the protein neurofibromin, which inhibits the intracellular phosphoinositide 3-kinase/protein kinase B/mammalian target of rapamycin (PI3K-AKT-mTOR) pathway, which is important in apoptosis. Loss of function of the NF-1 gene results in mTOR upregulation and tumor development [10, 48].

Tuberous sclerosis complex (TSC) (OMIM 191100) is a multisystem autosomal dominant inherited genetic disorder, which is characterized by hamartomas in several organs, including the brain, heart, skin, eyes, kidneys, lungs, and liver.

The characteristic tubers (cortical hamartomas) of this disorder were first described by Désiré-Magloire Bourneville in 1880, the disease thereby earning its eponym "Bourneville's disease" [49].

Pancreatic NET, mostly insulinomas or nonfunctioning tumors, appear to be more frequent in TSC patients than in the general population. However, it is still unclear whether pancreatic NET should be considered as a feature of TSC. Current clinical recommendations for TSC do not include routine investigation for pancreatic NET [27, 28, 50].

The live birth prevalence of the TSC is approximately 10–16 cases per 100,000 individuals.

TSC is caused by inactivating mutations in either of the two genes TSC1 (located on chromosome 9q34 and encoding for the protein hamartin) or TSC2 (located on chromosome 16p13.3 and encoding for the gene product tuberin). Mutations of the TSC1 and TSC2 genes result in an impaired function of the hamartin-tuberin complex, which results in the upregulation of the PI3K-AKT-mTOR pathway [7, 48].

References

- de Herder WW, Lamberts SW (2004) Clinical endocrinology and metabolism. Gut endocrine tumours. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab 18(4):477–495
- Modlin IM, Oberg K, Chung DC, Jensen RT, de Herder WW, Thakker RV et al (2008) Gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumours. Lancet Oncol 9(1):61–72

- Brandi ML, Gagel RF, Angeli A, Bilezikian JP, Beck-Peccoz P, Bordi C et al (2001) CONSENSUS: guidelines for diagnosis and therapy of MEN type 1 and type 2. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 86(12):5658–5671
- 4. Thakker RV (2001) Multiple endocrine neoplasia. Horm Res 56(Suppl 1):67-72
- Carney JA (1995) Carney complex: the complex of myxomas, spotty pigmentation, endocrine overactivity, and schwannomas. Semin Dermatol 14(2):90–98
- 6. Stratakis CA (2001) Clinical genetics of multiple endocrine neoplasias, Carney complex and related syndromes. J Endocrinol Invest 24(5):370–383
- 7. Orlova KA, Crino PB (2010) The tuberous sclerosis complex. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1184: 87–105. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.05117.x.:87-105
- Hes FJ, Hoppener JW, Luijt RB, Lips CJ (2005) Von Hippel-Lindau disease. Hered Cancer Clin Pract 3(4):171–178
- 9. Chou A, Toon C, Pickett J, Gill AJ (2013) von Hippel-Lindau syndrome. Front Horm Res 41:30–49. doi:10.1159/000345668. Epub;%2013 Mar;%19.:30–49
- Larizza L, Gervasini C, Natacci F, Riva P (2009) Developmental abnormalities and cancer predisposition in neurofibromatosis type 1. Curr Mol Med 9(5):634–653
- 11. Marini F, Falchetti A, Del Monte F, Carbonell SS, Gozzini A, Luzi E et al (2006) Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. Orphanet J Rare Dis 1:38
- 12. Thakker RV (2010) Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1). Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab 24(3):355–370
- 13. Thakker RV (2013) Multiple Endocrine Neoplasia Type 1 (MEN1) and Type 4 (MEN4). Mol Cell Endocrinol 13:10
- Leotlela PD, Jauch A, Holtgreve-Grez H, Thakker RV (2003) Genetics of neuroendocrine and carcinoid tumours. Endocr Relat Cancer 10(4):437–450
- Thakker RV, Newey PJ, Walls GV, Bilezikian J, Dralle H, Ebeling PR et al (2012) Clinical practice guidelines for multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1). J Clin Endocrinol Metab 97(9):2990–3011
- Erdheim J (1903) Zur normalen und pathologischen Histologic der Glandula thyreoidea, parathyroidea und Hypophysis. Beitr Z Path Anat U Z Allg Path 33:158–236
- Cushing H, Davidoff LM Studies in acromegaly V (1927) The pathological finding in four autopsied cases of *acromegaly* with a discussion of their significance, Monograph. New York. Rockefeller Institute for Medical Research (22):1–77
- Underdahl LO, Woolner LB, Black BM (1953) Multiple endocrine adenomas: report of eight cases in which the parathyroids, pituitary and pancreatic islets were involved. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 13:20–25
- Wermer P (1954) Genetic aspects of adenomatosis of endocrine glands. Am J Med 16(3): 363–371
- Carney JA (2005) Familial multiple endocrine neoplasia: the first 100 years. Am J Surg Pathol 29(2):254–274
- Larsson C, Skogseid B, Oberg K, Nakamura Y, Nordenskjold M (1988) Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 gene maps to chromosome 11 and is lost in insulinoma. Nature 332(6159):85–87
- 22. The European Consortium on MEN1 (1997) Linkage disequilibrium studies in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1). Hum Genet 100(5–6):657–665
- 23. Chandrasekharappa SC, Guru SC, Manickam P, Olufemi SE, Collins FS, Emmert-Buck MR et al (1997) Positional cloning of the gene for multiple endocrine neoplasia-type 1. Science 276(5311):404–407
- 24. Lemos MC, Thakker RV (2008) Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1): analysis of 1336 mutations reported in the first decade following identification of the gene. Hum Mutat 29(1):22–32
- 25. Jiao Y, Shi C, Edil BH, de Wilde RF, Klimstra DS, Maitra A et al (2011) DAXX/ATRX, MEN1, and mTOR pathway genes are frequently altered in pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Science 331(6021):1199–1203

- Leotlela PD, Jauch A, Holtgreve-Grez H, Thakker RV (2003) Genetics of neuroendocrine and carcinoid tumours. Endocr Relat Cancer 10(4):437–450
- 27. Alexakis N, Connor S, Ghaneh P, Lombard M, Smart HL, Evans J et al (2004) Hereditary pancreatic endocrine tumours. Pancreatology 4(5):417–433
- Philips S, Shah SN, Vikram R, Verma S, Shanbhogue AK, Prasad SR (2012) Pancreatic endocrine neoplasms: a current update on genetics and imaging. Br J Radiol 85(1014):682–696
- 29. Jensen RT (1998) Management of the Zollinger-Ellison syndrome in patients with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. J Intern Med 243(6):477–488
- Doherty GM, Thompson NW (2003) Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1: duodenopancreatic tumours. J Intern Med 253(6):590–598
- de Herder WW, Niederle B, Scoazec JY, Pauwels S, Kloppel G, Falconi M et al (2006) Welldifferentiated pancreatic tumor/carcinoma: insulinoma. Neuroendocrinology 84(3):183–188
- 32. de Laat JM, Tham E, Pieterman CR, Vriens MR, Dorresteijn JA, Bots ML et al (2012) Predicting the risk of multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 for patients with commonly occurring endocrine tumors. Eur J Endocrinol 167(2):181–187
- 33. Pieterman CR, Vriens MR, Dreijerink KM, van der Luijt RB, Valk GD (2011) Care for patients with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1: the current evidence base. Fam Cancer 10(1): 157–171
- 34. MacFarlane MP, Fraker DL, Alexander HR, Norton JA, Lubensky I, Jensen RT (1995) Prospective study of surgical resection of duodenal and pancreatic gastrinomas in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. Surgery 118(6):973–979
- 35. Norton JA, Alexander HR, Fraker DL, Venzon DJ, Gibril F, Jensen RT (2001) Comparison of surgical results in patients with advanced and limited disease with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 and Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. Ann Surg 234(4):495–505
- Thompson JC, Lewis BG, Wiener I, Townsend CM Jr (1983) The role of surgery in the Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. Ann Surg 197(5):594–607
- Delle Fave G, Kwekkeboom DJ, Van Cutsem E, Rindi G, Kos-Kudla B, Knigge U et al (2012) ENETS Consensus Guidelines for the management of patients with gastroduodenal neoplasms. Neuroendocrinology 95(2):74–87
- O'Toole D, Delle Fave G, Jensen RT (2012) Gastric and duodenal neuroendocrine tumours. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 26(6):719–735
- Maher ER, Neumann HP, Richard S (2011) von Hippel-Lindau disease: a clinical and scientific review. Eur J Hum Genet 19(6):617–623
- 40. Chou A, Toon C, Pickett J, Gill AJ (2013) von Hippel-Lindau syndrome. Front Horm Res 41:30–49. doi:10.1159/000345668. Epub;%2013 Mar;%19.:30–49
- von Hippel E (1904) Über eine sehr seltene Erkrankung der Netzhaut. Albrecht Von Gräfes Arch Ophthal 59:83–106
- 42. Lindau A (1927) Zur Frage der Angiomatosis Retinae und Ihrer Hirncomplikation. Acta Ophthal 4:193–226
- Charlesworth M, Verbeke CS, Falk GA, Walsh M, Smith AM, Morris-Stiff G (2012) Pancreatic lesions in von Hippel-Lindau disease? A systematic review and meta-synthesis of the literature. J Gastrointest Surg 16(7):1422–1428
- 44. Hammel PR, Vilgrain V, Terris B, Penfornis A, Sauvanet A, Correas JM et al (2000) Pancreatic involvement in von Hippel-Lindau disease. The Groupe Francophone d'Etude de la Maladie de von Hippel-Lindau. Gastroenterology 119(4):1087–1095
- 45. Libutti SK, Choyke PL, Bartlett DL, Vargas H, Walther M, Lubensky I et al (1998) Pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors associated with von Hippel Lindau disease: diagnostic and management recommendations. Surgery 124(6):1153–1159
- 46. Relles D, Baek J, Witkiewicz A, Yeo CJ (2010) Periampullary and duodenal neoplasms in neurofibromatosis type 1: two cases and an updated 20-year review of the literature yielding 76 cases. J Gastrointest Surg 14(6):1052–1061
- von Recklinghausen FD (1882) Über die multiplen Fibrome der Haut und ihre Beziehung zu den multiplen Neuromen. Festschrift für Rudolf Virchow, Berlin

- Franz DN, Weiss BD (2012) Molecular therapies for tuberous sclerosis and neurofibromatosis. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep 12(3):294–301
- 49. Bourneville DM (1880) Contribution à l'étude de l'idiotie; observation III : sclérose tubéreuse des circonvolutions cérébrales : idiotie et épilepsie hémiplégique. Arch Neurol 1:81–91
- 50. Yates JR, Maclean C, Higgins JN, Humphrey A, le Marechal K, Clifford M et al (2011) The Tuberous Sclerosis 2000 Study: presentation, initial assessments and implications for diagnosis and management. Arch Dis Child 96(11):1020–1025

Pathological Evaluation and Classification of Digestive Neuroendocrine Tumours

6

Anne Couvelard

6.1 The Pathological Diagnosis of Digestive NET

Neuroendocrine neoplasms (NEN) arise from neuroendocrine cells which are distributed in the mucosa of the gastrointestinal (GI) tract and in the pancreas. There are several diagnostic tools to perform the diagnosis of NEN, including imaging, serological tests and endoscopy, but the diagnosis should be formally confirmed by the pathological investigation. The histological feature of NEN, which is generally characteristic in most cases, at least for well-differentiated NEN, must be confirmed by immunohistochemistry and allows to categorise these tumours as NETs (neuroendocrine tumours) or NECs (neuroendocrine carcinomas) according to the last international WHO classification [5]. This is very important to assess the tumour prognosis and to guide patient therapy.

6.1.1 Morphology

Characteristic histopathological features of digestive NEN are held in common. By morphology, there is a clear distinction to be made, in all digestive locations, between the well-differentiated and the poorly differentiated tumours. This distinction is important, since their morphology, prognosis and response to treatments are very different. However, it must be emphasised that a relatively small percentage of tumours is not easy to classify into the well- or poorly differentiated groups, because they share some morphological characteristics of both of them. Well-differentiated tumours (called "neuroendocrine tumours", NET, according to the WHO 2010 classification, as discussed below) are composed of tumour

A. Couvelard, MD, PhD

Department of Pathology, Bichat Hospital AP-HP, University of Paris Diderot and INSERM U1149, 46 rue Henri Huchard, 75018 Paris, France e-mail: anne.couvelard@bch.aphp.fr

[©] Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

S. Yalcin, K. Öberg (eds.), Neuroendocrine Tumours:

Diagnosis and Management, DOI 10.1007/978-3-662-45215-8_6

cells possessing round nuclei with "salt and pepper" chromatin [5]. Their cytoplasm is eosinophilic and granular. They show regular insular, trabecular or sheetlike patterns, depending on the site of primary, the insular pattern being more frequent in the ileum, with palisading of the peripheral cell layers. Poorly differentiated tumours (called "neuroendocrine carcinomas", NEC, according to the WHO 2010 classification, as discussed below) are classified as small or large-cell carcinomas, according to the histological morphology of their cells [5]. The small cells are, as their name implies, small, round ovoid or spindle-shaped, with very scant cytoplasm; their chromatin is fine and granular without nucleoli. In contrast, large-cell carcinomas are composed of medium-sized or large-sized cells; their nuclei are atypical with evident nucleoli. These morphological characteristics are similar to those used to classify the lung neuroendocrine tumours according to the lung WHO 2004 classifications [50].

6.1.2 Immunohistochemistry

The morphological diagnosis of digestive NEN must be confirmed by immunohistochemistry, as firstly proposed by the European Neuroendocrine Tumor Society (ENETS) and confirmed by the WHO 2010 classification [40–42]. NEN share marker proteins with the neural cell system, such as synaptophysin and neuronspecific enolase. Among the several neuroendocrine markers, chromogranin A and synaptophysin are the most common and those which are required to confirm the diagnosis of NEN according to the ENETS recommendations and to the WHO 2010 classification of digestive tumours [5, 41, 42]. The neural cell adhesion molecule CD56 (NCAM) is also useful, especially in poorly differentiated tumours, because they may weakly, or not at all, express chromogranin A. Hindgut rectal NEN may be negative for chromogranin A and only express chromogranin B. The diagnosis of rectal NET should not be ruled out in the case of negativity of chromogranin A.

6.2 The Pathological Classification of Digestive NET

A new classification of digestive NEN has been formulated in the 2010 revision of the WHO classification of tumours of the digestive system [5]. The terminology and principles were greatly modified in this novel classification as compared to those used previously. Three main grading categories are recognised, irrespective of the site in the digestive system (neuroendocrine tumour Grade 1, neuroendocrine tumour Grade 2 and neuroendocrine carcinoma of small- or of large-cell types) combined with a site-specific TNM staging, which was published in 2009 by the AJCC-UICC following a 2006 TNM proposal by the European Neuroendocrine Tumor Society (ENETS) [41, 47].

6.2.1 The WHO 2010 Classification

6.2.1.1 Introduction

In 2000, the WHO published a classification for the histological typing of digestive neuroendocrine tumours (NETs) [48]. This classification remained unchanged following the WHO 2004 revision and was used until 2010 [9]. A new WHO classification for GEP-NET appeared in 2010 [5]. In the first pages of the WHO classification book, the "nomenclature and classification of neuroendocrine neoplasms of the digestive system" is introduced and described in detail [40]. Its main principle is a clear distinction between histological classification (including grading, the same in any digestive location) and staging (using the AJCC-UICC TNM 7th edition, specific for each location). As for most other tumour types, histological WHO must be associated with TNM staging since WHO and TNM complement each other.

According to the WHO 2010 classification, digestive neuroendocrine neoplasms (the term "neuroendocrine neoplasm or NEN" encompasses well- and poorly differentiated tumours) are classified into three main histological categories (Table 6.1): neuroendocrine tumours grade 1 or NET G1 (Fig. 6.1a, b), neuroendocrine tumours grade 2 or NET G2 (Fig. 6.1c, d) and neuroendocrine carcinomas or NEC, with two different subtypes, of large- or small-cell types; these poorly differentiated carcinomas are of grade G3 (Fig. 6.1e). This parallels well with the pulmonary neuroendocrine WHO classification [50]. Two other categories include mixed adenoneuroendocrine carcinomas (MANECs) and hyperplastic and preneoplastic lesions. The WHO 2010 classification deleted the terms "benign" and "malignant" used in the previous classification to describe the well-differentiated tumours assuming neuroendocrine neoplasms (NEN) as a category to be potentially malignant.

6.2.1.2 Basis of the Grading

The histological grading into G1, G2 and G3 is performed on the basis of the assessment of the proliferation fraction according to the ENETS scheme firstly published in 2006 [41], with the same cut-off values (Table 6.2). However, subtle differences appeared in the way to count. Indeed, in the WHO 2010 classification, it is required to count mitosis in 50 HPF (high-power field) (1 HFP=0.2 mm²), instead of 40 HPF in the ENETS proposals. It is recommended to count the Ki-67 index using the MIB

Table 6.1 Generalneuroendocrine neoplasmcategories in the WHO 2010classification

| 1 | Neuroendocrine tumour, NET G1 (carcinoid) |
|-------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------|
| 2 | Neuroendocrine tumour, NET G2 |
| 3 | Neuroendocrine carcinoma, NEC (small- or large-cell type) |
| 4 | Mixed adenoneuroendocrine carcinoma, MANEC |
| 5 | Hyperplastic and preneoplastic lesions |
| Adapted from Deemon et al [5] | |

Adapted from Bosman et al. [5]



Fig. 6.1 A well-differentiated (a) neuroendocrine tumour (NET) of grade G1 (Ki-67<1 %, b); a well-differentiated (c) neuroendocrine tumour (NET) of grade G2 (Ki-67=12 %, d); a gastric small-cell poorly differentiated (e) neuroendocrine carcinoma (NEC)

antibody as a percentage of 500–2,000 cells (whereas it was recommended to count 2,000 cells in the ENETS proposals). Grade 1 tumours have a mitotic count <2 per 2 mm² (10 HPF) and/or $\leq 2 \%$ Ki-67. Grade 2 tumours have a mitotic count between 2 and 20 per 2 mm² and/or 3–20 % Ki-67 >20 %. Grade 3 tumours have a mitotic count >20 per 2 mm² and/or Ki-67. If grade differs for mitosis and Ki-67 evaluation, it is suggested to consider the higher grade. It is of importance to note that in order to perform a proper evaluation of the mitotic count, the pathological specimen must have a minimal size: indeed, 50 HPF represents 10 mm². This is not feasible in a biopsy specimen where evaluation of Ki-67 is consequently required. The

| Table 6.2 Grading for digestive neuroendocrine tumours, according to the | Grade | Mitotic count (/2 mm ²) ^a | Ki-67 index (%) ^b |
|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------|--------------------------------------------------|------------------------------|
| | G1 | <2 | ≤2 |
| WHO 2010 classification | G2 | 2–20 | 3–20 |
| | G3 | >20 | >20 |
| | | · | 1 5 5 3 |

Adapted from Rindi et al. [41] and Bosman et al. [5] ^a10 high-power field [HPF], 40× magnification=2 mm². It is recommended to count mitoses in at least 50 fields at ×40 magnification in areas of highest mitotic density and to divide the total number of mitoses by 5

^bMIB1 antibody; % of 500–2,000 tumour cells in areas of highest labelling

prognostic value of this grading was demonstrated for foregut, midgut and hindgut NET [10, 13, 17, 18, 27, 35, 36, 45, 52]. Since the use of the WHO 2010 classification, several publications have pointed differences in the evaluation of tumour proliferation by Ki-67 or mitosis. There is a lack of concordance between grades assigned by both methods, the mitotic count being often lower than the Ki-67 count [19]. The best method to evaluate Ki-67, for example, is the use of manual or digital counting, and the best cut-off to discriminate between G1 and G2 still remains controversial [1, 11, 33, 49]. It has been recently suggested that Ki-67 is a better prognosis marker and predictor of metastases than mitoses [30].

6.2.1.3 Definition of the Five Categories of the WHO Classification

- 1. Neuroendocrine tumours grade 1: these tumours are well differentiated and possess a low proliferation rate, of grade G1 (see above). The term "carcinoid tumour" can be used in place of NET G1. This term was removed from the WHO 2000 classification, and it is important to recall that it is also used to designate neuroendocrine tumours of ileal origin, secreting serotonin, and often responsible for a carcinoid syndrome. "Carcinoid tumours" have a benign connotation, but it is well known that NET G1 can be malignant and metastatic, as it is observed in the lung (Fig. 6.2).
- 2. Neuroendocrine tumours grade 2: these tumours are well differentiated and possess an intermediate proliferation rate, of grade G2 (see above). The term "atypical carcinoid" is not recommended in the WHO 2010 classification; it cannot be used for NET G2.
- 3. Neuroendocrine carcinomas of large or small cells: these tumours are poorly differentiated and malignant, composed of small or large cells expressing the neuroendocrine markers chromogranin A and synaptophysin (staining might be faint or focal). They are of grade G3. The large-cell category was not included in the previous WHO 2000 classification. The small-cell category looks like the pulmonary "small-cell carcinoma" subgroup. All practitioners must be aware of the NEC category. Indeed, in the previous WHO classification, the term "carcinoma" was also used for well-differentiated tumours presenting metastases and/ or invading the muscular layer in the digestive tract. It is important to document



Fig. 6.2 Liver metastasis of a well-differentiated (**a**) pancreatic neuroendocrine tumour (NET) of grade G1 with a very low Ki-67 index <1 % (**b**) and a strong chromogranin A expression (**c**)

the tumour differentiation in the pathology reports in order to make impossible such error. Another important issue is the relationship between the grade G3 and the differentiation in this category. Indeed, the WHO classification suggests that all G3 tumours are poorly differentiated carcinomas. However, it is now known that the G3 group is heterogeneous, containing both well-differentiated NET and poorly differentiated NEC, the former being less aggressive with a lower Ki-67 index and a lower response rate to cisplatin-based chemotherapy [51]. It is not possible to classify "well-differentiated G3" tumours according to the WHO classification.

- 4. MANECs (mixed adenoneuroendocrine carcinomas) have both a neuroendocrine and an exocrine glandular phenotype. Thirty per cent of each component must be at least identified for this definition. The new term "MANEC" replaces the previous "mixed endocrine-exocrine tumour". Theoretically, the neuroendocrine component may be well or poorly differentiated. The exocrine component may be composed of acinar carcinoma cells. The frequency of MANEC and the type of exocrine or neuroendocrine component depend on the location in the digestive system. For example, in the colon, MANECs are more frequent and they often contain a poorly differentiated neuroendocrine component [28].
- 5. Hyperplastic and preneoplastic lesions.

6.2.2 The 2009 AJCC-UICC TNM

6.2.2.1 Introduction

In 2009, the 7th edition of the American Joint Cancer Committee-Union Internationale Contre le Cancer (AJCC-UICC) TNM classification was published [47], including for the first time digestive neuroendocrine tumours. It followed the first TNM classification which was proposed in 2006 (for NET of the stomach, duodenum and pancreas) and in 2007 (for NET of the ileum, colon/rectum and appendix) by a working group of the European Neuroendocrine Tumor Society (ENETS) [41, 42]. In the AJCC-UICC classification, high-grade (poorly differentiated) NECs are classified separately, by using the exocrine classification established in respective sites. When considering well-differentiated NETs, the AJCC-UICC TNM is similar to the previous ENETS/TNM proposals for intestinal anatomical sites but differs for other locations (the pancreas, stomach and appendix). It is important to document the pathological features, such as invasion and tumour size, to allow the translation of the staging between the classifications [23].

6.2.2.2 TNM Staging in the Different Digestive Locations

See Table 6.3 for details and comparison between UICC and ENETS T categories.

| Pancreas-ENETS | | Pancreas-UICC ^a |
|----------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| T1 | Tumour confined to pancreas, $\leq 2 \text{ cm}$ | Idem |
| T2 | Tumour confined to pancreas, 2-4 cm | Tumour confined to pancreas, >2 cm |
| Т3 | Tumour confined to pancreas and >4 cm or invading duodenum or bile duct | Tumour extends beyond pancreas, without involvement of coeliac axis or superior mesenteric artery |
| T4 | T4 Tumour involves coeliac axis or superior mesenteric artery or adjacent organs (stomach, spleen, colon, adrenal) Tumour involves coeliac superior | |
| Ston | nach-ENETS | Stomach-UICC |
| Tis | In situ/dysplasia (<0.5 mm) | Idem |
| T1 | Tumour invading mucosa or submucosa, ≤1 cm | Idem |
| T2 | Tumour invading muscularis propria or subserosa or >1 cm | Tumour invading muscularis propria or >1 cm |
| Т3 | Tumour penetrating serosa | Tumour invading subserosa |
| T4 | Tumour invading adjacent structures | Tumour penetrating serosa or invading adjacent structures |
| Sma | ll intestine-ENETS | Small intestine-UICC |
| T 1 | Tumour invading mucosa or submucosa, ≤1 cm | Idem |
| T2 | Tumour invading muscularis propria or >1 cm | Idem |

Table 6.3 T categories in the UICC and ENETS classifications of digestive neuroendocrine tumours, in the pancreas, stomach, small intestine, appendix and colon/rectum

(continued)

| | | 1 | | |
|-----------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|--|--|
| Small intestine-ENETS | | Small intestine-UICC | | |
| Т3 | Jejunum, ileum: tumour invading subserosa Ampulla, duodenum: tumour invading pancreas or retroperitoneum | Idem | | |
| T4 | Tumour invading serosa or other organs | Idem | | |
| Appendix-ENETS | | Appendix-TNM ^b | | |
| T1 | Tumour ≤ 1 cm; invading submucosa, muscularis propria | T1a: ≤1 cm T1b: >1-2 cm | | |
| T2 | Tumour ≤ 2 cm; invading submucosa, muscularis propria, minimally (≤ 3 mm) subserosa/ mesoappendix | Tumour >2–4 cm or invading the cecum | | |
| Т3 | Tumour>2 cm or largely (>3 mm) invading subserosa/mesoappendix | Tumour >4 cm or invading the ileum | | |
| T4 | Tumour invading serosa or other organs | Idem | | |
| Colo | on/rectum-ENETS | Colon/rectum-UICC | | |
| T1 | Tumour invading mucosa or submucosa, T1a<1 cm, T1b: \geq 1-2 cm | Idem | | |
| T2 | Tumour invading muscularis propria or >2 cm | Idem | | |
| Т3 | Tumour invading subserosa or mesorectum | Idem | | |
| T4 | Tumour penetrating serosa or invading adjacent structures | Idem | | |

Table 6.3 (continued)

Adapted from Rindi et al. [41], Rindi et al. [42], Sobin et al. [47], Bosman et al. [5]

According to UICC, the poorly differentiated NECs are classified as exocrine tumours

^aAccording to UICC, all pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms (including G1, G2 and G3 and well- or poorly differentiated tumours) are classified following the pancreatic exocrine tumour classification

^bGoblet cell carcinoids are classified according to the exocrine carcinoma classification

Pancreas

In this location, the AJCC-UICC applies the same TNM as the one used for classifying adenocarcinomas, either for well-differentiated or poorly differentiated tumours. In the AJCC-UICC TNM, invasion of the peripancreatic fat applies to pT3 tumours as compared to tumour size >4 cm in the ENETS TNM (Table 6.3). The size cut-off of 4 cm, which is reported to be an important prognostic factor [45], is not included in the AJCC-UICC classification. There is a discrepancy between the ENETS and UICC staging in the pancreas in a large proportion of cases [29].

Stomach

In this location, a Tis stage is defined (in situ tumour, less than 0.5 mm). The UICC and ENETS classifications differ. Tumours invading the subserosa are T2 according to ENETS and T3 according to UICC.

Intestine

The UICC and ENETS classifications are identical in the small intestine. The T2 and T3 stages apply to tumours invading the muscularis propria and the subserosa,

respectively, whereas T4 tumours penetrate the serosa (Table 6.3). In the rectum, the stage and grade according to ENETS/WHO are correlated with survival (Weinstock).

Appendix

According to the UICC classification, the tumour size is a very important criterion to classify NET in this location. According to ENETS, the invasion into the mesoappendix should be evaluated to distinguish T2 and T3 tumours (T3 tumour >2 cm and/or >3 mm extension into the mesoappendix).

Colon/Rectum

In the colon and rectum, the UICC and ENETS classifications are identical. T1 is separated into T1a and T1b, according to size (<1 cm or \geq 1–2 cm). This parameter is important for endoscopic resection of rectal tumours.

6.3 Specificities of Pathological Diagnosis According to the Digestive Locations

6.3.1 Pancreas

Pancreatic NETs represent a very heterogeneous group of tumours, depending on functional status, presence of inherited syndromes or tumour differentiation [21, 22]. By definition, tumours are greater than 5 mm (below this size, they are defined as microadenomas). Functional tumours are associated with clinical syndromes caused by inappropriate secretion of insulin, glucagon, somatostatin, gastrin or VIP. Non-functioning tumours are often discovered incidentally, or when they become clinically apparent due to their large size, to invasion of adjacent organs or to the occurrence of metastases. Most PNETs are solitary and well differentiated; when multiple, MEN1 or VHL syndromes should be suspected. Well-differentiated NETs are usually well circumscribed; they may present different histological patterns (such as solid, trabecular, gland-like, oncocytic); they may show invasion of the peripancreatic fatty tissue (then classified as T3 according to UICC TNM, see above). First metastases are usually found in regional lymph nodes and the liver. Poorly differentiated NECs are infrequent in the pancreas, mostly represented by large-cell NEC [3].

Among functional pancreatic NETs, insulinomas are the most frequent. In 4–6 % of cases, they are associated with MEN1 [25]. They are frequently discovered while still small, and most are less than 2 cm, due in part to their earlier detection [26]. A relatively characteristic histological feature is the stroma with deposition of amyloid. Pancreatic gastrinomas are associated with the sporadic form of Zollinger-Ellison syndrome, as compared to duodenal ones which are more frequent, smaller and more often associated with MEN1 syndrome [25]. The histological aspect of gastrinomas has no distinctive features with other functioning or non-functioning pancreatic NETs (Fig. 6.3). Glucagonomas are usually large and solitary tumours more frequent in the tail. They cause a functional syndrome including a skin rash (necrolytic migratory erythema). They represent 8–13 % of functioning tumours.



Fig. 6.3 A pancreatic glucagonoma corresponding to a well-differentiated neuroendocrine tumour (NET) G2 at low (**a**) and high (**b**) magnification. Tumour cells are regular and strongly express glucagon (**c**). Ki-67 is calculated at 6 % (**d**)

Inherited diseases, mostly MEN1 and VHL disease, are responsible for multiple PNETs, associated with microadenomas, which are more frequent and numerous in MEN1 (Fig. 6.4).

In VHL disease, pancreatic NETs occur in about 10–17 % of patients, whereas VHL is prevalent in about 0.5 % of pancreatic NETs [4, 7, 12]. The presence of microadenomas is not constant in pancreatic specimen resected for NET (about 70 % of cases) [37]. As compared to sporadic NET, VHL-NETs present a lower malignancy rate [12].

6.3.2 Stomach

Well-differentiated gastric NETs are classified into types 1, 2 and 3 [25, 43]. Type 1 NETs are the most common (70–80 %). They are related to fundic atrophic gastritis and hypergastrinaemia secondary to the deficient production of gastric acid. They occur in the fundus, are multifocal, small (mostly less than 1 cm) and polypoid, usually G1 tumours (Fig. 6.5). They are composed of enterochromaffin-like (ECL) cells and associated with ECL-cell hyperplasia in the adjacent mucosa. The prognosis of type 1 gastric NET is excellent; their small size allows an endoscopic resection in most cases. Type 2 tumours are rare. They are associated with a


Fig. 6.4 Two pancreatic microadenomas (**a**, *arrows*) in a patient with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1, well delimited and composed by regular cells (**b**) expressing chromogranin A (**c**). A serous cystadenoma (**d**), a well-differentiated neuroendocrine tumour of grade G1 (**e**) and a small microadenoma containing large neuroendocrine clear cells (**f**) in patient with a von Hippel-Lindau disease

Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. Hypergastrinemia causes fundic ECL-cell hyperplasia and, in the setting of MEN1, small fundic neuroendocrine tumours which are numerous and multifocal. Type 2 tumours are very similar to type 1 tumours but not associated with fundic atrophic gastritis. Moreover, lymph node metastases are more frequent than in type 1 NET [25, 43]. Type 3 NETs occur in any part of the stomach and are not associated with atrophic gastritis, hypergastrinemia, ECL-cell hyperplasia or MEN1. They are well-differentiated, solitary and larger than type 1 or type 2 tumours, with a more aggressive course and more frequent local or distant



Fig. 6.5 A type 1 gastric NET (**a**, see the overlying inflammatory fundic mucosa, *arrows*), measuring 1.5 cm and infiltrating the submucosa (pT2, according to UICC TNM), well-differentiated (**b**) of grade G1

metastases [44]. Type 4 gastric NEN are poorly differentiate, large, ulcerated tumours of poor prognosis, occurring in any part of the stomach [25]. Poorly differentiated NECs are rare in the stomach.

6.3.3 Small Intestine

6.3.3.1 lleum

Most of the ileal NETs are serotonin-producing EC-cell tumours. A carcinoid syndrome, due to the effect of serotonin, is present when tumours are of significant size, usually with liver metastases. These NETs are not associated with any of the known inherited syndrome (i.e. MEN1, von Hippel-Lindau disease, neurofibromatosis, etc.). However, familial cases have been described [16, 20]. Ileal NETs occur in the distal part of the ileum and can present as multiple tumours in some cases [53]. Histologically, they present an insular growth pattern with frequent palisading at their periphery and a fibro-sclerotic stroma. They often deeply invade the intestinal wall and give lymph node and liver metastasis, whereas their proliferative index is usually low [18]. The presence of mesenteric tumour deposit is frequent and could be an indicator of poor prognosis and survival [15].

6.3.3.2 Jejunum

A recent study underlines the heterogeneity of jejunal NETs and supports the distinction between "upper" and "lower" jejunal tumours, which, for prognostic purposes, could be grouped with, respectively, duodenal and ileal NETs [8].

6.3.3.3 Duodenum

In the duodenum, well-differentiated NETs are of five main types: (1) gastrinoma or gastrin-producing NET with or without MEN1 syndrome, (2) somatostatinoma or somatostatin-producing NET with or without neurofibromatosis type 1, (3) non-functioning NET, (4) gangliocytic paragangliomas and (5) poorly differentiated NEC.

Non-functioning NET may produce gastrin, somatostatin, serotonin or calcitonin. Gastrin-producing NETs occur mainly in the proximal duodenum, whereas somatostatin-producing NETs occur mainly in the ampulla of Vater [14]. The somatostatinoma syndrome does not usually develop. Histologically, the pseudoglandular pattern with psammoma bodies is characteristic; a neurofibromatosis type 1 syndrome should be suspected. Both gastrin- and somatostatin-producing NETs can be associated with MEN1. In this case, hyperplasia of neuroendocrine cells can be found in the adjacent non-neoplastic mucosa. Most duodenal gastrinomas are confined to the mucosa and submucosa, but lymph node metastases are frequent and often much larger than the duodenal primary, whereas liver metastases are rare [2, 25]. Duodenal gastrinoma can be sporadic or associated with MEN1 (in 20-30 % of cases). They frequently metastasise to the regional lymph nodes, but liver metastases are less frequent than in patients with pancreatic gastrinomas. Gangliocytic paragangliomas possess a triphasic cellular differentiation with neuroendocrine cells, ganglion cells and Schwann-like cells. They mainly occur in the papilla of Vater, and their course is usually benign, but they may spread to a lymph node. Duodenal NECs, which are infrequent, most commonly occur in the papilla of Vater [25].

6.3.4 Colon/Rectum

Rectum NETs are more frequent than colonic NETs, often solitary, sessile and incidentally discovered on colonoscopy. They are increasing in incidence, probably due to increase reporting of small polyps at endoscopy. Average tumour size is <1 cm and G1 tumours account for >80 % of cases [52]. Large tumours may be ulcerated. Rectal NETs are usually negative for chromogranin A and positive for prostatic acid phosphatase (Fig. 6.6). They can be treated by endoscopic resection, depending on their size and on tumour invasion, as determined by endoscopic ultrasound (in general if <2 cm and no invasion of muscularis propria) [39]. The evaluation of the margin and of the grading is important in such specimen [52].



Fig. 6.6 A well-differentiated NET of the rectum, less than 1 cm and infiltrating the submucosa (pT1a), resected by mucosectomy (a). Chromogranin A is not expressed by tumour cells; in contrast, it is expressed by normal neuroendocrine cells located in the glands of the mucosa (b, *arrow*)

In the colon, NEC are more frequent than in the rectum. Large-cell NEC is the most common type [46]. Mixed tumours (MANEC) are not infrequent, and overlying adenoma or adenocarcinoma is associated with infiltrative poorly differentiated neuroendocrine carcinomas [28].

6.3.5 Appendix

Appendiceal NETs are frequent, often diagnosed after an appendiceal surgical rejection because of symptoms of acute appendicitis. Most are EC-cell NETs, comparable to ileal EC-cell NETs and arise in the tip (>70 % of cases) of the appendix [6]. Tubular carcinoid is a histological variant difficult to diagnose which should not be misdiagnosed as adenocarcinomas. The goblet cell carcinoid is classified, in the 2010 classification, according to the scheme for carcinoma [5]. Those tumours contain both neuroendocrine cells and cells with intracytoplasmic mucus similar to goblet cells, with a predominantly submucosal growth in a concentric manner. Goblet cell carcinoids are more aggressive than conventional NETs. Most conventional NETs of the appendix are less than 2 cm (>80 %) and infiltrate the appendix wall [38]. Poorly differentiated tumours are exceptional. The risk of metastases increases with size and deep invasion of the appendix. Moertel et al. reported metastatic disease in 31 % of patients with tumours >2 cm [32]. Patients with tumours >2 cm should be treated by right hemicolectomy [34, 38]. The invasion of the mesoappendix is included in the ENETS TNM proposal (T3 if >3 mm; see Table 6.3), but not in the 2009 UICC TNM. Its prognostic impact is still controversial, but McGillivray et al. reviewed 414 appendiceal NETs and found that the mesoappendiceal invasion was related to metastatic disease [31].

Conclusion

Despite a certain degree of morphological and immunohistochemical homogeneity of well-differentiated digestive NETs, these tumours are heterogeneous regarding their presentation (functional status, presence of inherited syndromes), prognosis and staging according to their location in the digestive system. Because of frequent modifications in nomenclature, grading and staging, it is important to identify the minimal data that should be reported in all pathology reports in order to ensure optimal reproducible and uniform data to aid in both clinical management and stratification in the apeutic trials (Table 6.4) [40]. The use of the 2009 international UICC TNM is recommended, but in certain locations criteria of the ENETS classification should be added (e.g. the invasion of mesoappendix). The histological differentiation should clearly appear in order to avoid problems with the "carcinoma" category, different in the WHO 2000 and 2010 classification. It is important to give the exact value of proliferation rate to make comparison possible and to better stratify patient groups, since several data suggest to change the cut-off between G1 and G2. It is now clear that Ki-67 index is not optional and is very important especially in biopsy specimens, which do not allow to properly assess the mitotic counts [24]. It is important to standardise pathological diagnosis, grading and staging of NETs in the clinical management of patients and also to give a uniform basis for research trials.

| Table 6.4 Indications for minimal data for the pathological report of neuroendocrine tumours | Diagnostic |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| | Morphology, differentiation (well or poorly differentiated) |
| | Immunohistochemistry (chromogranin A and synaptophysin expression) |
| | Assessment of hormone expression upon specific clinical request |
| | Classification |
| | WHO 2010 |
| | Histological grade |
| | Grade G1, G2 or G3 |
| | In addition, give the exact value of mitotic and/or Ki-67 index |
| | In biopsy samples, use the Ki-67 index |
| | pTNM |
| | Size, exact site |
| | Distance from resection margin (for resection specimen) |
| | AJCC-UICC TNM 7th edition, 2009 (one may add ENETS/TNM in certain locations) |
| | Adapted from Bosman et al. [5], Rindi et al. [40] and Klöppel et al. [24] |

References

- Adsay V (2012) Ki-67 labeling index in neuroendocrine tumors of the gastrointestinal and pancreatobiliary tract. To count or not to count is not the question, but rather how to count. Am J Surg Pathol 36:1743–1746
- Anlauf M, Enosawa T, Henopp T, Schmitt A, Gimm O, Brauckhoff M, Dralle H, Musil A, Hauptmann S, Perren A, Klöppel G (2008) Primary lymph node gastrinoma and occult duodenal microgastrinoma. Am J Surg Pathol 32:1101–1105
- Basturk O, Tang L, Hruban RH et al. Poorly Differentiated Neuroendocrine Carcinomas of the Pancreas: A Clinicopathologic Analysis of 44 Cases. Am J Surg Pathol. 2014; Feb 5.
- Blansfield JA, Choyke L, Morita SY et al (2007) Clinical, genetic and radiographic analysis of 108 patients with von Hippel-Lindau disease (VHL) manifested by pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms (PNETs). Surgery 142:814–818
- Bosman FT, Carneiro F, Hruban RH, Theise ND (eds) (2010) WHO classification of tumors of the digestive system, 4th edn. IARC, Lyon
- 6. Carr N, Sobin LH (2004) Neuroendocrine tumors of the appendix. Semin Diagn Pathol 21:108–119
- Charlesworth M, Verbeke CS, Falk GA, Walsh M, Smith AM, Morris-Stiff G (2012) Pancreatic lesions in von Hippel-Lindau disease? A systematic review and meta-synthesis of the literature. J Gastrointest Surg 16:1422–1428
- Chopin-Laly X, Walter T, Hervieu V, Poncet G, Adham M, Guibal A, Chayvialle JA, Lombard-Bohas C, Scoazec JY (2013) Neuroendocrine neoplasms of the jejunum: a heterogeneous group with distinctive proximal and distal subsets. Virchows Arch 462:489–499
- 9. DeLellis RA, Lloyd RV, Heitz PU et al (eds) (2004) Pathology and genetics of tumours of endocrine organs. IARC Press, Lyon
- Ekeblad S, Skogseid B, Dunder K, Oberg K, Eriksson B (2008) Prognostic factors and survival in 324 patients with pancreatic endocrine tumor treated at a single institution. Clin Cancer Res 14:7798–7803

- 11. Ellison TA, Wolfgang CL, Shi C, Cameron JL, Murakami P, Mun LJ, Singhi AD, Cornish TC, Olino K, Meriden Z, Choti M, Diaz LA, Pawlik TM, Schulick RD, Hruban RH, Edil BH (2014) A single institution's 26-year experience with nonfunctional pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors: a validation of current staging systems and a new prognostic nomogram. Ann Surg 259:204–212
- 12. Erlic Z, Ploeckinger U, Cascon A, Hoffmann MM, von Duecker L, Winter A, Kammel G, Bacher J, Sullivan M, Isermann B, Fischer L, Raffel A, Knoefel WT, Schott M, Baumann T, Schaefer O, Keck T, Baum RP, Milos I, Muresan M, Peczkowska M, Januszewicz A, Cupisti K, Tönjes A, Fasshauer M, Langrehr J, von Wussow P, Agaimy A, Schlimok G, Lamberts R, Wiech T, Schmid KW, Weber A, Nunez M, Robledo M, Eng C, Neumann HP, VHL-ICT Consortium, German NET Registry (2010) Systematic comparison of sporadic and syndromic pancreatic islet cell tumors. Endocr Relat Cancer 17:875–883
- Fischer L, Kleeff J, Esposito I, Hinz U, Zimmermann A, Friess H, Büchler MW (2008) Clinical outcome and long-term survival in 118 consecutive patients with neuroendocrine tumours of the pancreas. Br J Surg 95:627–635
- 14. Garbrecht N, Anlauf M, Schmitt A, Henopp T, Sipos B, Raffel A, Eisenberger CF, Knoefel WT, Pavel M, Fottner C, Musholt TJ, Rinke A, Arnold R, Berndt U, Plöckinger U, Wiedenmann B, Moch H, Heitz PU, Komminoth P, Perren A, Klöppel G (2008) Somatostatin-producing neuroendocrine tumors of the duodenum and pancreas: incidence, types, biological behavior, association with inherited syndromes, and functional activity. Endocr Relat Cancer 15:229–241
- Gonzalez RS, Liu EH, Alvarez JR, Ayers GD, Washington MK, Shi C. Should mesenteric tumor deposits be included in staging of well-differentiated small intestine neuroendocrine tumors? Mod Pathol. 2014
- Hiripi E, Bermejo JL, Sundquist J, Hemminki K (2009) Familial gastrointestinal carcinoid tumours and associated cancers. Ann Oncol 20:950–954
- Hochwald SN, Zee S, Conlon KC, Colleoni R, Louie O, Brennan MF, Klimstra DS (2002) Prognostic factors in pancreatic endocrine neoplasms: an analysis of 136 cases with a proposal for low-grade and intermediate-grade groups. J Clin Oncol 20:2633–2642
- Jann H, Roll S, Couvelard A, Hentic O, Pavel M, Müller-Nordhorn J, Koch M, Röcken C, Rindi G, Ruszniewski P, Wiedenmann B, Pape UF (2011) Neuroendocrine tumors of midgut and hindgut origin: tumor-node-metastasis classification determines clinical outcome. Cancer 117:3332–3341
- Khan MS, Luong TV, Watkins J, Toumpanakis C, Caplin ME, Meyer T (2013) A comparison of Ki-67 and mitotic count as prognostic markers for metastatic pancreatic and midgut neuroendocrine neoplasms. Br J Cancer 108:1838–1845
- 20. Kharazmi E, Pukkala E, Sundquist K, Hemminki K (2013) Familial risk of small intestinal carcinoid and adenocarcinoma. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 11:944–949
- 21. Klimstra DS, Modlin IR, Adsay NV, Chetty R, Deshpande V, Gönen M, Jensen RT, Kidd M, Kulke MH, Lloyd RV, Moran C, Moss SF, Oberg K, O'Toole D, Rindi G, Robert ME, Suster S, Tang LH, Tzen CY, Washington MK, Wiedenmann B, Yao J (2010) Pathology reporting of neuroendocrine tumors: application of the Delphic consensus process to the development of a minimum pathology data set. Am J Surg Pathol 34:300–313
- 22. Klimstra DS, Arnold R, Capella C, Hruban RH, Klöppel G, Komminoth P, Solcia E, Rindi G (2010) Neuroendocrine neoplasm of the pancreas. In: Bosman FT, Carneiro F, Hruban RH, Theise ND (eds) WHO classification of tumors of the digestive system, 4th edn. IARC, Lyon
- 23. Klöppel G, Rindi G, Perren A, Komminoth P, Klimstra DS (2010) The ENETS and AJCC/ UICC TNM classifications of the neuroendocrine tumors of the gastrointestinal tract and the pancreas: a statement. Virchows Arch 456:595–597
- 24. Klöppel G, Couvelard A, Perren A et al (2009) ENETS Consensus Guidelines for the Standards of Care in Neuroendocrine Tumors: towards a standardized approach to the diagnosis of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors and their prognostic stratification. Neuroendocrinology 90:162–166

- Klöppel G (2011) Classification and pathology of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms. Endocr Relat Cancer 18(Suppl 1):S1–S16
- 26. Komminoth A, Perren A, Oberg K, Rindi G, Heitz PU, Klöppel G (2004) Insulinoma. In: DeLellis RA, Lloyd RV, Heitz PU et al (eds) Pathology and genetics. Tumours of endocrine organs. IARC Press, Lyon
- La Rosa S, Klersy C, Uccella S, Dainese L, Albarello L, Sonzogni A, Doglioni C, Capella C, Solcia E (2009) Improved histologic and clinicopathologic criteria for prognostic evaluation of pancreatic endocrine tumors. Hum Pathol 40:30–40
- Li Y, Yau A, Schaeffer D, Magliocco A, Gui X, Urbanski S, Waghray R, Owen D, Gao ZH (2011) Colorectal glandular-neuroendocrine mixed tumor: pathologic spectrum and clinical implications. Am J Surg Pathol 35:413–425
- 29. Liszka Ł, Pająk J, Mrowiec S, Zielińska-Pająk E, Gołka D, Lampe P (2011) Discrepancies between two alternative staging systems (European Neuroendocrine Tumor Society 2006 and American Joint Committee on Cancer/Union for International Cancer Control 2010) of neuroendocrine neoplasms of the pancreas. A study of 50 cases. Pathol Res Pract 207:220–224
- Lowe K, Khithani A, Liu E, Winston T, Christian D, Saad J, Jeyarajah DR (2012) Ki-67 labeling: a more sensitive indicator of malignant phenotype than mitotic count or tumor size? J Surg Oncol 106:724–727
- MacGillivray DC, Heaton RB, Rushin JM, Cruess DF (1992) Distant metastasis from a carcinoid tumor of the appendix less than one centimeter in size. Surgery 111(4):466–471
- Moertel CG, Weiland LH, Nagorney DM, Dockerty MB (1987) Carcinoid tumor of the appendix: treatment and prognosis. N Engl J Med 317:1699–1701
- Panzuto F et al (2012) Risk factors for disease progression in advanced jejunoileal neuroendocrine tumors. Neuroendocrinology 96:32–40
- 34. Pape UF, Perren A, Niederle B, Gross D, Gress T, Costa F, Arnold R, Denecke T, Plöckinger U, Salazar R, Grossman A, Barcelona Consensus Conference participants (2012) ENETS Consensus Guidelines for the management of patients with neuroendocrine neoplasms from the jejuno-ileum and the appendix including goblet cell carcinomas. Neuroendocrinology 95:135–156
- Pape UF, Berndt U, Müller-Nordhorn J, Böhmig M, Roll S, Koch M, Willich SN, Wiedenmann B (2008) Prognostic factors of long-term outcome in gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumours. Endocr Relat Cancer 15:1083–1097
- 36. Pape UF, Jann H, Müller-Nordhorn J, Bockelbrink A, Berndt U, Willich SN, Koch M, Röcken C, Rindi G, Wiedenmann B (2008) Prognostic relevance of a novel TNM classification system for upper gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Cancer 113:256–265
- 37. Périgny M, Hammel P, Corcos O, Larochelle O, Giraud S, Richard S, Sauvanet A, Belghiti J, Ruszniewski P, Bedossa P, Couvelard A (2009) Pancreatic endocrine microadenomatosis in patients with von Hippel-Lindau disease: characterization by VHL/HIF pathway proteins expression. Am J Surg Pathol 33:739–748
- 38. Plöckinger U, Couvelard A, Falconi M, Sundin A, Salazar R, Christ E, de Herder WW, Gross D, Knapp WH, Knigge UP, Kulke MH, Pape UF, Frascati Consensus Conference participants (2008) Consensus guidelines for the management of patients with digestive neuroendocrine tumours: well-differentiated tumour/carcinoma of the appendix and goblet cell carcinoma. Neuroendocrinology 87:20–30
- Ramage JK, Goretzki PE, Manfredi R, Komminoth P, Ferone D, Hyrdel R, Kaltsas G, Kelestimur F, Kvols L, Scoazec JY, Garcia MI, Caplin ME, Frascati Consensus Conference participants (2008) Consensus guidelines for the management of patients with digestive neuroendocrine tumours: well-differentiated colon and rectum tumour/carcinoma. Neuroendocrinology 87:31–39
- Rindi G, Klimstra DS, Arnold R, Klöppel G, Bosman FT, Komminoth K, Capella C, Solcia E (2010) Nomenclature and classification of neuroendocrine neoplasms of the digestive system. In: Bosman FT, Carneiro F, Hruban RH, Theise ND (eds) WHO classification of tumors of the digestive system, 4th edn. IARC, Lyon, pp 13–14

- 41. Rindi G, Klöppel G, Alhman H, Caplin M, Couvelard A, de Herder WW, Erikssson B, Falchetti A, Falconi M, Komminoth P, Körner M, Lopes JM, McNicol AM, Nilsson O, Perren A, Scarpa A, Scoazec JY, Wiedenmann B, all other Frascati Consensus Conference participants; European Neuroendocrine Tumor Society (ENETS) (2006) TNM staging of foregut (neuro) endocrine tumors: a consensus proposal including a grading system. Virchows Arch 449:395–401
- 42. Rindi G, Klöppel G, Couvelard A, Komminoth P, Körner M, Lopes JM, McNicol AM, Nilsson O, Perren A, Scarpa A, Scoazec JY, Wiedenmann B (2007) TNM staging of midgut and hind-gut (neuro)endocrine tumors: a consensus proposal including a grading system. Virchows Arch 451:757–762
- Rindi G, Luinetti O, Cornaggia M, Capella C, Solcia E (1993) Three subtypes of gastric argyrophil carcinoid and the gastric neuroendocrine carcinoma: a clinicopathologic study. Gastroenterology 104:994–1006
- 44. Rindi G, Azzoni C, La Rosa S, Klersy C, Paolotti D, Rappel S, Stolte M, Capella C, Bordi C, Solcia E (1999) ECL cell tumor and poorly differentiated endocrine carcinoma of the stomach: prognostic evaluation by pathological analysis. Gastroenterology 116:532–542
- 45. Scarpa A, Mantovani W, Capelli P, Beghelli S, Boninsegna L, Bettini R, Panzuto F, Pederzoli P, delle Fave G, Falconi M (2010) Pancreatic endocrine tumors: improved TNM staging and histopathological grading permit a clinically efficient prognostic stratification of patients. Mod Pathol 23:824–833
- 46. Shia J, Tang LH, Weiser MR, Brenner B, Adsay NV, Stelow EB, Saltz LB, Qin J, Landmann R, Leonard GD, Dhall D, Temple L, Guillem JG, Paty PB, Kelsen D, Wong WD, Klimstra DS (2008) Is nonsmall cell type high-grade neuroendocrine carcinoma of the tubular gastrointes-tinal tract a distinct disease entity? Am J Surg Pathol 32:719–731
- 47. Sobin LH, Gospodarowicz MA, Wittekind C (eds) (2009) TNM classification of malignant tumors, 7th edn. Springer, Heidelberg
- 48. Solcia E, Klöppel G, Sobin LH (eds) (2000) Histological typing of endocrine tumours. WHO international histological classification of tumours, 2nd edn. Springer, Berlin
- 49. Tang LH, Gonen M, Hedvat C, Modlin IM, Klimstra DS (2012) Objective quantification of the Ki67 proliferative index in neuroendocrine tumors of the gastroenteropancreatic system. A comparison of digital image analysis with manual methods. Am J Surg Pathol 36:1761–1770
- Travis WD, Brambilla E, Müller-Hermelink HK, Harris CC (2004) WHO classification of tumours. Pathology and genetics. Tumours of the lung, pleura, thymus and heart. IARC, Lyon
- 51. Vélayoudom-Céphise FL, Duvillard P, Foucan L, Hadoux J, Chougnet CN, Leboulleux S, Malka D, Guigay J, Goere D, Debaere T, Caramella C, Schlumberger M, Planchard D, Elias D, Ducreux M, Scoazec JY, Baudin E (2013) Are G3 ENETS neuroendocrine neoplasms heterogeneous ? Endocr Relat Cancer 20:649–657
- Weinstock B, Ward SC, Harpaz N, Warner RR, Itzkowitz S, Kim MK (2013) Clinical and prognostic features of rectal neuroendocrine tumors. Neuroendocrinology 98:180–187
- 53. Yantiss R, Odze RD, Farraye FA, Rosenberg AE (2003) Solitary versus multiple carcinoid tumors of the ileum: a clinical and pathologic review of 68 cases. Am J Surg Pathol 27:811–817

Circulating Biomarkers in Neuroendocrine Tumours

7

Kjell Öberg

7.1 Background

Neuroendocrine tumours (NETs) constitute a heterogeneous group of neoplasm which originates from neuroendocrine cells of the so-called diffuse endocrine cell system. They may synthesise, store and secrete peptides and amines that can cause distinct clinical symptoms. On the other hand, many are clinically silent until late presentation with mass effects. The clinical presentation of NETs varies according to the site and size of the primary tumour, the presence or absence of metastatic spread, whether the associated features compatible with the hereditary syndrome exist or not, whether the tumour is functional or not, and if so what syndrome is present [1, 2]. Early in the disease process, patients present with vague symptoms, associated with various hormonal symptoms that often are misdiagnosed for many years [3]. In such a situation, early diagnosis depends on syndromic recognition by physicians, and it is achieved by appropriate laboratory testing followed later by imaging studies and tissue diagnosis. A common exception to this rule occurs with midgut carcinoid syndrome-producing tumours that often present symptoms late in the disease course. Non-functioning tumours also commonly present late in the disease course with imageable metastases identified per chance or when studies are ordered for the symptoms attributable to tumour growth rather than hormone production [4].

Department of Endocrine Oncology, University Hospital, Uppsala, Sweden

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

S. Yalcin, K. Öberg (eds.), Neuroendocrine Tumours:

Diagnosis and Management, DOI 10.1007/978-3-662-45215-8_7

K. Öberg, MD, PhD

Department of Medical Sciences, Centre of Excellence Endocrine Tumors, Uppsala University, Entrance 40, 5th Floor SE-751 85, Uppsala, Sweden

European Neuroendocrine Tumor Society, Uppsala, Sweden e-mail: kjell.oberg@medsci.uu.se

NETs derive from neuroendocrine cells (highly specialised cells with both neural and endocrine characteristics) which upon specific stimulation secrete hormones regulating various functions [5]. The various cell types of the neuroendocrine cell system can secrete products such as peptides and biogenic amines that are tumour specific and may serve as markers for the diagnosis and follow-up of treatment. Some tumour markers may have prognostic implications. Others might be predictive for treatment response [5–7]. Neuroendocrine cells can be confined to a specific gland, such as the adrenal medulla (pheochromocytomas) or the thyroid (medullary thyroid carcinoma). These tumours will not be discussed in this review which will concentrate on biomarkers for gastroenteropancreatic (GEP) NETs.

The gastrointestinal tract including pancreas is the largest endocrine organ in the body with 15 different neuroendocrine cell types identified, and each of these has specific hormone products and regulatory functions [5]. Today we recognise more than 30 gut peptide hormone genes, which express more than 100 bioactive peptides. The amine- and peptide-producing cells utilise endocrine, paracrine, neurocrine or autocrine regulatory mechanisms [5]. The cytoplasm of the neuroendocrine cell is occupied by a large number of secretory granules of varying electron densities, size and shape and is the storage site of secretory products (serotonin, chromogranin A and so forth). Upon specific stimulation, granules are translocated to the cell membrane and their content released by exocytosis [5]. Peptide pro-hormones are synthesised in the rough endoplasmic reticulum (RER), together with chromogranin A (CgA) and other granular proteins. Chromogranins may serve as substrates for proteolytic enzymes and thereby modulate this process. The products are then transported to the Golgi apparatus and packaged into secretory granules (large dense-core granules). Amines might be stored in small synaptic vesicles [8–10]. The presence of these secretory products in the serum can be exploited diagnostically as tumour markers for neuroendocrine tumours and they are divided into general markers and specific markers, depending on the cell type involved [3, 5]. This chapter will concentrate on circulating biomarkers divided into diagnostic markers, general and specific markers evaluating response to treatment as well as prognosis and finally new potential markers.

7.1.1 General Biomarkers (Table 7.1)

The chromogranin family and pancreatic polypeptide, neuron-specific enolase (NSE) and alpha HCG constitute general markers for diagnosis and follow-up of patients with NETs.

| Table 7.1 General biomarkers | | | |
|--------------------------------|----------------------------------|-------------|--|
| | Biomarkers | Specificity | |
| | CgA, CgB, pancreastatin | Н | |
| | PP, NSE, neurokinin, neurotensin | Ι | |
| | HCG-α, HCG-β | L | |
| | | | |

7.1.1.1 Chromogranins (Table 7.2)

The granins constitute a whole family of glycoproteins of which CgA and CgB are the most clinically interesting. These proteins are 27-100 kDa in size and contain 10% acidic (glutamic or aspartic acid) residues, as well as multiple single and dibasic amino acid residues [9–11]. All of the granins are found as major components of the soluble core of dense-core secretory granules in NE cells and are secreted from these cells in a physiologically regulated manner. The granins are major constituents of large dense-core secretory vesicles and are co-secreted with peptide hormones and mines [9–11]. Granins are found in NE cells throughout the body but also located in the neuronal cells in the central and peripheral nerve system [12]. In adrenal chromaffin cells, CgA and CgB are present in about equal amount, but in thyroid cells and entero-chromaffin cells (EC cells) in the stomach contain mostly CgA and very little CgB [9–11]. CgA, a 439-amino acid glycoprotein, has multiple pairs of basic amino acids distributed along its length, these being more abundant in the carboxyl terminal part of the molecule (Fig. 7.1) [9-11]. CgB has a similar chemical structure being glycoprotein but otherwise different from CgA [13, 14]. The precise function of CgA remains unknown but is thought to be involved in packaging and processing of neuropeptide precursor and peptide hormones [10, 11]. It may also play a role in the organisation of the secretory granule matrix. Moreover, CgA has diverse physiologic interaction. CgA or its splice products are inhibitors of catecholamine, insulin and leptin, having a role in carbohydrate and lipid metabolism; moreover, it inhibits parathyroid hormone secretion. It is also known that CgA increases glucagon and amylase release [15]. In addition to its effect on endocrine organs, CgA also regulates reproductive functions and has a role also in the regulation of cardiovascular functions. CgA elevation has been reported in essential hypertension and in chronic heart failure correlating with the grade of hypertension and cardiac dysfunction, respectively. A role of CgA in the regulation of inflammatory response has been described. CgA is found elevated in various inflammatory conditions such as rheumatoid arthritis, systemic lupus erythematosus, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease as well as inflammatory bowel disease. CgA in these conditions positively correlates with inflammatory markers such as C-reactive protein and procalcitonin. It is suggested that CgA participates in a negative feedback that limits the activation of endothelial cells [16, 17].

Tumours of neuroendocrine origin usually present with increased plasma or serum levels of CgA and sometimes also CgB. Plasma CgA levels may be elevated in a variety of NETs including pheochromocytomas, paragangliomas, pNETs, small

| Table 7.2 The chromogranin family | Chromogranin A (CgA) |
|-----------------------------------------|----------------------------|
| | Chromogranin B (CgB) |
| | Secretogranin II (CgC) |
| | Secretogranin III (1B1075) |
| | Secretogranin IV (HISL-19) |
| | Secretogranin V (7B2) |
| | Secretogranin VI (NESP55) |
| | |



Fig. 7.1 Molecular structure of chromogranin A [10]

intestinal NETs, medullary thyroid carcinomas, parathyroid and pituitary adenomas and also in a proportion of patients with small-cell lung cancer [4, 8, 14, 18–21]. The highest CgA levels have been found in patients with metastatic small intestinal NETs (carcinoid) and also some pNETs. Both tumour burden and the secretory activity reflect circulating CgA levels. The sensitivity and specificity vary between 60 and 100 % and 70 and 100 %, respectively, for different types of NETs, the highest values being for small intestinal NETs [7, 14, 21–24]. CgA has been shown to be an independent prognostic factor for small intestinal NETs, because it correlates not only with the tumour burden, but also with the biological activity in the tumours (Fig. 7.2). Most functioning and non-functioning NETs present increased circulating levels of CgA. It is also noticed that CgA is more frequently elevated in welldifferentiated tumours (G1, G2), compared to poorly differentiated tumours, suggesting a loss of CgA expression in poorly differentiated neuroendocrine carcinomas [25] (Fig. 7.3). Effective treatment is often associated with decrease in CgA values, and the CgA correlates with tumour burden and recurrence [4, 6, 26]. However, in patients treated with somatostatin analogues, there is no correlation between circulating CgA levels and tumour mass [21, 27]. The reason for this is that somatostatin analogues are able to block the production and release of CgA in addition to also affecting tumour burden. Recent data are indicating that early response in CgA might indicate an antitumour effect by treatment with targeted agents (everolimus, mTOR inhibitor) [28, 29].



Fig. 7.3 Chromogranin A levels in patients with tumours with different histological grading. Note that G1 and G2 tumours present higher levels than G3 NEC tumours (LCNEC, SCNEC)

Elevated CgA can also occur in normal individuals and in patients with non-NETs although the levels are usually lower than in patients with NETs. Levels of CgA secretion vary on day-to-day bases and healthy subjects as well as in individuals with NETs. The mean day today variation of CgA is approximately 25 %. Food intake may increase CgA levels; therefore, CgA should be measured in fasting patients to ensure standardisation of the results [30, 31]. It is reported that heart disease and long-term exercise as well as extreme physical stress can elevate CgA. Increased serum or plasma levels of CgA have also been demonstrated in patients with other malignancies including colon, lung, breast, liver and prostate cancer [32]. Other conditions with elevation of CgA are impaired renal function [33], Parkinson disease, untreated hypertension and pregnancy [34], steroid treatment or glucocorticoid excess [35] and chronic atrophic gastritis (type A) and finally treatment with proton-pump inhibitors [36]. Other conditions are inflammatory bowel disease, liver disease and hyperparathyroidism [37]. In renal failure CgA increases due to a decreased plasma clearance, and in autoimmune chronic atrophic gastritis, elevated circulating CgA levels are caused by chronic hypergastrinaemia and stimulation of the ECL cell which proliferate and secrete CgA. A major cause of elevated CgA levels in non-NET patients are the widespread use of PPIs and other suppressive medications. A normalisation of CgA levels occurs by withdrawal of PPI in 1–2 weeks [38].

There is no universal standard calibration for serum or plasma CgA assays. The most useful immunoassays for tumour detection have been those that measure the whole CgA molecule. Assays measuring specifically defined parts of the molecule (pancreastatin) usually have lower sensitivity in detecting patients with NETs. Several commercial available immunoassays (RIAs) and enzyme-linked immuno-sorbent assays (ELISAs) have been developed for the measurement of circulating CgA concentrations. Moreover, many diagnostic laboratories use in-house assays. It should be noted however that there is a fair amount of variability between assays with sensitivities varying from 67 to 93 % depending on which assay is used. Concerning plasma and serum measurement, a strong positive linear relationship has been reported between plasma and serum CgA values indicating that CgA measurement can be undertaken in both sample types. Measurements of plasma or serum CgA are a valuable tool for both diagnostic and follow-up of patients with NETs [19, 39, 40]. However, there is an unmet need for standardisation of various assays that should be undertaken in a near future.

7.1.1.2 Other Members of the Granin Family (Fig. 7.4)

Chromogranin B (CgB) is the second most abundant member of the chromogranin family. Like CgA it is a strong acid protein containing approximately 25 % acidic amino acid residues. It has 14 dibasic cleavage points but has been less well studied than CgA. Unlike CgA, CgB does not seem to have increased concentration in patients with renal failure, in patients with atrophic gastritis or those receiving acid-suppressing therapy [21]. In NETs where CgA is not found, CgB may be increased. Such patients include those with MEN-1 and those with tumours in the duodenum or rectum. In addition CgB is a major granin of the human adrenal medulla and may



Fig. 7.4 Comparison between circulating levels of chromogranin A and chromogranin B in patients with various NETs. *EPT* endocrine pancreatic tumours, *MEN1* multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1, *PHEO* pheochromocytomas [73]

be a more sensitive marker pheochromocytoma [41, 42]. At the moment there is one commercial assay which measures CgB specifically (Euro Diagnostica).

7.1.2 Pancreastatin

CgA is processed by an endoprotease, a pro-hormone convertase 1 (PC1), into smaller peptides such as pancreastatin (PST), a 49-amino acid peptide, that inhibits insulin secretion, somatostatin release, exocrine pancreatic secretion and gastric acid secretion [43–45]. PST is found in human stomach and colon extracts and in liver metastases of gastrinoma. PST has been found to be significantly increased in patients with NETs metastasised to the liver, and the concentrations are proportional to the number of hepatic metastases [41]. PST is not increased in patients with gastric achlorhydria or hypochlorhydria. It may be a very early biomarker to liver tumour activity even when CgA is normal [42].

Recently it has been suggested that analyses of CgA gene expression can be examined by QRT PCR. It has been done in tumour tissue with higher sensitivity than just analysing protein expression that can also be applied in blood. However, data are still lacking [46].

7.1.3 Pancreatic Polypeptide

Pancreatic polypeptide (PP), a 36-amino acid linear peptide, is another general tumour marker secreted by PP cells, which are located in the gut mucosa and pancreas. The uncinate process of the pancreas is particularly rich in PP cells [1].

Other members of the same family are peptide tyrosine-tyrosine (PYY) and neuropeptide Y (NPY). The release of PP is caused by ingestion of meals, particularly those containing protein [41]. It has been found to be elevated in NETs of the gastrointestinal tract and pancreas, with a sensitivity of about 50–80 % [7]. However, there are a lot of clinical conditions where falsely elevated levels are noted, such as diarrhoea, laxative abuse, high age, inflammatory processes in the gut and chronic renal disease [7, 20]. A combination of CgA and PP has been useful in patients with non-functional pNETs, with a sensitivity of almost 95 %. A specific meal stimulatory test (mixed meal) has been particularly useful in patients with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN-1) and early detects pancreatic tumours [21].

7.1.4 Neuron-Specific Enolase (NSE)

NSE is the neuron-specific isomer of the glycolytic enzyme 2-phospho-D-glycerate hydroxylase or enolase. This isomer is present in the cytoplasm of neurons and neuroendocrine cells and can serve as a circulating marker for NETs. NSE is most frequent elevating in patients with small-cell lung cancer but has also been found to be elevated in 30–50 % patients with intestinal NETs, medullary thyroid carcinoma, pNETs and pheochromocytomas [25, 42]. In patients with poorly differentiated NETs, NSE might be elevated despite normal CgA. NSE is also roughly correlated with tumour size although specificity is lower than that of CgA [25]. The combination of CgA and NSE has a higher sensitivity than either parameter separately [7, 14, 21]. Recently an early response in NSE is related to therapeutic response with an mTOR inhibitor (everolimus) [29].

7.1.5 Human Chorionic Gonadotropin (HCG)

Human chorionic gonadotropin (HCG), a glycoprotein hormone consisting of alpha and beta subunits, can be ectopically produced by neoplasms. Assays for the intact glycoprotein and its alpha and beta subunits have been used as markers to screen for a number of different tumours including NETs. In particular, HCG alpha and beta subunits have been found to be increased in patients with malignant pNETs [47, 48].

7.1.6 Other General Tumour Markers

Pro-gastrin-releasing peptide (Pro-GRP) is a promising tumour marker for smallcell lung cancer. Pro-GRP is the precursor of the neuropeptide gastrin-releasing peptide (GRP). Its production is increased in small-cell lung cancer [49]. It has been described that levels are elevated in patients with NETs, particularly those



Fig. 7.5 Comparison of different biochemical markers in a material of NETs with different histological grade [25]

with high-grade tumours (G3) [25]. Cytokeratin fragments (CKfr) are sensitive indicators of tumour cell turnover and are especially useful in the management of patients with malignancies of epithelial origin [50]. CKfr is associated with angiogenesis factors which may play a role in NETs [51]. However, limited data are so far presented. The assay currently used is determining CKfr 8, 18 and 19 fragments in serum [25]. In an attempt to look at the choice of general tumour markers in patients with NETs in relation to histological grade, Korse and co-workers have analysed CgA neuron-specific enolase (NSE) pro-GRP and CKfr [25]. The largest area under the ROC curve was for CgA in patients with G1 and G2 NETs. Pro-GRP showed the highest sensitivity (73 %) and 95 % specificity in patients with small-cell NETs (G3). In a multivariate survival analysis, only CKfr was associated with survival (p < 0.0001) for patients with well-differentiated NETs (G1 and G2 NETs). In patients with poorly differentiated NEC (G3), both CKfr and NSE were associated with survival (p < 0.001 and p = 0.003, respectively). The authors recommend in patients with well-differentiated NETs (G1, G2) the use of CgA and CKfr, whilst in patients with NEC G3, pro-GRP and CKfr and NSE are preferred (Fig. 7.5).

7.2 Specific Markers and Related Tumours (Table 7.3)

In addition to general markers, there are biomarkers specific for the different functioning NETs. The various tumours and secretarial products are summarised in Table 7.3.

Carcinoid tumours have traditionally been divided according to the presumed embryological origin of the precursor cell thus divided into the foregut (lung, thymus, stomach and duodenum), midgut (jejunum, ileum, appendix and caecum) and hindgut (distal colon and rectum) carcinoids and together with pNETs collectively considered as gastroenteropancreatic NETs [4, 7, 14, 20]. This old classification has now been abandoned, and a new classification established by WHO is now in clinical practice. Well-differentiated endocrine tumours, WHO G1 tumours, are characterised by a low grade of proliferation, with Ki-67 < 2 %. Well-differentiated endocrine tumours, WHO G2, Ki-67 between 3 and 20 % and poorly differentiated endocrine carcinoma with high grade of proliferation Ki-67 > 20 % (NEC G3) [2, 51-53]. Besides this classification NETs are also divided into functional tumours, which produce a clinical hormone-related syndrome, versus non-functional tumours which might present symptoms related to tumour growth [4, 20].

7.2.1 Bronchial and Thymic NETs

Bronchial NETs are essentially divided into typical, atypical, large-cell and smallcell lung NETs. This paragraph will concentrate on typical and atypical lung NETs. These tumours can produce almost any of the described hormones or amines in the body. The carcinoid syndrome including flushing, diarrhoea, cardiac fibrosis, wheezing and dyspnoea occurs in lung NETs but is usually a atypical variant and not quite similar to the syndrome in the small intestine. The syndrome is rarely related to production of serotonin and tachykinins but because of the lack of enzymes converting hydroxytryptophan (5-HTP) to serotonin patients show a

| Site | Biomarkers | Specificity |
|------------|------------------------------------------------------|-------------|
| Thymus | ACTH | I |
| Lung | ACTH, ADH, serotonin, 5-HIAA | I |
| | Histamine, GRP, GHRH, VIP, PTHrp | L |
| Stomach | Histamine, gastrin | Ι |
| | Ghrelin | L |
| Pancreas | Gastrin, insulin, proinsulin, glucagon, somatostatin | Н |
| | C-peptide, neurotensin, VIP, PTHrp, calcitonin | L |
| Duodenum | Somatostatin, gastrin | Н |
| Ileum | Serotonin, 5-HIAA | Н |
| | NKA, neuropeptide K, SP | I |
| Colorectum | Peptide YY, somatostatin | Ι |

Table 7.3 Site-specific markers

H high, I intermediate, L low

prolonged flushing, headache, palpitation and lacrimation as well as broncho-constriction [4, 7]. Lung NETs may also produce Cushing syndrome due to ectopic adrenocorticotrophic hormone (ACTH) production or acromegaly due to ectopic growth hormone-releasing hormone (GHRH) secretion [4, 7, 14]. Besides these specific biomarkers, these tumours also produce CgA as well as prepro-gastrin and NSE. Thymic carcinoids are usually of the non-functioning type, but about 30 % of the patients can present the Cushing syndrome with increased secretion of ACTH or corticotrophin-releasing factor (CRF) [54–56].

7.2.2 Gastro-duodenal NETs

Duodenal NETs (carcinoids) may secret gastrin and cause the typical Zollinger-Ellison syndrome with recurrent ulcers, diarrhoea and abdominal pain [20, 21]. The duodenal gastrinoma may be part of MEN-1 syndrome. Somatostatinproducing NETs are also found in the duodenum. These are usually not presenting any hormone-related symptoms, but histologically they present with psammoma bodies rather than the presence of somatostatinoma syndrome. Some of these tumours are part of the von Hippel-Lindau disease (VHL) [1–3]. Gastric NETs are divided into ECLoma type 1, 2 and 3 and are derived from ECL cells in the corpus fundus region of the stomach. Another type of gastric NETs is G-cell tumours of the antrum. Most antral carcinoids are producing not only gastrin but also ghrelin and sometimes serotonin [57, 58]. The type 1 ECL tumours are associated with chronic atrophic gastritis and present high levels of CgA and sometimes also histamine production and the atypical carcinoid syndrome. Type 2 tumours are associated with MEN-1, Zollinger-Ellison syndrome and hypertrophic gastropathy. Type 3 tumours are sporadic and are not associated with any distinctive gastric pathology. Type 1 and 2 tumours are sharing common hypergastrinaemia, whereas type 3 tumours are independent of any overt hormonal imbalance. All three subtypes of ECL tumours present elevated plasma chromogranin A levels [59-61].

7.2.3 Small Intestinal Neuroendocrine Tumours (Midgut Carcinoids)

Carcinoid syndrome is a typical clinical presentation of metastatic ileal carcinoid occurring in about 18 % of patients and is characterised by flushing, diarrhoea and abdominal pain [3, 4]. Less frequent events are carcinoid heart disease as well as broncho-constriction and pellagra-like skin changes. The syndrome is related to massive release of serotonin which is no longer metabolised in the liver. Other substances involved in the carcinoid syndrome might be tachykinins (neuropeptide K, substance B, NKA), prostaglandins and bradykinins [6, 7, 14]. Patients with carcinoid syndrome present with increased levels in the urine of the breakdown product of serotonin 5-HIAA, with levels between 100 and 3,000 μ mol/24 h (ref. <50 μ mol/24 h). The overall sensitivity and specificity of u-5-HIAA in the presence of carcinoid syndrome is 70 and 90 %, respectively [4, 7, 14, 62]. Therefore, this marker is the most frequently performed assay in the clinical setting of the

carcinoid syndrome. High-pressure liquid chromatography (HPLC) with electrochemical detection is currently recommended to measure urinary 5-HIAA. In some laboratories automated assays using mass spectrometry are available. It has been recently suggested that plasma 5-HIAA might be a valid alternative to the collection of u-5-HIAA [63]. Some studies have demonstrated higher sensitivity (100 %) for the measurement of platelet poor plasma serotonin compared with u-5-HIAA in patients with small intestinal NETs [14]. However, there are large fluctuations in the plasma levels of serotonin depending upon food ingestion, time of the day, stress and sampling procedures. In addition, certain malabsorptive conditions including Whipple's disease and celiac sprue may be associated with elevated urine 5-HIAA levels. It is also important that the patient gets strict diet instructions, avoiding plums, pineapples, bananas, eggplants, tomatoes, avocados and walnuts during the collection of urine. Certain medications made also interfere with the assay: paracetamol, fluorouracil, methysergide and naproxen. On the contrary levodopa, aspirin, ACTH, methyldopa and phenothiazine may give false-negative results. Somatostatin analogues are known to decrease levels of 5-HIAA. Serotonin plays a key role in the development of peritoneal and cardiac fibrosis with activation of the 5-HT2B receptor and the cascade of connected tissue growth factors. Reduction in plasma serotonin levels correlated with decreased incidence of carcinoid heart disease. Moreover, u-5-HIAA excretion also correlates with the severity of carcinoid heart disease and prognosis in patients with carcinoid syndrome. In the clinical practice, it is useful to have two consecutive 24 h collection of urine for measurements of 5-HIAA and take the mean value, but there is a strong argument to change to measurements of plasma 5-HIAA.

7.2.4 Colorectal NETs

Colorectal NETs generally present in the clinic as non-functional tumours. Patients develop abdominal pain, gastrointestinal bleeding and an enlarged liver with tumour growth. In recent years more hindgut carcinoids have been discovered at an earlier un-symptomatic stage during routine screening for colorectal cancer. These tumours might secret pancreatic polypeptide, somatostatin, PYY and CgA. Single tumours might also secrete serotonin.

7.2.5 Pancreatic NETs

Pancreatic NETs present with a wide variety of well-known clinical syndromes such as Zollinger-Ellison syndrome (gastrinoma), characterised by abdominal pain, diarrhoea and peptic ulceration. The insulinoma syndrome (characterised by hypoglycaemia-induced neuroglycopenic and sympathetic overdrive symptoms), the glucagonoma syndrome (characterised by glucose intolerance and a specific rash called migratory necrolytic erythema and thromboembolism) the Verner-Morrison or VIPoma syndrome (characterised by watery diarrhoea, hypokalemia and achlorhydria), the somatostatinoma syndrome including diarrhoea, hyperglycaemia and cholelithiasis [4, 20]. In each case identification of the specific elevated plasma level of the syndromic product may be useful. In some situations provocative testing may be useful but are used less and less because of more sensitive immunoassays during the last years [4, 7, 20]. For patients with the Zollinger-Ellison syndromes, secretin testing might be an alternative for patients with insulinomas, 24–48 h fasting, measuring insulin, blood glucose, proinsulin and C-peptide [20]. The standard test for patients with gastrinoma is plasma or serum gastrin and, for patients with insulin-producing tumour, blood glucose combined with insulin, proinsulin and C-peptide. For patients with glucagonoma plasma glucagon and for patients with Verner-Morrison syndrome, VIP should be analysed. The rare cases with somatostatinomas can be picked up by measurement of plasma somatostatin [14, 20]. About 50-60% of patients present the so-called non-functioning tumours which mean that they have no hormone-related symptoms. Some of them include somatostatin-producing tumours as well as pancreatic polypeptide (pp)-producing tumours and neurotensin-producing tumours. These tumours are picked up by measurements of pp somatostatin and neurotensin, but in particular it is a general tumour marker such as CgA or CgB that will be more helpful. Some tumours might also produce ghrelin. A proportion of pancreatic NETs might also produce ACTH or CRF giving rise to Cushing syndrome. Calcitonin might also be produced by pNETs and sometimes giving diarrhoea but are mostly part of the group of non-functioning NETs. Another rare type of pNET is the PTHrp-producing tumours giving hypercalcaemia and similar symptoms like hyperparathyroidism [7, 14, 20].

7.3 New Potential Biomarkers in NETs

7.3.1 MicroRNAs in NET

MicroRNAs (miRNAs) are a class of natural occurring small non-coding RNA molecules. Mature microRNAs consist of 19–25 nucleotides and are derived from hairpin precursor molecules of 17–100 nucleotides. As 50 % of human microRNAs are localised in fragile chromosomal regions which might exhibit DNA amplification deletions or translocations during tumour development, their expression is frequently deregulated in cancer. Therefore, microRNAs have important roles in deregulation of gene expression in cancer. Today studies on solid cancers (e.g., ovarian, lung, breast and colorectal) report that microRNAs are involved in the regulation of different cellular processes, such as apoptosis, cell proliferation, epithelial to mesenchymal transition and metastases. In blood microRNAs seem to be highly stable because most of them are included in apoptotic bodies, micro-vesicles or exozones and withstand known microRNA degradation factors [64–66].

In a recent paper, Li and co-workers are describing microRNA profiling of welldifferentiated small intestinal NETs [67]. They identify nine microRNAs of importance; five were upregulated during tumour progression, whereas four were downregulated (see Fig. 7.6). Future studies will further illuminate the potential



Fig. 7.6 Quantitative real-time PCR analysis validating the expression of nine selected microR-NAs in tumour specimens from patients with midgut carcinoid tumours. Panel (**a**) is indicating upregulated microRNA expression in metastatic disease comparing with primary tumours. Panel (**b**) is showing downregulated microRNA expression in metastatic disease compared with primary tumours. Significance was calculated by one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by Bonferroni test. *P < 0.05; **P < 0.01; ***P < 0.001 [67]

value of microRNAs as diagnostic and therapeutic tools. A previous study has indicated that the downregulation of microRNA-133a was related to tumour progression [68]. The recent paper also demonstrated low level of microRNA-133a in lymph node and liver metastases compared to primary tumour and normal EC cells [67].

7.3.2 Circulating Tumour Cells (CTCs)

Recent technological advances have enabled circulating tumour cells (CTCs) in numeration and characterisation by different methods. The CellSearch[®] platform an automated immuno-magnetic enrichment and staining system has been utilised to detect CTCs with high sensitivity, specificity and reproducibility. Large studies have reported that a number of CTCs in patients with metastatic breast cancer before commencing a new therapy are an independent predictor of progression-free and overall survival with similar results reported in metastatic colorectal and prostate cancer [69, 70]. The CellSearch® platform requires EpCAM epithelia cell adhesion molecule expression to isolate CTCs and enables the CellSearch® platform to enrich CTCs via immuno-magnetic separation with iron particles coupled to EpCAM antibodies [71]. This platform was used in a series of patients with NETs [72]. Fortythree per cent of midgut and 21 % of pancreatic NETs had CTCs detected in the blood. The absence of CTCs was strongly associated with stable disease. There was a moderate correlation between CTC levels and urinary 5-hydroxyindolacetic acid and between CTC levels and burden of liver metastases. Measurements of CTC have to be explored in a larger material to precisely delineate the value in clinical practice.

References

- 1. Kloppel G, Perren A, Heitz PU (2004) The gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine cell system and its tumors: the WHO classification. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1014:13–27
- Kloppel G, Rindi G, Anlauf M, Perren A, Komminoth P (2007) Site-specific biology and pathology of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Virchows Arch 451(Suppl 1): S9–S27
- 3. Modlin IM, Oberg K, Chung DC, Jensen RT, de Herder WW, Thakker RV et al (2008) Gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumours. Lancet Oncol 9(1):61–72
- Gustafsson BI, Kidd M, Modlin IM (2008) Neuroendocrine tumors of the diffuse neuroendocrine system. Curr Opin Oncol 20(1):1–12
- Rindi G, Villanacci V, Ubiali A (2000) Biological and molecular aspects of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Digestion 62(Suppl 1):19–26
- Turner GB, Johnston BT, McCance DR, McGinty A, Watson RG, Patterson CC et al (2006) Circulating markers of prognosis and response to treatment in patients with midgut carcinoid tumours. Gut 55(11):1586–1591
- Vinik AI, Silva MP, Woltering EA, Go VL, Warner R, Caplin M (2009) Biochemical testing for neuroendocrine tumors. Pancreas 38(8):876–889
- Eriksson B, Arnberg H, Oberg K, Hellman U, Lundqvist G, Wernstedt C et al (1989) Chromogranins – new sensitive markers for neuroendocrine tumors. Acta Oncol 28(3):325–329
- 9. Winkler H, Fischer-Colbrie R (1992) The chromogranins A and B: the first 25 years and future perspectives. Neuroscience 49(3):497–528

- Taupenot L, Harper KL, O'Connor DT (2003) The chromogranin-secretogranin family. N Engl J Med 348(12):1134–1149
- 11. Stridsberg M, Eriksson B, Oberg K, Janson ET (2004) A panel of 11 region-specific radioimmunoassays for measurements of human chromogranin A. Regul Pept 117(3): 219–227
- Woulfe J, Deng D, Munoz D (1999) Chromogranin A in the central nervous system of the rat: pan-neuronal expression of its mRNA and selective expression of the protein. Neuropeptides 33(4):285–300
- Yoo SH, You SH, Kang MK, Huh YH, Lee CS, Shim CS (2002) Localization of the secretory granule marker protein chromogranin B in the nucleus. Potential role in transcription control. J Biol Chem 277(18):16011–16021
- 14. O'Toole D, Grossman A, Gross D, Delle Fave G, Barkmanova J, O'Connor J et al (2009) ENETS consensus guidelines for the standards of care in neuroendocrine tumors: biochemical markers. Neuroendocrinology 90(2):194–202
- Kim T, Tao-Cheng JH, Eiden LE, Loh YP (2001) Chromogranin A, an "on/off" switch controlling dense-core secretory granule biogenesis. Cell 106(4):499–509
- Conlon JM (2010) Granin-derived peptides as diagnostic and prognostic markers for endocrine tumors. Regul Pept 165(1):5–11
- 17. Arnaldi G, Cardinaletti M, Polenta B (2007) Biological markers of neuroendocrine tumors: false positives and negatives. Rivista Med 13(2):15–21
- Sobol RE, O'Connor DT, Addison J, Suchocki K, Royston I, Deftos LJ (1986) Elevated serum chromogranin A concentrations in small-cell lung carcinoma. Ann Intern Med 105(5):698–700
- Stridsberg M, Eriksson B, Oberg K, Janson ET (2003) A comparison between three commercial kits for chromogranin A measurements. J Endocrinol 177(2):337–341
- Metz DC, Jensen RT (2008) Gastrointestinal neuroendocrine tumors: pancreatic endocrine tumors. Gastroenterology 135(5):1469–1492
- Oberg K, Stridsberg M (2002) Neuroendocrine tumors. In: Diamandidou E, Fritsche H, Lilja H, Chan D, Schwartz M (eds) Tumor markers. Physiology, pathobiology, technology, and clinical applications. AACC Press, Washington, pp 339–349
- 22. Nobels FR, Kwekkeboom DJ, Coopmans W, Schoenmakers CH, Lindemans J, De Herder WW et al (1997) Chromogranin A as serum marker for neuroendocrine neoplasia: comparison with neuron-specific enolase and the alpha-subunit of glycoprotein hormones. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 82(8):2622–2628
- Baudin E, Bidart JM, Bachelot A, Ducreux M, Elias D, Ruffie P et al (2001) Impact of chromogranin A measurement in the work-up of neuroendocrine tumors. Ann Oncol 12(Suppl 2):S79–S82
- 24. Tomassetti P, Migliori M, Simoni P, Casadei R, De Iasio R, Corinaldesi R et al (2001) Diagnostic value of plasma chromogranin A in neuroendocrine tumours. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 13(1):55–58
- 25. Korse CM, Taal BG, Vincent A, van Velthuysen ML, Baas P, Buning-Kager JC et al (2012) Choice of tumour markers in patients with neuroendocrine tumours is dependent on the histological grade. A marker study of chromogranin A, neuron specific enolase, progastrinreleasing peptide and cytokeratin fragments. Eur J Cancer 48(5):662–671
- 26. Chou WC, Hung YS, Hsu JT, Chen JS, Lu CH, Hwang TL et al (2012) Chromogranin A is a reliable biomarker for gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors in an Asian population of patients. Neuroendocrinology 95(4):344–350
- 27. Rinke A, Muller HH, Schade-Brittinger C, Klose KJ, Barth P, Wied M et al (2009) Placebocontrolled, double-blind, prospective, randomized study on the effect of octreotide LAR in the control of tumor growth in patients with metastatic neuroendocrine midgut tumors: a report from the PROMID Study Group. J Clin Oncol 27(28):4656–4663
- 28. Yao JC, Lombard-Bohas C, Baudin E, Kvols LK, Rougier P, Ruszniewski P et al (2010) Daily oral everolimus activity in patients with metastatic pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors after failure of cytotoxic chemotherapy: a phase II trial. J Clin Oncol 28(1):69–76

- 29. Yao JC, Pavel M, Phan AT, Kulke MH, Hoosen S, St Peter J et al (2011) Chromogranin A and neuron-specific enolase as prognostic markers in patients with advanced pNET treated with everolimus. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 96(12):3741–3749
- 30. Lawrence B, Gustafsson BI, Kidd M, Pavel M, Svejda B, Modlin IM (2011) The clinical relevance of chromogranin A as a biomarker for gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am 40(1):111–134, viii
- de Herder WW (2007) Biochemistry of neuroendocrine tumours. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab 21(1):33–41
- 32. Mori M, Mimori K, Kamakura T, Adachi Y, Ikeda Y, Sugimachi K (1995) Chromogranin positive cells in colorectal carcinoma and transitional mucosa. J Clin Pathol 48(8):754–758
- Hsiao RJ, Mezger MS, O'Connor DT (1990) Chromogranin A in uremia: progressive retention of immunoreactive fragments. Kidney Int 37(3):955–964
- 34. Syversen U, Opsjon SL, Stridsberg M, Sandvik AK, Dimaline R, Tingulstad S et al (1996) Chromogranin A and pancreastatin-like immunoreactivity in normal pregnancies. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 81(12):4470–4475
- Rozansky DJ, Wu H, Tang K, Parmer RJ, O'Connor DT (1994) Glucocorticoid activation of chromogranin A gene expression. Identification and characterization of a novel glucocorticoid response element. J Clin Invest 94(6):2357–2368
- 36. Peracchi M, Gebbia C, Basilisco G, Quatrini M, Tarantino C, Vescarelli C et al (2005) Plasma chromogranin A in patients with autoimmune chronic atrophic gastritis, enterochromaffin-like cell lesions and gastric carcinoids. Eur J Endocrinol 152(3):443–448
- 37. Massironi S, Fraquelli M, Paggi S, Sangiovanni A, Conte D, Sciola V et al (2009) Chromogranin A levels in chronic liver disease and hepatocellular carcinoma. Dig Liver Dis 41(1):31–35
- 38. Sanduleanu S, De Bruine A, Stridsberg M, Jonkers D, Biemond I, Hameeteman W et al (2001) Serum chromogranin A as a screening test for gastric enterochromaffin-like cell hyperplasia during acid-suppressive therapy. Eur J Clin Invest 31(9):802–811
- Jensen KH, Hilsted L, Jensen C, Mynster T, Rehfeld JF, Knigge U (2013) Chromogranin A is a sensitive marker of progression or regression in ileo-cecal neuroendocrine tumors. Scand J Gastroenterol 48(1):70–77
- 40. Ramachandran R, Bech P, Murphy KG, Dhillo WS, Meeran KM, Chapman RS et al (2012) Improved diagnostic accuracy for neuroendocrine neoplasms using two chromogranin A assays. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 76(6):831–836
- Ardill JE (2008) Circulating markers for endocrine tumours of the gastroenteropancreatic tract. Ann Clin Biochem 45(Pt 6):539–559
- 42. Ardill JE, O'Dorisio TM (2010) Circulating biomarkers in neuroendocrine tumors of the enteropancreatic tract: application to diagnosis, monitoring disease, and as prognostic indicators. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am 39(4):777–790
- 43. Stridsberg M, Oberg K, Li Q, Engstrom U, Lundqvist G (1995) Measurements of chromogranin A, chromogranin B (secretogranin I), chromogranin C (secretogranin II) and pancreastatin in plasma and urine from patients with carcinoid tumours and endocrine pancreatic tumours. J Endocrinol 144(1):49–59
- McGrath-Linden SJ, Johnston CF, O'Connor DT, Shaw C, Buchanan KD (1991) Pancreastatinlike immunoreactivity in human carcinoid disease. Regul Pept 33(1):55–70
- 45. O'Dorisio TM, Krutzik SR, Woltering EA, Lindholm E, Joseph S, Gandolfi AE et al (2010) Development of a highly sensitive and specific carboxy-terminal human pancreastatin assay to monitor neuroendocrine tumor behavior. Pancreas 39(5):611–616
- 46. Kidd M, Modlin IM, Mane SM, Camp RL, Shapiro MD (2006) Q RT-PCR detection of chromogranin A: a new standard in the identification of neuroendocrine tumor disease. Ann Surg 243(2):273–280
- 47. Grossmann M, Trautmann ME, Poertl S, Hoermann R, Berger P, Arnold R et al (1994) Alpha-subunit and human chorionic gonadotropin-beta immunoreactivity in patients with malignant endocrine gastroenteropancreatic tumours. Eur J Clin Invest 24(2):131–136

- 48. Shah T, Srirajaskanthan R, Bhogal M, Toubanakis C, Meyer T, Noonan A et al (2008) Alpha-fetoprotein and human chorionic gonadotrophin-beta as prognostic markers in neuroendocrine tumour patients. Br J Cancer 99(1):72–77
- 49. Modlin IM, Gustafsson BI, Moss SF, Pavel M, Tsolakis AV, Kidd M (2010) Chromogranin A – biological function and clinical utility in neuro endocrine tumor disease. Ann Surg Oncol 17(9):2427–2443
- 50. Brattstrom D, Wagenius G, Sandstrom P, Dreilich M, Bergstrom S, Goike H et al (2005) Newly developed assay measuring cytokeratins 8, 18 and 19 in serum is correlated to survival and tumor volume in patients with esophageal carcinoma. Dis Esophagus 18(5):298–303
- Eriksson P, Brattstrom D, Hesselius P, Larsson A, Bergstrom S, Ekman S et al (2006) Role of circulating cytokeratin fragments and angiogenic factors in NSCLC patients stage IIIa-IIIb receiving curatively intended treatment. Neoplasma 53(4):285–290
- 52. Rindi G, Kloppel G, Couvelard A, Komminoth P, Korner M, Lopes JM et al (2007) TNM staging of midgut and hindgut (neuro) endocrine tumors: a consensus proposal including a grading system. Virchows Arch 451(4):757–762
- Klimstra DS, Modlin IR, Coppola D, Lloyd RV, Suster S (2010) The pathologic classification of neuroendocrine tumors: a review of nomenclature, grading, and staging systems. Pancreas 39(6):707–712
- Wick MR, Scott RE, Li CY, Carney JA (1980) Carcinoid tumor of the thymus: a clinicopathologic report of seven cases with a review of the literature. Mayo Clin Proc 55(4):246–254
- Asbun HJ, Calabria RP, Calmes S, Lang AG, Bloch JH (1991) Thymic carcinoid. Am Surg 57(7):442–445
- Zeiger MA, Swartz SE, MacGillivray DC, Linnoila I, Shakir M (1992) Thymic carcinoid in association with MEN syndromes. Am Surg 58(7):430–434
- 57. Corbetta S, Peracchi M, Cappiello V, Lania A, Lauri E, Vago L et al (2003) Circulating ghrelin levels in patients with pancreatic and gastrointestinal neuroendocrine tumors: identification of one pancreatic ghrelinoma. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 88(7):3117–3120
- Tsolakis AV, Portela-Gomes GM, Stridsberg M, Grimelius L, Sundin A, Eriksson BK et al (2004) Malignant gastric ghrelinoma with hyperghrelinemia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 89(8):3739–3744
- 59. Bordi C, Yu JY, Baggi MT, Davoli C, Pilato FP, Baruzzi G et al (1991) Gastric carcinoids and their precursor lesions. A histologic and immunohistochemical study of 23 cases. Cancer 67(3):663–672
- 60. Gough DB, Thompson GB, Crotty TB, Donohue JH, Kvols LK, Carney JA et al (1994) Diverse clinical and pathologic features of gastric carcinoid and the relevance of hypergastrinemia. World J Surg 18(4):473–479, discussion 479–80
- Borch K, Ahren B, Ahlman H, Falkmer S, Granerus G, Grimelius L (2005) Gastric carcinoids: biologic behavior and prognosis after differentiated treatment in relation to type. Ann Surg 242(1):64–73
- 62. Kema IP, de Vries EG, Muskiet FA (1995) Measurement of 5-HIAA in urine. Ann Clin Biochem 32(Pt 1):102–104
- 63. Tellez MR, Mamikunian G, O'Dorisio TM, Vinik AI, Woltering EA (2013) A single fasting plasma 5-HIAA value correlates with 24-hour urinary 5-HIAA values and other biomarkers in midgut neuroendocrine tumors (NETs). Pancreas 42(3):405–410
- Schwarzenbach H, Hoon DS, Pantel K (2011) Cell-free nucleic acids as biomarkers in cancer patients. Nat Rev Cancer 11(6):426–437
- 65. Kosaka N, Iguchi H, Ochiya T (2010) Circulating microRNA in body fluid: a new potential biomarker for cancer diagnosis and prognosis. Cancer Sci 101(10):2087–2092
- 66. Mitchell PS, Parkin RK, Kroh EM, Fritz BR, Wyman SK, Pogosova-Agadjanyan EL et al (2008) Circulating microRNAs as stable blood-based markers for cancer detection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105(30):10513–10518
- 67. Li SC, Essaghir A, Martijn C, Lloyd RV, Demoulin JB, Oberg K et al (2013) Global microRNA profiling of well-differentiated small intestinal neuroendocrine tumors. Mod Pathol 26(5):685–696

- Ruebel K, Leontovich AA, Stilling GA, Zhang S, Righi A, Jin L et al (2010) MicroRNA expression in ileal carcinoid tumors: downregulation of microRNA-133a with tumor progression. Mod Pathol 23(3):367–375
- 69. Allard WJ, Matera J, Miller MC, Repollet M, Connelly MC, Rao C et al (2004) Tumor cells circulate in the peripheral blood of all major carcinomas but not in healthy subjects or patients with nonmalignant diseases. Clin Cancer Res 10(20):6897–6904
- Cristofanilli M, Budd GT, Ellis MJ, Stopeck A, Matera J, Miller MC et al (2004) Circulating tumor cells, disease progression, and survival in metastatic breast cancer. N Engl J Med 351(8):781–791
- Litvinov SV, Velders MP, Bakker HA, Fleuren GJ, Warnaar SO (1994) Ep-CAM: a human epithelial antigen is a homophilic cell-cell adhesion molecule. J Cell Biol 125(2):437–446
- 72. Khan MS, Tsigani T, Rashid M, Rabouhans JS, Yu D, Luong TV et al (2011) Circulating tumor cells and EpCAM expression in neuroendocrine tumors. Clin Cancer Res 17(2): 337–345
- Oberg K (2011) Circulating biomarkers in gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumours. Endocr Relat Cancer 18:S17–S25

Cross-Sectional Imaging of Neuroendocrine Tumours

Shema Hameed, Mark Wills, and Andrea Rockall

8.1 Introduction

Neuroendocrine tumours (NETs) may arise from the gastrointestinal tract and pancreas (collectively known as gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumours, GEP-NETs) and from neuroendocrine cells scattered in other tissues. Non-functioning tumours, in which there is no recognisable clinical syndrome, often present late with symptoms due to mass effect, although small non-functioning lesions may be detected when screening family groups with genetic disorders associated with NETs. Functioning tumours usually present relatively early due to clinical symptoms but may be a challenge to localise as they are often small. The malignant potential of NETs varies.

Surgery is often the only form of curative treatment, and imaging assists in selecting patients for surgery and planning the procedure. Imaging is primarily directed at accurate localisation and staging of the tumour. Preoperative localisation increases the chances of successful surgical resection and reduces the likelihood of complications. Cross-sectional imaging is also valuable for monitoring treatment response and in the detection of recurrent or metastatic disease. The imaging work-up for NETs does vary depending on local availability of particular techniques and expertise. This chapter will describe the cross-sectional imaging techniques and appearances of NETs.

M. Wills

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

S. Hameed (⊠) • A. Rockall Imperial College NHS Healthcare Trust, Toronto, Canada e-mail: shemahameed@gmail.com

Salisbury NHS Foundation Trust, Salisbury, Wiltshire, UK e-mail: mark.wills@salisbury.nhs.uk

S. Yalcin, K. Öberg (eds.), Neuroendocrine Tumours:

Diagnosis and Management, DOI 10.1007/978-3-662-45215-8_8

8.2 Medullary Thyroid Carcinoma

These tumours arise from the parafollicular C-cells of the thyroid gland and secrete calcitonin. They account for 3.5–10 % of all thyroid tumours, with 25 % occurring in association with a genetic syndrome, including familial autosomal dominant medullary thyroid cancer (MTC) and MEN IIA and B syndromes [1]. The commonest presentation is with a solitary thyroid nodule or presumed multi-nodular goitre, unless metastatic disease is present by which time the patient may experience flushing and diarrhoea [2]. Tumours are often firm, encapsulated masses. Lymph node metastases are common at presentation.

8.2.1 Ultrasound (US)

Ultrasound (US) is the modality of choice for initial assessment. Lesions may appear ill-defined on US, with a spiculated border. They are typically round or ovoid, internally solid and markedly hypoechoic in comparison to surrounding thyroid tissue and strap muscles. Micro- or macrocalcifications are found in approximately half of cases [3]. Fine-needle aspiration cytology (FNAC) of suspicious nodules should be performed promptly, ideally at the time of examination to ensure rapid diagnosis. Although some studies have shown calcitonin levels to be more sensitive at diagnosing MTC than FNAC [4], hypercalcitonaemia is also associated with C-cell hyperplasia and thyroiditis [5]; therefore, biochemistry and imaging should be complimentary.

8.2.2 Computerized Tomography (CT)

CT may be performed for staging purposes. MTC appears as a well-circumscribed, heterogeneously enhancing mass. Inherited forms are likely to have multifocal disease, with numerous nodules within the thyroid gland and lymph node metastases with similar enhancement characteristics [6].

8.2.3 Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI)

MRI can be used to determine local invasion and detect nodal metastases. Lesions are isointense to hyperintense on T1-weighted (TIW) imaging and hyperintense on T2-weighted (T2W) imaging and show marked enhancement post-contrast administration. Although T2 hyperintensity is highly suggestive of MTC, this is not specific to MTC; diagnosis is therefore only possible with a confirmed hypercalcitonaemia [7].

8.3 Adrenal Tumours

8.3.1 Adrenocortical Carcinoma

These rare but aggressive tumours arise from the adrenal cortex and are more often functioning in children (85 %) than in adults (15–30 %) [8, 9]. Adrenocortical carcinomas (ACC) may secrete a variety of hormones including cortisol, androgens, oestrogens and aldosterone, often in combination [10]. Co-secretion of cortisol with androgens is highly suggestive of malignancy [11, 12]. Functioning tumours thus typically present with Cushing's syndrome, virilisation or a combination of the two, with Conn's syndrome also being a feature in children. However, the majority of tumours in adults are non-functioning and present late with pain and a large adrenal mass, ranging between 2 and 25 cm [10, 13]. Up to 30 % have metastatic disease at presentation [8, 14]. The mass may first be detected by US (Fig. 8.1a), but preoperative staging is by CT with MRI used for problem-solving.

8.3.1.1 CT

CT Imaging features suggestive of an ACC include a suprarenal mass measuring >4 cm with irregular margins, central intratumoural necrosis or haemorrhage, heterogeneous enhancement and fatty regions due to intracytoplasmic lipid, calcification (present in 30 %), invasion into adjacent structures and venous extension into the IVC and renal vein, more commonly found with right-sided lesions (Fig. 8.1) [15, 16]. Metastases to lymph nodes, lungs, liver and bone are frequently present on initial imaging.

In smaller lesions, measuring the density of adrenal lesions on both unenhanced and enhanced CT is a well-established tool that aids in differentiating benign from potentially malignant adrenal lesions. Adrenal adenomas have attenuation values of <10 Hounsfield units (HU) in 98 % of cases [17], in contrast to ACCs that will almost always have a HU of >10 on the unenhanced study. Following intravenous contrast administration, ACCs retain contrast for longer than a benign adenoma would, with an absolute percentage washout of <60 % and relative washout of <40 % at 10 min.

8.3.1.2 MRI

Lesions are typically iso- or very slightly hypointense to normal liver parenchyma on T1W images with high T1 seen in areas of haemorrhage. On T2W images lesions are usually hyperintense to liver with a heterogeneous appearance due to intratumoural cysts and haemorrhage. Lesions usually demonstrate restricted diffusion and avid enhancement throughout (Fig. 8.1d–f), with slow washout on delayed imaging; however, other enhancement patterns have been described, including peripheral mural-based enhancing nodules [18]. Chemical shift imaging (CSI), which is routinely performed to characterise adrenal nodules, typically shows no



Fig. 8.1 Adrenocortical carcinoma. A 39-year-old lady presented with Cushing's syndrome and right-sided flank pain. (a) Ultrasound showed a large solid right suprarenal mass (between calipers) abutting the liver, with heterogeneous internal echoes. (b) Contrast-enhanced CT demonstrates a 7-cm-diameter heterogeneous hypodense right suprarenal lesion (*arrow*) abutting the right lobe of the liver. (c) Enhancing tumour extending into the IVC (*white arrow*). (d) Dynamic contrast-enhanced MRI showed slightly atypical gradual patchy and heterogeneous enhancement, with poor enhancement internally (*white arrow*) and avid rim enhancement (*black arrow*) after 5 minutes. Restricted diffusion is demonstrated by high signal on the b500 DWI (e) and low signal on the ADC map, (f) typical of malignancy (*arrow*). The lesion was excised via thoracotomy



Fig. 8.1 (continued)

loss of signal in ACCs. However, in <30 % of functioning lesions, small irregular regions of signal dropout are demonstrated due to the scattered intracytoplasmic lipid found in these ACCs [18–20]. MR spectroscopy may be a potentially useful method of differentiating between lesions such as ACC, phaeochromocytoma, adrenal metastases and adrenal adenomas, with ACCs having a choline-creatine ratio of >1.20 and choline-lipid ratio of >0.38 and a 4.0–4.3 ppm/creatine ratio of >1.50 in one study [21].

8.3.2 Pheochromocytoma

These rare catecholamine-secreting tumours arise from the chromaffin cells of the adrenal medulla. Extra-adrenal pheochromocytomas can also be found in the paraspinal paraganglia, where they are termed paragangliomas, discussed separately below.

Pheochromocytomas are usually unilateral and benign; however, 10 % are bilateral and 10 % are malignant [22]. Bilateral pheochromocytomas are usually found in MEN II (50–80 %) and von Hippel-Lindau disease (40–80 %) and rarely in sporadic cases. Hypertension is the commonest presenting symptom; however, these lesions are rare and found in less than 1 % of hypertensive patients.

Pheochromocytomas often have relatively non-specific imaging features that overlap with other benign and malignant adrenal tumours on CT and MRI. Although generally large at presentation, there is marked variability in reported sizes, from 1.2 to 15 cm [23]. Lesion size may also affect the imaging characteristics of the tumour, with smaller lesions typically appearing more homogeneous and larger lesions heterogeneous [23], usually due to intratumoural haemorrhage [24].

8.3.2.1 Ultrasound

Ultrasound may locate moderately sized adrenal tumours, but it can be technically challenging and is operator dependent. The majority of lesions are completely solid, round and well-defined with a homogeneous echotexture which may be isoor hyperechoic to liver and therefore similar to that of adjacent renal parenchyma [25]. However, approximately half of the solid tumours will appear complex, demonstrating a heterogeneous appearance with interspersed hyper- and hypoechoic regions. This correlates with macroscopic findings of intratumoural haemorrhage and necrosis respectively [25]. Cystic tumours appear as primarily anechoic lesions with posterior acoustic enhancement confirming their liquid property, correlating with old evolved haemorrhage and necrotic debris at pathology.

8.3.2.2 CT

An adrenal protocol scan (unenhanced, 60 s portal-venous phase and 15 min delayed post-contrast phase) is usually performed in order to quantify the intracellular lipid content of the lesion and to measure enhancement and washout characteristics (Fig. 8.2). Pheochromocytomas vary widely in appearance on non-contrast CT, with a range of densities from low to soft tissue. Although the majority will have an attenuation value of around 40–50 HU rarely HU may be much lower [17, 26]. Conversely higher-density lesions are found in cases of intratumoural haemorrhage. Approximately 10 % of lesions are reported to contain calcification, with nearly a quarter of symptomatic lesions being calcified. Following contrast administration, these tumours typically show avid enhancement of their solid components and may show homogeneous or heterogeneous enhancement depending on how complex their composition and relative amounts of internal haemorrhage and necrosis. Lesions show an absolute washout of less than 60 % and a relative percentage washout of less than 40 % at 15 min, or an absolute washout of less than 50 % and a relative percentage washout of less than 40 % at 10 min [27, 28]. However, variations can occur, and one study has shown pheochromocytomas to have similar washout patterns to adenomas [29].

8.3.2.3 MRI

Pheochromocytomas have been described as having a classical 'light-bulb' bright appearance on T2W, being brighter than fat and comparable with CSF [30]. They are typically isointense to muscle and hypointense to liver on T1W imaging. However, variations in appearance occur due to the often complex haemorrhagic and necrotic



Fig. 8.2 Pheochromocytoma (adrenal protocol CT). A 58-year-old female presented with refractory high blood pressure and palpitations. (a) Non-contrast CT demonstrates a 2.7 cm spherical solid lesion arising from the lateral limb of the right adrenal gland with a HU of 25 and no sign of fat or calcification (*arrow*). (b) It enhances heterogeneously with a HU of 92 on the first phase and 60 on the delayed phase. This gives the lesion a relative washout of 35 % and absolute washout of 48 %, in keeping with a non-adenomatous lesion. Histology proved this to be a phaeochromocytoma following surgical resection

components. Haemorrhage of varying ages can have different signal characteristic on T1W images, with methaemoglobin in subacute haemorrhage resulting in high T1 and low T2 signal intensities. The rare cases that contain intracellular lipid will show loss of signal intensity on CSI (dual echo in and out of phase T1-weighted MRI) [31]. Pheochromocytomas typically demonstrate avid contrast enhancement post gadolinium administration, with a heterogeneous appearance when there are haemorrhagic, necrotic or cystic components [32].

8.3.3 Paraganglioma

These tumours (also known as extra-adrenal pheochromocytoma) arise from neuroectodermally derived paraganglionic cells anywhere within the body. Sympathetic paragangliomas typically secrete catecholamines, and common sites include the posterior mediastinum and abdominal paraaortic region including Zuckerkandl's body [2]. Clinical presentation is typically with headache, palpitations and sweating, with potentially fatal cardiovascular effects including sudden myocardial infarction, malignant hypertension and cerebral haemorrhage [33]. Parasympathetic paragangliomas tend to be nonsecretory tumours, presenting insidiously with an enlarging palpable mass or pain related to the site of tumour. These lesions include aortic body tumours found in the aorticopulmonary window, as well as those found within the head and neck regions, including carotid body, jugular foramen and middle ear [33]. Most paragangliomas are solitary and sporadic; however, familial paraganglioma are recognised in 10 % of cases, including patients with succinate dehydrogenase B (SDHB) mutation where tumours can be multiple and have a higher rate of malignancy [34].

8.3.3.1 Head and Neck Paragangliomas

The carotid body is the commonest site, followed by jugular foramen, middle ear and along the distribution of the vagus nerve. Less common sites include the orbit, nasal cavity, nasopharynx, thyroid gland, pineal gland and cheek [35]. The carotid body, within the medial aspect of each carotid bifurcation, is the largest compact collection of paraganglia in the head and neck [33]. Carotid body tumours appear as a well-defined soft tissue mass within the carotid space of the infrahyoid neck, splaying the internal and external carotid arteries [36]. On CT, these lesions demonstrate avid homogeneous enhancement due to their marked hypervascularity (Fig. 8.3a–d) [33]. Occasionally, particularly in larger tumours, haemorrhage and necrosis will result in heterogeneous non-enhancing regions. On MRI they are typically of intermediate signal intensity on T1W and high on T2W imaging. A classical feature is the so-called 'salt-and-pepper' appearance, characterised by multiple punctate and serpiginous signal voids due to fast-flowing internal vessels, interspersed with high-signal regions due to slow flow or haemorrhage [37].

8.3.3.2 Thoracic Paragangliomas

These constitute 1-2 % of all paragangliomas and occur predominantly in mediastinal compartments, with less common sites being the trachea, lung, heart and oesophagus. Aorticopulmonary paragangliomas, which are located within the anterior mediastinum, tend to present late as incidental lesions on chest radiographs, whereas the sympathetic posterior mediastinal lesions present earlier with symptoms related to catecholamine secretion [38]. On CT, lesions appear as wellenhancing typically homogeneous masses; however, in cases where there has been haemorrhage or cystic degeneration, patchy areas of low attenuation within the lesion may be seen [33]. Angiography demonstrates marked hypervascularity with multiple feeding vessels; preoperative embolisation may be considered in cases of bulky or surgically challenging tumours [39]. On MRI, lesions are homogeneous or heterogeneous intermediate signal intensity similar to liver parenchyma on T1W imaging, and are hyperintense compared to liver parenchyma on T2W images (Fig. 8.3e) [40].

8.3.3.3 Abdominal Paragangliomas

Retroperitoneal paragangliomas are most commonly seen in the tissues surrounding the aorta and inferior mesenteric artery. CT demonstrates a soft tissue mass with either homogeneous enhancement or central areas of low attenuation. Focal areas of high-density or punctate calcification due to haemorrhage may be seen [41]. On MRI lesions appear isointense or hypointense compared to liver on T1W imaging and are markedly hyperintense on T2W imaging [42].



Fig. 8.3 SDHB mutation with multiple paragangliomas. A 57-year-old female presented with a pulsatile neck mass and persistently raised metanephrines. (a) Axial (*arrow*) and (b) coronal (*arrow*) reformatted arterial-phase CT demonstrates an avid arterially enhancing lesion at the left carotid bifurcation in keeping with a carotid body paraganglioma. (c) Post-contrast T1 fat-suppressed image showing the avidly enhancing paraganglioma at the carotid bifurcation, which slightly splays the bifurcation and extends posterior to the common and external carotid arteries. (d) Post-contrast fat-suppressed T1-weighted image shows a large avidly enhancing lesion within the left jugular foramen which has eroded and destroyed adjacent bone. Histology following surgical removal confirmed a glomus jugulotympanicum. (e) T2-weighted imaging through the thorax revealed a 3 cm hyperintense left paraspinal lesion (*arrow*). The lesion was not PET avid and was proven to be a paraganglioma on histology
Fig. 8.3 (continued)



8.4 Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumours (pNET)

Pancreatic endocrine tumours (pNETs) arise from the islet cells of Langerhans and include functioning tumours (insulinoma, gastrinoma, VIPoma, glucagonoma, somatostatinoma) and non-functioning tumours (including pancreatic polypeptidoma (PPoma) and tumours with no associated clinical syndrome).

Insulinomas are the commonest pNET. Diagnosis is based on clinical presentation and biochemical findings (Whipple's triad). Lesions are typically benign (90 %), solitary and almost always intrapancreatic (>90 %), being equally distributed between the head, body and tail of pancreas [43, 44]. Due to their early presentation, they are often small at diagnosis, with 90 % measuring <2 cm and 40 % <1 cm in diameter [45–47].

Gastrinomas are the second commonest pNET. Clinical presentation is usually with the Zollinger-Ellison syndrome (ZES), due to gastrin-driven gastric acid secretion; the diagnosis is usually confirmed biochemically. The majority of cases are malignant; approximately 60 % of patients have hepatic metastases at presentation, and if associated with MEN1 there is an even higher incidence of malignancy [43, 48]. Regional nodal metastases are frequent, and bone metastases have been reported in approximately 30 % of cases [49]. The primary lesion is located within the 'gastrinoma triangle' in more than 90 % of cases (between the junction of the neck and body of the pancreas medially, the second and third parts of the duodenum inferiorly and the junction of the cystic and common bile ducts superiorly) [50]. Gastrinomas may be very small in size and are often extrapancreatic [51].

Other functioning pNETs are very rare (VIPomas, glucagonomas and somatostatinomas), frequently associated with MEN 1 and frequently malignant (between 50 and 80 %). They usually present late with a large mass and metastases. *VIPomas* may be extrapancreatic (in 20 %), predominantly in the retroperitoneal sympathetic chain and adrenal medulla [43, 50, 52]. *Somatostatinomas* are intrapancreatic (usually in head of pancreas) in over half of cases, the remainder being located in the duodenum and jejunum, usually in association with neurofibromatosis [54].

Non-functioning pNETS including PPoma and other tumours with no clinical syndrome tend to be sporadic and slow growing, presenting late as large tumours causing mass effect [45]. They usually lie in the pancreatic head, and thus presentation may be with biliary obstruction; 60–90 % are malignant [43, 52, 53]. These tumours may also be seen in von Hippel-Lindau syndrome.

8.4.1 Localisation of Pancreatic NETs on Imaging

A wide variety of imaging methods may be used for localising small functioning primary tumours, reflecting the difficulties encountered in detection. Local expertise also dictates the type of imaging used.

8.4.2 Ultrasound

8.4.2.1 Transabdominal Ultrasound

Transabdominal ultrasound (US) has a high specificity but low sensitivity for localising small pNETs in the range of 20–86 % [44, 55, 56]. As with most imaging techniques, sensitivity increases with the size of the lesion [56, 57].

Sonographic appearances are usually of a well-defined round mass, which is homogeneously hypoechoic in comparison to the relatively hyperechoic normal pancreatic tissue and may exhibit a hyperechoic halo. Hypervascularity is typical on Doppler imaging. Tumours that lie along the surface of the pancreas or in the duodenum are less conspicuous on ultrasound.

Contrast-enhanced ultrasound (CEUS) has shown a high specificity of 90–100 % in differentiating pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma from other solid neoplastic masses, including pNETs which are typically hypervascular [58, 59]. CEUS has shown promising results in detecting small pNETs, with a sensitivity of 94 % and specificity of 96 % [60].

8.4.2.2 Endoscopic Ultrasound

Endoscopic ultrasound (EUS) has been reported to have a high sensitivity (90 %, range 77–100 %) for the detection of small functioning pNETs [61-64].

EUS with a high-frequency probe (7.5–10 mHz) results in superior image resolution due to the close proximity of the transducer to the pancreas. Contrast enhancement may also be used. The probe is positioned within the stomach for visualisation of the pancreatic body and tail and in the duodenum for the head and duodenum [63, 65]. The advantages include localisation of small tumours, particularly in the pancreatic head which may be difficult to palpate at surgery; multiple tumours, in cases of MEN 1; tumours arising in the duodenal wall; and accurate depiction of the relations between tumour and vascular and biliary

structures. FNAC can also be undertaken which has a close correlation to the final histology [66, 67].

EUS can identify regional nodal enlargement, but it cannot fully assess the liver. It is technically challenging and highly specialised, therefore not widely available. Detection of lesions in the tail or extrapancreatic area can be challenging. It also may not be suitable for all patients, for example, where there is duodenal scarring in ZES.

8.4.2.3 Intraoperative Ultrasound

Intraoperative ultrasound (IOUS) has similar advantages to EUS and may improve the intraoperative sensitivity to 92–97 % for identifying small lesions in the head and multiple lesions and is a useful adjunct to palpation [55, 68]. It has been shown to change operative management by identifying multiple gastrinomas or by demonstrating the malignant nature of a lesion in up to 10 % of ZES cases [69]. IOUS has the advantage over EUS of being able to assess the liver, although it is not as sensitive as surgical palpation in detecting extrapancreatic lesions. Disadvantages of the technique include increasing the time and complexity of operation, as complete mobilisation of the pancreas is required, specialist experience for performing and interpreting the scan and poor sensitivity in detecting extrapancreatic/duodenal lesions.

8.4.2.4 CT

Multidetector CT is the most widely used diagnostic tool for the localisation and staging of pNETs.

CT Technique

The patient should be fasted to ensure that the stomach and duodenum are empty. The stomach is then distended with water just prior to scanning, and an IV antiperistaltic agent is administered. An initial pre-contrast scan is performed at the level of the pancreas followed by biphasic post-contrast scanning. Depending on the contrast medium used, around 150 ml should be administered at a rate of 3–5 ml/s. Arterial-phase scanning should be performed either by bolus tracking or after a delay of 25–30 s, followed by portal-venous scanning after 60–70 s with a section thickness ≤ 5 mm, and the entire liver should be included in both phases. The images are then reconstructed to 1–2 mm in slice thickness, and coronal or sagittal reformats should be reviewed. Images should also be viewed on narrow window settings in order to augment the difference between the enhancing tumour and pancreatic tissue [70, 71].

CT Appearance

Functioning pNETs are usually small and subtle at presentation, appearing isodense to normal pancreatic tissue on pre-contrast images. The majority of pNETs are hypervascular and will only be seen after IV contrast medium. Some tumours are seen more easily on arterial phase and others on portal phase images (Fig. 8.4) [72–75]. Rarely, insulinomas may be hypovascular or cystic and will therefore appear hypodense to the surrounding pancreas (Fig. 8.5) [76]. Cystic pNETs are usually benign and non-functioning; they cannot be reliably differentiated from



Fig. 8.4 Insulinoma in neck of the pancreas. An 81-year-old female presented with hyperinsulinaemia. (a) Arterial-phase CT shows an 18 mm arterially enhancing lesion in the neck of the pancreas (*arrow*); (b) portal-venous-phase CT shows that the lesion remained avidly enhancing (*arrow*)



Fig. 8.5 Cystic pancreatic NET. A 61-year-old female. (a) Incidental 16 mm lesion in the tail of the pancreas which demonstrated increased vascularity peripherally, suggestive of a cystic NET (*arrow*). (b) Gallium PET demonstrated avidity in keeping with a NET



Fig. 8.6 Duodenal gastrinoma. A 49-year-old gentleman presented with Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. (a) Arterial-phase CT shows generalised gastric rugal hypertrophy consistent with hypergastrinaemia. (b) A small hypervascular lesion on the posterior wall of the third part of the duodenum was identified consistent with a gastrinoma, shown here on axial CT (*white arrow*)

other cystic pancreatic neoplasms on imaging alone [76, 77]. In patients with a suspected gastrinoma, particular attention should be given to the 'gastrinoma triangle' and duodenal wall, where lesions are commonly found (Fig. 8.6).

Large tumours are more likely to be non-functioning and malignant, with signs of necrosis (central non-enhancing low density), calcifications and overt infiltration of the surrounding retroperitoneal structures such as vessels [45, 70].

Diagnostic Performance of CT

Multidetector CT with multiplanar thin reformats has improved the sensitivity for detection of the primary tumour, particularly insulinomas, with one study reporting a sensitivity of 94 % on MDCT alone and 100 % when combined with EUS [82]. Detection is directly related to tumour size, with significant difficulty in detecting tumours <1 cm, detection of 30 % of tumours between 1 cm and 3 cm and 95 % of tumours >3 cm [45, 50, 78]. Tumours within the head and body have a higher detection rate than those in the tail [78, 79]. Small duodenal tumours <1 cm are often missed on CT, and CT sensitivity for the detection of extrahepatic and extrapancreatic gastrinomas, which are often small at presentation, is only 30–50 % [51, 78].

8.4.2.5 Magnetic Resonance Imaging

Advances in MR technology have improved the diagnostic performance in lesion detection [75, 80, 81]. A sensitivity of 94 % for pancreatic lesions, but less for extrapancreatic lesions, has been reported [80, 82]. Although angiography has been reported to be more sensitive for identifying the primary tumour, MR has a higher sensitivity than angiography and CT for regional metastatic disease [83]. Tumour



Fig. 8.7 Multiple pancreatic NETs in patient with MEN1. MRI evaluation. (a) T1W fat saturated demonstrates a lesion in the uncinate process; (b) T2W fat-saturated images shows a high-signal-intensity lesion arising from the tail of the pancreas

detection increases with tumour size, and small multiple tumours in patients with MEN 1 remain difficult to detect.

Optimal technique is needed for high sensitivity as degradation of images due to artefact leads to difficulty in detection. The sequences should include axial T1W, T2W, T1 fat-suppressed spin echo and gradient echo, dynamic contrast enhancement and diffusion-weighted imaging (DWI).

Lesions are usually of low signal intensity on T1W and high on T2W sequences in relation to normal pancreatic tissue, often appearing most conspicuous on the fat-suppressed T1W images (Fig. 8.7) [80, 82]. Rarely, tumours contain a high collagen or fibrous tissue content, with low T2 signal intensity [75]. Following IV gadolinium, characteristic marked homogeneous enhancement is demonstrated. Cystic lesions may demonstrate rim enhancement [80]. Liver-specific contrast agents have been reported to improve detection of liver metastases [84, 85].

DWI is an MRI technique that measures water diffusivity in biological tissues, generating the quantifiable apparent diffusion coefficient (ADC). Small pancreatic NETs may be sensitively detected due to high contrast resolution, and the ability to distinguish benign from malignant lesions is under investigation [86].

8.4.2.6 Angiography

Diagnostic angiography is used in selected cases in specialist centres and is combined with venous sampling (see below). Detailed assessment of the vasculature includes selective catheterisation of all the branches of the coeliac and superior mesenteric arteries. Primary tumours and liver metastases are seen with high sensitivity as a well-defined blush in the capillary and early venous phase. Diagnostic difficulties can arise if a tumour is very small, multiple, or hypovascular or when a lesion lies adjacent to a loop of bowel or spleen and the blush is not separately visible. False positives arise from the blush of a splenunculus or normal pancreas or bowel.

8.4.2.7 Transhepatic Portal-Venous Sampling

Transhepatic portal-venous sampling (TSPVS) involves percutaneous catheterisation of a portal-venous branch. Blood is sampled from the splenic vein, superior and inferior mesenteric veins, pancreatic veins and portal trunk, with the principle that one of these veins will be draining the tumour and therefore contain high concentrations of the secreted hormone. This method is only useful for functioning tumours, although false-negative results occur if hormone secretion is intermittent.

8.4.2.8 Arterial Stimulation and Venous Sampling

Arterial stimulation venous sampling (ASVS) combines simultaneous hepatic venous sampling with selective arterial injection of a pancreatic secretagogue (usually calcium gluconate), a technique that is less invasive than THPVS. Following injection of the secretagogue, hepatic venous sampling is performed every 30 s for 2 min. A two- to threefold increase in the level of hormone indicates the regional presence of tumour. This technique is most useful in cases where a functional tumour remains occult on other imaging modalities. Reported sensitivities are as high 93 %, and the stimulation technique improves the sensitivity of angiography alone [50].

8.5 Gastrointestinal Neuroendocrine Tumours

Gastrointestinal NETs (previously known as carcinoids) are traditionally classified according to their site of origin. The secretory products and therefore the clinical manifestations and immunohistochemical staining patterns are similar for tumours arising from different anatomical sites. 'Foregut carcinoids' include NETs arising from the thymus, bronchus, gastric or duodenal mucosa and pancreas; 'midgut carcinoids' arise in the jejunum, ileum and proximal colon; while 'hindgut' NETs arise in the distal colon and rectum [87]. The most commonly reported sites are the bronchus (32.5 %), jejuno-ileum (20 %), appendix (8 %) and rectum (10 %). They are usually highly vascular tumours, resulting in their characteristic brightly enhancing appearances on imaging.

8.5.1 Bronchial Neuroendocrine Tumours

Bronchopulmonary NETs arise from Kulchitsky cells, neuroepithelial bodies or pluripotential bronchial epithelial stem cells in the bronchial epithelium [88, 89]. Tumours are graded by the World Health Organization according to their malignant potential, from low grade typical carcinoid to small-cell carcinoma [90].

Imaging features vary depending on whether the tumour is located in the airways of the central/middle third of the lung (80 % of cases) or in the peripheral airways [91]. Plain radiography may demonstrate a well-demarcated round or ovoid mass, which is often notched [92]. Centrally located tumours will appear as a central mediastinal or hilar mass, usually measuring 2–5 cm in diameter. These lesions may result in airways obstruction, with recurrent infection and/or lobar collapse [92].

However, as they are often small, CT scanning is more sensitive for detection. Lesions within the bronchial lumen typically brightly enhance (which can mimic a vessel), usually with both an intra- and extraluminal component being visible. Distal collapse or air trapping may be seen due to ball-valve obstruction of the bronchial lumen. Peripheral bronchial NETs are seen in 20 % of cases, appearing as solitary pulmonary nodules, typically round or ovoid with a smooth or lobulated border, commonly with punctate or diffuse calcification. Cavitation and hilar adenopathy and mediastinal invasion may be seen in the more aggressive histological subtypes [92]. In patients with occult ectopic ACTH secretion, a bronchial NET is the commonest source; however, these can be difficult to identify. When a pulmonary lesion is suspected but not seen on CT, MR may aid localisation. Bronchial carcinoids have high signal intensity on T2W and short tau inversion recovery (STIR) images, allowing differentiation between a small mass and the pulmonary vasculature [93].

8.5.2 Thymic Neuroendocrine Tumours

NETs of the thymus are extremely rare, typically presenting with an anterior mediastinal mass. Thought to arise from thymic cells of neural crest origin (Kulchitsky cells), these tumours have similarities to bronchial NETs with a range of tumour differentiation and behaviour. Approximately 50 % of tumours are functioning, with about 40 % presenting with Cushing's syndrome, in which case the mass is usually smaller than those patients presenting with non-functioning tumours [94]. Patients with non-functioning tumours (Fig. 8.8) usually present with symptoms related either to mass effect and/or local invasion. Lesions may be heterogeneous on CT (Fig. 8.9) and may show calcification. Assessment of the SVC for obstruction is vital [95, 96]. Invasive disease as evidenced by extension into the pleura, pericardium, great vessels or regional lymph nodes is also frequently seen in this group of patients [97]. Bilateral adrenal hyperplasia may be present in those with functioning ACTH-secreting tumours [95]. Metastatic disease in lungs, liver and bone, which may be sclerotic, may also be present at the time of diagnosis [96–99].

8.5.3 Gastric Neuroendocrine Tumours

Gastric NETs account for 0.3 % of gastric neoplasms but 11–41 % of all GI NETs [100]. Gastric, duodenal and colorectal neuroendocrine tumours are usually diagnosed by endoscopy with EUS to determine depth of invasion and regional nodal status and for fine-needle aspiration [62]. CT is predominantly done to detect regional and distant metastatic disease. Administration of an antiperistaltic agent and a negative oral contrast agent (water) may also improve detection of the gastric NETs. CT should include an arterial phase acquisition at 25–30 s following the injection of contrast agent at a rate of 4–5 ml/s, followed by a delayed portal-venous phase at 60 s.

Type I gastric NETs, associated with atrophic gastritis, are poorly seen on CT and MR, being multicentric and typically <1 cm in size. The disease is almost

Fig. 8.8 Neuroendocrine tumour of the thymus. A 37-year-old man presented with recurrent chest pain for several years and a previous episode of pericarditis. Chest radiograph showed a large lobulated mediastinal mass. The patient proceeded to a CT scan, which demonstrates a 16 cm heterogeneously enhancing anterior mediastinal mass (star), displacing the aorta and pulmonary trunk posteriorly. Functional imaging in the form of gallium-68 DOTATAE showed the lesion to be somatostatin receptor positive. The lesion was unsuitable for resection, and the patient underwent lutetium-177 therapy





Fig. 8.9 Thymic NET. (a) A 77-year-old male presented with chest sepsis. CT chest revealed an incidental 5 cm lobulated, heterogeneously enhancing anterior mediastinal mass with hypodense regions suggestive of necrosis and tiny calcific foci. (b) F-18 FDG PET shows metabolic activity within the lesion. Histology showed neuroendocrine carcinoma, with an atypical marker profile

always benign, with metastases present in only 2 % of cases. Type II gastric NETs are associated with MEN-1. There are typically multiple lesions within the gastric wall, which is thickened due to the association with the ZES. There is an increased tendency to metastasise to regional lymph nodes, although the prognosis is generally good [101]. Type I and type II gastric NETs may appear similar to other gastric polyps as numerous enhancing submucosal lesions [102]. Type III sporadic gastric



Fig. 8.10 Intussusception due to small bowel NET. (a) Ultrasound demonstrates an intussusception, and the lead point is a small bowel NET, shown here between the calipers. (b) CT demonstrates the enhancement of the primary lesion

NETs are usually solitary, large lesions with an irregular contour and diffuse margins that may ulcerate. Local invasion with extension into the surrounding gastric fat and metastases are common at presentation.

8.5.4 'Midgut' Neuroendocrine Tumours

Midgut NETs arise beyond the ligament of Treitz to the level of the mid-transverse colon. They are the commonest primary malignant tumour of the small bowel, as well as being the commonest location of all GI NETs [103]. Patients present with abdominal pain, usually with associated colic and diarrhoea, or with symptoms of obstruction that may be due to the primary tumour or due to intussusception (Fig. 8.10). Tumour-associated desmoplastic mesenteric fibrosis due to the local production of fibrogenic agents results in tethering and kinking of the small bowel mesentery that can also result in obstruction. Metastases are often present at diagnosis, most frequently to the liver, bone and lung [104–106]. The incidence of metastases is dependent on tumour size [104, 106], with tumours <1 cm having metastases in 15-25% of cases, 1-2 cm in size 58-80% of cases and >2 cm in over 70 % of cases.

Appendiceal NETs are often an incidental finding in surgically removed appendices. Imaging findings are often of an acutely inflamed appendix or an avidly enhancing appendiceal mass.

8.5.4.1 CT

Primary Tumour

Detection of the primary tumour on conventional CT is extremely challenging, as these are usually small lesions not easily detected against the bowel from which



Fig. 8.11 Mesenteric mass secondary to small bowel NET. (a) A 56-year-old man presented with a 2-month history of weight loss and rectal bleeding. Contrast-enhanced CT, coronal reformat, shows a 3-cm-diameter soft tissue mass within the small bowel mesentery which contains tiny foci of calcification. The lesion (*arrow*) is causing a desmoplastic reaction, with in-drawing of surrounding bowel loops (*arrowheads*) which demonstrates mural thickening and hyperenhancement. There are a few small adjacent lymph nodes. (b) A focal nodular enhancement was thought to represent the primary tumour

they arise; in one large series, only one of 52 primary lesions was identified, where an ileal tumour was causing an intussusception into the caecum (as in Fig. 8.10) [107, 108]. CT enteroclysis is a superior and more reliable imaging technique for diagnosing small bowel lesions [109], with excellent potential for diagnosing small bowel NET. The small bowel is distended with 2.5 1 of negative contrast agent through a nasojejunal tube (or orally ingested for CT enterography). An antispasmodic drug is given to reduce peristalsis, and an arterial and portal-venous phase CT is performed, allowing visualisation of the entire small bowel, including intraand extraluminal lesions.

NETs are seen as a solitary focal nodular mass, a smooth submucosal mass within the bowel wall or an intraluminal polyp (Fig. 8.11). If detected early, tumours may only manifest as subtle wall thickening with most lesions demonstrating avid contrast enhancement. Larger lesions may cause distortion and fixation of the bowel loop and surrounding mesentery, with a pathognomonic appearance on CT of mesenteric strands radiating from the nodule due to a desmoplastic reaction (Fig. 8.11) [110]. CT enteroclysis has a reported sensitivity of up to 100 % and specificity of 96.2 %, with a negative predictive value of 100 % and positive predictive value of 94.7 % [111]. NETs as small as 5 mm in diameter may be detected due to the excellent distension of bowel lumen. Multiplanar reformats optimise visualisation of the bowel wall allowing high diagnostic accuracy (up to 85 %) for transmural and

extramural lesions [112]. The disadvantages of CT enteroclysis include patient discomfort and the radiation dose, as the NJ tube requires insertion under fluoroscopic guidance and there is a minimum of two phases of CT image acquisition. Wireless capsule enteroscopy has been shown to be highly effective at detection of bowel lesions; however, it is limited to intraluminal evaluation [113].

8.5.5 Mesenteric Masses

Mesenteric masses occur in 50–75 % of small bowel NET and appear as soft tissue density lesions, usually identified on CT imaging (Fig. 8.11). These masses typically demonstrate a 'spoke-wheel' appearance, with radiating strands of soft tissue, reflecting the fibrosis secondary to hormonally active substances such as serotonin [107, 114]. Calcification is often present (40–70 %), either as small stippled calcifications or as more bulky, conglomerate foci of calcification [107]. The superior mesenteric artery and vein may also be encased by the contracted mesentery, resulting in vascular compromise and possible bowel ischaemia [61]. On histology, the calcification is localised within areas of mature fibrous scarring within the mass [115].

Diffuse peritoneal metastatic disease occurs in a smaller percentage (20-30 %) of patients with GI NET [107]. On CT, this appears as foci of irregular nodularity throughout the mesentery and on the peritoneal surfaces, often with ascites and abdominal distension, and may result in bowel obstruction.

8.5.5.1 MRI

MRI of the small bowel is now established in inflammatory small bowel disease, but there is less published evidence in noninflammatory conditions. The examination may be poorly tolerated by some patients, and so the use of MRI is determined by local expertise [118]. Patients must be able to breath-hold, as fast sequences are crucial for good image quality, in addition to adequate bowel distension. Sequences include breath-hold T2W (single-shot fast spin echo, single-shot turbo spin echo and a balanced gradient echo sequence such as true fast imaging with steady-state precession) and T1W pre- and post-gadolinium fat-suppressed sequences. Axial and coronal images are obtained.

MR enterography and MR enteroclysis are two techniques that allow distension of the small bowel lumen, which is essential for accurate detection of NETs. Enterography involves the patient drinking a large volume (approximately 2 l) of fluid, an easy, quick and well-tolerated method. Enteroclysis is the distension of small bowel via a nasojejunal tube as described above [116]. Most studies have concluded that enteroclysis results in more adequate and uniform luminal distension of the entire small bowel [117–119]. However, there is limited data directly comparing the diagnostic performance of these two techniques in the detection of small bowel neoplasms. Both have the advantage over conventional barium enteroclysis of the ability to evaluate indirectly the state of the bowel wall, detecting submucosal and extramural primary lesions or extension of small bowel disease, as well as resolving the limitations caused by overlapping bowel loops [119, 120].



Fig. 8.12 Mesenteric mass secondary to small bowel NET. T2W coronal MRI shows a soft tissue mesenteric mass which is of low T2 signal intensity (*arrow*). The locally tethered adjacent small bowel loops may represent the site of primary disease, but the primary lesion could not be seen

Dynamic sequences in MR enterography also allow evaluation of small bowel peristalsis and distensibility, and imaging may be performed following further oral contrast administration to reassess possible regions of narrowing or suspected intraluminal masses.

As with CT, small bowel NETs typically appear as a focal nodular region of bowel wall thickening or a smooth submucosal mass [121]. Focal wall thickening of more than 3 mm in a well-distended small bowel loop should be considered abnormal [116]. On the unenhanced T1W images, lesions are isointense to muscle and appear iso- or mildly hyperintense to muscle on T2W images, occasionally exhibiting radiating spiculated strands. Multifocal enhancing polypoid lesions are segmentally distributed, and numerous tiny enhancing nodules have also been described [122].

The diagnostic accuracy of small bowel MR enteroclysis at detecting all small bowel neoplasms has been reported to be as high as 0.95 [123], with a stated sensitivity of 91–94 % and a specificity of 97 %.

Mesenteric masses are low signal on both T1- and T2-weighted imaging and show no or negligible enhancement (Fig. 8.12) [121, 124].

8.5.6 Hindgut NETs

Hindgut NETs include tumours arising from the mid-transverse colon extending distally to the rectum, which is the commonest hindgut NET accounting for 27 % of

all GI NETs, a number that has increased over the last decade [103]. One percent of all anorectal neoplasms are NET [125]. The tumours are usually slow growing. Metastases are more common in patients with atypical histology, and as would be expected, the incidence increases with the size of the tumour [126, 127]. Lesions are usually diagnosed at colonoscopy and are typically small and confined to the rectum [128, 129]. Imaging may be used to identify cases suitable for local resection, including stage T1 (tumour is confined to the mucosa and submucosa) and T2 (invasion of muscularis propria) disease, with no evidence of extension to the serosa. Endoscopic US may be useful in demonstrating invasion of the full rectal wall (T3) and invasion into adjacent structures (T4) [129], with the primary lesion appearing as a homogeneously hypoechoic submucosal mass [130]. MR may have a role in local staging. Both CT and MR can be used to stage local lymph node disease and distant metastatic disease in preoperative planning, with up to 30 % of patients having metastatic disease at presentation [126, 127].

8.6 Appearances of Metastatic Disease in NET

Nodal metastases are the most frequent metastatic site at histology, but liver metastases are the most frequently identified metastases on imaging [131]. Mesenteric disease is described in the section on small bowel NETs. The lungs and bones are other common sites of metastatic disease.

8.6.1 Liver Metastases from GEP-NET

8.6.1.1 Ultrasound

The ultrasound technique used to assess for liver metastases is the transabdominal (TA) approach, which allows visualisation of all or most of the liver, for most patients. Endoscopic ultrasound (EUS) does not allow full visualisation of the liver. Whereas metastases from adenocarcinomas (e.g. colorectal, lung) tend to appear hypoechoic on ultrasound, NETs are typically seen on ultrasound as hyperechoic foci within the liver parenchyma, which have irregular and poorly defined margins [52, 57]. In some cases these appearances may mimic a liver haemangioma, and additional imaging will be required to further characterise the lesion. In the context of hepatic steatosis (where the liver has a generalised increase in its echotexture), the presence of a hyperechoic liver metastasis may be masked. Less commonly, liver metastases from GEP-NETs may appear as hypoechoic foci, with or without a hyperechoic halo.

CEUS is a technique used to characterise focal liver lesions on ultrasound following intravenous injection of a microbubble contrast agent. NET liver metastases classically demonstrate avid enhancement in the arterial phase followed by washout to appear as a non-enhancing defect in the late phase [132]. This contrasts to adenocarcinoma metastases, which do not typically demonstrate avid arterial enhancement.

Fig. 8.13 Liver metastasis secondary to pancreatic NET. An avidly arterially enhancing 19 mm liver lesion was found on surveillance CT 7 years later following resection of a pancreatic NET, in keeping with a metastatic deposit



Although traditionally used as a tool for lesion characterisation, CEUS is comparable to contrast-enhanced CT for response assessment of NET liver metastases following radiopeptide therapy [133].

8.6.1.2 CT

NET hepatic metastases are often masked by appearing isointense to normal enhancing liver parenchyma on portal-venous phase (PVP) CT imaging and are therefore best imaged using 'triple-phase' CT scanning, i.e. pre-contrast, hepatic arterial phase (HAP) and PVP (Fig. 8.13).

On the pre-contrast imaging, liver metastases are not well delineated and may not be identifiable. They may appear of lower attenuation than normal liver parenchyma or occasionally contain foci of calcification. Larger lesions may become necrotic and appear of fluid density.

NET hepatic metastases typically demonstrate avid enhancement during the HAP imaging and therefore appear hyperintense with respect to liver parenchyma. During the PVP, the metastases may become isointense to liver parenchyma (reducing their conspicuity) or may washout to appear as a hypointense lesion [134]. In contrast, adenocarcinoma metastases do not typically enhance in the arterial phase and usually manifest simply as hypoenhancing lesions in the PVP.

8.6.1.3 MRI

On MR imaging, the majority of NET liver metastases are of low signal intensity on T1W and intermediate/high signal intensity on T2W imaging. These hypervascular

lesions typically demonstrate avid enhancement in the HAP, and a proportion of these lesions will be solely identifiable in this phase [114].

DWI has been demonstrated to be more sensitive than T2W imaging for the detection of NET metastases, although it does not reliably differentiate between metastases of different origins (e.g. NET from adenocarcinoma) [135].

8.6.2 Lymph Node Metastases

Features suggestive of malignant involvement include a rounded rather than oval appearance, loss of the normal fatty, hypervascular hilum and an increase in the short-axis diameter above that considered to be the upper limit of normal [136]. For most lymph nodes this upper limit is taken as 10 mm, although this should be used with caution as smaller lymph nodes may still be malignant, and larger lymph nodes may be 'reactive' and thus not contain any malignant cells. Involved lymph nodes in NET may also contain foci of calcification, although this finding is not specific for malignancy. Retroperitoneal and mesenteric lymph node enlargement is commonly seen in patients with midgut NET (20–30 %) and may result in retroperitoneal fibrosis, potentially leading to ureteric obstruction [107].

8.6.3 Lung Metastases

The diagnosis of lung metastases arising from NETs is made on CT, manifest by rounded pulmonary nodules of non-uniform sizes in a bronchovascular distribution which enlarge with progression of disease. Following local metastasectomy for pulmonary metastases, follow-up CT studies of the thorax evaluate for local disease recurrence.

8.6.4 Bone Metastases

NET bone metastases are frequently sclerotic, often appearing as small punctate deposits. Less commonly, bone metastases appear as mixed osteolytic/osteosclerotic lesions, and a minority (10 %) appear as purely osteolytic. Treated bony metastases may become more sclerotic and thus be misdiagnosed as disease progression [137]

The presence of metastatic bone disease is associated with a poor prognosis, particularly in the presence of metastatic disease elsewhere [49]. Whole-body MR imaging has been found to have a sensitivity of 86 % in the detection of bone metastases in patients with GEP-NET cancer, similar to that of somatostatin receptor scintigraphy (81 %) [138]. Nuclear medicine studies for the detection of bony metastatic disease are discussed in other chapters.

On MRI, bone metastases typically appear as lesions of reduced signal on T1W imaging, with variable signal intensity on T2W imaging dependent upon the extent

of associated oedema. Bone metastases from NETs may enhance following gadolinium administration [139].

8.6.5 Response to Treatment

Response of metastatic NETs to medical treatment is widely assessed according to Response Evaluation Criteria in Solid Tumors (RECIST) criteria and is defined by changes in diameter of target metastatic lesions, usually on CT or MRI. However, more research is needed into novel ways to evaluate response, particularly in light of the increasing use of targeted chemotherapy agents, which may offer improved patient outcome in the absence of a RECIST response [140].

Surgical resection is the only curative technique in GEP-NETs. However, palliation of symptoms may be achieved by radio-frequency ablation or embolisation or chemoembolisation of liver metastases.

Radio-frequency ablation (RFA) is a technique employed to induce thermal coagulation necrosis within hepatic metastases. Following ablation, the lesion will typically appear as a focus of necrosis on CT (i.e. an area of lower attenuation than the surrounding liver) with smooth margins. Immediately following treatment the area of necrosis is expected to be slightly larger than the pretreatment tumour. There may be peripheral enhancement, but the central necrotic part of the tumour would not be expected to enhance. On subsequent imaging the defect should remain stable or reduce in size, indicating stable disease or a response to treatment. An increase in size or enhancement within the lesion itself suggests disease recurrence or incomplete therapy [141].

Transcatheter chemoembolisation (TACE) is an interventional radiology technique that selectively embolises and delivers chemotherapy to the branches of the hepatic artery supplying the hypervascular liver lesions. A CT performed post-treatment will demonstrate very high-density material within the liver metastasis due to the Lipiodol administered during chemoembolisation. Response to treatment may be assessed by a change in the size of the lesion on subsequent CT imaging, with an increase in tumour size indicating disease progression. Additionally response to TACE may be assessed on contrast-enhanced MRI and DWI, demonstrated by a reduction in the percentage enhancement of the lesions and a reduction in the extent of restricted diffusion [142]. However, these techniques remain under investigation.

References

^{1.} McCook TA, Putman CE, Dale JK, Wells SA (1982) Review: Medullary carcinoma of the thyroid: radiographic features of a unique tumor. AJR Am J Roentgenol 139(1):149–155

Vinik AI, Woltering EA, Warner RR, Caplin M, O'Dorisio TM, Wiseman GA et al (2010) NANETS consensus guidelines for the diagnosis of neuroendocrine tumor. Pancreas 39(6):713–734

- Kim SH, Kim BS, Jung SL, Lee JW, Yang PS, Kang BJ et al (2009) Ultrasonographic findings of medullary thyroid carcinoma: a comparison with papillary thyroid carcinoma. Korean J Radiol Off J Korean Radiol Soc 10(2):101–105
- 4. Elisei R (2008) Routine serum calcitonin measurement in the evaluation of thyroid nodules. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab 22(6):941–953
- Papi G, Corsello SM, Cioni K, Pizzini AM, Corrado S, Carapezzi C et al (2006) Value of routine measurement of serum calcitonin concentrations in patients with nodular thyroid disease: a multicenter study. J Endocrinol Invest 29(5):427–437
- 6. Aiken AH (2012) Imaging of thyroid cancer. Semin Ultrasound CT MR 33(2):138-149
- Wang Q, Takashima S, Fukuda H, Takayama F, Kobayashi S, Sone S (1999) Detection of medullary thyroid carcinoma and regional lymph node metastases by magnetic resonance imaging. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 125(8):842–848
- Nader S, Hickey RC, Sellin RV, Samaan NA (1983) Adrenal cortical carcinoma. A study of 77 cases. Cancer 52(4):707–711
- 9. Wooten MD, King DK (1993) Adrenal cortical carcinoma. Epidemiology and treatment with mitotane and a review of the literature. Cancer 72(11):3145–3155
- Reznek RH, Narayanan P (2010) Primary adrenal malignancy. In: Reznek RH, Husband J (eds) Husband & Reznek's imaging in oncology, 3rd edn. Informa Healthcare, London, pp 280–298
- Allolio B, Fassnacht M (2006) Clinical review: adrenocortical carcinoma: clinical update. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 91(6):2027–2037
- Wajchenberg BL, Albergaria Pereira MA, Medonca BB, Latronico AC, Campos Carneiro P, Alves VA et al (2000) Adrenocortical carcinoma: clinical and laboratory observations. Cancer 88(4):711–736
- Fishman EK, Deutch BM, Hartman DS, Goldman SM, Zerhouni EA, Siegelman SS (1987) Primary adrenocortical carcinoma: CT evaluation with clinical correlation. AJR Am J Roentgenol 148(3):531–535
- Luton JP, Cerdas S, Billaud L, Thomas G, Guilhaume B, Bertagna X et al (1990) Clinical features of adrenocortical carcinoma, prognostic factors, and the effect of mitotane therapy. N Engl J Med 322(17):1195–1201
- Hussain S, Belldegrun A, Seltzer SE, Richie JP, Gittes RF, Abrams HL (1985) Differentiation of malignant from benign adrenal masses: predictive indices on computed tomography. AJR Am J Roentgenol 144(1):61–65
- 16. Rockall AG, Babar SA, Sohaib SA, Isidori AM, Diaz-Cano S, Monson JP et al (2004) CT and MR imaging of the adrenal glands in ACTH-independent cushing syndrome. Radiographics Rev Publ Radiol Soc North Am Inc 24(2):435–452
- 17. Boland GW, Lee MJ, Gazelle GS, Halpern EF, McNicholas MM, Mueller PR (1998) Characterization of adrenal masses using unenhanced CT: an analysis of the CT literature. AJR Am J Roentgenol 171(1):201–204
- Schlund JF, Kenney PJ, Brown ED, Ascher SM, Brown JJ, Semelka RC (1995) Adrenocortical carcinoma: MR imaging appearance with current techniques. JMRI 5(2):171–174
- 19. Ilias I, Sahdev A, Reznek RH, Grossman AB, Pacak K (2007) The optimal imaging of adrenal tumours: a comparison of different methods. Endocr Relat Cancer 14(3):587–599
- 20. Ferrozzi F, Bova D (1995) CT and MR demonstration of fat within an adrenal cortical carcinoma. Abdom Imaging 20(3):272–274
- Faria JF, Goldman SM, Szejnfeld J, Melo H, Kater C, Kenney P et al (2007) Adrenal masses: characterization with in vivo proton MR spectroscopy-initial experience. Radiology 245(3):788–797
- Mayo-Smith WW, Boland GW, Noto RB, Lee MJ (2001) State-of-the-art adrenal imaging. Radiographics Rev Publ Radiol Soc North Am Inc 21(4):995–1012
- 23. Jacques AE, Sahdev A, Sandrasagara M, Goldstein R, Berney D, Rockall AG et al (2008) Adrenal phaeochromocytoma: correlation of MRI appearances with histology and function. Eur Radiol 18(12):2885–2892

- 24. Bharwani N, Rockall AG, Sahdev A, Gueorguiev M, Drake W, Grossman AB et al (2011) Adrenocortical carcinoma: the range of appearances on CT and MRI. AJR Am J Roentgenol 196(6):W706–W714
- Bowerman RA, Silver TM, Jaffe MH, Stuck KJ, Hinerman DL (1981) Sonography of adrenal pheochromocytomas. AJR Am J Roentgenol 137(6):1227–1231
- 26. Blake MA, Krishnamoorthy SK, Boland GW, Sweeney AT, Pitman MB, Harisinghani M et al (2003) Low-density pheochromocytoma on CT: a mimicker of adrenal adenoma. AJR Am J Roentgenol 181(6):1663–1668
- Szolar DH, Kammerhuber FH (1998) Adrenal adenomas and nonadenomas: assessment of washout at delayed contrast-enhanced CT. Radiology 207(2):369–375
- Szolar DH, Korobkin M, Reittner P, Berghold A, Bauernhofer T, Trummer H et al (2005) Adrenocortical carcinomas and adrenal pheochromocytomas: mass and enhancement loss evaluation at delayed contrast-enhanced CT. Radiology 234(2):479–485
- Park BK, Kim CK, Kwon GY, Kim JH (2007) Re-evaluation of pheochromocytomas on delayed contrast-enhanced CT: washout enhancement and other imaging features. Eur Radiol 17(11):2804–2809
- 30. Elsayes KM, Mukundan G, Narra VR, Lewis JS Jr, Shirkhoda A, Farooki A et al (2004) Adrenal masses: mr imaging features with pathologic correlation. Radiographics Rev Publ Radiol Soc North Am Inc 24(Suppl 1):S73–S86
- Blake MA, Kalra MK, Maher MM, Sahani DV, Sweeney AT, Mueller PR et al (2004) Pheochromocytoma: an imaging chameleon. Radiographics Rev Publ Radiol Soc North Am Inc 24(Suppl 1):S87–S99
- 32. Krestin GP, Steinbrich W, Friedmann G (1989) Adrenal masses: evaluation with fast gradientecho MR imaging and Gd-DTPA-enhanced dynamic studies. Radiology 171(3):675–680
- Lee KY, Oh YW, Noh HJ, Lee YJ, Yong HS, Kang EY et al (2006) Extraadrenal paragangliomas of the body: imaging features. AJR Am J Roentgenol 187(2):492–504
- Magliulo G, Zardo F, Varacalli S, D'Amico R (2003) Multiple paragangliomas of the head and neck. An Otorrinolaringol Ibero Am 30(1):31–38
- Duncan AW, Lack EE, Deck MF (1979) Radiological evaluation of paragangliomas of the head and neck. Radiology 132(1):99–105
- 36. Som PM, Sacher M, Stollman AL, Biller HF, Lawson W (1988) Common tumors of the parapharyngeal space: refined imaging diagnosis. Radiology 169(1):81–85
- Olsen WL, Dillon WP, Kelly WM, Norman D, Brant-Zawadzki M, Newton TH (1987) MR imaging of paragangliomas. AJR Am J Roentgenol 148(1):201–204
- A ST (1989) Paragangliomas. In: Sternberg SS (ed) Diagnostic surgical pathology. Raven Press, New York, pp 467–477
- 39. Rakovich G, Ferraro P, Therasse E, Duranceau A (2001) Preoperative embolization in the management of a mediastinal paraganglioma. Ann Thorac Surg 72(2):601–603
- 40. Sahin-Akyar G, Erden I, Yagci C, Akyar S, Erekul S (1997) Magnetic resonance imaging findings of a nonfunctional mediastinal paraganglioma with an unusual presentation. Eur Radiol 7(7):1114–1116
- Hayes WS, Davidson AJ, Grimley PM, Hartman DS (1990) Extraadrenal retroperitoneal paraganglioma: clinical, pathologic, and CT findings. AJR Am J Roentgenol 155(6):1247–1250
- 42. van Gils AP, Falke TH, van Erkel AR, Arndt JW, Sandler MP, van der Mey AG et al (1991) MR imaging and MIBG scintigraphy of pheochromocytomas and extraadrenal functioning paragangliomas. Radiographics Rev Publ Radiol Soc North Am Inc 11(1):37–57
- Aldridge MC, Williamson RC (1996) Surgery of endocrine tumours of the pancreas. In: Lynn J, Bloom SR (eds) Surgical endocrinology. Butterworth-Heinemann, Oxford, pp 503–518
- van Heerden JA, Grant CS, Czako PF (1992) Occult functioning insulinomas: which localizing studies are indicated? Surgery 112:1010–1015
- Stark DD, Moss AA, Goldberg HI, Deveney CW (1984) CT of pancreatic islet cell tumors. Radiology 150(2):491–494

- 46. Service FJ, Dale AJ, Elveback LR, Jiang NS (1976) Insulinoma: clinical and diagnostic features of 60 consecutive cases. Mayo Clin Proc 51(7):417–429
- 47. Berends FJ, Cuesta MA, Kazemier G, van Eijck CH, de Herder WW, van Muiswinkel JM et al (2000) Laparoscopic detection and resection of insulinomas. Surgery 128(3):386–391
- Kent RB III, van Heerden JA, Weiland LH (1981) Nonfunctioning islet cell tumors. Ann Surg 193(2):185–190
- 49. Yu F, Venzon DJ, Serrano J, Goebel SU, Doppman JL, Gibril F et al (1999) Prospective study of the clinical course, prognostic factors, causes of death, and survival in patients with longstanding Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol 17(2):615–630
- Alexander HR, Jensen RT (2001) Pancreatic endocrine tumors. In: Devita VT, Hellman S, Rosenberg SA (eds) Principles and practice of oncology. Lippincott-Raven, Philadelphia, pp 1788–1813
- Doppman JL, Shawker TH, Miller DL (1989) Localization of islet cell tumors. Gastroenterol Clin North Am 18(4):793–804
- 52. King CM, Reznek RH, Dacie JE, Wass JA (1994) Imaging islet cell tumours. Clin Radiol 49(5):295–303
- Hammond PJ, Jackson JA, Bloom SR (1994) Localization of pancreatic endocrine tumours. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 40(1):3–14
- 54. Vinik AI, Strodel WE, Eckhauser FE, Moattari AR, Lloyd R (1987) Somatostatinomas, PPomas, neurotensinomas. Semin Oncol 14(3):263–281
- Grant CS (1999) Surgical aspects of hyperinsulinemic hypoglycemia. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am 28(3):533–554
- Bottger TC, Weber W, Beyer J, Junginger T (1990) Value of tumor localization in patients with insulinoma. World J Surg 14(1):107–112
- London JF, Shawker TH, Doppman JL, Frucht HH, Vinayek R, Stark HA et al (1991) Zollinger-Ellison syndrome: prospective assessment of abdominal US in the localization of gastrinomas. Radiology 178(3):763–767
- Dietrich CF, Ignee A, Braden B, Barreiros AP, Ott M, Hocke M (2008) Improved differentiation of pancreatic tumors using contrast-enhanced endoscopic ultrasound. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 6(5):590–597
- Oshikawa O, Tanaka S, Ioka T, Nakaizumi A, Hamada Y, Mitani T (2002) Dynamic sonography of pancreatic tumors: comparison with dynamic CT. AJR Am J Roentgenol 178(5): 1133–1137
- Rickes S, Monkemuller K, Malfertheiner P (2006) Contrast-enhanced ultrasound in the diagnosis of pancreatic tumors. JOP J Pancreas 7(6):584–592
- Sundin A, Vullierme MP, Kaltsas G, Plockinger U (2009) ENETS consensus guidelines for the standards of care in neuroendocrine tumors: radiological examinations. Neuroendocrinology 90(2):167–183
- 62. Anderson MA, Carpenter S, Thompson NW, Nostrant TT, Elta GH, Scheiman JM (2000) Endoscopic ultrasound is highly accurate and directs management in patients with neuroendocrine tumors of the pancreas. Am J Gastroenterol 95(9):2271–2277
- Rosch T, Lightdale CJ, Botet JF, Boyce GA, Sivak MV Jr, Yasuda K et al (1992) Localization of pancreatic endocrine tumors by endoscopic ultrasonography. N Engl J Med 326(26): 1721–1726
- 64. Fein J, Gerdes H (1992) Localization of islet cell tumors by endoscopic ultrasonography. Gastroenterology 103(2):711–712
- 65. Ueno N, Tomiyama T, Tano S, Wada S, Aizawa T, Kimura K (1996) Utility of endoscopic ultrasonography with color Doppler function for the diagnosis of islet cell tumor. Am J Gastroenterol 91(4):772–776
- 66. Baker MS, Knuth JL, DeWitt J, LeBlanc J, Cramer H, Howard TJ et al (2008) Pancreatic cystic neuroendocrine tumors: preoperative diagnosis with endoscopic ultrasound and fine-needle immunocytology. J Gastrointest Surg 12(3):450–456

- 67. Chang F, van der Walt J (2006) Fine needle aspiration and core biopsy from a 43-year-old man with multiple abdominal masses. Cytopathology 17(5):307–310
- Nikfarjam M, Warshaw AL, Axelrod L, Deshpande V, Thayer SP, Ferrone CR et al (2008) Improved contemporary surgical management of insulinomas: a 25-year experience at the Massachusetts General Hospital. Ann Surg 247(1):165–172
- 69. Norton JA, Cromack DT, Shawker TH, Doppman JL, Comi R, Gorden P et al (1988) Intraoperative ultrasonographic localization of islet cell tumors. A prospective comparison to palpation. Ann Surg 207(2):160–168
- 70. Buetow PC, Parrino TV, Buck JL, Pantongrag-Brown L, Ros PR, Dachman AH et al (1995) Islet cell tumors of the pancreas: pathologic-imaging correlation among size, necrosis and cysts, calcification, malignant behavior, and functional status. AJR Am J Roentgenol 165(5):1175–1179
- 71. Fidler JL, Fletcher JG, Reading CC, Andrews JC, Thompson GB, Grant CS et al (2003) Preoperative detection of pancreatic insulinomas on multiphasic helical CT. AJR Am J Roentgenol 181(3):775–780
- 72. Stafford-Johnson DB, Francis IR, Eckhauser FE, Knol JA, Chang AE (1998) Dual-phase helical CT of nonfunctioning islet cell tumors. J Comput Assist Tomogr 22(2):335–339
- 73. Van Hoe L, Gryspeerdt S, Marchal G, Baert AL, Mertens L (1995) Helical CT for the preoperative localization of islet cell tumors of the pancreas: value of arterial and parenchymal phase images. AJR Am J Roentgenol 165(6):1437–1439
- 74. Chung MJ, Choi BI, Han JK, Chung JW, Han MC, Bae SH (1997) Functioning islet cell tumor of the pancreas. Localization with dynamic spiral CT. Acta Radiol 38(1):135–138
- 75. Ichikawa T, Peterson MS, Federle MP, Baron RL, Haradome H, Kawamori Y et al (2000) Islet cell tumor of the pancreas: biphasic CT versus MR imaging in tumor detection. Radiology 216(1):163–171
- 76. Ahrendt SA, Komorowski RA, Demeure MJ, Wilson SD, Pitt HA (2002) Cystic pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors: is preoperative diagnosis possible? J Gastrointest Surg 6(1):66–74
- Imaoka H, Yamao K, Salem AA, Sawaki A, Takahashi K, Mizuno N et al (2005) Pancreatic endocrine neoplasm can mimic serous cystadenoma. Int J Gastrointest Cancer 35(3):217–220
- Wank SA, Doppman JL, Miller DL, Collen MJ, Maton PN, Vinayek R et al (1987) Prospective study of the ability of computed axial tomography to localize gastrinomas in patients with Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. Gastroenterology 92(4):905–912
- Maton PN, Miller DL, Doppman JL, Collen MJ, Norton JA, Vinayek R et al (1987) Role of selective angiography in the management of patients with Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. Gastroenterology 92(4):913–918
- Owen NJ, Sohaib SA, Peppercorn PD, Monson JP, Grossman AB, Besser GM et al (2001) MRI of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumours. Br J Radiol 74(886):968–973
- Semelka RC, Custodio CM, Cem BN, Woosley JT (2000) Neuroendocrine tumors of the pancreas: spectrum of appearances on MRI. J Magn Reson Imaging 11(2):141–148
- Thoeni RF, Mueller-Lisse UG, Chan R, Do NK, Shyn PB (2000) Detection of small, functional islet cell tumors in the pancreas: selection of MR imaging sequences for optimal sensitivity. Radiology 214(2):483–490
- Pisegna JR, Doppman JL, Norton JA, Metz DC, Jensen RT (1993) Prospective comparative study of ability of MR imaging and other imaging modalities to localize tumors in patients with Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. Dig Dis Sci 38(7):1318–1328
- 84. Rockall AG, Planche K, Power N, Nowosinska E, Monson JP, Grossman AB et al (2009) Detection of neuroendocrine liver metastases with MnDPDP-enhanced MRI. Neuroendocrinology 89(3):288–295
- 85. Wang C (1998) Mangafodipir trisodium (MnDPDP)-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging of the liver and pancreas. Acta Radiol Suppl 415:1–31
- 86. Wang Y, Miller FH, Chen ZE, Merrick L, Mortele KJ, Hoff FL et al (2011) Diffusion-weighted MR imaging of solid and cystic lesions of the pancreas. Radiographics Rev Publ Radiol Soc North Am Inc 31(3):E47–E64

- Williams ED, Sandler M (1963) The classification of carcinoid tumours. Lancet 1(7275): 238–239
- Paladugu RR, Benfield JR, Pak HY, Ross RK, Teplitz RL (1985) Bronchopulmonary Kulchitzky cell carcinomas. A new classification scheme for typical and atypical carcinoids. Cancer 55(6):1303–1311
- Colby TV, Koss MN, Travis WD (1995) Carcinoid and other neuroendocrine tumors. In: Colby TV, Koss MN, Travis WD (eds) Atlas to tumor pathology: tumors of the lower respiratory tract. Armed Forces Institute of Pathology, Washington, DC, pp 287–317
- Beasley MB, Brambilla E, Travis WD (2005) The 2004 World Health Organization classification of lung tumors. Semin Roentgenol 40(2):90–97
- Jeung MY, Gasser B, Gangi A, Charneau D, Ducroq X, Kessler R et al (2002) Bronchial carcinoid tumors of the thorax: spectrum of radiologic findings. Radiographics Rev Publ Radiol Soc North Am Inc 22(2):351–365
- Nessi R, Basso RP, Basso RS, Bosco M, Blanc M, Uslenghi C (1991) Bronchial carcinoid tumors: radiologic observations in 49 cases. J Thorac Imaging 6(2):47–53
- 93. Doppman JL, Pass HI, Nieman LK, Findling JW, Dwyer AJ, Feuerstein IM et al (1991) Detection of ACTH-producing bronchial carcinoid tumors: MR imaging vs CT. AJR Am J Roentgenol 156(1):39–43
- Dusmet ME, McKneally MF (1996) Pulmonary and thymic carcinoid tumors. World J Surg 20(2):189–195
- Wollensak G, Herbst EW, Beck A, Schaefer HE (1992) Primary thymic carcinoid with Cushing's syndrome. Virchows Arch A Pathol Anat Histopathol 420(2):191–195
- 96. Brown LR, Aughenbaugh GL, Wick MR, Baker BA, Salassa RM (1982) Roentgenologic diagnosis of primary corticotropin-producing carcinoid tumors of the mediastinum. Radiology 142(1):143–148
- Wang DY, Chang DB, Kuo SH, Yang PC, Lee YC, Hsu HC et al (1994) Carcinoid tumours of the thymus. Thorax 49(4):357–360
- Brown LR, Aughenbaugh GL (1991) Masses of the anterior mediastinum: CT and MR imaging. AJR Am J Roentgenol 157(6):1171–1180
- Fujiwara K, Segawa Y, Takigawa N, Kishino D, Ida M, Eguchi K et al (2000) Two cases of atypical carcinoid of the thymus. Intern Med 39(10):834–838
- 100. Rindi G, Bordi C, Rappel S, La Rosa S, Stolte M, Solcia E (1996) Gastric carcinoids and neuroendocrine carcinomas: pathogenesis, pathology, and behavior. World J Surg 20(2): 168–172
- 101. Binstock AJ, Johnson CD, Stephens DH, Lloyd RV, Fletcher JG (2001) Carcinoid tumors of the stomach: a clinical and radiographic study. AJR Am J Roentgenol 176(4):947–951
- 102. Sahani DV, Bonaffini PA, Fernandez-Del Castillo C, Blake MA (2013) Gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors: role of imaging in diagnosis and management. Radiology 266(1):38–61
- Modlin IM, Lye KD, Kidd M (2003) A 5-decade analysis of 13,715 carcinoid tumors. Cancer 97(4):934–959
- 104. Burke AP, Thomas RM, Elsayed AM, Sobin LH (1997) Carcinoids of the jejunum and ileum: an immunohistochemical and clinicopathologic study of 167 cases. Cancer 79(6): 1086–1093
- 105. Modlin IM, Sandor A (1997) An analysis of 8305 cases of carcinoid tumors. Cancer 79(4):813-829
- 106. Jensen RT, Doherty GM (2001) Carcinoid tumors and the carcinoid syndrome. In: Devita VT, Hellman S, Rosenberg SA (eds) Principles and practice of oncology. Lippincott-Raven, Philadelphia, pp 1813–1833
- 107. Woodard PK, Feldman JM, Paine SS, Baker ME (1995) Midgut carcinoid tumors: CT findings and biochemical profiles. J Comput Assist Tomogr 19(3):400–405
- Sugimoto E, Lorelius LE, Eriksson B, Oberg K (1995) Midgut carcinoid tumours. CT appearance. Acta Radiol 36(4):367–371

- 109. Romano S, De Lutio E, Rollandi GA, Romano L, Grassi R, Maglinte DD (2005) Multidetector computed tomography enteroclysis (MDCT-E) with neutral enteral and IV contrast enhancement in tumor detection. Eur Radiol 15(6):1178–1183
- 110. Hristova L, Place V, Nemeth J, Boudiaf M, Laurent V, Soyer P (2012) Small bowel tumors: spectrum of findings on 64-section CT enteroclysis with pathologic correlation. Clin Imaging 36(2):104–112
- 111. Kamaoui I, De-Luca V, Ficarelli S, Mennesson N, Lombard-Bohas C, Pilleul F (2010) Value of CT enteroclysis in suspected small-bowel carcinoid tumors. AJR Am J Roentgenol 194(3):629–633
- 112. Pilleul F, Penigaud M, Milot L, Saurin JC, Chayvialle JA, Valette PJ (2006) Possible small-bowel neoplasms: contrast-enhanced and water-enhanced multidetector CT enteroclysis. Radiology 241(3):796–801
- 113. Lewis BS, Eisen GM, Friedman S (2005) A pooled analysis to evaluate results of capsule endoscopy trials. Endoscopy 37(10):960–965
- 114. Bader TR, Semelka RC, Chiu VC, Armao DM, Woosley JT (2001) MRI of carcinoid tumors: spectrum of appearances in the gastrointestinal tract and liver. J Magn Reson Imag JMRI 14(3):261–269
- Pantongrag-Brown L, Buetow PC, Carr NJ, Lichtenstein JE, Buck JL (1995) Calcification and fibrosis in mesenteric carcinoid tumor: CT findings and pathologic correlation. AJR Am J Roentgenol 164(2):387–391
- 116. Amzallag-Bellenger E, Oudjit A, Ruiz A, Cadiot G, Soyer PA, Hoeffel CC (2012) Effectiveness of MR enterography for the assessment of small-bowel diseases beyond Crohn disease. Radiographics Rev Publ Radiol Soc North Am Inc 32(5):1423–1444
- 117. Prassopoulos P, Papanikolaou N, Grammatikakis J, Rousomoustakaki M, Maris T, Gourtsoyiannis N (2001) MR enteroclysis imaging of Crohn disease. Radiographics Rev Publ Radiol Soc North Am Inc 21 Spec No:S161–S172
- Masselli G, Vecchioli A, Gualdi GF (2006) Crohn disease of the small bowel: MR enteroclysis versus conventional enteroclysis. Abdom Imaging 31(4):400–409
- 119. Fidler J (2007) MR imaging of the small bowel. Radiol Clin North Am 45(2):317-331
- Masselli G, Brizi GM, Parrella A, Minordi LM, Vecchioli A, Marano P (2004) Crohn disease: magnetic resonance enteroclysis. Abdom Imaging 29(3):326–334
- 121. Maglinte DD, Lappas JC, Sandrasegaran K (2008) Malignant tumours of the small bowel. In: Gore R, Levine M (eds) Textbook of gastrointestinal radiology, 3rd edn. Saunders Elsevier, Philadelphia, pp 853–869
- 122. Hoeffel C, Crema MD, Belkacem A, Azizi L, Lewin M, Arrive L et al (2006) Multi-detector row CT: spectrum of diseases involving the ileocecal area. Radiographics Rev Publ Radiol Soc North Am Inc 26(5):1373–1390
- 123. Van Weyenberg SJ, Meijerink MR, Jacobs MA, Van der Peet DL, Van Kuijk C, Mulder CJ et al (2010) MR enteroclysis in the diagnosis of small-bowel neoplasms. Radiology 254(3): 765–773
- 124. Semelka RC, John G, Kelekis NL, Burdeny DA, Ascher SM (1996) Small bowel neoplastic disease: demonstration by MRI. J Magn Reson Imag JMRI 6(6):855–860
- 125. Winburn GB (1998) Multiple rectal carcinoids: a case report. Am Surg 64(12):1200–1203
- 126. Koura AN, Giacco GG, Curley SA, Skibber JM, Feig BW, Ellis LM (1997) Carcinoid tumors of the rectum: effect of size, histopathology, and surgical treatment on metastasis free survival. Cancer 79(7):1294–1298
- 127. Danikas D, Theodorou SJ, Matthews WE, Rienzo AA (2000) Unusually aggressive rectal carcinoid metastasizing to larynx, pancreas, adrenal glands, and brain. Am Surg 66(12): 1179–1180
- Maeda K, Maruta M, Utsumi T, Sato H, Masumori K, Matsumoto M (2002) Minimally invasive surgery for carcinoid tumors in the rectum. Biomed Pharmacother 56(Suppl 1):222s–226s
- 129. Schindl M, Niederle B, Hafner M, Teleky B, Langle F, Kaserer K et al (1998) Stage-dependent therapy of rectal carcinoid tumors. World J Surg 22(6):628–633

- 130. Matsumoto T, Iida M, Suekane H, Tominaga M, Yao T, Fujishima M (1991) Endoscopic ultrasonography in rectal carcinoid tumors: contribution to selection of therapy. Gastrointest Endosc 37(5):539–542
- Berge T, Linell F (1976) Carcinoid tumours. Frequency in a defined population during a 12-year period. Acta pathologica et microbiologica Scandinavica Section A Pathology 84(4):322–330
- 132. Rickes S, Ocran KW, Gerstenhauer G, Neye H, Wermke W (2004) Evaluation of diagnostic criteria for liver metastases of adenocarcinomas and neuroendocrine tumours at conventional ultrasound, unenhanced power Doppler sonography and echo-enhanced ultrasound. Dig Dis (Basel, Switzerland) 22(1):81–86
- 133. Giesel FL, Wulfert S, Zechmann CM, Haberkorn U, Kratochwil C, Flechsig P et al (2013) Contrast-enhanced ultrasound monitoring of perfusion changes in hepatic neuroendocrine metastases after systemic versus selective arterial 177Lu/90Y-DOTATOC and 213Bi-DOTATOC radiopeptide therapy. Exp Oncol 35(2):122–126
- 134. Paulson EK, McDermott VG, Keogan MT, DeLong DM, Frederick MG, Nelson RC (1998) Carcinoid metastases to the liver: role of triple-phase helical CT. Radiology 206(1):143–150
- 135. d'Assignies G, Fina P, Bruno O, Vullierme MP, Tubach F, Paradis V et al (2013) High sensitivity of diffusion-weighted MR imaging for the detection of liver metastases from neuroendocrine tumors: comparison with T2-weighted and dynamic gadolinium-enhanced MR imaging. Radiology 268(2):390–399
- 136. Torabi M, Aquino SL, Harisinghani MG (2004) Current concepts in lymph node imaging. J Nucl Med Off Publ Soc Nucl Med 45(9):1509–1518
- 137. Gibril F, Doppman JL, Reynolds JC, Chen CC, Sutliff VE, Yu F et al (1998) Bone metastases in patients with gastrinomas: a prospective study of bone scanning, somatostatin receptor scanning, and magnetic resonance image in their detection, frequency, location, and effect of their detection on management. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol 16(3):1040–1053
- 138. Leboulleux S, Dromain C, Vataire AL, Malka D, Auperin A, Lumbroso J et al (2008) Prediction and diagnosis of bone metastases in well-differentiated gastro-entero-pancreatic endocrine cancer: a prospective comparison of whole body magnetic resonance imaging and somatostatin receptor scintigraphy. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 93(8):3021–3028
- Debray MP, Geoffroy O, Laissy JP, Lebtahi R, Silbermann-Hoffman O, Henry-Feugeas MC et al (2001) Imaging appearances of metastases from neuroendocrine tumours of the pancreas. Br J Radiol 74(887):1065–1070
- Sundin A, Rockall A (2012) Therapeutic monitoring of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors: the challenges ahead. Neuroendocrinology 96(4):261–271
- 141. Choi H, Loyer EM, DuBrow RA, Kaur H, David CL, Huang S et al (2001) Radio-frequency ablation of liver tumors: assessment of therapeutic response and complications. Radiographics Rev Publ Radiol Soc North Am Inc 21 Spec No:S41–S54
- 142. Liapi E, Geschwind JF, Vossen JA, Buijs M, Georgiades CS, Bluemke DA et al (2008) Functional MRI evaluation of tumor response in patients with neuroendocrine hepatic metastasis treated with transcatheter arterial chemoembolization. AJR Am J Roentgenol 190(1):67–73

Nuclear Medicine Imaging in Neuroendocrine Tumors

9

Andreas Kjaer

9.1 Introduction

With the paradigm of personalized medicine in cancer, it has increasingly become necessary to diagnose and characterize tumors at the molecular level. Whereas this is possible through invasive methods, e.g., analyses of biopsies, it can also be achieved in a noninvasive manner using nuclear medicine imaging methods [1]. These image-based methods for phenotyping tumors have several advantages over invasive methods. First, they are not prone to sampling error as are analyses based on tissue samples that often turn out not to be representative of the entire disease. Accordingly, WHO grading is based on measurement of proliferation, e.g. Ki67 in biopsies [2]. However, there is no guarantee that such biopsies are taken from the areas with highest proliferation, which is likely to determine the destiny of the patient. Based on experience with nuclear medicine imaging, indeed large regional variation in uptake of functional tracers is seen. Moreover, exact phenotyping of therapeutic targets is important before initiating treatment. Accordingly, somatostatin receptor scintigraphy prior to peptide receptor radionuclide therapy (PRRT) reveals if the whole or only part of the tumor burden in a neuroendocrine tumor (NET) patient will be targeted and thereby predicts the likelihood of success. In many ways, PRRT and somatostatin receptor imaging using the same ligands have been the proof of concept of theranostics within cancer.

For reasons mentioned above, somatostatin receptor scintigraphy based on gamma camera technique has been used extensively and on a routine basis for decades in NET. However, recent developments within nuclear medicine are increasingly moving the field toward the use of positron emission tomography (PET) due

A. Kjaer, MD, PhD, DMSc

Department of Clinical Physiology, Nuclear Medicine & PET

and Cluster for Molecular Imaging, Rigshospitalet, University of Copenhagen, Blegdamsvej 9, Copenhagen DK-2100, Denmark

e-mail: akjaer@sund.ku.dk

[©] Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

S. Yalcin, K. Öberg (eds.), Neuroendocrine Tumours:

Diagnosis and Management, DOI 10.1007/978-3-662-45215-8_9

to the higher sensitivity, better spatial resolution, and quantitative nature. Also the use of non-somatostatin receptor PET imaging may become increasingly important in the future, especially for therapy monitoring with early detection of nonresponders that may then be changed in therapy.

9.2 Somatostatin Receptors as Target for Imaging in NET

Most gastroenteropancreatic (GEP) and bronchopulmonary NETs, which are the focus of this chapter, overexpress somatostatin receptors and especially the subtype 2 receptor [3, 4]. Therefore, somatostatin receptor imaging is effective in diagnosing, staging, and restaging of NET. However, in vitro measurements have shown that the proportion of NETs that express somatostatin receptors varies with high proportion of approximately 90 % of carcinoids but only approximately 70 % of insulinomas [5]. However, since high-expressing NETs, e.g., carcinoids, are much more abundant than low-expressing NET types, e.g., insulinomas, the overall expression rate for NETs is close to 90 %. Overexpression of somatostatin analogues as well as PRRT with beta-emitting somatostatin receptor ligands, e.g., ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE and ⁹⁰Y-DOTATOC [6]. Due to this, somatostatin receptor imaging is also used for selecting patients suited for therapy and to monitor therapy response.

9.3 Gamma Camera Imaging of Somatostatin Receptors

Historically the first gamma camera imaging of somatostatin receptors in NET was performed more than 25 years ago using ¹²³I-labeled octreotide. However, soon thereafter ¹¹¹In-labeled octreotide using DTPA as a chelator was introduced and later commercialized as OctreoScan. The two initial studies using ¹¹¹In-DTPAoctreotide reported overall sensitivity on a patient-based level for carcinoids of 88 and 89 % and of 61 % in insulinomas [5, 7]. In line with this, a larger retrospective study of 104 patients from Vienna found sensitivity for detection of primary or recurrent carcinoid tumors to be 91 % [8]. However, a meta-analysis of 720 patients calculated a lower sensitivity of ¹¹¹In-DTPA-octreotide of 78 % (CI, 76-82 %) to detect abdominal carcinoids [9]. An explanation could be that many of the studies were not performed state of the art, using low dose of tracer and suboptimal imaging protocols. Specifically these early studies in general did not use SPECT or image fusion with computed tomography (CT). Addition of CT may improve the clinical value of the investigation [10]. Currently, the state-of-the-art imaging protocol is described in procedure guidelines of the European Association for Nuclear Medicine (EANM) [11] and recommends imaging at 4 and 24 h or 24 and 48 h. The latter is especially useful if intestinal focus is found after 24 h, and it is unclear whether this is due to intestinal excretion or a NET focus. In general, lesions seen at 4 h are also seen at 24 h so we do not perform 4 h imaging on a routine basis. Laxatives are generally recommended whereas there is no support of the necessity of pausing somatostatin analog treatment [11]. Also today SPECT should be performed at one time point, 24 h at our institution, and if available the investigation should ideally be performed as a SPECT/CT. Recently, we performed a larger prospective study of 96 consecutive NET patients using state-of-the-art SPECT/low-dose CT and planar images at 24 h as well as planar images after 48 h [12]. The overall sensitivity in this study for detection of primary tumor or metastases was 89 %. Sensitivity did not vary with origin of tumors, and sensitivities for ileal, pancreaticoduodenal, lung, and unknown origin were all between 86 and 91 %. Also we performed an analysis of sensitivity based on Ki67 grading. As expected, tumors with Ki67>15 % were only ¹¹¹In-DTPA-octreotide positive in 69 % of the cases, whereas tumors with Ki67 at or below 15 % were detected in 90 % of the cases indicating the more well-differentiated nature of the latter with somatostatin receptor expression.

A few larger studies have used other gamma camera tracers targeting somatostatin receptors, e.g., ^{99m}Tc-EDDA/HYNIC-Tyr³-octreotide [13, 14]. In general, these tracers did not perform better than ¹¹¹In-DTPA-octreotide, which is more widely available.

Taken together data support the key role of somatostatin receptor imaging with ¹¹¹In-DTPA-octreotide in staging of NETs. This tracer has served well for decades and still does in many areas of the world. In the USA it is currently the method of choice. However, somatostatin receptor imaging is now quickly moving into use of PET tracers.

9.4 PET or SPECT Imaging?

The field of nuclear medicine is increasingly moving into use of PET, and many tracers that served well for many years in gamma camera-based imaging and SPECT are substituted with new PET tracers visualizing the same characteristics. There are major advantages using PET-based imaging compared to SPECT-based imaging.

Firstly, the sensitivity of PET is at least 100-fold higher than that of SPECT allowing for better count statistics with less noise in images obtained at lower tracer doses. This in general translates into less radiation burden.

Secondly, the spatial resolution is typically two-fold better and around 4–5 mm for state-of-the-art PET scanners vs. 8–10 mm for SPECT scanners. However, it should be noted that spatial resolution does not refer to the minimal detectable lesion but whether foci can be discriminated from each other. Accordingly, a small, e.g., 2 mm, focus with high tracer accumulation can be detected but will be represented as a larger focus (blurred). However, due to the averaging of activity in the image, increasing amounts of activity are necessary for detection when spatial resolution drops.

Thirdly, due to the physics in PET, an accurate attenuation correction can be performed which leads to the ability to quantify tracer uptake in absolute terms. In contrast, uptake in SPECT has to be expressed in relative terms, e.g., relative to liver as used for somatostatin receptor imaging using the Krenning scale. With PET it is possible to follow absolute uptake over time, and typically the reproducibility allows for detection of changes of 10 % or more between two scans. This can be and is used for therapy response monitoring.

On the negative side PET scanners are still more expensive than SPECT scanners. However, if effectively utilized the scanner cost and depreciation is not the major cost driver for nuclear medicine investigations – major costs are personnel and radioactive tracers. Accordingly, PET scans often are less expensive than comparable SPECT imaging.

Another challenge in PET imaging is the necessity of a cyclotron and radiochemistry laboratories. However, recently generator-based PET isotopes have become available, most notably ⁶⁸Ga, thereby making production of PET isotopes possible without an expensive on-site cyclotron. Also, the use of PET isotopes with long half-lives, e.g., ⁶⁴Cu with 13 h half-life, has made it possible to centralize production of tracers for distribution to PET centers. In part, this is also possible, if logistics is in place, with ¹⁸F-labeled compounds, since ¹⁸F has a half-life of 110 min. Therefore, at present nuclear medicine departments may implement PET technology by installing PET scanners without the need of creating a whole PET center with cyclotrons and advanced radiochemistry facilities. This has lowered the entry barrier to perform PET scans considerably.

9.5 PET-Based Imaging of Somatostatin Receptors

9.5.1 ⁶⁸Ga-Labeled PET Tracers

Considering the obvious advantages of using PET for somatostatin receptor imaging and the convenience of ⁶⁸Ga labeling using a generator, several new PET tracers targeted toward the somatostatin receptor have recently been introduced. The majority is based on the same peptides as used for SPECT imaging, i.e., octreotide and octreotate using DOTA as the chelator. The affinity for the different subtypes of somatostatin receptors is dependent on radionuclide, chelator, and peptide. Discussion on which PET tracer is best includes the affinity for the somatostatin receptor subtype 2 as well as affinity for other somatostatin receptors, especially subtype 5. However, we have shown on a gene expression level that somatostatin 2 receptors are expressed to a much higher level on NETs than any other of the receptors [3], so we suggest that affinities toward the other 4 receptor subtypes are of limited interest. The three most commonly used ⁶⁸Ga-labeled somatostatin receptor PET tracers are ⁶⁸Ga-DOTATATE, ⁶⁸Ga-DOTATOC, and ⁶⁸Ga-DOTANOC. In Table 9.1 in vitro affinities of the different PET tracers toward the five somatostatin receptor subtypes as reported in the literature are summarized [15, 16]. ⁶⁸Ga-DOTATATE has a ten-fold higher affinity for the somatostatin 2 receptor and a very low affinity toward the somatostatin 5 receptor compared to the other two tracers. ⁶⁸Ga-DOTANOC has the highest affinity toward the somatostatin 5 receptor, which we believe is of minor importance in NETs. A difference between the three

| Name | SST ₁ | SST ₂ | SST ₃ | SST ₄ | SST ₅ |
|-------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|
| Ga-DOTATATE | >10,000 | 0.2 ± 0.04 | >10,000 | 300 ± 140 | 377±18 |
| Ga-DOTATOC | >10,000 | 2.5 ± 0.5 | 613 ± 140 | >1,000 | 73±21 |
| Ga-DOTANOC | >10,000 | 1.9 ± 0.4 | 40 ± 5.8 | 260 ± 74 | 7.2±1.6 |

Table 9.1 In vitro binding affinities (IC50 in nM±SEM) of chelated somatostatin analogues

Data from Refs. [15, 16]

SST somatostatin receptor, *Ga-DOTATATE* Ga-DOTA-tyr³-octreotate, *Ga-DOTATOC* Ga-DOTA-tyr³-octreotide, *Ga-DOTANOC* Ga-DOTA-l-Nal³-octreotide

tracers in normal tissue distribution could lead to differences in tumor-to-background ratios and thereby easiness to detect lesions. However, for most organs the tumor-to-background ratios are comparable [4].

Performance of the three ⁶⁸Ga-based PET tracers has recently been reviewed [17]. For ⁶⁸Ga-DOTATATE, sensitivity on a patient basis was reported to be 72–96 % in 6 smaller studies including between 18 and 38 patients (total of 144 patients) [18–22]. The study with the median sensitivity reported 93 % (CI, 70–99 %; 20 patients) [21]. For ⁶⁸Ga-DOTATOC, sensitivity on a patient basis was found to be 92–100 % in 6 small- or medium-sized studies including between 8 and 84 patients (total of 211 patients) [23–28]. The largest study with 84 patients reported a sensitivity of 97 % (CI, 90–100 %) [26]. Finally, for ⁶⁸Ga-DOTANOC, patient-based sensitivity was reported to be 68–100 % from 9 studies including 11–1,239 patients (total of 1,677 patients) [21, 22, 29–34]. The study with 1,239 patients reported a sensitivity of 92 % (CI, 90–94 %) [34].

Taking into consideration that the number of patients as well as the composition of the groups evaluated with the different ⁶⁸Ga-based tracers varied, it seems fair to conclude that no major differences have been documented especially since the populations studied varied between the investigations. So far, only three studies have compared these tracers pair-wise on a head-to-head basis [21, 22, 35]. In all these studies, comparisons were undertaken lesion based rather than patients based since only minor differences were expected and since the superiority of one tracer could be ability to detect more lesions. Two studies compared ⁶⁸Ga-DOTATATE with ⁶⁸Ga-DOTANOC [21, 22], and one compared ⁶⁸Ga-DOTATATE with ⁶⁸Ga-DOTATOC [35]. Although minor differences were reported, many were nonsignificant on a patient basis, and considering clinical relevance in our view, there were no major differences favoring use of one of these three tracers. Local availability, experience, and wish to theranostic pairing, e.g., use of ⁶⁸Ga-DOTATATE before ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE is to be used for PRRT, may decide which tracer to use. Absolute uptake of tracer between the tracers did vary although not systematically. Therefore, if comparing absolute values as SUV longitudinally, e.g., in therapy response monitoring, the same tracer has to be used.

Recently, another ⁶⁸Ga-labeled PET somatostatin receptor PET tracer, ⁶⁸Ga-DOTA-lantreotide (⁶⁸Ga-DOTALAN), was introduced mainly as a companion diagnostic for ⁹⁰Y-labeled lanreotide. Two studies compared ⁶⁸Ga-DOTALAN on a head-to-head basis with ⁶⁸Ga-DOTATOC [36] and ⁶⁸Ga-DOTATATE [37], respectively. Both studies found substantially less lesions visualized with ⁶⁸Ga-DOTALAN, questioning the usefulness of this tracer as a stand-alone imaging agent but not necessarily as a companion diagnostics.

9.5.2 ⁶⁴Cu-DOTATATE

Recently we introduced the somatostatin receptor PET tracer ⁶⁴Cu-DOTATATE for human use [38]. Theoretical advantages compared to ⁶⁸Ga-labeled tracers include the longer half-life of ⁶⁴Cu (13 h) compared to ⁶⁸Ga (68 min) allowing for delayed imaging for up to 24 h. Indeed, we showed that imaging after 3 h rather than 1 h with ⁶⁴Cu-DOTATATE seems optimal since most kidney activity is then cleared. Imaging with ⁶⁸Ga-tracers at 3 h would not be possible due to the short half-life. Also, the positron range, which is the distance a positron travels from emission until it is annihilated and sends out two photons, differs between the radionuclides. Since the PET scanner detects the coincident photons and not where the emission took place, which is really what should be visualized, the image is off focus (blurred). For ⁶⁴Cu the average positron range is only 1 mm whereas it is 4 mm for ⁶⁸Ga. This translates into better resolution and potentially better detection of small foci using 64 Cu as radionuclide. Finally, the long half-life and a shelf life of >24 h of ⁶⁴Cu-DOTATATE allow us to produce the tracer and distribute it if wanted. Finally, logistically ⁶⁸Ga needs a radiochemist to be on standby, as doses need to be produced in close relation to when needed. In contrast, ⁶⁴Cu-DOTATATE is produced as one batch for use throughout the day and the next morning.

In our first-in-human study of 14 patients where we performed a head-to-head comparison with ¹¹¹In-DTPA-octreotide [38], in 6 of these 14 patients, additional lesions were found using ⁶⁴Cu-DOTATATE compared to ¹¹¹In-DTPA-octreotide, and in 5 patients these were in organ systems not previously known as metastatic sites. After 18 months of follow-up, all additional lesions seen on PET could be confirmed as true positive. Based on the first 100 prospectively enrolled patients, we found a sensitivity of 91 % for ⁶⁴Cu-DOTATATE. In 35 cases PET identified pathological foci in organs not identified with ¹¹¹In-DTPA-octreotide. Of these, 31 were later confirmed to be true-positive lesions [39]. Taken together ⁶⁴Cu-DOTATATE seems promising for clinical use. Currently, we are undertaking head-to-head comparison of ⁶⁴Cu-DOTATATE with ⁶⁸Ga-DOTATOC. Data are not yet available, but based on image quality better resolution as reflected by degree of detail is found using ⁶⁴Cu-DOTATATE (Fig. 9.1).

9.6 Catecholaminergic and Serotonergic Pathways for Imaging of NETs

Neuroendocrine tumors have the ability for uptake of amine precursors by the *L*-type large neutral amino acid transport system (LAT) transporter and through further metabolism including decarboxylation to form catecholamines and serotonin.



Fig. 9.1 Imaging of same NET liver lesions with ⁶⁴Cu-DOTATATE and ⁶⁸Ga-DOTATOC. Please note the greater detail in ⁶⁴Cu-DOTATATE images, probably due to difference in positron range of ⁶⁴Cu and ⁶⁸Ga as well as the lower uptake in spleen (Reproduced with permission from Ref. [17])

9.6.1 ¹⁸F-DOPA

The PET tracer and dopamine precursor ¹⁸F-L-dihydroxyphenylalanine (¹⁸F-DOPA) is taken up by neuroendocrine tumor cells by LAT, transported into the cytoplasm, and metabolized (decarboxylated) to dopamine, which is then transported into secretory vesicles by the vesicular monoamine transporter (VMAT). In the secretory vesicles dopamine is further metabolized to noradrenaline and adrenaline.

Early studies showed promising results for ¹⁸F-DOPA in GEP and bronchopulmonary NETs with sensitivities on a patient basis ranging from 65 to 96 % based on four studies with a total of 116 patients (meta-analysis sensitivity, 87 %; CI, 80–93 %) [9]. Even higher sensitivities were found for pheochromocytomas and paraganglioma that are, however, not the focus of this chapter. Performance in abdominal NETs was in general superior when compared to gamma camera-based somatostatin receptor scintigraphy. However, since PET-based somatostatin receptor imaging is superior as well, the question arises whether ¹⁸F-DOPA is better and valuable compared to the ⁶⁸Ga-labeled somatostatin receptor PET tracers. Two studies with a total of 28 patients compared on a head-to-head basis ¹⁸F-DOPA with ⁶⁸Ga-DOTANOC or ⁶⁸Ga-DOTATOC, respectively. In both studies ⁶⁸Ga-DOTANOC or ⁶⁸Ga-DOTATOC visualized considerably more lesions than ¹⁸F-DOPA even in pheochromocytomas [29, 40]. One study with 25 patients compared ¹⁸F-DOPA with ⁶⁸Ga-DOTATATE, and also here it was found that ⁶⁸Ga-DOTATATE had a much higher sensitivity [20].

Taken together, although ¹⁸F-DOPA performs pretty well in GEP and bronchopulmonary NETs, when compared with modern PET tracers targeting somatostatin receptors, they are inferior. In general, it therefore seems that this tracer is not necessary for routine use if somatostatin receptor scintigraphy is performed by PET although we cannot rule out that in selected, difficult cases it may be of some value.

9.6.2 ^{123/131}I-MIBG

A reuptake mechanism exists at the catecholaminergic terminals for noradrenaline. This reuptake mechanism can be visualized using the false neurotransmitter metaiodobenzylguanidine (MIBG) which is also a substrate for the reuptake mechanism. MIBG can be labeled with radioiodine and is most commonly used for SPECT as ¹²³I-MIBG or ¹³¹I-MIBG, where the latter may also be used for therapy due to concomitant beta-emission.

For imaging of GEP and bronchopulmonary NETs, the sensitivity of ^{123/131}I-MIBG gamma camera imaging is somewhat disappointing based on two studies with a total of 125 patients: 63 % (CI, 54-72 %) [9]. For pheochromocytomas, neuroblastomas, and paragangliomas, the same meta-analysis found sensitivities of 79 % (9 studies; n = 161; CI, 68–82 %), 84 % (5 studies; n = 204; CI, 79–89 %), and 69 % (4 studies; n=87; CI, 58–78 %), respectively. Again, the question arises whether ^{123/131}I-MIBG imaging has any role when somatostatin receptor imaging and FDG-PET are available. In a recent prospective study, we therefore performed ¹¹¹In-DTPA-octreotide SPECT, ¹²³I-MIBG, and FDG-PET for head-to-head comparison in a total of 96 consecutive patients [12]. We found an overall sensitivity on a patient basis of 52 %, and ¹¹¹In-DTPA-octreotide detected more than twice the number of lesions compared to ¹²³I-MIBG. Of the 96 patients, 3 were ¹²³I-MIBG positive and ¹¹¹In-DTPA-octreotide negative. However, all of these were also FDG-PET positive. Accordingly, when somatostatin receptor scintigraphy and FDG-PET are available, we found no additional value of ¹²³I-MIBG. Therefore, we doubt that there is any future role of ¹²³I-MIBG imaging in NETs apart from companion diagnostics if ¹³¹I-MIBG treatment is planned. For this reason, we do no longer offer ¹²³I-MIBG as a routine method for NET at our department.

9.6.3 ¹¹C-5-HTP

The PET tracer and serotonin precursor ¹¹C-5-hyroxytryptophan (¹¹C-5-HTP) is transported into the neuroendocrine tumor cells via LAT, decarboxylated to serotonin, and transported into secretory vesicles by VMAT.

The PET tracer is labeled with ¹¹C, which has a half-life of 20 min. This demands an on-site cyclotron, and that synthesis is made in close relation to the scan. Accordingly, the capacity of ¹¹C-5-HTP PET scans is limited and only available in few centers. Maybe for this reason, also data on performance is somewhat limited. A total of 54 patients were studied in three different investigations [41-43], and when data were pooled a sensitivity of 87 % (CI, 75-95 %) was found [9]. One of these studies compared the performance with ¹⁸F-DOPA and ¹¹¹In-DTPA-octreotide and found ¹⁸F-DOPA best for staging in carcinoids (n = 24), whereas ¹¹C-5-HTP was best in pancreatic islet cell tumors (n=23) [43]. In another study with 42 consecutive NET patients in comparison with ¹¹¹In-DTPA-octreotide, ¹¹C-5-HTP found more lesions in 58 % of patients, and it was concluded that ¹¹C-5-HTP could be used as a universal imaging method for detection of NETs [42]. However, no other PETbased imaging was included in this study, and the superiority found was probably largely due to difference between SPECT and PET performance. Moreover, no studies until now have compared ¹¹C-5-HTP with PET-based somatostatin receptor scintigraphy and FDG-PET. Accordingly, at present it is unsettled whether ¹¹C-5-HTP would be the method of choice in unclear NET cases. One could speculate if combined somatostatin receptor PET and FDG-PET would not solve most of such cases in an easier way?

9.7 ¹⁸F-FDG

¹⁸F-2-deoxy-D-glucose (FDG) is a glucose analogue transported into the cells by means of GLUT transporters, in cancer mainly GLUT-1. In the cell, FDG is phosphorylated by hexokinases, and once phosphorylated it is not further metabolized and therefore metabolically trapped in the cell. In this way FDG accumulates to a degree reflecting the glycolytic activity of cancer cells. It should be noted that it visualizes aerobic glycolysis seen in cancer cells, also known as the Warburg effect, indirectly due to the increased glucose uptake. A high uptake of glucose for oxidative phosphorylation, e.g., in the muscles, will also accumulate high amounts of FDG. For comprehensive visualization of the Warburg effect we recently developed the new imaging concept of hyperPET using a hybrid PET/MR scanner [44].

The sensitivity for detection of NETs is rather low for FDG. We found in a prospective study of 98 consecutive NET patients a sensitivity of 58 % [12]. However, the sensitivity depended largely on proliferation index, and accordingly we found the sensitivity to be 41 % for NETs with Ki67 <2 % but 92 % for Ki67 at or above 15 %. Since most somatostatin receptor-negative tumors have high proliferation index, FDG-PET may be of value in these tumors. In support of this, we found that of the 11 out of 96 ¹¹¹In-DTPA-octreotide-negative patients, 7 were FDG-PET positive. Therefore, we suggest that FDG-PET could be used in these somatostatin receptor imaging-negative cases. However, the main application may not lie in diagnosing and staging of NETs but in the strong prognostic value of FDG-PET. In line with this, we found that FDG-PET positivity was a stronger prognostic marker than Ki67, presence of liver metastases, and chromogranin A levels [45]. Since aggressiveness of NETs is a major determinant for selection of therapy [6], one could speculate whether FDG uptake could serve as a relevant grouping parameter alone or in addition to proliferation index. Also FDG-PET, as with other cancer forms, may be used as an early indicator for detection of response or failure to therapy in NET patients.

Conclusion

Somatostatin receptor imaging targeting the subtype 2 receptor is a key in the diagnostic workup and staging in NET patients. Recently especially 3 PET-based tracers, ⁶⁸Ga-DOTATATE, ⁶⁸Ga-DOTATOC, and ⁶⁸Ga-DOTANOC, were introduced for clinical use. They all perform better than SPECT tracers and whenever possible should be preferred. Comparison between the 3 PET tracers has not shown any clear differences, and choice is at the discretion of the users. FDG-PET may be used for somatostatin receptor PET-negative cases and for prognostication potentially to be used in selecting therapy strategy. With the abovementioned PET tracers available, the need for ¹²³I-MIBG, ¹⁸F-DOPA, and ¹¹C-5-HTP seems less obvious.

References

- 1. Kjaer A (2006) Molecular imaging of cancer using PET and SPECT. Adv Exp Med Biol 587:277-284
- Hamilton SR, Aaltonen LA, World Health Organization (2000) Pathology and genetics. Tumours of the digestive system, WHO classification of tumors. IARC, Lyon
- Binderup T, Knigge U, Mellon Mogensen A et al (2008) Quantitative gene expression of somatostatin receptors and noradrenaline transporter underlying scintigraphic results in patients with neuroendocrine tumors. Neuroendocrinology 87:223–232
- Reubi JC, Waser B, Schaer JC, Laissue JA (2001) Somatostatin receptor sst1-sst5 expression in normal and neoplastic human tissues using receptor autoradiography with subtype-selective ligands. Eur J Nucl Med 28:836–846
- Krenning EP, Kwekkeboom DJ, Bakker WH et al (1993) Somatostatin receptor scintigraphy with [111In-DTPA-D-Phe1]- and [123I-Tyr3]-octreotide: the Rotterdam experience with more than 1000 patients. Eur J Nucl Med 20:716–731
- Öberg K, Knigge U, Kwekkeboom D, Perren A (2012) Neuroendocrine gastro-enteropancreatic tumors: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol 23(Suppl 7):vii124–30
- Jamar F, Fiasse R, Leners N, Pauwels S (1995) Somatostatin receptor imaging with indium-111-pentetreotide in gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors: safety, efficacy and impact on patient management. J Nucl Med 36:542–549
- Raderer M, Kurtaran A, Leimer M et al (2000) Value of peptide receptor scintigraphy using (123)I-vasoactive intestinal peptide and (111)In-DTPA-D-Phe1-octreotide in 194 carcinoid patients: Vienna University Experience, 1993 to 1998. J Clin Oncol 18:1331–1336
- 9. Koopmans KP, Neels ON, Kema IP et al (2009) Molecular imaging in neuroendocrine tumors: molecular uptake mechanisms and clinical results. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 71:199–213
- Lu S-J, Gnanasegaran G, Buscombe J, Navalkissoor S (2013) Single photon emission computed tomography/computed tomography in the evaluation of neuroendocrine tumours: a review of the literature. Nucl Med Commun 34:98–107
- Bombardieri E, Ambrosini V, Aktolun C et al (2010) 1111n-pentetreotide scintigraphy: procedure guidelines for tumour imaging. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 37:1441–1448
- Binderup T, Knigge U, Loft A et al (2010) Functional imaging of neuroendocrine tumors: a head-to-head comparison of somatostatin receptor scintigraphy, 123I-MIBG scintigraphy, and 18F-FDG PET. J Nucl Med 51:704–712
- Gabriel M, Muehllechner P, Decristoforo C et al (2005) 99mTc-EDDA/HYNIC-Tyr(3)octreotide for staging and follow-up of patients with neuroendocrine gastro-entero-pancreatic tumors. Q J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 49:237–244

- 14. Hubalewska-Dydejczyk A, Fröss-Baron K, Mikołajczak R et al (2006) 99mTc-EDDA/ HYNIC-octreotate scintigraphy, an efficient method for the detection and staging of carcinoid tumours: results of 3 years' experience. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 33:1123–1133
- Reubi JC, Schär JC, Waser B et al (2000) Affinity profiles for human somatostatin receptor subtypes SST1-SST5 of somatostatin radiotracers selected for scintigraphic and radiotherapeutic use. Eur J Nucl Med 27:273–282
- Antunes P, Ginj M, Zhang H et al (2007) Are radiogallium-labelled DOTA-conjugated somatostatin analogues superior to those labelled with other radiometals? Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 34:982–993
- Johnbeck CB, Knigge U, Kjaer A (2014) Somatostatin receptor imaging with PET tracers of neuroendocrine tumors: current status and review of the literature. Future Oncol 10:2259–2277
- Kayani I, Bomanji JB, Groves A et al (2008) Functional imaging of neuroendocrine tumors with combined PET/CT using 68Ga-DOTATATE (DOTA-DPhe1, Tyr3-octreotate) and 18F-FDG. Cancer 112:2447–2455
- 19. Kayani I, Conry BG, Groves AM et al (2009) A comparison of 68Ga-DOTATATE and 18F-FDG PET/CT in pulmonary neuroendocrine tumors. J Nucl Med 50:1927–1932
- 20. Haug A, Auernhammer CJ, Wängler B et al (2009) Intraindividual comparison of 68Ga-DOTA-TATE and 18F-DOPA PET in patients with well-differentiated metastatic neuroendocrine tumours. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 36:765–770
- 21. Kabasakal L, Demirci E, Ocak M et al (2012) Comparison of ⁶⁸Ga-DOTATATE and ⁶⁸Ga-DOTANOC PET/CT imaging in the same patient group with neuroendocrine tumours. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 39:1271–1277
- 22. Wild D, Bomanji JB, Benkert P et al (2013) Comparison of 68Ga-DOTANOC and 68Ga-DOTATATE PET/CT within patients with gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. J Nucl Med 54:364–372
- 23. Hofmann M, Maecke H, Börner R, Weckesser E, Schöffski P, Oei L, Schumacher J, Henze M, Heppeler A, Meyer J, Knapp H (2001) Biokinetics and imaging with the somatostatin receptor PET radioligand (68)Ga-DOTATOC: preliminary data. Eur J Nucl Med 28:1751–1757
- 24. Koukouraki S, Strauss LG, Georgoulias V et al (2006) Evaluation of the pharmacokinetics of 68Ga-DOTATOC in patients with metastatic neuroendocrine tumours scheduled for 90Y-DOTATOC therapy. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 33:460–466
- 25. Buchmann I, Henze M, Engelbrecht S et al (2007) Comparison of 68Ga-DOTATOC PET and 111In-DTPAOC (Octreoscan) SPECT in patients with neuroendocrine tumours. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 34:1617–1626
- 26. Gabriel M, Decristoforo C, Kendler D et al (2007) 68Ga-DOTA-Tyr3-octreotide PET in neuroendocrine tumors: comparison with somatostatin receptor scintigraphy and CT. J Nucl Med 48:508–518
- Putzer D, Gabriel M, Henninger B et al (2009) Bone metastases in patients with neuroendocrine tumor: 68Ga-DOTA-Tyr3-octreotide PET in comparison to CT and bone scintigraphy. J Nucl Med 50:1214–1221
- Versari A, Camellini L, Carlinfante G, Frasoldati A, Nicoli F, Grassi E, Gallo C, Giunta FP, Fraternali A, Salvo D, Asti M, Azzolini F, Iori V, Sassatelli R (2010) Ga-68 DOTATOC PET, endoscopic ultrasonography, and multidetector CT in the diagnosis of duodenopancreatic neuroendocrine tumors: a single-centre retrospective study. Clin Nucl Med 35:321–328
- 29. Ambrosini V, Tomassetti P, Castellucci P et al (2008) Comparison between 68Ga-DOTA-NOC and 18F-DOPA PET for the detection of gastro-entero-pancreatic and lung neuro-endocrine tumours. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 35:1431–1438
- 30. Ambrosini V, Castellucci P, Rubello D, Nanni C, Musto A, Allegri V, Montini GC, Mattioli S, Grassetto G, Al-Nahhas A, Franchi R, Fanti S (2009) 68Ga-DOTA-NOC: a new PET tracer for evaluating patients with bronchial carcinoid. Nucl Med Commun 30:281–286

- 31. Naswa N, Sharma P, Kumar A, Nazar AH, Kumar R, Chumber S, Bal C (2011) Gallium-68-DOTA-NOC PET/CT of patients with gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors: a prospective single-center study. AJR Am J Roentgenol 197:1221–1228
- 32. Krausz Y, Freedman N, Rubinstein R et al (2011) 68Ga-DOTA-NOC PET/CT imaging of neuroendocrine tumors: comparison with ¹¹¹In-DTPA-octreotide (OctreoScan®). Mol Imaging Biol 13:583–593
- 33. Naswa N, Sharma P, Soundararajan R, Karunanithi S, Nazar AH, Kumar R, Malhotra A, Bal C (2013) Diagnostic performance of somatostatin receptor PET/CT using 68Ga-DOTANOC in gastrinoma patients with negative or equivocal CT findings. Abdom Imaging 38:552–560
- Ambrosini V, Campana D, Tomassetti P, Fanti S (2012) ⁶⁸Ga-labelled peptides for diagnosis of gastroenteropancreatic NET. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 39(Suppl 1):S52–S60
- 35. Poeppel TD, Binse I, Petersenn S et al (2011) 68Ga-DOTATOC versus 68Ga-DOTATATE PET/CT in functional imaging of neuroendocrine tumors. J Nucl Med 52:1864–1870
- Putzer D, Kroiss A, Waitz D et al (2013) Somatostatin receptor PET in neuroendocrine tumours: 68Ga-DOTA0, Tyr3-octreotide versus 68Ga-DOTA0-lanreotide. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 40:364–372
- 37. Demirci E, Ocak M, Kabasakal L et al (2013) Comparison of Ga-68 DOTA-TATE and Ga-68 DOTA-LAN PET/CT imaging in the same patient group with neuroendocrine tumours: preliminary results. Nucl Med Commun 34:727–732
- Pfeifer A, Knigge U, Mortensen J et al (2012) Clinical PET of neuroendocrine tumors using 64Cu-DOTATATE: first-in-humans study. J Nucl Med 53:1207–1215
- Pfeifer A, Johnbeck CB, Knigge U et al (2013) Clinical PET imaging of neuroendocrine tumors using 64Cu-DOTA-Tyr3-octreotate. J Nucl Med 54:1854
- Putzer D, Gabriel M, Kendler D et al (2010) Comparison of (68)Ga-DOTA-Tyr(3)-octreotide and (18)F-fluoro-L-dihydroxyphenylalanine positron emission tomography in neuroendocrine tumor patients. Q J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 54:68–75
- Orlefors H, Sundin A, Ahlström H et al (1998) Positron emission tomography with 5-hydroxytryprophan in neuroendocrine tumors. J Clin Oncol 16:2534–2541
- 42. Orlefors H, Sundin A, Garske U et al (2005) Whole-body (11)C-5-hydroxytryptophan positron emission tomography as a universal imaging technique for neuroendocrine tumors: comparison with somatostatin receptor scintigraphy and computed tomography. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 90:3392–3400
- Koopmans KP, Neels OC, Kema IP et al (2008) Improved staging of patients with carcinoid and islet cell tumors with 18F-dihydroxy-phenyl-alanine and 11C-5-hydroxy-tryptophan positron emission tomography. J Clin Oncol 26:1489–1495
- 44. Gutte H, Hansen AE, Henriksen ST, Johannesen HH et al (2015) Simultaneous hyperpolarized 13C-pyruvate MRI and 18F-FDG-PET in cancer (hyperPET): feasibility of a new imaging concept using a clinical PET/MRI scanner. Am J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 5:38–45
- Binderup T, Knigge U, Loft A et al (2010) 18F-fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography predicts survival of patients with neuroendocrine tumors. Clin Cancer Res 16:978–985
Neuroendocrine Tumors of the Lung

10

Dan Granberg

10.1 Introduction

Lung neuroendocrine tumors, which belong to the foregut group of neuroendocrine tumors, have traditionally been divided into typical and atypical carcinoids [1], large-cell neuroendocrine carcinomas (LCNEC) and small-cell lung carcinomas (SCLC), but several other classifications have subsequently been proposed [2-5]. A new WHO classification was introduced in 1999 [6] based on the work by Travis et al. [7]. This classification was revised in 2004 and apart from the grading also includes a staging system. Typical carcinoids contain fewer than 2 mitoses per 2 mm² and lack necroses, while atypical carcinoids have 2-10 mitoses per 2 mm² and/or necroses. Large-cell neuroendocrine carcinomas and small-cell lung carcinomas have more than 10 mitoses per 2 mm². Areas of necroses are common [8]. Typical carcinoids are usually considered as fairly benign tumors, while atypical carcinoids have a considerable malignant potential, and LCNEC and SCLC are highly malignant. Recently, a new grading system has been proposed for lung neuroendocrine tumors, based on the frequency of mitoses, proliferative rate (Ki67), and presence/absence of necroses [9]. In addition, two other conditions, lung carcinoid tumorlets and diffuse idiopathic neuroendocrine cell hyperplasia (DIPNECH), have been recognized. The most common neuroendocrine tumor in the lung is SCLC (20 %) followed by LCNEC (3 %), typical carcinoid (2 %), and atypical carcinoid (0.2 %). This chapter provides an overview of clinical features, diagnosis, and a framework of the currently available therapeutic measures for neuroendocrine tumors of the lung.

Department of Medical Sciences, Uppsala University,

D. Granberg, MD, PhD

Division of Endocrine Oncology, University Hospital, SE-751 85 Uppsala, Sweden e-mail: dan.granberg@medsci.uu.se

[©] Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

S. Yalcin, K. Öberg (eds.), Neuroendocrine Tumours:

Diagnosis and Management, DOI 10.1007/978-3-662-45215-8_10

10.2 Carcinoid Tumorlets and Neuroendocrine Cell Hyperplasia

Neuroendocrine cell hyperplasia refers to the hyperplasia of neuroendocrine cells in the airways. The cells may be arranged as scattered single cells, clusters, or linear arrays but are confined to the basement membrane. In contrast, the cells in tumorlets extend beyond the respiratory epithelial basement membrane [8]. Tumorlets are morphologically identical to typical carcinoids but have a maximum size of 5 mm. Neuroendocrine cell hyperplasia may be reactive and found in patients living at high altitudes, in heavy smokers, or in chronic lung diseases such as bronchiectasis or fibrosis. When there is hyperplasia of neuroendocrine cells without predisposing conditions, it is called DIPNECH. Symptoms of DIPNECH include cough, dyspnea, and wheezing. The condition is usually found in middle-age women. Both tumorlets and DIPNECH may be found in patients with lung carcinoids. The preferable treatment of patients with DIPNECH is not well known, but possible alternatives include bronchodilators, inhaled corticosteroids, surgical excision of the dominant lesion, and somatostatin analogues. In about half of the patients, DIPNECH is stable, and in another half, it progresses. Somatostatin analogues have been effective in stabilizing the condition. Metastatic disease has been described [10, 11].

10.3 Lung Carcinoids

10.3.1 Epidemiology and Etiology

Lung carcinoids are rare tumors, although the incidence has increased during the last decades. The reason for this is not known. The incidence is about 0.7/100,000 in Caucasians and 0.5/100,000 in black people. The disease is slightly more common in women than in men [12]. The disease is most frequent in middle ages but occurs in all ages, even in children. Carcinoid is the most common respiratory tumor in children and adolescents. The etiology is unknown, except that patients with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 have a higher risk. Smoking is not a proven risk factor.

10.3.2 Pathology

10.3.2.1 Macroscopic Findings

Lung carcinoids may be located centrally (60–84 %) in the main or lobar bronchi or peripherally. Central carcinoids may be seen at bronchoscopy as a polypoid, highly vascular, cherry-red, white-yellow, or brownish-yellow endobronchial tumor (Fig. 10.1). The tumor often infiltrates the surrounding lung parenchyma. Peripheral carcinoids, which are located in segmental bronchi or more distally, are not accessible by bronchoscopy. They may be multiple and surrounded by small satellite



Fig. 10.1 Bronchoscopic visualization of intrabronchial typical carcinoid

lesions, tumorlets. Typical carcinoids may be located anywhere in the lungs, while atypical carcinoids are more often peripheral.

10.3.2.2 Histopathology and Immunohistochemistry

Typical carcinoids are characterized by organoid, trabecular, insular, palisading, ribbon, or rosette-like growth patterns separated by a fibrovascular stroma. The tumor cells are small and polyhedral with small, round, or oval nuclei and eosinophilic, finely granular cytoplasm. Mitoses are rare or absent, and the proliferative rate is usually low. Atypical carcinoids are characterized by nuclear pleomorphism, hyperchromatism, abnormal nuclear-to-cytoplasmic ratio, prominent nucleoli, and areas of increased cellularity with disorganized architecture. Mitoses are more frequent, and necroses may be found (Fig. 10.2a–c). At electron microscopy, typical carcinoids have abundant membrane-bound secretory granules, while atypical carcinoids have fewer granules, distributed in the cytoplasm [13].

Lung carcinoids are epithelial in origin and stain positive for cytokeratin. Most of the tumors also stain positive for the neuroendocrine markers chromogranin A (Fig. 10.2d), synaptophysin, and neuron-specific enolase. In addition, positive immunohistochemistry for various hormones, including serotonin, gastrin-releasing peptide (mammalian bombesin), pancreatic polypeptide, gastrin, human chorionic gonadotropin alpha subunit, leucine enkephalin, VIP, somatostatin, calcitonin, ACTH, and growth-hormone-releasing hormone is found in a majority of tumors. Positive staining for multiple hormones is not uncommon [13, 14]. Expression of S-100 protein may occur, usually in peripheral tumors [15, 16]. The standard (hematopoietic) form of the adhesion molecule CD44 (CD44s) is usually expressed in lung carcinoids and may be used for prognostic evaluation in typical carcinoids



Fig. 10.2 (a) Typical lung carcinoid. Hematoxylin-eosin stain. Magnification, $\times 200$. (b) Typical lung carcinoid. Ki67 stain, low proliferation. Magnification, $\times 400$. (c) Atypical lung carcinoid. Hematoxylin-eosin stain. Magnification, $\times 200$. (d) Typical lung carcinoid. Chromogranin A stain, strong positive. Magnification, $\times 200$

[17]. Positive staining for the retinoblastoma gene protein is also common in typical carcinoids [18, 19]. The oncoproteins *p53* and *bcl-2*, however, are usually negative in typical carcinoids but more frequently positive in atypical carcinoids [20, 21]. Thyroid transcription factor-1 (TTF-1) is positive in 28–69 % of lung carcinoids [22, 23] and may help to differentiate a primary lung carcinoid from a metastasis from a neuroendocrine tumor originating elsewhere.

10.3.3 Genetic Alterations

Deletions in the *MEN1* locus at 11q are common in both typical and atypical carcinoids [24]. Homozygous somatic inactivation of the *MEN1* gene is detected in 36 % of sporadic lung carcinoids [25]. Atypical carcinoids frequently have deletions in 10q or 13q [24]. Aneuploidy has been reported in 5–32 % of typical carcinoids and 17–79 % of atypical carcinoids [4, 26–28].

10.3.4 Clinical Presentation

A substantial number of patients (13–51 %) are asymptomatic, and the tumor is diagnosed incidentally on routine chest X-ray or CT scan. Common symptoms on presentation include cough, hemoptysis, wheezing, recurrent pneumonias with or without persisting lung infiltrate on chest X-ray, dyspnea, and chest pain [14, 29–31]. Some patients may have several years' delay in the correct diagnosis due to misdiagnosis as asthma. Like other neuroendocrine tumors, lung carcinoids may secrete hormones. Endocrine symptoms are however rare. Despite serotonin immunoreactivity is present in up to 84 % of the tumors, the classical carcinoid syndrome with flush, diarrhea, bronchoconstriction, right-sided valvular heart disease, and elevated urinary 5-hydroxyindolacetic acid is seen in only about 2-12 % of the patients, usually when liver metastases are present [32–34]. This low frequency may in part be due to the high pulmonary content of monoamine oxidase, which metabolizes serotonin, but also to the fact that most lung carcinoids do not give rise to distant metastases. An atypical carcinoid syndrome with generalized flushing, edema, lacrimation, asthma, and diarrhea may occasionally be seen. This syndrome, which must not be confused with atypical carcinoids, is caused by secretion of histamine. An ectopic Cushing's syndrome, caused by production of adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) or corticotropin-releasing factor, may be seen in 2-6 % of patients with lung carcinoids. These tumors are often small and difficult to detect with conventional radiologic imaging. Acromegaly, caused by secretion of growth-hormone-releasing hormone, is infrequent [35, 36].

Typical carcinoids metastasize in 5-20 % of patients, while up to 70 % of patients with atypical carcinoids develop metastases. Metastases most frequently occur in regional lymph nodes but also distantly to the liver, bones, brain, subcutaneous



Fig. 10.3 (a) CT scan showing a carcinoid in the right lung. (b) PET with ⁶⁸Ga-DOTATATE showing a carcinoid in the right lung. (c) PET with ¹¹C-5-HTP showing a right hilar lymph node metastasis from a typical carcinoid in the right lung, 9 years after primary surgery

tissue, mammary glands, eyes, and adrenals [1, 32, 37, 38]. Metastases may occur late, up to 30 years after surgery for the primary tumor.

10.3.5 Diagnosis

In more than 60 % of the patients, the tumor is visible on chest X-ray. Peripheral tumors are seen as round or oval nodules. Patients with central tumors may have signs of bronchial obstruction and have peripheral atelectasis or pneumonic infiltrates which may be persistent. Computerized tomography (CT) scan (Fig. 10.3a) is more sensitive than chest X-ray and should always be performed in order to identify enlarged lymph nodes, delineate tumor growth, and detect satellite lesions (tumorlets). Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) may be an alternative to CT scan but is less sensitive in detecting small intrapulmonary lesions.

About 70 % of lung carcinoids express somatostatin receptors and are demonstrable on Octreoscan (scintigraphy with ¹¹¹In-octreotide) [39]. Positron emission tomography (PET) with ⁶⁸Ga-DOTATCOC or ⁶⁸Ga-DOTATATE (Fig. 10.3b) is a newer, more sensitive method to detect somatostatin receptor-positive neuroendocrine tumors. ⁶⁸Ga-PET or Octreoscan should always be performed preoperatively for staging of the disease and clarify whether these methods may be used for postoperative follow-up to detect recurrence or metastases. Patients with Cushing's syndrome often have small tumors, which are difficult to detect on CT scan. Up to 12 years delay has been described in localizing the tumor [40]. In these patients, PET with ⁶⁸Ga or Octreoscan is especially useful to obtain the correct diagnosis. An alternative is PET with ¹¹C-5-HTP (Fig. 10.3c), which is a sensitive tool for detection of neuroendocrine tumors [41]. The value of PET with ¹⁸F-fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG) is controversial. Some authors claim that it is of limited value in detecting lung carcinoids, since these tumors often display lower uptake than expected for malignant tumors [42, 43], while others have found this method useful in patients with both typical and atypical carcinoids [44].

Central tumors are accessible via bronchoscopy (Fig. 10.1), which is performed in most patients. Since the tumor is often covered by a layer of normal mucosa, brushing or sputum cytology is frequently negative. To obtain a preoperative diagnosis, it is thus important to take biopsies, despite the risk of bleeding. It is generally safe to take biopsies, both through a flexible and a rigid bronchoscope [45]. Peripheral tumors may be reached by transthoracic CT-guided core-needle biopsy, although misdiagnosis is not uncommon, since the differential diagnosis to smallcell lung carcinoma may be difficult. Staining the tissue sample for the proliferation marker Ki67 may aid in the differential diagnosis between these entities [46, 47].

Plasma chromogranin A should always be measured preoperatively but is usually normal if the tumor is confined to the lung. If chromogranin A is elevated, intense search for distant metastases is warranted. Measurement of urinary 5-hydroxyindolacetic acid, urinary cortisol, and plasma ACTH is not recommended routinely but is only indicated if the patient has endocrine symptoms.

10.3.6 Differential Diagnosis

Alternative diagnoses when a tumor is found on chest X-ray or CT scan include other benign or malignant lung neoplasms, hamartoma, and metastasis from another primary tumor. The histopathological differentiation, both via bronchoscopy and transthoracically, between atypical carcinoid and SCLC may sometimes be difficult, but is important since patients with carcinoids are often cured by surgery, which is generally not performed in patients with SCLC. High proliferative rate, Ki67>25 %, favors the diagnosis of SCLC, while a low Ki67 index indicates lung carcinoid [46, 47].

10.3.7 Treatment

The main treatment for patients with lung carcinoids is surgery, which offers the only chance for cure. External radiotherapy is mainly used for palliation of bone or

brain metastases. Patients with metastatic disease or inoperable tumors can be treated with various chemotherapy combinations, peptide receptor radionuclide therapy (PRRT) with ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTA-octreotate or ⁹⁰Y-DOTA-octreotide, biotherapy (somatostatin analogues, alpha-interferon), or newer targeted therapies such as everolimus or sunitinib. Patients with liver metastases may undergo hepatic arterial embolization with particles, chemotherapeutic agents, or ⁹⁰Y-labeled microspheres (SIR-Spheres[®] or TheraSpheres[®]). Symptomatic treatment for patients with carcinoid syndrome includes somatostatin analogues and alpha-interferon. Patients with metastatic tumors and Cushing's syndrome are generally subjected to bilateral adrenalectomy; symptom relief may be obtained with ketoconazole, metyrapone, somatostatin analogues, or mitotane.

10.3.7.1 Surgery

Radical surgery should be considered in all patients with lung carcinoids confined to the thorax and is in most patients curative. The principles of surgery include complete removal of the primary tumor, preservation of as much healthy lung parenchyma as possible, and a thorough lymph node dissection, aided by frozen sections, with removal of all affected nodes. Possible surgical procedures include bronchotomy with resection of the tumor and bronchoplasty, sleeve resection, wedge or segmental resection, lobectomy, bilobectomy, and pneumonectomy. Wide resection margins are not necessary, but in patients with atypical carcinoids it is recommended to perform at least a lobectomy. Endoscopic removal of the tumor by YAG laser has previously not been recommended, since lung carcinoids often grow deeply into the surrounding tissue (the "iceberg" phenomenon), and radical removal thus is difficult to obtain by laser resection. Two recent studies however questioned this opinion and found initial bronchoscopic laser treatment to be a safe and effective therapy for patients with intrabronchial typical carcinoids. In 36–46 % of the patients, open surgery was however later required [48, 49]. One indication for endoscopic tumor removal by YAG laser is palliation of obstructive symptoms in patients with high cardiopulmonary operative risk and short life expectancy. In a limited number of patients, surgery may be considered after previous laser treatment to reduce the tumor and allow post-obstructive infiltrates to resolve. There are no studies showing the benefit of adjuvant treatment after radical surgery.

10.3.7.2 Radiotherapy

Patients with bone or brain metastases may have palliation from external radiotherapy. This may also be considered in cases with inoperable tumors or incomplete resection. PRRT is an interesting option in patients with metastatic or inoperable tumors and high expression of somatostatin receptors. Two uncontrolled studies have shown promising results. In a small study, 5/9 patients treated with ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTA-octreotate had a radiological response lasting a median of 31 months [50], and in another report, 24/84 patients (29 %) receiving ⁹⁰Y-DOTA-octreotide responded radiologically [51]. Since there was a high frequency (9.5 % of all patients) of severe permanent decrease in renal function in

patients treated with ⁹⁰Y-DOTA-octreotide, it may be preferable to choose ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTA-octreotate for PRRT.

10.3.7.3 Chemotherapy

The treatment of patients with metastatic lung carcinoids depends on the histopathology (typical versus atypical carcinoid), proliferative rate (Ki67 index), somatostatin receptor expression, extent of disease, performance status of the patient, and renal and bone marrow function. Various chemotherapy combinations have been tried with limited success, including cisplatin or carboplatin+etoposide, docetaxel or paclitaxel±doxorubicin, streptozotocin+5-fluorouracil or doxorubicin, oxaliplatin+capecitabine, 5-fluorouracil+dacarbazine+epirubicin, and 5-fluorouracil+cisplatin+streptozotocin [52-56]. A recent study however confirmed earlier observations that temozolomide as monotherapy may be active in these patients. Significant tumor reduction was seen in 14 % and stabilization of progressive disease in 52 %. All patients with partial response had atypical carcinoids, but stabilization was observed in typical as well as atypical carcinoids [57, 58]. Combining temozolomide with capecitabine and/or bevacizumab may have better effect, but this has not been studied. These combinations are mainly used in patients with higher proliferation or if progression occurs on monotherapy with temozolomide. Patients with high Ki67 often receive platinum-based chemotherapy as firstline treatment.

10.3.7.4 Biotherapy

Biotherapy with somatostatin analogues (octreotide, lanreotide) and alpha-interferon is less effective in patients with lung carcinoids than small-bowel neuroendocrine tumors but may in some patients with low proliferation lead to control of the disease. Another indication for somatostatin analogues is symtomatic relief of a classical carcinoid syndrome or an atypical carcinoid syndrome. Sometimes, the addition of alpha-interferon is necessary to control the carcinoid syndrome.

10.3.7.5 Targeted Therapies

During recent years, new drugs targeting signal pathways or membrane receptors have proven to be active in patients with neuroendocrine tumors. Both everolimus, an mTOR inhibitor, and sunitinib, inhibiting vascular endothelial growth factor receptor (VEGFR), platelet-derived growth factor receptor (PDGFR), and c-kit, have shown to prolong progression-free survival in patients with pancreatic endocrine tumors. In a subanalysis from the randomized, placebo-controlled RADIANT-2 study, everolimus + octreotide LAR was found to prolong progression-free survival in patients with lung carcinoids from 5.6 months to 13.6 months compared with placebo + octreotide LAR. The difference was however not significant, p=0.228. Minor response was seen in 67 % in the everolimus group and 27 % in the placebo group [59]. An ongoing study, which has recently completed the inclusion, is comparing everolimus, pasireotide (another somatostatin analogue), and everolimus + pasireotide in patients with well-differentiated lung carcinoids. The results are awaited with interest. Sunitinib has not been studied in lung carcinoids, but



Fig. 10.4 (a) Typical lung carcinoid. CD44s stain, strong positive. Magnification, $\times 400$. (b) Typical lung carcinoid. *nm23* stain, strong positive. Magnification, $\times 400$

many lung carcinoids express the tyrosine kinase receptors PDGFR α , PDGFR β , c-kit, and EGFR [60]. This makes it possible that sunitinib and other tyrosine kinase inhibitors may have activity in lung carcinoids.

10.3.8 Prognosis

Most patients with typical lung carcinoids are cured by surgery, even in the presence of lymph node metastases, and have an excellent prognosis. Five- and 10-year survivals are 87–100 % and 82–95 %, respectively [7, 14, 61–63]. Poor prognostic factors include lymph node metastases at diagnosis, presence of tumorlets, and high Ki67 index. On the other hand, positive immunohistochemistry for the standard form of the adhesion molecule CD44 (Fig. 10.4a) and positive nuclear staining for the metastases and death [17, 64]. The prognosis for patients with atypical carcinoids is worse, although many of these patients are also cured by surgery. Five-and 10-year survivals are 40–69 % and 31–59 %, respectively [14, 30, 62, 65]. Since metastases may develop late, up to 30 years after primary surgery, patients with lung carcinoids must be followed for long time, at least 10–15 years. The follow-up should include measurement of plasma chromogranin A, CT scan of the thorax and abdomen, and PET with ⁶⁸Ga-DOTATAOC/DOTATATE (in patients with



Fig. 10.5 (a) Large-cell neuroendocrine carcinoma. Hematoxylin-eosin stain. Magnification, $\times 200$. (b) Large-cell neuroendocrine carcinoma. Chromogranin A stain, weak positive. Magnification, $\times 200$

somatostatin receptor-positive tumors) or MRI of the vertebral column. In selected patients, repeated bronchoscopies are indicated. Special attention should be paid to patients with atypical carcinoids or high proliferative rate.

10.4 Large-Cell Neuroendocrine Carcinoma

Large-cell neuroendocrine carcinomas constitute about 3 % of all lung cancers. Almost all patients are smokers. The disease is most frequent in older patients; mean age is between 59 and 66 years. Men are affected more often than women and constitute 55–86 % of the cases [4, 66, 67].

10.4.1 Pathology

LCNEC are usually peripheral and seen as large masses on X-ray. The tumor consists of large cells with moderate to abundant finely granular, eosinophilic cytoplasm and frequent nucleoli. The cells are arranged in organoid, palisading, trabecular, or rosette-like patterns (Fig. 10.5a). The mitotic rate is high, ≥ 11 (average 75) per 2 mm². Large areas of necroses are frequent. The proliferative rate is high.

Aneuploidy is found in 75 % of the tumors. Positive immunohistochemistry for neuroendocrine markers such as chromogranin A (Fig. 10.5b), synaptophysin, and neuron-specific enolase is less frequent than in lung carcinoids. One positive marker is enough for the diagnosis. TTF-1 is positive in about 50 % of the tumors [8]. Positive staining for p53 and bcl-2 is common [68], but retinoblastoma protein is usually not present by immunohistochemistry [19]. *K-ras* mutations occur in the same frequency as in other non-small-cell lung cancer [8]. At electron microscopy, the ultrastructural appearance is variable. The majority of tumors have only few cytoplasmic neurosecretory granules.

10.4.2 Clinical Presentation

Common presenting symptoms in patients with LCNEC include cough, dyspnea, hemoptysis, obstructive pneumonias, or constitutional symptoms such as weight loss and malaise. Some patients are asymptomatic and diagnosed incidentally by an abnormal chest X-ray. Endocrine symptoms due to ectopic hormone production have not been described. Metastases occur in between 71 and 100 % of the patients with LCNEC, most often to the hilar or mediastinal lymph nodes. Distant metastases occur to the pleura, liver, brain, bones, adrenal glands, pericardium, and abdominal lymph nodes.

10.4.3 Diagnosis

Many tumors are detectable on chest X-ray. CT scan of the chest and abdomen, as well as PET with FDG, is of value for staging. Histopathological diagnosis may be obtained by surgery or transthoracic core-needle biopsy.

10.4.4 Treatment

There is no consensus regarding the treatment of patients with LCNEC. Surgery is indicated in patients with stage 1. Since the risk for recurrence and distant metastases is high, surgery must be combined with adjuvant chemotherapy. Active combinations include cisplatin+etoposide, cisplatin+irinotecan, and nadaplatin+irinotecan. Several studies have reported the response to cisplatin-based chemotherapy to be comparable in patients with advanced LCNEC and SCLC [69–73]. Amrubicin as monotherapy has also some activity in LCNEC [74]. Patients with widespread disease may receive the same chemotherapy regimens. The role of radiotherapy is more controversial. Patients with EGFR mutations may obtain partial responses with gefitinib [75, 76]. Octreotide, which prolongs progression-free survival in patients with slow-growing neuroendocrine tumors, may be used as adjuvant treatment after surgery for LCNEC [77]. Sunitinib and other agents targeting VEGFR and c-kit are possible new drugs for treatment of LCNEC [78].

10.4.5 Prognosis

The prognosis for patients with LCNEC is dismal. The reported 5-year survival varies between 15 and 57 % [67, 79–85]. Patients with stage 1 tumors have slightly better 5-year survival, 27–67 % [80, 82, 83, 85–87].

10.5 Small-Cell Lung Carcinoma

10.5.1 Epidemiology and Etiology

Small-cell lung carcinoma, which is the most aggressive form of lung malignancy, accounts for 14–20 % of all cases of lung cancer. It is most common in the seventh and eighth decades. There is a clear male preponderance, but this discrepancy may decrease due to the increasing smoking habits among women. Almost all patients with SCLC are smokers, which represents the main risk factor. Other known etiologic factors include ionizing radiation, asbestos, aromatic hydrocarbons (in particular chloromethyl ethers), and various metals [88].

10.5.2 Pathology

A majority of SCLC are centrally located, appearing as hilar or perihilar masses, spreading early to hilar and mediastinal lymph nodes [8]. Only about 5 % are seen as a peripheral solitary mass [89]. Distant metastases occur to the brain, liver, bone marrow, bones, adrenal glands, and pancreas. Brain metastases are seen in 10–20 % on presentation but occur later as the disease progresses in 25 % of patients not receiving prophylactic cranial irradiation [90]. In total, 50–80 % of the patients will develop brain metastases [91].

10.5.2.1 Light Microscopy

Small-cell lung carcinoma consists of small cells, usually less than the diameter of 3 small resting lymphocytes. The cells are round to fusiform and have a high nuclear-to-cytoplasmic ratio and finely granular, hyperchromatic nuclei with inconspicuous or absent nucleoli. Histologic patterns include trabeculae, spindling, nesting, palisading, rosettes, or solid-sheet-like growth, with indistinct cell borders. The mitotic rate is high, ≥ 11 per 2 mm², median 80 per 2 mm². Necrosis and crush artifacts are frequent. The proliferative rate is high (Fig. 10.6). Combined small-cell lung carcinoma is defined as small-cell carcinoma combined with an additional component, usually adenocarcinoma, squamous cell carcinoma, or large-cell carcinoma [8].

10.5.2.2 Immunohistochemistry

The neuroendocrine markers chromogranin A, synaptophysin, and NSE stain positive in most SCLC, and TTF-1 is positive in up to 90 % of the tumors [92, 93].



Fig. 10.6 Small-cell lung carcinoma. Ki67 stain, high proliferation. Magnification, ×400

Hormonal immunoreactivity, most often for ACTH, bombesin, and serotonin, may also be found, but staining for multiple hormones is less common than in lung carcinoids [4, 5]. Gastrin-releasing peptide has been shown to function as a growth factor for SCLC [94]. Positive immunostaining for p53 is common [18, 20, 68] as is *bcl-2* immunoreactivity [68, 95, 96]. Retinoblastoma gene protein is usually negative at immunohistochemistry [18, 19, 97].

10.5.2.3 Electron Microscopy

Neurosecretory granules, about 100 nm in size, are found in at least 60-70 % of cases [8]. Basal laminae are scarce or absent [5].

10.5.3 Genetic Alterations

All SCLCs are an uploid. The multistep process for development of invasive SCLC encompasses activations of several proto-oncogenes such as *kit*, *SCF*, and *myc* (c-, N-, and L-) and inactivation of several suppressor genes [98]. Some of the most

common allelic deletions are various loci on 3p (present in nearly 100 %), 4, 5q, 10q, 13q, and 17p. DNA gains are seen on 3q, 5p, 6p, 8q, 17q, 19, and 20q [99]. The *p53* gene is homozygously mutated in 90 % of SCLC [100]. The retinoblastoma protein is absent or abnormal in an equally high percentage of tumors. Other characteristic features of SCLC are amplification of MYC [101] and methylation of caspase-8 DNA [102]. DNA gain on 17q24–q25 is a potential marker for development of brain metastases [103].

10.5.4 Clinical Presentation

Presenting symptoms include cough, weight loss, dyspnea, chest pain, hoarseness, dysphagia, and superior vena cava syndrome. Endocrine syndromes or paraneoplastic neurologic syndromes are not uncommon on presentation. SIADH (syndrome of inappropriate secretion of antidiuretic hormone) is seen in 11–46 %; ectopic ACTH production leading to Cushing's syndrome, typically causing peripheral edema, proximal myopathy, hypertension, glucose intolerance, and metabolic alkalosis occurs in 2–5 %, and the Eaton-Lambert myasthenic syndrome in 3 % of patients [104, 105].

10.5.5 Staging

Although a TNM classification has been proposed for SCLC [106, 107], since this tumor is not considered as a surgical disease, the TNM classification may not be applicable. Another system is recommended by the Veterans Administration Lung Cancer Study Group based on the feasibility including all known tumor locations in one radiation field. Thus, limited-stage (LS) disease is defined as tumor confined to one hemithorax, with or without hilar, ipsilateral/contralateral mediastinal, and/or supraclavicular lymph node metastases, with/without ipsilateral pleural effusion, while extensive-stage (ES) disease is tumor outside the thorax or in the contralateral lung [108]. About 60–70 % of the patients have extensive disease when diagnosed.

10.5.6 Diagnosis

Apart from chest X-ray, CT scan of the thorax, abdomen, and brain as well as PET with FDG is of value for staging. Octreoscan is of limited value, since metastases are depicted only in about 50 % of the patients, yet nearly all primary tumors are found [109–111]. Although sputum cytology is positive in 75–80 % of patients with SCLC [88], the diagnosis should be based on acquiring enough tissue material for histologic diagnosis. Bronchoscopy, transthoracic core-needle biopsy, mediastinoscopy, or surgical excision of a supraclavicular lymph node can make the diagnosis. It may sometimes be difficult to differentiate between SCLC and atypical carcinoid tumors. Staining of the tissue sample for Ki67 may aid in this differential diagnosis [46, 47].

10.5.7 Treatment

Surgery has little role in the treatment of patients with SCLC, unless in rare patients in whom the diagnosis is made early. The main treatment is chemotherapy and radiotherapy. Earlier schemes included combinations of cyclophosphamide, doxo-rubicin, and vincristine. Today, platinum-based chemotherapy is used as first-line treatment, with 60–70 % response rates [112]. Patients with limited-stage disease is usually treated with cisplatin or carboplatin+etoposide combined with thoracic radiotherapy. Patients who respond receive prophylactic cranial irradiation. Up to 20 % of patients will have long-term disease control, but a majority will recur. Patients with extended-stage disease are treated with chemotherapy alone, usually cisplatin/carboplatin+etoposide or platinum+irinotecan. Prophylactic cranial irradiation is given to patients who respond. Second-line treatment in relapsing or not responding patients includes topotecan, paclitaxel, docetaxel, irinotecan, vinorel-bine, gemcitabine, and temozolomide, but response rates are limited or poor [112].

10.5.8 Prognosis

The prognosis for patients with SCLC is dismal. Overall 5-year survival is <7 % [112]. Patients with limited-stage disease have significantly better prognosis (median survival of 16–22 months, 5-year survival around 25 %, and about 20 % cured) than patients with extensive-stage disease (median survival 10 months, 2-year survival <5 %) [112, 113]. The main poor prognostic factors are more wide-spread disease (even within the stages), poor performance status, male gender, and old age [114].

10.6 Concluding Remarks

Lung carcinoids are generally slowly growing tumors, yet harboring malignant potential. The main treatment is surgery with resection of the primary tumor and affected lymph nodes. Maximal preservation of normal lung parenchyma is warranted. There is no scientific evidence for postoperative adjuvant treatment. Longterm follow-up is necessary, since recurrences may occur late after several decades. Atypical carcinoids have a more malignant behavior than typical. Large-cell neuroendocrine carcinomas are highly malignant tumors with poor prognosis. If possible, radical surgery should be performed, followed by adjuvant chemotherapy. Smallcell lung carcinomas are highly aggressive tumors, rapidly spreading to distant organs. Intensive platinum-based chemotherapy, in patients with limited-stage disease combined with concurrent thoracic radiotherapy, should be started as soon as possible. Patients who respond to initial treatment should be offered prophylactic cranial irradiation. The prognosis is nevertheless dismal, with short expected survival (Fig. 10.7).



Fig. 10.7 Median 5-year survival in patients with typical carcinoids (*TC*), atypical carcinoids (*AC*), large-cell neuroendocrine carcinomas (*LCNEC*), and small-cell lung carcinomas (*SCLC*)

References

- 1. Arrigoni MG, Woolner LB, Bernatz PE (1972) Atypical carcinoid tumors of the lung. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 64:413–421
- Capella C, Heitz PU, Höfler H et al (1994) Revised classification of neuroendocrine tumors of the lung, pancreas and gut. Digestion 55(Suppl 3):11–23
- 3. Paladugu RR, Benfield JR, Pak HY et al (1985) Bronchopulmonary kulchitzky cell carcinomas. Cancer 55:1303–1311
- Travis WD, Linnoila RI, Tsokos MG et al (1991) Neuroendocrine tumors of the lung with proposed criteria for large-cell neuroendocrine carcinoma. An ultrastructural, immunohistochemical, and flow cytometric study of 35 cases. Am J Surg Pathol 15:529–553
- Warren WH, Gould VE, Faber LP et al (1985) Neuroendocrine neoplasms of the bronchopulmonary tract. A classification of the spectrum of carcinoid to small cell carcinoma and intervening variants. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 89:819–825
- 6. Travis WD, Colby TV, Corrin B et al (1999) World Health Organization. Histological typing of lung and pleural tumours, 3rd edn. Springer, Berlin
- Travis WD, Rush W, Flieder DB et al (1998) Survival analysis of 200 pulmonary neuroendocrine tumors with clarification of criteria for atypical carcinoid and its separation from typical carcinoid. Am J Surg Pathol 22:934–944
- Travis WD, Brambilla E, Müller-Hermelink HK, Harris CC (eds) (2004) Pathology & genetics. Tumours of the lung, pleura, thymus and heart, World Health Organization classification of tumours. IARC Press, Lyon
- 9. Rindi G, Klersy C, Inzani F et al (2014) Grading the neuroendocrine tumors of the lung: an evidence-based proposal. Endocr Relat Cancer 21:1–16
- 10. Gorshtein A, Gross DJ, Barak D et al (2012) Diffuse idiopathic pulmonary neuroendocrine cell hyperplasia and the associated lung neuroendocrine tumors: clinical experience with a rare entity. Cancer 118:612–619
- Nassar AA, Jaroszewski DE, Helmers RA et al (2011) Diffuse idiopathic pulmonary neuroendocrine cell hyperplasia: a systematic overview. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 184:8–16
- Modlin IM, Lye KD, Kidd M (2003) A 5-decade analysis of 13,715 carcinoid tumors. Cancer 97:934–959

- Warren WH, Memoli VA, Gould VE (1984) Immunohistochemical and ultrastructural analysis of bronchopulmonary neuroendocrine neoplasms. I. Carcinoids. Ultrastruct Pathol 6:15–27
- McCaughan BC, Martini N, Bains MS (1985) Bronchial carcinoids—review of 124 cases. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 89:8–17
- 15. Barbareschi M, Frigo B, Mosca L et al (1990) Bronchial carcinoids with S-100 positive sustentacular cells. A comparative study with gastrointestinal carcinoids, pheochromocytomas and paragangliomas. Pathol Res Pract 186:212–222
- 16. El-Salhy M, Lundqvist M, Wilander E (1986) Bronchial carcinoids and pheochromocytomas—a comparative study with special emphasis on S-100 protein, serotonin and neuronspecific enolase (NSE) immunoreactivity. Acta Path Microbiol Immunol Scand A 94:229–235
- Granberg D, Wilander E, Öberg K, Skogseid B (1999) Decreased survival in patients with CD44-negative typical bronchial carcinoid tumors. Int J Cancer (Pred Oncol) 84:484–488
- Barbareschi M, Girlando S, Mauri FA et al (1992) Tumour suppressor gene products, proliferation, and differentiation markers in lung neuroendocrine neoplasms. J Pathol 166:343–350
- 19. Gouyer V, Gazzeri S, Bolon I et al (1998) Mechanism of retinoblastoma gene inactivation in the spectrum of neuroendocrine lung tumors. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 18:188–196
- 20. Coppola D, Clarke M, Landreneau R et al (1996) Bcl-2, p53, CD44, and CD44v6 isoform expression in neuroendocrine tumors of the lung. Mod Pathol 9:484–490
- Lohmann D, Pütz B, Reich U et al (1993) Mutational spectrum of the p53 gene in human small-cell lung cancer and relationship to clinicopathological data. Am J Pathol 142:907–915
- 22. Cai Y-C, Banner B, Glickman J, Odze RD (2001) Cytokeratin 7 and 20 and thyroid transcription factor 1 can help distinguish pulmonary from gastrointestinal carcinoid and pancreatic endocrine tumors. Hum Pathol 32:1087–1093
- 23. Du EZ, Goldstraw P, Zacharias J et al (2004) TTF-1 expression is specific for lung primary in typical and atypical carcinoids: TTF-1-positive carcinoids are predominantly in peripheral location. Hum Pathol 35:825–831
- Walch AK, Zitzelsberger HF, Aubele MM et al (1998) Typical and atypical carcinoid tumors of the lung Are characterized by 11q deletions as detected by comparative genomic hybridization. Am J Pathol 153:1089–1098
- Debelenko LV, Brambilla E, Agarwal SK et al (1997) Identification of MEN1 gene mutations in sporadic carcinoid tumors of the lung. Hum Mol Genet 6:2285–2290
- 26. El-Naggar AK, Ballance W, Abdul Karim FW et al (1991) Typical and atypical bronchopulmonary carcinoids—a clinicopathologic and flow cytometric study. Am J Clin Pathol 95:828–834
- Jones DJ, Hasleton PS, Moore N (1988) DNA ploidy in bronchopulmonary carcinoid tumours. Thorax 43:195–199
- Thunnissen FBJM, van Eijk J, Baak JPA et al (1988) Bronchopulmonary carcinoids and regional lymph node metastases—a quantitative pathologic investigation. Am J Pathol 132:119–122
- Bertelsen S, Aasted A, Lund C et al (1985) Bronchial carcinoid tumors—a clinicopathologic study of 82 cases. Scand J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 19:105–111
- 30. Harpole DH Jr, Feldman JM, Buchanan S et al (1992) Bronchial carcinoid tumors: a retrospective analysis of 126 patients. Ann Thorac Surg 54:50–55
- Mårtensson H, Böttcher G, Hambraeus G et al (1987) Bronchial carcinoids: an analysis of 91 cases. World J Surg 11:356–364
- Davila DG, Dunn WF, Tazelaar HD, Pairolero PC (1993) Bronchial carcinoid tumors. Mayo Clin Proc 68:795–803
- Dusmet ME, McKneally MF (1996) Pulmonary and thymic carcinoid tumors. World J Surg 20:189–195
- 34. Ricci C, Patrassi N, Massa R et al (1973) Carcinoid syndrome in bronchial adenoma. Am J Surg 126:671–677

- 35. Ezzat S, Asa SL, Stefaneanu L et al (1994) Somatotroph hyperplasia without pituitary adenoma associated with a long standing growth hormone-releasing hormone-producing bronchial carcinoid. Endokrina Tumörer MEN 1 78:555–560
- 36. Huber RM, Schopohl J, Losa M et al (1991) Growth-hormone releasing hormone in a bronchial carcinoid. Cancer 67:2538–2542
- Colby TV (1994) Carcinoid and other neuroendocrine tumors. In: Tumors of the lower respiratory tract. Armed Forces Institute of Pathology, Bethesda, pp 287–317
- Okike N, Bernatz PE, Woolner LB (1976) Carcinoid tumors of the lung. Ann Thorac Surg 22:270–277
- Granberg D, Sundin A, Janson ET et al (2003) Octreoscan in patients with bronchial carcinoid tumours. Clin Endocrinol 59:793–799
- Vaidya B, Richardson D, Hilton CJ, Kendall-Taylor P (1997) Adrenocorticotropin-secreting carcinoid tumour identified and treated 12 years after presentation with Cushing's syndrome. Postgrad Med J 73:737–739
- 41. Örlefors H, Sundin A, Garske U et al (2005) Whole-body 11C-5-hydroxytryptophan positron emission tomography as a universal imaging technique for neuroendocrine tumors – comparison with somatostatin receptor scintigraphy and computed tomography. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 90:3392–3400
- 42. Chong S, Lee KS, Kim BT et al (2007) Integrated PET/CT of pulmonary neuroendocrine tumors: diagnostic and prognostic implications. AJR Am J Roentgenol 188:1223–1231
- Erasmus JJ, McAdams HP, Patz EF Jr et al (1998) Evaluation of primary pulmonary carcinoid tumors using FDG PET. AJR Am J Roentgenol 170:1369–1373
- 44. Daniels CE, Lowe VJ, Aubry MC et al (2007) The utility of fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography in the evaluation of carcinoid tumors presenting as pulmonary nodules. Chest 131:255–260
- 45. Hurt R, Bates M (1984) Carcinoid tumours of the bronchus: a 33 year experience. Thorax 39:617–623
- 46. Aslan DL, Gulbahce HE, Pambuccian SE et al (2005) Ki-67 immunoreactivity in the differential diagnosis of pulmonary neuroendocrine neoplasms in specimens with extensive crush artifact. Am J Clin Pathol 123:874–878
- 47. Pelosi G, Rodriguez J, Viale G, Rosai J (2005) Typical and atypical pulmonary carcinoid tumor overdiagnosed as small-cell carcinoma on biopsy specimens: a major pitfall in the management of lung cancer patients. Am J Surg Pathol 29:179–187
- Brokx HA, Risse EK, Paul MA et al (2007) Initial bronchoscopic treatment for patients with intraluminal bronchial carcinoids. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 133:973–978
- Neyman K, Sundset A, Naalsund A et al (2012) Endoscopic treatment of bronchial carcinoids in comparison to surgical resection: a retrospective study. J Bronchology Interv Pulmonol 19:29–34
- 50. van Essen M, Krenning EP, Bakker WH et al (2007) Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy with (177)Lu-octreotate in patients with foregut carcinoid tumours of bronchial, gastric and thymic origin. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 34:1219–1227
- 51. Imhof A, Brunner P, Marincek N et al (2011) Response, survival, and long-term toxicity after therapy with the radiolabeled somatostatin analogue [90Y-DOTA]-TOC in metastasized neuroendocrine cancers. J Clin Oncol 29:2416–2423
- De Dosso S, Bajetta E, Procopio G et al (2007) Pulmonary carcinoid tumours: indolent but not benign. Oncology 73:162–168
- 53. Granberg D, Eriksson B, Wilander E et al (2001) Experience in treatment of metastatic pulmonary carcinoid tumors. Ann Oncol 12:1383–1391
- 54. Turner NC, Strauss SJ, Sarker D et al (2010) Chemotherapy with 5-fluorouracil, cisplatin and streptozocin for neuroendocrine tumours. Br J Cancer 102:1106–1112
- 55. Wirth LJ, Carter MR, Jänne PA, Johnson BE (2004) Outcome of patients with pulmonary carcinoid tumors receiving chemotherapy or chemoradiotherapy. Lung Cancer 44:213–220
- Chong CR, Wirth LJ, Nishino M et al (2014) Chemotherapy for locally advanced and metastatic pulmonary carcinoid tumors. Lung Cancer 86:241–246

- Crona J, Fanola I, Lindholm DP et al (2013) Effect of temozolomide in patients with metastatic bronchial carcinoids. Neuroendocrinology 98:151–155
- Ekeblad S, Sundin A, Tiensuu Janson E et al (2007) Temozolomide as monotherapy is effective in treatment of advanced malignant neuroendocrine tumors. Clin Cancer Res 13:2986–2991
- 59. Fazio N, Granberg D, Grossman A et al (2013) Everolimus plus octreotide LAR in patients with advanced lung neuroendocrine tumors: analysis of the phase III, randomized, placebo-controlled RADIANT-2 study. Chest 143:955–962
- Granberg D, Wilander E, Öberg K (2006) Expression of tyrosine kinase receptors in lung carcinoids. Tumour Biol 27:153–157
- Chughtai TS, Morin JE, Sheiner NM et al (1997) Bronchial carcinoid—twenty years' experience defines a selective surgical approach. Surgery 122:801–808
- 62. Soga J, Yakuwa Y (1999) Bronchopulmonary carcinoids: an analysis of 1,875 reported cases with special reference to a comparison between typical carcinoids and atypical varieties. Ann Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 5:211–219
- 63. Thomas CF Jr, Tazelaar HD, Jett JR (2001) Typical and atypical pulmonary carcinoids : outcome in patients presenting with regional lymph node involvement. Chest 119:1143–1150
- 64. Granberg D, Wilander E, Öberg K, Skogseid B (2000) Prognostic markers in patients with typical bronchial carcinoid tumors. Endokrina Tumörer MEN 1 85:3425–3430
- Beasley MB, Thunnissen FBJM, Brambilla E et al (2000) Pulmonary atypical carcinoid: predictors of survival in 106 cases. Hum Pathol 31:1255–1265
- 66. Dresler CM, Ritter JH, Patterson GA et al (1997) Clinical-pathologic analysis of 40 patients with large cell neuroendocrine carcinoma of the lung. Ann Thorac Surg 63:180–185
- 67. Jiang S-X, Kameya T, Shoji M et al (1998) Large cell neuroendocrine carcinoma of the lung: a histologic and immunohistochemical study of 22 cases. Am J Surg Pathol 22:526–537
- Brambilla E, Negoescu A, Gazzeri S et al (1996) Apoptosis-related factors p53, Bcl₂, and Bax in neuroendocrine lung tumors. Am J Pathol 149:1941–1952
- 69. Yamazaki S, Sekine I, Matsuno Y et al (2005) Clinical responses of large cell neuroendocrine carcinoma of the lung to cisplatin-based chemotherapy. Lung Cancer 49:217–223
- Tokito T, Kenmotsu H, Watanabe R et al (2014) Comparison of chemotherapeutic efficacy between LCNEC diagnosed using large specimens and possible LCNEC diagnosed using small biopsy specimens. Int J Clin Oncol 19:63–67
- Sun JM, Ahn MJ, Ahn JS et al (2012) Chemotherapy for pulmonary large cell neuroendocrine carcinoma: similar to that for small cell lung cancer or non-small cell lung cancer? Lung Cancer 77:365–370
- 72. Shimada Y, Niho S, Ishii G et al (2012) Clinical features of unresectable high-grade lung neuroendocrine carcinoma diagnosed using biopsy specimens. Lung Cancer 75:368–373
- 73. Igawa S, Watanabe R, Ito I et al (2010) Comparison of chemotherapy for unresectable pulmonary high-grade non-small cell neuroendocrine carcinoma and small-cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer 68:438–445
- 74. Yoshida H, Sekine I, Tsuta K et al (2011) Amrubicin monotherapy for patients with previously treated advanced large-cell neuroendocrine carcinoma of the lung. Jpn J Clin Oncol 41:897–901
- 75. De Pas TM, Giovannini M, Manzotti M et al (2011) Large-cell neuroendocrine carcinoma of the lung harboring EGFR mutation and responding to gefitinib. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol 29:e819–e822
- Kozuki T, Fujimoto N, Ueoka H et al (2005) Complexity in the treatment of pulmonary large cell neuroendocrine carcinoma. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 131:147–151
- 77. Filosso PL, Ruffini E, Oliaro A et al (2005) Large-cell neuroendocrine carcinoma of the lung: a clinicopathologic study of eighteen cases and the efficacy of adjuvant treatment with octreotide. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 129:819–824
- 78. Iyoda A, Travis WD, Sarkaria IS et al (2011) Expression profiling and identification of potential molecular targets for therapy in pulmonary large-cell neuroendocrine carcinoma. Exp Ther Med 2:1041–1045

- Asamura H, Kameya T, Matsuno Y et al (2006) Neuroendocrine neoplasms of the lung: a prognostic spectrum. PDF-artiklar Somatuline 24:70–76
- Battafarano RJ, Fernandez FG, Ritter J et al (2005) Large cell neuroendocrine carcinoma: an aggressive form of non-small cell lung cancer. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 130:166–172
- Iyoda A, Hiroshima K, Toyozaki T et al (2001) Clinical characterization of pulmonary large cell neuroendocrine carcinoma and large cell carcinoma with neuroendocrine morphology. Cancer 91:1992–2000
- Paci M, Cavazza A, Annessi V et al (2004) Large cell neuroendocrine carcinoma of the lung: a 10-year clinicopathologic retrospective study. Ann Thorac Surg 77:1163–1167
- Rossi G, Cavazza A, Marchioni A et al (2005) Role of chemotherapy and the receptor tyrosine kinases KIT, PDGFRalpha, PDGFRbeta, and Met in large-cell neuroendocrine carcinoma of the lung. J Clin Oncol 23:8774–8785
- Skuladottir H, Hirsch FR, Hansen HH, Olsen JH (2002) Pulmonary neuroendocrine tumors: incidence and prognosis of histological subtypes. A population-based study in Denmark. Lung Cancer 37:127–135
- 85. Veronesi G, Morandi U, Alloisio M et al (2006) Large cell neuroendocrine carcinoma of the lung: a retrospective analysis of 144 surgical cases. Lung Cancer 53:111–115
- 86. Iyoda A, Hiroshima K, Moriya Y et al (2006) Prognostic impact of large cell neuroendocrine histology in patients with pathologic stage Ia pulmonary non-small cell carcinoma. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 132:312–315
- Takei H, Asamura H, Maeshima A et al (2002) Large cell neuroendocrine carcinoma of the lung: a clinicopathologic study of eighty-seven cases. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 124:285–292
- Cook RM, Miller YE, Bunn PA Jr (1993) Small cell lung cancer: etiology, biology, clinical features, staging, and treatment. Curr Probl Cancer 17:69–141
- Curran WJ Jr (2001) Combined-modality therapy for limited-stage small cell lung cancer. Semin Oncol 28:14–22
- Komaki R, Byhardt RW, Anderson T et al (1985) What is the lowest effective biologic dose for prophylactic cranial irradiation? Am J Clin Oncol 8:523–527
- Samson DJ, Seidenfeld J, Simon GR et al (2007) Evidence for management of small cell lung cancer: ACCP evidence-based clinical practice guidelines (2nd edition). Chest 132:314S–323S
- Folpe AL, Gown AM, Lamps LW et al (1999) Thyroid transcription factor-1: immunohistochemical evaluation in pulmonary neuroendocrine tumors. Mod Pathol 12:5–8
- Kaufmann O, Dietel M (2000) Expression of thyroid transcription factor-1 in pulmonary and extrapulmonary small cell carcinomas and other neuroendocrine carcinomas of various primary sites. Histopathology 36:415–420
- 94. Cuttitta F, Carney DN, Mulshine J et al (1985) Bombesin-like peptides can function as autocrine growth factors in human small-cell lung cancer. Nature 316:823–826
- Ben-Ezra JM, Kornstein MJ, Grimes MM, Krystal G (1994) Small cell carcinomas of the lung express the Bcl-2 protein. Am J Pathol 145:1036–1040
- 96. Jiang S-X, Kameya T, Sato Y et al (1996) Bcl-2 protein expression in lung cancer and close correlation with neuroendocrine differentiation. Am J Pathol 148:837–846
- Cagle PT, el-Naggar AK, Xu H-J et al (1997) Differential retinoblastoma protein expression in neuroendocrine tumors of the lung. Potential diagnostic implications. Am J Pathol 150:393–400
- Vuitch F, Sekido Y, Fong K et al (1997) Neuroendocrine tumors of the lung. Pathology and molecular biology. Chest Surg Clin N Am 7:21–47
- 99. Balsara BR, Testa JR (2002) Chromosomal imbalances in human lung cancer. Oncogene 21:6877–6883
- Onuki N, Wistuba II, Travis WD et al (1999) Genetic changes in the spectrum of neuroendocrine lung tumors. Cancer 85:600–607
- 101. Johnson BE, Russell E, Simmons AM et al (1996) MYC family DNA amplification in 126 tumor cell lines from patients with small cell lung cancer. J Cell Biochem Suppl 24:210–217

- 102. Shivapurkar N, Toyooka S, Eby MT et al (2002) Differential inactivation of caspase-8 in lung cancers. Cancer Biol Ther 1:65–69
- Petersen I, Hidalgo A, Petersen S et al (2000) Chromosomal imbalances in brain metastases of solid tumors. Brain Pathol 10:395–401
- 104. Planchard D, Le Pechoux C (2011) Small cell lung cancer: new clinical recommendations and current status of biomarker assessment. Eur J Cancer 47(Suppl 3):S272–S5283
- 105. van Meerbeeck JP, Fennell DA, De Ruysscher DK (2011) Small-cell lung cancer. Lancet 378:1741–1755
- 106. Detterbeck FC, Boffa DJ, Tanoue LT (2009) The new lung cancer staging system. Chest 136:260–271
- 107. Mirsadraee S, Oswal D, Alizadeh Y et al (2012) The 7th lung cancer TNM classification and staging system: review of the changes and implications. World J Radiol 4:128–134
- 108. Micke P, Faldum A, Metz T et al (2002) Staging small cell lung cancer: veterans administration lung study group versus international association for the study of lung cancer-what limits limited disease? Lung Cancer 37:271–276
- 109. O'Byrne KJ, Ennis JT, Freyne PJ et al (1994) Scintigraphic imaging of small-cell lung cancer with [¹¹¹In]pentetreotide, a radiolabelled somatostatin analogue. Br J Cancer 69:762–766
- 110. Reisinger I, Bohuslavitzki KH, Brenner W et al (1998) Somatostatin receptor scintigraphy in small-cell lung cancer: results of a multicenter study. J Nucl Med 39:224–227
- 111. Valkema R, Steens J, Cleton F, Pauwels E (1996) The diagnostic utility of somatostatin receptor scintigraphy in oncology. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 122:513–532
- 112. Byers LA, Rudin CM (2015) Small cell lung cancer: where do we go from here? Cancer 121: 664–672
- 113. Simon GR, Turrisi A, American College of Chest Physicians (2007) Management of small cell lung cancer: ACCP evidence-based clinical practice guidelines (2nd edition). Chest 132:324S–339S
- 114. Foster NR, Mandrekar SJ, Schild SE et al (2009) Prognostic factors differ by tumor stage for small cell lung cancer: a pooled analysis of North Central Cancer Treatment Group trials. Cancer 115:2721–2731

Overview of Gastrointestinal Neuroendocrine Tumours

11

Ece Esin, Tugba Akin Telli, and Suayib Yalcin

Neuroendocrine cells are distributed throughout the body with different potentials of action; neoplasms of these neuroendocrine cells may arise in various tissues. There are differences in terminology, classification and grading of these neuroendocrine neoplasms, mostly the organ or tissue of origin leads to a specific nomenclature and grading.

Neuroendocrine tumours (NETs) in the digestive system are a group of neoplasms related to tumours arising from tubular gastrointestinal organs and pancreas. GI-NETs are rare neoplasms. During the last few years, there have been important advances in the management of NETs as several treatment options have been made available for even patients with advanced disease, including cytotoxic therapy and targeted agents. In this chapter, a brief overview of gastrointestinal NETs is given as an introduction.

11.1 Epidemiology

GI-NETs are relatively rare, accounting for approximately 0.5 % of all human cancers. The incidence of GI-NETs is reported to be 1–2 case per 100,000 individuals per year, although there is evidence for a remarkable increase in the incidence of these tumours, probably due to increased awareness as well as increased detection

E. Esin, MD (🖂) • T.A. Telli, MD

Department of Internal Medicine, Hacettepe University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey e-mail: dr.eceesin@gmail.com; tugbaakin999@yahoo.com

S. Yalcin, MD Medical Oncology Department, Cancer Institute, Hacettepe University, Sihhiye, Ankara, Turkey e-mail: suayibyalcin@gmail.com

[©] Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

S. Yalcin, K. Öberg (eds.), Neuroendocrine Tumours: Diagnosis and Management, DOI 10.1007/978-3-662-45215-8_11

through new endoscopic and imaging techniques [1, 2]. In 1997, Modlin et al. summarised the results from the SEER registry and pointed out to a rise in the incidence patterns over the two time periods (1973–1991 and 1992–1999). The age-adjusted incidence rates of GI-NETs increased from 0.84 to 1.77 for white males and from 0.79 to 1.49 per 100,000 person per year for white females. The rates increased in a similar fashion for African-Americans. In the SEER database from the USA, the increase of incidence of carcinoids was 3 %, annually [3]. Metastatic disease accounts for 12-22 %. Most NETs are mainly sporadic, but clustering within families and association with the genetic syndromes are also possible, and an increased risk of secondary cancers has been reported [4].

11.2 Classification

Traditionally, GI-NETs have been called as carcinoids. However, the term carcinoid may lead to a misunderstanding of a benign lesion, although carcinoid on its own does not classify a lesion as benign or malignant. Nevertheless, this term remains in widespread use, both in the official WHO classification of NETs of the lung and as a synonym for NETs arising in the tubular GI tract.

Clinically, these tumours are defined as functioning or non-functioning depending on the presence of a syndrome related to increased peptide or hormone secretion. Such a functional distinction, however, does not provide prognostic information [1], although in non-functioning or non-syndromic cases, the diagnosis can be delayed for up to 5 years [5]. This causes significant numbers of patients admitting to hospitals in metastatic stage (up to 25 %) or unresectable disease (60 %) [2, 6, 7].

In 1963, William and Sandler divided the GI-NETs into three categories based on an embryogenic basis: foregut carcinoids (lung, stomach, duodenum, upper jejenum, and pancreas), midgut carcinoids (lower jejenum, ileum, appendix, caecum) and hindgut carcinoids (colon and rectum) [8] (Table 11.1). However, this classification was not practical in the diagnosis and clinical workout of patients. At the end of 2010, a new classification system, the WHO 2010, was developed by European Neuroendocrine Tumor Society (ENETS)/American Joint Cancer Committee (AJCC). The new system is an integration of fundamental criteria of former WHO classification (differentiation and proliferation) together with tumour node

| Foregut carcinoids | Midgut carcinoids | Hindgut carcinoids |
|--------------------|----------------------|---------------------|
| Thymus | Jejunum | Transverse colon |
| Bronchus | Ileum | Descending colon |
| Stomach | Ascending colon | Sigmoid colon |
| Duodenum | Caecum | Rectum |
| | Appendix | Genitourinary tract |

| Table 11.1 | Embryologic |
|----------------|---------------|
| classification | of carcinoids |

metastases (TNM) staging and grading systems. In WHO 2010 system, former criteria such as tumour site, size, extent and vascular invasion were changed with widely used criteria of TNM staging.

The ENETS classification 2006/2007, the 7th American Joint Cancer Committee/ Union Internationale Contre le Cancer (AJCC/UICC) classification 2009 and the current WHO classification 2010 all equally define a grading system based upon the proliferation index Ki-67 and/or mitotic index with low-grade G1 tumours (Ki-67 $\leq 2\%$, mitotic count <2 per 10 high-power field; HPF) (9). Well-differentiated NETs are classified together as neuroendocrine tumours (NETs) grade 1 (G1) or G2. The carcinoid term is sometimes used instead of NET G1. The term neuroendocrine carcinoma refers to all poorly differentiated NETs and high-grade (G3) malignant neoplasms. NEC is further subdivided into a small-cell and a large-cell subtype. Mixed adenoneuroendocrine carcinomas (MANEC) and hyperplastic and preneoplastic lesions are termed as special groups. Tumour characteristics as localisation, size, composition, relationship to anatomic structures, resection margins and the presence of metastases should be assessed in order to classify the tumour according to the TNM staging system [9].

11.3 Oesophageal NETs

Oesophageal neuroendocrine tumours are extremely rare. In 1969, an oesophageal carcinoid case was reported [10]. The age of oesophageal NET patients ranged from 44 to 82 (median 64 years). The lesions predominate in males. Dysphagia, weight loss, pain and reflux oesophagitis are the most common symptoms. The diagnosis is based on classical approach as to other oesophageal masses.

Reported cases are poorly differentiated tumours. Immunohistochemical studies revealed positivity for NSE and serotonin, but these tumours lacked argentaffin and argyrophilic staining. Barrett's oesophagus may be a potential factor for development of oesophageal NETs.

The stage is an important prognostic factor for oesophageal NETs. Stage I (localised disease to mucosa, lamina propria or submucosa) and stage II (involving only the muscularis propria) NETs have a good prognosis after resection. However, patients with stage III (extending through the muscularis propria into adventitia) and IV grade tumours (invading the adventitia, as well as involving a mediastinal structure, most commonly pulmonary vessels) typically succumb to the disease, as such lesions have a propensity for significant local spread and relatively poor outcome. In one series, most of the tumours had already invaded the oesophageal wall and local lymph node metastasis was present [11]. However, there are also few cases reported to be successfully treated with oesophagogastrectomy [12].

The small size of reported patients limits to develop a general therapeutic approach, but most reports indicate oesophagogastrectomy and subtotal excision with gastro-oesophageal anastomosis are the preferred methods [13].

11.4 Gastric NETs

Gastric neuroendocrine tumours are rare neoplasms arising from enterochromaffin cells of the stomach. Gastric NETs are heterogenous neoplasms consisting of 8.7 % of all GI-NETs. The wide application of upper gastrointestinal endoscopic techniques and broader use of proton pump inhibitors lead to increased diagnosis of gastric NETs [14, 15].

Gastric NETs are heterogenous neoplasms with varying histopathology and biological behaviour. A classification system was proposed which distinguishes gastric NETs as four different groups. This classification system which based on mainly clinicopathological features, such as hypergastrinaemia, has prognostic and management implications.

Type 1 NETs are the most frequent type and comprise approximately 70–80 % of all cases. The lesions are usually less than 10 mm, multifocal and localised in the gastric fundus or body [16]. Type 1 is mostly related to atrophic gastritis. Gastrin is the key molecule in pathological process of gastric NETs developing from enterochromaffin-like (ECL) cells. Generally this type has an excellent prognosis after resection; metastatic potential of type 1 tumours is low (5 % to local lymph nodes, <2 % distant metastasis) [14, 17]. Histopathologically these tumours are regular-shaped cells with round nuclei. Mitotic index is low; tumour spread is limited to the submucosa and mucosa. Mostly type 1 gastric NET cells are positive with chromogranin A (CgA) and neuron-specific enolase (NSE). Determination of CgA expression is helpful but neither pathognomonic nor diagnostic since enterochromaffin cells of the stomach express high amounts of CgA.

Type 1 gastric NETs are diagnosed incidentally during upper GI endoscopy. Chronic atrophic gastritis may lead to reduced intrinsic factor secretion, achlorhydria, vitamin B12 deficiency and macrocytic anaemia.

In diagnosis and staging, endoscopic ultrasonography is helpful for local staging and for resection of lesions. Abdominal computed tomography scan can aid to diagnosis of metastatic stage [18]. Netazepide is a potent and selective cholecystokinin 2 receptor antagonist which has an oral antagonistic effect on gastrin receptors. Netazepide was reported to regression of tumour and decrease in chromogranin A levels [19, 20].

Annual endoscopic surveillance along with annual abdominal ultrasonography is recommended in type 1 GNET patients [21]. In patients with lesions of >10 mm, CT and somatostatin receptor scintigraphy may be offered.

Type 2 gastric NETs are less common tumours with similar characteristics of type 1 tumours with increased gastrin levels but no achlorhydria or atrophic gastritis. Type 2 tumours are usually associated with multiple endocrine neoplasm (MEN-1) type 1 or Zollinger-Ellison syndrome [22, 23]. Peak incidence of type 2 tumours is 45 and there is no gender predominance. Type 2 lesions are small (10–20 mm) multiple well-differentiated lesions scattered multifocally throughout the stomach, limited to the mucosa and submucosa. Type 2 tumours also express CgA, but levels do not correlate with malignancy [23]. A moderate level of atypia and a slight increased of mitotic index may be encountered in type 2 lesions when compared to

type 1 lesions. A practical test to differentiate type 1 GNET with type 2 is to determine fasting gastric PH. It is high in type 1 and low in type 2 as expected.

Type 2 tumours are diagnosed endoscopically, if amenable endoscopic resection is curative. But due to the multifocality, endoscopic resection may not be optimal. In such cases, somatostatin analogues may be used, to induce tumour regression, decrease plasma gastrin levels and relieve symptoms [24]. Besides removal of the gastric lesions, the source of hypergastrinaemia should be considered, such as gastrinoma according to the location as defined in the related chapter of the book.

Type 3 NETs are usually sporadic; 14–20 % of gastric NETs are classified as type 3. Type 3 gastric NETs are observed more frequently in men with a peak incidence at the age of 50. They are usually solitary and large tumours occurring in any part of the stomach. They are usually well differentiated, larger than 1 cm in size but with invasion of the muscularis propria. Mitotic index is higher (>2 %) and focal necrosis is common. These types of tumours are not gastrin dependent [25]. Type 3 tumours are more aggressive and usually negative for CgA and have a poor prognosis. These tumours are likely to have lymph node involvement and liver metastases at the time of diagnosis [26]. If amenable, surgical resection with lymph node dissection is necessary; depending on local growth features, radical gastric resection may be included [27].

Type 4 NETs are solitary tumours with larger size which are poorly differentiated neuroendocrine carcinomas. They can occur in any part of the stomach with a peak incidence over age 60. These tumours are more frequently seen in men. They are gastrin-independent tumours. Histopathology is characteristic of a grade 3 carcinoma with abundant atypia, mitosis and necrosis. Chromogranin A is absent, whereas neuron-specific enolase is strongly expressed [28]. Type 4 NETs have a poor prognosis; at the time of diagnosis, lymph node invasion, angioinvasion and deep wall invasion usually exist in type 4 tumours. Therefore, type 4 tumours are likely to be diagnosed at the advanced stage [29]. Surgical resection is the most appropriate treatment for this type of tumour. Type 4 gastric NET demands an aggressive surgical approach followed by chemotherapy and multimodality adjuvant therapy [30].

A brief overview of characteristics and treatment strategies of gastric NETs is done in Table 11.2.

11.5 Duodenal Neuroendocrine Tumours

Foregut NETs include those arising in the oesophagus, stomach, pancreas and duodenum [31]. Primary duodenal NETs account for less than 2 % of all gastrointestinal NETs [32].

Duodenal NETs are usually solitary, small lesions restricted to duodenal submucosa at the time of diagnosis. They are usually located in the first and second part of the duodenum [33]. They are relatively benign lesions with slow growth pattern and low metastatic potential which lead to broad classification of duodenal NETs as carcinoids [34, 35].

| | 1 | 1 | 1 | 1 |
|------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| | Type 1 | Type 2 | Type 3 | Type 4 |
| Incidence (among gastric NETs) | 70–80 % | 5-6 % | 14–25 % | Rare |
| Pathological features | Multiple, small, intramucosal lesions | Multiple, small, intramucosal lesions | Single, large lesion, more extensive stage lesions | Single, large |
| | <1 % MI | <1 % MI | >2 % MI | Severe, grade 3 histology |
| | CgA and NSE positive | CgA and NSE positive | CgA positive | >30 % MI |
| | | | | CgA negative |
| | | | | NSE positive |
| Prognosis | Very good | Good | Less good | Poor |
| | Metastatic potential very low | 10–30 % metastatic potential | 50–100 % metastatic potential | 100 % metastatic potential |
| Treatment strategy | Endoscopic resection | Endoscopic resection or limited surgery | Radical surgery | Radical surgery if amenable |
| Chemotherapy | NN | NN | Usually NN | Combination chemotherapy: |
| | | | | Cisplatin-etoposide |
| | | | | Carboplatin-octreotide/ pasireotide |
| | | | | Somatostatin analogues |
| Radiotherapy | NN | NN | Usually NN | Targeted radiotherapy with 177Lu-octreotate (177Lu) and 90Y-labelled somatostatin analogue |
| Biological treatment and targeted treatment | NN | NN | Usually NN | Interferon |
| | | | | Sunitinib |
| | | | | Everolimus |

Table 11.2 Classification and characteristics of gastric neuroendocrine tumours

MI mitotic index, CgA chromogranin A, NN not necessary, NSE neuron-specific enolase

Five major types of NETs may be seen in the duodenum:

- Type 1 tumours are gastrinomas which are the most frequent form and usually seen in the proximal duodenum. One third of duodenal gastrinomas are associated with MEN-1 and Zollinger-Ellison syndrome (ZES) [36, 37]. They are small lesions rarely exceeding 10 mm.
- Type 2 duodenal tumours are somatostatinomas. They are the second common duodenal NETs which may be periampullary located. They may be associated

with von Recklinghausen disease [38]. They are often fairly large, deeply invasive and metastatic to local lymph nodes at the time of diagnosis.

Type 3 tumours are benign gangliocytic paragangliomas which are found at the ampulla or periampullary region.

Type 4 tumours are rare. These tumours may secrete serotonin and calcitonin.

Type 5 tumours are extremely rare tumours located at the ampulla of Vater. They are highly aggressive, malignant tumours [39].

Duodenal NETs are mostly asymptomatic and non-functional. They are usually detected incidentally during upper GI endoscopy. And also upper GI endoscopy is the preferred method of detection of duodenal NEs. In retrospective analysis of duodenal NETs, tumour size (>20 mm), tumour depth of invasion (muscularis propria) and presence of mitotic figures have been defined as independent risk factors [40, 41].

Duodenal NETs can be considered as early lesions if tumours are less than 10 mm in size with grade 1 features and without lymphovascular invasion and no muscularis propria invasion [29]. There is no consensus on optimal management strategy of duodenal NETs. According to retrospective case series, tumours with "early lesions" characteristics can be safely removed endoscopically. Treatment of locally advanced and metastatic lesions does not differ from other intestinal NETs.

11.6 Neuroendocrine Tumours of the Gall Bladder and Extrahepatic Bile Ducts

Gall bladder neuroendocrine tumours (GB-NETs) represent only 0.5 % of all NETs [42]. GB-NETs were hypothesised to derive from multipotent stem cells or from neuroendocrine cells of intestinal or gastric metaplasia of gall bladder epithelium [43, 44]. They are usually poorly differentiated, aggressive, large-cell or small-cell NECs [42]. The symptomatology of GB-NETs is nonspecific, and their diagnosis is often made at the cholecystectomy for cholecystolithiasis or polyps. For well-differentiated tumours, simple cholecystectomy may be adequate. The vast majority of GB-NETs, however, require cholecystectomy and regional lymphadenectomy combined with a hepatic resection to obtain adequate clear margins [42].

Primary neuroendocrine (carcinoid) tumours of the extrahepatic biliary ducts are extremely rare. Well-differentiated NETs behave less aggressively; only 23 cases were reported as grade 3 NET [45]. The origin of neuroendocrine neoplasms of the biliary tracts is unclear. They may arise from metaplastic epithelia. Metastasis rate is less than 40 %. Clinical symptoms due to hormone production are extremely rare. Tumour size (<2 cm or not) was hypothesised to be the independent risk factor. Accurate preoperative diagnosis is important and can be made by examining brush cytology specimens obtained during endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography and/orendoscopicultrasound-guidedfine-needle aspiration. Immunocytochemical staining properties are important in differential diagnosis especially before operation. Surgery is the mainstay of treatment in well-differentiated, localised tumours. In general, prognosis is poor.

11.7 NETs of the Jejenum and Ileum

NETs of the small intestine are rare tumours in general, but particularly the ileum is the most common NET site in human body. These tumours have a slight male predominance with a peak incidence at the sixth and seventh decades of life [46]. A potential risk factor associated with increased risk of development of NEN of the small bowel is a family history of first-degree relatives with cancer, suggesting a genetic component independent of MEN-1, which is not associated with jejunoileal NEN [46]. Patients with small intestinal NETs may develop symptoms due to effects of the primary tumour, due to enlarging metastases or secondary to hormonal secretion. Small intestinal NETs originate most commonly in the distal ileum, within 60 cm of the ileocaecal valve [47].

Jejunoileal NETs are frequently diagnosed while on a screening colonoscopy. The most frequent symptom is abdominal pain along with other constitutional symptoms. From the clinical point of view, it is important to distinguish between hormonally active and non-active NETs, because the active ones which secrete peptides and hormones cause a characteristic syndrome known as carcinoid syndrome. Tumour-specific, hormone hypersecretion symptoms from carcinoid syndrome in metastatic patients include secretory diarrhoea, flushing and importantly valvular heart disease [48–50]. It is important to note that carcinoid syndrome occurs in patients with liver metastasis, but in rare cases, excess serotonin production/tachy-kinin production from extraperitoneal metastasis or ovarian metastases can result in carcinoid syndrome without evidence of liver metastasis.

In diagnosis cross-sectional imaging with CT and/or MRI should be followed by somatostatin receptor scintigraphy (SRS), ideally in combination with SPECT/CT. ⁶⁸Ga-DOTATOC-PET in combination with contrast-enhanced CT may be a more sensitive alternative, and this technique is getting more widely used globally in the last decade.

In 2012, ENETS renewed the guideline for tumours of the lower jejunum and ileum [46]. Jejunoileal NETs are highly prone to metastasise; they tend to be fairly slow growing and are associated with relatively favourable survival durations compared to other metastatic carcinomas. A single-institution analysis of overall survival stratified by TNM stage revealed that 5-year survival rates were 100 % for stage I and II tumours vs. 91 % for stage III (locoregionally advanced) and 72 % for stage IV tumours. The median overall survival for stage IV tumours was 103 months. Among stage III patients, survival differed significantly between patients with resectable mesenteric tumours (95 % 5-year survival) and patients with unresectable mesenteric tumours (78 % 5-year survival) [51].

In localised disease, surgery is the mainstay of treatment. But usually, due to lack of early diagnosis, locally advanced disease or metastatic stage is the area of concern. Therefore, in symptomatic cases, somatostatin analogues are effective. They are also proven to be useful for tumour growth stabilisation. Liver-directed therapies and systemic cytotoxic drugs and targeted agents will be necessary in selected cases.

11.8 Appendix NETs

The appendix is the third common site for development of gastrointestinal tract NETs (small intestine 44.7 %, rectum 19.6 %, appendix 16.7 %) [1, 52]. These tumours develop primarily in the distal part of the appendix and invade deeply into the appendix wall, causing local symptoms and requiring surgical removal of the tumour. Appendix NETs, mostly limited to the appendix, show a benign behaviour and produce serotonin but are non-functional and are usually discovered as an incidental finding at appendectomy for appendicitis. Most appendix NETs are diagnosed in earlier stages. They are usually grade 1 tumours, rarely grade 2, but NECs of the appendix are extremely rare reported only in few case reports [53].

Histology is always necessary to establish the diagnosis. Cytology may be helpful, particularly in the rare metastatic setting. Immunohistochemistry for CgA and synaptophysin may guide the pathologist in differential diagnosis. Serum CgA levels can be used as a surrogate marker although not particularly validated for diagnosis and follow-up.

At the limited stage survival is good, but in few cases presented with metastasis, survival is relatively poor (5-year survival rate <25 %) [46]. From retrospective studies it can be postulated that an appendiceal NEN with a size <1 cm, with invasion up to the subserosa or mesoappendiceal invasion up to 3 mm and clear surgical margins, poses no further risk of recurrence after appendectomy. However, tumours >2 cm, deep invasive tumours and tumours located at the base of appendix may confer a relevant risk for metastasis. According to ENETS guideline, right hemicolectomy is justified only in those rare tumours 1–2 cm but with positive or unclear margins or with deep mesoappendiceal invasion (ENETS T2), higher proliferation rate (G2) and/or angioinvasion. Tumours with a diameter >2 cm should be treated by right hemicolectomy [46, 54].

Goblet cell carcinoids are a rare histological type of neuroendocrine tumours which may be located in the appendix. They occur during the fifth decade, more often in the Caucasian population than any other group, with an equal distribution between the sexes [46]. They are incidentally found in the appendix, but they have a dismal prognosis. In limited stages survival is better. For locoregional disease the 5-year survival rate is 50–80 %, while in cases with distant metastasis, the 5-year survival rate is less than 20 % [46, 55].

11.9 Colonic NETs

Neuroendocrine tumours of the colon are rare but are increasing in incidence as a result of greater investigation with endoscopy and improved histological reporting. Neuroendocrine tumours rarely occur in the colon with many previously reported caecal NET representing appendiceal tumours. The mean age of diagnosis is approximately 55–65 years. Non-appendiceal colonic NETs have a slight preponderance

for a Black ethnic background in the USA; however, there is no gender prominence in general.

The Pan-SEER analysis from 1973 to 2007 found that colonic NETs made up 7.21 % of all NETs [56]. Right colonic lesions were more frequent than left colonic lesions. In the gastrointestinal tract tumours can arise from enterochromaffin or Kulchitsky cells while those in the distal colon and rectum arise from L cells. These tumours are generally synaptophysin positive and may also have scattered sero-tonin- and somatostatin-positive cells. It is common for isolated neuroendocrine groups to be present in random colonic biopsies performed for other reasons. This may be an incidental finding or may be a response to inflammation and these are not usually tumours. In addition, small polyps containing small NETs can be found and removed routinely at colonoscopy.

Most NETs of the colon arise in the caecum, followed by the ascending colon. Like in adenocarcinomas, due to high capacitance of the right colon, patients only become symptomatic once they reach a large size (>2 cm). Colonic NETs usually present late, as large tumours, often with extensive metastatic disease when the diagnosis is made. The majority of colonic NETs are asymptomatic at the time of diagnosis. Only in a small percentage of patients (10 %), classical carcinoid symptoms may occur [57]. Most of the time diagnosis is incidental. If present any, common symptoms are pain, bleeding, altered bowel habits, weight loss and anorexia. With advanced disease they may present with symptoms of bowel obstruction, anaemia or a palpable liver. Due to the late presentation, 90 % of tumours will be greater than 2 cm in size, and up to two thirds may have regional or distant metastases at presentation [58]. A frequent presentation is of liver metastases at routine ultrasound of the liver. Ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease may associate with colonic NETs [59].

Colonic NETs have the worst survival of any GEP-NETS with overall 5-year survival reported to be 61.8 % (between 40 and 70 % depending on the specific site and stage) [2]. Poorly differentiated NETS (high grade), both small and large cell, do not have separate survival data rates available, but prognosis is more likely to represent that of colon adenocarcinoma. In the caecum, the rate of localised disease only has been reported to be as low as 16 % [60]. Metastases are usually to the liver, lymph nodes, mesentery and peritoneum [61]. Survival for sigmoid and other distal colonic NETs is better, probably due to earlier diagnosis and treatment with easier access to high-quality endoscopy [62].

Colonoscopy is the gold standard technique in evaluation and local treatment of colonic NETs. In suspected metastatic cases, cross-sectional imaging (CT/MRI) is required. Indium-111 octreotide scanning or gallium-68 octreotide PET are useful in diagnosis of metastatic well-differentiated NETs; in poorly differentiated tumours their diagnostic significance is poor. In such poorly differentiated NETs, FDG PET may be required.

Treatment strategies are recommended in ENETS guidelines according to the disease stage. Colonic tumours >2 cm, tumours with muscularis invasion and G3 tumours are recommended to be treated according to the surgical guidelines for adenocarcinoma [62]. For metastatic patients, palliative surgery against bowel

obstruction may be offered. The management of advanced disease is controversial, but new treatments such as peptide receptor-targeted therapy and molecular targeted agents may offer improved progression-free survival in non-resectable disease.

11.10 Rectal NETs

Rectal NETs represented the most frequent of GEP-NETs with 17.7 % of all NETs in the US-based SEER 17 (2000–2007) registry, with an annual percentage increase of 8.2 % [63]. The mean age of presentation is 56 and there is no sex difference, but the incidence is higher in Asia-Pacific patients [64]. In Asia, rectal carcinoids in Japanese studies accounted for 60–89 % of all gastrointestinal carcinoids. Well-established endoscopic screening guidelines in Japan may be the reason of higher incidence; however, some evidence exists that there is a definite ethnic association with rectal carcinoids [64].

If any, symptoms may include rectal bleeding, constipation, rectal pain or tenesmus. The incidence of functioning tumours in the rectum is extremely low. These tumours rarely secrete serotonin; therefore, carcinoid syndrome is very rare even in metastatic cases. Overall, no particular hormone preponderance has been described.

Rectal NETs are diagnosed incidentally on screening or surveillance colonoscopies [65]. They are usually small polypoid lesions located above the dentate line. Most of the rectal NETs are diagnosed in localised stage (>82 %) [57]. Metastatic disease may present with right upper quadrant abdominal pain and hepatomegaly, lethargy, wasting, anorexia or generalised symptoms of carcinomatosis.

Rectal NETs have an overall 5-year survival of 88.3 %, with localised disease having a rate of 90.8 %, regional disease at 48.9 % and those with distant metastases 32.2 % [57]. Size of the tumour is closely related to metastatic potential with greater risk in >2 cm tumours. Rectal NETs below 1 cm in size have a very low risk of lymph node metastasis, while those between 1 and 2 cm in size have a risk of 5 %. Other prognostic markers are invasion depth and lymphovascular invasion of detection which is improved with the use of endoanal ultrasound [61].

Rectal NETs are diagnosed similarly to adenocarcinomas of the rectum. Colonoscopy and CT/MRI are usually necessary. Indium-111 octreotide scanning or gallium-68 octreotide PET in addition to FDG PET may be required to diagnose the metastatic cases.

The only definitive curative treatment for rectal NETs is complete resection. Transanal resection using a variety of techniques and equipment offers the ability to resect higher lesions and a full-thickness mucosal-muscular resection. Aggressive surgery such as low anterior resection may be offered for intermediate-risk and high-risk patients. Lesions >2 cm have a significantly higher metastatic risk; they will have major surgery with total mesorectal excision due to high metastatic potential for curative reason. There is no evidence for adjuvant medical therapy after surgery in any of these tumours. For metastatic patients, palliative surgery against bowel obstruction may be offered. There is currently only limited evidence to suggest the use of somatostatin analogues as antitumour agents for non-functioning

colorectal NETs [62]. Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy (PRRT) can be considered in patients with inoperable metastatic disease and a positive indium-111 octreotide scan. The yttrium-90 or lutetium-177 labelled to octreotide or octreotate are the other therapeutic options.

References

- Yao JC, Hassan M, Phan A et al (2008) One hundred years after "carcinoid": epidemiology of and prognostic factors for neuroendocrine tumors in 35,825 cases in the United States. J Clin Oncol 26:3063–3072
- Modlin IM, Oberg K, Chung DC et al (2008) Gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumours. Lancet Oncol 9:61–72
- Crocetti E, Paci E (2003) Malignant carcinoids in the USA, SEER 1992–1999. An epidemiological study with 6830 cases. Eur J Cancer Prev 12:191–194
- Taal BG, Visser O (2004) Epidemiology of neuroendocrine tumours. Neuroendocrinology 80(Suppl 1):3–7
- Karpathakis A, Caplin M, Thirlwell C (2012) Hitting the target: where do molecularly targeted therapies fit in the treatment scheduling of neuroendocrine tumours? Endocr Relat Cancer 19:R73–R92
- 6. Oberg K (2012) Neuroendocrine tumors of the digestive tract: impact of new classifications and new agents on therapeutic approaches. Curr Opin Oncol 24:433–440
- Steinmuller T, Kianmanesh R, Falconi M et al (2008) Consensus guidelines for the management of patients with liver metastases from digestive (neuro)endocrine tumors: foregut, midgut, hindgut, and unknown primary. Neuroendocrinology 87:47–62
- 8. Williams ED, Sandler M (1963) The classification of carcinoid tumours. Lancet 1:238-239
- Kloppel G, Rindi G, Anlauf M et al (2007) Site-specific biology and pathology of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Virchows Arch 451(Suppl 1):S9–S27
- 10. Brenner S, Heimlich H, Widman M (1969) Carcinoid of esophagus. N Y State J Med 69: 1337–1339
- Ready AR, Soul JO, Newman J et al (1989) Malignant carcinoid tumour of the oesophagus. Thorax 44:594–596
- Li QL, Zhang YQ, Chen WF et al (2012) Endoscopic submucosal dissection for foregut neuroendocrine tumors: an initial study. World J Gastroenterol 18:5799–5806
- Lindberg GM, Molberg KH, Vuitch MF et al (1997) Atypical carcinoid of the esophagus: a case report and review of the literature. Cancer 79:1476–1481
- 14. Chen WF, Zhou PH, Li QL et al (2012) Clinical impact of endoscopic submucosal dissection for gastric neuroendocrine tumors: a retrospective study from mainland China. ScientificWorldJournal 2012:869769
- Jianu CS, Lange OJ, Viset T et al (2012) Gastric neuroendocrine carcinoma after long-term use of proton pump inhibitor. Scand J Gastroenterol 47:64–67
- 16. Bordi C (1999) Gastric carcinoids. Ital J Gastroenterol Hepatol 31(Suppl 2):S94-S97
- Li TT, Qiu F, Qian ZR et al (2014) Classification, clinicopathologic features and treatment of gastric neuroendocrine tumors. World J Gastroenterol 20:118–125
- Plockinger U (2007) Diagnosis and treatment of gastric neuroendocrine tumours. Wien Klin Wochenschr 119:570–572
- Kidd M, Siddique ZL, Drozdov I et al (2010) The CCK(2) receptor antagonist, YF476, inhibits Mastomys ECL cell hyperplasia and gastric carcinoid tumor development. Regul Pept 162:52–60
- 20. Fossmark R, Sordal O, Jianu CS et al (2012) Treatment of gastric carcinoids type 1 with the gastrin receptor antagonist netazepide (YF476) results in regression of tumours and normalisation of serum chromogranin A. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 36:1067–1075

- Ravizza D, Fiori G, Trovato C et al (2007) Long-term endoscopic and clinical follow-up of untreated type 1 gastric neuroendocrine tumours. Dig Liver Dis 39:537–543
- 22. Hosoya Y, Fujii T, Nagai H et al (1999) A case of multiple gastric carcinoids associated with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 without hypergastrinemia. Gastrointest Endosc 50: 692–695
- 23. Debelenko LV, Emmert-Buck MR, Zhuang Z et al (1997) The multiple endocrine neoplasia type I gene locus is involved in the pathogenesis of type II gastric carcinoids. Gastroenterology 113:773–781
- Tomassetti P, Migliori M, Caletti GC et al (2000) Treatment of type II gastric carcinoid tumors with somatostatin analogues. N Engl J Med 343:551–554
- Hosoya Y, Nagai H, Koinuma K et al (2003) A case of aggressive neuroendocrine carcinoma of the stomach. Gastric Cancer 6:55–59
- Kloppel G, Clemens A (1996) The biological relevance of gastric neuroendocrine tumors. Yale J Biol Med 69:69–74
- Bordi C, Falchetti A, Azzoni C et al (1997) Aggressive forms of gastric neuroendocrine tumors in multiple endocrine neoplasia type I. Am J Surg Pathol 21:1075–1082
- Rindi G, Kloppel G (2004) Endocrine tumors of the gut and pancreas tumor biology and classification. Neuroendocrinology 80(Suppl 1):12–15
- 29. Scherubl H, Cadiot G, Jensen RT et al (2010) Neuroendocrine tumors of the stomach (gastric carcinoids) are on the rise: small tumors, small problems? Endoscopy 42:664–671
- Namikawa T, Oki T, Kitagawa H et al (2013) Neuroendocrine carcinoma of the stomach: clinicopathological and immunohistochemical evaluation. Med Mol Morphol 46:34–40
- Klimstra DS, Modlin IR, Coppola D et al (2010) The pathologic classification of neuroendocrine tumors: a review of nomenclature, grading, and staging systems. Pancreas 39:707–712
- 32. Nikou GC, Toubanakis C, Moulakakis KG et al (2011) Carcinoid tumors of the duodenum and the ampulla of Vater: current diagnostic and therapeutic approach in a series of 8 patients. Case series. Int J Surg 9:248–253
- 33. Capella C, Riva C, Rindi G et al (1990) Endocrine tumors of the duodenum and upper jejunum. A study of 33 cases with clinico-pathological characteristics and hormone content. Hepatogastroenterology 37:247–252
- Mullen JT, Wang H, Yao JC et al (2005) Carcinoid tumors of the duodenum. Surgery 138: 971–977; discussion 977–978
- Soga J (2003) Endocrinocarcinomas (carcinoids and their variants) of the duodenum. An evaluation of 927 cases. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 22:349–363
- 36. Pipeleers-Marichal M, Somers G, Willems G et al (1990) Gastrinomas in the duodenums of patients with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 and the Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. N Engl J Med 322:723–727
- 37. Pipeleers-Marichal M, Donow C, Heitz PU et al (1993) Pathologic aspects of gastrinomas in patients with Zollinger-Ellison syndrome with and without multiple endocrine neoplasia type I. World J Surg 17:481–488
- Kolby L, Nilsson O, Ahlman H (2004) Gastroduodenal endocrine tumours. Scand J Surg 93:317–323
- Park MI (2013) Endoscopic treatment for early foregut neuroendocrine tumors. Clin Endosc 46:450–455
- 40. Zyromski NJ, Kendrick ML, Nagorney DM et al (2001) Duodenal carcinoid tumors: how aggressive should we be? J Gastrointest Surg 5:588–593
- Burke AP, Sobin LH, Federspiel BH et al (1990) Carcinoid tumors of the duodenum. A clinicopathologic study of 99 cases. Arch Pathol Lab Med 114:700–704
- 42. Eltawil KM, Gustafsson BI, Kidd M et al (2010) Neuroendocrine tumors of the gallbladder: an evaluation and reassessment of management strategy. J Clin Gastroenterol 44:687–695
- Yamamoto M, Nakajo S, Miyoshi N et al (1989) Endocrine cell carcinoma (carcinoid) of the gallbladder. Am J Surg Pathol 13:292–302
- 44. Albores-Saavedra J, Nadji M, Henson DE et al (1986) Intestinal metaplasia of the gallbladder: a morphologic and immunocytochemical study. Hum Pathol 17:614–620

- 45. Sasatomi E, Nalesnik MA, Marsh JW (2013) Neuroendocrine carcinoma of the extrahepatic bile duct: case report and literature review. World J Gastroenterol 19:4616–4623
- 46. Pape UF, Perren A, Niederle B et al (2012) ENETS Consensus Guidelines for the management of patients with neuroendocrine neoplasms from the jejuno-ileum and the appendix including goblet cell carcinomas. Neuroendocrinology 95:135–156
- Strosberg J (2012) Neuroendocrine tumours of the small intestine. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 26:755–773
- Ahmed A, Turner G, King B et al (2009) Midgut neuroendocrine tumours with liver metastases: results of the UKINETS study. Endocr Relat Cancer 16:885–894
- Helland SK, Prosch AM, Viste A (2006) Carcinoid tumours in the gastrointestinal tract–a population-based study from Western Norway. Scand J Surg 95:158–161
- Plockinger U, Rindi G, Arnold R et al (2004) Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of neuroendocrine gastrointestinal tumours. A consensus statement on behalf of the European Neuroendocrine Tumour Society (ENETS). Neuroendocrinology 80:394–424
- 51. Strosberg JR, Weber JM, Feldman M et al (2013) Prognostic validity of the American Joint Committee on Cancer staging classification for midgut neuroendocrine tumors. J Clin Oncol 31:420–425
- 52. Maggard MA, O'Connell JB, Ko CY (2004) Updated population-based review of carcinoid tumors. Ann Surg 240:117–122
- 53. Tomioka K, Fukoe Y, Lee Y et al (2013) Primary neuroendocrine carcinoma of the appendix: a case report and review of the literature. Anticancer Res 33:2635–2638
- 54. Grozinsky-Glasberg S, Alexandraki KI, Barak D et al (2013) Current size criteria for the management of neuroendocrine tumors of the appendix: are they valid? Clinical experience and review of the literature. Neuroendocrinology 98:31–37
- 55. Holt N, Gronbaek H (2013) Goblet cell carcinoids of the appendix. ScientificWorldJournal 2013:543696
- 56. Lawrence B, Gustafsson BI, Chan A et al (2011) The epidemiology of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am 40:1–18, vii
- Modlin IM, Lye KD, Kidd M (2003) A 5-decade analysis of 13,715 carcinoid tumors. Cancer 97:934–959
- 58. Ramage JK, Goretzki PE, Manfredi R et al (2008) Consensus guidelines for the management of patients with digestive neuroendocrine tumours: well-differentiated colon and rectum tumour/carcinoma. Neuroendocrinology 87:31–39
- 59. West NE, Wise PE, Herline AJ et al (2007) Carcinoid tumors are 15 times more common in patients with Crohn's disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis 13:1129–1134
- 60. Boudreaux JP, Klimstra DS, Hassan MM et al (2010) The NANETS consensus guideline for the diagnosis and management of neuroendocrine tumors: well-differentiated neuroendocrine tumors of the Jejunum, Ileum, Appendix, and Cecum. Pancreas 39:753–766
- Mandair D, Caplin ME (2012) Colonic and rectal NET's. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 26:775–789
- 62. Caplin M, Sundin A, Nillson O et al (2012) ENETS Consensus Guidelines for the management of patients with digestive neuroendocrine neoplasms: colorectal neuroendocrine neoplasms. Neuroendocrinology 95:88–97
- 63. Tsikitis VL, Wertheim BC, Guerrero MA (2012) Trends of incidence and survival of gastrointestinal neuroendocrine tumors in the United States: a seer analysis. J Cancer 3:292–302
- Ito T, Sasano H, Tanaka M et al (2010) Epidemiological study of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors in Japan. J Gastroenterol 45:234–243
- Yoon SN, Yu CS, Shin US et al (2010) Clinicopathological characteristics of rectal carcinoids. Int J Colorectal Dis 25:1087–1092
Insulinoma

Simona Grozinsky-Glasberg, Petachia Reissman, and David J. Gross

12.1 Introduction

Insulinomas, the most common functioning pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors (PNETs), represent a rare group of neuroendocrine tumors (NETs) developing from pancreatic beta cells, with an incidence of about 1–3 per million per year [1, 2]. The age of the patient at the time of diagnosis is 47 ± 16 years (mean±SD) (range, 18–85 years), with a female predominance (66 %) [3].

Specifically, insulinomas are small tumors (82 % <2 cm and 47 % <1 cm) [4], and most (~90 %) are single and located in the pancreas, equally distributed in the pancreatic head, body, and tail. The vast majority (>90 %) of insulinomas are solitary and nonmetastatic at presentation and can be therefore surgically cured [5]. In about 10 % of patients, the insulinoma is a component of multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN-1): these patients can present with multiple insulinomas as well as with other secreting/functioning or nonsecreting/nonfunctioning neuroendocrine tumors [6]. Finally, a rare condition is malignant insulinoma, also found in about 10 % of insulinoma patients [2]. Extrapancreatic insulinoma occurring in ectopic pancreatic tissue has also been reported [7].

The aim of this chapter is to summarize the existent literature with respect to the approach to a patient with insulinoma with regard to diagnosis (clinical, biochemical, and radiological) and treatment (surgery, medical therapies), including longterm medical strategies in patients with disseminated or inoperable disease.

S. Grozinsky-Glasberg, MD (🖂) • D.J. Gross

Neuroendocrine Tumor Unit, Endocrinology and Metabolism Service,

Department of Medicine, Hadassah-Hebrew University Medical Center,

P.O.B. 12000, Jerusalem 91120, Israel

The Hebrew University-Hadassah School of Medicine, Jerusalem, Israel

e-mail: simonag@hadassah.org.il

P. Reissman

Department of Surgery, Shaare-Zedek Medical Center,

[©] Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

S. Yalcin, K. Öberg (eds.), Neuroendocrine Tumours:

Diagnosis and Management, DOI 10.1007/978-3-662-45215-8_12

12.2 Clinical and Laboratory Manifestations of Insulinomas (Endogenous Hyperinsulinism-Related Hypoglycemia)

12.2.1 Clinical Manifestations

The clinical symptoms of insulinomas are heterogeneous and related to hyperinsulinemic hypoglycemia.

Hypoglycemia results in autonomic and neuroglycopenic symptoms [8, 9].

Autonomic symptoms comprise of adrenergic symptoms, such as palpitations and tremor, and cholinergic symptoms, with sweating, hunger, and/or paresthesias [10].

Neuroglycopenic symptoms comprise of severe weakness as well as a wide variety of psychiatric and neurological manifestations (most commonly behavioral changes, confusion, agitation or slow reaction patterns, blurred vision, seizures, transient loss of consciousness or hypoglycemic coma) [8]. Hypoglycemic coma is usually sudden, with agitation, hypothermia, and occasionally pyramidal signs; it may be profound and prolonged and therefore may cause neurologic and cognitive sequelae, leading occasionally to brain death. The combination of autonomic and neuroglycopenic symptoms strongly suggests the diagnosis of hypoglycemia [11]. As autonomic symptoms may often be lacking in patients with prolonged hypoglycemia, it is important to remember that neuroglycopenic symptoms are more specific of hypoglycemia related to insulinoma. Therefore, measurements of plasma glucose concentrations are recommended in all patients with such symptoms. Hypoglycemic spells typically occur after a period of fast, several hours after the last meal, or after physical exercise. However, sometimes, hypoglycemia may occur within hours following a meal, or even without any relationship with meal time, and therefore, it is important to remember that symptoms occurring in nonfasting patients cannot rule out the diagnosis of insulinoma. In a series of 214 insulinoma patients, symptoms of hypoglycemia were reported exclusively in the fasting state in 73 %, postprandial state in 6 %, and both fasting and postprandial state in 21 % [12]. Weight gain is also reported in 25 % of patients.

In the rare pregnant patient with insulinoma, symptoms may mimic those of emesis in early pregnancy, may disappear in late pregnancy as a consequence of insulin resistance, recurring after delivery [13–15].

Because insulinoma symptoms are not specific and can mimic other pathological conditions, a broad differential diagnosis should be considered, a major distinction being made from patients with noninsulinoma pancreatogenous hypoglycemia (NIPHS) [16, 17], hypoglycemia related to oral hypoglycemic agents and exogenous insulin administration (no circulating insulin antibodies) [18].

12.2.2 Laboratory/Biochemical Diagnosis of Insulinomas

12.2.2.1 Whipple's Triad

The combination of symptoms of hypoglycemia, plasma glucose level $\leq 2.2 \text{ mmol/l}$ ($\leq 40 \text{ mg/dl}$), and symptom relief after administration of glucose (known as *Whipple's triad*) is fundamental for the diagnosis of insulinoma.

12.2.2.2 Plasma Glucose and Insulin Concentrations

Glucose

Since the lack of diagnostic specificity of the clinical symptoms in patients with insulinomas, measurement of plasma concentration of glucose is mandatory, ideally during clinical symptoms, and must be performed on venous blood samples with a reliable laboratory method.

The threshold to define hypoglycemia is controversial: according to recent expert recommendations [18], a 0.55 g/L threshold is mandatory. However, the glycemic threshold that can cause clinical symptoms is very heterogeneous among individuals, and a plasma concentration of glucose <0.7 g/L at the time of clinical symptoms is believed to be enough to warrant further investigation. Since even values below 0.55 g/L can be found in some healthy individuals, young women in particular, it is also recommended by the expert consensus that such levels should be taken into account for further evaluation only in patients who had presented with Whipple's triad. Only on extremely rare occasions insulinoma patients are asymptomatic and do not fulfill Whipple's triad [3]. In many insulinoma patients, the clinical symptoms may appear only at very low glucose levels, so that they may be asymptomatic at the time of plasma glucose concentrations even below 0.45 g/L [19].

Insulin

Another basic requirement for the diagnosis of insulinoma is to provide evidence for inappropriate insulin secretion at the time of hypoglycemia. The diagnosis of hypoglycemia related to endogenous hyperinsulinism can be made when the serum insulin concentration is ≥ 3 mIU/L, serum C-peptide concentration is ≥ 0.6 ng/mL (0.2 nmol/L), and serum proinsulin concentration is ≥ 5 pmol/L at the time of venous plasma glucose concentrations <0.55 g/L. During a fast test, beta-hydroxybutyrate levels of ≤ 2.7 mmol/L and an increase in plasma glucose of at least 0.25 g/L after intravenous glucagon indicate mediation of hypoglycemia by insulin [3].

A mandatory prerequisite for a valid diagnosis of insulinoma is a careful processing of the blood samples for insulin in order to obtain reliable biochemical data for evaluation; these data are important especially when the diagnosis of endogenous hyperinsulinemia/insulinoma seems to be less questionable despite the patient's clinical presentation. Identical serum and plasma samples measured in different laboratories may produce widely disparate insulin values, being many times unacceptable for comparisons [20]. Assay characteristics such as linearity, recovery, accuracy, and cross-reactivity to proinsulin vary among the laboratories, and therefore, a rigorous quality control and continuous quality improvement are needed to maintain reliability of the insulin measurement [21].

Insulin concentrations have been measured for many years with nonspecific assays that yielded cross-reactions with proinsulin. The insulin assays that are now in use have negligible cross-reaction with proinsulin. Though the 3 mIU/L threshold (which replaces a 6 mIU/l threshold previously established with less specific insulin assays) was established for insulin-specific assays, it is known now that the finding of low insulin levels with such assays cannot rule out the diagnosis of insulinoma [22]. Up to 35 % patients with insulinoma were found to have insulin levels below

the recommended diagnostic threshold (3 mIU/L) at the time of hypoglycemia, depending on the assay employed [3].

12.2.2.3 Other Biomarkers

C-Peptide, Proinsulin, and Beta-Hydroxybutyrate

C-peptide and proinsulin levels at the time of hypoglycemia have better diagnostic accuracy than insulin levels: a serum C-peptide level of ≥ 0.6 ng/mL with a plasma glucose of ≤ 0.55 g/l is one of the criteria for defining endogenous hyperinsulinism hypoglycemia [3, 12, 23].

Another valuable tool for the diagnosis of insulinoma is measurement of fasting plasma beta-hydroxybutyrate levels. As insulin is known to suppress ketogenesis, a progressive rise in beta-hydroxybutyrate of >2.7 mmol/L was found to rule out the diagnosis of insulinoma when blood glucose levels were 0.50–0.60 g/L during a 72-h fast test (with high, but still controversial, sensitivity and specificity) [12, 23].

Most of the insulin metabolism takes place in the liver and in the kidney; moreover, the kidney also removes 70 % of C-peptide by renal filtration. Therefore, measuring insulin and C-peptide levels in patients with severe renal insufficiency is not helpful; in such patients, it has been recommended to use beta-hydroxybutyrate levels and glucose response to glucagon at the end of a fast test to provide evidence for insulin-related hypoglycemia [24].

12.2.2.4 The Prolonged (72 h) Fasting Test

One of the most robust standard tests used for establishing a biochemical diagnosis of insulinoma is the prolonged (72 h) fast, which is recommended if a venous sample cannot be collected when hypoglycemia occurs spontaneously. Currently, it is recommended that a prolonged, supervised, hospital setting fast be performed, at least for 48 h if not for 72 h; the absence of hypoglycemia after a 72-h fast should exclude the diagnosis [10, 25]. However, although the sensitivity of the 72-h fast is high and the test plays an important role in the diagnosis of an insulinoma, a "normal" test result should be interpreted in the light of clinical symptoms [26]. There is a detailed protocol for the fast test [9, 16, 18]. Whereas the patient is allowed to drink calorie-free beverages, blood samples are collected every 6 h until the plasma glucose concentration is less than 0.6 g/L; if the patient remains asymptomatic, then the frequency of sampling is increased to every 1-2 h. Serum insulin, C-peptide, proinsulin, and beta-hydroxybutyrate are to be measured in all the samples taken at the same time when plasma glucose concentration drops below 0.6 g/L. It is recommended that at the end of the fast test, a sample should be collected to measure oral hypoglycemic agents. Insulin antibodies should also be measured. The fast test can be terminated (1) when Whipple's triad is observed, (2) when plasma glucose concentrations drop below 0.55 g/L in a patient who had previously experienced Whipple's triad, and (3) if plasma beta-hydroxybutyrate levels rise above 2.7 mmol/L [18]. In most insulinoma patients, plasma glucose concentrations below 0.45 g/Lare usually reached within the first 48 h of the test [3, 27], though the 72-h fast test, followed sometimes by a brief period of exercise (e.g., 5-min running up and down

one flight of stairs), was reported to be necessary to provide a clear diagnostic conclusion in a few patients [16, 17, 26].

12.2.2.5 C-Peptide Suppression Test

It was Service et al. [28] who first published data for the C-peptide suppression test, a simple, outpatient, less expensive, and less time-consuming procedure, whose rationale is based upon the physiological suppressibility of endogenous insulin secretion by means of an exogenous insulin infusion. With a specificity of 96 % and a sensitivity of 100 %, the C-peptide suppression test (C-peptide cutoff levels above 0.2 nmol/l) identifies those patients who definitely will require a further standard in-hospital fasting test [3, 29].

12.2.2.6 Glucagon Test

Glucagon and insulin are part of a feedback system that keeps blood glucose levels at a stable level, as glucagon raises blood glucose levels, opposite to insulin [30].

An increase in plasma glucose of at least 25 mg/dL (0.25 g/L, 1.4 mmol/L) after intravenous glucagon suggests insulin-induced hypoglycemia [18]. The test should be performed at the end of a prolonged fast test: at the time of symptomatic hypoglycemia with concomitant plasma glucose concentrations of ≤ 0.45 g/L (2.5 mmol/L) or after 72 h of fast and measuring plasma glucose at 10-min intervals for 30 min showing higher glucose in insulinomas (with a range of maximal increase in plasma glucose concentrations of 1.4–5.4 mmol/L in insulinoma patients and of 0.1–1.3 mmol/L in controls) [23, 31, 32].

In summary, clinical and laboratory diagnosis of insulinoma patients, as recommended also by European Neuroendocrine Tumor Society (ENETS) guidelines [4], can be established using the following 6 strict criteria: documented blood glucose levels $\leq 2.2 \text{ mmol/l}$ ($\leq 40 \text{ mg/dl}$), concomitant insulin levels $\geq 6 \text{ U/l}$ ($\geq 36 \text{ pmol/l}$; ≥ 3 U/l by ICMA), C-peptide levels $\geq 200 \text{ pmol/l}$, proinsulin levels $\geq 5 \text{ pmol/l}$, hydroxybutyrate levels $\leq 2.7 \text{ mmol/l}$, and absence of sulfonylurea (metabolites) in the plasma and/or urine.

Further testing includes the 72-h fast, which is the gold standard for establishing the diagnosis of insulinoma [33]. When the patient develops symptoms and the blood glucose levels are $\leq 2.2 \text{ mmol/l}$ ($\leq 40 \text{ mg/dl}$), blood should be drawn for C-peptide, proinsulin, and insulin: presence of detectable insulin during hypoglycemia is highly suggestive for insulinoma [8, 9, 16].

12.3 Differential Diagnosis of Insulinoma [34–36] (Table 12.1)

12.3.1 Reactive "Functional Hypoglycemia"

Reactive "functional hypoglycemia" is a controversial entity, and it is now known that many organic disorders may result both in fasting and/or reactive hypoglycemia. Many patients present with dizziness or other minor autonomic symptoms within the hours following a meal, but most do not meet the criteria for
 Table 12.1
 Differential diagnosis of endogenous hyperinsulinemic hypoglycemia

 Congenital
 Congenital

- o Transient neonatal hyperinsulinism (mechanism not known)
- Focal hyperinsulinism (K_{ATP} channel disorders)
 - Paternal SUR1mutation with clonal loss of heterozygosity of 11p15
 - Paternal Kir6.2 mutation with clonal loss of heterozygosity of 11p15
- o Diffuse hyperinsulinism
 - K_{ATP} channel disorders (SUR1 or Kir6.2 mutations)
 - Glucokinase gain-of-function mutations
 - Hyperammonemic hyperinsulinism
 - Short chain acyl coenzyme A dehydrogenase deficiency
 - Carbohydrate-deficient glycoprotein syndrome (Jaeken disease)
 - Beckwith-Wiedemann syndrome (suspected due to hyperinsulinism but pathophysiology uncertain: 11p15 mutation or IGF2 excess)

<u>Acquired</u>

- o Postprandial hyperinsulinemic hypoglycemia
 - Dumping syndrome
 - Post-gastric bypass surgery
 - Insulin autoimmune syndrome
- 0 Insulinoma
 - Sporadic
 - Multiple endocrine neoplasias type 1
- \circ Adult nesidioblastosis
- o Drugs (quinine etc.)
- o Factitious use of oral anti-hyperglycemic drugs (sulphonylurea etc.)
- o Adrenal insufficiency
- o Unusual (generally transient)
 - Maternal diabetes mellitus
 - Perinatal asphyxiation
 - Intrauterine growth restriction
 - Rhesus isoimmunization

hypoglycemia, or for Whipple's triad. Rarely, insulinoma can present as reactive hypoglycemia [37].

12.3.2 Hyperinsulinemic Hypoglycemia

12.3.2.1 Drug-Induced Hypoglycemia

The first step in the evaluation of hypoglycemia is to check if the patient is treated with medications that can cause hypoglycemia. There is a large variety of drugs implicated in hypoglycemia (e.g., aspirin, pentamidine, quinine, disopyramide, etc.) and listed elsewhere) [38, 39].

12.3.2.2 Factitious Hypoglycemia Related to Insulin and Insulin Analogues (High Insulin Levels with Low C-Peptide and Proinsulin Levels, Exogenous Hyperinsulinism)

The finding of high insulin levels with concomitant low C-peptide and proinsulin levels is very specific for the diagnosis of surreptitious insulin injections [40].

Importantly, insulin assays that can identify the presence of insulin analogues are to be preferred [41, 42].

12.3.2.3 Factitious Hypoglycemia Related to Sulfonylureas or Glinides (High Insulin, C-Peptide, and Proinsulin Levels) (Factitious Endogenous Hyperinsulinism)

At the time of symptomatic hypoglycemia, in order to distinguish factitious (or accidental) hypoglycemia from the endogenous abnormal insulin secretion (observed in patients with insulinomas and nesidioblastosis), it is mandatory to collect a plasma sample or a urine collection to measure oral hypoglycemic agents (sulfonylureas and glinides). This diagnosis is difficult and usually suspected in patients whose relatives are diabetic or health professionals [43].

12.3.2.4 Idiopathic Noninsulinoma Pancreatogenous Hypoglycemia Syndrome (Endogenous Hyperinsulinism)

The noninsulinoma pancreatogenous hypoglycemia syndrome (NIPHS) identifies a group of hyperinsulinemic hypoglycemic patients with unique clinical, diagnostic, surgical, and pathologic features [17, 44]. These patients experience predominantly postprandial hypoglycemia and have nesidioblastosis with islet cell hypertrophy, findings different from those in patients with insulinomas.

12.4 The Histopathological Diagnosis of Insulinomas

The latest 2010 WHO classifies NETs of the pancreas into three categories: (1) well-differentiated endocrine tumors, with benign or uncertain behavior at the time of diagnosis; (2) well-differentiated endocrine carcinomas with low-grade malignant behavior, and (3) poorly differentiated endocrine carcinomas, with high-grade malignant behavior. Most insulinomas are well-differentiated endocrine tumors, WHO group 1; however, occasionally they belong to the WHO 2 or 3 group [45].

For the appropriate histological diagnosis of insulinoma, a detailed macroscopic and microscopic description and an immunohistochemical staining for neuroendocrine tumor markers (chromogranin and synaptophysin), as well as for insulin, proinsulin, and amyloid, are all recommended. However, the immunohistochemical determination of insulin expression by tumor cells does not appear to be an absolute need for diagnosis, as some insulinomas do not stain positively for insulin due to a rapid turnover of insulin secretion from the insulin-producing cells [46]. Evaluation of the mitotic index and Ki-67 index is required to define the grade of the tumor and the related patient prognosis and treatment approach [4].

In 5–10 %, insulinomas may be malignant [47, 48]. Whereas the clinical and biochemical diagnostic criteria of insulinoma do not differ from those of benign insulinomas, the histological diagnosis of malignancy is difficult, and actually the only definite criterion for malignancy is the presence of metastatic disease. However, in clinical practice, a malignant insulinoma is generally found to be a single large tumor, and in most cases, there are synchronous metastases, generally located in regional lymph nodes or in the liver. Suspicion of aggressive tumor behavior, apart

from metastases, includes invasion of adjacent organs, a tumor size >2 cm, angioinvasion, and high proliferative activity [49-51].

Rarely, metastatic nonfunctioning pancreatic NETs may change their biological behavior in parallel with tumor progression, with transformation to insulinoma, manifested by a clinical picture of endogenous hyperinsulinemic hypoglycemia (*personal experience, unpublished*).

12.5 The Role of Anatomical and Functional Imaging in the Diagnosis of Insulinoma

As a rule, imaging should be performed only after the biochemical diagnosis of insulinoma has been established. The role of imaging is to detect the anatomical localization and to stage the tumor prior to surgery [11]. It is known that the majority of insulinomas are solitary and located in the pancreas. They are characteristically small (most being ≤ 2 cm at presentation) and therefore extremely difficult to localize radiologically [52]. Intraoperative palpation and ultrasound examination of the pancreas are thought to be the best methods to detect insulinomas [53]. Using such methods intraoperatively remains mandatory. However, careful imaging procedure should be performed in an attempt to localize the tumor before surgery, allowing preoperative planning of the surgical procedure according to the size and precise location of the tumor (Whipple's procedure or middle or distal pancreatectomy, enucleation vs. resection).

The imaging techniques have greatly improved, and the most useful modalities are 3-phase computed tomography (CT), gadolinium-enhanced dynamic magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), and endoscopic ultrasound. Invasive techniques such as selective celiac and mesenteric arteriography, venography, and venous sampling are rarely used, and together with somatostatin receptor imaging and positron emission tomography (PET) with [11]C-5-hydroxytryptophan (5-HTP) as tracer (HTP-PET) or [11] C-1-DOPA (DOPA-PET), they represent complementary techniques in specific situations, such as tumor localization in patients with MEN-1. Unfortunately, there is a wide discrepancy in the use of localization techniques between different centers, as result of the specialist expertise and the availability of imaging equipment [53].

12.5.1 Computed Tomography (CT)

High-definition multi-detector helical CT scan is the first examination recommended to be performed to localize insulinomas; meticulous technique is mandatory [54, 55]. Most insulinomas are small, isodense with the pancreas on pre-contrast images, and then hypervascular on arterial phase images but sometimes are more easily detected on portal venous phase images. More rarely, the tumors are hyperdense in comparison to the pancreas, or have nodular calcification, or appear hypovascular, cystic, or hypodense after injection of contrast medium. Exceptionally, ectopic insulinomas are located in the proximity of the pancreas or of the liver. While the sensitivity of non-helical CT had been 29 %, multi-detector triphasic helical CT scan technique can result in 94 % sensitivity [54, 56]. As the majority of benign insulinomas tend to be small at presentation and, therefore, seldom alter the contour of the pancreas, 3-phase CT should be used to maximize detection. Insulinomas are typically hypervascular, and their appearance is that of a hyper-attenuating lesion in both the arterial and portal venous phases. Liver metastases also tend to be hypervascular, and, therefore, the arterial phase shows the number and size of liver metastases better than the venous phase. The reported sensitivity of CT for the detection of insulinomas is in the range of 30–85 %, depending on tumor size [56], whereas combined 3-phase CT and endoscopic ultrasound may further increase this sensitivity up to 100 % [57].

12.5.2 Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI)

MRI has high sensitivities (85–95 %) for the detection of insulinomas and/or insulinoma-related metastases. MRI is superior to CT for the detection of small lesions: the enhancement pattern of insulinomas on MRI is related to their hyper-vascularity; usually, they are low in signal intensity on fat-suppressed T1-weighted images and moderately high in signal intensity on fat-suppressed T2-weighted images [58–61].

12.5.3 Transabdominal Ultrasound

Transabdominal ultrasound examination is considered to be of low sensitivity in the detection of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors like insulinomas. Recently, contrastenhanced ultrasonography has been reported to detect insulinomas in a higher number of patients [62].

12.5.4 Endoscopic Ultrasound

Endoscopic ultrasound (EUS) is currently considered the best preoperative procedure to localize insulinomas with high sensitivity (of 94 %) [63], mainly for lesions located in the head and body of the pancreas and less for tail lesions. Even if recent CT scan techniques lead to localization of most insulinomas, EUS permits a better evaluation of the lesions (especially if they are multiple) and of their proximity to pancreatic ducts and vessels, and it also enables the operator to obtain biopsies [64]. The high spatial resolution of this technique allows the precise anatomical localization of very small lesions. Combined with 3-phase CT, the sensitivity rises to 100 % [64].

12.5.5 Intraoperative Ultrasound and Laparoscopic Intraoperative Ultrasound

Intraoperative ultrasound (IOUS) is mandatory during surgery of insulinomas in order to localize non-palpable tumors. IOUS is also highly useful in defining the relationship of the tumor to the adjacent pancreatic and bile ducts and blood vessels.

Intraoperative localization techniques (both careful palpation of the pancreas and IOUS) represent the most reliable way for tumor localization and for proceeding with the appropriate surgical approach (tumor enucleation vs. middle pancreatectomy). Moreover, it is indispensible in patients in whom multiple lesions are suspected, e.g., in MEN-1 patients [65, 66]. In experienced hands, laparoscopic IOUS can identify more than 85 % of insulinomas [67, 68].

Despite the high sensitivity of IOUS, a detailed preoperative examination is necessary to localize insulinomas, to minimize the risk of reoperation, to help in the choice of the surgical technique, and to render laparoscopic surgery as the preferred technique when it appears to be the possible choice to remove the tumor [69].

12.5.6 [111]In-Pentetreotide Scintigraphy (OctreoScan) and Positron Emission Tomography (PET)

OctreoScan is only positive in up to 46 % of benign insulinomas because of the low expression of somatostatin receptor (SSTR) type 2 by insulinomas [70]. In malignant insulinomas, however, the relative distribution of SSTR subtypes is different from benign tumors with a higher rate of scan positivity [71-73].

PET imaging of insulinomas with [18]F-fluorodeoxyglucose ([18]F-FDG) is disappointing, presumably because of their low proliferation rate. Promising results, however, have been obtained using [11]C-5-HTP, [18]F-DOPA, and [68]Ga-DOTA-DPhe [1]-Tyr [3]-octreotide ([68]Ga-DOTATOC) [74, 75].

Recently, there are promising results using a radiolabeled glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1) analogue. Insulinomas are characterized by a very high expression of GLP-1 receptors [70]. Using a radiolabeled GLP-1 analogue ([111]In-DOTA-exendin-4) in six patients with insulinomas, GLP-1 analogue scintigraphy correctly localized the tumor in all patients, whereas CT scan was positive only in 1, MRI scan only in 1, and EUS in 4 [76].

12.5.7 Angiography

Angiography combined with calcium stimulation and transhepatic portal venous sampling (THPVS) was considered the gold standard for insulinoma localization [77]. This technique combines both anatomic and functional localization and screens for an insulin concentration gradient during insulin levels measurement in the right hepatic vein; it may be used in difficult cases [53].

In a recent study [78], the diagnostic accuracy of most methods employed to localize insulinomas in the years 1990–2009 was compared, demonstrating that the multi-detector CT scan employed by an experienced radiologist (with MRI as complementary technique) predicts tumor localization with the highest accuracy, whereas OctreoScan and EUS can be valuable in selected cases, and calcium stimulation may provide an additional functional perspective in those cases not localized by the previously mentioned procedures.

12.6 Therapy of Insulinomas

12.6.1 Surgical Therapy

Surgery remains the only curative treatment of insulinomas, and long-term remission can be achieved by surgery in 95 % of patients [79]. The type of surgery depends on the size and the location of the tumor and on its proximity to anatomical structures (pancreatic duct, common bile duct, splenic and superior mesenteric vessels, and adjacent organs). The entire pancreas should be exposed and explored, using inspection and intraoperative ultrasound, as multiple tumors need to be excluded.

Usually, tumor enucleation is preferred to minimize risks of postoperative pancreatic exocrine deficiency and diabetes mellitus. It should be performed only to excise small (approximately 1 cm in diameter) expectedly benign small tumors on the surface of the pancreas [5]; provided that the surgery is performed by experienced surgeons, the risk of pancreatic fistula after enucleation is not higher than that observed in larger resections of the pancreas [80]. However, when the tumor is anatomically unsuitable for enucleation, central or distal pancreatectomy is safe and effective alternative [68, 81, 82], intraoperative ultrasound IOUS remains mandatory, and rarely, bidigital palpation is required [83]. Importantly, an extensive resection is always the rule for larger size or locally advanced insulinomas that are suspected to be malignant.

Except for pancreaticoduodenectomy (Whipple's procedure), laparoscopic surgery can be successfully and safely utilized in specialty centers for the majority of pancreatic procedures, with the many advantages in comparison to open surgery [84], although the rate of pancreatic fistulas is not reduced, as it reduces the duration of the hospitalization and the associated morbidity. Laparoscopy must be performed only by experienced surgeons in both advanced laparoscopy and pancreatobiliary surgery. Noteworthy, as intraoperative bidigital palpation of the pancreas is not possible in this situation, laparoscopic ultrasound by an experienced surgeon is mandatory (Fig. 12.1).

When no insulinoma is detected at operation, it is recommended to end the procedure and to perform additional investigations in order to localize the tumor. Blind distal pancreatectomy is not recommended [85], due to its short- and long-term morbidity and its frequent failure to achieve disease cure.

12.6.2 Medical Therapy

Dietary consultation is important to prevent prolonged periods of fasting and the development of hypoglycemia and its associated symptoms. Self-monitoring of glucose levels is recommended to insulinoma patients in order to detect asymptomatic hypoglycemia and to prevent occurrence of hypoglycemic spells [86]. The patients should be advised regarding everyday personal safety to avoid loss of consciousness and its possible consequences.



Fig. 12.1 Head of pancreas insulinoma enucleation. (a) Intraoperative laparoscopic ultrasound of the head of the pancreas using a flexible 10-mm probe, showing a 1.2-cm insulinoma. Note the common rich vascularity of the tumor as seen on the Doppler ultrasound in the lower right of the picture. (b) Enucleation of the insulinoma using an ultrasonic energy dissector; SMV, superior mesenteric vein. (c) Post-enucleation, note the tumor bed and the minimal defect in pancreatic tissue. (d) Specimen, the tumor is well encapsulated and completely excised

Medical management is reserved only for preoperative control of blood glucose levels, for patients who are unable or unwilling to undergo surgical treatment, or for unresectable metastatic disease.

Continuous glucose infusion may be necessary in some patients, while waiting for surgery or for the effect of other treatments. Vitamin B1 supplementation is recommended for patients with severe recurrent hypoglycemia requiring large infusions of glucose, in order to prevent Wernicke's encephalopathy [87]. Diazoxide is the most effective drug for controlling hypoglycemia; at a dosage of 50–300 mg/day (up to 600 mg/day), it suppresses insulin secretion by direct action on the beta cells and by enhancing glycogenolysis [88]. However, the disturbing side effects of diazoxide (e.g., fluid retention and edema, weight gain, nausea and digestive intolerance, renal impairment, skin rashes, and hirsutism) limit its use. Verapamil and diphenylhydantoin have also been reported to be help-ful in the control of hypoglycemia [89–91]. Glucocorticoids can be effective in

refractory cases [92], by decreasing insulin secretion and increasing peripheral insulin resistance. However, their association with well-known adverse effects precludes long-term use of these drugs.

Somatostatin analogues (SSAs) inhibit insulin secretion mainly through their effects on SSTR2A and SSTR5 subtypes, which were found in 70 % of insulinomas [73]; however, in patients with tumors that do not express these receptor subtypes, SSAs may worsen hypoglycemia, possibly by suppression of glucagon secretion [89, 93, 94], and therefore, this therapy should be started in an in-hospital setting. SSAs can achieve normalization of plasma glucose levels in up to 60 % of the patients [95], with few adverse effects, mostly digestive intolerance with diarrhea and steatorrhea that can be managed by pancreatic enzyme supplementation. The dose of octreotide that was found to control the hypoglycemia varied between 50 and 2,000 μ g per day, and it had to be determined on an individual basis. A short 100- μ g octreotide test, not OctreoScan uptake, was predictive of the long-term efficacy of octreotide treatment on hypoglycemia. This could be explained by the differing affinities of OctreoScan and octreotide for SSTR2 [95, 96].

Interferon alpha may also be beneficial in some selected cases [97].

12.6.3 Specific Treatments for Patients with Malignant Insulinoma

Malignant insulinomas present a dual therapeutic challenge, in terms of both the control of tumor progression and the control of symptomatic hypoglycemia. The course of the metastatic disease is very heterogeneous, with a reported 10-year survival of about 30 % [25]. However, some patients may present with a very slow progression rate, whereas others present with rapid tumor progression and poor survival rate.

Symptomatic treatment of metastatic insulinomas aims at achieving short-term control of the hypoglycemia while awaiting the effects of antitumor treatment or when antitumor treatments do not prove to be effective. All the medications used in benign insulinomas can be employed, but usually, a combination of several hyper-glycemic drugs is needed [95].

Since malignant insulinomas are rare, and there is no prospective study to date on this disease specifically, the therapeutic approach is as for other pancreatic neuroendocrine carcinomas. Whenever it is possible, surgery has to be initially considered, aiming at a total excision of all detectable lesions. However, as recurrence is frequent (about 60 %) [47], other treatments should be considered, such as chemoembolization of liver metastases [98], radiofrequency ablation [99], cytotoxic chemotherapy (traditionally with a combination of streptozotocin, doxorubicin, and 5-fluorouracil and, recently, with capecitabine and temozolomide) [100, 101, 102], peptide receptor radionuclide therapy [103–105] (PRRT, especially with ¹⁷⁷Lutetium-DOTATATE), or targeted therapies with tyrosine kinase inhibitors (sunitinib) or mTOR inhibitors (everolimus) [106, 107]. The mTOR inhibitor everolimus (Afinitor, Novartis, Switzerland) deserves special mention as it seems to possess a profound effect for the control of both hypoglycemia and tumor progression [108, 109]. Everolimus has recently been shown to improve progression-free survival of patients with well-differentiated progressive metastatic pancreatic NETs and has been approved as a new antitumor therapeutic option for this indication [107]. Long-term administration of everolimus may alter insulin secretion, as well as insulin-mediated peripheral glucose utilization and insulin-mediated suppression of hepatic glucose production, thereby resulting in normo- or hyperglycemia in most of the patients with malignant insulinomas [110]. A recent, largest to date, study in patients with malignant insulinomas [111] clearly demonstrated that 11/12 patients (91 %) experienced a complete resolution of hypoglycemia on everolimus, despite failure of other previous therapeutic modalities. Cardiac and pulmonary tolerance should be carefully monitored in patients treated with everolimus [111].

References

- 1. Cryer PE (2009) Preventing hypoglycaemia: what is the appropriate glucose alert value? Diabetologia 52(1):35–37
- de Herder WW, van Schaik E, Kwekkeboom D, Feelders RA (2011) New therapeutic options for metastatic malignant insulinomas. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 75(3):277–284
- Vezzosi D, Bennet A, Fauvel J, Caron P (2007) Insulin, C-peptide and proinsulin for the biochemical diagnosis of hypoglycaemia related to endogenous hyperinsulinism. Eur J Endocrinol 157(1):75–83
- de Herder WW, Niederle B, Scoazec JY et al (2006) Well-differentiated pancreatic tumor/ carcinoma: insulinoma. Neuroendocrinology 84(3):183–188
- 5. Finlayson E, Clark OH (2004) Surgical treatment of insulinomas. Surg Clin North Am 84(3):775–785
- Brandi ML (1991) Multiple endocrine neoplasia type I: general features and new insights into etiology. J Endocrinol Invest 14(1):61–72
- Hennings J, Garske U, Botling J, Hellman P (2005) Malignant insulinoma in ectopic pancreatic tissue. Dig Surg 22(5):377–379
- 8. Service FJ (1997) Insulinoma and other islet-cell tumors. Cancer Treat Res 89:335-346
- 9. Service FJ (1995) Hypoglycemic disorders. N Engl J Med 332(17):1144-1152
- Edis AJ, McIlrath DC, Van Heerden JA et al (1976) Insulinoma–current diagnosis and surgical management. Curr Probl Surg 13(10):1–45
- 11. Grant CS (2005) Insulinoma. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 19(5):783-798
- Placzkowski KA, Vella A, Thompson GB et al (2009) Secular trends in the presentation and management of functioning insulinoma at the Mayo Clinic, 1987–2007. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 94(4):1069–1073
- Diaz AG, Herrera J, Lopez M, Puchulu FM, Ferraina P, Bruno OD (2008) Insulinoma associated with pregnancy. Fertil Steril 90(1):199.e1–4
- 14. Christiansen E, Vestergaard H (2008) Insulinoma in a third-trimester pregnant woman combined with pre-eclampsia: a case report and review of the diagnostic strategies. Gynecol Endocrinol 24(7):417–422
- Galun E, Ben-Yehuda A, Berlatzki J, Ben-Chetrit E, Gross DJ (1986) Insulinoma complicating pregnancy: case report and review of the literature. Am J Obstet Gynecol 155(1):64–65
- Service FJ (1999) Diagnostic approach to adults with hypoglycemic disorders. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am 28(3):519–532, vi

- Service FJ, Natt N, Thompson GB et al (1999) Noninsulinoma pancreatogenous hypoglycemia: a novel syndrome of hyperinsulinemic hypoglycemia in adults independent of mutations in Kir6.2 and SUR1 genes. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 84(5):1582–1589
- Cryer PE, Axelrod L, Grossman AB et al (2009) Evaluation and management of adult hypoglycemic disorders: an Endocrine Society Clinical Practice Guideline. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 94(3):709–728
- Schultes B, Kern W, Oltmanns K et al (2005) Differential adaptation of neurocognitive brain functions to recurrent hypoglycemia in healthy men. Psychoneuroendocrinology 30(2):149–161
- 20. Robbins DC, Andersen L, Bowsher R et al (1996) Report of the American Diabetes Association's Task Force on standardization of the insulin assay. Diabetes 45(2):242–256
- 21. Marcovina S, Bowsher RR, Miller WG et al (2007) Standardization of insulin immunoassays: report of the American Diabetes Association Workgroup. Clin Chem 53(4):711–716
- Vezzosi D, Bennet A, Fauvel J et al (2003) Insulin levels measured with an insulin-specific assay in patients with fasting hypoglycaemia related to endogenous hyperinsulinism. Eur J Endocrinol 149(5):413–419
- O'Brien T, O'Brien PC, Service FJ (1993) Insulin surrogates in insulinoma. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 77(2):448–451
- Basu A, Sheehan MT, Thompson GB, Service FJ (2002) Insulinoma in chronic renal failure: a case report. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 87(11):4889–4891
- Service FJ, Dale AJ, Elveback LR, Jiang NS (1976) Insulinoma: clinical and diagnostic features of 60 consecutive cases. Mayo Clin Proc 51(7):417–429
- 26. Kar P, Price P, Sawers S, Bhattacharya S, Reznek RH, Grossman AB (2006) Insulinomas may present with normoglycemia after prolonged fasting but glucose-stimulated hypoglycemia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 91(12):4733–4736
- Hirshberg B, Livi A, Bartlett DL et al (2000) Forty-eight-hour fast: the diagnostic test for insulinoma. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 85(9):3222–3226
- Service FJ, O'Brien PC, Kao PC, Young WF Jr (1992) C-peptide suppression test: effects of gender, age, and body mass index; implications for the diagnosis of insulinoma. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 74(1):204–210
- 29. Saddig C, Bender R, Starke AA (2002) A new classification plot for the C-peptide suppression test. JOP 3(1):16–25
- Drucker DJ (2003) Glucagon-like peptides: regulators of cell proliferation, differentiation, and apoptosis. Mol Endocrinol 17(2):161–171
- Wiesli P, Schmid C, Perren A, Pfammatter T, Spinas GA, Keller U (2004) Hypoglycemia in response to glucose and glucagon in insulinoma patients with a negative prolonged fast: functional and morphological properties. J Endocrinol Invest 27(9):832–838
- 32. Soh AW, Kek PC (2010) Insulinoma in a patient with normal results from prolonged fast and glucagon-induced hypoglycemia. Endocr Pract 16(5):838–841
- 33. Service FJ, Natt N (2000) The prolonged fast. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 85(11):3973-3974
- Kapoor RR, James C, Hussain K (2009) Advances in the diagnosis and management of hyperinsulinemic hypoglycemia. Nat Clin Pract Endocrinol Metab 5(2):101–112
- Raffel A, Krausch MM, Anlauf M et al (2007) Diffuse nesidioblastosis as a cause of hyperinsulinemic hypoglycemia in adults: a diagnostic and therapeutic challenge. Surgery 141(2):179– 184; discussion 85–86
- Service GJ, Thompson GB, Service FJ, Andrews JC, Collazo-Clavell ML, Lloyd RV (2005) Hyperinsulinemic hypoglycemia with nesidioblastosis after gastric-bypass surgery. N Engl J Med 353(3):249–254
- Connor H, Scarpello JH (1979) An insulinoma presenting with reactive hypoglycaemia. Postgrad Med J 55(648):735–738
- Murad MH, Coto-Yglesias F, Wang AT et al (2009) Clinical review: drug-induced hypoglycemia: a systematic review. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 94(3):741–745
- Limburg PJ, Katz H, Grant CS, Service FJ (1993) Quinine-induced hypoglycemia. Ann Intern Med 119(3):218–219

- Grunberger G, Weiner JL, Silverman R, Taylor S, Gorden P (1988) Factitious hypoglycemia due to surreptitious administration of insulin. Diagnosis, treatment, and long-term follow-up. Ann Intern Med 108(2):252–257
- 41. Sapin R (2003) Insulin assays: previously known and new analytical features. Clin Lab 49(3-4):113-121
- Neal JM, Han W (2008) Insulin immunoassays in the detection of insulin analogues in factitious hypoglycemia. Endocr Pract 14(8):1006–1010
- Hirshberg B, Skarulis MC, Pucino F, Csako G, Brennan R, Gorden P (2001) Repaglinideinduced factitious hypoglycemia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 86(2):475–477
- 44. Thompson GB, Service FJ, Andrews JC et al (2000) Noninsulinoma pancreatogenous hypoglycemia syndrome: an update in 10 surgically treated patients. Surgery 128(6):937–944; discussion 44–45
- 45. Rindi G (2010) The ENETS guidelines: the new TNM classification system. Tumori 96(5):806-809
- Rindi G, Kloppel G (2004) Endocrine tumors of the gut and pancreas tumor biology and classification. Neuroendocrinology 80(Suppl 1):12–15
- Danforth DN Jr, Gorden P, Brennan MF (1984) Metastatic insulin-secreting carcinoma of the pancreas: clinical course and the role of surgery. Surgery 96(6):1027–1037
- Service FJ, McMahon MM, O'Brien PC, Ballard DJ (1991) Functioning insulinoma-incidence, recurrence, and long-term survival of patients: a 60-year study. Mayo Clin Proc 66(7):711–719
- 49. Kloppel G, Couvelard A, Perren A et al (2009) ENETS Consensus Guidelines for the Standards of Care in Neuroendocrine Tumors: towards a standardized approach to the diagnosis of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors and their prognostic stratification. Neuroendocrinology 90(2):162–166
- 50. Kloppel G (2007) Tumour biology and histopathology of neuroendocrine tumours. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab 21(1):15–31
- Klimstra DS, Modlin IR, Coppola D, Lloyd RV, Suster S (2010) The pathologic classification of neuroendocrine tumors: a review of nomenclature, grading, and staging systems. Pancreas 39(6):707–712
- 52. Boukhman MP, Karam JM, Shaver J, Siperstein AE, DeLorimier AA, Clark OH (1999) Localization of insulinomas. Arch Surg 134(8):818–822; discussion 22–23
- 53. Guettier JM, Kam A, Chang R et al (2009) Localization of insulinomas to regions of the pancreas by intraarterial calcium stimulation: the NIH experience. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 94(4):1074–1080
- Rockall AG, Reznek RH (2007) Imaging of neuroendocrine tumours (CT/MR/US). Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab 21(1):43–68
- 55. Sundin A, Vullierme MP, Kaltsas G, Plockinger U (2009) ENETS Consensus Guidelines for the Standards of Care in Neuroendocrine Tumors: radiological examinations. Neuroendocrinology 90(2):167–183
- 56. Gouya H, Vignaux O, Augui J et al (2003) CT, endoscopic sonography, and a combined protocol for preoperative evaluation of pancreatic insulinomas. AJR Am J Roentgenol 181(4):987–992
- 57. Noone TC, Hosey J, Firat Z, Semelka RC (2005) Imaging and localization of islet-cell tumours of the pancreas on CT and MRI. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab 19(2):195–211
- Semelka RC, Custodio CM, Cem Balci N, Woosley JT (2000) Neuroendocrine tumors of the pancreas: spectrum of appearances on MRI. J Magn Reson Imaging 11(2):141–148
- Pamuklar E, Semelka RC (2005) MR imaging of the pancreas. Magn Reson Imaging Clin N Am 13(2):313–330
- Thoeni RF, Mueller-Lisse UG, Chan R, Do NK, Shyn PB (2000) Detection of small, functional islet cell tumors in the pancreas: selection of MR imaging sequences for optimal sensitivity. Radiology 214(2):483–490
- Catalano C, Pavone P, Laghi A et al (1999) Localization of pancreatic insulinomas with MR imaging at 0.5 T. Acta Radiol 40(6):644–648

- 62. An L, Li W, Yao KC et al (2011) Assessment of contrast-enhanced ultrasonography in diagnosis and preoperative localization of insulinoma. Eur J Radiol 80(3):675–680
- Kann PH, Rothmund M, Zielke A (2005) Endoscopic ultrasound imaging of insulinomas: limitations and clinical relevance. Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes 113(8):471–474
- McLean AM, Fairclough PD (2005) Endoscopic ultrasound in the localisation of pancreatic islet cell tumours. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab 19(2):177–193
- Hiramoto JS, Feldstein VA, LaBerge JM, Norton JA (2001) Intraoperative ultrasound and preoperative localization detects all occult insulinomas; discussion 1025–6. Arch Surg 136(9):1020–1025
- Norton JA (1999) Intra-operative procedures to localize endocrine tumours of the pancreas and duodenum. Ital J Gastroenterol Hepatol 31(Suppl 2):S195–S197
- 67. Grover AC, Skarulis M, Alexander HR et al (2005) A prospective evaluation of laparoscopic exploration with intraoperative ultrasound as a technique for localizing sporadic insulinomas. Surgery 138(6):1003–1008; discussion 08
- Berends FJ, Cuesta MA, Kazemier G et al (2000) Laparoscopic detection and resection of insulinomas. Surgery 128(3):386–391
- 69. Roland CL, Lo CY, Miller BS, Holt S, Nwariaku FE (2008) Surgical approach and perioperative complications determine short-term outcomes in patients with insulinoma: results of a bi-institutional study. Ann Surg Oncol 15(12):3532–3537
- Reubi JC, Waser B (2003) Concomitant expression of several peptide receptors in neuroendocrine tumours: molecular basis for in vivo multireceptor tumour targeting. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 30(5):781–793
- Vezzosi D, Bennet A, Rochaix P et al (2005) Octreotide in insulinoma patients: efficacy on hypoglycemia, relationships with Octreoscan scintigraphy and immunostaining with antisst2A and anti-sst5 antibodies. Eur J Endocrinol 152(5):757–767
- 72. Krenning EP, Kwekkeboom DJ, Bakker WH et al (1993) Somatostatin receptor scintigraphy with [111In-DTPA-D-Phe1]- and [123I-Tyr3]-octreotide: the Rotterdam experience with more than 1000 patients. Eur J Nucl Med 20(8):716–731
- 73. Bertherat J, Tenenbaum F, Perlemoine K et al (2003) Somatostatin receptors 2 and 5 are the major somatostatin receptors in insulinomas: an in vivo and in vitro study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 88(11):5353–5360
- 74. Orlefors H, Sundin A, Garske U et al (2005) Whole-body (11)C-5-hydroxytryptophan positron emission tomography as a universal imaging technique for neuroendocrine tumors: comparison with somatostatin receptor scintigraphy and computed tomography. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 90(6):3392–3400
- 75. Eriksson B, Orlefors H, Oberg K, Sundin A, Bergstrom M, Langstrom B (2005) Developments in PET for the detection of endocrine tumours. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab 19(2):311–324
- Christ E, Wild D, Forrer F et al (2009) Glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor imaging for localization of insulinomas. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 94(11):4398–4405
- Jackson JE (2005) Angiography and arterial stimulation venous sampling in the localization of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumours. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab 19(2):229–239
- Druce MR, Muthuppalaniappan VM, O'Leary B et al (2010) Diagnosis and localisation of insulinoma: the value of modern magnetic resonance imaging in conjunction with calcium stimulation catheterisation. Eur J Endocrinol 162(5):971–978
- 79. Zhao YP, Zhan HX, Zhang TP et al (2011) Surgical management of patients with insulinomas: result of 292 cases in a single institution. J Surg Oncol 103(2):169–174
- Kooby DA, Gillespie T, Bentrem D et al (2008) Left-sided pancreatectomy: a multicenter comparison of laparoscopic and open approaches. Ann Surg 248(3):438–446
- Aranha GV, Shoup M (2005) Nonstandard pancreatic resections for unusual lesions. Am J Surg 189(2):223–228
- Kaczirek K, Asari R, Scheuba C, Niederle B (2005) Organic hyperinsulinism and endoscopic surgery. Wien Klin Wochenschr 117(1–2):19–25
- Fendrich V, Waldmann J, Bartsch DK, Langer P (2009) Surgical management of pancreatic endocrine tumors. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 6(7):419–428

- Crippa S, Bassi C, Salvia R, Falconi M, Butturini G, Pederzoli P (2007) Enucleation of pancreatic neoplasms. Br J Surg 94(10):1254–1259
- Hirshberg B, Libutti SK, Alexander HR et al (2002) Blind distal pancreatectomy for occult insulinoma, an inadvisable procedure. J Am Coll Surg 194(6):761–764
- Munir A, Choudhary P, Harrison B, Heller S, Newell-Price J (2008) Continuous glucose monitoring in patients with insulinoma. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 68(6):912–918
- Grunenwald S, Broussaud S, Vezzosi D, Bennet A, Larrue V, Caron P (2009) Welldifferentiated endocrine pancreatic tumour and Wernicke's encephalopathy. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 70(1):170–171
- 88. Stabile BE (1997) Islet cell tumors. Gastroenterologist 5(3):213-232
- Stehouwer CD, Lems WF, Fischer HR, Hackeng WH (1989) Malignant insulinoma: is combined treatment with verapamil and the long-acting somatostatin analogue octreotide (SMS 201–995) more effective than single therapy with either drug? Neth J Med 35(1–2):86–94
- Cohen MS, Bower RH, Fidler SM, Johnsonbaugh RE, Sode J (1973) Inhibition of insulin release by diphenylhydantoin and diazoxide in a patient with benign insulinoma. Lancet 1(7793):40–41
- Brodows RG, Campbell RG (1974) Control of refractory fasting hypoglycemia in a patient with suspected insulinoma with diphenylhydantoin. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 38(1):159–162
- Novotny J, Janku F, Mares P, Petruzelka L (2005) Symptomatic control of hypoglycaemia with prednisone in refractory metastatic pancreatic insulinoma. Support Care Cancer 13(9):760–762
- 93. Lamberts SW, van der Lely AJ, de Herder WW, Hofland LJ (1996) Octreotide. N Engl J Med 334(4):246–254
- 94. Stehouwer CD, Lems WF, Fischer HR, Hackeng WH, Naafs MA (1989) Aggravation of hypoglycemia in insulinoma patients by the long-acting somatostatin analogue octreotide (Sandostatin). Acta Endocrinol (Copenh) 121(1):34–40
- Vezzosi D, Bennet A, Courbon F, Caron P (2008) Short- and long-term somatostatin analogue treatment in patients with hypoglycaemia related to endogenous hyperinsulinism. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 68(6):904–911
- Reubi JC, Schar JC, Waser B et al (2000) Affinity profiles for human somatostatin receptor subtypes SST1-SST5 of somatostatin radiotracers selected for scintigraphic and radiotherapeutic use. Eur J Nucl Med 27(3):273–282
- 97. Eriksson B, Oberg K, Alm G et al (1986) Treatment of malignant endocrine pancreatic tumours with human leucocyte interferon. Lancet 2(8519):1307–1309
- 98. Roche A, Girish BV, de Baere T et al (2003) Trans-catheter arterial chemoembolization as first-line treatment for hepatic metastases from endocrine tumors. Eur Radiol 13(1):136–140
- Berber E, Flesher N, Siperstein AE (2002) Laparoscopic radiofrequency ablation of neuroendocrine liver metastases. World J Surg 26(8):985–990
- 100. Moertel CG, Lefkopoulo M, Lipsitz S, Hahn RG, Klaassen D (1992) Streptozocindoxorubicin, streptozocin-fluorouracil or chlorozotocin in the treatment of advanced isletcell carcinoma. N Engl J Med 326(8):519–523
- Strosberg JR, Nasir A, Hodul P, Kvols L (2008) Biology and treatment of metastatic gastrointestinal neuroendocrine tumors. Gastrointest Cancer Res 2(3):113–125
- 102. Strosberg JR, Fine RL, Choi J et al (2011) First-line chemotherapy with capecitabine and temozolomide in patients with metastatic pancreatic endocrine carcinomas. Cancer 117(2):268–275
- 103. Kulke MH, Stuart K, Enzinger PC et al (2006) Phase II study of temozolomide and thalidomide in patients with metastatic neuroendocrine tumors. J Clin Oncol 24(3):401–406
- 104. Dimou AT, Syrigos KN, Saif MW (2010) Neuroendocrine tumors of the pancreas: what's new. Highlights from the "2010 ASCO Gastrointestinal Cancers Symposium". Orlando, FL, USA. January 22–24, 2010. JOP 11(2):135–138

- 105. Ong GS, Henley DE, Hurley D, Turner JH, Claringbold PG, Fegan PG (2010) Therapies for the medical management of persistent hypoglycaemia in two cases of inoperable malignant insulinoma. Eur J Endocrinol 162(5):1001–1008
- 106. Raymond E, Dahan L, Raoul JL et al (2011) Sunitinib malate for the treatment of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. N Engl J Med 364(6):501–513
- 107. Yao JC, Shah MH, Ito T et al (2011) Everolimus for advanced pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. N Engl J Med 364(6):514–523
- 108. Bourcier ME, Sherrod A, DiGuardo M, Vinik AI (2009) Successful control of intractable hypoglycemia using rapamycin in an 86-year-old man with a pancreatic insulin-secreting islet cell tumor and metastases. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 94(9):3157–3162
- 109. Kulke MH, Bergsland EK, Yao JC (2009) Glycemic control in patients with insulinoma treated with everolimus. N Engl J Med 360(2):195–197
- 110. Di Paolo S, Teutonico A, Leogrande D, Capobianco C, Schena PF (2006) Chronic inhibition of mammalian target of rapamycin signaling downregulates insulin receptor substrates 1 and 2 and AKT activation: a crossroad between cancer and diabetes? J Am Soc Nephrol 17(8):2236–2244
- 111. Bernard V, Lombard-Bohas C, Taquet MC et al (2013) Efficacy of everolimus in patients with metastatic insulinoma and refractory hypoglycemia. Eur J Endocrinol 168(5):665–674

Gastrinoma

13

Janice L. Pasieka and Anthony J. Chambers

13.1 Introduction

Gastrinomas are rare tumors of the neuroendocrine system, occurring within the pancreas and duodenum. The annual incidence is estimated at 0.5 per million of the population [1]. Overproduction of gastrin by these tumors produces a sustained increase in gastric acid secretion, leading to clinical manifestations of complicated peptic ulcer disease known as the Zollinger-Ellison syndrome (ZES) [2]. Although most gastrinomas grow slowly, over 60 % are malignant and 25 % show rapid aggressive behavior [3–5]. Most commonly gastrinomas metastasize to regional lymph nodes and the liver, and it is this malignant potential which has become increasingly important since the introduction of effective medical therapy to control gastric acid secretion. Gastrinomas can occur sporadically or in a familial pattern as a component of the multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1) syndrome [3, 6, 7]. Given that the endocrinopathy associated with these tumors can be well controlled medically, the role of surgical resection in the setting of advanced disease and in patients with MEN1 syndrome is the subject of continued debate.

13.2 History

The first case of a gastrinoma was described by Sailer in 1946, when he reported the case of a patient with a large, pancreatic islet cell tumor without clinical or biochemical evidence of hyperinsulinemia [8]. At that time, insulinomas were the only recognized functional islet cell tumors, and although a duodenal ulcer was present,

Cumming's School of Medicine, Department of Surgery,

J.L. Pasieka, MD, FRCSC, FACS (🖂) • A.J. Chambers, BSc, MBBS, MS, FRACS

Section of Genernal Surgery and Surgical Onocoloy,

University of Calgary and Foothills Medical Centre and Tom Baker Cancer Centre, 10th Floor North Tower, 1403 – 29 Street NW, Calgary, Alberta T2N 2 T9, Canada e-mail: janice.pasieka@albertahealthservices.ca

[©] Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

S. Yalcin, K. Öberg (eds.), Neuroendocrine Tumours:

Diagnosis and Management, DOI 10.1007/978-3-662-45215-8_13

Sailer did not associate the two findings. It was not until Robert M. Zollinger and Edwin H. Ellison presented their experience of two cases before the American Surgical Association in 1955 that it became apparent a relationship existed [2]. It was during the discussion that followed that another seven cases of the same clinical manifestations were described. The two cases presented by Zollinger were unique in that they presented with marked gastric hypersecretion, complicated refractory peptic ulcer disease, and non-insulin-secreting islet cell tumors of the pancreas. This clinical triad associated with gastrin-secreting tumors now bears the authors' names [9]. They concluded in their report that excessive amounts of a substance produced by the islet cell tumors were likely responsible for the increased gastric acid secretion in these patients.

The role of gastrin in the causation of ZES was first proposed by Gregory in 1960, who injected an extract derived from a pancreatic islet cell tumor from a patient with refractory peptic ulcer disease into an animal model and demonstrated a dramatic increase in gastric acid secretion, concluding that a "gastrin-like substance" was secreted by these tumors [10]. Gastrin was first isolated from antral mucosal cells by Gregory in 1964 and later found to be nearly identical in composition to an extracted hormone from gastrinoma [11]. The development of a radioimmunoassay for the measurement of serum gastrin concentrations by McGuigan and Trudeau in 1968 enabled the diagnosis of gastrinoma and ZES to be made preoperatively [12]. However, elevated gastrin levels can also be seen in atrophic gastritis, gastric outlet obstruction, retained antrum, post-vagotomy, G-cell hyperplasia, and the use of proton pump inhibitors [13] (Table 13.1). It was recognized by Isenberg in 1972 that there was a paradoxical rise in gastrin with the administration of secretin in patients with suspected ZES allowing for a more specific delineation of the disease [14].

The initial experience of 260 cases of ZES laid the foundation for the current understanding and management of this disease at that time [3]. Based on the data collected in this registry, Ellison and Wilson recommended total gastrectomy as

| Inappropriate hypergastrinemia – gastric pH <2 |
|-----------------------------------------------------------|
| Gastrinoma/Zollinger-Ellison syndrome |
| Helicobacter pylori antral predominate |
| Retained gastric antrum |
| Gastric outlet obstruction |
| Short bowel syndrome |
| Appropriate hypergastrinemia – associated with |
| hypochlorhydria |
| Pernicious anemia |
| Chronic atrophic gastritis |
| Previous vagotomy |
| Gastric acid-suppressing medications (PPI, H2 antagonist) |
| Renal impairment |

Table 13.1Causes ofhypergastrinemia

the definitive initial operation. The first report of a successful resection of gastrinoma to treat ZES was by Rawson in 1960, where a patient with peptic ulcer disease and hypersecretion of gastric acid underwent removal of a pancreatic islet cell tumor by Professor Stammers at the University of Birmingham [15]. The patient did not undergo gastrectomy or vagotomy yet had a complete relief of symptoms and a marked reduction of gastric acid secretion after resection of the tumor. Consequently the recommendation from these authors was that surgical management be directed at "eradication of the tumor and its local metastases rather than total gastrectomy" [16]. Although it is now recognized that duodenal gastrinomas are fairly common, in some series as high as 60 % [1, 4, 17], it was in 1961 when Oberhelman first reported the occurrence of duodenal gastrinomas in patients with ZES [18]. Since Oberhelman's publication, duodenal gastrinomas were described more frequently and subsequently changed the operative approach. Both NW Thompson and JA Norton recognized the necessity of performing a duodenotomy in sporadic gastrinoma patients when no pancreatic tumor was found [17, 19, 20].

Interestingly, in the discussion section of the paper by Oberhelman, Dr Victor Richards is quoted as saying "the demonstration by Gregory that these tumors produce either gastrin or a gastrin-like substance has led many people to work experimentally on the concept of producing an antihormone. I do not know of any clinical experience, however, with the use of antigastrin in the management of these cases, but it is an idea that is worth thinking about for the future." A decade later, this idea would conceptually come to fruition with the development of H2-receptor antagonists followed by proton pump inhibitors (PPIs) [9].

In 1953, Underdahl et al. published their experience at the Mayo Clinic of eight cases of multiple adenomas involving a combination of two or all three of the pituitary, parathyroid glands, or pancreas and a review of the literature. Parathyroid tumors were present in all cases, pituitary tumors were present in four, and five had islet cell tumors. They commented that "multiplicity of tumors was a striking feature and occurred both in relation to the parathyroids and in relation to the pancreatic islets" [21]. It is interesting to note that 2 cases of the 14 reviewed and 2 of their own 8 cases suffered from duodenal ulcers as well as one of their cases having had a peptic ulcer. In the following year, Wermer stated that "this complex clinical pathologic picture has now been seen so often that the possibility of mere coincidence can be dismissed." He went on to say that "we are dealing here with an example of dominant hereditary transmission and it appears probable that one single autosomal gene is responsible for the whole pathologic picture" [22]. From the five cases which he presented in his 1954 paper, he astutely observed that there were two instances of gastric ulcer and two of duodenal ulcers—a finding which he did not believe to be mere coincidence, but another manifestation of the abnormal gene. In the review article by Ellison and Wilson from 1964, they identified an association with other endocrine diseases in patients with ZES in 21 % of cases [3]. We now recognize that MEN1 syndrome is found in approximately 20 % of patients with ZES.

13.3 Clinical Features and Diagnosis

When ZES was first described, the gastrinomas were mainly pancreatic tumors, and patients suffered from refractory peptic ulcer disease, vomiting, diarrhea, and weight loss (Table 13.2). Treatment was based on controlling the acid production (total gastrectomy) and resection of the pancreatic tumor if possible. Nowadays, gastrinomas are often small and up to 60 % are located in the duode-nal wall. Symptoms are often those of peptic ulcer disease without diarrhea and weight loss, as PPIs are very effective at controlling the gastric acid secretions. Delay in the diagnosis of ZES has increased as a result of the effective use of PPIs [5, 23–25].

Gastrinomas are rare tumors, occurring with an incidence of 0.5 cases per million population per year [23, 26]. Gastrinomas appear to be more frequently in males, with a male to female ratio of 1.3:1–1.5:1 [4, 24, 27]. The tumor typically presents in late adulthood with a mean age at diagnosis between 41 and 54 years, earlier for patients with MEN1 (33 years) [1, 23, 28, 29]. Historically, patients with gastrinoma were typically diagnosed late in the course of their disease with complications of severe refractory peptic ulcer disease. In the modern era of the use of PPI therapy, a history of peptic ulceration is absent in 29 % of patients at the time of diagnosis [23]. Although many patients with ZES present with more severe manifestations of peptic ulcer disease, the vast majority of ZES patients are indistinguishable from idiopathic peptic ulcer disease [23]. As a result, many patients are initially treated with PPIs early in the course of their disease, leading to an improvement or resolution of their symptoms and a potential development of metastatic disease before a diagnosis is established [1, 5, 23, 24]. Ellison reported an increase in advance stage at presentation when patients were diagnosed between 1986 and 1998. Patients diagnosed up to 1985 had an incidence of metastatic disease of 19 % and a 5-year disease-free survival (DFS) of 29 % compared with an incidence of metastatic disease of 55 % and 5-year DFS of 2 % after 1986 [30].

ZES patients will present primarily with pain (83 %) and diarrhea (71 %) in a background of long-standing history of reflux (GERD) and recurring peptic ulcer disease (PUD) (Table 13.2). Only 11 % of patients have a single symptom. Complicated PUD is decreasing; in 1964, 45 % of patients presented with life-threatening bleeding, whereas in the NIH report from 1999, only 24 % presented with bleeding [1, 3]. Up to 20–25 % of gastrinomas occur in the setting of multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1). The diagnosis of ZES should be considered in any patient with PUD who is *H. pylori* negative, is refractory to standard treatment, has ulcers in unusual locations, or has MEN1 syndrome [5].

The diagnosis of gastrinoma is based on biochemical testing, demonstrating an elevation of fasting serum gastrin (FSG) level (>150 pg/ml) in the presence of raised gastric acid secretion [28]. In patients receiving acid-suppressing therapy with H2-receptor antagonists or PPIs, FSG is secondarily raised by these medications, and as such, these should be discontinued prior to testing [5, 23]. Gastric secretory studies showing a BAO of more than 15 mEq/h (more than 5 mEq/h in the presence

| Symptom | Percentage of patients (%) |
|------------------------------------|----------------------------|
| Abdominal pain | 78–94 |
| Peptic ulcer disease | 74–96 |
| Duodenal ulcer | 60–96 |
| Gastric ulcer | 24 |
| Jejunal ulceration | 29 |
| Bleeding | 27–42 |
| Diarrhea | 72 |
| Gastroesophageal reflux | 42 |
| Esophageal ulceration or stricture | 4-6 |
| Weight loss | 7–18 |

Table 13.2 Clinical presentation of Zollinger-Ellison syndrome

of previous gastric resection) or a pH of less than 2 are the most commonly used criteria to determine acid hypersecretion [28]. FSG can also be elevated in other disease states that must be differentiated from ZES (Table 13.1). Most patients with gastrinoma have highly elevated gastrin levels, with 36 % having levels more than 10 times normal [31]. When the results of FSG and acid secretory studies are borderline or nondiagnostic in patients where a clinical suspicion for ZES exists, provocative testing of FSG after administration of intravenous secretin (2 mg/kg) or calcium is indicated. Because most of these patients are on PPIs, these drugs must be stopped a week before provocative testing. H2-receptor antagonists may be utilized for symptom control, but also must be stopped 48 h before [23]. There is a risk for developing rebound hypersecretion following PPI withdrawal. The day of the secretin test is the ideal time to get a gastric pH and upper endoscopic ultrasound (EUS) to avoid having to withdraw PPIs again at a later date. Following secretin injection, FSG increases from baseline levels within 2–3 min by more than 100 pg/ ml in 94 % of patients with gastrinoma and rises by more than 50 % in 84 % of cases [32]. Similarly, provocative testing after calcium infusion results in a rise in gastrin of more than 50 % from baseline levels in 84 % of cases [5]. Combining these two investigations lead to an increased sensitivity for confirming the diagnosis of a gastrinoma. Synthetic secretin has replaced native secretin. An analysis of 293 NIH ZES patients and 537 patients from the literature has established the criteria of a rise \geq 120 pg/mL (sensitivity 94 %, specificity 100 %) replacing the old criteria of >200 pg/mL [5, 31, 33].

Chromogranin-A (CgA), a protein contained within the secretory granules of neuroendocrine cells, is a nonspecific marker for neuroendocrine tumors (NET) and is elevated in 90 % of patients with gastrinoma [34]. Chromogranin-A levels tend to correlate with those of serum gastrin; however, higher levels are not associated with an increased risk of advanced or metastatic disease. However, in a series of 72 patients with serial measurements of gastrin and CgA, these markers did not have sufficient sensitivity to replace serial imaging for the detection of small but important changes in tumor burden [35].

13.4 Location of Primary Tumors

Although sporadic ZES was first described in association with neuroendocrine tumors of the pancreas (pNETs), the primary tumor can be located in the duodenum in an equivalent proportion of cases and may also arise uncommonly from other sites [1, 4, 36]. In 90 % of cases, the primary tumor can be localized within the "gastrinoma or Stabile's triangle," a region encompassing the proximal duodenum and head of the pancreas [37]. This triangle is defined by (1) the junction of the cystic and common bile ducts (superiorly), (2) the junction of the second and third parts of the duodenum (inferiorly), and (3) the junction of the neck and body of the pancreas (medially). Duodenal gastrinomas are small tumors arising within the submucosa and are found in the first and second parts of the duodenum in 83–92 % of cases and rarely distal to this [20, 29, 38 (Fig. 13.1). Mean size ranges from 0.6 to 1.3 cm in diameter and 49–80 % of the tumors are less than 1 cm in size, and for this reason, they are rarely seen on imaging studies [4, 17, 38-40]. The pancreas is the site of gastrinoma in 17–55 % of patients with sporadic ZES, and the tumor is located proximally in the head of the pancreas in 33–53 % of cases [1, 4, 36, 41]. Gastrinoma is the second most common functional neuroendocrine tumor of the pancreas, accounting for 36 % of lesions [42, 43]. Pancreatic gastrinomas tend to be larger than their duodenal counterparts with a mean diameter of 2.7–3.2 cm [4, 38, 39, 41, 42]. Sporadic gastrinomas rarely present in multiple sites in 11-16 % of cases, and pancreatic and duodenal gastrinomas may coexist in 9-11 % of cases [4, 27]. In contrast, greater than 75 % of patients with ZES/MEN1 have multiple pancreatic and duodenal neuroendocrine tumors [44, 45].

Ectopic gastrinomas arising outside the gastrinoma triangle are rare accounting for only 6 % of reported ZES cases [46]. Primary ectopic gastrinomas have been reported in the liver, biliary tree, ovary, kidney, heart, stomach, jejunum, and greater or lesser omentum [1, 5, 47, 48]. The occurrence of primary lymph node gastrinomas (primary LN) is controversial. A primary LN gastrinoma is defined by the following conditions: (1) removal of an involved lymph node in the absence of a gastrinoma primarily found elsewhere and (2) normal postoperative FSG and a negative secretin stimulation test [1]. In a large series from NIH, 26 % of patients with ZES undergoing laparotomy that had only involved lymph nodes removed without identification of a primary tumor of the pancreas or duodenum resulted in normalization of the gastrin postoperatively [36]. Whether these nodal lesions represent metastases from a small primary tumor that evaded detection at the time of initial operation or are a true primary remains controversial. In a long-term followup from this NIH series, 69 % of the primary LN gastrinomas remained biochemically cured leading these authors to conclude that lymph nodes can be the primary site of gastrinoma in 10 % of patients with ZES [49]. It has been demonstrated that primary LN do not occur in ZES/MEN1 and that the designation as a lymph node primary should be tentative until 10 years after surgery [1, 50].

Metastatic disease affecting regional lymph nodes or the liver can be demonstrated in 52–69 % of patients with gastrinoma on initial imaging studies or at the time of laparotomy [36, 51, 52]. Involvement of regional lymph nodes, particularly peripancreatic and periduodenal nodes, can be demonstrated in 40–75 % of patients with duodenal gastrinoma and 50 % for pancreatic [5, 51, 53]. In contrast to **Fig. 13.1** Photograph showing a 10 mm gastrinoma found within the fourth part of the duodenum at laparotomy in a patient with Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. The lesion was resected with a small bowel resection including the positive lymph nodes found in the adjacent mesentery



metastatic liver disease, regional lymph node involvement alone has not been associated with a reduction in survival, with an overall 10-year survival approaching 100 % [4, 53, 54]. Hepatic metastases are present in 8–22 % of patients with gastrinoma at the time of initial assessment [51, 53, 54]. Several authors have found that pancreatic gastrinomas are more frequently associated with hepatic metastases than were duodenal gastrinomas (52 % vs. 5 %) [4, 53]. The size of the primary tumor was associated with an increased risk of hepatic metastases, with tumors smaller than 1 cm having a 4 % risk of hepatic metastases, tumors 1–3 cm in size having metastases in 28 % of cases, and 61 % of tumors greater than 3 cm [53, 55]. The development of hepatic metastases significantly worsens survival and is associated with a 10-year survival rate of 26–30 % [53, 54]. Other areas of metastatic disease include peritoneal disease in 6 %, bony metastases in 3–7 %, and lung metastases in 2 % [27, 56].

13.5 The Genetics of Gastrinomas

Germ-line mutation of the MEN1 gene, a tumor suppressor gene located on the short arm of chromosome 11 (11q31), is responsible for the MEN1 syndrome [6]. The MEN1 gene codes for the nuclear protein *menin* which is involved in cell

growth regulation. Twenty-five percent of gastrinomas are associated with the MEN1 syndrome [1, 7]. Mutations of the MEN1 gene are inherited in an autosomal dominant pattern, and between 36–42 % of patients with this mutation will develop gastrinoma [44]. Mutation of the MEN1 gene has also been implicated in the pathogenesis of sporadic gastrinoma. Mutations of this gene have been found between 17 and 58 % of gastrinomas in patients who do not possess germ-line MEN1 mutations or a family history of MEN1-related tumors [57, 58]. It has been proposed that MEN1 gene mutation is an early event in the pathogenesis of both sporadic and familial gastrinomas, with mutations occurring equally in duodenal and pancreatic gastrinomas [7]. The biological behavior of gastrinomas displaying MEN1 gene mutation is similar to those where this mutation is not found, with no increased risk of metastatic disease or of recurrence after surgical resection [57, 58].

A number of other genetic mechanisms are involved in the pathogenesis of gastrinoma in addition to mutations affecting the MEN1 gene. Chromosomal deletions causing loss of heterozygosity of chromosomes 1q and 22q have also been identified in gastrinomas [59, 60]. Inactivation or deletion of the p16 tumor suppressor gene at chromosome 9p21, coding for the p16 protein involved in the regulation of cell growth and cell cycle inhibition, has also been demonstrated in 52 % of gastrinomas [61]. Gene expression using microarrays has identified numerous additional gene alterations in pancreatic NETs; however, there is no clear concordance between the studies, and none have established as clearly important for pathogenesis [5, 7, 55, 62].

13.6 Imaging

Cross-sectional imaging with computed tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance (MRI), somatostatin receptor scintigraphy (SRS), and endoscopic ultrasound (EUS) have been utilized for the localization and staging of patients with ZES and to detect recurrent disease. NETs are hypervascular and therefore demonstrate a greater degree of enhancement than the normal pancreas [1]. Cross-sectional imaging with CT and MRI does not possess the resolution to detect duodenal primary tumors small but can detect pancreatic gastrinomas with a sensitivity of 54-71 % and metastatic regional lymph nodes [51, 63, 64] (Fig. 13.2). Somatostatin receptors are expressed by 85-100 % of gastrinomas, and for this reason, SRS using radiolabeled octreotide can be used to detect primary gastrinomas and nodal or distant metastatic lesions [63] (Fig. 13.3). SRS has a sensitivity of 11–30 % for the identification of duodenal lesions, 25-77 % for pancreatic lesions, 72-82 % for nodal metastases, and 67–100 % for hepatic metastases from gastrinoma [1, 63, 65]. In a study of 122 patients with ZES by Termanini et al., SRS was positive for disease in 61 % of patients and was the only imaging modality that localized tumor in 12 % of cases, changing the management of 47 % of cases [66]. In another study, SRS was able to detect primary tumors and metastatic lesions with a sensitivity superior to that of CT, MRI, and angiography combined; however, it was unable to identify 33 % of the primary tumors subsequently found at laparotomy [63]. These results correlated Fig. 13.2 (a) Computed tomography showing peripancreatic lymph node. The primary 8 mm duodenal gastrinoma was not seen, yet the lymph node gave us a clue as to its location. (b) MRI demonstrating metastatic liver disease in a patient with Zollinger-Ellison syndrome from a large pancreatic gastrinoma



with the tumor size and location as SRS detected only 30 % of gastrinoma <1 cm, 64 % of those between 1.1 and 2 cm, and 96 % of those >2 cm and missed small duodenal lesions.

EUS has been shown to be useful in the detection of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors including gastrinomas, identifying even small lesions with a sensitivity of 82 % and a specificity of 95 % [67]. This technique also has the advantage of defining the relationship of primary tumors to pancreatic ductal and vascular structures, and needle biopsy of pancreatic lesions can also be performed. EUS was able to detect up to 91 % of pNETs missed by CT [67]. EUS unfortunately is less sensitive in the detection of duodenal gastrinomas due to their small size.

Invasive testing involving arteriography or selective venous sampling has been utilized to assist in the localization of gastrinoma in patients where CT, MRI, and SRS do not localize the tumor. Selective angiography with secretin injection (SASI) involves cannulation of the right or left hepatic veins and sampling of gastrin levels from this location after intra-arterial injection of secretin or more commonly calcium into the gastroduodenal, hepatic, splenic, left gastric, and superior mesenteric arteries [68]. Secretin stimulates gastrin release from the tumor present in the vascular distribution of the arterial injection, producing an increase in gastrin levels as measured in the hepatic veins. Utilizing the same principles, intravenous calcium



Fig. 13.3 Octreotide scan demonstrating positive uptake in a patient with metastatic Zollinger-Ellison syndrome

injection has also proven to be effective in localizing the gastrinoma [69]. The proportion of patients with gastrinoma where the tumor can be regionalized by SASI varies from 71 to 89 % [1].

Whole body positron emission tomography (PET) using 18-Fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG) is a powerful modality for oncological imaging, yet unfortunately does not accumulate in most well-differentiated NET including gastrinomas. 11C-5-hydroxytryptophan has been shown to be superior to CT and SRS in the detection of neuroendocrine primary tumors or their metastases [70]. PET using 68-gallium-labeled DOTA-TOC, a somatostatin analogue with a greater affinity for somatostatin receptors than octreotide, has been associated with a sensitivity of 97 % for the detection of NETs and metastases [71, 72]. In one study of 52 NET patients, 68-gallium DOTA-TOC proved to be

superior to CT and/or MRI for detection and staging. This modality impacted the therapeutic decision making in almost all patients [72].

In patients with negative imaging, an experienced surgeon becomes an invaluable localizing tool. In a recent report, Norton et al. were able to find the gastrinoma in 57/58 patients with negative imaging. These tumors were small (mean 0.8 cm) and found in the duodenum 67 %, pancreas 17 %, and primary lymph nodes (10 %) [40]. Immediate biochemical cure was established in 35/58 (60 %), with long-term biochemical cure (mean 9.4 years) in 27 (46 %) patients.

13.7 Prognosis and Management of Localized Sporadic Disease

With the introduction of effective medical therapy for the control of gastric acid hypersecretion in patients with ZES, the role of surgery in the management of patients with gastrinoma has shifted from the control of gastric acid secretion to the requirement for oncological resection of the primary tumor to prevent disease progression and metastatic spread [30, 43, 73]. Surgical resection is the only modality capable of achieving cure in patients with ZES. Given the malignant potential of the primary tumor, surgery also has an important role in preventing the progression to metastatic disease. In their study comparing the long-term follow-up of 160 ZES patients undergoing surgical resection of gastrinoma with 35 ZES patients managed nonoperatively, Norton et al. found that significantly fewer patients undergoing surgical resection developed hepatic metastases during long-term follow-up (5 % vs. 29 %) [36]. More importantly this group demonstrated that surgery can increase survival. The 15-year disease-specific survival was 98 % in the surgery group versus 74 % in the nonoperative group. In those patients who did not undergo surgery, 90 % of deaths were secondary to progressive metastatic disease. Similarly at Ohio State University, Ellison et al. found that patients undergoing R0 resections had a significantly greater long-term survival than those who had incomplete resection of disease or who did not undergo surgery (10-year survival 85 % vs. 30 %) [4].

Surgical resection of the primary tumor and involved regional lymph nodes is curative in patients with gastrinomas that have not metastasized to distant sites. Inspection and palpation of the structures in the gastrinoma triangle is performed after kocherization of the duodenum and can successfully detect 61–71 % of primary gastrinomas [20, 38, 39]. Intraoperative ultrasound (IOS) has been shown to improve the ability to localize primary tumors of the pancreas and identify metastatic disease within the liver, but is not more sensitive than palpation in the detection of duodenal primaries [17, 39]. Small primary tumors within the duodenum are best identified by inspection and palpation of the duodenum and inversion of the mucosa [19, 20]. After introducing routine duodenotomy to the operative exploration of patients with ZES, Norton et al. demonstrated a significant improvement in the ability to localize the primary tumors from 76 to 98 % of cases [17]. Routine

| Clinical scenario | Strategy | |
|-------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--|
| Sporadic localized disease | | |
| Pancreatic gastrinoma | | |
| Size <3 cm | Enucleation (open or laparoscopic) | |
| Size >3 cm | En bloc resection | |
| | Whipple or distal pancreatectomy + lymph node resection | |
| Duodenal gastrinoma | | |
| Solitary/small | Local resection | |
| Multiple \pm large \pm local invasion | Pancreaticoduodenectomy + lymph node resection | |
| Metastatic gastrinoma | Consider surgical cytoreduction of hepatic metastases if >70–90 % of tumor volume removable | |
| | and/or | |
| | Multimodality medical therapy: PPI, octreotide, radionuclide therapies, hepatic artery embolization, mTOR inhibitors | |
| ZES/MEN1 | | |
| Biochemical or image detected <2 cm | Duodenotomy, 80 % distal pancreatectomy and enucleation of NETs (head of the pancreas) plus lymph node resection | |
| | or | |
| | Duodenotomy, local resection of pNETs | |
| | Consider lymph node resection | |
| | or | |
| | Treat medically with PPIs | |
| Image detected >2 cm | Duodenotomy and en bloc pancreatic resection with regional lymph nodes | |

Table 13.3 Surgical strategies for Zollinger-Ellison syndrome

MEN1 multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1, *mTOR* mammalian target of rapamycin, *NET* neuroendocrine tumor, *PP1* proton pump inhibitor, *ZES* Zollinger-Ellison syndrome

duodenotomy also had significantly higher rates of long-term biochemical cure postoperatively occurring in 52 % of patients undergoing duodenotomy versus 26 % of patients who did not.

Options for resection of the primary gastrinoma are dependent on the location and size of the tumor (Table 13.3). The majority of duodenal lesions are small and can be resected locally, either removing from the submucosa or with an elliptical resection of the full thickness of the duodenal wall (Fig. 13.1). Lesions of the pancreas can be enucleated or formally resected depending on their size and location within the gland. Lesions within the head of the pancreas smaller than 2 cm can be enucleated in most cases. Pancreaticoduodenectomy is required for large or locally invasive tumors of the head of the pancreas, whereas a distal pancreatectomy is the procedure of choice for the rare gastrinoma located in the body or tail of the pancreas [51, 74] (Fig. 13.4a, b). Spread to regional lymph nodes can be demonstrated in 36–67 % of patients with gastrinoma, and therefore resection of regional lymph



Fig. 13.4 (a) A surgical specimen following a pancreatoduodenectomy (Whipple procedure) for an invasive gastrinoma in the head of the pancreas. (b) Surgical specimen following a distal pancreatectomy for a rare distal pancreatic gastrinoma

node groups should occur at the time of resection of the primary tumor [43, 52, 54]. A recent retrospective study in 41 ZES patients found higher rates of biochemical cure and a prolonged disease-specific survival in those ZES patients undergoing systemic lymphadenectomy compared to those who did not [75]. The authors concluded that in sporadic gastrinoma, systemic lymphadenectomy during the initial surgery may reduce the risk of persistent disease and improve survival.

The definition of biochemical cure following surgery for ZES is a normal FSG and negative secretin stimulation test. Initial postoperative cure rates are reported to be greater than 60 %; however, this decreased to 23–50 % at 10 years [4, 36, 75]. Although recurrences after potentially curative surgery are common, disease-specific survival is excellent with 15-year rates between 74 and 98 % [4, 36, 75]. Natural history studies demonstrate that 25 % of sporadic ZES patients have an aggressive clinical course [53, 54]. In one retrospective study, negative prognostic factors for disease-specific survival were pancreatic location, tumor size >2.5 cm, Ki-67 index >5 %, preoperative FSG >3000 pg/ml, and liver metastases [75]. Interestingly sex, age, type of surgery, and presence of lymph node metastases had no influence on disease-free or disease-specific survival. Others have found that female gender, ectopic ACTH production, and bone metastases also are negative prognostic factors [5, 54].

13.8 Management of Advanced and Metastatic Disease

Synchronous liver metastases occur in 20-30 % of ZES patients. In addition up to 40 % of patients will develop disease progression following an R0 resection [1, 76, 77]. Medical therapy with PPI is highly effective in the control of gastric hypersecretion, and for this reason, the role of surgical palliative debulking for the control of the endocrinopathy is somewhat controversial. As a general principle, multimodality, including radiofrequency ablation, cryotherapy, and surgical resection liverdirected therapy of functional NETs, does appear to provide a palliative benefit in patients with endocrinopathies and improve survival in carefully selected patients [76-82]. In a series of 213 ZES patients, hepatic metastases occurred in 32 % of cases, and diffuse involvement of the liver was present in 75 % of these cases [81]. The remaining 19 patients had all gross disease in the liver resected. Patients undergoing resection of hepatic metastases had a 5-year survival rate of 85 %, which was superior to those patients with hepatic disease who were not resectable. Although surgical selection bias likely played a significant role in these results, others have also demonstrated a survival benefit associated with the aggressive surgical debulking of neuroendocrine tumor metastases [80, 83, 84]. A 2009 Cochrane Database review concluded, despite no randomized trials, that liver resection was the mainstay of survival-prolonging therapy for Stage IV NETs [85]. More recently a multiinstitutional analysis of the surgical management of hepatic NET metastasis found a prolonged 5- and 10-year survival of 74 and 51 %, respectively [80]. Although only 12/339 (4 %) of the patients had ZES, patients with hormonally functioning NETs benefitted the most from surgery.

Hepatic artery chemoembolization (HACE) and bland embolization (HAE) offer options for cytoreduction of bilobar disease not amenable to surgical resection or RFA. Response rates after embolization vary between 50 and 96 % depending upon the criteria utilized such as biochemical, radiographic, symptomatic control [78]. Median duration of response extends up to 18 months (4–51 months) [78, 86–88].

Radioembolization of the hepatic artery using yttrium-90-bound resin (SIR-Spheres [Sirtex Medical LTD, New South Wales, Australia]) or glass microspheres (TheraSphere [MDS Nordion, Ottawa, Canada]) has been used in the treatment of hepatic NET metastases including gastrinomas. In a multicenter retrospective review of 148 NET patients undergoing radioembolization, Kennedy et al. found partial response rate of 61 %, stable disease 23 %, complete response 3 %, and progression 5 % at 6 months [89]. King et al. found similar results in 34 NET patients treated with SIR-Spheres. The radiological response was 50 %, and the symptomatic response was 55 % at 3 months and 50 % at 6 months with an overall median survival of 29.4 months [90]. Unlike hepatic artery embolization, this technology requires proper patient selection and pre-procedural evaluation for hepatopulmonary shunts. It is recommended that no more than 20 % of blood flow is diverted to the lung and some patients may require pre-procedural occlusion of these shunts to minimize extrahepatic delivery of yttrium [91].

Radionuclide therapy with 111-indium-labeled octreotide has been associated with a symptomatic response in 53 % of patients with metastatic NETs including gastrinomas and stabilization of disease in 35 % of cases [92]. The somatostatin analogue DOTA-TOC radiolabeled with either yttrium-90 or 177-lutetium has recently been shown to have a superior tumor response than the 111-indium-labeled octreotide and has become the radionuclide therapy of choice in selected NET patients [93]. Although not specific for gastrinomas, these compounds have been shown to have a partial tumor response in 25 % of NET patients and stabilization of disease in 55 % [94].

Systemic therapy with cytotoxic chemotherapy has a limited role in the management of disseminated metastatic gastrinoma. Grama et al. treated 18 patients with metastatic gastrinoma with a combination of 5-fluorouracil, streptozocin, doxorubicin, and IFN-A and documented a radiological response of only 17 % [95]. In a study of 84 patients with locally advanced or metastatic pNETs treated with a combination of 5-fluorouracil, doxorubicin, and streptozocin, Kouvaraki et al. reported a partial or complete radiological response in 39 % of the patients; however, none of the 11 patients with metastatic gastrinoma displayed a response to the therapy [96].

Medical treatment with somatostatin analogues including octreotide and lanreotide is utilized in metastatic gastrinoma both to reduce tumor gastrin production and for their antiproliferate properties [55]. In a small series of 15 patients with metastatic gastrinoma treated with subcutaneous octreotide, 53 % of cases demonstrated a radiological response, with stabilization of progressive disease in 47 % and partial tumor regression in 6 % [97]. The mean duration of the clinical response was 25 months.

Several medical agents targeting growth factor receptors and related signaling pathways have recently been studied for the management of metastatic NETs. Everolimus is an inhibitor of mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR), a serinethreonine kinase involved in cell cycle and growth regulation and apoptosis via the PI3K/AKT/mTOR signaling pathway. Sunitinib is a tyrosine-kinase inhibitor that inhibits vascular endothelial growth factor receptors (VEGFR) and platelet-derived growth factor receptors (PDGFR), both of which are expressed on pNETs. Two phase 3 multicenter, double-blinded, randomized, placebo-controlled trials utilizing these therapies in the treatment of progressive pNETs demonstrated promising results [98, 99]. Sunitinib, as compared to placebo, causes more than a doubling in progression-free survival (11.4 vs. 5.5 months (p < 0.001)), an increase in the rate of objective tumor response and an increase in overall survival [98]. Everolimus caused a 65 % reduction in the estimated risk of progression (progression-free survival 11 vs. 4.6 months (p < 0.001)) [99]. Although both treatments caused adverse drug-related events in significant numbers compared to placebo, most events were grade 1 or 2. These studies provide optimism for the systemic treatment of NETs, however, the choice of which drug and the optimal sequence of therapeutic options for metastatic NETs remains [43, 73, 100–103].

13.9 Management of ZES/MEN1

The management of the gastrinomas occurring as part of MEN1 syndrome remains controversial [4, 5, 7, 55, 104, 105]. The role of surgery in the management of ZES/ MEN1 is less clearly defined than for sporadic tumors due to the excellent longterm survival associated with this condition, the low rates of long-term cure of ZES after surgical resection, and the effectiveness of medical control of ZES with PPI therapy [4, 5, 36]. ZES occurring in the context of MEN1 displays important differences in biological behavior compared with sporadic gastrinomas. The mean age of onset of ZES in patients with MEN1 is younger (34-42 years) and rare before the age of 24 years. The duodenum is the most common site of gastrinoma in patients with MEN1, occurring in up to 88 % of cases, with synchronous tumors of the duodenum and the pancreas occurring in 24 %. ZES is the most common functional endocrinopathy in patients with MEN1 (42–60 %), followed by insulinoma (19 %), vasoactive intestinal polypeptide-producing tumors (4%), and nonfunctional NETs (35 %) also occurring [7, 106]. The long-term survival of patients with ZES/MEN1 is excellent, and there is evidence that gastrinomas occurring in the context of MEN1 have a lower malignant potential than sporadic tumors. Hepatic metastases are present in only 3-4 % of MEN1 patients with gastrinoma at the time of diagnosis but will develop in long-term follow-up in 14–23 % of MEN1 patients [107]. A number of studies have found that the long-term survival of patients with MEN1 developing ZES is superior to that seen in sporadic forms of the tumor [7]. Utilizing the long-term prospective NIH database. Ito et al. found that the 30-year overall survival for ZES/MEN1 was 85 % and disease-related survival 88 % [108]. Factors predicting a poorer prognosis were high gastrin levels, development of other endocrinopathies, the need for >3 parathyroid operations, and distant metastases.

Since the introduction of effective medical therapy for the control of gastric acid hypersecretion, patients with ZES/MEN1 no longer die from complications of severe PUD, and long-term survival can be expected [107–109]. The rate of biochemical cure of ZES/MEN1 is rare except when either a Whipple or total pancreaticoduodenectomy has been preformed. Patients with MEN1 display a field defect with hyperplasia and multiple micro-tumors of gastrin-staining cells in the duodenum [110]. Most surgeons who believe surgery is beneficial to the MEN1 patient advocate the Thompson procedure [104, 105]. This involves a distal pancreatectomy, an enucleation of NETs in the head of the pancreas, a duodenotomy, and a resection of any duodenal tumors, along with a lymph node dissection around the porta hepatis [111]. Unfortunately, long-term biochemical cure after this operation for ZES/MEN1 patients is rarely achieved [51, 112]. Initially, postoperative normalization of FSG occurred in 68 % of ZES/MEN1 patients without hepatic metastases, but this rate fell to 33 % with provocative testing with intravenous secretin, implying that most patients harbor microscopic foci of residual disease [112, 113]. Many of the original ZES/MEN1 patients operated on by Thompson have had to undergo a completion Whipple operation [113]. A more focused approach to resection of pancreatic NETs, leaving a larger pancreatic remnant and enucleating lesions in the body of the gland, has been adopted by the University of Michigan due to the high

incidence of recurrent disease and surgical challenges associated with completion Whipple procedures.

Since biochemical cure is rare and symptomatic control is easily achieved with PPIs, surgical resection has been advocated to reduce the risk of developing metastatic disease [105, 114]. Akerstrom et al. utilize both biochemical and EUS screening to identify patients early before the development of metastases [105]. Once the patient develops an endocrinopathy such as ZES, the risk of lymph node metastases is >50 %. Therefore, these authors do not wait for anatomical imaging to demonstrate NETs. Thompson on the other hand suggested that surgery should be done when any tumor was visualized by cross-sectional imaging [115]. Others have taken a more conservative approach, utilizing surgical resection for tumors of more than 2–3 cm in size, citing the low risk of hepatic metastases with smaller tumors [107, 114, 116]. From the NIH database, Norton et al. demonstrated that patients with tumors <2.5 cm can be surveyed without the risk of liver disease or mortality [116]. Triponez et al. showed that the metastatic risk increased in MEN1 patients for tumors >2 cm [114]. Finally in a study of 55 patients with MEN1 and pNETs, Kouvaraki et al. found that patients who underwent surgical resection had significantly higher overall 10-year survival compared with those who did not (81 % vs. 34 %) [117]. As there is an absence of randomized controlled data examining the role of surgery, the indications for surgical resection for patients with ZES/MEN1 remain institution specific.

13.10 Summary

The management of ZES has evolved due to advances in medical therapies and diagnostic imaging and improvements in surgical technique. Surgical resection is the procedure of choice for sporadic gastrinomas and has an important role in the ongoing management of selected patients with ZES/MEN1 syndrome. A multimodality approach to the treatment of advanced and disseminated disease in patients with ZES is crucial. These patients benefit from aggressive cytoreductive approaches to the metastatic disease with the addition of systemic therapies to control both tumor growth and the endocrinopathy.

References

- Ellison EC, Johnson JA (2009) The Zollinger-Ellison syndrome: a comprehensive review of historical, scientific, and clinical considerations. Curr Probl Surg 46:13–106
- Zollinger RM, Ellison EH (1955) Primary peptic ulcerations of the jejunum associated with islet cell tumors of the pancreas. Ann Surg 142:709–723; discussion, 724–728
- Ellison EH, Wilson SD (1964) The Zollinger-Ellison syndrome: re-appraisal and evaluation of 260 registered cases. Ann Surg 160:512–530
- Ellison EC, Sparks J, Verducci JS et al (2006) 50-year appraisal of gastrinoma: recommendations for staging and treatment. J Am Coll Surg 202:897–905
- Osefo N, Ito T, Jensen RT (2009) Gastric acid hypersecretory states: recent insights and advances. Curr Gastroenterol Rep 11:433–441
- Bartsch D, Kopp I, Bergenfelz A et al (1998) MEN1 gene mutations in 12 MEN1 families and their associated tumors. Eur J Endocrinol 139:416–420
- Jensen RT, Berna MJ, Bingham DB, Norton JA (2008) Inherited pancreatic endocrine tumor syndromes: advances in molecular pathogenesis, diagnosis, management, and controversies. Cancer 113:1807–1843
- Sailer S, Zinninger MM (1946) Massive islet cell tumor of the pancreas without hypoglycemia. Surg Gynecol Obstet 82:301
- 9. Yeung MJ, Pasieka JL (2009) Gastrinomas: a historical perspective. J Surg Oncol 100:425-433
- 10. Gregory RA, Tracy HJ, French JM, Sircus W (1960) Extraction of a gastrin-like substance from a pancreatic tumour in a case of Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. Lancet 1:1045–1048
- Gregory RA, Grossman MI, Tracy HJ, Bentley PH (1967) Nature of the gastric secretagogue in Zollinger-Ellison tumours. Lancet 2:543–544
- McGuigan JE, Trudeau WL (1968) Immunochemical measurement of elevated levels of gastrin in the serum of patients with pancreatic tumors of the Zollinger-Ellison variety. N Engl J Med 278:1308–1313
- Murugesan SV, Varro A, Pritchard DM (2009) Review article: strategies to determine whether hypergastrinaemia is due to Zollinger-Ellison syndrome rather than a more common benign cause. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 29:1055–1068
- 14. Isenberg JI, Walsh JH, Passaro EJ, Moore EW, Grossman MI (1972) Unusual effect of secretin on serum gastrin, serum calcium, and gastric acid secretion in a patient with suspected Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. Gastroenterology 62:626–631
- 15. Rawson AB, England MT, Gillam GG, French JM, Stammers FA (1960) Zollinger-Ellison syndrome with diarrhoea and malabsorption. Observations on a patient before and after pancreatic islet-cell tumour removal with-out resort. Lancet 2:131–134
- Oberhelman HAJ, Nelsen TS (1964) Surgical consideration in the management of ulcerogenic tumors of the pancreas and duodenum. Am J Surg 108:132–141
- Norton JA, Alexander HR, Fraker DL, Venzon DJ, Gibril F, Jensen RT (2004) Does the use of routine duodenotomy (DUODX) affect rate of cure, development of liver metastases, or survival in patients with Zollinger-Ellison syndrome? Ann Surg 239:617–625; discussion 626
- Oberhelman HAJ, Nelsen TS, Johnson ANJ, Dragstedt LR (1961) Ulcerogenic tumors of the duodenum. Ann Surg 153:214–227
- Thompson NW, Vinik AI, Eckhauser FE (1989) Microgastrinomas of the duodenum. A cause of failed operations for the Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. Ann Surg 209:396–404
- Thompson NW, Pasieka J, Fukuuchi A (1993) Duodenal gastrinomas, duodenotomy, and duodenal exploration in the surgical management of Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. World J Surg 17:455–462
- Underdahl LO, Woolner LB, Black BM (1953) Multiple endocrine adenomas; report of 8 cases in which the parathyroids, pituitary and pancreatic islets were involved. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 13:20–47
- 22. Wermer P (1954) Genetic aspects of adenomatosis of endocrine glands. Am J Med 16:363-371
- 23. Metz DC (2012) Diagnosis of the Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 10:126–130
- Roy PK, Venzon DJ, Shojamanesh H et al (2000) Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. Clinical presentation in 261 patients. Medicine (Baltimore) 79:379–411
- 25. Corleto VD, Annibale B, Gibril F et al (2001) Does the widespread use of proton pump inhibitors mask, complicate and/or delay the diagnosis of Zollinger-Ellison syndrome? Aliment Pharmacol Ther 15:1555–1561
- 26. Yao JC, Eisner MP, Leary C et al (2007) Population-based study of islet cell carcinoma. Ann Surg Oncol 14:3492–3500
- Soga J, Yakuwa Y (1998) The gastrinoma/Zollinger-Ellison syndrome: statistical evaluation of a Japanese series of 359 cases. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Surg 5:77–85

- Roy PK, Venzon DJ, Feigenbaum KM et al (2001) Gastric secretion in Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. Correlation with clinical expression, tumor extent and role in diagnosi-- prospective NIH study of 235 patients and a review of 984 cases in the literature. Medicine (Baltimore) 80:189–222
- Fendrich V, Langer P, Waldmann J, Bartsch DK, Rothmund M (2007) Management of sporadic and multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 gastrinomas. Br J Surg 94:1331–1341
- Ellison EC, Sparks J (2003) Zollinger-Ellison syndrome in the era of effective acid suppression: are we unknowingly growing tumors? Am J Surg 186:245–248
- Berna MJ, Hoffmann KM, Serrano J, Gibril F, Jensen RT (2006) Serum gastrin in Zollinger-Ellison syndrome: I. Prospective study of fasting serum gastrin in 309 patients from the National Institutes of Health and comparison with 2229 cases from the literature. Medicine (Baltimore) 85:295–330
- 32. Berna MJ, Hoffmann KM, Long SH, Serrano J, Gibril F, Jensen RT (2006) Serum gastrin in Zollinger-Ellison syndrome: II. Prospective study of gastrin provocative testing in 293 patients from the National Institutes of Health and comparison with 537 cases from the literature. evaluation of diagnostic criteria, proposal of new criteria, and correlations with clinical and tumoral features. Medicine (Baltimore) 85:331–364
- 33. Metz DC, Buchanan M, Purich E, Fein S (2001) A randomized controlled crossover study comparing synthetic porcine and human secretins with biologically derived porcine secretin to diagnose Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 15:669–676
- 34. Vezzosi D, Walter T, Laplanche A et al (2011) Chromogranin A measurement in metastatic well-differentiated gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine carcinoma: screening for false positives and a prospective follow-up study. Int J Biol Markers 26:94–101
- 35. Abou-Saif A, Gibril F, Ojeaburu JV et al (2003) Prospective study of the ability of serial measurements of serum chromogranin A and gastrin to detect changes in tumor burden in patients with gastrinomas. Cancer 98:249–261
- Norton JA, Fraker DL, Alexander HR et al (2006) Surgery increases survival in patients with gastrinoma. Ann Surg 244:410–419
- Stabile BE, Morrow DJ, Passaro EJ (1984) The gastrinoma triangle: operative implications. Am J Surg 147:25–31
- Zogakis TG, Gibril F, Libutti SK et al (2003) Management and outcome of patients with sporadic gastrinoma arising in the duodenum. Ann Surg 238:42–48
- Sugg SL, Norton JA, Fraker DL et al (1993) A prospective study of intraoperative methods to diagnose and resect duodenal gastrinomas. Ann Surg 218:138–144
- Norton JA, Fraker DL, Alexander HR, Jensen RT (2012) Value of surgery in patients with negative imaging and sporadic Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. Ann Surg 256:509–517
- Pipeleers-Marichal M, Donow C, Heitz PU, Kloppel G (1993) Pathologic aspects of gastrinomas in patients with Zollinger-Ellison syndrome with and without multiple endocrine neoplasia type I. World J Surg 17:481–488
- 42. Phan GQ, Yeo CJ, Hruban RH, Littemoe KD, Pitt HA, Cameron JL (1998) Surgical experience with pancreatic and peripancreatic neuroendocrine tumors: review of 125 patients. J Gastrointest Surg 2:473–482
- 43. Jensen RT, Cadiot G, Brandi ML et al (2012) ENETS Consensus Guidelines for the management of patients with digestive neuroendocrine neoplasms: functional pancreatic endocrine tumor syndromes. Neuroendocrinology 95:98–119
- Bartsch DK, Fendrich V, Langer P, Celik I, Kann PH, Rothmund M (2005) Outcome of duodenopancreatic resections in patients with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. Ann Surg 242:757–764; discussion 764–766
- Bartsch DK, Langer P, Rothmund M (2007) Surgical aspects of gastrinoma in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. Wien Klin Wochenschr 119:602–608
- 46. Wu PC, Alexander HR, Bartlett DL et al (1997) A prospective analysis of the frequency, location, and curability of ectopic (nonpancreaticoduodenal, nonnodal) gastrinoma. Surgery 122:1176–1182

- Harvey A, Pasieka JL, Al-Bischer H, Dixon E (2012) Primary hepatic gastrinomas causing Zollinger-Ellison syndrome: rare and challenging diagnosis. Cancers 4:130–140
- 48. Hirasawa K, Yamada M, Kitagawa M et al (2000) Ovarian mucinous cystadenocarcinoma as a cause of Zollinger-Ellison syndrome: report of a case and review of the literature. Am J Gastroenterol 95:1348–1351
- Norton JA, Alexander HR, Fraker DL, Venzon DJ, Gibril F, Jensen RT (2003) Possible primary lymph node gastrinoma: occurrence, natural history, and predictive factors: a prospective study. Ann Surg 237:650–657; discussion 657–659
- 50. Anlauf M, Enosawa T, Henopp T et al (2008) Primary lymph node gastrinoma or occult duodenal microgastrinoma with lymph node metastases in a MEN1 patient: the need for a systematic search for the primary tumor. Am J Surg Pathol 32:1101–1105
- Norton JA, Fraker DL, Alexander HR et al (1999) Surgery to cure the Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. N Engl J Med 341:635–644
- Giovinazzo F, Butturini G, Monsellato D, Malleo G, Marchegiani G, Bassi C (2013) Lymph nodes metastasis and recurrences justify an aggressive treatment of gastrinoma. Updates Surg 65:19–24
- Weber HC, Venzon DJ, Lin JT et al (1995) Determinants of metastatic rate and survival in patients with Zollinger-Ellison syndrome: a prospective long-term study. Gastroenterology 108:1637–1649
- 54. Yu F, Venzon DJ, Serrano J et al (1999) Prospective study of the clinical course, prognostic factors, causes of death, and survival in patients with long-standing Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. J Clin Oncol 17:615–630
- Metz DC, Jensen RT (2008) Gastrointestinal neuroendocrine tumors: pancreatic endocrine tumors. Gastroenterology 135:1469–1492
- 56. Gibril F, Doppman JL, Reynolds JC et al (1998) Bone metastases in patients with gastrinomas: a prospective study of bone scanning, somatostatin receptor scanning, and magnetic resonance image in their detection, frequency, location, and effect of their detection on management. J Clin Oncol 16:1040–1053
- 57. Goebel SU, Heppner C, Burns AL et al (2000) Genotype/phenotype correlation of multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 gene mutations in sporadic gastrinomas. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 85:116–123
- Kawamura J, Shimada Y, Komoto I et al (2005) Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 gene mutations in sporadic gastrinomas in Japan. Oncol Rep 14:47–52
- Wild A, Langer P, Celik I, Chaloupka B, Bartsch DK (2002) Chromosome 22q in pancreatic endocrine tumors: identification of a homozygous deletion and potential prognostic associations of allelic deletions. Eur J Endocrinol 147:507–513
- Chen YJ, Vortmeyer A, Zhuang Z, Gibril F, Jensen RT (2004) X-chromosome loss of heterozygosity frequently occurs in gastrinomas and is correlated with aggressive tumor growth. Cancer 100:1379–1387
- Serrano J, Goebel SU, Peghini PL, Lubensky IA, Gibril F, Jensen RT (2000) Alterations in the p16INK4a/CDKN2A tumor suppressor gene in gastrinomas. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 85:4146–4156
- 62. Capelli P, Martignoni G, Pedica F et al (2009) Endocrine neoplasms of the pancreas: pathologic and genetic features. Arch Pathol Lab Med 133:350–364
- Alexander HR, Fraker DL, Norton JA et al (1998) Prospective study of somatostatin receptor scintigraphy and its effect on operative outcome in patients with Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. Ann Surg 228:228–238
- 64. Gibril F, Reynolds JC, Doppman JL et al (1996) Somatostatin receptor scintigraphy: its sensitivity compared with that of other imaging methods in detecting primary and metastatic gastrinomas. A prospective study. Ann Intern Med 125:26–34
- Trudeau WL, McGuigan JE (1969) Effects of calcium on serum gastrin levels in the zollinger-Ellison syndrome. N Engl J Med 281:862–866
- 66. Termanini B, Gibril F, Reynolds JC et al (1997) Value of somatostatin receptor scintigraphy: a prospective study in gastrinoma of its effect on clinical management. Gastroenterology 112:335–347

- Fusaroli P, Kypraios D, Caletti G, Eloubeidi MA (2012) Pancreatico-biliary endoscopic ultrasound: a systematic review of the levels of evidence, performance and outcomes. World J Gastroenterol 18:4243–4256
- Imamura M, Takahashi K (1993) Use of selective arterial secretin injection test to guide surgery in patients with Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. World J Surg 17:433–438
- Wada M, Komoto I, Doi R, Imamura M (2002) Intravenous calcium injection test is a novel complementary procedure in differential diagnosis for gastrinoma. World J Surg 26:1291–1296
- Sundin A, Garske U, Orlefors H (2007) Nuclear imaging of neuroendocrine tumours. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab 21:69–85
- Gabriel M, Decristoforo C, Kendler D et al (2007) 68Ga-DOTA-Tyr3-octreotide PET in neuroendocrine tumors: comparison with somatostatin receptor scintigraphy and CT. J Nucl Med 48:508–518
- 72. Frilling A, Sotiropoulos GC, Radtke A et al (2010) The impact of 68Ga-DOTATOC positron emission tomography/computed tomography on the multimodal management of patients with neuroendocrine tumors. Ann Surg 252:850–856
- Kulke MH, Anthony LB, Bushnell DL et al (2010) NANETS treatment guidelines: welldifferentiated neuroendocrine tumors of the stomach and pancreas. Pancreas 39:735–752
- 74. Sarmiento JM, Farnell MB, Que FG, Nagorney DM (2002) Pancreaticoduodenectomy for islet cell tumors of the head of the pancreas: long-term survival analysis. World J Surg 26: 1267–1271
- 75. Bartsch DK, Waldmann J, Fendrich V et al (2012) Impact of lymphadenectomy on survival after surgery for sporadic gastrinoma. Br J Surg 99:1234–1240
- Maire F, Sauvanet A, Couvelard A et al (2012) Recurrence after surgical resection of gastrinoma: who, when, where and why? Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 24:368–374
- Grobmyer SR, Hochwald SN (2010) Reoperative surgery for the Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. Adv Surg 44:327–346
- Lewis MA, Hubbard J (2011) Multimodal liver-directed management of neuroendocrine hepatic metastases. Int J Hepatol 2011:452343
- Karabulut K, Akyildiz HY, Lance C et al (2011) Multimodality treatment of neuroendocrine liver metastases. Surgery 150:316–325
- Mayo SC, de Jong MC, Pulitano C et al (2010) Surgical management of hepatic neuroendocrine tumor metastasis: results from an international multi-institutional analysis. Ann Surg Oncol 17:3129–3136
- Norton JA, Doherty GM, Fraker DL et al (1998) Surgical treatment of localized gastrinoma within the liver: a prospective study. Surgery 124:1145–1152
- Mayo SC, de Jong MC, Pawlik TM (2011) Surgical management and emerging therapies to prolong survival in metastatic neuroendocrine cancer. Ann Surg Oncol 18(Suppl 3):S220– S221; author reply S222–3
- Touzios JG, Kiely JM, Pitt SC et al (2005) Neuroendocrine hepatic metastases: does aggressive management improve survival? Ann Surg 241:776–783; discussion 783–785
- 84. Sarmiento JM, Heywood G, Rubin J, Ilstrup DM, Nagorney DM, Que FG (2003) Surgical treatment of neuroendocrine metastases to the liver: a plea for resection to increase survival. J Am Coll Surg 197:29–37
- 85. Gurusamy KS, Ramamoorthy R, Sharma D, Davidson BR (2009) Liver resection versus other treatments for neuroendocrine tumours in patients with resectable liver metastases. Cochrane Database Syst Rev (2):CD007060
- Zappa M, Abdel-Rehim M, Hentic O, Vullierme MP, Ruszniewski P, Vilgrain V (2012) Liverdirected therapies in liver metastases from neuroendocrine tumors of the gastrointestinal tract. Target Oncol 7:107–116
- John BJ, Davidson BR (2012) Treatment options for unresectable neuroendocrine liver metastases. Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 6:357–369
- Gupta S, Yao JC, Ahrar K et al (2003) Hepatic artery embolization and chemoembolization for treatment of patients with metastatic carcinoid tumors: the M.D. Anderson experience. Cancer J 9:261–267

- Kennedy AS, Dezarn WA, McNeillie P et al (2008) Radioembolization for unresectable neuroendocrine hepatic metastases using resin 90Y-microspheres: early results in 148 patients. Am J Clin Oncol 31:271–279
- King J, Quinn R, Glenn DM et al (2008) Radioembolization with selective internal radiation microspheres for neuroendocrine liver metastases. Cancer 113:921–929
- Lau WY, Kennedy AS, Kim YH et al (2012) Patient selection and activity planning guide for selective internal radiotherapy with yttrium-90 resin microspheres. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 82:401–407
- 92. De Jong M, Valkema R, Jamar F et al (2002) Somatostatin receptor-targeted radionuclide therapy of tumors: preclinical and clinical findings. Semin Nucl Med 32:133–140
- Frilling A, Akerstrom G, Falconi M et al (2012) Neuroendocrine tumor disease: an evolving landscape. Endocr Relat Cancer 19:R163–R185
- 94. Frilling A, Weber F, Saner F et al (2006) Treatment with (90)Y- and (177)Lu-DOTATOC in patients with metastatic neuroendocrine tumors. Surgery 140:968–976; discussion 976–977
- 95. Grama D, Eriksson B, Martensson H et al (1992) Clinical characteristics, treatment and survival in patients with pancreatic tumors causing hormonal syndromes. World J Surg 16:632–639
- 96. Kouvaraki MA, Ajani JA, Hoff P et al (2004) Fluorouracil, doxorubicin, and streptozocin in the treatment of patients with locally advanced and metastatic pancreatic endocrine carcinomas. J Clin Oncol 22:4762–4771
- 97. Shojamanesh H, Gibril F, Louie A et al (2002) Prospective study of the antitumor efficacy of long-term octreotide treatment in patients with progressive metastatic gastrinoma. Cancer 94:331–343
- Raymond E, Dahan L, Raoul JL et al (2011) Sunitinib malate for the treatment of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. N Engl J Med 364:501–513
- Yao JC, Shah MH, Ito T et al (2011) Everolimus for advanced pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. N Engl J Med 364:514–523
- Yao JC, Lagunes DR, Kulke MH (2013) Targeted therapies in neuroendocrine tumors (NET): clinical trial challenges and lessons learned. Oncologist 18:525–532
- 101. Yao JC, Phan AT, Jehl V, Shah G, Meric-Bernstam F (2013) Everolimus in advanced pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors: the clinical experience. Cancer Res 73:1449–1453
- 102. Hammel P, Hentic O, Neuzillet C, Faivre S, Raymond E, Ruszniewski P (2012) New treatment options with cytotoxic agents in neuroendocrine tumours. Target Oncol 7:169–172
- 103. Raymond E, Dreyer C, Faivre S (2012) Targeting neuroendocrine tumor: mixing standard options with novel therapies. Target Oncol 7:151–152
- Doherty GM, Thompson NW (2003) Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1: duodenopancreatic tumours. J Intern Med 253:590–598
- 105. Akerstrom G, Stalberg P, Hellman P (2012) Surgical management of pancreatico-duodenal tumors in multiple endocrine neoplasia syndrome type 1. Clinics (Sao Paulo) 67(Suppl 1):173–178
- 106. Schimmack S, Svejda B, Lawrence B, Kidd M, Modlin IM (2011) The diversity and commonalities of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Langenbecks Arch Surg 396:273–298
- 107. Gibril F, Jensen RT (2005) Advances in evaluation and management of gastrinoma in patients with Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. Curr Gastroenterol Rep 7:114–121
- 108. Ito T, Igarashi H, Uehara H, Berna MJ, Jensen RT (2013) Causes of death and prognostic factors in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1: a prospective study: comparison of 106 MEN1/Zollinger-Ellison syndrome patients with 1613 literature MEN1 patients with or without pancreatic endocrine tumors. Medicine (Baltimore) 92:135–181
- 109. Wilson SD, Krzywda EA, Zhu YR et al (2008) The influence of surgery in MEN-1 syndrome: observations over 150 years. Surgery 144:695–701; discussion 701–702
- Kloppel G, Anlauf M, Perren A (2007) Endocrine precursor lesions of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Endocr Pathol 18:150–155
- 111. Thompson NW, Bondeson AG, Bondeson L, Vinik A (1989) The surgical treatment of gastrinoma in MEN I syndrome patients. Surgery 106:1081–1085; discussion 1085–1086

- 112. Hausman MSJ, Thompson NW, Gauger PG, Doherty GM (2004) The surgical management of MEN-1 pancreatoduodenal neuroendocrine disease. Surgery 136:1205–1211
- 113. Gauger PG, Doherty GM, Broome JT, Miller BS, Thompson NW (2009) Completion pancreatectomy and duodenectomy for recurrent MEN-1 pancreaticoduodenal endocrine neoplasms. Surgery 146:801–806; discussion 807–808
- 114. Triponez F, Goudet P, Dosseh D et al (2006) Is surgery beneficial for MEN1 patients with small (< or = 2 cm), nonfunctioning pancreaticoduodenal endocrine tumor? An analysis of 65 patients from the GTE. World J Surg 30:654–662; discussion 663–664
- 115. Thompson NW (1998) Current concepts in the surgical management of multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 pancreatic-duodenal disease. Results in the treatment of 40 patients with Zollinger-Ellison syndrome, hypoglycaemia or both. J Intern Med 243:495–500
- 116. Norton JA, Alexander HR, Fraker DL, Venzon DJ, Gibril F, Jensen RT (2001) Comparison of surgical results in patients with advanced and limited disease with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 and Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. Ann Surg 234:495–505; discussion 505–506
- 117. Kouvaraki MA, Shapiro SE, Cote GJ et al (2006) Management of pancreatic endocrine tumors in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. World J Surg 30:643–653

VIPoma and PPoma

14

Christian Rolfo, Giuseppe Bronte, Leonor Leider, Patrick Pauwels, Konstantinos Papadimitriou, Antonio Russo, and Marc Peeters

14.1 VIPoma

14.1.1 Epidemiology

VIPomas represent 1.4 % of Gastro entero pancreatic (GEP) neuroendocrine tumours (NETs), corresponding to an incidence of 0.01/1,000,000 yearly. About 85 % are pancreatic, and amongst islet cell tumours, they are about 2 % [1]. Rare extrapancreatic types exist including oesophagus, liver and retroperitoneum, but these forms are mainly present in paediatric age and are attributable to neuroblastomas, which produce also VIP. In adults the extrapancreatic types have low malignant phenotype.

In the pancreas VIPoma usually arises as a unique tumour. It may reach great dimensions, 3 cm as diameter (range of 1-7 cm) on the average, but one case report describes also a 20 cm VIPoma [2]. The main location is (75 %) within the pancreatic body and tail. It is more frequent in female (about 56 %) and the mean age at diagnosis is 49 years.

The pure secreting VIPoma is rare, because about 75 % of VIPomas produce also pancreatic polypeptide (PP), neurotensin, gastrin and GIP. However, it is nearly

Oncology Department and Multidisciplinary Oncology Center of Antwerp (MOCA), Antwerp University Hospital, Wilrijkstraat 10, Edegem 2650, Belgium e-mail: Marc.peeters@uza.be

G. Bronte • A. Russo Section of Medical Oncology, Department of Surgical, Oncological and Stomatological Sciences, University of Palermo, Palermo, Italy

L. Leider Pathology Institute, Sourasky Medical Center, Tel Aviv, Israel

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

C. Rolfo • K. Papadimitriou • M. Peeters (🖂)

P. Pauwels Pathology Department and MOCA, Antwerp University Hospital, Edegem, Belgium

S. Yalcin, K. Öberg (eds.), Neuroendocrine Tumours:

Diagnosis and Management, DOI 10.1007/978-3-662-45215-8_14

always biologically active [3, 4]. Four to ten percent of VIPomas belong to the MEN syndrome. Wermer syndrome, induced by VIP production, arises in 1-7 % of islet cell tumours.

14.1.2 Molecular Mechanisms

To date we can find in the literature 133 case reports and 161 patients grouped in 8 cohorts on VIPoma. Amongst all publications, a small number of them report the investigation about the molecular mechanisms for the development of VIPoma.

In particular, a study investigated benign and malignant NETs for microsatellite loss of heterozygosity (LOH) analysis and fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) in order to evaluate the importance of chromosome 3p deletions in the molecular pathogenesis and biological behaviour. Amongst these patients a VIPoma showed LOH at all informative microsatellite markers. This finding could indicate that the tumour cells initially had a 3p deletion which was followed by duplication of the remaining allele. Such endoreduplication was also reported for colorectal cancer [5, 6]. In a similar case series, chromosome 6q losses were observed. Some tumour suppressor genes are located in this region of deletion. These genes include "absent in melanoma 1" (AIM1), "cyclin C" (CCNC) and "receptor-type protein-tyrosine phosphatase kappa" (PTPRK). AIM1 and CCNC were mapped to 6q21 and PTPRK to 6q22.2-q22.3. The first one exerts its effects through interactions with the cytoskeleton. The CCNC is upregulated by $1\alpha.25$ -dihydroxyvitamin D3, inhibits cellular growth and induces apoptosis. The PTPRK gene seems to be involved in the regulation of cell adhesion by dephosphorylation of β -catenin and γ -catenin/plakoglobin or cadherins, thereby contributing to the formation and maintenance of intact adherens junctions [7].

Another report of pancreatic NETs including VIPomas evaluated the putative tumour suppressor gene DPC4 located at the chromosome 18q21.1. This gene, also indicated as Smad4, is a member of the highly conserved family of Smad proteins that are involved in the transduction of signals from the transforming growth factor family of cytokines. This study found out no mutations in this gene for VIPomas [8].

A study about the role of sex chromosome in NET development included 1 VIPoma. This analysis showed a loss of chromosome X in 40 % of female patients whereas loss of chromosome Y in 36 % of male patients without loss of the X chromosome. Sex chromosome loss is associated with aggressiveness of pancreatic NETs and may also predict a poorer clinical outcome. This phenomenon could be explained by the role of genes on the X chromosome in the induction of senescence and control of cell proliferation [9].

BRAF mutations were also investigated in NET, but these genetic alterations were really low (3 %). However, none of the two VIPomas of this case series bore BRAF gene impairment [10].

Recently, in a patient with VIPoma, LOH downregulation was observed by the microarray analysis for the mismatch repair gene MSH2 in the primary tumour. Besides, in the same case, a strong overexpression of the chemokine CXCR4 gene

was found in the liver metastases. On the basis of these findings, the authors argued a role for MSH2 gene impairment in carcinogenesis and for CXCR4 dysregulation in metastasis development [11].

14.1.3 Clinical Manifestations

In 1958 Verner and Morrison described in two patients a syndrome including diarrhoea, hypokalaemia, hypochlorhydria and metabolic acidosis [12, 13]. For this syndrome an acronym was used: WDHH (watery diarrhoea, hypokalaemia, hypochlorhydria). It was also defined as "pancreatic cholera", but this definition is not proper when it arises from an extrapancreatic origin. The term VIPoma was suggested by the elevated plasma levels of the vasoactive intestinal polypeptide (VIP), which are associated with this kind of tumour. VIP is a 28-amino acid polypeptide which is distributed throughout the body and normally functions as a neurotransmitter. In the gut it regulates the blood flow, smooth muscle activity, pancreatic and intestinal secretions and inhibits gastric acid production. Excessive circulating VIP concentrations induce secretion in all intestinal segments of Na+, K+, Cl- and HCO3- as well as water, but also gastric acid secretion, bone resorption, glycogenolysis and vasodilation.

The Verner-Morrison syndrome is characterized by sizeable diarrhoea (1-6 1/ die), which is watery and increasing. The diarrhoea associated with VIPoma is characterized by its persistence for 48–72 h after fasting and by great faecal volumes of 6-8 l/die. The secretory nature of the diarrhoea is confirmed if it is refractory to fasting. The hydro-electrolytic disequilibrium is a consequence of diarrhoea and includes hypokalaemia, hypomagnesaemia, hypovolaemia and metabolic acidosis. These events induce lethargy, muscular weakness, cardiac conduction disturbances, weight loss, abdominal pain, paralytic ileus, dyspepsia and gallbladder hypotonia. Flushing could be found in about 20 % of VIPomas, and rarely acute kidney tubular necrosis was reported. In 75 % of VIPoma patients, hypercalcaemia was described, and hypophosphataemia could be associated because of hyperparathyroidism. Hypercalcaemia could be a consequence of paraneoplastic hormonal secretion. The development of hypercalcaemia was attributed to the release of PTHrp by tumour cells. Half of VIPoma patients develop hyperglycaemia because of reduced glucose tolerance, and an increased hepatic glycogenolysis has been hypothesized as a possible explanation for this finding. In 40 % of those patients, hypochlorhydria has been reported. Hypochlorhydria is due to the inhibition of gastric acid production by VIP. Hyperchloremic acidosis can also develop because of low bicarbonate levels as a consequence of severe intestinal loss [14].

In earlier stages the Verner-Morrison syndrome could be confused with diarrhoeas from different origin, including those related with bacterial, viral and parasitic infections and with inflammatory bowel diseases such as ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease. Since also other neuroendocrine tumours could induce diarrhoea, the one that is related to VIPoma needs to be distinguished. VIP plasma levels allow to recognize those patients affected by this NET. However, VIP could be present in various molecular forms, and its levels could exceed 170 pg/ml. These high VIP levels are often associated with high plasma levels of other diarrhoea-inducing molecules, such as pancreatic polypeptide (PP), gastric inhibiting polypeptide (GIP) and prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) [15]. For this reason the already-known role of VIP as the main inducer of diarrhoea has been limited. Besides some VIPoma patients without diarrhoea showed high VIP plasma levels.

Of malignant VIPomas clinical onset is usually accompanied by advanced stage of neoplastic disease. In these patients the clinical management of hydro-electrolytic disequilibrium needs to precede any other treatment. Since the past decades, the use of prednisone has been revealed as a quite efficacious way to manage diarrhoea. Anyway this symptom could be properly contrasted by the treatment with antidiarrhoeal drugs, prostaglandin inhibitors and indole derivatives, since early phases. The treatment with octreotide, a somatostatin analogue, achieved the best control of diarrhoea with subsequent improvement of hydro-electrolytic disequilibrium. In some patients in whom octreotide was delivered for diarrhoea control, a benefit in metastases regression was also obtained [16]. These results have been subsequently implemented by the findings from the PROMID trial about the antitumour benefit on efficacy end point by octreotide in GEP NET patients.

14.1.4 Biochemical Indicators

VIPomas are characterized by hypokalaemia in 100 % of patients and hypochlorhydria in 70 %, as a consequence of electrolytic loss by secretory diarrhoea, hypercalcaemia in 40 % and hyperglycaemia in 20 %. However, this biochemical changes are not sufficient for diagnosis, because only high VIP plasma levels are really mandatory for VIPoma's diagnosis. Since fasting normal VIP values are ranged between 150 and 170 pg/ml, in VIPoma patients hugely higher levels are found in plasma [14]. The VIP levels are usually found elevated in almost all cases, but it could also be found normal between the episodes of diarrhoea. However, the evaluation of VIP plasma levels needs some particular technical devices to guarantee its accuracy and its right interpretation. In fact VIP is a highly unstable protein which easily undergoes a proteolytic degradation [17].

Anyway high VIP plasma levels could be found in patients affected by liver and kidney failure, myocardial infarction, intestinal ischemia, AIDS and laxative-induced diarrhoea.

Besides VIPomas are able to produce other peptides such as PP, calcitonin, gastrin, neurotensin, gastric inhibitory peptide (GIP), serotonin, glucagon, insulin, somatostatin, growth hormone-releasing hormone and peptide histidine-methionine [18].

14.1.5 Diagnosis

When a NET has a dimension less than 1 cm, CT scan reaches a sensitivity less than 10%. However, VIPomas are usually found when they are greater than 3 cm, so that CT sensitivity could reach 100 % [19]. The magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) could help differentiating the small pancreatic tumours from the surrounding

normal pancreatic tissue. This imaging technique has reached a sensitivity of 85 and 100 % specificity [20]. On the basis of the high expression of somatostatin receptors in VIPomas, OctreoScan has been considered as a reliable evaluation for this kind of tumours. Somatostatin receptors are expressed in 80–90 % of VIPomas.

The histological examination of VIPoma show some molecular patterns, such as solid, acinar or trabecular tissue architecture with scant mitoses. The cells are cytologically bland, with modest amount of cytoplasm and round nuclei without visible nucleoli. Few mitotic figures can be found. However, since 60–80 % of VIPomas are metastatic diagnosis, locoregional lymph nodes and suspicious distant metastases could confirm that those histological features are associated with a malignancy [21].

14.1.6 Treatment Options

The suspicion of this neuroendocrine tumour in patients with chronic diarrhoea could help to diagnose early this rare disease. Before any curative or palliative treatment is started, the life-threatening hydro-electrolytic disorders must be corrected. Some patients could require a massive intravenous potassium replacement because a consistent potassium deficit induced by chronic gastrointestinal losses.

More than half of VIPomas are resectable at diagnosis. Curable rate by resection reached 10 % [22]. The localization of VIPomas is relatively easy because 80 % have a single site and range between 1 and 7 cm. Pancreatic forms are usually localized in the pancreatic tail. For this reason in these cases, the surgical treatment is represented by a distal pancreatectomy. When pancreatic lesions could not be identified, the exploration of adrenal glands and sympathetic plexus for extrapancreatic forms is necessary. Cytoreductive surgery includes palliative debulking of the primary tumour. This treatment achieves a tumour bulk reduction, the improvement of hormone-mediated symptoms and the prevention of local and systemic tumour effects. A complete resection of the primary tumour improves the prognosis greatly.

In metastatic patients with low risk, the surgical option could be taken into account for symptoms control, which could be reached in 40 % of patients. In high-risk patients with multiple metastatic sites, a systemic treatment is overriding. However, in these patients a palliative debulking surgery should be considered, since patients' outcomes could be improved.

The medical treatment of VIPoma is mainly directed to symptom control. Somatostatin analogues achieved diarrhoea improvement in 56 % of patients. Besides a VIP plasma level reduction was also observed in 60 % [23]. Octreotide was delivered at doses ranging between 50 and 1,500 mcg/die. The best response rate was 83 % with median duration of 6 months. However, octreotide 250–450 mcg/ day induced 60 % of symptom control, 70 % of biochemical changes and 5–10 % of tumour responses. The stabilization of neoplastic disease was documented by CT scan in 30–50 % of patients [24]. Some authors reported a marked decrease in the tumour blood flow in two patients with VIPomas. This finding allowed to hypothesize a direct vasoactive effect of octreotide on the tumour blood supply or an indirect effect of reduced hormonal secretion on blood flow [25].

Twenty percent of patients experienced resistance to octreotide and 16 % showed a direct antitumour activity.

After a prolonged treatment with octreotide, tachyphylaxis could be observed. For this reason dose escalation or combination with other agents such as interferonalpha could be considered to overcome resistance. In the next future newer somatostatin analogues will be available, such as pasireotide or SOM-230, with prolonged half-life and higher affinity for somatostatin receptors.

As alternative treatment options both chemotherapy and radiotherapy were tested. The former showed no significant benefits and the latter obtained anecdotal benefit but shortly lasting.

14.2 PPoma

PPoma belongs to those non-functioning NETs, which are not associated with a clinical syndrome. This group include also tumours secreting neurotensin or calcitonin. This lack of function may be due to the inability of these peptides in the induction of physiopathological changes and subsequent clinical symptoms. In these tumours the symptoms are usually a consequence of compression, if tumour is greater than 5 cm or of metastases development. About 65 % of these NETs are malignant [26].

PPoma cells show a differentiation that makes them similar to the gamma cells of the Langerhans islets, which represent 10 % of the pancreatic islet cells and secrete >90 % of total PP [27, 28].

PPoma is characterized by higher plasma levels of pancreatic polypeptide (PP, also reported as growth inhibiting factor, GIF, or human pancreatic polypeptide, hPP). This peptide was identified in 1972 by two independent laboratories [29]. Its function has not been yet clarified. However, we know that it weakly inhibits pancreatic enzymes and gastric acid secretion and contrasts gallbladder contraction. PP could also be found in islet cell tumours, like 75 % of VIPomas and 25 % of gastrinoma, in multiple endocrine neoplasias (MENs) and in other intestinal and bronchial tumours.

Pure PPomas are rare. They represent less than 1 % of NETs. Until now the literature reports 24 patients with sporadic pancreatic (non-MEN) and 6 with extrapancreatic PPomas. The age of these patients ranged from 20 to 74 with a mean age of 51. The incidence was similar for females and males. It develops more frequently in the head of pancreas and could reach dimensions greater than 5 cm because of the lack of specific symptoms. Metastases developed in 8 out of the 24 patients reported, but this evolution seems to be not associated with poor survival [30–43].

PPomas are diagnosed by ultrasound and CT scan. These tumours are mostly found incidentally in patients undergoing diagnostic tests for non-specific symptoms. The association of high basal plasma PP levels with highly vascular tumours on CT scan should induce the suspicion for PPoma. Other investigations, including endoscopic ultrasound, somatostatin receptor scintigraphy, PET, transhepatic portal venous sampling, selective angiography with secretin injection or surgical exploration, could help for diagnosis.

Sometimes symptoms and clinical signs could be described such as watery diarrhoea, mild hypergastrinaemia, hypokalaemia, higher basal acid production and peptic ulcer, which help to differentiate it from VIPoma. In some patients skin rash, similar to that observed in patients with glucagonoma, was reported, and it disappears as a consequence of tumour removal. However, high PP plasma levels (>100 pg/ml) are the most relevant feature [31]. Plasma samples for PP evaluation should be taken in the rested fasting state, since PP values were found increased after a meal and exercise, but also in patients with hypoglycaemia and cholinergic stimulation [28]. It is important to highlight that the finding of high PP levels is not sufficient for PPoma diagnosis. In fact, it was found higher also in other NETs (25–70 %) and in non-neoplastic patients including chronic pancreatitis, kidney failure, diabetes, hypoglycaemia, duodenal ulcer, alcoholism, advanced age and medications (erythromycin, cisapride, laxative abuse) [17].

A method exists to distinguish the neoplastic from the non-neoplastic production of PP. It consists of a test using atropine. When 1 mg intramuscular atropine is delivered, PP secretion is normally suppressed by the vagal cholinergic regulation [44]. PP produced by a tumour is not inhibited by atropine. However, this mechanism is not absolute, because in some patients with PP-secreting tumours, PP levels could be reduced by atropine. This phenomenon was explained by the presence of PP-secreting benign hyperplasia, which responds to atropine delivery [45]. A stimulation test was also developed using secretin infusion, which induces more significant PP level increase in patients with PPoma than in nonneoplastic patients [46]. However, these dynamic tests have not been yet indicated for clinical practice because a wide case series does not exist to confirm their validity.

To date no histological features have been identified to distinguish PPomas from other pancreatic NETs. In fact they show all the typical neuroendocrine characteristics. Electron microscopy could show secretory granules. Only immunohistochemistry could confirm PP expression by tumour cells. A cut-off of more than 50 % of tumour cells expressing PP was established to classify a tumour PPoma, since this peptide could be also expressed by other islet cell tumours.

Since PPoma is biologically inactive, its diagnosis is usually late, when it has already become malignant and of greater dimensions. For this reason often surgery is not radical for this NET. When dimensions are limited, a careful enucleation with a limited normal tissue margin can be considered for selected patients. Cytoreductive surgery for metastases was proposed, but a clear advantage for patients has not yet been demonstrated.

References

- Hoffman PN, Lasek RJ (1975) The slow component of axonal transport. Identification of major structural polypeptides of the axon and their generality among mammalian neurons. J Cell Biol 66:351–366
- 2. Stinner B, Rothmund M (1992) Actual surgical strategies for endocrine tumors. Onkologie 15:346-354
- 3. Norton JA, Cromack DT, Shawker TH et al (1988) Intraoperative ultrasonographic localization of islet cell tumors. A prospective comparison to palpation. Ann Surg 207:160–168
- 4. Elias E, Polak JM, Bloom SR et al (1972) Pancreatic cholera due to production of gastric inhibitory polypeptide. Lancet 2:791–793
- Barghorn A, Komminoth P, Bachmann D et al (2001) Deletion at 3p25.3-p23 is frequently encountered in endocrine pancreatic tumours and is associated with metastatic progression. J Pathol 194:451–458
- 6. Giaretti W (1994) A model of DNA aneuploidization and evolution in colorectal cancer. Lab Invest 71:904–910
- 7. Barghorn A, Speel EJ, Farspour B et al (2001) Putative tumor suppressor loci at 6q22 and 6q23-q24 are involved in the malignant progression of sporadic endocrine pancreatic tumors. Am J Pathol 158:1903–1911
- Bartsch D, Hahn SA, Danichevski KD et al (1999) Mutations of the DPC4/Smad4 gene in neuroendocrine pancreatic tumors. Oncogene 18:2367–2371
- 9. Missiaglia E, Moore PS, Williamson J et al (2002) Sex chromosome anomalies in pancreatic endocrine tumors. Int J Cancer 98:532–538
- Tannapfel A, Vomschloss S, Karhoff D et al (2005) BRAF gene mutations are rare events in gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Am J Clin Pathol 123:256–260
- 11. Müller S, Kupka S, Königsrainer I et al (2012) MSH2 and CXCR4 involvement in malignant VIPoma. World J Surg Oncol 10:264
- Verner JV, Morrison AB (1958) Islet cell tumor and a syndrome of refractory watery diarrhea and hypokalemia. Am J Med 25:374–380
- Verner JV, Morrison AB (1974) Endocrine pancreatic islet disease with diarrhea. Report of a case due to diffuse hyperplasia of nonbeta islet tissue with a review of 54 additional cases. Arch Intern Med 133:492–499
- 14. Mekhjian HS, O'Dorisio TM (1987) VIPoma syndrome. Semin Oncol 14:282-291
- Bloom SR, Lee YC, Lacroute JM et al (1983) Two patients with pancreatic apudomas secreting neurotensin and VIP. Gut 24:448–452
- Clements D, Elias E (1985) Regression of metastatic vipoma with somatostatin analogue SMS 201–995. Lancet 1:874–875
- Modlin IM, Tang LH (1997) Approaches to the diagnosis of gut neuroendocrine tumors: the last word (today). Gastroenterology 112:583–590
- Perry RR, Vinik AI (1995) Clinical review 72: diagnosis and management of functioning islet cell tumors. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 80:2273–2278
- King CM, Reznek RH, Dacie JE, Wass JA (1994) Imaging islet cell tumours. Clin Radiol 49:295–303
- Thoeni RF, Mueller-Lisse UG, Chan R et al (2000) Detection of small, functional islet cell tumors in the pancreas: selection of MR imaging sequences for optimal sensitivity. Radiology 214:483–490
- Capella C, Polak JM, Buffa R et al (1983) Morphologic patterns and diagnostic criteria of VIPproducing endocrine tumors. A histologic, histochemical, ultrastructural, and biochemical study of 32 cases. Cancer 52:1860–1874
- Thompson GB, van Heerden JA, Grant CS et al (1988) Islet cell carcinomas of the pancreas: a twenty-year experience. Surgery 104:1011–1017
- Debas HT, Gittes G (1993) Somatostatin analogue therapy in functioning neuroendocrine gut tumors. Digestion 54(Suppl 1):68–71

- Oberg K (1999) Neuroendocrine gastrointestinal tumors-a condensed overview of diagnosis and treatment. Ann Oncol 10(Suppl 2):S3–S8
- Cho KJ, Vinik AI (1990) Effect of somatostatin analogue (octreotide) on blood flow to endocrine tumors metastatic to the liver: angiographic evaluation. Radiology 177:549–553
- Kent RB, van Heerden JA, Weiland LH (1981) Nonfunctioning islet cell tumors. Ann Surg 193:185–190
- Glaser B, Vinik AI, Sive AA, Floyd JC (1980) Plasma human pancreatic polypeptide responses to administered secretin: effects of surgical vagotomy, cholinergic blockade, and chronic pancreatitis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 50:1094–1099
- Greenberg GR, McCloy RF, Adrian TE et al (1978) Inhibition of pancreas and gallbladder by pancreatic polypeptide. Lancet 2:1280–1282
- Kimmel JR, Pollock HG, Hazelwood RL (1968) Isolation and characterization of chicken insulin. Endocrinology 83:1323–1330
- Bellows C, Haque S, Jaffe B (1998) Pancreatic polypeptide islet cell tumor: case report and review of the literature. J Gastrointest Surg 2:526–532
- Choksi UA, Sellin RV, Hickey RC, Samaan NA (1988) An unusual skin rash associated with a pancreatic polypeptide-producing tumor of the pancreas. Ann Intern Med 108:64–65
- 32. Colović R, Grubor N, Micev M et al (2003) Two cases of pancreatic head polypeptide tumors, one with a central cavity which fistulized into the duodenum. Srp Arh Celok Lek 131:259–265
- Friesen SR, Kimmel JR, Tomita T (1980) Pancreatic polypeptide as screening marker for pancreatic polypeptide apudomas in multiple endocrinopathies. Am J Surg 139:61–72
- 34. Hayes MM (1980) Report of a pancreatic polypeptide-producing islet-cell tumour of the pancreas causing the watery diarrhoea, hypokalaemia, achlorhydria syndrome in a 55 year old Zimbabwean African male. Cent Afr J Med 26:195–197
- Mehring UM, Jäger HJ, Klöppel G, Hasse FM (1997) Pancreatic polypeptide secreting endocrine pancreas tumor associated with multiple stomach and duodenal ulcers. Langenbecks Arch Chir 382:134–137
- Mortenson M, Bold RJ (2002) Symptomatic pancreatic polypeptide-secreting tumor of the distal pancreas (PPoma). Int J Gastrointest Cancer 32:153–156
- Nobin A, Berg M, Ericsson M et al (1984) Pancreatic polypeptide-producing tumors. Report on two cases. Cancer 53:2688–2691
- Quin JD, Marshall DA, Fisher BM, MacCuish AC (1991) Metastatic pancreatic polypeptide producing tumour presenting with diabetes mellitus. Scott Med J 36:143
- Raffel A, Krausch M, Schulte KM, Röher HD (2004) Symptomatic pure pancreatic polypeptidecontaining tumor of the pancreas. Pancreas 29:83
- 40. Rossi V, Saibeni S, Sinigaglia L et al (2006) Hypokalemic rhabdomyolysis without watery diarrhea: an unexpected presentation of a pancreatic neuro-endocrine tumor. Am J Gastroenterol 101:669–672
- Strodel WE, Vinik AI, Lloyd RV et al (1984) Pancreatic polypeptide-producing tumors. Silent lesions of the pancreas? Arch Surg 119:508–514
- Tomita T, Friesen SR, Kimmel JR (1986) Pancreatic polypeptide-secreting islet cell tumor. A follow-up report. Cancer 57:129–133
- Fuertes Guiró F, Mortara G, Schiaffino E, d'Urbano C (1994) Pancreatic endocrine F-cell tumor. Rev Esp Enferm Dig 86:694–698
- Schwartz TW, Holst JJ, Fahrenkrug J et al (1978) Vagal, cholinergic regulation of pancreatic polypeptide secretion. J Clin Invest 61:781–789
- 45. Schwartz TW (1978) Atropine suppression test for pancreatic polypeptide. Lancet 2:43-44
- 46. Vinik AI, Moattari AR (1989) Treatment of endocrine tumors of the pancreas. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am 18:483–518

Glucagonoma

Suayib Yalcin, Cenk Sokmensuer, and Ece Esin

15.1 Introduction

Glucagonomas are neuroendocrine tumours of the pancreas (pNET) originating from alpha islet cells, which synthesize and secrete glucagon or other peptides derived from the preproglucagon gene. These tumours are associated with a welldescribed glucagonoma syndrome characterized by hyperglucagonemia, skin rash, glucose intolerance, hypoalbuminemia, weight loss, and anemia [2].

15.2 History

The glucagonoma syndrome was first reported by Becker et al. in a patient with skin rash associated with pancreatic tumour in 1942 [3]. However, the syndrome initially was not attributed to hypersecretion of glucagon until McGavran et al. reported the first case of a patient with the glucagonoma syndrome, who had elevated plasma immunoreactive glucagon level, diabetes mellitus, skin rash, and pNET in 1966 [1]. In 1974, Mallinson et al. reported the association of skin rash with hyperglucagonemia, describing that nine cases with clinical glucagonoma syndrome consisted of dermatitis, diabetes mellitus, unexplained weight loss, hypoaminoacidemia,

S. Yalcin (🖂)

C. Sokmensuer Department of Pathology, School of Medicine, Hacettepe University, Ankara, Turkey

E. Esin Department of Medical Oncology, Hacettepe University Institute of Cancer, Ankara, Turkey

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

S. Yalcin, K. Öberg (eds.), *Neuroendocrine Tumours: Diagnosis and Management*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-662-45215-8_15

Department of Medical Oncology, Cancer Institute, Hacettepe University, Sihhiye, Ankara, Turkey

anemia, and a glucagon-producing tumour of the pancreas [4]. In 1984, Wilkinson described necrolytic migratory erythema (NME) for the skin rash associated with pancreatic tumours [5].

15.3 Epidemiology

Representing 1 % of all pancreatic NETs, the incidence of glucagonoma is about 1 in 20 million [6]. Patients usually present between the ages of 19 and 72 years, typically around 50's. No glucagonoma case has been reported in children yet [7]. Although initially a female tendency was suggested in the incidence [6], in the most recent series, an even distribution among men and women has been reported [7]. No race predilection is known for glucagonoma either.

15.4 Molecular Pathogenesis

The molecular pathogenesis of glucagonomas is still largely unknown. Glucagonomas may be associated with the MEN-1 characterized by a family history of pituitary, pancreatic islet cell, or parathyroid tumours in 3 % of the cases, and glucagonoma is associated with 13 % of MEN-1-related tumours. The malignant progression of glucagonoma may be associated with complex genetic mechanisms, but no specific molecular markers of malignancy have been defined with certainty so far [8].

15.5 Histopathology

Histologically glucagonomas are classified as well-differentiated functioning pNETs since these tumours demonstrate the typical morphological characteristics of other pNETs. Glucagonomas usually present as encapsulated firm nodules varying in size from several mm's up to 25 cm (Fig. 15.1) [2, 7]. The majority of glucagonomas are 5–10 cm large in size at the time of diagnosis. The tail of the pancreas is predominantly involved. In one study slightly more than 50 % of glucagonomas occurred in the tail and 80 % in another study. But, in the largest study, 22 % of glucagonomas were in the head region of the pancreas, 14 % in the body, and 51 % in the pancreatic tail. Most glucagonomas are within the pancreas; however, two glucagonomas with the clinical syndrome were found in the proximal duodenum and kidney. Glucagonomas usually occur as a single tumour, although 10–12 % patients have been reported as multicentric tumours or diffuse lesions throughout the pancreas.

Immunocytochemical and histologic studies show typical findings of pNETs. The tumours consist of cords and nests of well-differentiated islet cells (Fig. 15.2). Despite their benign histologic appearance and slow growth rate such as low mitotic index and uncommon nuclear atypia, most pancreatic glucagonomas are malignant with high metastatic potential. Sixty percent of glucagonomas were reported as



Fig 15.1 Glucagonoma presenting as a firm nodule on macroscopic examination



malignant, and 51.4 % of all malignant glucagonomas were metastatic at the time of diagnosis.

Glucagon is usually detectable within the tumour cells by immunoperoxidase staining and glucagon mRNA may be detected by in situ hybridization. Glucagonomas

Fig 15.2 Tumor cells forming cords and nests in glucagonoma on microscopic examination

are often mixed with pancreatic polypeptide-containing cells or less often with insulin- or somatostatin-containing cells. Characteristic alpha cell granules may be seen on electron microscopy. Alpha cell tumours can be divided into two distinct types. Those tumours associated with the glucagonoma syndrome are usually solitary and large, with undescriptive microscopic pattern, atypical granules ultrastructurally, and few cells positive for glucagon immunohistochemically. These ultrastructural and immunohistochemical aberrations may be the result of abnormalities in the biosynthesis and secretion of glucagon, sometimes with alternative production of the related precursor peptides glycentin and oxyntomodulin. The alpha cell tumours which are not associated with the glucagonoma syndrome are often multiple and small, have gyriform pattern of growth, are strongly immunoreactive for glucagon, exhibit typical α cell granules ultrastructurally, and are nearly always benign. In one series of 1,366 autopsy cases, the frequency of adenomas was reported to be 0.8 %, and all contained glucagon-producing cells and argyrophilia can be demonstrated with Grimelius technique [7, 9-12]. In contrast, detection of atypical granules is typical in patients with tumours associated with hyperglucagonemia syndrome.

Skin biopsies are not diagnostic in patients with glucagonoma. The histopathology of NME changes can be numerous as much as the clinical presentation. Typical histological findings include epidermal necrosis, parakeratotic hyperkeratosis, irregular epidermal hyperplasia, papillary dermal angiodysplasia, subcorneal pustules, and suppurative folliculitis. None of these findings indicate a pathognomonic finding; in contrast histologically and clinically, it is similar to the rash of zinc deficiency, acrodermatitis enteropathica. In its classic form, early lesions demonstrate superficial spongiosis or necrosis with subcorneal and midepidermal bullae. Fusiform keratinocytes with pycnotic nuclei are often present with mononuclear inflammatory infiltrates. This characteristic histologic pattern is best seen in early lesions. The most specific feature on skin histological examination is necrolysis of the upper epidermis with vacuolated keratinocytes, leading to focal or confluent necrosis, but this histopathologic feature may be seen in other deficiency states like pellagra, necrolytic acral erythema or zinc deficiency [9].

15.6 Pathophysiology

The etiology and pathogenesis of clinicopathologic characteristics of glucagonoma have not been enlightened yet. But the pathophysiology of glucagonoma syndrome is probably related to the known actions of glucagon. Glucagon stimulates glycogenolysis, gluconeogenesis, ketogenesis, lipolysis, and insulin secretion; alters intestinal secretion and inhibits pancreatic and gastric secretion and gut motility. Hyperglycemia in the glucagonoma syndrome results from the increased glycogenolysis and gluconeogenesis. Because glucagon increases secretion of insulin, which prevents lipolysis and maintains normal free fatty acid concentrations, ketonemia usually does not develop.

Venous thromboembolism, NME, and angular cheilitis were observed in patients treated with continuous intravenous glucagon for refractory tumour-induced

hypoglycemia. This observation indicates that glucagon may have a direct, causative role in diabetico-dermatogenic syndrome (DDS) [13]. Normalization of glucagon concentrations by surgery results in a rapid disappearance of the skin rash. Further evidence for the role of preproglucagon-derived peptides in the pathogenesis of necrolytic migratory erythema comes from its rare association with other diseases, notably hepatic cirrhosis and celiac disease. The patient with celiac disease had marked elevation of circulating enteroglucagon levels. In those patients with cirrhosis, glucagon values were not invariably elevated, but hepatocellular dysfunction may result in increased levels of other preproglucagon-derived peptides, such as enteroglucagon. In one case of cirrhosis, the rash was successfully treated with fatty acid and zinc supplementation. However, it is not clearly established that the skin rash is associated with hyperglucagonemia since numerous patients that have been given large doses of glucagon for long periods did not develop skin rash. Hypoaminoacidemia, nutritional lack of zinc and fatty acids, and hepatocellular dysfunction are all considered as possible triggering factors of NME. Hyperglucagonemia provokes multiple nutrient and vitamin B deficiencies, which in turn are the probable cause of this typical skin disorder [14].

15.7 Clinical Features

Skin rash and mild diabetes are the predominant signs of the glucagonoma syndrome. The incidence of this DDS was reported to be as 57.2 % [14]. Glucagonomas predominantly metastasize to the liver and adjacent lymph nodes, less frequently to the vertebra, ovary, peritoneum, and adrenals. Unlike carcinoid syndrome, liver metastases are not a prerequisite for the clinical syndrome to occur. The rash may occasionally appear prior to the onset of systemic symptoms. Most patients with rash usually also have weight loss, diarrhea, sore mouth, weakness, mental status changes, or diabetes mellitus.

The characteristic feature of the glucagonoma syndrome is the rash, which is called as NME. It occurs in 90 % of the cases and is usually the presenting feature. The rash exhibits a 7- to 14-day sequence of erythema, blister, secondary breakdown, infection, healing, and hyperpigmentation. The initial manifestation of the rash is well-demarcated symmetrical areas of erythema (an annular or arciform erythema) at intertriginous and periorificial sites, usually in groins, which migrates principally to the limbs, buttocks, and perineum. These lesions may become vesicopustular or bullous and coalesce, and eroding and encrusting may occur. The rash may be mildly pruritic and occasionally painful. The extent and severity of lesions may wax and wane. The healing process commences after 10–15 days; lesions clear centripetally and leave indurated and hyperpigmented areas, which are usually permanent. The rash remits and relapses unpredictably, and this has made it difficult to assess treatment efficacy. On the basis of this morphology, differential diagnosis includes pemphigus foliaceus, pemphigoid, vasculitis, psoriasis, herpes, seborrheic or contact dermatitis, eczema, pellagra, zinc deficiency (inherited, acrodermatitis enteropathica, or acquired), extensive candidiasis, or even chemical burn. Usually

NME rapidly disappears after successful surgical removal of the glucagon-secreting tumour. Although this eruption is a very specific cutaneous marker for underlying glucagonoma, in a few affected patients, no evidence of associated malignant disease has been found. Glucagon itself may act directly on the skin to cause the rash, perhaps by increasing arachidonic acid levels, which it does in human keratinocyte cultures. The rapid response of the rash to octreotide, before changes in circulating amino acids or glucagon, suggests a direct action on the skin, consistent with the inhibition of hormone action. Topical application of zinc or oral supplementation has been reported to improve the rash, although circulating zinc levels are normal in patients with glucagonoma.

In addition to skin rash, the disease may affect the mucous membranes. Angular stomatitis, cheilitis, and atrophic glossitis with a beefy red tongue occur almost invariably. Blepharitis, vulvovaginitis, and urethritis accompanied by dysuria are frequent features. Mucosal lesions are associated with the cutaneous rash in about 70 % of patients. Glossitis or angular stomatitis was reported to occur in 34–68 % of patients. Nail and scalp involvement may result in onycholysis and alopecia. Some patients develop nail dystrophy with brittleness and crumbling.

Amino acid levels are frequently diminished in the serum of patients with glucagonoma. Glucagon, acting on the liver, increases both amino acid oxidation and gluconeogenesis from amino acid substrates [11]. The intensity of hypoaminoacidemia may vary with the intensity of the disease. Glucagon stimulates sustained gluconeogenesis, which depletes the glycogenic amino acids, particularly alanine, serine, and glycine, and hepatic proteolysis with conversion of amino acid nitrogen to urea nitrogen, which depletes all amino acids. It has been postulated that this results in an increase in protein degradation, depleting epidermal protein and ultimately resulting in skin necrosis. Amino acid deficiency is a frequent finding in the glucagonoma syndrome; in two large series, incidence was reported as 26 and 60 %. Plasma concentrations of amino acids are frequently less than 25 % of normal, with glycogenic amino acids most affected, whereas branch-chain amino acids are reportedly less affected. Hypoaminoacidemia may be clinically important because it may be the cause of NME; in one patient, amino acid infusion led to an improvement in the characteristic rash [15]. Intravenous amino acid infusion, although not correcting hypoaminoacidemia, has been reported to ameliorate the rash, but oral amino acid supplementation is ineffective. Similarly a high-protein diet, despite normalizing plasma amino acids and nitrogen balance, may have no effect on the rash. If glucagonoma-induced hypoaminoacidemia is corrected, the dermatitis may improve without changing plasma glucagon levels. The occurrence of the rash in patients without suppressed amino acid levels casts further doubt on a casual association. Resolution of rash, however, has been reported after simple hydration with glucose and saline; therefore, it is not established that either hypoaminoacidemia or zinc deficiency is causative in all patients [7, 9-11].

Glucose intolerance is usually mild and nonketotic since beta cell function is preserved and insulin secretion is normal. Diabetes mellitus occurs in 75–95 % of patients with glucagonoma [16]. Diabetes usually precedes skin rash (and diagnosis) by years, in one study with an average time of 5 years. The hyperglycemia due

to glucagonoma may be mild or moderate (median-glycated hemoglobin level of 9.8 % in one series [16]) and is easily controlled by diet, oral agents, or insulin. In another report, 42 % of patients required oral hyperglycemic agents and 24 % insulin. There is little correlation between the plasma glucagon levels and the degree of glucose intolerance. This probably reflects variability in beta (β) cell insulin secretion, which may be influenced by loss of β cells as a result of tumour growth. Other factors may include insulin gene expression in glucagonoma cells, secretion of biologically inactive forms of immunoreactive glucagon by the tumour, depletion of glycogen stores, and downregulation of glucagon receptors. Various treatments have resulted in changes in plasma glucagon concentrations that did not correlate with subsequent changes in blood glucose levels. In cases where infusion of a somatostatin analog decreased plasma glucagon levels in patients with glucagonoma, no effect on plasma glucose level was observed. Furthermore, tumour resection and normalization of blood glucagon may not result in normalization of the glucose tolerance in all of the patients. In some cases removal of glucagonoma improved glucose tolerance. It has been suggested that development of diabetes or glucose intolerance depends to a large degree on the patient's insulin reserve. If the latter is intact, enhanced insulin release may compensate for the hyperglucagonemia and increased hepatic glucose production. Otherwise, diabetes mellitus or glucose intolerance may develop.

Unrelenting weight loss affects the majority of cases (56–96 % of patients), usually despite a good appetite. Weight loss may be profound. A number of observations suggest that the weight loss is a unique aspect of the syndrome. It is seen even in patients with small tumour without metastatic spread. Weight loss is prominent in patients with small tumour as well as in those with metastatic tumour, suggesting that cachexia is a consequence of the catabolic actions of glucagon. This is supported by a study in which a patient's weight loss was reversed after being given long-acting somatostatin analog, octreotide, which reduced the plasma glucagon level to a near-normal range. The main cause is probably the organ protein catabolism, which occurs in response to the depletion of amino acids. If the weight loss exceeds 50 % of body weight, it can be fatal. It is not seen early in other pancreatic endocrine tumours, unless malabsorption is present. It is suggested that the anorectic effects of glucagonoma are due to the production of a novel substance by the tumour and not due to glucagon per se because other transplanted glucagonomas producing similar levels of plasma glucagon elevation do not cause anorexia.

Nonspecific abdominal pain has been reported in approximately 12 % of patients. The elevation of preproglucagon-derived peptides would be anticipated to affect gastrointestinal function. Enteroglucagon has been proposed as a humoral mediator of intestinal adaptation in response to injury. It appears to have a trophic action on the intestinal mucosa and elevated levels causing villous hypertrophy. Three patients have been described with an enteroglucagonoma, in whom the principal clinical finding was giant villous hypertrophy. Large-molecular-weight forms of glucagon inhibit gastrointestinal smooth muscle, resulting in constipation. Diarrhea is reported in 14–15 % of patients, occasionally with severe steatorrhea, and occurs far more common than constipation (15 % vs 4 % in one study). The etiology of the

diarrhea remains unclear. Jejunal biopsies have been reported to be normal or it may show hypertrophic folds. It remains possible that other hormones secreted by the tumour could be contributing to the development of diarrhea. Rarely, nausea and vomiting occurs, possibly as a result of local tumour effects.

A normochromic-normocytic anemia is common, being present in up to 90 % of patients in some series. It is probably due to the anemia of chronic disease, but a direct effect of glucagon on erythropoiesis has also been suggested [17]. The anemia is usually mild with a mean hemoglobin concentration of 9.4 g/dl, but occasionally the hemoglobin may fall as low as 4 g/dl. Serum iron, B_{12} , and serum folate concentrations usually are normal, and anemia does not respond to therapy with any of these agents. It does respond to resection of the tumour, however. Further evidence of anemia related to glucagon excess is that the prolonged therapy with a long-acting glucagon preparation decreased erythropoiesis in rats and mice.

Other abnormal laboratory findings in patients with glucagonoma are renal glycosuria and hypocholesterolemia. Renal glycosuria may occur early and may represent a direct renal effect of glucagon. Hypocholesterolemia was reported in 80 % of cases.

Neuropsychiatric symptoms may be underdiagnosed. Neurologic symptoms associated with glucagonoma include ataxia, dementia, and proximal muscle weakness. Depression is the most commonly reported abnormality; patients may suffer from severe depression or other psychiatric syndromes. The demonstration of glucagon gene expression in the central nervous system may provide an explanation for these manifestations. Paraneoplastic syndromes, notably optic atrophy, have also been attributed to this syndrome.

A late feature of the disease is widespread venous thrombosis and pulmonary embolism which is resistant to conventional anticoagulant therapy [18]. In one series venous thrombosis (VT) occurred in 24 % of patients and pulmonary emboli (PTE) in 12 %. Glucagon is not known to affect coagulation parameters, and the pathophysiological process of the thromboembolic events in glucagonoma has not been elucidated yet. Secretion of factor X, which is synthesized in α cells and is found in higher concentration in glucagonomas, may explain this complication. Venous thrombosis and PTE can frequently be a contributing factor to the patient's survival: therefore, it should be carefully sought. This association with thromboembolism appears to be unique among endocrine tumours. A single case of reversible dilated cardiomyopathy associated with a glucagonoma has been reported [19].

In MEN-1 syndrome associated glucagonoma cases, the characteristic syndrome associated with sporadic tumours is often absent, and in particular necrolytic migratory erythema rarely occurs [7, 9-11].

15.8 Diagnosis

Glucagonoma is often diagnosed relatively late in the course of the disease since many of the symptoms are nonspecific. NME is the most important clue which leads to suspicion of glucagonoma but it is not pathognomonic. With recognition of NME, further diagnostic workup should be done. Glucagonoma is usually suspected in patients with chronic dermatitis or unexplained and therapy-resistant dermatitis, elevated sedimentation rates associated with glucose intolerance, thromboembolic phenomena, or the MEN-1 syndrome. Diagnosis rests on demonstrating a pathological elevation of the plasma glucagon concentration.

Once the syndrome has been recognized or suspected, the diagnosis is easily made by demonstrating increased plasma glucagon levels. Plasma glucagon level is usually elevated 10–20-fold, and up to 70 % of immunoreactive glucagon may be biologically inactive. In most laboratories the upper limit of normal for fasting glucagon concentration is 150–200 pg/ml. In one large review of glucagonomas, the plasma glucagon level was 200–500 pg/ml in only two patients, in four it was between 500 and 1,000 pg/ml, and in 52 it was >1,000 pg/ml. These results are in close agreement with another study in which the mean plasma glucagon concentrations was 2110 ± 334 pg/ml with a range of 550–6,600 pg/ml and with 0 % being <500 pg/ml, 30 % being 500–1,000 pg/ml, and the remainder >1,000 pg/ml in 73 cases. In some cases, glucagon levels remain in the "physiologically elevated" range even in patients with NME. Hence, a serum glucagon concentration below 500 pg/mL does not exclude a glucagonoma.

Hyperglucagonemia has been reported to occur in chronic renal insufficiency and hepatic insufficiency which reduce clearance of increased glucagon, diabetic ketoacidosis, prolonged starvation, acute pancreatitis, acromegaly, hypercortisolism, septicemia, severe burns, severe stress (trauma, exercise), familial hyperglucagonemia, and with some drugs (danazol and oral contraceptives). There has been one case of a familial hyperglucagonemia, with autosomal dominant inheritance, in which there were no sequelae attributable to the elevated glucagon levels. Plasma glucagon level in these conditions does not exceed 500 pg/ml. A plasma glucagon concentration of >1,000 pg/ml has therefore been suggested as diagnostic of glucagonoma. The one reported exception to this is in a patient with severe liver disease after portacaval anastomosis, in whom plasma level of glucagon was 1,000 pg/ml. Because a necrolytic migratory erythematosus-like rash has been reported in this patient with severe hepatic disease, diagnostic confusion could occasionally result. However, in one review of 13 cases, no overlap in plasma glucagon levels was found between patients with cirrhosis or any other of the aforementioned conditions and values seen in patients with glucagonoma. Glucagon levels are highest in patients with NME and DM.

Provocative testing with tolbutamid, secretin, a mixed or carbohydrate-rich meal, or arginine is of little additional value in the evaluation of patients with suspected glucagonoma. Other biochemical abnormalities associated with the syndrome are impaired glucose tolerance and hypoaminoacidemia.

Blood investigations reveal anemia, hypoaminoacidemia, hypoalbuminemia, and hypocholesterolemia as the most common disorders. Hypoaminoacidemia occurs in most patients, and as originally pointed out by Mallinson and colleagues, the levels may vary with the intensity of the disease [4].

Diabetes mellitus and glucose intolerance are among the most frequent findings in patients with glucagonoma syndrome. Because of the effect of glucagon on glucose regulation, diabetes mellitus might be expected to be a constant feature of glucagonoma syndrome, but it is not uniformly present. Diabetes mellitus or even glucose intolerance is a much less constant feature of the syndrome than is hypoaminoacidemia.

Pancreatic polypeptide (PP) and chromogranine A are frequently elevated in glucagonoma syndrome. Most neuroendocrine tumours produce and secrete general tumour markers and circulating neuroendocrine tumour markers, such as CgA, PP, serum neuron-specific enolase, human chorionic gonadotropin, and subunit of glycoprotein hormones. Pancreatic polypeptide and CgA can be used for screening purposes in patients without distinct clinical hormone-related symptoms. Chromogranine A, although its precise function is not yet established, has been shown to be a very sensitive and specific serum marker for various types of neuroendocrine tumours. At the moment CgA is considered to be the best general neuroendocrine serum or plasma marker available for both diagnosis and therapeutic evaluation. Chromogranin A level increased in 50–100 % of patients with various endocrine tumours. Chromogranine A serum or plasma levels reflect tumour load, and it may be an independent marker of prognosis in patients with midgut carcinoids [20].

Radiological abnormalities of the small bowel, such as thickening of mucosal folds, villous hypertrophy, and delayed gastric emptying, may be demonstrated on abdominal computed tomography scanning or barium examination.

Histological specimens show the characteristic features of neuroendocrine tumours and immunocytochemistry can confirm the presence of immunoreactive glucagon. Most of the neuroendocrine tumours are immunostained positively for CgA, synaptophysin and neuron-specific enolase.

15.9 Tumour Localization and Diagnosis

Because most glucagonomas are malignant, it is important to attempt to localize the primary tumour and surgically resect it if it has not already metastasized or to establish the presence of metastases so that unnecessary surgery can be avoided. However, careful assessment of the extent of the tumour is indicated even in patients with extensive disease because aggressive surgical resection and tumour reduction may alleviate the debilitating effects of hyperglucagonemia. At the time of diagnosis, over 50 % of glucagonomas will be metastasized and most primary tumours will be greater than 3 cm, with tumours up to 35 cm in diameter reported. Thus, localization of these tumours rarely presents a problem, and abdominal ultrasonography or CT scanning is usually adequate for this purpose. The initial procedure of choice should be computed tomography, since CT will detect 95 % of primary pancreatic endocrine tumours more than 3 cm in diameter and 95 % of metastatic pancreatic endocrine tumours in the liver. CT is particularly useful for assessing local spread. Intravenous contrast enhances the detection of smaller lesions, especially when images are obtained during the arterial phase. In addition, arterial phase and portal venous phase sequences can be used to maximize the conspicuity of liver metastases compared to the surrounding normal liver parenchyma. In liver metastasis, magnetic resonance imaging may be considered more specific to CT.

For some patients especially those with smaller primary tumours, CT or USG may not localize the tumour, and then selective angiography or EUS is the procedure of choice, depending on the expertise of the institution. Endoscopic ultrasound can detect pancreatic tumours as small as 2–3 mm, provides accurate information on the local extent of disease and allows transmucosal needle biopsy of pancreatic lesions. The experience with selective venous sampling for localization of glucagonomas is much more limited than for insulinomas or gastrinomas. In the largest single-center experience reported to date, 82 patients underwent a total examination by EUS. One hundred tumours were visualized in 54 different patients and in 38 of cases, no tumour was found in the pancreas by EUS. On the basis of results of surgery, EUS correctly localized pancreatic tumour in 50 of 54 patients (93 %). Only one of them was glucagonoma. These results may support the use of EUS as a primary diagnostic modality in the evaluation and in the management of patients with pNET [21].

Peptide receptor scintigraphy has been developed successfully for visualization of somatostatin receptors on neuroendocrine tumours. After the intravenous administration of ¹¹¹In-diethylenetriamine pentaacetic acid octreotide (OctreoScan), the primary tumours and the previously unrecognized metastases of most carcinoids, islet cell tumours, paragangliomas, pheochromocytomas, medullary thyroid cancers, and small-cell lung carcinoma can be visualized. In one study, 38 patients with suspected pancreatic neuroendocrine tumours were evaluated by OctreoScan SPET (OCTSPET). SPET studies were acquired at 4 and 24 h after the injection of OctreoScan. The OCTSPET results were positive in 18 of 19 patients (10 gastrinomas, 5 insulinomas, 1 neuroendocrine tumour, 1 glucagonoma, and 1 carcinoid) and false negative in one insulinoma. These data indicate that OctreoScan represents an excellent tool for the diagnosis of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumours [22].

Angiography is highly specific since the vascularity of pNETs is high. Although angiography is considered to be the gold standard, it is invasive. Angiography is now performed almost exclusively for embolization and/or infusion of chemotherapy via the hepatic artery.

Tumour calcification and cystic degeneration are common findings of glucagonomas which reflect an indolent course of the disease. However, most of the cystic neoplasms of the pancreas are nonfunctioning glucagon-producing neuroendocrine tumours instead of glucagonoma.

Somatostatin receptor scintigraphy using the indium-111-labeled somatostatin analog, pentetreotide, is the best method for evaluating the extent of metastatic disease and to date, all glucagonomas have been somatostatin receptor positive. Such an evaluation is most crucial in patients being considered for hepatic transplantation but may also be of value in deciding on therapeutic modalities and assessing the response to treatment [7, 10, 11].

After the detection of primary tumour, needle biopsy is needed to confirm the diagnosis. EUS-guided biopsy or in the case of liver metastasis, CT-guided biopsy is the preferred method. Immunohistochemical staining is required to confirm the presence of glucagon in the tumour cells. The secretion of glucagon in tumour cells is heterogenous; therefore, occasionally the needle biopsy specimen may yield negative results for glucagon staining.

15.10 Staging

The prevalence of metastatic disease at the time of diagnosis varies from series to series, ranging from 50 to 100 % [18],. The liver is the most common site for metastasis, the regional lymph nodes, bone, adrenal gland, kidney, and lung following it. The American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC)/International Union Against Cancer (UICC) TNM staging is also proper for pancreatic NETs (Table 15.1) [23]. Survival rates according to stages are summarized in Table 15.2 [24].

| Primary tumour (T stage) | | Lymph nodes, regional (N stage) | | Distant metastasis (M stage) | | |
|--------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------|--------------------|---------------------------------|--------------------------|--|
| Tx | Cannot be assessed | Nx | Cannot be assessed | M0 | No distant metastasis | |
| ТО | No evidence of primary tumour | N0 | No metastasis | M1 | Distant metastasis | |
| Tis | Carcinoma in situ: PanInIII | N1 | Lymph node | e metastasis | | |
| T1 | Limited to the pancreas, <2 cm | | | | | |
| T2 | >2 cm but limited to pancreas | | | | | |
| T3 | Tumour extended from the pancreas but no involvement of celiac axis or SMA | | | | | |
| T4 | Unresectable, celiac axis, or SMA involvement | | | | | |

Table 15.1 NM staging for exocrine and endocrine tumours of the pancreas

SMA superior mesenteric artery

| | | Observed survival | | Median survival (months) | |
|----------------------------|-----------|-------------------|--------------|--------------------------|--|
| Stage | | 5 years (%) | 10 years (%) | | |
| T1N0M0 | Stage 1A | 61.0 | 46.0 | 112 | |
| T2N0M0 | Stage 1B | | | | |
| T3N0M0 | Stage IIA | 52.0 | 28.8 | 63 | |
| T1N1M0 T2N1M0 T3N1M0 | Stage IIB | | | | |
| T4 anyN M0 | Stage III | 41.4 | 18.5 | 46 | |
| Any T and any N M1 | Stage IV | 15.5 | 5.1 | 14 | |

Table 15.2 Five- and ten-year survival rates for resected pancreatic neuroendocrine tumour patients

15.11 Treatment

Surgery is the only curative therapeutic option. The cure potential is as low as 5 %. The exact percentage of cases that can be cured by surgical resection is unknown. Glucagonomas are usually diagnosed at later stages; therefore, the probability of surgical resection is probably less than 20 %. In one large review of 92 cases with glucagonoma, only 16 of the malignant cases were treated by surgical resection alone. Postoperatively only seven patients had normal plasma glucagon levels. Recurrence with elevated plasma glucagon level was reported in a number of patients after R0 resection. Even if R0 resection is amenable, there will be an eventual recurrence. However, despite the recurrence of disease, an extended diseasefree interval may be achieved. In another study, 125 patients with neuroendocrine tumour who underwent surgery were investigated. Only two (3 %) patients had glucagonoma. The most common operative procedures were 50 pancreaticoduodenectomies (40%), 39 distal pancreatectomies (31%), and 21 tumour enucleations (17%). Nine synchronous hepatic resections were performed for metastases. Of the evaluable patients, 46 (43 %) had postoperative complications, the most common of which were pancreatic fistula (16 %), wound infection (15 %) and delayed gastric emptying (8 %). There were three in-hospital deaths. The most favorable outcomes for neuroendocrine tumours were observed in patients with benign functional tumours and in those with completely resected malignant pancreatic NETs [25].

Cure can be achieved for malignant disease if tumour metastases are confined to the liver and the patient is a candidate for hepatic transplantation. Cytoreductive surgery may be appropriate as palliative therapy to reduce hyperglucagonemia if there are well-circumscribed metastases amenable to enucleation. However, this can be more complicated by venous thrombosis, hypercatabolic state and anemia. Total parenteral nutrition and blood transfusions are often required preoperatively. As a result of these factors, medical options are usually preferred for palliative therapy for metastatic disease. Control of liver metastases by metastasectomy, cryoablation, RFA or chemoembolization may be feasible. Hepatic artery embolization involves occlusion of hepatic artery collaterals to glucagonoma metastases in the liver, the portal vein maintaining supply to the normal liver. There is usually dramatic symptomatic relief following embolization, and the procedure can be repeated at 6-9 month intervals. The response rates associated with embolization or chemoembolization, as measured either by decrease in hormonal secretion or by radiographic regression, are generally greater than 50 %. However, the necrotic tumour load and the remaining low amount of healthy liver tissue may be poorly tolerated in frail patients.

Another approach for liver predominant metastatic disease is radiofrequency ablation and cryoablation. They can be used alone or in conjunction with surgical removal. Long-term efficacy of both these procedures remains uncertain.

Recent studies suggest that conventional contraindications to surgical resection, such as superior mesenteric vein invasion and nodal or distant metastases, should be redefined in patients with advanced neuroendocrine tumours. These patients will benefit from extensive surgical debulking in combination with adjuvant medical treatments, such as somatostatin analogs. This combination may result in enhanced survival rates compared with either procedure alone.

The morbidity associated with glucagonomas results principally from the hormonal syndrome. The effects of tumour bulk rarely become apparent until the patient is in a terminal condition. Initial treatment should be directed to controlling symptoms, restoring nutritional status, and controlling the hyperglycemia. Thus, palliative medical therapy aims to reduce hormone levels either by reducing tumour bulk or by inhibiting the release of hormone. Cytotoxic chemotherapy or hepatic embolization may be used to reduce tumour bulk, while the somatostatin analog, octreotide, both inhibits hormone levels and antagonizes hormone action.

The glucagonoma patients suffer from a prolonged catabolic state due to the effects of glucagon in the liver. Hence, nutritional support is an integral component of treatment. Total parenteral nutrition should be considered preoperatively in potentially operable patients to decrease the perioperative morbidity.

In patients with widely metastatic disease in whom surgical debulking is not possible, various chemotherapeutic agents are frequently used. The conventional chemotherapy for glucagonomas and pancreatic endocrine tumours is 5-flourouracil and streptozotocin. For patients with a glucagonoma, the response rate, measured by 50 % reduction in plasma glucagon levels, is about 70-80 %, with remission often lasting a year, although no effect on overall survival has been observed. An alternative chemotherapeutic agent is dacarbazine which has been reported to be particularly successful in patients with glucagonoma, with a biochemical response sustained for over a year in all patients. The modest efficacy of cytotoxic treatments has prompted the development of new treatment strategies. Recently, orally active alkylating agent temozolomide has been found to be effective on PNETs. Progress in the understanding of pathophysiology of pancreatic NETs has revealed the importance of growth factors and their receptors (vascular endothelial growth factor receptor, VEGFR) and the involvement of the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) in pancreatic neuroendocrine tumourigenesis [26–28]. Many of the growth factor receptors function as tyrosine kinases. Two molecularly targeted agents, an oral tyrosine kinase inhibitor (TKI) sunitinib and an inhibitor of mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) everolimus, have been approved in the treatment of metastatic pNETs.

Sunitinib is a small-molecule TKI with multimodal inhibition on TKs. In a phase II trial, sunitinib was given to 109 advanced stage PNETs [29]. Glucagonoma was presented by 4 cases in the study group. 18 % of patients had a partial response and 68 % had a stable disease. Median time to tumour progression was 7.7 months. Continuous 37.5 mg daily administration of sunitinib was tested in a phase III trial [30]. Accrual was stopped prematurely due to efficacy of sunitinib in the treatment arm. Median PFS was significantly longer with sunitinib (11.4 vs 5.5 months). Although a small number of patients had glucagonoma, sunitinib treatment may be considered for advanced stage diseases in which symptomatology is not much prominent and visceral crises does not exist. Side effects may include hypertension, proteinuria, other forms of renal toxicity, arterial thromboembolism, left

ventricular dysfunction, clinical heart failure, thyroid dysfunction, bleeding, myelosuppression, hand-foot skin reaction, delayed wound healing, hepatotoxicity, and muscle wasting.

Everolimus activity was explored in many phase II and III trials in pNET [31]. In RADIANT-3 trial everolimus monotherapy was tested [32]. Everolimus was associated with a significant prolongation in median PFS (11.0 vs 4.6 months, hazard ratio [HR] for progression 0.35, 95 % CI 0.27–0.45). There were confirmed objective partial responses in 5 % versus 2 % of the placebo group. The most common grade 3 or 4 drug-related adverse events were stomatitis (7 %), anemia (6 %) and hyperglycemia (5 %). The rates of grade 3 or 4 hyperglycemia were similar in those with glucagonoma versus those without glucagonoma (9.1 vs 7.8 %). However, the safety of everolimus should be tested in glucagonoma patients further.

Pancreatic neuroendocrine tumours are generally considered to be radioresistant. However, some anecdotal reports have showed that in some patients local control and symptom control can be achieved by external beam radiotherapy [33–36].

Somatostatin and its long-acting analogs (octreotide and lanreotide) have been introduced for the treatment of endocrine tumours of the gastrointestinal tract [37]. Somatostatin analogs have been shown to effectively control symptoms resulting from excessive hormone release in patients with carcinoid, Verner-Morrison syndrome and glucagonoma syndromes. This beneficial effect is due to the presence of somatostatin receptors in high density in the majority of these tumours. Lanreotide is as effective as octreotide and also available in depot form. Long-term studies have shown that somatostatin analogs are safe. The most serious adverse effect is the development of gallstones. The antiproliferative potency of somatostatin and its analogs in vitro in experimental tumour models prompted a number of studies in patients with metastatic endocrine tumours that are generally unresponsive to conventional chemotherapeutic protocols. PROMID and CLARINET studies now clearly showed the antiproliferative potency of somatostatin analogs in patients with neuroendocrine tumours. Therefore, octreotide or lanreotide now the first-line therapy for the glucagonoma syndrome. Octreotide dose ranges from 150 to 1,500 µg daily. Therapy is generally initiated with shortacting octreotide 50 mcg subcutaneously three times a day [16]. The dose is increased gradually as needed to control symptoms. The patient is then rapidly transitioned to a long-acting formulation. The duration of response ranges from 2 months to 3.5 years. It is particularly effective against the NME, with resolution usually occurring within a week, independently of changes in plasma amino acids or glucagon. According to various reviews, the rash improved with octreotide treatment in 54–90 % of patients; complete remission of rash occurs in up to 30 %. The effect is prolonged at least 6 months and frequency of recurrence is further reduced thereafter. Octreotide is less effective at reversing weight loss and has an inconsistent effect on diabetic control, perhaps reflecting inhibition of secretion of other hormones, such as insulin. It generally improves abdominal pain and diarrhea. Plasma glucagon levels decrease in 80–90 % of patients, but the normal range can be reached in 10–20 % of patients with octreotide treatment. It is not known whether octreotide has any effect on the tendency to develop VT. The

combination of chemotherapy or hepatic embolization with octreotide may delay the development of octreotide resistance, which usually develops after a mean of 2 years of therapy.

Octreotide long-acting repeatable (LAR) is a new somatostatin analog whose activity lasts 28 days. It appears to have good therapeutic efficacy, tolerability, and safety in the treatment of neuroendocrine tumours. Its effects are similar to those of octreotide and lanreotide. However, because it only needs to be administered once every 28 days, it is preferable in clinical practice [38].

Interferon-alpha (IFN- α) is another effective agent that can be used in treatment. IFN induces tumour stabilization in 20–40 % and improves symptom control in 40–50 % and objective tumour regression in 15 %. However, its efficacy is concealed by high toxicity. Adverse effects like myelosuppression, mental changes like depression, and alterations of thyroid functions result in detrimental effects in quality of life of patients.

Combination treatment with SA and IFN may be an option for SA-resistant patients; however, the superiority of combination is not proven yet.

Simple measures to ameliorate the NME such as topical and oral zinc and a highprotein diet, although unproven, are worth to try. Acetylsalicylic acid may be useful in preventing thromboembolic disease, but conventional anticoagulants are ineffective. If diabetic control cannot be achieved with diet alone, insulin should be used.

Radioligand therapy based on ¹¹¹Indium, ⁹⁰Yttrium, and ¹⁷⁷Lutetium coupled to somatostatin analogs via bifunctional chelators is currently under investigation with promising data concerning long-lasting control of symptoms and tumour growth from phase I studies [39].

15.12 Prognosis and Follow-Up

The prognosis for patients with glucagonoma is unpredictable. Glucagonomas are slow growing tumours but due to this indolent behavior, most patients present late in the course of the disease. The 10-year survival rate in patients with DDS was 51.6 % in those with metastases and 64.3 % in those without metastases (P < 0.001) [14]. Once metastasis occurs, cure can be rarely achieved. However, with more advanced knowledge about the disease, better supportive care and better management of complications and with the implementation of new therapeutic modalities, prolonged survival is expected. The median survival from diagnosis is about 3 years; according to recent reports, more patients are living longer, an average of 4.9 years after the diagnosis of metastasis.

A postsurgical prognostic system has been proposed upon a series of 3,851 patients (75 of them were glucagonoma) [24]. Age at the diagnosis, tumour grade and presence of metastasis are the most important predictive factors. Scoring allows patients to be categorized into 3 groups: prognostic score 1 (raw score of 0), prognostic score 2 (raw score 1–2), and prognostic score 3 (raw score \geq 3). The expected 5-year survival rates are 77–51 % and 36 %, respectively.

Postsurgically (R0 resection), patients can be followed 3–6 months with history and physical examination, serum glucagon, and CT/MRI. Exacerbations of the rash are a surrogate marker in the long term. Those patients in remission should be seen at least yearly, when a gut hormone screen should be performed, since up to 10 % of tumours will be associated with secondary hormone syndromes. In the long term, patients should be followed with history and physical examination with tumour markers every 6–12 months for years 1–3, and as clinically indicated thereafter. Imaging studies are recommended as clinically indicated.

References

- McGavran MH, Unger RH, Recant L et al (1966) A glucagon-secreting alpha-cell carcinoma of the pancreas. N Engl J Med 274:1408–1413
- Solcia EKG, Sobin LH, World Health Organization (2000) Histological typing of endocrine tumors, 2nd edn, International histological classification of tumors. Springer, Berlin, pp 56–58
- 3. Becker ER (1942) The Iowa Academy of Science. Science 95:651-652
- 4. Mallinson CN, Bloom SR, Warin AP et al (1974) A glucagonoma syndrome. Lancet 2:1-5
- Wilkinson DS (1984) Necrolytic migratory erythema: glucagonoma syndrome. Clinical and histological aspects. Ann Med Interne (Paris) 135:654–657
- Kufe DW, Pollock RE, Weichselbaum RR, Bast RC, Gansler TS, Holland JF, Frei E (2003) Cancer medicine, 4th edn. BC Decker, Hamilton, pp 1289–1290
- Sheaves RJP, Wass JAH (1997) Clinical endocrine oncology, 1st edn. Blackwell Science, Oxford, pp 380–382, 387–390
- Furlan D, Cerutti R, Uccella S et al (2004) Different molecular profiles characterize well-differentiated endocrine tumors and poorly differentiated endocrine carcinomas of the gastroenteropancreatic tract. Clin Cancer Res 10:947–957
- 9. DeGroot LJ, Jameson JL (2001) Endocrinology, 4th edn. W.B Saunders, Philadelphia, p 2506
- Yamada TAD, Owyang C, Powell DW, Silverstein EF (2003) Textbook of gastroenterology, 4th edn. Lippincott Williams and Wilkins, Philadelphia, pp 2115–2117
- Sleisenger MH, Fordtran JS (2002) Gastrointestinal diseases. W:B: Saunders Company, Philadelphia, pp 994–997
- 12. Rosai J (2004) Surgical pathology. Mosby, London, pp 1088-1089
- Case CC, Vassilopoulou-Sellin R (2003) Reproduction of features of the glucagonoma syndrome with continuous intravenous glucagon infusion as therapy for tumor-induced hypoglycemia. Endocr Pract 9:22–25
- Soga J, Yakuwa Y (1998) Glucagonomas/diabetico-dermatogenic syndrome (DDS): a statistical evaluation of 407 reported cases. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Surg 5:312–319
- Alexander EK, Robinson M, Staniec M et al (2002) Peripheral amino acid and fatty acid infusion for the treatment of necrolytic migratory erythema in the glucagonoma syndrome. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 57:827–831
- Wermers RA, Fatourechi V, Wynne AG et al (1996) The glucagonoma syndrome. Clinical and pathologic features in 21 patients. Medicine (Baltimore) 75:53–63
- 17. Boden G (1989) Glucagonomas and insulinomas. Gastroenterol Clin North Am 18:831-845
- Stacpoole PW (1981) The glucagonoma syndrome: clinical features, diagnosis, and treatment. Endocr Rev 2:347–361
- 19. Chang-Chretien K, Chew JT, Judge DP (2004) Reversible dilated cardiomyopathy associated with glucagonoma. Heart 90:e44
- Eriksson B, Oberg K, Stridsberg M (2000) Tumor markers in neuroendocrine tumors. Digestion 62(Suppl 1):33–38

- Anderson MA, Carpenter S, Thompson NW et al (2000) Endoscopic ultrasound is highly accurate and directs management in patients with neuroendocrine tumors of the pancreas. Am J Gastroenterol 95:2271–2277
- Briganti V, Matteini M, Ferri P et al (2001) Octreoscan SPET evaluation in the diagnosis of pancreas neuroendocrine tumors. Cancer Biother Radiopharm 16:515–524
- 23. Edge S, Byrd DR, Compton CC, Fritz AG, Greene FL, Trotti A (2010) AJCC cancer staging handbook, 7th edn. Springer, New York
- Bilimoria KY, Bentrem DJ, Merkow RP et al (2007) Application of the pancreatic adenocarcinoma staging system to pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. J Am Coll Surg 205:558–563
- 25. Phan GQ, Yeo CJ, Hruban RH et al (1998) Surgical experience with pancreatic and peripancreatic neuroendocrine tumors: review of 125 patients. J Gastrointest Surg 2:473–482
- Oberg K, Casanovas O, Castano JP et al (2013) Molecular pathogenesis of neuroendocrine tumors: implications for current and future therapeutic approaches. Clin Cancer Res 19: 2842–2849
- Missiaglia E, Dalai I, Barbi S et al (2010) Pancreatic endocrine tumors: expression profiling evidences a role for AKT-mTOR pathway. J Clin Oncol 28:245–255
- Zhang J, Francois R, Iyer R et al (2013) Current understanding of the molecular biology of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. J Natl Cancer Inst 105:1005–1017
- 29. Kulke MH, Lenz HJ, Meropol NJ et al (2008) Activity of sunitinib in patients with advanced neuroendocrine tumors. J Clin Oncol 26:3403–3410
- Raymond E, Dahan L, Raoul JL et al (2011) Sunitinib malate for the treatment of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. N Engl J Med 364:501–513
- 31. Yao JC, Lombard-Bohas C, Baudin E et al (2010) Daily oral everolimus activity in patients with metastatic pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors after failure of cytotoxic chemotherapy: a phase II trial. J Clin Oncol 28:69–76
- Yao JC, Shah MH, Ito T et al (2011) Everolimus for advanced pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. N Engl J Med 364:514–523
- Contessa JN, Griffith KA, Wolff E et al (2009) Radiotherapy for pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 75:1196–1200
- 34. Strosberg J, Hoffe S, Gardner N et al (2007) Effective treatment of locally advanced endocrine tumors of the pancreas with chemoradiotherapy. Neuroendocrinology 85:216–220
- Tennvall J, Ljungberg O, Ahren B et al (1992) Radiotherapy for unresectable endocrine pancreatic carcinomas. Eur J Surg Oncol 18:73–76
- 36. Torrisi JR, Treat J, Zeman R et al (1987) Radiotherapy in the management of pancreatic islet cell tumors. Cancer 60:1226–1231
- Keskin O, Yalcin S (2013) A review of the use of somatostatin analogs in oncology. Onco Targets Ther 6:471–483
- Tomassetti P, Migliori M, Corinaldesi R et al (2000) Treatment of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumours with octreotide LAR. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 14:557–560
- 39. Arnold R, Wied M, Behr TH (2002) Somatostatin analogues in the treatment of endocrine tumors of the gastrointestinal tract. Expert Opin Pharmacother 3:643–656

Somatostatinoma

James M.L. Williamson

16.1 Introduction

Somatostatinomas are rare neuroendocrine tumours (NETs) that arise in the pancreas or duodenum. They are the fifth most common pancreatoduodenal NET (after insulinomas, non-functioning tumours, gastrinomas and VIPomas), with an incidence of 1 in 40 million [1-3]. They tend to be non-functioning, although they are rarely active and can produce a spectrum of symptoms called 'somatostatinoma syndrome' [4–6]. A degree of discord exists regarding the functional component of a somatostatinoma; some clinicians argue that a 'syndrome' of clinical symptoms must be present for the diagnosis of somatostatinoma and others that the diagnosis is purely immunohistochemical [7]. As most of these tumours are biochemically inert, they are either detected incidentally or by causing mass-effect pressure symptoms, and most will have metastasised by the time of diagnosis [6, 8, 9].

There is little to distinguish somatostatinomas from other pancreatoduodenal NETs on radiological imaging or preoperative histology, but the presence of strong and diffuse positive somatostatin staining on immunohistochemistry is diagnostic [4]. Thus, many somatostatinomas are only diagnosed postoperatively when the histopathologist has had access to the resected specimen [6]. Like most NETs, operative resection even in the presence of metastases is recommended, with somatostatin analogues and chemotherapy reserved for patients not amenable to operation [10]. A variety of techniques exist for the management of metastases, with operative resection being advocated when suitable [7, 10–12]. Outcomes tend to much be more favourable than for an associated adenocarcinoma of the pancreas or duodenum, largely due to the indolent nature of these tumours.

Department of Hepato-pancreato-biliary surgery,

Bristol Royal Infirmary, Upper Maudlin Street, Bristol, UK e-mail: jmlw@doctors.org.uk

J.M.L. Williamson, MBChB, MSc, MRCS

[©] Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

S. Yalcin, K. Öberg (eds.), Neuroendocrine Tumours:

Diagnosis and Management, DOI 10.1007/978-3-662-45215-8_16

16.2 Incidence

Somatostatinoma was first described in 1977 [1], and since then, approximately eight cases per year have been reported [2]. The suggested incidence of 1 in 40 million may increase with improved understanding and diagnosis of the tumour [1, 2]. They are the fifth most common NET in the pancreas [4], while in the duodenum, they account for 15 % of all NETs [13]. Patients typically present between the ages of 40–60 years of age, and there is a possible slight female predominance [6, 14, 15]. There are no known environmental risk factors [3]. Somatostatinomas can either be functioning or non-functioning: cases in the literature have not been associated with somatostatinoma syndrome.

Somatostatinomas tend to be solitary and almost exclusively confined to the pancreas or duodenum, presumably reflecting the high concentration of delta cells in these organs [3, 6, 14]. Between 50 and 60 % of somatostatinomas originate in the pancreas, where there is a preference for the head of the gland (50 %), followed by the tail (25 %), and then diffuse infiltration of the gland (25 %) [6, 10, 13]. Of the remaining extrapancreatic lesions, approximately 50 % originate in the duodenum and 50 % precisely at the ampulla; less than 1 % arise from the jejunum, and isolated cases in the colon and rectum have been reported [6, 16, 17].

Somatostatinomas are associated with malignancy rates of up to 78 %, while 70–92 % have metastatic disease at presentation [6, 8, 9]. Rates of malignancy and metastasis are highest for pancreatic tumours [18, 19]. The liver is most commonly involved, followed by regional lymph nodes and then bony deposits [6]. The presence of metastatic disease is thought to be as a consequence of late diagnosis and does not appear to be dependent upon the tissue of origin [6].

16.3 Associations

Most somatostatinomas are sporadic, but there are well-known associations with MEN (multiple endocrine neoplasia) type 1 and neurofibromatosis type 1 (NF1), also known as von Recklinghausen disease. Less than 1 % of somatostatinomas are associated with MEN, however, this percentage being lower than for other pancreatoduodenal NETs [20]. Duodenal somatostatinomas are associated with NF1 in up to 50 % of patients, but there is less of a clear-cut association for pancreatic tumours [9, 14]. NF1 patients have an inherited mutation of the NF1 gene on chromosome 17q11, which codes for the protein neurofibromin. Somatostatinomas diagnosed in the presence of NF1 are thought to have a lower risk of metastases at presentation. There is a well-recognised association between NF1, duodenal somatostatinomas and pheochromocytomas, so that the presence of an adrenal lesion should be sought in this group of patients [3, 15, 21].

There have been occasional case reports of somatostatinomas in combination with conditions including von Hippel-Lindau disease [22, 23], tuberous sclerosis [24] and gastrointestinal stromal tumours [25, 26].

16.4 Biochemistry

16.4.1 Somatostatin

Somatostatin is also known as growth hormone-inhibiting hormone (GHIH), somatotropin release-inhibiting factor (SRIF) or somatotropin release-inhibiting hormone. It is a small cyclic peptide derived from proteolytic processing of two larger molecules (prepro-somatostatin and pro-somatostatin) [14]. Somatostatin is secreted from exocrine cells in the gastrointestinal (GI) tract and from delta cells of the pancreas under physiological conditions. It has two active forms, somatostatinoma-14 and somatostatin-28 (consisting of 14 and 28 amino acids, respectively) [27].

Somatostatin has a general inhibitory effect up on the gastrointestinal tract. It affects gastrointestinal motility, gastric acid production, pancreatic enzyme secretion, bile secretion and colonic fluid secretion [27]. It also inhibits the secretion of pancreatic and intestinal hormones such as insulin, glucagon, secretin and vasoactive intestinal polypeptide. Some of these actions are thought to occur via paracrine modulation and a reduction in splanchnic perfusion [3]. Somatostatin may also control cell proliferation both in normal tissues and NETs [27].

Since these effects have therapeutic benefits, somatostatin analogues, such as octreotide, octreotate, edotreotide and lanreotide, can be used in a variety of clinical contexts, including the palliation of vomiting, symptomatic control in neuroendocrine and thyroid tumours and prevention of complications following pancreatic surgery.

16.4.2 Somatostatin Receptors

The physiological effects of somatostatin are mediated by a family of seven G-protein-coupled transmembrane receptors; five subtypes exist (SST₁₋₅), each being coded by its relevant gene (SSTR1–5) [27, 28]. Most cells within the body express somatostatin receptors in various concentrations [29]. Of note, SSTR1 is expressed in its highest concentrations in the jejunum (and stomach), and SSTR3 is expressed in its highest concentrations in pancreatic islet cells [28]. The expression of somatostatin receptors by a tumour does not necessarily indicate that it is functional, but it can influence patient management [8, 9]. Approximately 80 % of all NETs express somatostatin receptors [10].

Tumours that express SST2 and SSTR5 are associated with a better outcome than those that do not [30]. In addition, tumour expression of receptors can be useful for both diagnostic and treatment purposes (see below): somatostatin receptor scintigraphy (SRS) relies on this expression for the accurate location of both primary tumours and metastatic foci [6, 29, 31]. Somatostatin analogues (e.g. octreotide, octreotate, edotreotide and lanreotide) can be used to control symptoms and inhibit cell growth [5, 7, 10, 32], while radionuclide therapy (via radiolabelled somatostatin analogues) can be used to deliver targeted radiotherapy to the tumour [4, 31, 33].
16.5 Pathology

Immunohistochemistry is the diagnostic investigation of choice for somatostatinomas as it reveals characteristic immunoreactivity for somatostatin [3, 13]. Management and survival of somatostatinomas is based on pathological findings, the Ki-67 index and the TNM (tumour, node, metastases) staging. All pathology reports from NETs should include a minimum data set of tumour site, immunohistochemical staining, grade (mitotic rate and Ki-67 index), presence of non-ischaemic tumour necrosis and presence of other pathological components (e.g. nonneuroendocrine components) [34].

16.5.1 Macroscopic

Macroscopic examination of a somatostatinoma reveals a round lesion which is well demarcated [13]. Lesions are typically solitary and measure 1–5 cm in diameter [3]. There is nothing to distinguish these tumours from other pancreatoduodenal NETs on macroscopic appearance.

16.5.2 Microscopic

Most somatostatinomas show typical features of a NET on histological examination: they tend to be well differentiated and show a glandular pattern (Fig. 16.1)



Fig. 16.1 (a, b) Microscopic appearances of ampullary somatostatinoma. Haematoxylin and eosin staining (*left*) and strongly positive immunostaining with somatostatin (*right*) (ANNALS IMAGE)

[3, 6, 13]. Some somatostatinomas show a mixed picture, with separate zones of well-differentiated and anaplastic cells. The differentiated areas have cells arranged in lobular or acinar patterns, which are separated by fibrovascular stroma. The less well-differentiated areas have cells interrupted by fibrous septa [6].

Psammoma bodies (round collections of calcium that arise after infarction and calcification) may be present in somatostatinomas. They are circular in appearance and are laminar, acellular and basophilic on histological examination. Psammomas are more commonly found in duodenal lesions and may be associated with neurofibromatosis [13].

16.5.3 Differentiation

Tumour differentiation – the extent of resemblance to normal cellular architecture – plays a role in assessing how aggressive a NET is [35]. Most somatostatinomas are well differentiated and have a uniform cellular pattern consistent with the organ of origin. Cells produce abundant neurosecretory granules and may also be arranged in nesting, trabecular or gyriform patterns [13, 35]. Poorly differentiated somatostatinomas less closely resemble non-neoplastic cells and have a more sheet-like or diffuse structural arrangement, with irregular nuclei and less cytoplasmic granularity.

16.5.4 Immunohistochemistry

Most NETs reveal some positivity for somatostatin immunohistochemistry due to the presence of somatostatin receptors. Somatostatinomas show diffuse positive immunoreactivity for somatostatin, and this expression is characteristic (Fig. 16.1) [3, 6, 13]. The immunoexpression is related to the differentiation of the tumour, with well-differentiated somatostatinomas revealing strong immunoreactivity for somatostatin staining and poorly differentiated tumours showing less immunoreactivity [35]. The absence of staining for other NET hormones (vasoactive intestinal polypeptide (VIP), gastrin, insulin and glucagon) also confirms the diagnosis. In addition, there may be immunoexpression of general neuroendocrine markers such as chromogranin A and synaptophysin [35].

16.5.5 Grading

Although no grading system can fully predict the behaviour of somatostatinoma, an estimate of the biological aggressiveness of NET can provide significant information on prognosis [35]. Biological activity can be assessed by cellular mitotic activity and the Ki-67 index (to estimate the growth fraction of a cellular population). Both of these measures assess tumour proliferative rate; mitotic activity requires counting the number of mitoses seen over a microscopic field,

| Grade | Mitotic count (10 HPF) | Ki-67 index (%) |
|-----------------------|------------------------|-----------------|
| Low grade G1 | <2 | ≤2 |
| Intermediate grade G2 | 2–20 | 3–20 |
| High grade G3 | >30 | >20 |

 Table 16.1
 Grading system for foregut neuroendocrine tumours [35, 36]

10 HPF high-power field=2 mm², at least 40 fields (at 40× magnification) evaluated in areas of highest mitotic density, *Ki-67 index* labelling with MIB1 antibody; % of 2,000 tumour cells in areas of highest nuclear labelling

whereas the Ki-67 index provides a percentage of cells reacting to labelling with MIB1 antibody [35, 36]. These measures are broadly equivalent in assessing grading but can sometimes give conflicting information (in which case the more aggressive score is adopted) [35]. If limited amounts of tissue are available (e.g. following biopsy), a mitotic index may not be possible to perform as it requires counting 40–50 high-power microscopic fields (more than most biopsy samples contain). In these cases, Ki67 staining provides a more accurate assessment of proliferative rate [35].

Histological grading for pancreatoduodenal NETs is either low (G1), intermediate (G2) or high (G3) (Table 16.1). Low-grade NETs are relatively indolent, while intermediate grade tumours have a less predictable, moderately aggressive course [35]. Somatostatinomas that are either G1 or G2 tend to be well-differentiated NETs, while G3 tumours are poorly differentiated neuroendocrine tumours [35, 36].

16.6 Staging

A number of different staging systems exist to classify the extent of tumour spread for NETs, and while the criteria for assessment vary between each method, the underlying basic data are similar [35]. The TNM staging system is becoming the most widespread method for assessment; it reveals the extent of invasion into the organ of origin and regional or distant spread (Table 16.2) [35, 36].

16.7 Presentation

The functionality of the somatostatinoma greatly influences presentation. Nonfunctional tumours, which are not associated with somatostatinoma syndrome, tend to present with local mass effects, though many are detected incidentally. Symptoms are non-specific but include upper abdominal pain, abdominal swelling and mass, jaundice, weight loss, nausea and vomiting [3]. Some patients will present with tumour burden from metastatic disease. Often non-functioning tumours are detected incidentally during investigation of non-specific gastrointestinal symptoms in the same manner as other gastroduodenal NETs.

| TNM | | |
|-------|-----------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------|
| grade | Duodenum/ampulla/proximal jejunum | Pancreas |
| Tx | Primary tumour cannot be assessed | Primary tumour cannot be assessed |
| Т0 | No evidence of primary tumour | In situ tumour/dysplasia |
| T1 | Tumour invades lamina propria or submucosa and size ≤ 1 cm | Tumour invades lamina propria or submucosa for ≤ 1 cm |
| T2 | Tumour invades muscularis propria or size ≥ 1 cm | Tumour invades muscularis propria or subserosa for ≥ 1 cm |
| Т3 | Tumour invades the pancreas of the retroperitoneum | Tumour penetrates serosa |
| T4 | Tumour invades peritoneum or other organs | Tumour invades adjacent structures |
| Nx | Regional lymph nodes cannot be assessed | Regional lymph nodes cannot be assessed |
| N0 | No regional lymph node metastasis | No regional lymph node metastasis |
| N1 | Regional lymph node metastasis | Regional lymph node metastasis present |
| Mx | Distant metastases cannot be assessed | Distant metastases cannot be assessed |
| M0 | No distant metastases | No distant metastases |
| M1 | Distant metastases | Distant metastases |

Table 16.2 TNM classification for pancreatoduodenal neuroendocrine tumours

Adapted from Rindi et al. [36]

T primary tumour (add (m) for multiple tumours), N regional lymph nodes, M distant metastases M1 specific sites as defined according to Sorbin and Wittekind [37]

16.7.1 Somatostatinoma Syndrome

Functioning tumours are rare and cause somatostatinoma syndrome as a result of overexpression of somatostatin. This syndrome comprises diarrhoea (secondary to decreased pancreatic enzyme and bicarbonate secretion), steatorrhoea and diabetes (resulting from insulin inhibition), gallstones (from cholecystokinin inhibition) and hypochlorhydria [4–6]. Some authors argue that this syndrome must be present for a secure diagnosis of somatostatinoma [7]. Functioning tumours are likely to present earlier than non-functioning tumours, given their symptomatology and consequent investigation.

16.8 Investigation

Although radiology provides the mainstay of investigation, it will only reveal the presence of a pancreatoduodenal NET rather than a definitive diagnosis of a somatostatinoma [3]. Nuclear medicine and endoscopic assessment play an increasingly important role in the management of this group of tumours. Biochemical assessment may also reveal the presence of a NET, and it can be diagnostic for somatostatinoma. Definitive diagnosis tends to come from tissue diagnosis and immunohistochemistry (either biopsy or pathological specimen).

16.8.1 Biochemical and Haematological Assessment

Patients with pancreatoduodenal NETs should be investigated with both standard and specific blood tests. Routine full blood count, liver function tests, urea and electrolytes and clotting screen should be performed to check for any derangement in organ function: significant hepatic metastases may result in derangement in liver function. Blood glucose should also be measured for signs of diabetes, either due to somatostatin syndrome or to pancreatic dysfunction secondary to tumour invasion. These tests should also be used as a workup for further management, both in terms of radiological investigation and suitability for operative intervention.

Chromogranin A and pancreatic polypeptide are non-specific markers for pancreatoduodenal NETs; elevated levels are found in 50–80 % of tumours, including somatostatinomas [20]. Although elevated plasma somatostatin levels (SLI) are strongly indicative of somatostatinoma, they are rarely found [5, 7]. Pancreatic somatostatinomas tend to have higher SLI concentrations (up to 50 times normal) compared to intestinal somatostatinomas in which the concentration is often normal [6]. Patients with high plasma levels of somatostatin are thought to present earlier than those with normal levels [4].

16.8.2 Radiological Imaging

Accurate imaging of the primary tumour and the extent of disease is vital in all stages of management of somatostatinomas. Imaging should provide the location and extent of the primary tumour and assist in determining whether operative intervention should be performed, either curative resection or debulking. In addition, local invasion and the presence of metastases should be sought on investigation. Functional somatostatinomas may be harder to identify than tumours without somatostatinoma syndrome, as they are likely to be smaller at initial presentation.

Conventional imaging provides the mainstay of initial investigation. Computed tomography (CT), ultrasound scanning and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) can all be employed to assist diagnosis, with selective use of small bowel series (barium or Gastrografin) (Fig. 16.2) and angiography (Fig. 16.3) [3]. Dual-phase, thin-slice CT (Fig. 16.4) is the usual first-line investigation; detection rates are proportional to the size of the lesion. Somatostatinomas are isodense (and thus not visible on unenhanced CT), but intravenous contrast will reveal a characteristic hypervascular lesion [38]. Typically lesions are 5 cm in diameter at presentation [34]. More than 70 % of lesions greater than 3 cm in size can be identified, but only 50 % of lesions measuring less than 1 cm are detected [10, 39]. Thus, small somatostatinomas and hepatic metastases may be missed. Dual-phase CT and MRI have equivalent sensitivities for the detection of NETs; CT is thought to be better for detection of peritoneal and mesenteric disease than MRI, which is more sensitive for detecting liver and bony metastases [6, 40].

Fig. 16.2 Small bowel Gastrografin study showing constricting lesion in the second part of the duodenum (patient in prone position). Lesion subsequently confirmed as somatostatinoma on postoperative immunohistochemistry



Fig. 16.3 Visceral angiography of patient with duodenal somatostatinoma. Increased tumour 'blush' noted at the right-hand side of the image, but no gross vascular invasion present (patient subsequently underwent successful pylorus-preserving proximal pancreatoduodenectomy)



Transabdominal ultrasound is not used routinely because it has a low sensitivity (9–64 %) for pancreatic lesions [10, 39]. Angiography may reveal a characteristic tumour blush and can be combined with selective visceral cannulation and assessment of hormonal gradients. These techniques have now been largely superseded by other imaging modalities, notably CT.





16.8.3 Nuclear Medicine Imaging

16.8.3.1 Somatostatin Receptor Scintigraphy

The overexpression of somatostatin receptors (particularly subtypes SSTR2 and SSTR5) by more than 80 % of pancreatoduodenal NETs has allowed the development of somatostatin receptor scintigraphy (SRS) [31, 41, 42]. A number of different radiolabelled somatostatin analogues will bind to the receptors with high affinity. One of the agents most widely used worldwide for SRS is ¹¹¹IN-DTPA-octreotide (Octreoscan), which has an overall sensitivity of 80–90 % [6, 10, 20, 31, 43]. SRS allows whole body scanning, which is invaluable in detecting metastases (especially at unexpected locations), but it does not provide information on tumour size or resectability [4, 6]. After the radiolabelled agent is injected into the patient, scans are generally performed at either 4–6 h or at 24 h. With earlier scans, lesions may be obscured by a relatively high background activity. Delayed scans provide better contrast (due to lower background activity) but can result in false-positive results secondary to physiological bowel activity [6].

16.8.3.2 SPECT (Somatostatin Receptor Scintigraphy Combined with Computed Tomography)

SPECT is more sensitive than conventional imaging for detection of both the primary somatostatinoma and its metastases [31, 44]. Seventy per cent of primary lesions and more than 90 % of distant disease can be detected with SPECT [31, 44]. It has the additional advantage over conventional imaging that it can provide whole body scanning at one time, and it alters patient management in up to 47 % of patients **Fig. 16.5** PET scan showing extensive hepatic metastases as well as uptake in the inferior pole of the right kidney (*black arrow*) and the pancreatic primary tumour (*white arrow*)



[7, 31]. False-positive localisations can occur in up to 12 % of patients, but this figure can be reduced to 3 % when findings are corroborated with clinical assessment [7, 10, 31].

16.8.3.3 Positron Emission Tomography

Positron emission tomography scanning (Fig. 16.5) has greater sensitivity than either SRS or conventional cross-sectional imaging [10]. As a result, this new technique is becoming increasingly employed for the detection of all pancreatoduodenal NETs, including somatostatinomas [3]. Two main agents are used: ¹¹C-5-HTP and 68gallium-labelled somatostatin analogues.

16.8.4 Endoscopic Examination

Endoscopy allows direct visualisation of the upper gastrointestinal tract and can help diagnose gastroduodenal lesions. It should be combined with concurrent endoscopic ultrasound, which can detect lesions as small as 0.5 cm [45]. Endoscopic ultrasound is more effective at localising tumours in the pancreas than the duodenum, although the tail of the gland can be inaccessible [7, 46]. Fine needle aspirates can be taken, which can be useful in providing cytological assessment of suspect lesions.

16.8.5 Intraoperative Techniques

Both intraoperative ultrasonography and endoscopic transillumination are recommended to assist in detection of small lesions not appreciated on conventional imaging [7, 10]. In addition they can be used to help plan the route of resection and enucleation of lesions [4]. However, these techniques may fall out of routine use with the increasing availability and sensitivity of nuclear imaging.

16.9 Management

The overall 5-year survival rate in pancreatic and periampullary somatostatinoma is 60-100 % with localised disease or 15-60 % in metastatic disease [15, 47]. Large size (>3 cm), poor differentiation and lymph node involvement are poor prognostic markers. Tumours that are hormonally inactive (non-functioning), which predominate, have a worse prognosis than functioning somatostatinomas.

Operative resection, when feasible, is recommended for all pancreatoduodenal NETs, including somatostatinomas. Curative resection is the aim of intervention, but in the presence of liver metastases, either complete resection or debulking of primary tumour is recommended. Medical management, in the form of chemotherapy, somatostatinoma analogues or radionucleotide therapy, plays an important role in controlling both symptoms and tumour growth, but it is not considered a first-line intervention.

16.9.1 Medical

16.9.1.1 Somatostatin Analogues

Somatostatin analogues, such as octreotide, octreotate, edotreotide and lanreotide, help control the symptoms of pancreatoduodenal NETs [5, 7]. These analogues act on somatostatin receptors and stimulate the inhibitory effects of somatostatin. Long-acting depot forms of these analogues allow monthly injection therapy, which increases patient convenience and therefore compliance [10]. Long-term treatment may be associated with symptomatic breakthrough, in which case a stronger or more frequent doses may be required; in some cases a treatment 'holiday' is required before recommencing the analogue [10]. These analogues have mild side effects in up to half of all patients, including flatulence, diarrhoea/steatorrhoea, nausea, gall-stones and glucose intolerance [5, 7]. The addition of α -interferon therapy may help control symptoms if first-line intervention is inadequate [20].

In addition to symptomatic relief, somatostatin analogues are thought to have tumourostatic effect in 40-80 % of patients, but have not been shown to cause tumour regression [7, 10, 31]. This stabilisation of disease has increased progression-free survival for midgut neuroendocrine tumours [4, 48].

16.9.2 Chemotherapy and Radiotherapy

Generally pancreatoduodenal NETs do not respond well to oncological agents because they are slow growing and thus have an inherent resistance to therapies targeted at rapidly dividing cells. Nevertheless, chemotherapy and radiotherapy are frequently employed for disease that is not amenable to operative resection. A number of different chemotherapeutic regimes have been employed, with an overall objective response rate of 10–45 % [4]. Chemotherapeutic agents include strepto-zotocin, doxorubicin, 5-FU, temozolomide, dacarbazine and chlorozotocin;

streptozotocin is thought to be the best therapy with response rates as high as 70 % [3, 4]. However, these regimes result in appreciable toxicity. Complete tumour response to any therapy is rare, and all drugs are associated with side effects that may make the regime intolerable. Trans-arterial chemoembolisation (TACE) can also be successfully employed for the treatment of hepatic metastases (see below).

Systemic radiotherapy is not usually suitable for patients with somatostatinomas (or any pancreatoduodenal NETs) due to the location of the primary tumour and associated lymphatic spread. Its use is not supported in the literature except for providing symptom relief for bony metastases [4].

16.9.3 Peptide Receptor Radionuclide Therapy [PRRT]

Radionuclide therapy is a novel technique which is being increasingly utilised for the treatment of inoperable or metastatic pancreatoduodenal NETs [33, 49]. This therapy delivers targeted local radionucleotides that release γ -radiation or β -radiation to the tissues, thus decreasing overall radiation exposure to the patient [31, 33]. The exact dosage of radiation needs to be calculated to ensure that sensitive organs, for example, the kidneys and bone marrow, do not suffer irreversible damage [33].

The overexpression of somatostatin receptors by most NETs, particularly somatostatinomas, makes targeted peptide receptor radionuclide therapy (PRRT) particularly appealing. Radiolabelled somatostatin analogues with attached radionuclides of ¹⁷⁷lutrium, ⁹⁰yttrium or ¹¹¹indium can be used to target pancreatoduodenal NETS. No randomised controlled studies exist, but several studies have reported favourable response rates [4, 31, 49]. Of all the agents commercially available, [¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTA⁰,Tyr3]octreotate (DOTATATE) has showed a complete response rate in 2 % of patients, a partial response in 32 % and stabilisation of disease in 34 % [49]. Overall, median survival rates with DOTATATE of more than 40 months have been reported.

16.9.4 Surgery

Operative resection of the primary tumour, even in the presence of metastases, is recommended for all pancreatoduodenal NETs unless the patient has [10]:

- 1. Another medical condition limiting life expectancy or increasing surgical risk
- 2. Diffuse metastatic liver disease
- 3. One of the inherited PNET syndromes

This strategy is governed, in part, by better outcomes of operative resection and the traditionally poor outcomes associated with nonoperative interventions. When curative resection cannot be performed, surgical debulking of the primary tumour is advocated; hepatic resection of metastatic disease is also advocated when possible, although there are a number of alternatives to hepatectomy (see below). Any resection should be combined with cholecystectomy, because of the likelihood of gallstone formation with increasing somatostatin levels (with associated cholecystokinin inhibition) postoperatively [4].

16.9.4.1 Curative Resection

Any patient without metastatic disease should be considered for curative resection of the tumour. Unfortunately with up to 90 % of patients presenting with metastatic disease, curative resections are not that common particularly when sensitive whole body scanning, in the form of SRS or PET, is now commonplace [6, 8, 9]. When possible, somatostatinomas should be locally excised or enucleated, with major resections reserved for more extensive disease in patients who are fit enough to tolerate the operation [7, 10, 20]. As somatostatinomas are located in the periampulary duodenum or pancreatic head, a pylorus-preserving pancreatoduodenectomy or Whipple's procedure is the most common resection, although total pancreatoduodenectomy may occasionally be required for multiple tumours or bulky tumours in the pancreatic neck [3].

Well-defined and localised intrapancreatic lesions can be resected laparoscopically, but most somatostatinomas are approached by laparotomy. An extensive abdominal exploration has traditionally been recommended to search for lymph node metastases, although this may not be required given the sensitivity of SRS and PET [7, 10, 20].

16.9.4.2 Palliative Resection

By definition, tumours that have metastasised cannot undergo curative resection, but resection of the primary tumour even in the presence of hepatic metastases is advocated [3, 10]. There are many options for the management of hepatic metastases (see below) that can improve patient survival and alter the natural history of the disease process [50]. A recent systematic review has shown a trend towards improved survival post resection of primary lesion in the presence of metastases, although it is unknown whether this is a true reflection or simply that patients in the operative group are healthier than those not deemed for surgery, i.e. a positive selection bias for treatment in patients with better overall performance status [12]. Regardless of the underlying mechanism, a 30 % improvement in 5-year survival in patients undergoing resection has been reported [12].

Thus all patients should be considered for operative intervention if complete (or near-complete) resection of hepatic metastases can be achieved [50]. Resection of the primary tumour should be undertaken in the same manner as outlined above, and it can be combined with concurrent resection of metastatic disease.

16.9.4.3 Debulking of Primary Tumour

Operative tumour debulking, to remove at least 90 % of primary tumour volume, is only possible in 5–15 % of patients [7, 10, 51, 52]. Although there is little evidence to suggest that cytoreductive surgery improves symptoms and survival, it is generally advocated especially since other interventions have low efficacy [4, 7, 51–53].

Some studies have shown that debulking can improve symptoms associated with 'tumour mass', i.e. pain and vomiting, with up to half of patients reporting benefit for a mean duration of 39 months, compared to best combination chemotherapy offering a median survival of 26 months [53, 54].

16.9.5 Management of Liver Metastases

Given that most non-functioning somatostatinomas are indolent and present with metastatic deposits, aggressive management of these liver lesions is advocated; hepatectomy should be considered in all cases and can be performed in isolation or in combination with other hepatic interventions (see below). Patients who are deemed unresectable, either due to co-morbidities or diffuse hepatic involvement, may be managed with targeted tissue destruction.

16.9.5.1 Resection of Liver Metastases

Aggressive resection of liver metastases is associated with better long-term outcomes compared with nonoperative intervention, such as hepatic artery embolisation (HAE), radio-frequency ablation or radioactive octreotide [3]. Five-year survival rates of 76 % have been reported following hepatectomy, compared with 50 % for HAE and 26 % for medical therapy [53]. Complete resection of hepatic metastases improves survival threefold compared with incomplete resection [55]. For young, otherwise healthy patients, liver transplantation for widespread hepatic metastatic infiltration should be considered, especially if the patient's symptoms cannot be managed by other therapies [10].

16.9.5.2 Nonoperative Management of Liver Metastases

Several hepatic interventions exist for the management of metastatic disease, but no randomised studies exist comparing the efficacy of any procedure either against each other or against resection [4, 11]. Nonoperative intervention is recommended for palliation in patients who are unsuitable for surgical resection provided they have an otherwise preserved performance status, with disease confined to the liver and a patent portal vein [10, 11]. These techniques are considered particularly relevant for patients with hormone excess who cannot be controlled by any other means [11]. Nonoperative strategies include gel foam embolisation, transhepatic arterial chemoembolisation (TACE), hepatic artery embolisation (HAE) with radioactive microspheres, percutaneous alcohol ablation, radio-frequency ablation and cryoablation.

Clinical response rates following TACE are generally greater than 50 % and are measured by radiographic regression and/or a decrease in serum hormones [11]. No data exist showing superiority of any one of the TACE techniques (bland embolisation, chemoembolisation, embolisation with chemotherapy beads and embolisation using radioisotopes) compared with each other. RFA, Microwave Ablation (MWA) and cryoablation are recommended only in selected patients who have low-volume

disease [10, 11]. All these techniques can be performed either intraoperatively (either combined with resection of primary metastatic disease or during separate laparoscopy) or via a percutaneous approach [10].

16.10 Surveillance

Like most pancreatoduodenal NETs, somatostatinoma has an indolent course compared with pancreatic adenocarcinoma. These tumours therefore generally have a longer overall survival even if untreated [4]. The natural history of the disease is not fully understood, and as such, there are no guidelines for prognosis or surveillance of disease. Generally patient surveillance is advocated, especially when operative resection has occurred. Patients should have their chromogranin A, pancreatic polypeptide and plasma somatostatin levels monitored in addition to periodic cross-sectional imaging of the abdomen [10]. Some clinicians advocate yearly postoperative SRS studies to detect signs of disease recurrence [10].

16.10.1 Tumour Recurrence or Progression

No established guidelines exist for the management of patients with progressive or recurrent disease. Options include reoperation (including debulking for symptom relief from space-occupying lesions or hormonal effects) and systemic chemotherapy. Therapy should be based on the individual's characteristics, site of recurrence and prior therapy [4].

Conclusion

Somatostatinomas are rare neuroendocrine tumours that arise in the pancreas or peripancreatic duodenum. They are a fascinating group of tumours that are poorly understood and relatively unpredictable. These tumours are relatively indolent and present late, often with metastatic disease. Although there is some dispute as to whether functional activity (somatostatinoma syndrome) is required for diagnosis, most tumours are diagnosed histologically on diffuse positive immunoreactivity to somatostatin. An increased awareness of this group of tumours and improved imaging (particularly in the form of SRS and PET scanning) is thought to be related to an increasing incidence of disease.

Operative resection provides the mainstay of treatment for both primary lesions and metastatic disease, with somatostatin analogues, chemotherapy and radionucleotide therapy considered second-line intervention. No randomised control trials for the management of somatostatinomas exist to guide treatment, owing to their rarity and the difficulty with correct preoperative diagnosis. Survival is generally good and certainly much better than for an equivalent pancreatoduodenal adenocarcinoma.

References

- Ganda OP, Weir GC, Soeldner JS et al (1977) "Somatostatinoma": a somatostatin-containing tumor of the endocrine pancreas. N Engl J Med 296:963–967
- House MG, Yeo CJ, Schulick RD (2002) Periampullary pancreatic somatostatinoma. Ann Surg Oncol 9:869–874
- Williamson JML, Thorn CC, Spalding D, Williamson RCN (2011) Pancreatic and peripancreatic somatostatinomas. Ann R Coll Surg Engl 93:356–360
- Ellison TA, Edil BH (2012) The current management of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumours. Adv Surg 46:283–296
- O'Toole D, Salazar R, Falconi M et al, Frascati Consensus Conference; European Neuroendocrine Tumor Society (2006) Rare functioning pancreatic endocrine tumors. Neuroendocrinology 84:189–195
- Vinik AI, Woltering EA, Warner RRP et al (2010) NANETS Guidelines: NANETS consensus guidelines for the diagnosis of neuroendocrine tumor. Pancreas 39:713–734
- Metz DE, Jensen RT (2008) Gastrointestinal neuroendocrine tumors: pancreatic endocrine tumors. Gastroenterology 135:1469–1492
- Vinik AI, Strodel WE, Eckhauser FE, Moattari AR, Lloyd R (1987) Somatostatinomas, PPomas, neurotensinomas. Semin Oncol 14:263–281
- Doherty GM (2005) Rare endocrine tumours of the GI tract. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 19:807–817
- Kulke MH, Anthony LB, Bushnell DL et al (2010) NANETS treatment guidelines: welldifferentiated neuroendocrine tumors of the stomach and pancreas. Pancreas 39:735–752
- Steinmuller T, Kianmanesh R, Falconi M et al (2008) Consensus guidelines for the management of patients with liver metastases from digestive (neuro)endocrine tumours: foregut, midgut, hindgut and unknown primary. Neuroendocrinology 87:47–62
- 12. Capurso G, Bettini R, Rinzivillo M et al (2011) Role of resection of the primary pancreatic neuroendocrine tumour only in patients with unresectable metastatic liver disease: a systemic review. Neuroendocrinology 93:223–229
- Klöppel G (2007) Tumour biology and histopathology of neuroendocrine tumours. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab 21:15–31
- Mao C, Shah A, Hanson DJ, Howard JM (1995) Von Recklinghausen's disease associated with duodenal somatostatinoma: contrast of duodenal versus pancreatic somatostatinomas. J Surg Oncol 59:67–73
- Soga J, Yakuwa Y (1999) Somatostatinoma/inhibitory syndrome: a statistical evaluation of 173 reported cases as compared to other pancreatic endocrinomas. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 18:13–22
- Ectors N (1999) Pancreatic endocrine tumors: diagnostic pitfalls. Hepatogastroenterology 46:679–690
- Harris GJ, Tio F, Cruz AB Jr (1987) Somatostatinoma: a case report and review of the literature. J Surg Oncol 36:8–16
- Moayedoddin B, Booya F, Wermers RA, Lloyd RV, Rubin J, Thompson GB, Fatourechi V (2006) Spectrum of malignant somatostatin-producing neuroendocrine tumors. Endocr Pract 12:394–400
- Garbrecht N, Anlauf M, Schmitt A et al (2008) Somatostatin-producing neuroendocrine tumors of the duodenum and pancreas: incidence, types, biological behaviour, association with inherited syndromes, and functional activity. Endocr Relat Cancer 15:229–241
- Oberg K, Eriksson B (2005) Endocrine tumours of the pancreas. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 19:753–781
- 21. Cappelli C, Agosti B, Braga M, Cumetti D, Gandossi E, Rizzoni D, Agabiti RE (2004) Von Recklinghausen's neurofibromatosis associated with duodenal somatostatinoma. A case report and review of the literature. Minerva Endocrinol 29:19–24
- 22. Karasawa Y, Sakaguchi M, Minami S, Kitano K, Kawa S, Aoki Y, Itoh N, Sakurai A, Miyazaki M, Watanabe T, Akimoto M, Arakura N, Kiyosawa K (2001) Duodenal somatostatinoma and erythrocytosis in a patient with von Hippel-Lindau disease type 2A. Intern Med 40:38–43

- 23. Maki M, Kaneko Y, Ohta Y, Nakamura T, Machinami R, Kurokawa K (1995) Somatostatinoma of the pancreas associated with von Hippel-Lindau disease. Intern Med 34:661–665
- 24. Sreenarasimhaiah J, Armstrong LA, Tang SJ, Barnett C (2009) Pancreatic somatostatinoma and tuberous sclerosis: an exceedingly rare association. Gastrointest Endosc 69:379–381
- 25. Barahona-Garrido J, Aguirre-Gutiérrez R, Gutiérrez-Manjarrez JI, Tellez-Avila FI, López-Arce G, Fomperoza-Torres A, Criales S, Sánchez-Cortés E, Sarti HM, Yamamoto-Furusho JK (2009) Association of GIST and somatostatinoma in a patient with type-1 neurofibromatosis: is there a common pathway? Am J Gastroenterol 104:797–799
- 26. Sakorafas GH, Giannopoulos GA, Parasi A, Konstantoudakis G, Tzanakis N, Stergiopoulos S, Peros G (2008) Large somatostatin-producing endocrine carcinoma of the ampulla of vater in association with GIST in a patient with von Recklinghausen's disease. Case report and review of the literature. JOP 9:633–639
- de Herder WW, Hofland LJ, van der Lely AJ, Lamberts SWJ (2003) Somatostatin receptors in gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumours. Endocr Relat Cancer 10:451–458
- 28. Yamada Y, Stoffel M, Espinosa R 3rd, Xiang KS, Seino M, Seino S, Le Beau MM, Bell GI (1993) Human somatostatin receptor genes: localization to human chromosomes 14, 17, and 22 and identification of simple tandem repeat polymorphisms. Genomics 15:449–452
- Volante M, Bozzalla-Cassione F, Papotti M (2004) Somatostatin receptors and their interest in diagnostic pathology. Endocr Pathol 15:275–292
- 30. Corleto VD, Falconi M, Panzuto F et al (2009) Somatostatin receptor subtypes 2 and 5 are associated with better survival in well-differentiated endocrine carcinomas. Neuroendocrinology 82:223–230
- Gibril F, Jensen R (2004) Diagnostic uses of radiolabelled somatostatin-receptor analogues in gastroenteropancreatic endocrine tumors. Dig Liver Dis 36:S106–S120
- 32. Capurso G, Panzuto F, Delle Fave G (2010) Clinical relevance of the expression of somatostatin receptors in digestive endocrine tumours. Dig Liver Dis 42:173–174
- 33. Kam BLR, Teunissen JJM, Krenning EP, de Herder WW, Khan S, van Vilet EI, Kwekkeboom DJ (2012) Lutetium-labelled peptides for therapy of neuroendocrine tumours. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 39:S103–S112
- 34. Klimstra DS, Modlin IR, Adsay NV et al (2010) Pathological reporting of neuroendocrine tumors: application of the Delphic consensus process to the development of a minimum pathology data set. Am J Surg Pathol 34:300–313
- 35. NANETS Guidelines (2010) The pathological classification of neuroendocrine tumors: a review of nomenclature, grading, and staging systems. Pancreas 39:707–712
- 36. Rindi G, Klöppel G, Alhman H et al, all other Frascati Consensus Conference participants; European Neuroendocrine Tumor Society (ENETS) (2006) TNM staging of foregut (neuro) endocrine tumours: a consensus proposal including a grading system. Virchows Arch 449:395–401
- 37. Sorbin LH, Wittekind C (eds) (2002) TNM classification of malignant tumours. Wiley-Liss, New York
- King CM, Reznek RH, Dacie JE, Wass JA (1994) Imaging islet cell tumours. Clin Radiol 49:295–303
- Rockall AG, Reznek RH (2007) Imaging of neuroendocrine tumours (CT/MR/US). Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab 21:43–68
- 40. Debray MP, Geoffroy O, Laissy JP, Lebtahi R, Sibermann-Hoffman O, Henry-Feugeas MC, Cadiot G, Mignon M, Schouman-Claeys E (2001) Imaging appearances of metastases from neuroendocrine tumours of the pancreas. Br J Radiol 74:1065–1070
- 41. Angeletti S, Corleto VD, Schillaci O, Marignani M, Annibale B, Moretti A, Silecchia G, Scopinaro F, Basso N, Bordi C, Delle Fave G (1998) Use of the somatostatin analogue octreotide to localise and manage somatostatin-producing tumours. Gut 42:792–794
- Reubi JC (1995) Neuropeptide receptors in health and disease: the molecular basis for in vivo imaging. J Nucl Med 36:825–835
- 43. Termanini B, Gibril F, Reynolds JC, Doppman JL, Chen CC, Stewart CA, Sutliff VE, Jensen RT (1997) Value of somatostatin receptor scintigraphy: a prospective study in gastrinoma of its effect on clinical management. Gastroenterology 112:335–347

- 44. Krenning EP, Kwekkeboom DJ, Oei HY, de Jong RJ, Dop FJ, Reubi JC, Lamberts SW (1994) Somatostatin-receptor scintigraphy in gastroenteropancreatic tumors. An overview of European results. Ann N Y Acad Sci 733:416–424
- 45. O'Grady HL, Conlon KC (2008) Pancreatic neuroendocrine tumours. Eur J Surg Oncol 34:424–432
- McClean AM, Fairclough PD (2005) Endoscopic ultrasound in the localisation of pancreatic islet cell tumours. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab 19:177–193
- O'Brien TD, Chejfec G, Prinz RA (1993) Clinical features of duodenal somatostatinomas. Surgery 114:1144–1147
- 48. Saif MW (2011) Pancreatic neoplasm in 2011: an update. JOP 12:316-321
- Kwekkeboom DJ, de Herder WW, Kam BL et al (2008) Treatment with the radiolabelled somatostatin analog [177Lu-DOTA0, Tyr3]octreotate: toxicity, efficacy and survival. J Clin Oncol 26:2124–2130
- Chamberlain RS, Canes D, Brown KT, Saltz L, Jarnagin W, Fong Y, Blumgart LH (2000) Hepatic neuroendocrine metastases: does intervention alter outcome? J Am Coll Surg 4:432–445
- Norton JA (2005) Endocrine tumours of the gastrointestinal tract. Surgical treatment of neuroendocrine metastases. Best Pract Clin Res Gastroenterol 19:577–583
- 52. Que FG, Sarmiento JM, Nogorney DM (2006) Hepatic surgery for metastatic gastrointestinal tumours. Adv Exp Med Biol 574:43–56
- Chamberlain RS, Canes D, Brown KT, Saltz L, Jarnagin W, Fong Y, Blumgart LH (2000) Hepatic neuroendocrine metastases: does intervention alter outcomes? J Am Coll Surg 190:432–445
- Moretel CG, Lefkopoulo M, Lipsitz S, Hagn RG, Klaassen D (1992) Streptozocin-doxorubicin, streptozocin-fluorouracil or chlorozotocin in the treatment of advanced islet-cell carcinoma. N Engl J Med 326:519–523
- Chen H, Hardacre JM, Uzar A, Cameron JL, Choti MA (1998) Isolated liver metastases from neuroendocrine tumors: does resection prolong survival? J Am Coll Surg 187:88–92; discussion 92–93

Less Common Types of Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors

Young Suk Park

17.1 Introduction

Less common types of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors (pNETs) can trigger clinical syndromes, such as ACTHoma, CRHoma, serotoninoma, calcitoninoma, GHRHoma, GRFoma, parathyroid hormone-related peptide tumor, and ghrelinoma (Table 17.1). In the majority of cases, it is not clear whether they involve specific syndromes due to their low incidence rate [1–4].

Less common pNETs make up less than 10 % of all pNETs [1]. They can occur in areas other than the pancreas, and when they occur in the pancreas, they are often metastatic to the liver (40–90 %) [1].

Mostly, less common pNETs are diagnosed as WHO Group 2. In general, patients within the age range of 50–55 years are likely to be affected, with no significant gender differences. Patients diagnosed with malignant tumors show mixed syndromes, which can change over time [1].

Most often, pNETs can occur as part of four inherited disorders, including multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1), von Hippel–Lindau disease (VHL), neurofibromatosis 1 (NF-1) (von Recklinghausen disease), and the tuberous sclerosis complex (TSC). The order of their frequencies is MEN1>VHL>NF-1>TSC [5].

Y.S. Park, MD, PhD

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

S. Yalcin, K. Öberg (eds.), Neuroendocrine Tumours: Diagnosis and Management, DOI 10.1007/978-3-662-45215-8_17

Division of Hematology/Oncology, Department of Medicine, Samsung Medical Center, Sungkyunkwan University School of Medicine, Seoul, South Korea e-mail: pys27hmo@skku.edu

| Table 17.1 Less com | non types of pNETs | | | | | |
|---------------------------------------------|------------------------------------|-------------|------------------------------------|---------------|-----------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Name | Biologically active | Incidence | Tumor location | Malianant % | Associated with | Main eventome/ei ane |
| INAILIE | hebrine(s) secreted | TIICINGIICE | I ULIIOI IOCAUOII | Maligualit 70 | MEN-1, 70 | Main symptoms/signs |
| ACTHoma | ACTH | Rare | Pancreas | >95 | Rare | Cushing's syndrome (100 %) |
| CRHoma, | Corticotropin-releasing hormone | Rare | Pancreas, lung | Unknown | Unknown | Cushing's syndrome, rare |
| Serotoninoma | Serotonin, tachykinins | Rare | Pancreas | 60–88 | Rare | Diarrhea, flushing |
| Calcitoninoma | Calcitonin | Rare | Pancreas | >80 | 16 | Diarrhea (50 %) |
| GHRHoma | Growth hormone-releasing hormone | Unknown | Pancreas, lung, jejunum, others | >60 | 16 | Acromegaly (100 %) |
| GRFoma | Growth hormone-releasing factor | Rare | Lung, pancreas, others | 30 | <1 % | Acromegaly |
| PET causing hypercalcemia (PTHrp-oma) | PTHrp; others unknown | Rare | Pancreas | >90 | Rare | Symptoms due to hypercalcemia |
| Ghrelinoma | Ghrelin | Rare | Pancreas, stomach, intestine | Unknown | Unknown | Starvation, anorexia nervosa, bulimia, cachexia |
| PET secreting renin | Renin | Rare | Pancreas | Unknown | No | Hypertension |
| PET secreting luteinizing hormone | Luteinizing hormone | Rare | Pancreas | Unknown | No | No anovulation, virilization (female); reduced libido (male) |
| PET secreting erythropoietin | Erythropoietin | Rare | Pancreas | 100 | No | Polycythemia |
| PET secreting IF-II | Insulin-like growth factor II | Rare | Pancreas | Unknown | No | Hypoglycemia |

272

17.2 Clinical Features and Prognosis

The majority of less common pNETs have already metastasized to other areas at the time of diagnosis, and a 5-year survival is weakly associated with the hormone excess state compared to the growth rate of the tumor. The 5-year survival rate is generally 29-45 % [1, 6, 7].

The survival/prognostic data of pNETs demonstrate that tumor Ki67 \geq 2 % and the presence of liver metastasis were associated with a poor prognosis [7].

Less common pNETs typically give rise to symptoms specific to hormone excess states (Table 17.1), which mostly occur during the later phases of the disease [6].

17.3 Diagnosis

The minimum diagnostic work-up for less common pNETs includes specific biochemical analyses associated with specific hormonal activities, clinical symptoms of the disease, and evidence of a hormone excess state. Commonly used markers such as serum chromogranin A are useful for identifying a neuroendocrine tumor and monitoring during the disease's course [1, 5–7]. All biochemical tests should be performed at the initial diagnosis.

In terms of diagnostic imaging, it is recommendable to perform mdCT scan (or MRI) and SRS-SPECT [1, 6, 7]. Other useful tests include PET/CT, gallium-68-labeled somatostatin analogue PET, 18 F-DOPA-PET, or 11 C-5-HTP-PET [1, 6, 7].

Detailed pathological examinations such macroscopic, microscopic, and immunohistochemical findings are essential for the diagnosis of pNETs, and the current WHO TNM classification is applied [1].

Histological examination of HE-stained sections as well as immunostaining for chromogranin A and synaptophysin should be performed in all cases. It is also essential to determine both the mitotic index and Ki67 index [1, 6, 7].

17.4 Surgery

Indications for surgery are determined by factors such as clinical symptom control, tumor size/location/extent, malignancy, and metastatic spread [1, 6, 7]. It is recommended to consider curative surgery even in metastatic states. In the case of localized metastatic disease to the liver, cytoreductive surgery is feasible, if the tumor site is potentially resectable and the patient's conditions allow surgery. The selection of the type of surgery is generally based on the location of the primary tumor. Because less common pNETs are predominantly malignant, adequate lymph node clearance should always be ensured [1, 6, 7].

17.5 Medical Treatment

Somatostatin analogues are effective in treatment in the control of symptoms of less common functional pNETs. If somatostatin analogues are ineffective or lose efficacy in controlling the hormone excess state, interferon- α can be effective in standalone use or in combination with somatostatin analogues.

In the case of pNETs, G2 foregut NET of extrapancreatic site, and neuroendocrine carcinoma (G3) of any site, chemotherapy is recommended. Systemic cytotoxics are useful in patients with inoperable progressive liver metastasis from well-differentiated pNETs, and combinations of streptozotocin and 5-FU or doxorubicin are generally administered [1, 6, 7].

Other interventions, such as transarterial embolization and/or chemoembolization and liver-directed therapy with radiolabeled particles, may be performed when the liver predominantly shows metastases and the symptom control of functional pNETs becomes difficult [1, 6, 7].

Everolimus and sunitinib can be administered as molecular-targeted therapies, which are relatively new remedies for advanced pNETs. Everolimus is primarily administered to pNET patients not responding to chemotherapy, but its use can also be considered for some patients as a first-line therapy. Sunitinib is primarily used as a second- or third-line therapy, but it is also applicable to some patients as a first-line therapy [1].

References

- 1. Jensen RT, Cadiot G, Brandi ML et al (2012) ENETS Consensus Guidelines for the management of patients with digestive neuroendocrine neoplasms: functional pancreatic endocrine tumor syndromes. Neuroendocrinology 95:98–119. doi:10.1159/000335591
- Tsuchihashi T, Yamaguchi K, Abe K, Yanaihara N, Saito S (1992) Production of immunoreactive corticotropin-releasing hormone in various neuroendocrine tumors. Jpn J Clin Oncol 22:232–237
- 3. Berger G, Trouillas J, Bloch B et al (1984) Multihormonal carcinoid tumor of the pancreas: secreting growth hormone-releasing factor as a cause of acromegaly. Cancer 54:2097–2108
- Corbetta S, Peracchi M, Cappiello V et al (2003) Circulating ghrelin levels in patients with pancreatic and gastrointestinal neuroendocrine tumors: identification of one pancreatic ghrelinoma. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 88:3117–3120. doi:10.1210/jc.2002-021842
- Jensen RT, Berna MJ, Bingham DB, Norton JA (2008) Inherited pancreatic endocrine tumor syndromes: advances in molecular pathogenesis, diagnosis, management, and controversies. Cancer 113(7 suppl):1807–1843. doi:10.1002/cncr.23648
- Öberg K (2010) Pancreatic endocrine tumors. Semin Oncol 37:594–618. doi:10.1053/j. seminoncol.2010.10.014
- Metz DC, Jensen RT (2008) Gastrointestinal neuroendocrine tumors: pancreatic endocrine tumors. Gastroenterology 135:1469–1492. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2008.05.047

Nonfunctioning Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors

18

Anna Koumarianou and Nicola Fazio

18.1 Epidemiology and Genetics

Pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors (PNETs), in general, include a heterogeneous group of malignant diseases exhibiting unique clinical and biological features [87, 120]. They can range from indolent to highly aggressive and when unresectable have no curative therapy. The term nonfunctioning (NF) describes the lack of a specific clinical syndrome related with hormone oversecretion. This does not necessarily mean that no peptide or amine production takes place. A clinically undefined syndrome in PNETs may well be associated with positive immunohistochemistry (IHC) for hormonal production, indicating that the quantity secreted is small or biologically inactive (e.g., pancreatic polypeptide) or simply accumulated in the cytoplasm rather than released in the intercellular compartment [63].

A recent SEER database analysis reported that NF-PNETs have an annual incidence of three per million, representing 85 % of all PNETs and 2 % of all pancreatic malignancies [38]. In the same study, 2,158 NF-PNET patients were found to have a median age of 59 years, a presence of metastatic disease in 60 % of cases, and an overall survival (OS) at 5, 10, and 20 years of 33, 17, and 10 %, respectively. Nonfunctioning PNETs can present with symptoms due to mass effect, including obstruction, bleeding, abdominal pain, vomiting, and jaundice, or

A. Koumarianou, MD, PhD (🖂)

Hematology-Oncology Unit, Fourth Department of Internal Medicine, Attikon University Hospital, Rimini 1, Athens 12462, Greece e-mail: akoumari@yahoo.com

N. Fazio, MD Gastrointestinal and Neuroendocrine Tumors Unit, European Institute of Oncology, Milan 20141, Italy e-mail: nicola.fazio@ieo.it

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

S. Yalcin, K. Öberg (eds.), Neuroendocrine Tumours: Diagnosis and Management, DOI 10.1007/978-3-662-45215-8_18 systemic ones as anorexia and weight loss [7, 38]. More than 50 % of NF-PNET patients who initially present with localized disease will develop liver metastasis after resection of their primary tumor [99]. The survival of patients with NF-PNETs was found to be similar to that of the functioning counterpart, an interesting finding given that the lack of clinical syndrome was thought to be associated with a more aggressive biology [19].

The molecular basis of NF-PNET tumorigenesis is not well understood, and although 90 % of cases are sporadic, they may be included in the context of important genetic syndromes such as multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1), von Hippel–Lindau (VHL) disease, and tuberous sclerosis complex (TSC) syndrome [12].

MEN1 syndrome is associated with many neoplasms, most commonly pituitary adenoma, parathyroid adenoma, and pancreatic islet cell tumor. Menin is a predominantly nuclear protein that has a role in transcriptional regulation, genome stability, cell division, and proliferation. Until recently, 1,336 mutations have been reported in the menin chromosomal region 11q13 [62]. Menin has been recently found to epigenetically suppress Hedgehog signaling, a proproliferative and oncogenic pathway, and to downregulate AKT and its kinase activity that in turn induces proliferation and antiapoptotic signaling [40, 111].

In the context of MEN1 syndrome, NF-PNETs occur typically within a field of numerous pancreatic microadenomas, and a prospective study indicated their frequency to be approximately 55 % [104]. PNETs arising in the context of MEN1 syndrome are usually nonfunctioning [72]. With respect to the time of clinical onset, a study in children with MEN1 syndrome has shown that they may have asymptomatic NF-PNETs well before the age of 20 years [74].

VHL disease is a very rare autosomal dominant inherited syndrome characterized by inactivating mutations of the VHL gene that resides on chromosome 3p25-26. The VHL gene encodes, by alternative splicing, two proteins (pVHL) with a main role of inactivation of hypoxia-inducible factor 1a (HIF1a) [46]. Loss of heterozygosity of VHL leads to the upregulation of HIF1a and other angiogenic factors such as VEGF resulting in the proliferation of vascular tissue and the development of retinal and cerebellar hemangioblastomas, renal cell carcinoma, pheochromocytoma, and NF-PNETs [16].

Tuberous sclerosis complex is a very rare hereditary autosomal dominant syndrome that involves two genes located on 9q34 (TSC1) and 16p13.3 (TSC2) encoding for hamartin and tuberin, respectively. In the normal cell, hamartin and tuberin form a heterodimer complex that inhibits the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathway and thus cell growth and proliferation [103]. Patients with deficiency in these proteins develop widespread hamartomas in several organs, including the brain, heart, skin, eyes, kidney, lung, and liver, but also neurological disorders and NF-PNETs [18, 47]. Most features of tuberous sclerosis become evident in childhood at 3 years of age, limiting their usefulness for early diagnosis.

18.2 Molecular Biology of Sporadic NF-PNETs

The genetic background of sporadic PNETs is complex. Many studies support that PNETs have different deregulated cellular mechanisms when compared to other NETs or are related with different grades of disease and presence or absence of a syndrome [66, 80].

Functioning PNETs compared with normal pancreas and NF-PNETs showed several differences at gene expression level including decreased protein expression of TSC2 and PTEN and increased expression of somatostatin receptor type (SSTR) 2 [66]. PTEN was one of the first reported proteomic alteration observed in PNETs, and it was found to be mutated or abnormally localized in the cytoplasm instead of the nucleus [90]. Mutations in chromosome 11 involving menin are also observed in 8–26 % of NF-PNETs [72].

Except the well-studied genetic mutations, several newer studies support the role of epigenetics in the pathogenesis of neoplastic diseases. Epigenetics are potentially modifiable/reversible factors by environmental conditions or even heritable changes in gene expression caused by several other factors other than mutations of DNA sequence such as DNA methylation, histone alterations, and miRNAs. Some of these recently recognized changes have been observed in sporadic NF-PNETs and mainly include the inactivated pathway of menin that has recently been linked to H3 histone variation [43, 60]. Histone variants cause posttranslational modifications (histone code) and are one of the reasons of silencing genes that are not found mutated.

Another important pathway in the pathogenesis of the tumors is telomere preservation that is under the control of several enzymatic processes and is gradually decreasing in size in normal cells and is responsible for the cellular senescence. This pathway is commonly found deranged in tumor cells. Telomere maintenance is indispensable for cellular immortalization, and tumors achieve that either by activation of telomerase or by activation of the alternative lengthening of telomeres (ALT). In a recent study of 149 genes, 16 tumors were found mutated in PNETs, a much lower incidence than in adenocarcinomas. Three main groups were identified: (a) MEN1 in 44 %, (b) death domain-associated protein (DAXX)/alpha thalassemia/mental retardation syndrome X-linked (ATRX) in 45 %, and (c) TSC2, PTEN, and PIK3CA genes involved in the mTOR pathway in 14 %. The DAXX and ATRX are both required for histone 3.3 incorporation in telomeres. When ATRX and DAXX are mutated, the ALT pathway becomes activated [47]. In 19/19 patients with mutated ATRX or DAXX, ALT was positive as determined by fluorescence in situ hybridization. Six out of twenty ALT-positive patients without ATRX or DAXX mutations had lost nuclear expression of ATRX or DAXX nuclear protein by IHC, indicating an error in another point of the telomere pathway. Nevertheless, ALT- and MEN1positive patients had a superior survival, and mutations of the mTOR pathway may be used as predictive factors of response to treatment with everolimus [47].

A different study in poorly differentiated PNETs showed overexpression of PTEN, mothers against DPP homologues (SMAD)4, and B-cell CLL-lymphoma (Bcl)-2 [113].

18.3 Classification and Staging

The World Health Organization (WHO) 2010 classification distinguishes PNETs on the basis of the Ki-67 proliferation index [9] in grade (G) 1 (<3 % Ki-67), G2 (3–20 % Ki-67), and G3 (>20 % Ki-67). The first two categories are called *tumors* and the third one *carcinomas*.

Staging involves a site-specific tumor-node-metastasis (TNM) classification according to the recommendations of the Union for International Cancer Control (UICC) and the American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) (Table 18.1). The WHO classification and staging aims to standardize pathology reporting and staging procedures and ultimately to enable meaningful patient stratification into prognostic and treatment groups. However, a recent

 Table 18.1
 TNM staging definitions in the European Neuroendocrine Tumor Society (ENETS) and the Union for International Cancer Control/American Joint Committee on Cancer/World Health Organization (UICC/AJCC/WHO) 2010 TNM staging systems

| ENETS TNM | UICC/AJCC/WHO 2010 TNM |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| T classification | |
| Limited to the pancreas, <2 cm | Limited to the pancreas, $\leq 2 \text{ cm}$ in greatest dimension |
| Limited to the pancreas, 2–4 cm | Limited to the pancreas, >2 cm in greatest dimension |
| Limited to the pancreas, >4 cm or invading duodenum or bile duct | Beyond the pancreas but without involvement of the superior mesenteric artery |
| Tumor invading adjacent organs (stomach, spleen, colon, adrenal gland) or the wall of large vessels (celiac axis or the superior mesenteric artery) | Involvement of celiac axis or the superior mesenteric artery (unresectable tumor) |
| N classification | |
| No regional lymph node metastasis | No regional lymph node metastasis |
| Regional lymph node metastasis | Regional lymph node metastasis |
| M classification | |
| No distant metastasis | No distant metastasis |
| Distant metastasis | Distant metastasis |
| Stage classification | |
| I: T1, N0, M0 | IA: T1, N0, M0 |
| | IB: T2, N0, M0 |
| IIa: T2, N0, M0 | IIA: T3, N0, M0 |
| IIb: T3, N0, M0 | IIB: T1–T3, N1, M0 |
| IIIa: T4, N0, M0 | III: T4, N0–N1, M0 |
| IIIb: T1–T4, N1, M0 | |
| IV: T1–T4, N0–N1, M1 | IV: T1–T4, N0–N1, M1 |

Data from Rindi et al. [92, 93], Bosman et al. [9], Edge et al. [25] Abbreviations: *NA* not applicable large retrospective analysis of 1,072 patients with a resected PNET concluded that ENETS TNM is superior in performance to the UICC/AJCC/WHO 2010 TNM and is more accurate [92].

18.4 Prognostic and Predictive Factors

Over the past few years, a few studies have identified certain clinical parameters that may contribute to the formation of an accurate prognostic assessment, which is of paramount importance for therapeutic decision-making. The most prognostically important pathological factors are the presence of angioinvasion as well as the proliferation index [59, 89]. With respect to the latter, the Ki-67 labeling index emerges as an independent predictor of survival using a cutoff value of 5 % in both functioning and NF-PNETs [96]. Together with G3 histology and the proliferative index Ki-67, with an increasing risk of progression of 2 % for each increasing Ki-67 unit, are the major factors to predict tumor progression [86]. One Italian study evaluating prognostic factors in NF-PNETs including 180 patients supports that the evaluation of nodal metastasis and weight loss should be included along with liver metastasis, Ki-67 index, and grade of differentiation [7]. One of the largest studies in the literature evaluating 2,158 NF-PNETs showed that systemic metastases, local/vascular/ lymphatic invasion, and grade are more powerful indicators of outcome with tumor grade influencing survival more than distant metastases [38].

It is well established that radical surgery is the only chance for cure in NF-PNETs, with a 5-year survival rate of 93 % [7]. Nevertheless, the surgical choice is the direct result of the disease stage at diagnosis, a well-established prognostic factor in all tumors.

With respect to predictive factors and response to chemotherapy, this was found to be related to Ki-67 LI >10 %, the performance status, and age <60 years [108]. Additionally, a recent study showed that apart from a high Ki-67 LI >5 %, the lymph node ratio in resected PNETs is a powerful predictor of recurrence and supports its investigation in relation to adjuvant treatment in the context of clinical trials [8].

18.5 Therapies

18.5.1 Surgical Therapy

Surgical resection remains the cornerstone therapy and the only approach that may cure patients with G1 and G2 PNETs. With respect to G3 tumors, surgery is rarely curative but offers a significant long-term palliation [34].

Over the last decade, novel and less invasive pancreatic surgical approaches have been developed and depending on clinical scenarios are applied in patients with PNETs [41]. These involve mainly partial pancreatectomies or tumor enucleation that may also be performed laparoscopically [34]. Generally, typical and atypical pancreatic resections are intended for different sites and sizes of PNETs, and the decision should be ideally based on previous histological confirmation by endoscopic ultrasound. Tumor enucleation has been proposed in well-demarcated, less than 2 cm, and benign or uncertain-behavior lesions [32]. Centrally located lesions of the pancreatic head require pancreaticoduodenectomy, while lesions of the body and tail may be handled with a left pancreatectomy with or without spleen preservation. Middle pancreatectomy is usually performed for small tumors of the pancreatic body, while enucleation is considered when the main pancreatic duct can be preserved.

The role of surgical resection of the primary PNET in the presence of inoperable metastases is controversial. In 2,158 NF-PNET patients from the SEER database, it was shown that removal of the primary tumor significantly prolonged survival in the entire cohort (median 1.2 vs. 8.4 years; p < 0.001) even among those with metastatic disease (median 1.0 vs. 4.8 years; p < 0.001) [38]. On the other hand, a systematic review of small studies specifically investigating the role of surgery in this scenario was inconclusive supporting the need of a prospective randomized trial [11]. Furthermore, no survival difference was seen between enucleation and more aggressive resection of the primary tumor (median 10.2 vs. 9.2 years, p = 0.456) [38].

Commonly, typical pancreatectomies are associated with a high rate of perioperative complications as well as exocrine and endocrine insufficiency [98]. Atypical resections, on the other hand, are associated with a decreased long-term endocrine/ exocrine impairment but with a high incidence of pancreatic fistulas, a disturbing but ultimately a manageable complication [2, 31].

Whichever the type of resection, for a more than 2 cm suspicious lesion, it is imperative to perform a wide excision with clear margins and to remove draining lymph nodes for proper TNM assessment particularly in cases with G2 and G3 PNETs. Controversial is the management of tumors 1–2 cm and those found incidentally as several studies have shown that these may be malignant and have lymph nodal metastases [35, 42, 88]. It is recommended depending on each case either to closely monitor or to remove with draining lymph nodes.

18.5.1.1 Surgical Therapy of Patients with NF-PNETs in the Context of MEN1

MEN1 syndrome represents a difficult challenge for surgeons mainly because it is associated with heterochronous and multifocal NF-PNETs. Prophylactic pancreatectomies could remove all premalignant lesions prior to malignant conversion but are not an accepted approach. Therefore, the careful monitoring of these patients for the early diagnosis and surgical excision of any arising tumors with malignant potential is of utmost importance [55]. Based on previous evidence, the European Neuroendocrine Tumor Society (ENETS) recommends operating MEN1-related NF-PNETs with a diameter of more than 2 cm, with a yearly size increment in diameter of more than 0.5 cm, or with metastases [30, 105]. The management of NF-PNETs of less than 2 cm is debated as they may also have an aggressive biology, but they usually are microadenomas and have a more indolent behavior, and their management is close monitoring. Overall, the refinement and personalization of surgical procedures in NF-PNETs have resulted in improved long-term survival in patients with locally advanced and metastatic disease, as well as shorter hospital stays and comparable long-term outcomes in patients with limited disease treated minimally invasively. There are still controversies related to issues of surgical treatment of PNETs, such as to what extent enucleation, lymph node sampling and vascular reconstruction are beneficial for the oncologic outcome particularly in MEN1 patients and in tumors 1–2 cm in diameter. It is expected that the recently developed endoscopic ultrasound-guided biopsies will shed light to all these gray zones.

18.5.2 Medical Therapies

Recent advances in therapeutics have introduced novel exciting agents in the treatment of PNETs that are expected to improve the survival of patients. Some interesting combinations including triplets of chemotherapy, radiopeptides, or targeted agents have recently been exploited in this rapidly evolving field (Table 18.2).

| | | | | | PFS ^a /TTP ^b | | |
|-------------------|-------|-------|-------|------|------------------------------------|---------------|---------------------------|
| Drugs | N pts | Ki-67 | SSTR+ | PR % | months | Study type | Author |
| STZ/ ADM/5-FU | 84 | NR | NR | 34 | 9ª | Retrospective | Kouvaraki et al. [54] |
| TMZ | 36 | NR | NR | 14 | 7 ^b | Retrospective | Ekeblad et al. [26] |
| STZ/ CDDP/5-FU | 49 | 25 | 39 | 38 | 9 ^b | Retrospective | Turner et al. [106] |
| TMZ/Xeloda | 30 | NR | NR | 70 | 18ª | Retrospective | Strosberg et al. [101] |
| TMZ/BEV | 15 | <20 % | NR | 33 | 14.3ª | Phase II | Chan et al. [15] |
| PRRT (Lu) | 91 | NR | 91 | 43 | 40ª | Retrospective | Kwekkeboom et al. [57] |
| PRRT (Lu) | 52 | NR | 52 | 29 | 29ª | Phase II | Sansovini et al. [95] |
| Sunitinib | 86 | 36 | NR | 7 | 11.4ª | Phase III | Raymond et al. [91] |
| Placebo | 85 | 36 | | 0 | 5.5ª | | |
| Everolimus | 207 | NR | NR | 5 | 11ª | Phase III | Yao et al. [117] |
| Placebo | 203 | | | | 4.6 ^a | | |

 Table 18.2
 List of mainstream clinical studies in pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors

STZ streptozotocin, *ADM* Adriamycin, *TMZ* temozolomide, *XELOX* Xeloda/oxaliplatin, *CDDP* cisplatin, *5-FU* 5-fluorouracil, *BEV* bevacizumab, *PRRT* peptide receptor radionuclide therapy, *Lu* lutetium, *SSTR* somatostatin receptors, *PR* partial response, *TTP* time to progression, *PFS* progression-free survival, *NR* not reported

^aProgressive free survival (PFS)

^bTime to disease progression (TPP)

18.5.2.1 Somatostatin Analogs

The clinical application of long-acting somatostatin analogs (SSAs) has changed dramatically the quality of life and prognosis of patients with NETs [79]. Their benefit was initially thought to be related to their antisecretory effect as they were shown to relieve patients from troubling clinical syndromes related to the peptide secretion. Altogether, SSAs have been shown to be well tolerated and safe in all available forms as patients may experience only mild and infrequent side effects such as abdominal pain, steatorrhea, and cholelithiasis [81]. This last effect is due to the inhibitory effects of octreotide on gallbladder contractility, and although it requires follow-up attention, is rarely of clinical significance.

From the advent of the first SSA, an improved survival has been shown in NET patients, and although a clear gain could be seen by the fact that patients' quality of life was improved together with their symptoms, it was not clear whether there was also an antiproliferative effect. Several groups have reported a possible antiproliferative action from SSA, by induction of apoptosis [1, 23, 44], although significant tumor shrinkage has been reported to occur in <5% of cases [79]. Initial in vitro studies suggested a number of direct and indirect mechanisms of such an effect. Direct mechanisms involve the activation of somatostatin receptors (SSRs) leading to modulation of intracellular signaling transduction such as the activation of MAP kinase pathway [118]. Indirect antiproliferative effects are exerted through activation of SSRs on endothelial cells and monocytes leading to blocking of tumor angiogenesis [20, 49]. A proof of direct antiproliferative effect came from the PROMID trial, a phase III study that randomized patients to receive octreotide longacting repeatable (LAR) or placebo [94]. This placebo-controlled, double-blind study involved patients with well-differentiated metastatic NETs originating in the distal intestine and proximal colon and showed a clear benefit in all patients receiving octreotide including those with NF tumors. Nevertheless, in this trial, disease stabilization was the main clinical response observed as hardly any tumor shrinkage was achieved and there were no patients with NF-PNETs included in this study. Furthermore, no clear prospective evidence supporting the antitumoral effect of SSAs in NF-PNETs exists. However, based on these encouraging results, octreotide LAR was recommended [84] and approved in several countries in progressing welldifferentiated, metastatic nonfunctioning NETs, including PNETs. Supporting are the results of a randomized phase III double-blind trial testing lanreotide versus placebo in NF well-differentiated enteropancreatic NETs (the CLARINET study; clinical trial link: http://clinicaltrials.gov/show/NCT00353496). In a previous study including 21 well-differentiated advanced NF-PNETs, treatment with octreotide LAR was associated with disease stabilization and good quality of life in 38 % of patients [10]. A Ki-67>or =5 % and/or weight loss was associated with more aggressive disease and would justify more aggressive therapy [10].

18.5.2.2 Interferon

Early studies had shown that interferon-alpha (IFN- α) has antiproliferative, through Jak1/Tyk2 kinase and STAT1/STAT2 activation, antisecretory, antiangiogenic, and antiapoptotic effects [22, 76, 109]. A possible positive immunomodulatory effect on

T-cell and natural killer activity was also suggested [39, 77], but it has not been confirmed since by later studies. Interferon- α may be used as monotherapy or in combination with SSAs, as antisecretory and antiproliferative treatment, with variable response rates (RRs). There has been biochemical response in 40–60 % of patients, symptomatic improvement in 40–70 % of patients, and significant tumor shrinkage in a median of 10–15 % of patients [37, 78, 82]. Side effects of IFN- α are significant and include flu-like syndrome, chronic fatigue, depression, weight loss, polyneuropathy, myositis, thrombocytopenia, anemia, leukopenia, and autoantibodies in 15 % of patients (autoimmune hepatitis/thyroiditis, psoriasis, systemic lupus erythematosus syndrome with antinuclear factors, and parietal cell antibodies with pernicious anemia) [78, 84].

One of the first reports to compare results from different studies on octreotide and on IFN-α monotherapy in NETs suggested that better biochemical responses and disease stabilization were obtained with octreotide and not with IFN- α [17]. An initial single-arm study suggested that for patients with metastasized endocrine gastroenteropancreatic tumors, the combination of octreotide and IFN- α is superior to either as monotherapy [75]. Another early study showed that the addition of IFN- α to octreotide has antiproliferative efficacy in a subgroup of patients with advanced metastatic disease unresponsive to octreotide monotherapy [37]. Similarly, in another study, patients having progressed on either octreotide or IFN- α benefited from the subsequent combination of both drugs [36]. There are very few studies comparing SSA monotherapy to IFN/SSA combinations, and the results are conflicting. There are no studies employing IFN monotherapy or in combination with SSA in NF-PNETs. A prospective randomized study showed a significantly reduced risk of tumor progression during follow-up in patients with midgut carcinoid tumors metastatic to the liver receiving octreotide and IFN-α as compared to single-agent octreotide [50]. A randomized phase III study comprised three arms to compare lanreotide, IFN and lanreotide plus IFN [28]. All arms had equivalent results with respect to symptom control. No arm showed statistically significant survival improvement, but there was a trend of better survival in the combination arm. In the same study, the most toxic arm was the combination one. Another recent randomized trial comparing octreotide to octreotide/IFN- α showed no survival advantage between the two arms [4]. It is hypothesized that the difference in the results lies on the heterogeneity of the disease and further larger trials are required. At present, we do not have enough statistical evidence for an upfront use of the combination of IFN- α and SSA in patients with NETs, but we have some clinical evidence coming from non-randomized studies and the sub-analysis of randomized trials that would justify the sequential use of the two drugs or the combination after progression to single-agent therapy [33].

Head to head comparisons of octreotide/IFN- α to other biological combinations have not been performed yet. A randomized phase III trial is currently recruiting patients in order to compare the efficacy of octreotide/IFN- α 2b and octreotide/bevacizumab in metastatic or locally advanced, high-risk NETs (clinical trial link: http:// clinicaltrials.gov/show/NCT00569127). This trial was based on a previous phase II study showing better PFS and objective responses of octreotide/bevacizumab compared to octreotide/PEG-IFN [116].

18.5.2.3 Targeted Therapies

The more thorough understanding of signaling pathways implicated in tumor cell proliferation and angiogenesis underlining the pathogenesis of NETs has prompted the application of small molecules targeting these pathways such as everolimus and sunitinib.

Everolimus

Based on preliminary observations, a phase II clinical trial conducted by J. Yao at the MD Anderson Cancer Center studied everolimus, an oral inhibitor of mTOR, and octreotide LAR in advanced low-grade neuroendocrine carcinomas [115]. A total of 60 evaluable patients were treated in two cohorts; patients received either everolimus at 5 or 10 mg/day. Out of the 60 treated patients, 30 had carcinoid and 30 islet cell tumors. Sixty-five percent of the patients were in progression at the time of study entry. Overall, 12 (20 %) patients were reported to have partial response (PR; 4 carcinoids and 8 islet cell tumors, respectively), 43 (72 %) had stable disease (SD; 25 in carcinoids and 18 in islet cell, respectively), and 5 (8 %) had progressive disease (PD; 1 in carcinoids and 4 in islet cell, respectively). Overall median progression-free survival (PFS) was 59 weeks (64 weeks in carcinoids and 50 in islet cell tumors, respectively). Median OS was not reached, with a 2-year survival rate of 78 %. The combination of everolimus and octreotide LAR 30 mg appears to have been well tolerated. The most common toxicity reported was mucositis. Grade 3/4 toxicities observed included anemia, thrombocytopenia, aphthous ulcer, diarrhea, edema, fatigue, hypoglycemia, nausea, pain, and rash.

Another phase II open-label, parallel group study was conducted in patients with advanced PNETs. Patients received either everolimus 10 mg daily as monotherapy (stratum 1; n=115) or everolimus 10 mg daily in combination with \leq 30 mg octreotide LAR q 28 days (stratum 2; n=45), based on prior octreotide LAR treatment [114]. In stratum 1, there were 11 patients with PRs (9.6 %), 78 patients with SD (67.8 %), and 16 patients with PD (13.9 %); median progression-free survival was 9.7 months. In stratum 2, there were two patients with PRs (4.4 %), 36 patients (80 %) with SD, and no patient with PD; median PFS was 16.7 months.

Following a recently completed phase III trial, the RADIANT-3 [117], that showed activity in a wide range of NETs, everolimus was granted approval by the FDA and EMEA authorities for patients with progressing advanced well-/moderately differentiated PNETs. The RADIANT-3 involved 410 patients with advanced well-/moderately differentiated, radiologically progressing PNETs receiving 10 mg everolimus daily continuously or placebo. The results of this study show prolongation of PFS from 4.6 months in the placebo arm to 11.4 months in the everolimus arm. Grade 1–2 toxicity including stomatitis or aphthous ulceration (64 %), diarrhea (34 %), fatigue (31 %), and infections (23 %) primarily of the upper respiratory tract was mainly observed [117]. Other adverse events include noninfectious pneumonitis and laboratory abnormalities such as anemia, neutropenia, thrombocytopenia, hypercholesterolemia, hypertriglyceridemia, and hyperglycemia [117]. A phase II study investigating the role of another mTOR inhibitor, temsirolimus, was negative for activity in advanced NETs, while the toxic effects were fatigue (78 %), hyperglycemia (69 %), and rash/desquamation (64 %) [24]. A recently published study investigating safety and tolerability of pasireotide LAR in combination with everolimus in patients with advanced NETs showed promising antitumor activity and is further being investigated [14].

Sunitinib

Sunitinib is an oral multi-tyrosine kinases inhibitor that has demonstrated both antiangiogenic and antiproliferative activity by blocking a range of signaling pathways and receptors such as VEGFR-1 to VEGFR-3, stem cell factor receptor, plateletderived growth factor receptor (PDGFR)-a and PDGFR-b, RET, colony-stimulating factor-1 receptor, and fetal liver tyrosine kinase receptor 3 (FLT-3) [29]. It was originally approved for the treatment of advanced renal cell carcinoma (RCC) and gastrointestinal stromal tumor (GIST) refractory to imatinib treatment. Sunitinib was recently granted authorization for the treatment of advanced well-differentiated progressing PNETs. The exact mechanism underlining the antiproliferative effect of sunitinib is unknown. However, in a NET mouse model, sunitinib has shown an antiangiogenic effect by inhibiting pericytes that support the endothelial cell function [85]. This is most probably achieved by the targeting of PDGFR- β , expressed on pericytes, that drives recruitment and maturation of vessels [6]. The efficacy of sunitinib has been demonstrated in two major clinical studies. The first was a phase II study involving 109 patients with advanced NETs where sunitinib was administered at 50 mg daily for four to six weeks [56]. Of 61 patients with PNETs, 16.7 % had an objective RR, and 68 % a prolonged period of SD. The median time to tumor progression was 7.7 months.

The second was a multinational, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase III trial comparing sunitinib and best supportive care with placebo and best supportive care. This study recruited patients with advanced well-differentiated PNETs, and sunitinib was delivered at 37.5 mg continuous daily dose [91]. The study was discontinued early as the monitoring committee observed more deaths in the placebo group and a statistically significant difference in progression-free survival (PFS) favoring sunitinib by 6 months [91]. The most frequent adverse events in the sunitinib group were diarrhea (59 %), nausea (44.6 %), vomiting (33.7 %), asthenia (33.7 %), and fatigue (32.5 %). As it results from previous studies, the proactive assessment of other sunitinib-related side effects, such as anorexia, oral changes, hand-foot syndrome and other skin toxicities, thyroid dysfunction, myelotoxicity, hypertension, cardiotoxicity, and thromboembolic events, is critical to ensure optimal treatment benefit by allowing appropriate drug dosing and prolonged treatment periods [51, 107]. Additionally, the objective RR observed in the phase III study was low as it regarded only 9.3 % in the sunitinib group. It is important to identify those patients who may benefit by sunitinib therapy. To this end, a study entitled "Predictive Biomarkers of Response to Sunitinib in the Treatment of Poorly Differentiated NEURO-Endocrine Tumors (NET)" is currently underway in France (clinical trial link: http://clinicaltrials.gov/show/NCT01215578).

18.5.2.4 Chemotherapy

Over the last three decades, the applied cytotoxic agents for NETs included DNAdamaging agents such as the antimetabolite 5-fluorouracil (5-FU); the alkylating agents streptozotocin (STZ), dacarbazine (DTIC), and temozolomide (TMZ); the topoisomerase inhibitors doxorubicin (Dox) and etoposide; and the DNA crosslinker platinum derivatives, such as cisplatin (CDDP), carboplatin (CBDCA), and oxaliplatin. Single-agent chemotherapy has not shown any real benefit [69], and the newer chemotherapy regimens based on the combination of these active drugs show low RRs, which set the need to improve the results of the medical treatment of these malignancies [108].

Chemotherapy has heterogeneous results in NET patients mainly due to the large variability of biological features among the disease subgroups. For example, chemotherapy in functioning advanced NETs has limited efficacy with a RR of 15 % [102], whereas PNETs have a RR of 30–40 % although with significant toxicity [26, 67]. One of the earliest observations regarding these tumors was that differentiation grade represents one of the most important predictive markers of tumor response to chemotherapy. Patients with metastatic disease of well- and moderately differentiated NF-PNETs are expected to respond better to STZ-based and targeted therapy, whereas those of high-grade NF-PNETs with Ki-67 LI above 20 % are likely to benefit from platinum-based treatment. More specifically, an early report from the Mayo Clinic suggested that anaplastic NETs independently of the primary site location are responsive to combination chemotherapy including etoposide and cisplatin [70]. Conversely, well-differentiated tumors were unresponsive to this regimen [70]. Overall, the population with anaplastic disease had an overall RR of 67 %, a median time to progression (TTP) of 8 months and a median survival of 19 months. Although toxicity of this regimen was severe with vomiting, leukopenia, thrombocytopenia, anemia, alopecia, and neuropathy, the efficacy of this regimen remains unsurpassed by any other treatment until today as there is no unequivocal evidence of survival improvement. Similarly to the grade of differentiation, recent evidence suggests that a careful evaluation of the mitotic index and the Ki-67 assessment can provide further information on the overall prognosis and the degree of response to systemic cytotoxic treatment. For instance, highly proliferative (Ki-67 >30 %) tumors with aggressive behavior such as the PNETs are more sensitive to cytotoxic therapy with cisplatin/etoposide [5]. On the other hand, tumors originating from the small intestine have most commonly a low mitotic index and demonstrate poor response to cytotoxic chemotherapy [5].

One of the first tested combinations was STZ/5-FU in the 1970s and remained a standard treatment until now [68]. There have been very few phase III trials in NETs with conflicting results mainly due to the heterogeneity of the population taken in consideration. The first comparing 5-FU/STZ to Dox showed no statistically significant difference between the two arms [27], and the second comparing 5-FU/Dox to 5-FU/STZ showed the latter being statistically significant better [102]. For PNETs, there have been two phase III trials, one comparing STZ to STZ/5-FU that found no difference between the two arms [69] and a second one comparing chlorozotocin, STZ/5-FU, and STZ/Dox showing a statistically significant benefit in the last arm

[71]. During the past decade, there have been few chemotherapy studies in advanced well- and moderately differentiated NETs with encouraging results: (a) with STZ and Dox [21]; (b) with STZ, 5-FU, and Dox [54]; (c) with 5-FU, epirubicin, and dacarbazine [110]; and (d) with STZ, 5-FU, and cisplatin [106]. For the poorly differentiated NETs, the most effective combination chemotherapy remains cisplatin with etoposide [45]. Interestingly, it has been recently reported that gastroenteropancreatic carcinomas with Ki-67 <55 % had a lower RR to platinum-based chemotherapy while having a better prognosis compared with those having Ki-67 >55 % [100]. As a result, it is expected that patients with Ki-67 <55 % may respond to different chemotherapy schedules such as temozolomide, but this needs to be further investigated in the context of a clinical trial [53].

The very high response rates reported in the first studies with STZ-based chemotherapy were criticized since they derived in part from the historical use of nonstandard response criteria. Furthermore, STZ-related toxicity and not manageable schedule limited its use and prompted to newer and better manageable agents like TMZ.

An interesting novel combination chemotherapy is an oral regimen with capecitabine and TMZ that has been shown to exert high activity and low toxicity both in well-differentiated [101] and poorly differentiated neuroendocrine tumors [112]. However, a larger study comparing this regimen with STZ-based therapy or TMZ monotherapy is missing.

Based on the findings of a study assessing retrospectively the triplet capecitabine, STZ, and CDDP, the National Cancer Research Network approved NET01, a randomized phase II study comparing two chemotherapy regimens, capecitabine/STZ and capecitabine/STZ/cisplatin, in unresectable metastatic NETs of the foregut and pancreas and NETs of unknown primary site [106].

Another interesting approach with promising efficacy is the combination of targeted agents with chemotherapy. One such doublet is TMZ and the antiangiogenic agent bevacizumab that has been explored in two different TMZ schedules, a standard [15] and a low continuous dose [52]. A second doublet is TMZ with everolimus that has been tested in 40 patients with PNETs and is shown to achieve a PR in 40 % and a PFS of 15.4 months [13]. However, further studies evaluating the efficacy of these combination therapies compared to TMZ alone are warranted.

18.5.3 Peptide Receptor Radionuclide Therapy

Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy (PRRT) is a targeted radiation therapy involving an intravenously administered radiolabeled somatostatin analog designed to bind on type 2 SSTR overexpressed on PNET cells and deliver a direct and a bystander lethal effect.

Accumulating clinical experience indicates that this therapy achieves significant clinical responses with survival benefit and improved quality of life with a usually manageable toxicity in patients with G1–G2 NETs overexpressing SSTRs [58]. A committee of international experts under the auspices of the International Atomic

Energy Agency, in cooperation with the European Association of Nuclear Medicine and the American Society of Nuclear Medicine and Molecular Imaging, recently published the PRRT eligibility requirements such as disease inoperability and high SSTR expression determined by functional studies such as ¹¹¹In-pentetreotide (OctreoScan) or SPECT/PET with ⁶⁸Ga-labeled SSA [119].

The most commonly applied radiolabeled somatostatin analogs are the $[^{90}$ Y-DOTA⁰, Tyr³] octreotide (90 Y-DOTATOC) and the $[^{177}$ Lu-DOTA⁰, Tyr³] octreotate (177 Lu-DOTATATE), both emitting beta radiation with tissue penetration of 12 and 2 mm, respectively. Randomized studies of PRRT in NF-PNETs are lacking, but comparisons among different single-arm studies have shown that the median response duration for Yttrium- and Lutetium-labeled compounds is 30 and 40 months that compare favorably with other treatments for advanced disease [58].

In one of the largest retrospective PRRT studies including 504 patients of whom 310 GEP NET were treated with ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATE, median overall survival from treatment initiation was 46 months [57]. In the same cohort, 72 were NF-PNETs, of whom 4 achieved complete response (6 %), 26 PR (36 %), 13 minor response (18 %), and 19 SD (26 %). Of the four patients who originally had inoperable locally advanced disease and achieved complete response, three were successfully operated 6–12 months following treatment completion, suggesting a possible role of PRRT also in the neoadjuvant setting [57].

In a more recent study evaluating ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATE in 52 G1–G2 PNET patients of whom 46 were NF-PNETs, a statistically significant prolongation of survival was observed in patients receiving a total dose of 27.8 GBq as compared to those receiving 18.5 GBq due to kidney or bone marrow low reserve [95]. In the same study, the disease control rate was reported to be 81 % including a CR of 12 %, a PR of 27 %, and a SD of 46 % [95]. The same group published another study suggesting that FDG PET evaluation prior to PRRT is useful for predicting response to ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATE in patients with G1–G2 advanced PNETs [97].

18.5.4 Cytoreductive Therapies

Cytoreductive treatments include surgery, radiofrequency ablation, laser-induced thermotherapy or selective hepatic transcatheter arterial embolization, chemoembolization, and selective internal radiotherapy or sferes. There are no prospective comparative studies investigating the efficacy of the cytoreductive approaches, but several retrospective studies have validated their individual role in G1 and G2 NETs. The choice of any of these options depends on patient and tumor characteristics such as performance status (PS), comorbidities, number and size of metastases, as well as the availability of the specific approach. According to the most recent ESMO guidelines, general rules support the use of debulking surgery if >70 % of tumor volume can be excised as it can improve symptoms and be combined with systemic therapy but is mostly reserved for good PS patients with resectable liver metastases with or without locally advanced disease [83]. Radiofrequency ablation is reserved for a small number (and small size) of metastatic nodules, whereas arterial (chemo-) embolization and sferes are reserved for patients with widespread metastatic disease in the liver. Herein is described the experience gained in NF-PNETs.

18.5.4.1 Surgery

There are no prospective trials investigating the role of surgical resection in patients with advanced or metastatic NF-PNETs, and information mainly comes from retrospective analysis of patients treated individually and not according to a specific protocol. One of the first studies from MD Anderson in 163 NF-PNETs indicated that patients with advanced disease who underwent a potentially curative resection had an improved survival [99]. A large retrospective SEER study including 2,158 NF-PNET patients indicated that those treated with resection of either the primary tumor or distant metastatic site had increased survival compared to those who were not operated [38]. A more recent retrospective study from the Mayo Clinic including 72 NF-PNETs patients with liver metastases indicated that surgical debulking of more than 90 % of tumor load leads to a similar patient prognosis when compared to completely resected patients [19]. In the same study, patients achieved a median overall survival of 55.2 months and a 5-year overall survival of 59.9 % that compare very favorably with historical survival data of patients with untreated liver metastasis (median survival 27 months; 5-year survival 29 %) [19].

18.5.4.2 Embolization and Chemoembolization

Hepatic arterial embolization (HAE) and chemoembolization (HACE) are two alternative therapeutic options for liver metastases of G1 and G2 tumors, not amenable to surgical resection, that have shown efficacy but have never been compared in NF-PNETs. HAE and HACE are delivered through percutaneous incanulation of the femoral artery, and when into the relevant hepatic vascular territory, an agent such as polyvinyl alcohol in HAE or a chemotherapeutic agent with lipiodol in HACE are injected in the engaged vessel to provoke stasis and ischemia in the downstream tissues. Regarding these procedures, several questions remain unanswered such as whether combining chemotherapy and which drug (5-FU, Dox, and mitomycin C) adds to the overall benefit of embolization and which are the appropriate dosage intervals and the timing of the procedure evaluation [30]. Both procedures are safe but are contraindicated in patients with portal vein thrombosis, borderline liver function, and previous Whipple procedure [83]. The most common side effect is the so-called postembolization syndrome that includes abdominal pain, fever, nausea, vomiting, and elevated liver enzymes that usually respond to symptomatic treatment and lasts for 3 days [61]. More severe side effects such as pancreatitis, liver and renal failure, sepsis, and myocardial infarction may be responsible for increased 30-day mortality rate and support the application of these methods only in high-volume centers [61].

A recent small prospective study compared 12 midgut NET patients receiving HACE to 14 patients receiving HAC and found equal tumor control in 95 % of cases and similar 2-year PFS [64].

From the published literature, it is noted that both procedures result in 50-90 % tumor marker responses and 30-50 % in imaging response; this smaller response in

imaging is due to the difficulty in assessing necrosis caused by embolization by RECIST [83].

18.5.4.3 Radiofrequency Ablation and Radioembolization

Radiofrequency ablation (RFA) is a procedure that can be applied during standard surgery, laparoscopically or percutaneously through an image-guided procedure, with probes that deliver a lethal hit by extreme heat directly in the lesion of interest. There are no prospective studies assessing RFA in a patient population diagnosed selectively with NF-PNETs.

In one of the largest prospective trials including 54 patients with liver metastases of NET, RFA performed laparoscopically with ultrasound guidance reported a median overall survival of 11.0 years, a median post-diagnosis of hepatic metastases survival time of 5.5 years, and a median of 3.9 years postfirst RFA [65].

Radioembolization employs either biodegradable resin-based (SIR-Spheres; SIRteX Medical Limited, New South Wales, Australia) or nonbiodegradable glass-based (TheraSphere; MDS Nordion, Ottawa, ON, Canada) microspheres labeled with Yttrium-90 (Y-90). Most studies in NETs evaluate resin microsphere radioembolization, and there have been none analyzing only NF-PNETs. One of the largest studies with 184 patients treated with ⁹⁰Y resin microspheres in 10 centers reported a very low toxicity profile, mainly fatigue (6.5 %), a high disease response (CR in 2.7 %, PR in 60.5 %, SD in 22.7 %), and a median survival of 70 months [48].

Radioembolization with Y-labeled spheres is still considered investigational although several small studies in NET patients with liver metastases show high RRs [83]. Nevertheless, a randomized trial comparing HAE and ⁹⁰Yttrium-labeled microspheres is urgently needed.

18.6 Follow-Up

The role of surveillance after resection for PNETs is to evaluate the results of treatment and to identify early relapse for curative treatment. According to the recent ENETS guidelines [30], a follow-up program could be omitted in patients with localized G1 NF-PNET treated by radical pancreatectomy. For surgically removed G2 NF-PNETs, there are no studies evaluating the frequency of surveillance, but the recommendation is to follow up for disease recurrence [30, 83].

In R1 resected G1 and G2 NF-PNETs, it is recommended that follow-up is performed every 3–6 months [83].

Patients with G3 NF-PNETs are at high risk for early relapse even if they had a R0 surgery, and for advanced G1, G2, and G3 NF-PNETs, frequent follow-up every 2–3 months is required [30, 83].

Depending on each patient, the follow-up program includes clinical examination and routine investigations with full blood count, biochemistry, biomarkers (CgA or NSE), and imaging (ultrasound, CT, or MRI) [1, 3, 73]. If chromogranin A is not
elevated, NSE may be found abnormal and used as an alternative biomarker [83]. Other imaging procedures including endoscopy, endoscopic ultrasound, octreotide scintigraphy, and PET imaging with different tracer-bound compounds such as 68Ga-DOTATOC/-NOC/-TATE or ¹⁸FDG [3, 83] are recommended every 18–24 months [83].

In the case of a patient with rapid tumor progression, it may become necessary to perform new CT- or ultrasound-guided biopsies of the metastases in order to evaluate whether the proliferative activity has changed [83].

18.7 Clinical Trials

Eagerly awaited are the results of the following clinical trials that are in progress or recently concluded:

- 1. A recently concluded phase II study by the H. Lee Moffitt Cancer Center and Research Institute, USA (NCT00609765): Avastin, fluorouracil, doxorubicin, and streptozocin in locally advanced and metastatic pancreatic endocrine tumors
- A phase III multinational study sponsored by Ipsen (NCT00353496): Study of lanreotide autogel in nonfunctioning enteropancreatic endocrine tumors (CLARINET)
- A phase III multinational study by Ipsen (NCT00842348): Study of lanreotide autogel 120 mg in patients with nonfunctioning enteropancreatic endocrine tumor (NET729)
- A phase II study by Novartis (NCT01658436): BEZ235 phase II trial in patients with advanced pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors (pNET) after failure of mTOR inhibitor therapy
- A phase II multinational study by Novartis (NCT01628913): Efficacy and safety of BEZ235 compared to everolimus in patients with advanced pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors (MACS 1938)
- 6. A phase II study from the University of Peking, China (NCT01480986; IPO-NEC Trial): Study on the efficacy and safety using sequential IP (irinotecan and cisplatin) therapy and octreotide LAR in the treatment of advanced GI NEC
- A biomarker study from Assistance Publique Hôpitaux de Paris, France (NCT01215578): Predictive biomarkers of response to sunitinib in the treatment of poorly differentiated neuroendocrine tumors (NET)
- A CALGB phase II study (NCT01229943): Everolimus and octreotide with or without bevacizumab in treating patients with locally advanced or metastatic pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors that cannot be removed by surgery
- A phase II study from Hellenic Cooperative Oncology Group (HeCOG), Greece (NCT01648465): Study of everolimus treatment in newly diagnosed patients with advanced gastrointestinal neuroendocrine tumors
- 68-Ga-labeled octreotide analogs PET in duodenal-pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors

- 11. A phase II study from Stanford University (NCT01525082): Capecitabine, temozolomide, and bevacizumab for metastatic or unresectable pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors
- 12. A phase I/II study from Northwestern University, USA (NCT01465659): Temozolomide and pazopanib hydrochloride in treating patients with advanced pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors that cannot be removed by surgery

Conclusions

Pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors are relatively rare and heterogeneous malignancies, with an increasing incidence. After around three decades from the approval of STZ, two biological agents, everolimus and sunitinib, showed a clinical and statistical benefit in terms of PFS, and they have been approved for patients with progressing advanced well-/moderately differentiated PNETs. However, the prognosis of poorly differentiated PNETs remains dismal even when treated with chemotherapy. A vital challenge remains the recognition of key molecular pathways for the development of targeted therapies that could improve the prognosis of these patients

References

- Aparicio T, Ducreux M, Baudin E, Sabourin JC, De Baere T, Mitry E et al (2001) Antitumour activity of somatostatin analogues in progressive metastatic neuroendocrine tumours. Eur J Cancer 37:1014–1019
- Aranha GV, Shoup M (2005) Nonstandard pancreatic resections for unusual lesions. Am J Surg 189:223–228
- Arnold R, Chen YJ, Costa F, Falconi M, Gross D, Grossman AB et al (2009) ENETS Consensus Guidelines for the standards of care in neuroendocrine tumors: follow-up and documentation. Neuroendocrinology 90:227–233
- 4. Arnold R, Rinke A, Klose KJ, Muller HH, Wied M, Zamzow K et al (2005) Octreotide versus octreotide plus interferon-alpha in endocrine gastroenteropancreatic tumors: a randomized trial. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 3:761–771
- Auernhammer CJ, Goke B (2011) Therapeutic strategies for advanced neuroendocrine carcinomas of jejunum/ileum and pancreatic origin. Gut 60:1009–1021
- Bergers G, Song S, Meyer-Morse N, Bergsland E, Hanahan D (2003) Benefits of targeting both pericytes and endothelial cells in the tumor vasculature with kinase inhibitors. J Clin Invest 111:1287–1295
- Bettini R, Boninsegna L, Mantovani W, Capelli P, Bassi C, Pederzoli P et al (2008) Prognostic factors at diagnosis and value of WHO classification in a mono-institutional series of 180 non-functioning pancreatic endocrine tumours. Ann Oncol 19:903–908
- Boninsegna L, Panzuto F, Partelli S, Capelli P, Delle Fave G, Bettini R et al (2012) Malignant pancreatic neuroendocrine tumour: lymph node ratio and Ki67 are predictors of recurrence after curative resections. Eur J Cancer 48:1608–1615
- 9. Bosman F, Carneiro F, Hruban R, Theise N (2010) WHO classification of tumours of the digestive system, 4th edn. International Agency for Research on Cancer Press, Lyon
- Butturini G, Bettini R, Missiaglia E, Mantovani W, Dalai I, Capelli P et al (2006) Predictive factors of efficacy of the somatostatin analogue octreotide as first line therapy for advanced pancreatic endocrine carcinoma. Endocr Relat Cancer 13:1213–1221

- 11. Capurso G, Bettini R, Rinzivillo M, Boninsegna L, Delle Fave G, Falconi M (2011) Role of resection of the primary pancreatic neuroendocrine tumour only in patients with unresectable metastatic liver disease: a systematic review. Neuroendocrinology 93:223–229
- Capurso G, Festa S, Valente R, Piciucchi M, Panzuto F, Jensen RT et al (2012) Molecular pathology and genetics of pancreatic endocrine tumours. J Mol Endocrinol 49:R37–R50
- Chan JA, Blaszkowsky L, Stuart K, Zhu AX, Allen J, Wadlow R et al (2013) A prospective, phase 1/2 study of everolimus and temozolomide in patients with advanced pancreatic neuroendocrine tumor. Cancer 119:3212–3218
- Chan JA, Ryan DP, Zhu AX, Abrams TA, Wolpin BM, Malinowski P et al (2012) Phase I study of pasireotide (SOM 230) and everolimus (RAD001) in advanced neuroendocrine tumors. Endocr Relat Cancer 19:615–623
- Chan JA, Stuart K, Earle CC, Clark JW, Bhargava P, Miksad R et al (2012) Prospective study of bevacizumab plus temozolomide in patients with advanced neuroendocrine tumors. J Clin Oncol 30:2963–2968
- Corcos O, Couvelard A, Giraud S, Vullierme MP, Dermot OT, Rebours V et al (2008) Endocrine pancreatic tumors in von Hippel-Lindau disease: clinical, histological, and genetic features. Pancreas 37:85–93
- Creutzfeldt W, Bartsch HH, Jacubaschke U, Stockmann F (1991) Treatment of gastrointestinal endocrine tumours with interferon-alpha and octreotide. Acta Oncol 30:529–535
- 18. Curatolo P, Bombardieri R, Jozwiak S (2008) Tuberous sclerosis. Lancet 372:657-668
- Cusati D, Zhang L, Harmsen WS, Hu A, Farnell MB, Nagorney DM et al (2012) Metastatic nonfunctioning pancreatic neuroendocrine carcinoma to liver: surgical treatment and outcomes. J Am Coll Surg 215:117–124; discussion 24–25
- Danesi R, Agen C, Benelli U, Paolo AD, Nardini D, Bocci G et al (1997) Inhibition of experimental angiogenesis by the somatostatin analogue octreotide acetate (SMS 201–995). Clin Cancer Res 3:265–272
- Delaunoit T, Ducreux M, Boige V, Dromain C, Sabourin JC, Duvillard P et al (2004) The doxorubicin-streptozotocin combination for the treatment of advanced well-differentiated pancreatic endocrine carcinoma; a judicious option? Eur J Cancer 40:515–520
- Detjen KM, Welzel M, Farwig K, Brembeck FH, Kaiser A, Riecken EO et al (2000) Molecular mechanism of interferon alfa-mediated growth inhibition in human neuroendocrine tumor cells. Gastroenterology 118:735–748
- Ducreux M, Ruszniewski P, Chayvialle JA, Blumberg J, Cloarec D, Michel H et al (2000) The antitumoral effect of the long-acting somatostatin analog lanreotide in neuroendocrine tumors. Am J Gastroenterol 95:3276–3281
- 24. Duran I, Kortmansky J, Singh D, Hirte H, Kocha W, Goss G et al (2006) A phase II clinical and pharmacodynamic study of temsirolimus in advanced neuroendocrine carcinomas. Br J Cancer 95:1148–1154
- Edge S, Byrd D, Compton C et al (2010) Neuroendocrine tumors. In: AJCC cancer staging manual, 7th edn. Springer, New York, pp 181–189
- Ekeblad S, Sundin A, Janson ET, Welin S, Granberg D, Kindmark H et al (2007) Temozolomide as monotherapy is effective in treatment of advanced malignant neuroendocrine tumors. Clin Cancer Res 13:2986–2991
- Engstrom PF, Lavin PT, Moertel CG, Folsch E, Douglass HO Jr (1984) Streptozocin plus fluorouracil versus doxorubicin therapy for metastatic carcinoid tumor. J Clin Oncol 2:1255–1259
- 28. Faiss S, Pape UF, Bohmig M, Dorffel Y, Mansmann U, Golder W et al (2003) Prospective, randomized, multicenter trial on the antiproliferative effect of lanreotide, interferon alfa, and their combination for therapy of metastatic neuroendocrine gastroenteropancreatic tumors – the International Lanreotide and Interferon Alfa Study Group. J Clin Oncol 21:2689–2696
- Faivre S, Delbaldo C, Vera K, Robert C, Lozahic S, Lassau N et al (2006) Safety, pharmacokinetic, and antitumor activity of SU11248, a novel oral multitarget tyrosine kinase inhibitor, in patients with cancer. J Clin Oncol 24:25–35
- 30. Falconi M, Bartsch DK, Eriksson B, Kloppel G, Lopes JM, O'Connor JM et al (2012) ENETS Consensus Guidelines for the management of patients with digestive neuroendocrine neo-

plasms of the digestive system: well-differentiated pancreatic non-functioning tumors. Neuroendocrinology 95:120–134

- Falconi M, Mantovani W, Crippa S, Mascetta G, Salvia R, Pederzoli P (2008) Pancreatic insufficiency after different resections for benign tumours. Br J Surg 95:85–91
- 32. Falconi M, Zerbi A, Crippa S, Balzano G, Boninsegna L, Capitanio V et al (2010) Parenchyma-preserving resections for small nonfunctioning pancreatic endocrine tumors. Ann Surg Oncol 17:1621–1627
- 33. Fazio N, de Braud F, Delle Fave G, Oberg K (2007) Interferon-alpha and somatostatin analog in patients with gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine carcinoma: single agent or combination? Ann Oncol 18:13–19
- 34. Fernandez-Cruz L, Blanco L, Cosa R, Rendon H (2008) Is laparoscopic resection adequate in patients with neuroendocrine pancreatic tumors? World J Surg 32:904–917
- 35. Ferrone CR, Tang LH, Tomlinson J, Gonen M, Hochwald SN, Brennan MF et al (2007) Determining prognosis in patients with pancreatic endocrine neoplasms: can the WHO classification system be simplified? J Clin Oncol 25:5609–5615
- 36. Fjallskog ML, Sundin A, Westlin JE, Oberg K, Janson ET, Eriksson B (2002) Treatment of malignant endocrine pancreatic tumors with a combination of alpha-interferon and somatostatin analogs. Med Oncol 19:35–42
- 37. Frank M, Klose KJ, Wied M, Ishaque N, Schade-Brittinger C, Arnold R (1999) Combination therapy with octreotide and alpha-interferon: effect on tumor growth in metastatic endocrine gastroenteropancreatic tumors. Am J Gastroenterol 94:1381–1387
- 38. Franko J, Feng W, Yip L, Genovese E, Moser AJ (2010) Non-functional neuroendocrine carcinoma of the pancreas: incidence, tumor biology, and outcomes in 2,158 patients. J Gastrointest Surg 14:541–548
- Funa K, Alm GV, Ronnblom L, Oberg K (1983) Evaluation of the natural killer cell-interferon system in patients with mid-gut carcinoid tumours treated with leucocyte interferon. Clin Exp Immunol 53:716–724
- 40. Gurung B, Feng Z, Iwamoto DV, Thiel A, Jin G, Fan CM et al (2013) Menin epigenetically represses Hedgehog signaling in MEN1 tumor syndrome. Cancer Res 73:2650–2658
- Haugvik SP, Labori KJ, Edwin B, Mathisen O, Gladhaug IP (2012) Surgical treatment of sporadic pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors: a state of the art review. ScientificWorldJournal 2012:357475
- 42. Haynes AB, Deshpande V, Ingkakul T, Vagefi PA, Szymonifka J, Thayer SP et al (2011) Implications of incidentally discovered, nonfunctioning pancreatic endocrine tumors: shortterm and long-term patient outcomes. Arch Surg 146:534–538
- 43. Hessman O, Lindberg D, Skogseid B, Carling T, Hellman P, Rastad J et al (1998) Mutation of the multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 gene in nonfamilial, malignant tumors of the endocrine pancreas. Cancer Res 58:377–379
- 44. Imam H, Eriksson B, Lukinius A, Janson ET, Lindgren PG, Wilander E et al (1997) Induction of apoptosis in neuroendocrine tumors of the digestive system during treatment with somatostatin analogs. Acta Oncol 36:607–614
- 45. Iwasa S, Morizane C, Okusaka T, Ueno H, Ikeda M, Kondo S et al (2010) Cisplatin and etoposide as first-line chemotherapy for poorly differentiated neuroendocrine carcinoma of the hepatobiliary tract and pancreas. Jpn J Clin Oncol 40:313–318
- 46. Jensen RT, Berna MJ, Bingham DB, Norton JA (2008) Inherited pancreatic endocrine tumor syndromes: advances in molecular pathogenesis, diagnosis, management, and controversies. Cancer 113:1807–1843
- 47. Jiao Y, Shi C, Edil BH, de Wilde RF, Klimstra DS, Maitra A et al (2011) DAXX/ATRX, MEN1, and mTOR pathway genes are frequently altered in pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Science 331:1199–1203
- 48. Kennedy AS, McNeillie P, Dezarn WA, Nutting C, Sangro B, Wertman D et al (2009) Treatment parameters and outcome in 680 treatments of internal radiation with resin 90Y-microspheres for unresectable hepatic tumors. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 74:1494–1500

- 49. Koizumi M, Onda M, Tanaka N, Seya T, Yamada T, Takahashi Y (2002) Antiangiogenic effect of octreotide inhibits the growth of human rectal neuroendocrine carcinoma. Digestion 65:200–206
- Kolby L, Persson G, Franzen S, Ahren B (2003) Randomized clinical trial of the effect of interferon alpha on survival in patients with disseminated midgut carcinoid tumours. Br J Surg 90:687–693
- Kollmannsberger C, Bjarnason G, Burnett P, Creel P, Davis M, Dawson N et al (2011) Sunitinib in metastatic renal cell carcinoma: recommendations for management of noncardiovascular toxicities. Oncologist 16:543–553
- 52. Koumarianou A, Antoniou S, Kanakis G, Economopoulos N, Rontogianni D, Ntavatzikos A et al (2012) Combination treatment with metronomic temozolomide, bevacizumab and longacting octreotide for malignant neuroendocrine tumours. Endocr Relat Cancer 19:L1–L4
- Koumarianou A, Chatzellis E, Boutzios G, Tsavaris N, Kaltsas G (2013) Current concepts in the diagnosis and management of poorly differentiated gastrointestinal neuroendocrine carcinomas. Endokrynol Pol 64:60–72
- 54. Kouvaraki MA, Ajani JA, Hoff P, Wolff R, Evans DB, Lozano R et al (2004) Fluorouracil, doxorubicin, and streptozocin in the treatment of patients with locally advanced and metastatic pancreatic endocrine carcinomas. J Clin Oncol 22:4762–4771
- 55. Kouvaraki MA, Solorzano CC, Shapiro SE, Yao JC, Perrier ND, Lee JE et al (2005) Surgical treatment of non-functioning pancreatic islet cell tumors. J Surg Oncol 89:170–185
- 56. Kulke MH, Lenz HJ, Meropol NJ, Posey J, Ryan DP, Picus J et al (2008) Activity of sunitinib in patients with advanced neuroendocrine tumors. J Clin Oncol 26:3403–3410
- 57. Kwekkeboom DJ, de Herder WW, Kam BL, van Eijck CH, van Essen M, Kooij PP et al (2008) Treatment with the radiolabeled somatostatin analog [177 Lu-DOTA 0, Tyr3]octreotate: toxicity, efficacy, and survival. J Clin Oncol 26:2124–2130
- Kwekkeboom DJ, de Herder WW, Krenning EP (2011) Somatostatin receptor-targeted radionuclide therapy in patients with gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am 40:173–185, ix
- La Rosa S, Sessa F, Capella C, Riva C, Leone BE, Klersy C et al (1996) Prognostic criteria in nonfunctioning pancreatic endocrine tumours. Virchows Arch 429:323–333
- Larsson C (2013) Epigenetic aspects on therapy development for gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Neuroendocrinology 97:19–25
- Lee E, Leon Pachter H, Sarpel U (2012) Hepatic arterial embolization for the treatment of metastatic neuroendocrine tumors. Int J Hepatol 2012:471203
- Lemos MC, Thakker RV (2008) Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1): analysis of 1336 mutations reported in the first decade following identification of the gene. Hum Mutat 29:22–32
- Liu TH, Zhu Y, Cui QC, Cai LX, Ye SF, Zhong SX et al (1992) Nonfunctioning pancreatic endocrine tumors. An immunohistochemical and electron microscopic analysis of 26 cases. Pathol Res Pract 188:191–198
- 64. Maire F, Lombard-Bohas C, O'Toole D, Vullierme MP, Rebours V, Couvelard A et al (2012) Hepatic arterial embolization versus chemoembolization in the treatment of liver metastases from well-differentiated midgut endocrine tumors: a prospective randomized study. Neuroendocrinology 96:294–300
- Mazzaglia PJ, Berber E, Milas M, Siperstein AE (2007) Laparoscopic radiofrequency ablation of neuroendocrine liver metastases: a 10-year experience evaluating predictors of survival. Surgery 142:10–19
- 66. Missiaglia E, Dalai I, Barbi S, Beghelli S, Falconi M, della Peruta M et al (2010) Pancreatic endocrine tumors: expression profiling evidences a role for AKT-mTOR pathway. J Clin Oncol 28:245–255
- Modlin IM, Latich I, Kidd M, Zikusoka M, Eick G (2006) Therapeutic options for gastrointestinal carcinoids. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 4:526–547
- Moertel CG, Engstrom P, Lavin PT, Gelber RD, Carbone PP (1979) Chemotherapy of gastric and pancreatic carcinoma: a controlled evaluation of combinations of 5-fluorouracil with nitrosoureas and "lactones". Surgery 85:509–513

- Moertel CG, Hanley JA, Johnson LA (1980) Streptozocin alone compared with streptozocin plus fluorouracil in the treatment of advanced islet-cell carcinoma. N Engl J Med 303:1189–1194
- Moertel CG, Kvols LK, O'Connell MJ, Rubin J (1991) Treatment of neuroendocrine carcinomas with combined etoposide and cisplatin. Evidence of major therapeutic activity in the anaplastic variants of these neoplasms. Cancer 68:227–232
- Moertel CG, Lefkopoulo M, Lipsitz S, Hahn RG, Klaassen D (1992) Streptozocindoxorubicin, streptozocin-fluorouracil or chlorozotocin in the treatment of advanced isletcell carcinoma. N Engl J Med 326:519–523
- Moore PS, Missiaglia E, Antonello D, Zamo A, Zamboni G, Corleto V et al (2001) Role of disease-causing genes in sporadic pancreatic endocrine tumors: MEN1 and VHL. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 32:177–181
- Nehar D, Lombard-Bohas C, Olivieri S, Claustrat B, Chayvialle JA, Penes MC et al (2004) Interest of Chromogranin A for diagnosis and follow-up of endocrine tumours. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 60:644–652
- 74. Newey PJ, Jeyabalan J, Walls GV, Christie PT, Gleeson FV, Gould S et al (2009) Asymptomatic children with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 mutations may harbor nonfunctioning pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 94:3640–3646
- 75. Nold R, Frank M, Kajdan U, Trost U, Klose KJ, Arnold R (1994) Combined treatment of metastatic endocrine tumors of the gastrointestinal tract with octreotide and interferon-alpha. Z Gastroenterol 32:193–197
- Oberg K (1992) The action of interferon alpha on human carcinoid tumours. Semin Cancer Biol 3:35–41
- Oberg K (1996) Biological aspects of neuroendocrine gastro-enteropancreatic tumours. Digestion 57(Suppl 1):42–44
- Oberg K (1996) Interferon-alpha versus somatostatin or the combination of both in gastroenteropancreatic tumours. Digestion 57(Suppl 1):81–83
- Oberg K (2001) Established clinical use of octreotide and lanreotide in oncology. Chemotherapy 47(Suppl 2):40–53
- Oberg K (2009) Genetics and molecular pathology of neuroendocrine gastrointestinal and pancreatic tumors (gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors). Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes 16:72–78
- Oberg K (2009) Somatostatin analog octreotide LAR in gastro-entero-pancreatic tumors. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther 9:557–566
- Oberg K, Funa K, Alm G (1983) Effects of leukocyte interferon on clinical symptoms and hormone levels in patients with mid-gut carcinoid tumors and carcinoid syndrome. N Engl J Med 309:129–133
- Oberg K, Knigge U, Kwekkeboom D, Perren A (2012) Neuroendocrine gastro-enteropancreatic tumors: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and followup. Ann Oncol 23(Suppl 7):vii124–vii130
- 84. Oberg K, Kvols L, Caplin M, Delle Fave G, de Herder W, Rindi G et al (2004) Consensus report on the use of somatostatin analogs for the management of neuroendocrine tumors of the gastroenteropancreatic system. Ann Oncol 15:966–973
- Paez-Ribes M, Allen E, Hudock J, Takeda T, Okuyama H, Vinals F et al (2009) Antiangiogenic therapy elicits malignant progression of tumors to increased local invasion and distant metastasis. Cancer Cell 15:220–231
- 86. Panzuto F, Boninsegna L, Fazio N, Campana D, Pia Brizzi M, Capurso G et al (2011) Metastatic and locally advanced pancreatic endocrine carcinomas: analysis of factors associated with disease progression. J Clin Oncol 29:2372–2377
- Panzuto F, Nasoni S, Falconi M, Corleto VD, Capurso G, Cassetta S et al (2005) Prognostic factors and survival in endocrine tumor patients: comparison between gastrointestinal and pancreatic localization. Endocr Relat Cancer 12:1083–1092
- 88. Parekh JR, Wang SC, Bergsland EK, Venook AP, Warren RS, Kim GE et al (2012) Lymph node sampling rates and predictors of nodal metastasis in pancreatic neuroendocrine tumor resections: the UCSF experience with 149 patients. Pancreas 41:840–844

- 89. Pelosi G, Bresaola E, Bogina G, Pasini F, Rodella S, Castelli P et al (1996) Endocrine tumors of the pancreas: Ki-67 immunoreactivity on paraffin sections is an independent predictor for malignancy: a comparative study with proliferating-cell nuclear antigen and progesterone receptor protein immunostaining, mitotic index, and other clinicopathologic variables. Hum Pathol 27:1124–1134
- 90. Perren A, Komminoth P, Saremaslani P, Matter C, Feurer S, Lees JA et al (2000) Mutation and expression analyses reveal differential subcellular compartmentalization of PTEN in endocrine pancreatic tumors compared to normal islet cells. Am J Pathol 157:1097–1103
- Raymond E, Dahan L, Raoul JL, Bang YJ, Borbath I, Lombard-Bohas C et al (2011) Sunitinib malate for the treatment of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. N Engl J Med 364:501–513
- 92. Rindi G, Bordi C, La Rosa S, Solcia E, Delle Fave G (2011) Gastroenteropancreatic (neuro) endocrine neoplasms: the histology report. Dig Liver Dis 43(Suppl 4):S356–S360
- Rindi G, Kloppel G, Alhman H, Caplin M, Couvelard A, de Herder WW et al (2006) TNM staging of foregut (neuro)endocrine tumors: a consensus proposal including a grading system. Virchows Arch 449:395–401
- 94. Rinke A, Muller HH, Schade-Brittinger C, Klose KJ, Barth P, Wied M et al (2009) Placebocontrolled, double-blind, prospective, randomized study on the effect of octreotide LAR in the control of tumor growth in patients with metastatic neuroendocrine midgut tumors: a report from the PROMID Study Group. J Clin Oncol 27:4656–4663
- 95. Sansovini M, Severi S, Ambrosetti A, Monti M, Nanni O, Sarnelli A et al (2013) Treatment with the radiolabelled somatostatin analog Lu-DOTATATE for advanced pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Neuroendocrinology 97:347–354
- 96. Scarpa A, Mantovani W, Capelli P, Beghelli S, Boninsegna L, Bettini R et al (2010) Pancreatic endocrine tumors: improved TNM staging and histopathological grading permit a clinically efficient prognostic stratification of patients. Mod Pathol 23:824–833
- 97. Severi S, Nanni O, Bodei L, Sansovini M, Ianniello A, Nicoletti S et al (2013) Role of 18FDG PET/CT in patients treated with 177Lu-DOTATATE for advanced differentiated neuroendocrine tumours. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 40:881–888
- Smith JK, Ng SC, Hill JS, Simons JP, Arous EJ, Shah SA et al (2010) Complications after pancreatectomy for neuroendocrine tumors: a national study. J Surg Res 163:63–68
- 99. Solorzano CC, Lee JE, Pisters PW, Vauthey JN, Ayers GD, Jean ME et al (2001) Nonfunctioning islet cell carcinoma of the pancreas: survival results in a contemporary series of 163 patients. Surgery 130:1078–1085
- 100. Sorbye H, Welin S, Langer SW, Vestermark LW, Holt N, Osterlund P et al (2013) Predictive and prognostic factors for treatment and survival in 305 patients with advanced gastrointestinal neuroendocrine carcinoma (WHO G3): the NORDIC NEC study. Ann Oncol 24:152–160
- Strosberg JR, Fine RL, Choi J, Nasir A, Coppola D, Chen DT et al (2011) First-line chemotherapy with capecitabine and temozolomide in patients with metastatic pancreatic endocrine carcinomas. Cancer 117:268–275
- 102. Sun W, Lipsitz S, Catalano P, Mailliard JA, Haller DG (2005) Phase II/III study of doxorubicin with fluorouracil compared with streptozocin with fluorouracil or dacarbazine in the treatment of advanced carcinoid tumors: Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group Study E1281. J Clin Oncol 23:4897–4904
- 103. Tee AR, Fingar DC, Manning BD, Kwiatkowski DJ, Cantley LC, Blenis J (2002) Tuberous sclerosis complex-1 and -2 gene products function together to inhibit mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR)-mediated downstream signaling. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:13571–13576
- 104. Thomas-Marques L, Murat A, Delemer B, Penfornis A, Cardot-Bauters C, Baudin E et al (2006) Prospective endoscopic ultrasonographic evaluation of the frequency of nonfunctioning pancreaticoduodenal endocrine tumors in patients with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. Am J Gastroenterol 101:266–273
- 105. Triponez F, Goudet P, Dosseh D, Cougard P, Bauters C, Murat A et al (2006) Is surgery beneficial for MEN1 patients with small (< or=2 cm), nonfunctioning pancreaticoduodenal

endocrine tumor? An analysis of 65 patients from the GTE. World J Surg 30:654–662; discussion 63–64

- 106. Turner NC, Strauss SJ, Sarker D, Gillmore R, Kirkwood A, Hackshaw A et al (2010) Chemotherapy with 5-fluorouracil, cisplatin and streptozocin for neuroendocrine tumours. Br J Cancer 102:1106–1112
- 107. Vaklavas C, Lenihan D, Kurzrock R, Tsimberidou AM (2010) Anti-vascular endothelial growth factor therapies and cardiovascular toxicity: what are the important clinical markers to target? Oncologist 15:130–141
- 108. Vilar E, Salazar R, Perez-Garcia J, Cortes J, Oberg K, Tabernero J (2007) Chemotherapy and role of the proliferation marker Ki-67 in digestive neuroendocrine tumors. Endocr Relat Cancer 14:221–232
- 109. von Marschall Z, Scholz A, Cramer T, Schafer G, Schirner M, Oberg K et al (2003) Effects of interferon alpha on vascular endothelial growth factor gene transcription and tumor angiogenesis. J Natl Cancer Inst 95:437–448
- 110. Walter T, Bruneton D, Cassier PA, Hervieu V, Pilleul F, Scoazec JY et al (2010) Evaluation of the combination 5-fluorouracil, dacarbazine, and epirubicin in patients with advanced well-differentiated neuroendocrine tumors. Clin Colorectal Cancer 9:248–254
- 111. Wang Y, Ozawa A, Zaman S, Prasad NB, Chandrasekharappa SC, Agarwal SK et al (2011) The tumor suppressor protein menin inhibits AKT activation by regulating its cellular localization. Cancer Res 71:371–382
- 112. Welin S, Sorbye H, Sebjornsen S, Knappskog S, Busch C, Oberg K (2011) Clinical effect of temozolomide-based chemotherapy in poorly differentiated endocrine carcinoma after progression on first-line chemotherapy. Cancer 117:4617–4622
- 113. Yachida S, Vakiani E, White CM, Zhong Y, Saunders T, Morgan R et al (2012) Small cell and large cell neuroendocrine carcinomas of the pancreas are genetically similar and distinct from well-differentiated pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Am J Surg Pathol 36:173–184
- 114. Yao JC, Lombard-Bohas C, Baudin E, Kvols LK, Rougier P, Ruszniewski P et al (2010) Daily oral everolimus activity in patients with metastatic pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors after failure of cytotoxic chemotherapy: a phase II trial. J Clin Oncol 28:69–76
- 115. Yao JC, Phan AT, Chang DZ, Wolff RA, Hess K, Gupta S et al (2008) Efficacy of RAD001 (everolimus) and octreotide LAR in advanced low- to intermediate-grade neuroendocrine tumors: results of a phase II study. J Clin Oncol 26:4311–4318
- 116. Yao JC, Phan A, Hoff PM, Chen HX, Charnsangavej C, Yeung SC et al (2008) Targeting vascular endothelial growth factor in advanced carcinoid tumor: a random assignment phase II study of depot octreotide with bevacizumab and pegylated interferon alpha-2b. J Clin Oncol 26:1316–1323
- 117. Yao JC, Shah MH, Ito T, Bohas CL, Wolin EM, Van Cutsem E et al (2011) Everolimus for advanced pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. N Engl J Med 364:514–523
- 118. Yoshitomi H, Fujii Y, Miyazaki M, Nakajima N, Inagaki N, Seino S (1997) Involvement of MAP kinase and c-fos signaling in the inhibition of cell growth by somatostatin. Am J Physiol 272:E769–E774
- 119. Zaknun JJ, Bodei L, Mueller-Brand J, Pavel ME, Baum RP, Horsch D et al (2013) The joint IAEA, EANM, and SNMMI practical guidance on peptide receptor radionuclide therapy (PRRNT) in neuroendocrine tumours. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 40:800–816
- Zikusoka MN, Kidd M, Eick G, Latich I, Modlin IM (2005) The molecular genetics of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Cancer 104:2292–2309

Gastroenteropancreatic Neuroendocrine Carcinoma

19

Halfdan Sorbye

19.1 Background

Extrapulmonary neuroendocrine carcinoma (EP-NEC) has been found in most organs, but the most common sites are the gastrointestinal tract, cervix uteri, urogenital tract and breast [1, 2]. No primary site can be identified in up to 30 % of cases [3]. In the prior 2000 WHO classification, these tumours were known as poorly differentiated endocrine carcinoma (PDEC) [4]. In the 2010 WHO classification, the nomenclature of grade 3 (G3) neuroendocrine tumours (NET) has been altered to neuroendocrine carcinoma (NEC) [5]. NEC has a much higher proliferation rate than well-differentiated neuroendocrine tumours (G1-G2); by definition the proliferation rate (Ki-67) is above 20 %. In devising treatment strategies for EP-NEC, many authors refer to the extensive literature surrounding high-grade NEC of the lung [2, 6]. Several series have however questioned the rationale for this and pointed out many differences between pulmonary small-cell carcinoma and extrapulmonary small-cell neuroendocrine carcinoma (EP-SCNEC) [6-9]. EP-SCNEC has less smoking history and a much lower frequency of brain metastases; a better survival and survival is site specific, i.e. gynaecologic and head and neck cancers have better outcomes than gastrointestinal (GI) primaries. Furthermore, there are molecular differences, e.g. Bcl-2 overexpression is less common in EP-SCNEC than in lung. Studies reporting results from mainly pulmonary NEC or EP-NEC outside the GI tract will therefore not be covered in this chapter. This chapter will focus on gastrointestinal NEC (GI-NEC).

Clinical data on GI-NEC is sparse. Many cases have been misdiagnosed as poorly differentiated adenocarcinoma. When diagnosed, data are often presented together with results from well-differentiated NETs or together with other

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

Diagnosis and Management, DOI 10.1007/978-3-662-45215-8_19

H. Sorbye

Department of Oncology, Haukeland University Hospital, Bergen 5021, Norway e-mail: halfdan.sorbye@helse-bergen.no

S. Yalcin, K. Öberg (eds.), Neuroendocrine Tumours:

extrapulmonary NEC cases. There has been a lack of epidemiological, clinical and treatment data for GI-NEC patients, and little has been known on possible prognostic and predictive factors. Recently however, several studies with novel treatment data on GI-NEC patients have been published [10-12].

19.2 Epidemiology

Gastrointestinal (GI) primary tumours account for 35–55 % of all NEC outside the lung [13, 14]. They can originate anywhere in the GI tract, but are mainly located in the oesophagus, pancreas and large bowel [10, 15]. A primary tumour of uncertain origin will usually be considered GI if the metastatic load is dominating in the liver and abdomen [16]. Poorly differentiated NETs account for about 20 % of malignant digestive NETs [17]. In the SEER database, colorectal NEC has an incidence of 2/1,000,000 inhabitants, and distant disease at diagnosis was present in 62 % of patients [18]. Data from SEER on 4,054 patients with poorly differentiated NET showed a median survival of 34 months in patients with localised disease, 14 months with regional disease and 5 months with distant disease [19]. Amongst 94 GI-NEC patients in the national cancer registry of Spain, 59 % presented as distant metastatic disease, median survival was 1.2 months and 44 % were alive at 5 year [20]. Colorectal small-cell carcinoma (SCC) patients have a median survival of 10 months with 1-, 2- and 3-year survival rates of 46, 26 and 13 % [21]. Advanced gallbladder small-cell carcinoma treated with combination chemotherapy has a median survival of 8 months, with 1- and 2-year survival rates of 28 and 0 % [22]. In the EUROCARE study, 5-year survival rates for poorly differentiated NEC varied between 6 and 11 % according to European region [17]. The number of patients with NEC seems to be increasing [10], probably due to better pathology workup. There are primary site-specific differences in survival. Patients with a primary pancreatic tumour have more often somatostatin receptor scintigraphy positive tumours, more often a Ki-67 <55 % and a longer survival than other GI primaries and may constitute a specific subgroup within GI-NEC with a better prognosis [10]. Median survival for advanced pancreatic NEC is 15–21 months, compared to 11 months concerning all GI-NEC [1, 10].

19.3 Diagnosis

19.3.1 Histology

A gastrointestinal NEC has been defined as a poorly differentiated, high-grade malign cancer composed of small cells or large to intermediate cells. These tumours may contain different tumour components; often a mixture of neuroendocrine and adenocarcinoma parts can be seen. By definition the neuroendocrine component has to exceed 30 % to be classified as an NEC [5]. Up to 40 % of NEC contain elements of non-NEC, usually adenocarcinoma [23]. If the tumour also consists a gland

forming epithelium exceeding 30 %, it is classified as MANEC (mixed adenoneuroendocrine carcinoma) [5]. Reclassification of 39 grade 3 colon NEC classified 1/3 of them as MANEC, but no differences in clinical features, (features, Ki-67 etc) Ki-67 level or survival was seen between NEC and MANEC [24]. GI-NEC contains marked nuclear atypia, multifocal necrosis and a high mitotic rate defined as >20 mitotic figures per 10 high-power fields or a Ki-67 >20 % (Fig. 19.1). Most NECs exhibit substantially more mitoses than these thresholds, typically in the range of 40–70 mitoses per high-power fields, and with a Ki-67 between 50 and 100 %. The Ki-67 index seems to be associated with the location of the primary tumour. In the



Fig. 19.1 (a) Colon NEC with a Ki-67 index of 30 %. (b) Colon NEC with a Ki-67 index of 90 %

NORDIC NEC study, Ki-67 was usually >55 % in primary tumours from the oesophagus, colon and rectum, whereas in primary tumours from the pancreas, only 30 % had a Ki-67 >55 % [10]. Patients with a Ki-67 range of 20–55 % had a better survival, but were less responsive to chemotherapy than patients with a Ki-67 >55 %. This may have consequences for future classification and treatment of NEC.

NEC encompasses mainly two histological entities: small-cell neuroendocrine carcinoma (SCNEC) resembling small-cell carcinoma of the lung and a large-cell pleomorphic carcinoma (LCNEC) [5] (Fig. 19.2). LCNEC is morphologically distinguished from SCNEC by cytological features of a non-small-cell carcinoma,



Fig. 19.2 (a) Small-cell NEC from pancreas. (b) Large-cell NEC from colon

including large cell size, low nuclear-to-cytoplasm volume ratio, coarse chromatin and frequent nucleoli. There is small-cell histological preponderance in the squamous GI tract (oesophagus and anus) and large-cell carcinomas in the glandular parts [23]. Awareness of the latter is essential, as these tumours often are indistinguishable from poorly differentiated non-NET carcinomas. In a study on 87 highgrade GI tract tumours, no significant difference in survival was detected amongst small cell, mixed and large cell subtypes, nor were there any differences between tumours of the upper GI tact versus the lower GI tract [23]. In pancreatic NEC, small-cell NEC was genetically similar to large-cell NEC, and these genetic changes were distinct from pancreatic neuroendocrine tumours pNET [25]. There seems to be no significant differences in survival or response to chemotherapy based on histological subtypes [10, 21, 23]. The terms poorly differentiated high-grade NET and NEC have been used synonymously. However, recently data suggest that amongst large-cell NEC, there are tumours that are well differentiated [26, 27]. Survival was longer in well-differentiated NEC than in poorly differentiated NEC (40 months vs. 17 months) [26]. The presence of well-differentiated tumours in NEC needs to be validated in larger series, as it may have consequences for future classification and treatment.

NEC is characterised by immunohistochemical markers of neuroendocrine differentiation with synaptophysin, neuron-specific enolase, chromogranin A (CgA) and CD56 being the primary stains. Several pathologists advocate for routine staining with synaptophysin and CgA for all tumours initially classified as poorly differentiated gastrointestinal adenocarcinoma. Usually synaptophysin immunohistochemistry staining is positive, whereas staining for CgA may be negative. A strong positive staining for CgA was found in 45 % of patients with advanced GI-NEC, but the intensity of CgA staining was not correlated to survival or location of the primary tumour [10]. It is debated if a positive staining for synaptophysin or CgA is necessary to classify the tumour as an NEC. The presence of CgA indicates a more mature tumour, and the presence of both markers may be a good prognostic sign [11, 28]. In a study of 39 colorectal NEC patients, CD177 immunoreactivity (a stem cell marker) was found in 54 % of the tumours and was together with vascular invasion an independent prognostic marker for survival [24]. Achaete-scute homolog 1 has been proposed as a diagnostic marker of poor differentiation and may help to differentiate NEC from NETs in difficult cases [29].

19.3.2 Diagnostic Procedures

Diagnostic workup should include a CT scan of the abdomen and thorax. Location of metastases at the time of diagnosis of advanced disease in 305 NEC patients was in the liver (68 %), lymph nodes (62 %), lung (15 %), bone (15 %), brain (4 %) and other locations (27 %) [10]. PET is usually positive in NEC and could be of prognostic value [30]. PET/CT may be especially indicated for patients with apparently localised disease, to locate possible metastatic disease and avoid unnecessary surgery. CgA measurement has been assumed to be normal in GI-NEC patients;

however, CgA was recently shown to be elevated in two third of 188 patients with advanced GI-NEC disease [10]. CgA could therefore be a useful tumour marker for NEC patients. Neuron-specific enolase has only been tested in patients with mainly pulmonary NEC [31].

The relevance of somatostatin receptor scintigraphy (SRS) in NEC patients is uncertain. In 14 patients with a Ki-67 >15 %, 69 % had a positive SRS [32]. In another study a high uptake on SRS was found in 69 of 182 patients (37 %), but SRS was less frequently performed in patients with a high Ki-67 [10]. A high uptake on SRS was more often found in primary pancreatic tumours (46 %) compared to primary tumours from other locations (0–25 %). In two small second line studies, 20–40 % of NEC patients had a high uptake on SRS [11, 12]. An SRS may be clinically relevant if the Ki-67 is below 40 %, as peptide receptor radionucleotide therapy (PRRT) then may be a treatment option [33–35]. Routine measurement of U-5HIAA does not seem meaningful, as hormone-related symptoms are rare and urinary 5-HIAA elevated in few patients [10].

Several baseline laboratory abnormalities are correlated with poor survival in NEC: low haemoglobin level and elevated levels of platelets, white blood cell count, lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), alkaline phosphatase and C-reactive protein (CRP), with LDH and platelet count as the strongest factors [10]. It is increasingly recognised that variations in outcome are not solely determined by the characteristics of the tumour, but also by host response factors. Markers of a systemic host inflammatory response, e.g. elevated platelets and leucocytes, have a prognostic value in a variety of common solid tumours [36]. LDH may be a biomarker for hypoxia and highly angiogenetic tumours, and high LDH-5 is directly related to an up-regulated Hypoxia-induced Factor (HIF) pathway and linked with an aggressive tumour phenotype [37].

19.4 Treatment

Treatment of this very aggressive disease remains a challenge for clinicians. NEC is characterised by a high proclivity for metastatic dissemination even in patients with clinically localised tumours. Extensive disease is almost invariably treated by systemic chemotherapy. In contrast, the treatment approach for limited disease, a potentially curable condition, is presently neither consistent nor uniform. Retrospective studies have shown that surgery alone is rarely curative [7]. Based on the treatment paradigm for limited-stage small-cell lung cancer, chemotherapy and local therapy (surgery or radiation) can be considered in many patients with locoregional EP-NEC. Adjuvant or neoadjuvant chemotherapy is usually given with cisplatin/carboplatin and etoposide, based on the effect seen in metastatic setting.

19.4.1 Surgery and Neoadjuvant (Perioperative) Treatment

Despite rare reports of long-term survivors, surgery alone is usually inadequate therapy even for apparently localised disease. Adjuvant radiotherapy and chemotherapy are widely recommended, although the effectiveness of a combined modality approach has not been firmly established. Casas and colleagues highlighted the role of systemic chemotherapy and local treatment in oesophageal SCC. In a retrospective series of 199 patients, improved survival from 5 to 20 months was reported in patients with localised disease who received multimodal therapy, i.e. surgery, radiation therapy and systemic treatment [38]. Local therapy only (e.g. surgery alone) was the single most powerful predictor of poor prognosis, whereas chemotherapy was strongly associated with improved survival. Median survival was 20 months after induction chemotherapy followed by consolidative chemoradiation for 25 patients with limited disease oesophageal SCNEC [39]. Surgery might therefore not be necessary as part of initial therapy for oesophageal NEC if complete response is achieved after chemoradiation. A study on GI SCC however suggests a potential role for surgery for limited disease with pre- or postoperative chemotherapy, as half of the operated patients retained locoregional control [15]. Altogether, most data support that with limited disease, a combination of systemic platinum-based chemotherapy with local treatment consisting of radiotherapy, surgery or both offers the best chance for long-term survival. Several authors suggest that a sequence of neoadjuvant chemotherapy followed by definitive surgery seems appropriate [8]. Potential advantages to a neoadjuvant approach include earlier treatment of micrometastatic disease, better compliance to treatment, determination of responsiveness to chemotherapy and avoidance of unnecessary surgery for patients with early systemic disease progression.

In contrast to metastatic NETs with a low Ki-67, debulking surgery and surgery for liver metastasis are generally not recommended in NEC patients. Surgery or locoregional treatment for metastatic disease after neoadjuvant chemotherapy can however in selected patients give long-time survival (Fig. 19.3) [40, 41].



Fig. 19.3 Baseline (**a**) and partial response of liver metastases and lymph node metastases after 4 months of neoadjuvant chemotherapy with cisplatin/etoposide (**b**) before radical surgery and long-term survival

19.4.2 Postoperative Adjuvant Chemotherapy

Although there are no studies examining postoperative adjuvant chemotherapy in NEC, their aggressive behaviour warrants consideration of adjuvant therapy in most cases. The North American Neuroendocrine Tumor Society (NANETS) recommends 4–6 cycles of cisplatin or carboplatin and etoposide as adjuvant therapy for resected patients [1]. Several treatment schedules are recommended by the National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) and the European Neuroendocrine Tumor Society (ENETS) [42, 43]. A commonly used schedule is etoposide 100 mg/m² for 3 days and cisplatin at a dose of 45 mg/m²/day on days 2 and 3, every 4 weeks [43]. As rapid recurrence often occurs after surgery, postoperative radiological staging should be performed before initiation of adjuvant chemotherapy.

19.4.3 Palliative Chemotherapy

Advanced GI-NEC is an aggressive disease where rapid referral to an oncologist is necessary, some advocate referral within a week. Patients should be referred for possible treatment before the performance status (PS) deteriorates to the extent that that the patient is no longer fit to receive chemotherapy. Median survival in 53 patients not given chemotherapy was only 1 month after diagnosis of advanced disease [10]. Patients not receiving palliative chemotherapy were older and had a worse PS, less positive SRS, less intense CgA staining and more often elevated white blood cell count and C-reactive protein levels. The very short median survival for patients not receiving chemotherapy indicates that the benefit from palliative chemotherapy is probably substantial.

19.4.3.1 First-Line Chemotherapy

Guidelines for advanced extrapulmonary NEC advocate the use of platinum-based chemotherapy combined with etoposide [1, 42-44], although until recently only few and small first line studies have been reported. In the study of Moertel et al., 18 predominantly GI-NEC patients were treated with cisplatin/etoposide [45]. Etoposide was given as 130 mg/m² iv days 1-3 and cisplatin 45 mg/m² days 2-3 every 4th week. Median number of courses was 5, 67 % had objective tumour regression, time to progression was 8 months and median survival was 19 months. Mitry et al. treated 41 poorly differentiated NEC; 27 patients were GI-NEC or CUP with predominantly GI metastases [16]. They were treated with etoposide 100 mg/m² days 1-3 and cisplatin 100 mg/m² day 1 every 3rd week. Median number of courses was 4, response rate 42 %, complete response (CR) 10 %, partial response (PR) 32 %, and stable disease (SD) 34 %. Progression-free survival (PFS) was 9 months and median survival 15 months. Toxicity was however high probably due to the 1-day cisplatin schedule. A 3-drug regimen combining carboplatin/etoposide with paclitaxel was given to 78 patients with NEC with mainly unknown primary tumour [46]. Although response rate was high (53 %), median survival was only 14.5 months and as grade 3-4 toxicity was frequent this schedule is not widely used. Although treatment with cisplatin/etoposide often induces initial tumour reduction, progressive disease usually occurs rapidly (Fig. 19.4).

Fig. 19.4 Baseline (**a**) and partial response after 6 months of cisplatin/etoposide treatment (**b**), but massive progression of disease after a 2-month treatment break (**c**) in a 39-year-old patient with primary rectal NEC



Recent data suggests that response rates and survival of GI-NEC patients might be lower than previously reported. In a retrospective study palliative chemotherapy was given to 252 patients with advanced GI-NEC. They were mainly treated with cisplatin/etoposide or carboplatin/etoposide and some with carboplatin/etoposide/vincristine. The median number of courses was 4; response rate was 31 % (2 % CR, 29 % PR) and disease control rate 64 %. PFS was 4 months and median survival 11 months with 2- and 3-year survival of 14 and 9.5 %, respectively. No differences were seen according to chemotherapy schedule regarding response rates, PFS and survival (Fig. 19.5a), indicating that in GI-NEC cisplatin could probably be replaced by carboplatin. No further benefit was seen by adding vincristine to the etoposide/platinum combination. Multivariate analyses of the clinical and pathological features of this patient cohort identified several variables associated with response to treatment and survival such as performance status (PS), proliferation index, platelet count, lactic dehydrogenase levels and primary site of origin [10]. Median survival was only 8 months in primary colon tumours treated with chemotherapy, significantly shorter than the 15 months for patients with primary pancreatic tumours (Fig. 19.5b). Performance status was a strong prognostic factor for survival and varied from a median survival of 18 months with PS 0-5 months with PS 2 (Fig. 19.5c). Patients with PS 2 had a higher percentage of immediate disease progression compared to PS 0 (61 % vs.26 %). A relevant question is whether GI-NEC patients with a poor PS will benefit from a potentially toxic platinum-based treatment. However, in PS 2 patients who achieved a partial response after chemotherapy (25 %), PFS and median survival were 5 and 11 months, respectively. Patients with a PS 2 at the time of diagnosis should therefore not be excluded from receiving palliative chemotherapy. An ROC analysis was done in this study to investigate a possible correlation between response rate and Ki-67 level. The best cut-off value concerning response rate for Ki-67 was 55 %. Tumours with Ki-67 <55 % were less responsive to platinum-based chemotherapy (response rate 15 % vs. 42 %) (Table 19.1, Fig. 19.6). Patients with Ki-67 <55 % had a significantly longer survival compared to patients with higher Ki-67 levels (14 vs.10 months) and may thus constitute a different disease entity (Table 19.1, Fig. 19.7). Thirty months after chemotherapy initiation, 23 % of patients with a Ki-67 <55 % were alive compared to only 7 % when Ki-67 >55 %.

The present WHO classification of GI-NEC seems insufficient, classifying all tumours with a Ki-67 above 20 % as one single disease entity. One possibility would be to divide the existing G 3 group into a 3A and 3B group. Platinum-based chemo-therapy may furthermore not be the optimal chemotherapy schedule when Ki-67 <55 %. When temozolomide-based chemotherapy was given to GI-NEC after 1st-line platinum-based chemotherapy, patients with Ki-67 <60 % had a better response to treatment [11]. Clinical trials with drugs traditionally used for G2 NET tumours (sunitinib, everolimus and temozolomide) have now started in patients with advanced G3 NEC tumours.



Fig. 19.5 Survival in patients treated with chemotherapy according to (**a**) chemotherapy schedule, (**b**) location of primary tumour and (**c**) performance status (From Sorbye et al. [10])



Fig. 19.5 (continued)

19.4.3.2 Second-Line Chemotherapy

After first line treatment, no further standard therapy has been established in GI-NEC. Reintroduction of cisplatin/carboplatin and etoposide after a treatment break resulted in a response rate of 15 % and another 27 % achieved SD [10]. These data indicate that retreatment with cisplatin/carboplatin and etoposide is a valid option, as 42 % had a re-stabilisation of the disease.

Not much has been known about the possible benefit from second line treatment; however, recently several small retrospective studies have been published. Welin et al. collected data from 25 patients with G3 NEC, all of whom had progressed after cisplatin-based chemotherapy [11]. The patients received temozolomide $150-200 \text{ mg/m}^2$ for 5 days every 4 weeks. The majority of the patients also received capecitabine 750–1,000 mg/m², and a smaller subset received a three-drug regimen including bevacizumab every 2 weeks. The results of this treatment were encouraging, with a response rate of 33 % with a median duration of response of 19 months. Median PFS was 6 months, and median survival from start of second line chemotherapy was 22 months. Interestingly, a Ki-67 value of <60 % seemed predictive of response. Epigenetic silencing of O6methylguanidine-DNA methyltransferase (MGMT) has been shown to predict benefit of temozolomide treatment. It does not seem to play a major part in NEC as only 1 of the 17 patients investigated displayed methylation of this gene. In another retrospective second line study, NEC patients had received temozolomide 200 mg/m^2 for 5 days every 4 weeks [47]. The results were less encouraging with no objective responses; 38 % had SD and 62 % progressive disease (PD).

| Ki-67 | PR/CR (%) | SD (%) | PD (%) | PFS (95 % CI) | OS (95 % CI) |
|------------------------------|-----------|--------|--------|---------------|------------------|
| <55 % (n=136) | 15 | 47 | 38 | 4 m (3.2–4.8) | 14 m (10.7–17.3) |
| \geq 55 % (<i>n</i> =154) | 42 | 24 | 34 | 4 m (3.1–4.9) | 10 m (8.4–11.6) |

 Table 19.1
 Response rates to systemic chemotherapy in NEC according to Ki-67

Adapted from Sorbye et al. [10]



Fig. 19.6 Response rates to systemic chemotherapy in NEC according to Ki-67 (Adapted from Sorbye et al. [10])

However, many patients had a poor performance status at start of treatment. Median survival was only 3.5 months, with a median PFS of 2.4 months, although patients with pancreatic primaries had better results. Patients with a Ki-67 in the lower range (20–55 %) had a longer median survival (10.9 vs. 2.7 months).

Irinotecan and 5-flourouracil (5-FU) was given as FOLFIRI to 19 GI-NEC patients after etoposide-platinum treatment in a retrospective study [12]. Median number of cycles was 6, response rate was 31 % and median PFS was 4 months. Overall survival from date of initial diagnosis was 18 months. FOLFIRI is therefore an option as second-line chemotherapy after failure of etoposide-platinum. In the NORDIC NEC study, second-line chemotherapy had been given to 100 patients; of these 35 received temozolomide-based chemotherapy and 20 taxan-based chemotherapy [10]. Response rate was 18 %, 33 % had SD and 49 % PD. Third-line chemotherapy was given to 31 patients. The response rate was 7 %, 34 % had SD and 59 % PD. The data illustrate that many GI-NEC patients benefit from further lines of chemotherapy.

19.4.4 Other Treatments

Somatostatin analogues are used for symptom control and have an anti-proliferative effect in intestinal NET where Ki-67 is typically 2–4 %. There are no data supporting the use of somatostatin analogues in NEC [48]. Peptide receptor radiotherapy



Fig. 19.7 Survival according to Ki-67 in chemotherapy-treated patients (N=252). (**a**) Survival by Ki-67 estimated by the Kaplan-Meier method. (**b**) Survival by Ki-67 in 10 % percentiles (From Sorbye et al. [10])

(PRRT) is regularly used for G1–G2 NET tumours with a high uptake on SRS. The benefit of PRRT in patients with a higher proliferation rate is unknown. Case reports have shown long-lasting partial responses to PRRT treatment in some NEC patients [33–35]. PPRT treatment may therefore be a treatment option for NEC patients with

a high SRS uptake with a Ki-67 in the lower range. The optimal timing would probably be as a consolidation treatment after initial chemotherapy [34]. Palliative external beam radiation may be useful, especially for painful bone metastasis.

References

- Strosberg J, Coppola D, Klimstra DS et al (2010) The NANETS Consensus Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of poorly differentiated (high-grade) extrapulmonary neuroendocrine carcinomas. Pancreas 39:799–800
- Walenkamp AM, Sonke GS, Sleijfer DT (2009) Clinical and therapeutic aspects of extrapulmonary small cell carcinoma. Cancer Treat Rev 35:228–236
- 3. Kloppel G, Heitz PU, Capella C et al (1996) Pathology and nomenclature of human gastrointestinal neuroendocrine (carcinoid) tumors and related lesions. World J Surg 20:132–141
- 4. Solcia EKG, Sobin LH (2000) Histological typing of endocrine tumours. Springer, New York
- Bosman FT, Carneiro F, Hruban RH, Theise ND (2010) WHO classification of tumours of the digestive system, 4th edn. WHO Press, Geneva. ISBN 978-92-832-2432-7
- Brennan SM, Gregory DL, Stillie A et al (2010) Should extrapulmonary small cell cancer be managed like small cell lung cancer? Cancer 116:888–895
- Brenner B, Tang LH, Klimstra DS, Kelsen DP (2004) Small-cell carcinomas of the gastrointestinal tract: a review. J Clin Oncol 22:2730–2739
- Brenner B, Tang LH, Shia J et al (2007) Small cell carcinomas of the gastrointestinal tract: clinicopathological features and treatment approach. Semin Oncol 34:43–50
- 9. Wong YNS, Jack RH, Henrik M, Davies EA (2009) The epidemiology and survival of extrapulmonary small cell carcinoma in South East England, 1970–2004. BMC Cancer 9:209
- Sorbye H, Welin S, Langer SW et al (2013) Predictive and prognostic factors for treatment and survival in 305 patients with advanced gastrointestinal neuroendocrine carcinoma (WHO G3): the NORDIC NEC study. Ann Oncol 24:152–160
- Welin S, Sorbye H, Sebjornsen S et al (2011) Clinical effect of temozolomide-based chemotherapy in poorly differentiated endocrine carcinoma after progression on first-line chemotherapy. Cancer 11:4617–4622
- 12. Hentic O, Hammel P, Couvelard A et al (2012) FOLFIRI regimen: an effective second-line chemotherapy after failure of etoposide-platinum combination in patients with neuroendocrine carcinomas grade 3. Endocr Relat Cancer 19:751–757
- Galanis E, Frytak S, Lloyd RV (1997) Extrapulmonary small cell carcinoma. Cancer 79:1729–1736
- Lee SS, Lee JL, Ryu MH et al (2007) Extrapulmonary small cell carcinoma: single center experience with 61 patients. Acta Oncol 46:846–851
- Brenner B, Shah MA, Gonen M et al (2004) Small-cell carcinoma of the gastrointestinal tract: a retrospective study of 64 cases. Br J Cancer 90:1720–1726
- Mitry E, Baudin E, Ducreux M et al (1999) Treatment of poorly differentiated neuroendocrine tumours with etoposide and cisplatin. Br J Cancer 81:1351–1355
- 17. Lepage C, Ciccolallo L, De Angelis R et al (2010) European disparities in malignant digestive endocrine tumours survival. Int J Cancer 126:2928–2934
- Kang H, O'Connell JB, Leonardi MJ (2007) Rare tumors of the colon and rectum: a national review. Int J Colorectal Dis 22:183–189
- Yao JC, Hassan M, Phan A (2008) One hundred years after "carcinoid": epidemiology of and prognostic factors for neuroendocrine tumors in 35,825 cases in the United States. J Clin Oncol 26:3063–3072
- Garcia-Carbonero R, Capdevila J, Crespo-Herrero G et al (2010) Incidence, patterns of care and prognostic factors for outcome of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors (GEP-NETs): results from the National Cancer Registry of Spain (RGETNE). Ann Oncol 21:1794–1803

- 21. Bernick PE, Klimstra SD, Shia J et al (2004) Neuroendocrine carcinomas of the colon and rectum. Dis Colon Rectum 47:163–169
- 22. Fujii H, Aotake T, Horiuchi T et al (2001) Small cell carcinoma of the gallbladder: a case report and review of 53 cases in the literature. Hepatogastroenterology 48:1588–1593
- 23. Shia J, Tang LH, Weiser MR et al (2008) Is nonsmall cell type high-grade neuroendocrine carcinoma of the tubular gastrointestinal tract a distinct disease entity? Am J Surg Pathol 32:719–731
- 24. La Rosa S, Marando A, Furlan D et al (2012) Colorectal poorly differentiated neuroendocrine carcinomas and mixed adenoneuroendocrine carcinomas: insights into the diagnostic immunophenotype, assessment of methylation profile, and search for prognostic markers. Am J Surg Pathol 36:601–611
- 25. Yachida S, Vakiani E, White CM et al (2012) Small cell and large cell neuroendocrine carcinomas of the pancreas are genetically similar and distinct from well-differentiated pancreatic neuroendocrine tumours. Am J Surg Pathol 36:173–184
- 26. Vélayoudom-Céphise FL, Duvillard P, Foucan L et al (2013) Would all G3 ENETS gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms be classified as poorly differentiated neuroendocrine carcinomas? Endocr Relat Cancer 20:649–657
- Panzuto F, Boninsegna L, Fazio N et al (2011) Metastatic and locally advanced pancreatic endocrine carcinomas: analysis of factors associated with disease progression. J Clin Oncol 29:2372–2377
- Faggiano A, Sabourin JC, Ducreux M et al (2007) Pulmonary and extrapulmonary poorly differentiated large cell neuroendocrine carcinomas. Cancer 110:265–274
- 29. La Rosa S, Marando A, Gatti G et al (2013) Achaete-scute homolog 1 as a marker of poorly differentiated neuroendocrine carcinomas of different sites: a validation study using immuno-histochemistry and quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction on 335 cases. Hum Pathol 44:1391–1399
- Binderup T, Knigge U, Loft A et al (2010) ¹⁸F-fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography predicts survival of patients with neuroendocrine tumors. Clin Cancer Res 16:978–985
- Korse CM, Taal BG, Vincent A et al (2012) Choice of markers in patients with neuroendocrine tumours is dependent on histological grade. Eur J Cancer 48:662–671
- 32. Binderup T, Knigge U, Loft A et al (2010) Functional imaging of neuroendocrine tumors: a head-to-head comparison of somatostatin receptor scintigraphy, ¹²³I-MIBG scintigraphy and ¹⁸F-FDG PET. J Nucl Med 51:704–712
- 33. Garske U, Sandström M, Johansson S et al (2012) Lessons on tumour response: imaging during therapy with ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTA-octreotate. A case report on a patient with a large volume of poorly differentiated neuroendocrine carcinoma. Theranostics 2:459–471
- 34. Fazio N, Grana C, Pelosi G et al (2006) Successful chemotherapy and ⁹⁰Y-DOTATOC in a patient with mediastinal highly aggressive neuroendocrine carcinoma. Acta Oncol 45:627–629
- 35. Ezziddin S, Opitz M, Attassi M et al (2011) Impact of the Ki-67 proliferation index on response to peptide receptor radionuclide therapy. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 38:459–466
- 36. Maltoni M, Caraceni A, Brunelli C et al (2005) Prognostic factors in advanced cancer patients: evidenced-based clinical recommendations. J Clin Oncol 23:6240–6248
- 37. Koukourakis MI, Giatromanolaki A, Simopoulos C et al (2005) Lactate dehydrogenase 5 (LDH5) relates to up-regulated hypoxia inducible factor pathway and metastasis in colorectal cancer. Clin Exp Metastasis 22:25–30
- 38. Casas F, Ferrer F, Farrus B et al (1997) Primary small cell carcinoma of the oesophagus: a review of the literature with emphasis on therapy and prognosis. Cancer 80:1366–1372
- 39. Ku GY, Minsky BD, Rusch VW et al (2008) Small-cell carcinoma of the oesophagus and gastroesophageal junction: review of the Memorial Sloan-Kettering experience. Ann Oncol 19:533–537
- 40. Sorbye H, Westre B, Horn A (2007) Curative surgery after neoadjuvant chemotherapy in metastatic poorly differentiated neuroendocrine carcinoma. Eur J Surg Oncol 33:1209–1210

- Power DG, Asmis TR, Tang LH et al (2011) High-grade neuroendocrine carcinoma of the colon, long-term survival in advanced disease. Med Oncol 28(Suppl 1):S169–S174
- 42. NCCN (2010) NCCN clinical practice guidelines in oncology, vol 10. National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN). Avaiable at www.nccn.org
- 43. Eriksson B, Annibale B, Bajetta E et al (2009) ENETS Consensus Guidelines for the standards of care in neuroendocrine tumors: chemotherapy in patients with neuroendocrine tumors. Neuroendocrinology 90:214–219
- 44. Janson ET, Sorbye H, Welin S et al (2010) Nordic Guidelines 2010 for diagnosis and treatment of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumours. Acta Oncol 49:740–756
- 45. Moertel CG, Kvols LK, O'Connell MJ, Rubin J (1991) Treatment of neuroendocrine carcinomas with combined etoposide and cisplatin. Evidence of major therapeutic activity in the anaplastic variants of these neoplasms. Cancer 68:227–232
- 46. Hainsworth JD, Spigel DR, Litchy S, Greco FA (2006) Phase II trial of paclitaxel, carboplatin, and etoposide in advanced poorly differentiated neuroendocrine carcinoma: a Minnie Pearl Cancer Research Network Study. J Clin Oncol 24:3548–3554
- 47. Olsen IH, Sørensen JB, Federspiel B et al (2012) Temozolomide as second or third line treatment of patients with neuroendocrine carcinomas. ScientificWorldJournal 2012:170496
- Fazio N, Spada F, Giovannini M (2013) Chemotherapy in gastroenteropancreatic (GEP) neuroendocrine carcinomas (NEC): a critical view. Cancer Treat Rev 39:270–274

The Multiple Endocrine Neoplasia Syndromes

Simona Grozinsky-Glasberg and David J. Gross

20.1 Introduction

The term multiple endocrine neoplasia (MEN) refers to hereditary neoplastic disorder involving more than one endocrine organ and includes the MEN type 1 (MEN1), the MEN type 2 (MEN2), and the familial medullary thyroid carcinoma (FMTC). The estimated frequency of each of these syndromes is around 1 in 30,000 and is characterized by complete penetrance with variable expression [1, 2]. The recent progress in our knowledge of both the molecular and the clinical genetics of these syndromes has improved the clinical management of the patients [3]. On the one hand, the MEN1 gene, a tumor suppressor gene responsible of MEN1 syndrome, is involved in the regulation of several cell functions (e.g., DNA replication and repair and transcriptional machinery). On the other hand, the RET proto-oncogene encodes for a receptor tyrosine kinase protein whose expression is fundamental for appropriate migration, development, and differentiation of neuroendocrine cells originating from neural crest [4]. Currently, DNA testing allows the early identification of germline mutations in presymptomatic mutant gene carriers in the MEN syndromes [5]. Consequently, an early identification of the MEN-associated neoplasms and the genotype-phenotype correlation improve the outcome and the quality of life for affected subjects [6].

Department of Medicine, Hadassah-Hebrew University Medical Center,

e-mail: simonag@hadassah.org.il

S. Grozinsky-Glasberg, MD (🖂) • D.J. Gross

Neuroendocrine Tumor Unit, Endocrinology and Metabolism Service,

P.O.B. 12000, Jerusalem 91120, Israel

[©] Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

S. Yalcin, K. Öberg (eds.), Neuroendocrine Tumours:

Diagnosis and Management, DOI 10.1007/978-3-662-45215-8_20

20.2 Multiple Endocrine Neoplasia Type 1 (MEN1, Wermer's Syndrome)

MEN1 is a rare hereditary endocrine cancer syndrome involving the occurrence in the same patient of tumors of the parathyroid glands, the anterior pituitary, and the pancreatic islet cells. Whereas firstly described in the early twentieth century, it was not until 1954 when Wermer described familial occurrence in which a father and four of the nine offspring were affected [7]. The disease was initially described as a multiple endocrine adenomatosis, and it has subsequently become known as multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1).

Patients with MEN1 characteristically have tumors of the parathyroid glands (95 %), the anterior pituitary (15–90 %), and the pancreatic islets (30–80 %) [5, 8] (major criteria for diagnosis); less commonly, they may have some other endocrine tumors (adrenal cortical adenomas and more rarely carcinoma, thyroid tumors, usually follicular adenomas, neuroendocrine tumors involving organs other than the pancreas such as duodenal gastrinoma and gastric, thymic, and bronchial carcinoids). Non-endocrine neoplasms can also occur: visceral and cutaneous lipomas, meningiomas, facial angiofibromas, and collagenomas [9–15] (minor criteria for diagnosis). The phenotype of MEN1 is extremely diverse, with over 20 different combinations of endocrine and non-endocrine manifestations being described to date. MEN1 should be suspected in patients with an endocrinopathy of two of the three pathognomonic/major affected organs or with a first-degree relative affected by MEN1 syndrome [16].

The overall estimated incidence of MEN1 is 0.25 %; estimated incidences are 1–18 % in primary hyperparathyroidism, 16–38 % in gastrinomas (pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors secreting gastrin), and <3 % in pituitary tumors. The reported age range is 5–81 years; however, 80 % of patients develop clinical manifestations of the disorder by the fifth decade [17].

20.2.1 MEN1-Associated Primary Hyperparathyroidism (PHPT) (Table 20.1)

20.2.1.1 Clinical Features and Diagnosis

PHPT is the most common and frequently the earliest manifestation in MEN1 mutation carriers and occurs in ~95 % of cases [9, 13]. The PHPT in MEN1, as compared to the sporadic form, has an earlier age of onset (20–25 years, compared to 55–60 years), exhibits an equal male to female ratio (compared to a female preponderance in sporadic PHPT), and involves all four parathyroid glands (diffuse hyperplasia or multiple adenomas), rather than a single one (solitary adenomas) [8, 9]. Noteworthy is the increased frequency of supernumerary (up to 20 %) and ectopic parathyroid glands in MEN1 patients, usually localized within the thyroid gland, in the anterior mediastinum, or exceptionally in the pericardium [18]. Although the MEN1 gene is a tumor suppressor, parathyroid carcinoma may be diagnosed in a small percentage of patients [19].

| | Organ involved | | Specific tumor (prevalence by 40 years) | Clinical presentation | |
|------|--------------------------------|-----------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--|
| MEN1 | Parathyroid disease | | Diffuse hyperplasia | Symptoms related to | |
| | (95 %) | | Adenoma, multiple | hypercalcemia or hypercalciuria | |
| | NETs | PNETs (30-80 %) | Gastrinomas (>50 %) | ZES, diarrhea, abdominal pain | |
| | | | Insulinomas (10-30 %) | Whipple triad | |
| | | | Glucagonomas (~3 %) | Necrolytic migratory erythema, weight loss, anemia, stomatitis | |
| | | | VIPomas (extremely rare) | are) Verner-Morrison syndrome | |
| | | | NF PNETs (20–100 %) | Asymptomatic, but with malignant potential | |
| | | | Somatostatinomas (extremely rare) | Somatostatinomas syndrome, rare | |
| | | | Other (e.g., GHRH-secreting) | Rare, increased GH and IGF1 levels | |
| | | Foregut NETs (2–10 %) | Thymic, gastric, bronchial NETs | Organ specific | |
| | Pituitary tumors | | Prolactinomas (20 %) | Oligomenorrhea, galactorrhea, infertility in woman; impotence and infertility in men | |
| | | | Other: ACTH, TSH, GH+PRL, GH, NF (each 2–9 %) | Hormone-dependent | |
| | Other endocrine manifestations | | Benign adrenocortical tumors (73 %) | Most nonfunctioning | |
| | | | Adrenocortical carcinoma (13 %) | Hormone-dependent | |
| | | | Pheochromocytomas (<1 %) | Rarely described, mainly asymptomatic | |
| | | | Thyroid adenomas, goiter, and carcinoma (25 %) | Usually incidental finding | |
| | CNS tumors | | Ependymomas, schwannomas, meningiomas (1 %) | Mainly asymptomatic | |
| | Cutaneous manifestations | | Multiple subcutaneous lipomas (33 %); visceral, pleural, or retroperitoneal lipomas (rare) | | |
| | | | Facial angiofibromas and collagenomas (up to 88 %) | | |

Table 20.1 Clinical manifestations in MEN1

NETs neuroendocrine tumors, *PNETs* pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors, *ZES* Zollinger-Ellison syndrome, *VIPomas* vasointestinal polypeptide-secreting tumors, *NF PNETs* nonfunctioning pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors, *GHRH* growth hormone-releasing hormone, *IGF1* insulin growth factor 1, *ACTH* adrenocortical hormone, *TSH* thyroid-stimulating hormone, *PRL* prolactin, *NF* nonfunctioning, *CNS* central nervous system

PHPT is a progressive disease in MEN1: whereas asymptomatic hypercalcemia is the most common manifestation, patients may present with symptoms (e.g., fatigue, weakness, polydipsia, polyuria, myalgias, or abdominal pain) or signs (nephrolithiasis or osteitis fibrosa cystica) related to the progressive increase in serum and/or urinary calcium and disease duration.

A major clinical manifestation of MEN1-associated PHPT is progressing demineralization with severe osteopenia ($T \operatorname{score} < -2.0$) in ~44 % of patients with uncontrolled disease, by the age of 35 [20]. Recurrent kidney stones are less frequently described in MEN1 families, and it is unusual for these patients to develop chronic renal failure as a result of nephrolithiasis [21, 22].

The diagnosis of PHPT is based upon demonstrating elevated serum levels of calcium and parathyroid hormone (PTH). Mild hypercalcemia with normal/ increased range of serum PTH concentration can usually be detected during the second decade of life [23]. Total serum calcium concentration corrected for albumin level is considered the screening test for PHPT in MEN1 [24]. Noteworthy, identifying the "subclinical" stage of hyperparathyroidism has not been considered essential until recently, when an increased cardiovascular risk has been reported in patients with mild normocalcemic hyperparathyroidism [25]. However, the performance of serum PTH measurement as a screening test remains controversial. Diagnosis of hyperparathyroidism requires levels of PTH inadequately high for the concomitant calcium levels. At present, different kits for assessment of PTH are available. Second generation of kits, measuring concentrations of the so-called intact PTH (iPTH), is in general usage [26]. Routine testing for MEN1 mutations in young patients with primary hyperparathyroidism is not recommended, as these mutations are rare in unselected patients even below 40 years of age [27]. Such testing should be considered in patients with multiple gland involvement, coexistence of other tumors characteristic for MEN1, or family history of hyperparathyroidism or MEN1 tumors.

20.2.1.2 Treatment of MEN1-Associated PHPT

In contrast to single-gland resection in sporadic cases, a more complex surgical approach, including total parathyroidectomy and thymectomy with autotransplantation of parathyroid tissue or excision of 3.5 parathyroid glands, is indicated for PHPT in MEN1 [18, 28, 29]. Moreover, postoperative hypoparathyroidism and higher rates of recurrent or persistent disease are more frequent in MEN1-associated PHPT than in the sporadic form of the disease [28]. Recurrence is usually located in preserved/residual parathyroid tissue [30], and it is strongly influenced by the surgeon's experience and the possibility to perform intraoperative PTH determinations [28]. Intraoperative PTH assessment is mandatory in these patients to confirm the removal of all functional parathyroid tissue before parathyroid autotransplantation.

In MEN1 patients with preclinical/eucalcemic PHPT, the approach is still uncertain: early parathyroidectomy is recommended by some experts to control even mild hyperparathyroidism and to prevent the progressive decline of bone mineral density and the increased risk for kidney stones [31, 32]. In MEN1-associated PHPT patients in whom surgery is not possible or ineffective, medical treatment with calcimimetic drugs emerged as an effective, though expensive, option [33, 34]. Cinacalcet therapy is well tolerated by most of the patients; rarely, gastrointestinal side effects may induce discontinuation of the therapy [34, 35]. Interestingly, the administration of the somatostatin analogue octreotide LAR controlled hypercalcemia and hypercalciuria in two-thirds of patients with MEN1-related PHP, this effect being most probably mediated by the octreotide LAR binding to somatostatin receptors on parathyroid tumor cells in patients with MEN1-related PHP [36].

20.2.2 MEN1-Associated Pancreatic Islet Cell Neuroendocrine Tumors (PNETs)

Pancreatic and duodenal neuroendocrine tumors represent the second most frequent manifestation in MEN1 (occurring in 30–80 % of cases) and continue to be the primary cause of tumor-related death in these patients [10, 37]. Although PHPT is usually the first manifestation of MEN1 syndrome, the penetrance of MEN1-related PNETs is similar to that of parathyroid tumors [38]. In contrast with the sporadic PNETs, MEN1-related PNETs are characterized by an early onset, multifocality, variable expression of the tumors, and propensity for malignant transformation; both the histology and the size of the tumor are predictors of the malignant potential [5, 39–41]. Some of these tumors secrete gastrin, insulin, glucagon, vasoactive intestinal polypeptide (VIP), etc., and are associated with distinct clinical syndromes, whereas most PNETs are clinically silent tumors (nonfunctioning, secreting pancreatic polypeptide, PP) [5]. Given that MEN1-associated PNETs are usually multiple and of a possible malignant behavior, their timely diagnosis and management are challenging and of major importance.

20.2.2.1 Gastrinomas

Clinical Manifestations and Diagnosis

Gastrin-secreting tumors (gastrinomas) are the most frequent functioning duodenopancreatic NETs in patients with MEN1 (>50 %), and ~20 % of patients with gastrinomas will have MEN1 [42–44]. Gastrinomas occur more often in patients with MEN1 who are older than 30 years; are associated with marked gastric acid secretion and recurrent and severe peptic ulcerations (the Zollinger-Ellison syndrome, ZES), which may perforate; and are usually metastatic at diagnosis [45, 46]. These features are responsible for the major morbidity (peptic ulcer disease, diarrhea and steatorrhea, cachexia, and abdominal pain) and mortality associated with MEN1 [47, 48].

In contrast to the sporadic gastrinomas that occur predominantly in the pancreas, in MEN1, most of these tumors develop in the proximal duodenum [49]. Gastrinomas are usually small (<5 mm) and multiple, growing slowly deep into the mucosa and metastasizing frequently to the peripancreatic lymph nodes and further to the liver [50]. Pancreatic gastrinomas or other extra-pancreatic, extraduodenal (e.g., ovary, liver, bile duct, pylorus, spleen, mesentery), and extraabdominal (e.g., cardiac intraventricular septum) locations in MEN1 patients are extremely rare [51, 52]. When found in the pancreas, it may be difficult to distinguish gastrinomas from concomitant nonfunctioning PNETs, and in this eventuality selective arterial secretagogue injection test (SASI test) may help in localizing the gastrin-secreting tumor [43, 53].

The diagnosis is established by demonstration of an increased fasting serum gastrin concentration (found to be elevated in 90-98 % of ZES patients) after stopping antisecretory drugs (proton pump inhibitors, PPIs, at least 1 week; histamine receptors 2 blockers, H2R, for at least 2 days) [54], in association with increased basal gastric acid secretion (gastric pH < 2) [52, 55]. However, stopping antisecretory drugs in ZES patients is often impossible due to severe symptoms of peptic disease and diarrhea and may be hazardous due to possible perforation or bleeding. Occasionally, iv provocative tests with either secretin (2 U/kg) or calcium infusion (4 mg $Ca^{2+}/kg \cdot h$ for 3 h) are required to distinguish patients with ZES from other patients with hypergastrinemia (e.g., those with antral G-cell hyperplasia) [50]. In two-thirds of patients with ZES, fasting serum gastrin levels overlap with values seen in other conditions. In these patients, gastrin provocative tests are needed to establish the diagnosis of ZES [56]. For unknown reasons, secretin stimulates the release of gastrin by gastrinoma cells, and therefore patients with these tumors have a dramatic rise in serum gastrin in response to a secretin infusion. In contrast, normal gastric G cells are inhibited by secretin, and therefore serum gastrin concentrations do not rise in patients with other causes of hypergastrinemia. The secretin stimulation test is performed by administering 0.4 µg of secretin per kg body weight (RepliGen Corporation, Waltham, MA) intravenously over 1 min; a baseline serum gastrin is measured twice before the secretin is administered and classically 2, 5, 10, 15, and 20 min later. An increase of ≥120 pg/mL in gastrin levels is highly suggestive of gastrinoma [56].

In some patients with MEN1, the diagnosis of ZES may be difficult, as it does not appear to develop in the absence of primary hyperparathyroidism, whereas hypergastrinemia has also been reported to be associated with hypercalcemia [54]. Moreover, successful treatment of MEN1-associated PHPT with restoration of normocalcemia is known to ameliorate clinical symptoms and biochemical abnormalities in ~20 % of MEN1 patients with ZES [44].

Tumor localization and determination of the tumor extent are essential to the proper management for MEN1 gastrinomas: endoscopic ultrasonography, CT, MRI, selective abdominal angiography, and mainly somatostatin-receptor scintigraphy/Ga⁶⁸-DOTA-TATE/-TOC/-NOC PET-CT are very helpful in localizing the tumor [53, 57]. Moreover, the combination of intra-arterial calcium injections with hepatic venous gastrin sampling has been shown to regionalize the gastrinomas [58]. Importantly, these tumors are often occult to conventional exploration, and their detection requires duodenotomy and meticulous evaluation of the mucosa by eversion and direct palpation [59].

Management of MEN1-Associated Gastrinomas

Control of Gastric Hypersecretion

The management of patients with ZES is directed toward reducing basal acid output to less than 10 mmol/l and includes acute- and long-term control of gastric acid hypersecretion by parietal cell H⁺-K⁺-adenosine triphosphatase (proton pump) inhibitors, PPIs (omeprazole, lansoprazole, pantoprazole, rabeprazole, and esomeprazole), starting a dose equivalent to 60 mg/day of omeprazole [54]; the dosage should be increased to b.i.d. in patients with severe gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD) symptoms, with previous Billroth II or gastroenterostomies, or with hypercalcemia with MEN1 [52]. Long-term PPI treatment is safe and without loss of efficacy; no gastric carcinoid development associated to PPI-induced hypergastrinemia was demonstrated in humans [52]. Some patients may also require additional treatment with the histamine H2 receptor antagonists, cimetidine or ranitidine [5].

Surgical Management of Gastrinoma

In patients with MEN1 and ZES, correction of the PHPT by parathyroidectomy can significantly decrease basal acid output and fasting gastrin level and increase sensitivity to gastric antisecretory drugs [60]. The role of surgery in the treatment of the gastrinoma in MEN1/ZES patients is controversial [61, 62]: these patients cannot be cured as they usually have multiple duodenal tumors with frequent lymph node metastases. In addition, they usually have concomitant nonfunctional PNETs. As development of liver metastases, associated with a poor prognosis, is more frequent in the presence of large tumors, exploration is recommended whenever a PNET of >2 cm is found [62]. Surgical resection of duodenal MEN1-associated gastrinomas, based on preoperative and intraoperative (e.g., transillumination of the duodenum) tumor regionalization, may be considered in specialized centers. Due to increased morbidity and potential mortality after extensive resections, the surgical excision has to be individualized based on preoperative findings, patient history (e.g., preexisting diabetes), and preference [37]. Interestingly, the presence of lymph node metastases in 50-60 % of patients with MEN1-related duodenal gastrinomas is not usually associated with a decreased survival [60].

Management of Metastatic MEN1 Gastrinoma

Long-acting somatostatin analogues (SSAs) such as octreotide LAR, lanreotide SR, or the lanreotide Autogel alone or in combination with interferon are recommended as initial therapy [52, 63]. The main effect of these agents is tumoristatic effect, with disease stabilization observed in ~40–70 % of patients, whereas decrease in tumor size (partial response) is reported in only 10–20 % of patients [64]; these agents are particularly effective in slower-growing PNETs [65]. Chemotherapy with strepto-zotocin and 5-fluorouracil, hepatic artery embolization, PRRT, or removal of all resectable tumor have been occasionally successful in patients with disseminated MEN1 gastrinomas [66, 67].

20.2.2.2 Insulinomas

Clinical Manifestations and Diagnosis

Insulinomas represent between 10 and 30 % of all MEN1-related PNETs, and rarely (in 10 % of patients with MEN1), they may coexist with a gastrinoma or with other nonfunctioning PNETs at the time of diagnosis, in the same patient [9, 68]. In MEN1 patients, insulinomas occur more often at an age younger than 40 years (in many patients even younger than 20 years and in some as young as 5 years), in contrast to the sporadic insulinoma patients in whom the disease occurs usually after the age of 40 years [9, 69]. Insulinoma is the first manifestation of MEN1 in 10 % of patients, whereas ~4 % of patients with insulinomas will have MEN1 [5, 66]. The clinical presentation, biochemical and anatomical diagnosis of MEN1-related insulinomas, and the medical and surgical treatment of these patients are similar to those in the sporadic insulinoma patients and are addressed in detail in the "Insulinomas" chapter of this textbook [70, 71].

20.2.2.3 Glucagonomas

Clinical Manifestations and Diagnosis

Glucagon-secreting pancreatic tumors occur in fewer than 3 % of patients with MEN1 (Table 20.1) [5, 50], are highly malignant, and frequently are localized at the tail of the pancreas [5, 72]. Importantly, in MEN1-associated glucagonomas, the characteristic clinical manifestations (such as the necrolytic migratory erythema, weight loss, anemia, or stomatitis) [73, 74] may be absent, and the tumor may be detected in a completely asymptomatic patient with MEN1 undergoing routine pancreatic imaging or detected by glucose intolerance and concomitant increase in glucagon levels [75, 76].

Management of MEN1-Associated Glucagonomas

Surgical removal is the treatment of choice. However, up to 80 % of glucagonoma patients have metastatic disease at the time of diagnosis [77], and therefore systemic therapy using SSAs, PRRT, chemotherapy (streptozotocin and 5-fluorouracil), or hepatic artery embolization has been successful in some patients [63, 78–81].

20.2.2.4 VIPomas

Clinical Manifestations and Diagnosis

The vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP) secreting tumors (VIPomas) are rare in MEN1, occur commonly in the tail of the pancreas, and produce a clinical syndrome (Verner-Morrison syndrome) with watery diarrhea, hypokalemia, and achlorhydria (WDHA) [80, 82]. The diagnosis requires excluding laxative and diuretic abuse, demonstration of a large fasting stool volume (0.5–1 l/day) during a fast, and an elevated serum VIP concentration [50].

Management of MEN1-Associated VIPomas

Surgical excision of VIPomas is the main therapeutic intervention in these patients, with a curative purpose. However, in patients with unresectable or metastatic tumor, systemic treatment with SSAs, chemotherapy (streptozotocin and 5-fluorouracil), corticosteroids, indomethacin, metoclopramide, lithium carbonate, and hepatic artery embolization has been used with different efficacy [37, 38].

20.2.2.5 Nonfunctioning PNETs (NF PNETS)

Clinical Manifestations and Diagnosis

NF PNETs represent a heterogeneous group of tumors being increasingly identified as the result of increasing sensitivity of radiological screening methods [40, 41, 83]. Importantly, NF PNETs have been reported to occur in young asymptomatic patients who are even less than 15 years of age. NF PNETs are not associated with a clinical syndrome and may be associated with minor elevation of specific pancreatic hormones (e.g., pancreatic polypeptide) but without clinical symptoms [38].

Identification of NF PNETs is of outmost importance, as they are the most common NETs occurring in the MEN1 setting, they have a well-recognized malignant potential, they are associated with a worse prognosis, and they are the most common cause of death in MEN1 patients [47, 55, 84, 85]. In the absence of specific clinical and biochemical abnormalities, the diagnosis of NF PNETs may be delayed, and therefore radiological screening for enteropancreatic NET in MEN1 is mandatory and should begin at the age of 10 years. The optimal screening method and its timing interval are still controversial and depend on method availability and skills of the performer [48, 83]: endoscopic ultrasound is probably the most sensitive, whereas somatostatin-receptor scintigraphy/gallium-68-DOTA-TATE/-TOC/-NOC PET-CT is the most specific method for detecting metastatic disease. The clinical significance of small NF PNETs (e.g., <1 cm) in asymptomatic individuals is still not fully understood [86].

Management of MEN1-Associated NF PNETs

Surgical Therapy of MEN1-NF PNETs

The treatment approach of asymptomatic NF PNETs is controversial. To date, treatment decision is based on tumor size, as the risk of metastases is thought to be higher in patients with larger tumors [87, 88]. Some reports suggest that early and aggressive surgery might reduce the risks for malignant progression [89]. However, other studies have not confirmed this association [45, 90], and therefore, there is no consensus to date regarding the indications and timing of surgery. The latest clinical guidelines [37] suggest considering surgical resection for NF PNETs that are more than 1 cm in size which may be successful in up to 80 % of MEN1 patients [91, 92]; however, other centers recommend surgery only for tumors of more than 2 cm [87]. For tumor size less than 1 cm, surgical resection should be considered for tumors with a size doubling time of a 3- to 6-month interval [37]. However, there are many factors influencing the decision on surgery in these patients, such as the increased morbidity of pancreatic surgery (as complications such as diabetes mellitus, steatorrhea, dumping syndromes are not uncommon) [38], the possible presence of occult metastatic disease at the time of initial diagnosis, and the high risk for disease recurrence in the remnant pancreatic tissue after surgery [91–93].

Medical Therapy of MEN1-NF PNETs

PNET cells may express different kinase receptors, such as tyrosine kinase receptors (TK-R), vascular endothelial growth factor receptors (VEGF-R), and plateletderived growth factor receptors (PDGF-R), whereas some exhibit over-activation of the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) signaling pathway, which stimulates cell proliferation and angiogenesis. Recently, systemic therapy with tyrosine kinase receptor inhibitors (TKI; sunitinib malate) or with mTOR inhibitors (mTORi; everolimus) was reported as significantly increasing time to tumor progression in patients with locally progressive or metastatic PNETs [94, 95]. Moreover, all the other treatment modalities considered for functioning PNETs such as chemotherapy (the classic streptozotocin and 5-FU combination or the new combination of temozolomide and capecitabine), SSAs, peptide receptor radioligand therapy, hepatic artery chemoembolization, radio-frequency ablation, etc., may be individually used in treating patients with metastatic NF PNETs [96–100].

20.2.2.6 Other PNETs

Rare PNETs ectopically secreting growth hormone-releasing hormone (GHRH) have been reported in some patients with MEN1 [66, 101]. They may occur in the lungs, pancreas, or the small intestine and should be suspected when elevated levels of growth hormone (GH) and GHRH are found in the serum of the patient or when the patient has clinical acromegaly.

About 0.65 % of MEN1-related PNET may produce somatostatin and are defined as somatostatinomas, rare tumors which are usually nonfunctioning or, in 10 % of cases, associated with a clinical syndrome of hyperglycemia, cholelithiasis, low acid output, steatorrhea, diarrhea, abdominal pain, anemia, and weight loss (the somatostatinoma syndrome) [72, 102].

Surgical removal is the treatment of choice for these rare tumors.

20.2.3 MEN1-Associated Pituitary Tumors

Patients affected by the MEN1 syndrome display a high incidence (~42 %) of pituitary adenomas [103–105], which may occur as early as 5 years of age and as late as the ninth decade and have been reported to occur more frequently in women than men (Table 20.1) [103]. The molecular pathways involved in their development seem different from the sporadic tumors [106–108]; approximately 40 % of patients with MEN1 have pituitary adenomas and 17 % present with a pituitary tumor [109].

All types of adenomas can be found in MEN1 patients with a predominance of prolactinoma and macroadenoma (i.e., diameter greater than 1 cm) compared to a control population. Acromegaly is seen in 9 % of cases and has a greater female preponderance in MEN1 than in sporadic disease [105]. Nonsecreting adenomas, thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH)-secreting adenomas, and adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH)secreting adenomas do occur in MEN1 patients, in decreasing frequency [105]. MEN1related pituitary tumors may exhibit immunoreactivity to several hormones, with a higher occurrence of somatolactotrophinomas [103]. Interestingly, plurihormonal expression is frequently observed in MEN1-associated pituitary tumors compared with sporadic pituitary tumors [105]. The MEN1 tumors seem to have a more aggressive behavior, to be more invasive (with infiltration of tumor cells into surrounding normal pituitary tissue) and more resistant to treatment, therefore requiring a long and careful life follow-up [106, 110]. However, no increased prevalence of pituitary carcinoma is observed in MEN1 (63). These tumors may occur in the pediatric population and may be the first and only manifestation of MEN1 for some years [106, 111].

20.2.3.1 Clinical Manifestations and Diagnosis

Clinical manifestations of MEN1-associated pituitary tumors are similar to those in sporadic pituitary tumors [103]. They depend on the hormone secreted (e.g., symptoms of increased prolactin, such as oligomenorrhea, galactorrhea, infertility in woman, impotence, and infertility in men; symptoms of acromegaly due to increased GH/IGF-I secretion; symptoms of Cushing's disease due to increased cortisol secretion, etc.) and on the size of the tumor. Enlarging pituitary tumors may compress adjacent structures such as the optic chiasm or normal pituitary tissue and may cause visual disturbances and/or hypopituitarism [106].

In an MEN1 patient, periodic biochemical monitoring, including measurement of serum prolactin and IGF-I levels, and MRI [83] of the pituitary are indicated, and further hypothalamic-pituitary hormonal testing should be performed in patients with abnormal results [37].

20.2.3.2 Treatment of MEN1-Related Pituitary Tumors

Treatment of these tumors is similar to the one in patients with sporadic tumors and includes medical therapy (specifically dopamine agonists for prolactinoma or somatostatin analogues for GH-secreting adenoma together with surgical excision) and, if feasible, surgical excision, e.g., selective transsphenoidal tumor resection, with adjuvant radiotherapy in case of residual unresectable tumor tissue [105]. Noteworthy, as a result of the aggressive tumor behavior, MEN1 patients with pituitary tumors are less responsive to medical or surgical therapy, with a hormone normalization rate of 42 % compared with 90 % in patients with sporadic tumors, after therapy [103, 110, 112].

20.2.4 Other MEN1-Associated Tumors

MEN1 patients frequently develop tumors involving tissues other than the parathyroid glands, pancreas, and pituitary gland, such as neuroendocrine tumors (carcinoids), adrenal cortical tumors, thyroid tumors, facial angiofibromas, collagenomas, lipomatous tumors, and meningiomas [113, 114] (Table 20.1).
20.2.4.1 MEN1-Related Neuroendocrine Tumors (NETs, Carcinoids)

Clinical Manifestations and Diagnosis

NETs occur in ~3 % of MEN1 patients (Table 20.1), with the lungs, intestinal tract, or thymus being frequent sites of origin. In MEN1 patients, these tumors may be gender related, with a woman predominance for lung NETs and a male predominance for thymic NETs, cigarette smokers having an increased risk for developing these tumors [66, 115, 116]; moreover, there are no hormonal or biochemical abnormalities consistently reported in MEN1 patients with thymic or lung NETs. Importantly, MEN1-associated thymic NETs seem to be particularly aggressive, with a median survival time of approximately 9.5 years and with 70 % of patients dying as a direct result of the tumor [116].

Screening for these NETs is of major importance and their diagnosis depends on the imaging method used and the skills of the radiologist; CT and MRI are sensitive methods, whereas somatostatin-receptor scintigraphy may be useful, although there is still insufficient evidence to recommend its routine use [116, 117]. The current guidelines for the early detection of MEN1-related thymic and lung NETs recommend the use of CT or MRI imaging every 1–2 years (in favor of MRI, as repeated CT exposure to repeated doses of ionizing radiation may be harmful) [117, 118]. Noteworthy, thymic NETs have occurred also after prophylactic thymectomy, suggesting that surveillance imaging is still required [119] even after tumor excision.

Type II gastric NETs are associated with MEN1 and Zollinger-Ellison syndrome, are usually multiple and smaller than 1.5 cm, and may be detected incidentally during endoscopy in these patients [119].

Treatment of MEN1-Associated NETs

Surgical excision is the treatment of choice [119]. For unresectable or metastatic disease, treatment with somatostatin analogues, such as octreotide or lanreotide, has resulted in improvement in symptoms and tumor regression [119, 120]. In addition, chemotherapeutic agents (e.g., cisplatin, etoposide) or radiotherapy may be used in patients with aggressive tumors [121].

20.2.4.2 MEN1-Related Adrenal Tumors

Clinical Manifestations and Diagnosis

Adrenocortical tumors occur in up to 73 % of the patients with MEN1 (Table 20.1) [83, 122–124] and include adenomas, hyperplasia, cysts, or carcinomas. Most are nonfunctioning [122], whereas functional tumors are reported to occur in less than 10 % of patients, with primary hyperaldosteronism and ACTH-independent Cushing's syndrome most commonly reported [122]. Pheochromocytomas are rarely described in MEN1 patients, whereas adrenocortical carcinoma is reported to occur in up to 13 % of MEN1 patients, in parallel with a tumor size of more than 1 cm [122].

Biochemical investigation (e.g., plasma renin and aldosterone concentrations, low-dose dexamethasone suppression test or 24-hour urine collection for free cortisol, urinary catecholamines and metanephrines, or plasma metanephrines) should be performed as routine for adrenal tumors. It is recommended that MEN1 patients

| | | Organ involved | Specific tumor/ manifestation (prevalence by 40 years) | Clinical presentation |
|------|------------------|---------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| MEN2 | MEN2A (>75 %) | Thyroid | MTC (90 %) | Neck mass or neck pain, diarrhea, flushing |
| | | Adrenal | Pheochromocytomas (50 %) | Subtle symptoms, usually bilateral |
| | | Parathyroid | Multigland adenoma/ hyperplasia (20–30 %) | Usually asymptomatic |
| | | Skin | CLA | Pruritic, lichenoid skin lesion in the upper portion of the back |
| | | MEN2A genetically related | HSCR | Bowel enlargement and constipation/obstipation |
| | | | PTC | Concomitant PTC and MTC |
| | FMTC (10-20%) | Thyroid | MTC (100 %) | ≥4 individuals with MTC in the same family in the absence of pheochromocytoma or parathyroid adenoma/ hyperplasia |
| | MEN2B (5%) | Thyroid | MTC (90 %) | Very aggressive, usually metastatic |
| | | Adrenal | Pheochromocytomas (50 %) | Usually multiple/bilateral (50 %) |
| | | Other | Mucosal neuromas, frequent | Tongue, palate, or pharynx; eyelid |
| | | | Ocular signs, frequent | Inability to cry tears, thickened corneal nerves, ptosis, eyelid eversion |
| | | | Diffuse ganglioneuromatosis of the GIT (40 %) | Abdominal distension, megacolon, constipation, or diarrhea |
| | | | Marfanoid habitus (75 %) | Associated with kyphoscoliosis or lordosis, joint laxity, decreased subcutaneous fat, proximal muscle wasting, weakness |

Table 20.2 Clinical manifestations in MEN2

FMTC familial medullary thyroid carcinoma, *MTC* medullary thyroid carcinomas, *CLA* cutaneous lichen amyloidosis, *HSCR* Hirschsprung's disease, *PTC* papillary thyroid carcinoma, *GIT* gastro-intestinal tract

with adrenal tumors should undergo an annual imaging screening (CT or MRI) of the adrenal glands (Table 20.2) [122, 124].

Treatment of MEN1-Related Adrenal Tumors

The treatment of MEN1-related adrenal tumors is similar to that for tumors occurring in the sporadic context. Surgical excision is recommended for adrenal tumors that are more than 4 cm in diameter, or less than 4 cm but with suspicious radiological features, or for tumors with significant growth over a 6-month interval [124].

20.2.4.3 MEN1-Related Central Nervous System (CNS) Tumors

Different CNS tumors have been reported in MEN1 patients, including ependymomas, schwannomas, and meningiomas (Table 20.1). The majority of meningiomas are asymptomatic and do not enlarge. Their follow-up and treatment are similar to that occurring in non-MEN1 patients [125].

20.2.4.4 MEN1-Related Thyroid Tumors

Thyroid adenomas, nodular goiter, and thyroid carcinoma have all been reported in more than 25 % of MEN1 patients. However, the occurrence of thyroid abnormalities in these patients may be incidental, as these disorders are also frequent in the general population. The treatment of MEN1-related thyroid tumors is similar to that for sporadic cases [50].

20.2.4.5 MEN1-Related Cutaneous Manifestations

Multiple subcutaneous lipomas are reported in more than 33 % of MEN1 patients (Table 20.1). Rarely, visceral, pleural, or retroperitoneal lipomas may also occur [50]. They are usually treated conservatively but may be excised for cosmetic reasons. Facial angiofibromas and collagenomas may occur in up to 88 % of MEN1 patients (Table 20.1), and usually no treatment is required [126].

20.2.5 Genetic Testing and Screening in MEN1

20.2.5.1 MEN1 Gene

The MEN1 gene is located on chromosome 11q13 and consists of 10 exons, which encode menin, a 610-amino-acid protein [127, 128], and a tumor suppressor that regulates transcription, genome stability, cell division, and proliferation [66, 129]. Inheritance of a germline MEN1 mutation predisposes an individual to develop a tumor that arises after an additional somatic mutation of the normal allele, which may be a point mutation or a deletion, leading to loss of heterozygosity (LOH) in the tumor DNA (the Knudson two-hit hypothesis) [66].

20.2.5.2 MEN1 Germline Mutations

Over 1,336 mutations of the MEN1gene have been characterized [66]. About 75 % of the MEN1 germline mutations are inactivating, consistent with those expected in a tumor suppressor gene. There are nine sites in the MEN1 gene accounting for over 20 % of all the germline mutations [66]. Noteworthy, it appears that there is no clear-cut correlation between MEN1 mutations and MEN1 clinical manifestations. The apparent lack of genotype-phenotype correlation, together with the wide diversity of mutations in the 1830-bp coding region of the MEN1 gene, renders mutational analysis more difficult [76, 129]. Importantly, more than 10 % of MEN1 germline mutations arise de novo [129]. Up to 25 % of MEN1 patients may not harbor germline mutations in the MEN1 gene coding region, probably related to

whole or partial gene deletions, or mutations in the promoter or untranslated regions [129, 130]. Phenocopies may mimic MEN1 either by occurrence of a single sporadic endocrine tumor in a patient with familial MEN1 or occurrence of two endocrine abnormalities associated with different etiologies. Phenocopies arose in >5 % of MEN1 families and awareness of them is important in the clinical management of MEN1 and other hereditary disorders [131].

20.2.5.3 MEN1 Gene Polymorphisms

A gene is said to be polymorphic if more than one allele occupies that gene's locus within a population [132]. Twenty-four different polymorphisms of the MEN1 gene have been reported [129]. The recognition of these polymorphisms is important as they may occasionally help in families without any MEN1 mutation identified [37].

20.2.5.4 MEN1 Tumor Somatic Mutations

More than 90 % of the tumors originating in MEN1 patients exhibit LOH on 11q13, consistent with the Knudson's two-hit (second-hit) hypothesis [129]. Besides the LOH mechanism, the second-hit hypothesis may result also from intragenic deletions and point mutations.

In clinical practice, the mutational analysis of tumor DNA to identify somatic mutations adds little value as LOH involving chromosome 11q13 in the MEN1 location has been observed in up to 50 % of sporadic endocrine tumors [129, 133].

20.2.5.5 MEN1 Variants

In rare families with MEN1 variants, only some of MEN1 characteristic clinical manifestations may be observed. Familial isolated hyperparathyroidism (FIHP) is a condition characterized by the development of parathyroid tumors as the sole endocrinopathy, being reported to date in 42 FIHP kindreds: 38 % developed missense mutations, and fewer than 31 % presented with nonsense or frameshift mutations [129, 134]. Another MEN1 variant is the Burin or prolactinomas variant, characterized by a high occurrence of prolactinomas and a low occurrence of gastrinomas [135–137] as result of nonsense mutations (Tyr312Stop and Arg460Stop). Another example is Tasmanian MEN1 kindred in whom the absence of somatotropinomas was observed as a result of a splice site mutation [138].

20.2.5.6 MEN1 Mutational Analysis in Clinical Practice

MEN1 mutational analysis is important for confirmation of the clinical diagnosis, for the identification of family members who require screening for tumor detection and appropriate treatment, as well as for the identification of the 50 % of family members who do not harbor the familial germline MEN1 mutation and can therefore be reassured [50].

MEN1 mutational analysis should be performed in the following circumstances [27, 139, 140]:

- In an index case with ≥2 classic MEN1-associated endocrine tumors (i.e., parathyroid, pancreatic, or pituitary tumors)
- In asymptomatic first-degree relative of a known MEN1 mutation carrier

- In a first-degree relative of an MEN1 mutation carrier having symptoms, signs, biochemical, or radiological evidence for one or more MEN1-associated tumors
- In patients with suspicious or atypical MEN1, including individuals with parathyroid adenomas diagnosed before the age of 30 years
- In patients with multigland parathyroid disease, gastrinoma, or multiple pancreatic NETs at any age
- In individuals who have two or more MEN1-associated tumors not part of the classical triad of parathyroid, pancreatic islet, and anterior pituitary tumors
- In those individuals presenting at an early age with a single, apparently sporadic MEN1-associated tumor

20.2.5.7 MEN1 Tumors Identification

As MEN1 syndrome is associated with a complex spectrum of clinical, diagnostic, and therapeutic aspects, it is recommended for these patients and their families to be followed by teams with expertise in the management of MEN1, including an endocrinologist experienced in MEN syndromes [50]. As the MEN1 gene mutation appears to be nonpenetrant in individuals younger than 5 years, but with a >50 % penetrance by 20 years of age and >95 % by 40 years, a timely biochemical and imaging screening in asymptomatic members of MEN1 families is imperative, as earlier diagnosis and treatment may reduce the morbidity and mortality related to these tumors [5, 39, 66, 141].

PHPT-induced hypercalcemia is usually the first manifestation of MEN1 and therefore has become an easy biochemical screening investigation. In addition, hyperprolactinemia, usually asymptomatic, may represent the first manifestation in approximately 15 % of patients and may be easily detected [66]. PNETs may be detected in asymptomatic individuals by measuring fasting plasma concentrations of gastrin, pancreatic polypeptide, glucagon, and chromogranin A and by abdominal imaging [142, 143].

The latest guidelines [50] suggest that mutant MEN1 gene carriers should undergo biochemical screening (including evaluation of serum calcium, PTH, gastrin, insulin with a fasting glucose, glucagon, VIP, pancreatic polypeptide, chromogranin A, prolactin, and IGF-I) at least once a year. Baseline pituitary and abdominal imaging (e.g., MRI or CT) should be performed and then repeated at 1–3 years' interval, as well as imaging for thymic and bronchial carcinoids using CT or MRI every 1–2 years. Screening should possibly commence in early childhood (e.g., by the age of 5 years) and should be repeated throughout life [50].

20.3 Multiple Endocrine Neoplasia Type 2 (MEN2, Sipple Syndrome)

Type 2 multiple endocrine neoplasia (MEN2) is a rare familial cancer syndrome caused by mutations in the RET proto-oncogene. The association between thyroid cancer and pheochromocytoma was first described by Sipple in 1961 [144]. In 1965,

the thyroid cancer occurring in association with pheochromocytoma was defined as medullary thyroid carcinoma (MTC), characterized by stromal amyloid. Since 1968, the familial constellation of MTC in conjunction with pheochromocytoma and with parathyroid hyperplasia was recognized as MEN2. Although patients with mucosal neuromas were already identified, the distinction between MEN2A and MEN2B subtypes was only in 1975 [145].

MEN2 is an autosomal dominant syndrome classified into main two variants: MEN2A and MEN2B [146]. All variants of MEN2 show a high penetrance for MTC, which is diagnosed in as much as 90 % of MEN2 carriers (as a palpable thyroid nodule or an increase in blood calcitonin levels, CLT) [146, 147].

All MEN2 subtypes are caused by a germline mutation in the RET protooncogene and specifically with selected RET codon mutations [148, 149].

20.3.1 The Clinical Presentation of MEN2 Syndromes (Table 20.2)

20.3.1.1 Clinical Presentation of MEN2A

MEN2A is characterized by the development of MTC in 90 % of adult gene carriers, unilateral or bilateral pheochromocytoma in 50 %, and multigland parathyroid adenoma/hyperplasia with primary hyperparathyroidism (PHPT) in 20–30 % [150–152]. MEN2A accounts for over 75 % of MEN2 [153] and may present as rare variants including familial MTC (FMTC) [151, 154], MEN2A with cutaneous lichen amyloidosis [155, 156], and MEN2A or FMTC with Hirschsprung's disease [157].

MEN2A-Related MTC

Hereditary MTC is a rare calcitonin (CLT)-producing tumor developing from the parafollicular or C cells of the thyroid gland [158, 159]. Multifocal C-cell hyperplasia (CCH) is the precursor lesion to hereditary MTC, and the age of transformation from CCH to microscopic MTC varies with different germline RET mutations and may take years [160, 161]. MTC is generally the first manifestation of MEN2A, and the patients typically present with a neck mass or neck pain, usually before age 35 years, with cervical lymph node metastases in up to 70 % [162]. Diarrhea, the most frequent systemic manifestation (~30 % of patients with advanced MTC), occurs in affected individuals with a plasma calcitonin concentration of >10 ng/mL and implies a poor prognosis [163]. Approximately 10 % of MTC patients have flushing often induced by alcohol ingestion, calcium infusion, or pentagastrin injection [164]. All individuals with an MTC-predisposing mutation who have not undergone prophylactic thyroidectomy demonstrate biochemical evidence of MTC by age 35 years [147]. Metastatic spread may occur locally (to the central, lateral, cervical, and mediastinal lymph nodes) or distantly (to the lungs, liver, or bones) [165].

MEN2A-Related Pheochromocytomas

Pheochromocytomas usually present concomitantly or after MTC; however, they may be the presenting symptom in up to 27 % of individuals with MEN2A [166–168]. MEN2-related pheochromocytomas are usually diagnosed earlier, have subtler

symptoms, and are more likely to be bilateral than sporadic tumors [169, 170]. Pheochromocytomas in MEN2 patients entail a distinct biochemical phenotype in that they consistently produce epinephrine or epinephrine and norepinephrine [171]. Malignant transformation was reported in ~4 % of cases [172].

MEN2A-Related Primary Hyperparathyroidism (PHPT)

MEN2A-related PHPT is usually mild, being diagnosed many years after the diagnosis of MTC, with an average age of onset ~38 years [173]. Most individuals are asymptomatic; however, hypercalciuria with renal calculi may occur. In case of long-standing or underdiagnosed disease, hypercalcemia-related symptoms may develop and become severe, in parallel with disease progression [174].

MEN2A-Related Cutaneous Lichen Amyloidosis (CLA)

Pruritic CLA, a lichenoid skin lesion usually located over the upper portion of the back, has been reported in a small number of families with MEN2A carrying codon 634 mutations [175, 176].

20.3.1.2 Clinical Presentation of FMTC

FMTC is historically diagnosed in families with four or more cases of MTC in the absence of pheochromocytoma or parathyroid adenoma/hyperplasia [153, 154] and comprises approximately 10–20 % of cases of MEN2. Because *RET* accounts for all clinical subtypes of MEN2, FMTC may be viewed as MEN2A with reduced organ-specific penetrance. The age of onset of FMTC is later, and the penetrance of MTC is lower than what is observed in MEN2A and MEN2B [177, 178].

20.3.1.3 Clinical Presentation of MEN2A Genetically Related (Allelic) Disorders

Hirschsprung's Disease (HSCR)

HSCR is a genetic disorder characterized by aganglionosis of the gut, likely due to absent gut ganglia and typically resulting in bowel enlargement and constipation/ obstipation in neonates [179]. Up to 50 % of familial cases and up to 35 % of simplex cases (i.e., a single occurrence in a family) of HSCR are caused by germline loss-of-function mutations in the RET proto-oncogene [180, 181].

Papillary Thyroid Carcinoma (PTC)

Up to 40 % of PTCs are associated with somatic gene rearrangements that cause juxtaposition of the tyrosine kinase domain of RET to various gene partners [182, 183]. A few families with rare RET exon 13 and exon 14 germline mutations have demonstrated concomitant MTC and PTC [184, 185].

20.3.1.4 Clinical Presentation of MEN2B

MEN2B comprises approximately 5 % of cases of MEN2, and it is the most aggressive variant of MEN2 syndrome, characterized by MTC and pheochromocytoma, together with a marfanoid habitus and mucosal (lips and tongue) and intestinal ganglioneuromatosis, but not PHPT [186, 187].

MEN2B-Related MTC

MEN2B-related MTC is the most aggressive form of MTC in all affected individuals and metastasizes in all MEN2B carriers who do not undergo thyroidectomy at an early age (<1 year). Before intervention with early prophylactic thyroidectomy, the average age of death in individuals with MEN2B was 21 years [188].

MEN2B-Related Pheochromocytomas

Pheochromocytomas occur in 50 % of individuals with MEN2B; approximately half are multiple and often bilateral [189]. Most commonly, these patients complain of palpitations, anxiety spells, or headache early in their disease; however, in many patients whose tumors were found by family screening, there are no symptoms. Hypertension spells may not be noted until a crisis is induced by an operation or delivery [190].

MEN2B-Related Other Clinical Presentations

- Mucosal neuromas (Figure 20.1) may be identified in early childhood in MEN2B carriers and develop on the anterior dorsal surface of the tongue, palate, or pharynx, together with a distinctive facial appearance. The lips become prominent (or "blubbery") over time as a result of submucosal nodules present on the vermilion border of the lips. Eyelid neuromas may cause thickening and even eversion of the upper eyelid margins [191].
- Ocular Signs of MEN2B: children with MEN2B have the inability to cry tears, and this is an important clinical symptom for early diagnosis preceding the development of metastatic MTC [192]. Other ocular signs develop during childhood and include prominent thickened corneal nerves (seen by slit lamp examination) [193, 194], eyelid neuromas, lid margin eversion or thickening, subconjunctival neuromas, or ptosis [195–197]. There are usually no fundal findings on examination, but in patients presenting already with MTC, choroidal metastases have been observed [198].
- *Diffuse ganglioneuromatosis of the gastrointestinal tract* is reported in ~40 % of affected individuals, and it is associated with early childhood symptoms of aganglionic megacolon [199].

Fig. 20.1 MEN2Bassociated oral mucosal neuromas



 Marfanoid habitus, often with kyphoscoliosis or lordosis, joint laxity, decreased subcutaneous fat, proximal muscle wasting, and weakness, can also be seen in~75 % of affected individuals [200].

20.3.2 The Diagnosis of MEN2 Syndrome Manifestations

20.3.2.1 MTC Diagnosis

CLT values (basal or stimulated by pentagastrin, calcium, or both) are nearly always elevated in MTC [201], being a specific and a sensitive marker, and elevation after surgery suggests persistent or recurrent disease [202]. In provocative testing, plasma CLT concentrations are measured before and 2 and 5 min after intravenous administration of the CLT secretagogue. Reference levels for basal calcitonin vary across laboratories, and usually levels of <10 pg/mL for adult males and <5 pg/mL for adult females are typically considered normal. Furthermore, a basal or stimulated calcitonin level of \geq 100 pg/mL is considered an indication for surgery [203, 204]. Preoperative calcitonin testing may be useful for assessing CCH (C-cell hyperplasia) or tumor spread and should be considered when deciding the extent of surgery for MEN2A MTC [205].

20.3.2.2 Pheochromocytoma Diagnosis

Pheochromocytoma should be suspected whenever elevated levels of catecholamines and/or their metabolites (i.e., norepinephrine, epinephrine, metanephrines, and vanillylmandelic acid) are demonstrated in plasma or 24-h urine collections [170, 206]. Noteworthy, in MEN2, pheochromocytomas consistently produce epinephrine or epinephrine and norepinephrine [206]. Abdominal magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and computed tomography (CT) are performed whenever a pheochromocytoma is suspected clinically or biochemically, with the MRI being more sensitive than CT in detection of these tumors. [¹⁸F]-fluorodopamine positron emission tomography (PET) is the best overall imaging modality in the localization of pheochromocytomas, and if unavailable, then ¹²³I- or ¹³¹I-metaiodobenzylguanidine scintigraphy (MIBG) should be used for further tumor localization and staging [207].

20.3.2.3 PHPT Diagnosis

The diagnosis of PHPT is made when simultaneously elevated serum concentrations of calcium and elevated or high-normal parathyroid hormone are demonstrated on biochemical screening. For adenoma localization, either pre- or postoperatively (in case of recurrence/persistence), localizing studies with [99] mTc-sestamibi scintigraphy or three-dimensional single-photon emission CT may be used [208].

20.3.3 Management of MEN2 Manifestations

20.3.3.1 MEN2-Related MTC Treatment

The main therapeutic approach is surgery; successful excision is dependent upon the adequacy and timing of the initial operation [209–212]. Surgery for MTC should be performed, if possible, before the age of the possible malignant progression, and the likelihood of metastasis is higher if the first operation is performed in an adult [213]. If the basal or stimulated CLT values are elevated, a minimum surgical approach should include total thyroidectomy with central lymph node dissection [214]. Total thyroidectomy with central and complete bilateral neck dissection should be performed routinely in all patients with hereditary MTC, even in those with small thyroid tumors-a contralateral neck dissection may be avoided only in sporadic MTC patients with unilateral involvement of the thyroid gland in the absence of central and ipsilateral neck involvement [214]. If after the primary thyroid surgery the basal (or stimulated) plasma CLT levels are high, it is important to define the extent of the residual disease [215]; if there is no evidence of distant spread and local disease is found, then reoperation is recommended [216, 217]. Surgical intervention is not indicated if distant metastases are found, unless the patient develops respiratory symptoms or secretory diarrhea, for which tumor debulking may help [218]. For systemic disease, standard chemotherapeutic regimens have not proven beneficial, have considerable toxicity, and are therefore not recommended [203, 219, 220], whereas the benefit of external beam irradiation therapy is controversial [221]. In recent years, several kinase inhibitors (including axitinib, cabozantinib (XL-184), lenvatinib (E7080), motesanib, pazopanib, sorafenib, sunitinib, and vandetanib) have been evaluated in phase I and II clinical trials [222], and two of these drugs, vandetanib and cabozantinib, have completed phase III clinical trials. Vandetanib (300 mg/day) prolonged median progression-free survival (PFS) from 19 months in the placebo arm to a predicted median of 31 months in the vandetanib arm [223] and was therefore approved by the FDA in April 2011 and by the EMEA in February 2012. Cabozantinib (175 mg/day) prolonged PFS prolongation from 4 to 11 months and was approved by the FDA in November 2012 [224]. However, taking into account that the toxicity of these drugs is significant, with dose reduction or treatment withdrawal in a significant proportion of patients, and that there is currently no evidence for a higher treatment efficacy at an earlier disease stage nor survival benefit, these treatments should be initiated only in patients with documented tumor progression [225].

20.3.3.2 MEN2-Related Pheochromocytomas Treatment

Pheochromocytomas are usually removed by adrenalectomy, which may be performed by video-assisted laparoscopy [226]. Before operation, antihypertensive treatment should be instituted with initial α -adrenergic blockade, and if tachycardia ensues, β -adrenergic receptor blockade can be added [170, 227]. Because of an increased risk of adrenal insufficiency after bilateral adrenalectomy, most experts recommend to date unilateral adrenalectomy in unilateral tumors and corticalsparing adrenal surgery with close monitoring of the remnant tissue in persons with one remaining adrenal gland or bilateral pheochromocytoma [166].

The presence of a pheochromocytoma has to be excluded in any individual with MTC or MEN2 before any surgery, as patients with undiagnosed tumors may die from an uncontrolled hypertensive crisis perioperatively [228]. If detected, pheochromocytoma excision should precede any other surgical intervention to avoid an intraoperative crisis [229].

20.3.3.3 MEN2-Related Primary Hyperparathyroidism (PHPT) Treatment

Once the biochemical diagnosis of PHPT is confirmed in an MEN2 patient, the indications for surgical excision are similar to those in patients with sporadic PHPT and include symptomatic or marked hypercalcemia, nephrolithiasis, major hypercalciuria, and evidence of bone loss [230]. The presence/absence of pheochromocy-toma should be established before the parathyroid surgery in order to avoid a life-threatening pheochromocytoma crisis.

One of the important concerns in the management of MEN2-related PHP is the ability to identify single versus multiple gland disease and subsequently decide on the appropriated surgical procedure in order to prevent recurrences. Initially, treatment of MEN2-related PHPT included subtotal parathyroidectomy or total parathyroidectomy with forearm autograft [173]. However, it appears that sporadic PHPT and MEN1- and MEN2A-related PHPT are three distinct entities as is reflected preoperatively by differences in gender, age at diagnosis, and calcium and PTH levels; MEN2A patients are very similar to sporadic PHPT with respect to operative approach and findings [231]. Minimally invasive procedure is the treatment of choice for both, with low rates of persistent and recurrent PHPT and a low complication rate. The percentage of multiglandular disease and recurrences are significantly higher in MEN1 patients, demonstrating the need for a different approach [231].

Individuals with PHPT who have undergone prior thyroidectomy should have preoperative localization with excision of the localized hypertrophied parathyroid glands and forearm autotransplantation. Therapy with medications to control PHPT should be considered in individuals with a high risk of surgical mortality, limited life expectancy, or persistent or recurrent PHPT after one or more surgical attempts [173].

20.3.4 Prevention of MEN2-Related Primary Manifestations

Prophylactic thyroidectomy, a major preventive measure for all age groups of carriers of a germline RET mutation [162, 203], is a reasonably safe decision when performed by experienced surgeons. To date, there is still controversy about the timing of the surgery [232] and it is recommended to be guided by the codon position of the RET mutation [203]. Thyroidectomy before progression to invasive MTC may allow thyroidectomy with sparing of lymph nodes [233]. For all individuals with a RET mutation who have not underwent a thyroidectomy, annual

biochemical screening is recommended, with immediate thyroidectomy if results are abnormal [234]. Annual serum CLT screening should start at age 6 months for MEN2B children and at age 3–5 years for those with MEN2A or FMTC. Importantly, caution should be used in interpreting calcitonin results for children younger than 3 years and mainly in children younger than 6 months [203].

20.3.5 Molecular Genetic Testing for MEN2 Patients

MEN2 is associated with activating mutations in the RET proto-oncogene, and therefore RET molecular genetic testing is indicated in all individuals with a clinical diagnosis of MTC, MEN2, or primary CCH [5].

It is recommended that all MTC patients, including those with clinical/family suspicion for MEN2, should undergo germline RET analysis for exons 10, 11, and 13–16, as ~98 % of MEN2A patients have a mutation in exon 10 or 11 [153, 203] and ~95 % of FMTC patients have a mutation in exons 10, 11, and 13–16 [235]. Importantly, if exon-specific testing is negative, then sequencing of the entire RET coding region should be completed in the setting of an MEN2A.

In case of MEN2B suspicion, targeted mutation analysis or sequencing of exons 16 and 15 to detect the p.M918T and p.A883F mutations should be firstly performed, and if negative, testing for p.V804M in exon 14 followed by sequencing of the entire RET coding region should be done [170]. Moreover, in the subset of patient with apparently isolated adrenal pheochromocytoma, RET as well as VHL and succinate dehydrogenase (SDH) molecular genetic testing should be considered [236–238].

20.3.5.1 MEN2 Genotype-Phenotype Correlation

MEN2 RET genotype-phenotype correlations were the first to be found in inherited neoplasia syndromes [153], and the gain-of-function mutations affected several hot spot codons (the great majority mutating cysteine residues in exons 10 and 11) [153].

Notably, mutations of codon 634 in exon 11 are highly associated with the fullblown phenotype of MEN2A (high prevalence of pheochromocytoma and hyperparathyroidism), with p.C634R being the most common, the most highly penetrant, and the most fulminant and aggressive [1, 239]. Twenty-five percent of FMTC kindreds harbor a mutation in codon 634 (commonly p.C634Y) [235].

RET germline p.M918T mutations are associated with MEN2B; however, somatic mutations at this codon are frequently observed in MTC in individuals with no known family history and being overrepresented in individuals with sporadic MTC who have a particular germline RET variant [240].

Mutations involving the cysteine codons 609, 618, and 620 in exon 10 of RET are associated with MEN2A or FMTC together with HSCR [241]. Mutations at codons 768, 804, and 891 that were initially only associated with FMTC have subsequently been found in rare families with MEN2A [242–244].

Phenotypic expression of mutations at codon 804 has been shown to be highly variable, even within the same family [245, 246]: some individuals have MTC at age 5 years and fatal metastatic MTC at age 12 years, whereas other individuals

have been shown to have normal thyroid histology at age 27 years, normal biochemical screening at age 40 years, and no clinical evidence of MTC at age 86 years [247]. Interestingly, it was suggested that in addition to their association with MTC, mutations in codons 790 or 804 may be associated with PTC [185].

The American Thyroid Association Guidelines Task Force has classified mutations based on their risk for aggressive MTC, and this risk classification may be used in the decision for the age of prophylactic thyroidectomy or when to begin biochemical screening for pheochromocytoma and hyperparathyroidism [153].

20.3.6 MEN2 Patient Surveillance

20.3.6.1 Medullary Thyroid Carcinoma

Recurrent disease is expected in as much as 50 % of MTC patients following total thyroidectomy and neck dissections [162], and therefore, continued monitoring for residual or recurrent MTC is indicated for life. The screening protocol for MTC includes an annual measurement of serum calcitonin; a more frequent follow-up (3–6 months) is recommended for those with residual disease and should include biochemical analysis for calcitonin, together with appropriate imaging (neck ultrasound, high-resolution CT, or [¹⁸FDG]-PET-CT in case of elevated tumor markers) [5].

20.3.6.2 Pheochromocytoma

If the initial screening for pheochromocytoma is negative, then annual biochemical screening is recommended, followed by MRI and/or CT if the biochemical results are abnormal [153]. Women with MEN2 should be screened for pheochromocytoma before a planned pregnancy. Annual biochemical screening starting at the age of 8 years has been recommended for individuals with MEN2A caused by mutations of codons 630 and 634 and at age 20 years for mutations in all other codons, whereas MEN2B carriers should begin screening for pheochromocytoma at age 8 years [153].

20.3.6.3 PHPT

Annual serum calcium and parathyroid hormone concentrations are recommended for at-risk individuals who have not had parathyroidectomy [248]. In MEN2A, screening should begin at age 8 years for individuals with mutations of codons 630 and 634 and by age 20 years for individuals with other RET mutations [153]. Screening is likely unnecessary in MEN2B [153].

References

- 1. Yip L, Cote GJ, Shapiro SE, et al. Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2: evaluation of the genotype-phenotype relationship. Arch Surg. 2003;138(4):409–16; discussion 16.
- Huang SC, Torres-Cruz J, Pack SD, et al. Amplification and overexpression of mutant RET in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2-associated medullary thyroid carcinoma. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2003;88(1):459–63.

- Falchetti A, Marini F, Tonelli F, Brandi ML. Lessons from genes mutated in multiple endocrine neoplasia (MEN) syndromes. Ann Endocrinol (Paris). 2005;66(3):195–205.
- 4. Kouvaraki MA, Shapiro SE, Perrier ND, et al. RET proto-oncogene: a review and update of genotype-phenotype correlations in hereditary medullary thyroid cancer and associated endocrine tumors. Thyroid. 2005;15(6):531–44.
- Brandi ML, Gagel RF, Angeli A, et al. Guidelines for diagnosis and therapy of MEN type 1 and type 2. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2001;86(12):5658–71.
- Carling T. Multiple endocrine neoplasia syndrome: genetic basis for clinical management. Curr Opin Oncol. 2005;17(1):7–12.
- 7. Wermer P. Genetic aspects of adenomatosis of endocrine glands. Am J Med. 1954; 16(3):363–71.
- Thakker RV. Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am. 2000; 29(3):541–67.
- Trump D, Farren B, Wooding C, et al. Clinical studies of multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1). QJM. 1996;89(9):653–69.
- Grama D, Skogseid B, Wilander E, et al. Pancreatic tumors in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1: clinical presentation and surgical treatment. World J Surg. 1992;16(4):611–8; discussion 18–19.
- Skogseid B, Larsson C, Lindgren PG, et al. Clinical and genetic features of adrenocortical lesions in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1992;75(1):76–81.
- Duh QY, Hybarger CP, Geist R, et al. Carcinoids associated with multiple endocrine neoplasia syndromes. Am J Surg. 1987;154(1):142–8.
- Marx SJ, Vinik AI, Santen RJ, Floyd Jr JC, Mills JL, Green 3rd J. Multiple endocrine neoplasia type I: assessment of laboratory tests to screen for the gene in a large kindred. Medicine (Baltimore). 1986;65(4):226–41.
- Brandi ML, Aurbach GD, Fitzpatrick LA, et al. Parathyroid mitogenic activity in plasma from patients with familial multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. N Engl J Med. 1986;314(20):1287–93.
- Darling TN, Skarulis MC, Steinberg SM, Marx SJ, Spiegel AM, Turner M. Multiple facial angiofibromas and collagenomas in patients with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. Arch Dermatol. 1997;133(7):853–7.
- 16. Asgharian B, Turner ML, Gibril F, Entsuah LK, Serrano J, Jensen RT. Cutaneous tumors in patients with multiple endocrine neoplasm type 1 (MEN1) and gastrinomas: prospective study of frequency and development of criteria with high sensitivity and specificity for MEN1. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2004;89(11):5328–36.
- 17. Thakker RV. Multiple endocrine neoplasia. Horm Res. 2001;56 Suppl 1:67-72.
- Kivlen MH, Bartlett DL, Libutti SK, et al. Reoperation for hyperparathyroidism in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. Surgery. 2001;130(6):991–8.
- Agha A, Carpenter R, Bhattacharya S, Edmonson SJ, Carlsen E, Monson JP. Parathyroid carcinoma in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1) syndrome: two case reports of an unrecognised entity. J Endocrinol Invest. 2007;30(2):145–9.
- Burgess JR, David R, Greenaway TM, Parameswaran V, Shepherd JJ. Osteoporosis in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1: severity, clinical significance, relationship to primary hyperparathyroidism, and response to parathyroidectomy. Arch Surg. 1999;134(10):1119–23.
- 21. Molino C, Fabbian F, Russo G, et al. MEN type 1 and chronic renal failure: a rarely reported association. G Ital Nefrol. 2007;24(1):79–82.
- 22. Satoh A, Iigaya T. Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 with pyonephrosis. Int J Urol. 2002;9(7):402–4.
- 23. Burgess JR, Greenaway TM, Shepherd JJ. Expression of the MEN-1 gene in a large kindred with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. J Intern Med. 1998;243(6):465–70.
- Benson L, Ljunghall S, Akerstrom G, Oberg K. Hyperparathyroidism presenting as the first lesion in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. Am J Med. 1987;82(4):731–7.
- Hagstrom E, Lundgren E, Rastad J, Hellman P. Metabolic abnormalities in patients with normocalcemic hyperparathyroidism detected at a population-based screening. Eur J Endocrinol. 2006;155(1):33–9.

- Sukovaty RL, Lee JW, Fox J, et al. Quantification of recombinant human parathyroid hormone (rhPTH(1-84)) in human plasma by immunoassay: commercial kit evaluation and validation to support pharmacokinetic studies. J Pharm Biomed Anal. 2006;42(2): 261–71.
- 27. Skandarajah A, Barlier A, Morlet-Barlat N, et al. Should routine analysis of the MEN1 gene be performed in all patients with primary hyperparathyroidism under 40 years of age? World J Surg. 2010;34(6):1294–8.
- Tonelli F, Marcucci T, Giudici F, Falchetti A, Brandi ML. Surgical approach in hereditary hyperparathyroidism. Endocr J. 2009;56(7):827–41.
- Akerstrom G, Stalberg P. Surgical management of MEN-1 and -2: state of the art. Surg Clin North Am. 2009;89(5):1047–68.
- Salmeron MD, Gonzalez JM, Sancho Insenser J, et al. Causes and treatment of recurrent hyperparathyroidism after subtotal parathyroidectomy in the presence of multiple endocrine neoplasia 1. World J Surg. 2010;34(6):1325–31.
- Burgess J. How should the patient with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN 1) be followed? Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2010;72(1):13–6.
- 32. Norton JA, Venzon DJ, Berna MJ, et al. Prospective study of surgery for primary hyperparathyroidism (HPT) in multiple endocrine neoplasia-type 1 and Zollinger-Ellison syndrome: long-term outcome of a more virulent form of HPT. Ann Surg. 2008;247(3):501–10.
- Peacock M, Bilezikian JP, Klassen PS, Guo MD, Turner SA, Shoback D. Cinacalcet hydrochloride maintains long-term normocalcemia in patients with primary hyperparathyroidism. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2005;90(1):135–41.
- 34. Wada M, Furuya Y, Sakiyama J, et al. The calcimimetic compound NPS R-568 suppresses parathyroid cell proliferation in rats with renal insufficiency. Control of parathyroid cell growth via a calcium receptor. J Clin Invest. 1997;100(12):2977–83.
- Moyes VJ, Monson JP, Chew SL, Akker SA. Clinical use of cinacalcet in MEN1 hyperparathyroidism. Int J Endocrinol. 2010;2010:906163.
- 36. Faggiano A, Tavares LB, Tauchmanova L, et al. Effect of treatment with depot somatostatin analogue octreotide on primary hyperparathyroidism (PHP) in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1) patients. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2008;69(5):756–62.
- Thakker RV, Newey PJ, Walls GV, et al. Clinical practice guidelines for multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1). J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2012;97(9):2990–3011.
- Tonelli F, Giudici F, Fratini G, Brandi ML. Pancreatic endocrine tumors in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 syndrome: review of literature. Endocr Pract. 2011;17 Suppl 3:33–40.
- Machens A, Schaaf L, Karges W, et al. Age-related penetrance of endocrine tumours in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1): a multicentre study of 258 gene carriers. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2007;67(4):613–22.
- Newey PJ, Jeyabalan J, Walls GV, et al. Asymptomatic children with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 mutations may harbor nonfunctioning pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2009;94(10):3640–6.
- 41. Triponez F, Dosseh D, Goudet P, et al. Epidemiology data on 108 MEN 1 patients from the GTE with isolated nonfunctioning tumors of the pancreas. Ann Surg. 2006;243(2): 265–72.
- Anlauf M, Garbrecht N, Henopp T, et al. Sporadic versus hereditary gastrinomas of the duodenum and pancreas: distinct clinico-pathological and epidemiological features. World J Gastroenterol. 2006;12(34):5440–6.
- 43. Fendrich V, Langer P, Waldmann J, Bartsch DK, Rothmund M. Management of sporadic and multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 gastrinomas. Br J Surg. 2007;94(11):1331–41.
- 44. Gibril F, Schumann M, Pace A, Jensen RT. Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 and Zollinger-Ellison syndrome: a prospective study of 107 cases and comparison with 1009 cases from the literature. Medicine (Baltimore). 2004;83(1):43–83.
- Lowney JK, Frisella MM, Lairmore TC, Doherty GM. Pancreatic islet cell tumor metastasis in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1: correlation with primary tumor size. Surgery. 1998;124(6):1043–8; discussion 48–49.

- 46. Yu F, Venzon DJ, Serrano J, et al. Prospective study of the clinical course, prognostic factors, causes of death, and survival in patients with long-standing Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. J Clin Oncol. 1999;17(2):615–30.
- 47. Goudet P, Murat A, Binquet C, et al. Risk factors and causes of death in MEN1 disease. A GTE (Groupe d'Etude des Tumeurs Endocrines) cohort study among 758 patients. World J Surg. 2010;34(2):249–55.
- Geerdink EA, Van der Luijt RB, Lips CJ. Do patients with multiple endocrine neoplasia syndrome type 1 benefit from periodical screening? Eur J Endocrinol. 2003;149(6):577–82.
- Pipeleers-Marichal M, Donow C, Heitz PU, Kloppel G. Pathologic aspects of gastrinomas in patients with Zollinger-Ellison syndrome with and without multiple endocrine neoplasia type I. World J Surg. 1993;17(4):481–8.
- 50. Thakker RV. Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. Indian J Endocrinol Metab. 2012;16 Suppl 2:S272–4.
- Anlauf M, Perren A, Kloppel G. Gastrin cell hyperplasia associated with duodenal MEN1related gastrinomas: histopathology and genetics. Verh Dtsch Ges Pathol. 2007;91:320–9.
- Jensen RT. Gastrinomas: advances in diagnosis and management. Neuroendocrinology. 2004;80 Suppl 1:23–7.
- Imamura M, Komoto I, Ota S, et al. Biochemically curative surgery for gastrinoma in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 patients. World J Gastroenterol. 2011;17(10):1343–53.
- 54. Roy PK, Venzon DJ, Feigenbaum KM, et al. Gastric secretion in Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. Correlation with clinical expression, tumor extent and role in diagnosis–a prospective NIH study of 235 patients and a review of 984 cases in the literature. Medicine (Baltimore). 2001;80(3):189–222.
- 55. Dean PG, van Heerden JA, Farley DR, et al. Are patients with multiple endocrine neoplasia type I prone to premature death? World J Surg. 2000;24(11):1437–41.
- 56. Berna MJ, Hoffmann KM, Long SH, et al. Serum gastrin in Zollinger-Ellison syndrome: II. Prospective study of gastrin provocative testing in 293 patients from the National Institutes of Health and comparison with 537 cases from the literature. evaluation of diagnostic criteria, proposal of new criteria, and correlations with clinical and tumoral features. Medicine (Baltimore). 2006;85(6):331–64.
- 57. Gibril F, Reynolds JC, Doppman JL, et al. Somatostatin receptor scintigraphy: its sensitivity compared with that of other imaging methods in detecting primary and metastatic gastrinomas. A prospective study. Ann Intern Med. 1996;125(1):26–34.
- Turner JJ, Wren AM, Jackson JE, Thakker RV, Meeran K. Localization of gastrinomas by selective intra-arterial calcium injection. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2002;57(6):821–5.
- Thompson NW, Pasieka J, Fukuuchi A. Duodenal gastrinomas, duodenotomy, and duodenal exploration in the surgical management of Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. World J Surg. 1993;17(4):455–62.
- Jensen RT. Management of the Zollinger-Ellison syndrome in patients with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. J Intern Med. 1998;243(6):477–88.
- Norton JA, Fraker DL, Alexander HR, et al. Surgery to cure the Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. N Engl J Med. 1999;341(9):635–44.
- 62. Norton JA, Alexander HR, Fraker DL, Venzon DJ, Gibril F, Jensen RT. Does the use of routine duodenotomy (DUODX) affect rate of cure, development of liver metastases, or survival in patients with Zollinger-Ellison syndrome? Ann Surg. 2004;239(5):617–25; discussion 26.
- Grozinsky-Glasberg S, Shimon I, Korbonits M, Grossman AB. Somatostatin analogues in the control of neuroendocrine tumours: efficacy and mechanisms. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2008;15(3):701–20.
- Arnold R, Wied M, Behr TH. Somatostatin analogues in the treatment of endocrine tumors of the gastrointestinal tract. Expert Opin Pharmacother. 2002;3(6):643–56.
- 65. Shojamanesh H, Gibril F, Louie A, et al. Prospective study of the antitumor efficacy of longterm octreotide treatment in patients with progressive metastatic gastrinoma. Cancer. 2002;94(2):331–43.
- Thakker RV. Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1). Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2010;24(3):355–70.

- 67. Grozinsky-Glasberg S, Barak D, Fraenkel M, et al. Peptide receptor radioligand therapy is an effective treatment for the long-term stabilization of malignant gastrinomas. Cancer. 2011;117(7):1377–85.
- Vasen HF, Lamers CB, Lips CJ. Screening for the multiple endocrine neoplasia syndrome type I. A study of 11 kindreds in The Netherlands. Arch Intern Med. 1989;149(12): 2717–22.
- 69. Fabbri HC, Mello MP, Soardi FC, et al. Long-term follow-up of an 8-year-old boy with insulinoma as the first manifestation of a familial form of multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. Arq Bras Endocrinol Metabol. 2010;54(8):754–60.
- Giudici F, Nesi G, Brandi ML, Tonelli F. Surgical management of insulinomas in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. Pancreas. 2012;41(4):547–53.
- Langer P, Kann PH, Fendrich V, et al. Prospective evaluation of imaging procedures for the detection of pancreaticoduodenal endocrine tumors in patients with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. World J Surg. 2004;28(12):1317–22.
- 72. Levy-Bohbot N, Merle C, Goudet P, et al. Prevalence, characteristics and prognosis of MEN 1-associated glucagonomas, VIPomas, and somatostatinomas: study from the GTE (Groupe des Tumeurs Endocrines) registry. Gastroenterol Clin Biol. 2004;28(11):1075–81.
- Zhang M, Xu X, Shen Y, et al. Clinical experience in diagnosis and treatment of glucagonoma syndrome. Hepatobiliary Pancreat Dis Int. 2004;3(3):473–5.
- 74. van Beek AP, de Haas ER, van Vloten WA, Lips CJ, Roijers JF, Canninga-van Dijk MR. The glucagonoma syndrome and necrolytic migratory erythema: a clinical review. Eur J Endocrinol. 2004;151(5):531–7.
- Yamazaki M, Suzuki S, Kosugi S, et al. Delay in the diagnosis of multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1: typical symptoms are frequently overlooked. Endocr J. 2012;59(9):797–807.
- Sakurai A, Suzuki S, Kosugi S, et al. Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 in Japan: establishment and analysis of a multicentre database. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2012;76(4):533–9.
- 77. Soga J, Yakuwa Y. Glucagonomas/diabetico-dermatogenic syndrome (DDS): a statistical evaluation of 407 reported cases. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Surg. 1998;5(3):312–9.
- Kindmark H, Sundin A, Granberg D, et al. Endocrine pancreatic tumors with glucagon hypersecretion: a retrospective study of 23 cases during 20 years. Med Oncol. 2007;24(3):330–7.
- Wermers RA, Fatourechi V, Wynne AG, Kvols LK, Lloyd RV. The glucagonoma syndrome. Clinical and pathologic features in 21 patients. Medicine (Baltimore). 1996;75(2):53–63.
- O'Toole D, Salazar R, Falconi M, et al. Rare functioning pancreatic endocrine tumors. Neuroendocrinology. 2006;84(3):189–95.
- Eldor R, Glaser B, Fraenkel M, Doviner V, Salmon A, Gross DJ. Glucagonoma and the glucagonoma syndrome – cumulative experience with an elusive endocrine tumour. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2011;74(5):593–8.
- 82. Brown CH, Crile Jr G. Pancreatic adenoma with intractable diarrhea, hypokalemia, and hypercalcemia. JAMA. 1964;190:30–4.
- Scarsbrook AF, Thakker RV, Wass JA, Gleeson FV, Phillips RR. Multiple endocrine neoplasia: spectrum of radiologic appearances and discussion of a multitechnique imaging approach. Radiographics. 2006;26(2):433–51.
- 84. Thomas-Marques L, Murat A, Delemer B, et al. Prospective endoscopic ultrasonographic evaluation of the frequency of nonfunctioning pancreaticoduodenal endocrine tumors in patients with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. Am J Gastroenterol. 2006;101(2): 266–73.
- Doherty GM, Olson JA, Frisella MM, et al. Lethality of multiple endocrine neoplasia type I. World J Surg. 1998;22(6):581–6; discussion 86–87.
- Kann PH, Balakina E, Ivan D, et al. Natural course of small, asymptomatic neuroendocrine pancreatic tumours in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1: an endoscopic ultrasound imaging study. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2006;13(4):1195–202.
- 87. Triponez F, Goudet P, Dosseh D, et al. Is surgery beneficial for MEN1 patients with small (< or = 2 cm), nonfunctioning pancreaticoduodenal endocrine tumor? An analysis of 65 patients from the GTE. World J Surg. 2006;30(5):654–62; discussion 63–64.</p>

- Kouvaraki MA, Shapiro SE, Cote GJ, et al. Management of pancreatic endocrine tumors in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. World J Surg. 2006;30(5):643–53.
- Akerstrom G, Hessman O, Hellman P, Skogseid B. Pancreatic tumours as part of the MEN-1 syndrome. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol. 2005;19(5):819–30.
- Bartsch DK, Fendrich V, Langer P, Celik I, Kann PH, Rothmund M. Outcome of duodenopancreatic resections in patients with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. Ann Surg. 2005;242(6):757–64; discussion 64–66.
- Dralle H, Krohn SL, Karges W, Boehm BO, Brauckhoff M, Gimm O. Surgery of resectable nonfunctioning neuroendocrine pancreatic tumors. World J Surg. 2004;28(12):1248–60.
- 92. You YN, Thompson GB, Young Jr WF, et al. Pancreatoduodenal surgery in patients with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1: operative outcomes, long-term function, and quality of life. Surgery. 2007;142(6):829–36; discussion 36 e1.
- 93. Anlauf M, Schlenger R, Perren A, et al. Microadenomatosis of the endocrine pancreas in patients with and without the multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 syndrome. Am J Surg Pathol. 2006;30(5):560–74.
- Yao JC, Shah MH, Ito T, et al. Everolimus for advanced pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. N Engl J Med. 2011;364(6):514–23.
- Raymond E, Dahan L, Raoul JL, et al. Sunitinib malate for the treatment of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. N Engl J Med. 2011;364(6):501–13.
- 96. Strosberg JR, Fine RL, Choi J, et al. First-line chemotherapy with capecitabine and temozolomide in patients with metastatic pancreatic endocrine carcinomas. Cancer. 2011;117(2):268–75.
- Koumarianou A, Antoniou S, Kanakis G, et al. Combination treatment with metronomic temozolomide, bevacizumab and long-acting octreotide for malignant neuroendocrine tumours. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2012;19(1):L1–4.
- 98. Kulke MH, Bendell J, Kvols L, Picus J, Pommier R, Yao J. Evolving diagnostic and treatment strategies for pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. J Hematol Oncol. 2011;4:29.
- 99. Grozinsky-Glasberg S, Grossman AB, Korbonits M. The role of somatostatin analogues in the treatment of neuroendocrine tumours. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2008;286(1–2):238–50.
- Welin S, Sorbye H, Sebjornsen S, Knappskog S, Busch C, Oberg K. Clinical effect of temozolomide-based chemotherapy in poorly differentiated endocrine carcinoma after progression on first-line chemotherapy. Cancer. 2011;117(20):4617–22.
- 101. Sano T, Yamasaki R, Saito H, et al. Growth hormone-releasing hormone (GHRH)-secreting pancreatic tumor in a patient with multiple endocrine neoplasia type I. Am J Surg Pathol. 1987;11(10):810–9.
- 102. Kloppel G, Anlauf M. Epidemiology, tumour biology and histopathological classification of neuroendocrine tumours of the gastrointestinal tract. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol. 2005;19(4):507–17.
- 103. Trouillas J, Labat-Moleur F, Sturm N, et al. Pituitary tumors and hyperplasia in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 syndrome (MEN1): a case-control study in a series of 77 patients versus 2509 non-MEN1 patients. Am J Surg Pathol. 2008;32(4):534–43.
- 104. Melmed S. Pathogenesis of pituitary tumors. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2011;7(5):257-66.
- 105. Verges B, Boureille F, Goudet P, et al. Pituitary disease in MEN type 1 (MEN1): data from the France-Belgium MEN1 multicenter study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2002;87(2):457–65.
- 106. Delemer B. MEN1 and pituitary adenomas. Ann Endocrinol (Paris). 2012;73(2):59-61.
- 107. Biondi CA, Gartside MG, Waring P, et al. Conditional inactivation of the MEN1 gene leads to pancreatic and pituitary tumorigenesis but does not affect normal development of these tissues. Mol Cell Biol. 2004;24(8):3125–31.
- Bertolino P, Tong WM, Galendo D, Wang ZQ, Zhang CX. Heterozygous Men1 mutant mice develop a range of endocrine tumors mimicking multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. Mol Endocrinol. 2003;17(9):1880–92.
- 109. Beckers A, Daly AF. The clinical, pathological, and genetic features of familial isolated pituitary adenomas. Eur J Endocrinol. 2007;157(4):371–82.
- Beckers A, Betea D, Valdes Socin H, Stevenaert A. The treatment of sporadic versus MEN1related pituitary adenomas. J Intern Med. 2003;253(6):599–605.

- 111. Tichomirowa MA, Lee M, Barlier A, et al. Cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 1B (CDKN1B) gene variants in AIP mutation-negative familial isolated pituitary adenoma kindreds. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2012;19(3):233–41.
- 112. Burgess JR, Shepherd JJ, Parameswaran V, Hoffman L, Greenaway TM. Spectrum of pituitary disease in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN 1): clinical, biochemical, and radiological features of pituitary disease in a large MEN 1 kindred. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1996;81(7):2642–6.
- 113. Vortmeyer AO, Lubensky IA, Skarulis M, et al. Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1: atypical presentation, clinical course, and genetic analysis of multiple tumors. Mod Pathol. 1999;12(9):919–24.
- Chandrasekharappa SC, Teh BT. Clinical and molecular aspects of multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. Front Horm Res. 2001;28:50–80.
- 115. Goudet P, Bonithon-Kopp C, Murat A, et al. Gender-related differences in MEN1 lesion occurrence and diagnosis: a cohort study of 734 cases from the Groupe d'etude des Tumeurs Endocrines. Eur J Endocrinol. 2011;165(1):97–105.
- 116. Goudet P, Murat A, Cardot-Bauters C, et al. Thymic neuroendocrine tumors in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1: a comparative study on 21 cases among a series of 761 MEN1 from the GTE (Groupe des Tumeurs Endocrines). World J Surg. 2009;33(6):1197–207.
- 117. Scarsbrook AF, Ganeshan A, Statham J, et al. Anatomic and functional imaging of metastatic carcinoid tumors. Radiographics. 2007;27(2):455–77.
- 118. Gibril F, Chen YJ, Schrump DS, et al. Prospective study of thymic carcinoids in patients with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2003;88(3):1066–81.
- 119. Berna MJ, Annibale B, Marignani M, et al. A prospective study of gastric carcinoids and enterochromaffin-like cell changes in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 and Zollinger-Ellison syndrome: identification of risk factors. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2008; 93(5):1582–91.
- Tomassetti P, Migliori M, Caletti GC, et al. Treatment of type II gastric carcinoid tumors with somatostatin analogues. N Engl J Med. 2000;343(8):551–4.
- 121. Oberg K, Jelic S. Neuroendocrine bronchial and thymic tumors: ESMO clinical recommendation for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2008;19 Suppl 2:ii102–3.
- 122. Gatta-Cherifi B, Chabre O, Murat A, et al. Adrenal involvement in MEN1. Analysis of 715 cases from the Groupe d'etude des Tumeurs Endocrines database. Eur J Endocrinol. 2012;166(2):269–79.
- 123. Schaefer S, Shipotko M, Meyer S, et al. Natural course of small adrenal lesions in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1: an endoscopic ultrasound imaging study. Eur J Endocrinol. 2008;158(5):699–704.
- 124. Langer P, Cupisti K, Bartsch DK, et al. Adrenal involvement in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. World J Surg. 2002;26(8):891–6.
- 125. Asgharian B, Chen YJ, Patronas NJ, et al. Meningiomas may be a component tumor of multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. Clin Cancer Res. 2004;10(3):869–80.
- Vidal A, Iglesias MJ, Fernandez B, Fonseca E, Cordido F. Cutaneous lesions associated to multiple endocrine neoplasia syndrome type 1. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2008; 22(7):835–8.
- 127. Lemmens I, Van de Ven WJ, Kas K, et al. Identification of the multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1) gene. The European Consortium on MEN1. Hum Mol Genet. 1997;6(7): 1177–83.
- 128. Chandrasekharappa SC, Guru SC, Manickam P, et al. Positional cloning of the gene for multiple endocrine neoplasia-type 1. Science. 1997;276(5311):404–7.
- 129. Lemos MC, Thakker RV. Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1): analysis of 1336 mutations reported in the first decade following identification of the gene. Hum Mutat. 2008;29(1):22–32.
- 130. Tham E, Grandell U, Lindgren E, et al. Clinical testing for mutations in the MEN1 gene in Sweden: a report on 200 unrelated cases. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2007;92(9): 3389–95.

- 131. Turner JJ, Christie PT, Pearce SH, Turnpenny PD, Thakker RV. Diagnostic challenges due to phenocopies: lessons from Multiple Endocrine Neoplasia type1 (MEN1). Hum Mutat. 2010;31(1):E1089–101.
- 132. Karges W, Jostarndt K, Maier S, et al. Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1) gene mutations in a subset of patients with sporadic and familial primary hyperparathyroidism target the coding sequence but spare the promoter region. J Endocrinol. 2000;166(1):1–9.
- 133. Jiao Y, Shi C, Edil BH, et al. DAXX/ATRX, MEN1, and mTOR pathway genes are frequently altered in pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Science. 2011;331(6021):1199–203.
- 134. Hannan FM, Nesbit MA, Christie PT, et al. Familial isolated primary hyperparathyroidism caused by mutations of the MEN1 gene. Nat Clin Pract Endocrinol Metab. 2008;4(1):53–8.
- Agarwal SK, Ozawa A, Mateo CM, Marx SJ. The MEN1 gene and pituitary tumours. Horm Res. 2009;71 Suppl 2:131–8.
- 136. Olufemi SE, Green JS, Manickam P, et al. Common ancestral mutation in the MEN1 gene is likely responsible for the prolactinoma variant of MEN1 (MEN1Burin) in four kindreds from Newfoundland. Hum Mutat. 1998;11(4):264–9.
- 137. Hao W, Skarulis MC, Simonds WF, et al. Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 variant with frequent prolactinoma and rare gastrinoma. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2004;89(8):3776–84.
- 138. Burgess JR, Nord B, David R, et al. Phenotype and phenocopy: the relationship between genotype and clinical phenotype in a single large family with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN 1). Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2000;53(2):205–11.
- 139. Newey PJ, Thakker RV. Role of multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 mutational analysis in clinical practice. Endocr Pract. 2011;17 Suppl 3:8–17.
- 140. Langer P, Wild A, Hall A, Celik I, Rothmund M, Bartsch DK. Prevalence of multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 in young patients with apparently sporadic primary hyperparathyroidism or pancreaticoduodenal endocrine tumours. Br J Surg. 2003;90(12):1599–603.
- 141. Stratakis CA, Schussheim DH, Freedman SM, et al. Pituitary macroadenoma in a 5-year-old: an early expression of multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2000;85(12):4776–80.
- 142. Skogseid B, Eriksson B, Lundqvist G, et al. Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1: a 10-year prospective screening study in four kindreds. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1991;73(2):281–7.
- 143. Skogseid B, Larsson C, Oberg K. Genetic and clinical characteristics of multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. Acta Oncol. 1991;30(4):485–8.
- 144. Keiser HR, Beaven MA, Doppman J, Wells Jr S, Buja LM. Sipple's syndrome: medullary thyroid carcinoma, pheochromocytoma, and parathyroid disease. Studies in a large family. NIH conference. Ann Intern Med. 1973;78(4):561–79.
- 145. Carney JA. Familial multiple endocrine neoplasia: the first 100 years. Am J Surg Pathol. 2005;29(2):254–74.
- 146. Easton DF, Ponder MA, Cummings T, et al. The clinical and screening age-at-onset distribution for the MEN-2 syndrome. Am J Hum Genet. 1989;44(2):208–15.
- 147. Ponder BA, Ponder MA, Coffey R, et al. Risk estimation and screening in families of patients with medullary thyroid carcinoma. Lancet. 1988;1(8582):397–401.
- 148. Mulligan LM, Eng C, Healey CS, et al. Specific mutations of the RET proto-oncogene are related to disease phenotype in MEN 2A and FMTC. Nat Genet. 1994;6(1):70–4.
- 149. Frank-Raue K, Hoppner W, Frilling A, et al. Mutations of the ret protooncogene in German multiple endocrine neoplasia families: relation between genotype and phenotype. German Medullary Thyroid Carcinoma Study Group. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1996;81(5):1780–3.
- Steiner AL, Goodman AD, Powers SR. Study of a kindred with pheochromocytoma, medullary thyroid carcinoma, hyperparathyroidism and Cushing's disease: multiple endocrine neoplasia, type 2. Medicine (Baltimore). 1968;47(5):371–409.
- Melvin KE, Tashjian Jr AH, Miller HH. Studies in familial (medullary) thyroid carcinoma. Recent Prog Horm Res. 1972;28:399–470.
- 152. Gagel RF, Tashjian Jr AH, Cummings T, et al. The clinical outcome of prospective screening for multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2a. An 18-year experience. N Engl J Med. 1988; 318(8):478–84.

- 153. Eng C, Clayton D, Schuffenecker I, et al. The relationship between specific RET protooncogene mutations and disease phenotype in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2. International RET mutation consortium analysis. JAMA. 1996;276(19):1575–9.
- 154. Farndon JR, Leight GS, Dilley WG, et al. Familial medullary thyroid carcinoma without associated endocrinopathies: a distinct clinical entity. Br J Surg. 1986;73(4):278–81.
- 155. Nunziata V, Giannattasio R, Di Giovanni G, et al. Hereditary localized pruritus in affected members of a kindred with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2A (Sipple's syndrome). Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 1989;30(1):57–63.
- 156. Donovan DT, Levy ML, Furst EJ, et al. Familial cutaneous lichen amyloidosis in association with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2A: a new variant. Henry Ford Hosp Med J. 1989;37(3–4):147–50.
- 157. Verdy M, Weber AM, Roy CC, et al. Hirschsprung's disease in a family with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 1982;1(4):603–7.
- 158. Kakudo K, Carney JA, Sizemore GW. Medullary carcinoma of thyroid. Biologic behavior of the sporadic and familial neoplasm. Cancer. 1985;55(12):2818–21.
- 159. Pacini F, Fontanelli M, Fugazzola L, et al. Routine measurement of serum calcitonin in nodular thyroid diseases allows the preoperative diagnosis of unsuspected sporadic medullary thyroid carcinoma. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1994;78(4):826–9.
- 160. Guyetant S, Josselin N, Savagner F, et al. C-cell hyperplasia and medullary thyroid carcinoma: clinicopathological and genetic correlations in 66 consecutive patients. Mod Pathol. 2003;16(8):756–63.
- Machens A, Niccoli-Sire P, Hoegel J, et al. Early malignant progression of hereditary medulary thyroid cancer. N Engl J Med. 2003;349(16):1517–25.
- 162. Cohen MS, Moley JF. Surgical treatment of medullary thyroid carcinoma. J Intern Med. 2003;253(6):616–26.
- Robbins J, Merino MJ, Boice Jr JD, et al. Thyroid cancer: a lethal endocrine neoplasm. Ann Intern Med. 1991;115(2):133–47.
- 164. Kebebew E, Ituarte PH, Siperstein AE, et al. Medullary thyroid carcinoma: clinical characteristics, treatment, prognostic factors, and a comparison of staging systems. Cancer. 2000;88(5):1139–48.
- Sippel RS, Kunnimalaiyaan M, Chen H. Current management of medullary thyroid cancer. Oncologist. 2008;13(5):539–47.
- 166. Inabnet WB, Caragliano P, Pertsemlidis D. Pheochromocytoma: inherited associations, bilaterality, and cortex preservation. Surgery. 2000;128(6):1007; discussion 11–12.
- 167. Rodriguez JM, Balsalobre M, Ponce JL, et al. Pheochromocytoma in MEN 2A syndrome. Study of 54 patients. World J Surg. 2008;32(11):2520–6.
- 168. Frank-Raue K, Rybicki LA, Erlic Z, et al. Risk profiles and penetrance estimations in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2A caused by germline RET mutations located in exon 10. Hum Mutat. 2011;32(1):51–8.
- 169. Pomares FJ, Canas R, Rodriguez JM, Hernandez AM, Parrilla P, Tebar FJ. Differences between sporadic and multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2A phaeochromocytoma. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 1998;48(2):195–200.
- 170. Pacak K, Ilias I, Adams KT, Eisenhofer G. Biochemical diagnosis, localization and management of pheochromocytoma: focus on multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2 in relation to other hereditary syndromes and sporadic forms of the tumour. J Intern Med. 2005; 257(1):60–8.
- 171. Pacak K, Eisenhofer G, Ilias I. Diagnosis of pheochromocytoma with special emphasis on MEN2 syndrome. Hormones (Athens). 2009;8(2):111–6.
- 172. Modigliani E, Vasen HM, Raue K, et al. Pheochromocytoma in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2: European study. The Euromen Study Group. J Intern Med. 1995;238(4):363–7.
- 173. Schuffenecker I, Virally-Monod M, Brohet R, et al. Risk and penetrance of primary hyperparathyroidism in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2A families with mutations at codon 634 of the RET proto-oncogene. Groupe D'etude des Tumeurs a Calcitonine. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1998;83(2):487–91.

- 174. Machens A, Lorenz K, Dralle H. Peak incidence of pheochromocytoma and primary hyperparathyroidism in multiple endocrine neoplasia 2: need for age-adjusted biochemical screening. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2013;98(2):E336–45.
- 175. Gagel RF, Levy ML, Donovan DT, Alford BR, Wheeler T, Tschen JA. Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2a associated with cutaneous lichen amyloidosis. Ann Intern Med. 1989;111(10):802–6.
- 176. Ceccherini I, Romei C, Barone V, et al. Identification of the Cys634→Tyr mutation of the RET proto-oncogene in a pedigree with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2A and localized cutaneous lichen amyloidosis. J Endocrinol Invest. 1994;17(3):201–4.
- 177. Machens A, Dralle H. Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2 and the RET protooncogene: from bedside to bench to bedside. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2006;247(1–2):34–40.
- 178. Machens A, Gimm O, Hinze R, Hoppner W, Boehm BO, Dralle H. Genotype-phenotype correlations in hereditary medullary thyroid carcinoma: oncological features and biochemical properties. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2001;86(3):1104–9.
- 179. Angrist M, Kauffman E, Slaugenhaupt SA, et al. A gene for Hirschsprung disease (megacolon) in the pericentromeric region of human chromosome 10. Nat Genet. 1993;4(4):351–6.
- 180. Romeo G, Ronchetto P, Luo Y, et al. Point mutations affecting the tyrosine kinase domain of the RET proto-oncogene in Hirschsprung's disease. Nature. 1994;367(6461):377–8.
- 181. Edery P, Lyonnet S, Mulligan LM, et al. Mutations of the RET proto-oncogene in Hirschsprung's disease. Nature. 1994;367(6461):378–80.
- 182. Tallini G, Santoro M, Helie M, et al. RET/PTC oncogene activation defines a subset of papillary thyroid carcinomas lacking evidence of progression to poorly differentiated or undifferentiated tumor phenotypes. Clin Cancer Res. 1998;4(2):287–94.
- 183. Santoro M, Papotti M, Chiappetta G, et al. RET activation and clinicopathologic features in poorly differentiated thyroid tumors. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2002;87(1):370–9.
- Brauckhoff M, Gimm O, Hinze R, Ukkat J, Brauckhoff K, Dralle H. Papillary thyroid carcinoma in patients with RET proto-oncogene germline mutation. Thyroid. 2002;12(7): 557–61.
- 185. Shifrin AL, Xenachis C, Fay A, Matulewicz TJ, Kuo YH, Vernick JJ. One hundred and seven family members with the rearranged during transfection V804M proto-oncogene mutation presenting with simultaneous medullary and papillary thyroid carcinomas, rare primary hyperparathyroidism, and no pheochromocytomas: is this a new syndrome – MEN 2C. Surgery. 2009;146(6):998–1005.
- 186. Williams ED, Pollock DJ. Multiple mucosal neuromata with endocrine tumours: a syndrome allied to von Recklinghausen's disease. J Pathol Bacteriol. 1966;91(1):71–80.
- 187. Shekitka KM, Sobin LH. Ganglioneuromas of the gastrointestinal tract. Relation to Von Recklinghausen disease and other multiple tumor syndromes. Am J Surg Pathol. 1994;18(3):250–7.
- Skinner MA, DeBenedetti MK, Moley JF, Norton JA, Wells Jr SA. Medullary thyroid carcinoma in children with multiple endocrine neoplasia types 2A and 2B. J Pediatr Surg. 1996;31(1):177–81; discussion 81–82.
- Shapiro B, Fig LM. Management of pheochromocytoma. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am. 1989;18(2):443–81.
- Carney JA, Sizemore GW, Sheps SG. Adrenal medullary disease in multiple endocrine neoplasia, type 2: pheochromocytoma and its precursors. Am J Clin Pathol. 1976;66(2):279–90.
- 191. Wray CJ, Rich TA, Waguespack SG, Lee JE, Perrier ND, Evans DB. Failure to recognize multiple endocrine neoplasia 2B: more common than we think? Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15(1):293–301.
- 192. Brauckhoff M, Machens A, Hess S, et al. Premonitory symptoms preceding metastatic medullary thyroid cancer in MEN 2B: An exploratory analysis. Surgery. 2008;144(6):1044–50; discussion 50–53.
- 193. Kasprzak L, Nolet S, Gaboury L, et al. Familial medullary thyroid carcinoma and prominent corneal nerves associated with the germline V804M and V778I mutations on the same allele of RET. J Med Genet. 2001;38(11):784–7.

- 194. Lee R, Hyer J, Chowdhury H, Teimory M. Ocular signs of multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2B (MEN2B). J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2012;97(3):725–6.
- 195. Eter N, Klingmuller D, Hoppner W, Spitznas M. Typical ocular findings in a patient with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2b syndrome. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol. 2001;239(5):391–4.
- 196. Jacobs JM, Hawes MJ. From eyelid bumps to thyroid lumps: report of a MEN type IIb family and review of the literature. Ophthal Plast Reconstr Surg. 2001;17(3):195–201.
- 197. Parker DG, Robinson BG, O'Donnell BA. External ophthalmic findings in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2B. Clin Experiment Ophthalmol. 2004;32(4):420–3.
- 198. Shields JA, Shields CL, Perez N. Choroidal metastasis from medullary thyroid carcinoma in multiple endocrine neoplasia. Am J Ophthalmol. 2002;134(4):607–9.
- 199. D'Amore ES, Manivel JC, Pettinato G, Niehans GA, Snover DC. Intestinal ganglioneuromatosis: mucosal and transmural types. A clinicopathologic and immunohistochemical study of six cases. Hum Pathol. 1991;22(3):276–86.
- 200. Lips CJ. Clinical management of the multiple endocrine neoplasia syndromes: results of a computerized opinion poll at the Sixth International Workshop on Multiple Endocrine Neoplasia and von Hippel-Lindau disease. J Intern Med. 1998;243(6):589–94.
- 201. Cohen R, Campos JM, Salaun C, et al. Preoperative calcitonin levels are predictive of tumor size and postoperative calcitonin normalization in medullary thyroid carcinoma. Groupe d'Etudes des Tumeurs a Calcitonine (GETC). J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2000;85(2):919–22.
- Ismailov SI, Piulatova NR. Postoperative calcitonin study in medullary thyroid carcinoma. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2004;11(2):357–63.
- 203. Kloos RT, Eng C, Evans DB, et al. Medullary thyroid cancer: management guidelines of the American Thyroid Association. Thyroid. 2009;19(6):565–612.
- 204. Costante G, Meringolo D, Durante C, et al. Predictive value of serum calcitonin levels for preoperative diagnosis of medullary thyroid carcinoma in a cohort of 5817 consecutive patients with thyroid nodules. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2007;92(2):450–5.
- 205. Pomares FJ, Rodriguez JM, Nicolas F, et al. Presurgical assessment of the tumor burden of familial medullary thyroid carcinoma by calcitonin testing. J Am Coll Surg. 2002; 195(5):630–4.
- Ilias I, Pacak K. Diagnosis, localization and treatment of pheochromocytoma in MEN 2 syndrome. Endocr Regul. 2009;43(2):89–93.
- 207. Ilias I, Chen CC, Carrasquillo JA, et al. Comparison of 6-18F-fluorodopamine PET with 123I-metaiodobenzylguanidine and 111in-pentetreotide scintigraphy in localization of nonmetastatic and metastatic pheochromocytoma. J Nucl Med. 2008;49(10):1613–9.
- Brenner ME, Jacene HA. Recurrent or residual hyperparathyroidism and thyroid cancer effectively evaluated with scintigraphy. Otolaryngol Clin North Am. 2008;41(6):1117–33, viii–ix.
- 209. Yen TW, Shapiro SE, Gagel RF, et al. Medullary thyroid carcinoma: results of a standardized surgical approach in a contemporary series of 80 consecutive patients. Surgery. 2003;134(6):890–9; discussion 99–901.
- Buhr HJ, Kallinowski F, Raue F, Frank-Raue K, Herfarth C. Microsurgical neck dissection for occultly metastasizing medullary thyroid carcinoma. Three-year results. Cancer. 1993;72(12):3685–93.
- Ukkat J, Gimm O, Brauckhoff M, Bilkenroth U, Dralle H. Single center experience in primary surgery for medullary thyroid carcinoma. World J Surg. 2004;28(12):1271–4.
- 212. Gimm O, Ukkat J, Niederle BE, et al. Timing and extent of surgery in patients with familial medullary thyroid carcinoma/multiple endocrine neoplasia 2A-related RET mutations not affecting codon 634. World J Surg. 2004;28(12):1312–6.
- 213. Brauckhoff M, Lorenz K, Ukkat J, et al. Medullary thyroid carcinoma. Scand J Surg. 2004;93(4):249–60.
- Scollo C, Baudin E, Travagli JP, et al. Rationale for central and bilateral lymph node dissection in sporadic and hereditary medullary thyroid cancer. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2003; 88(5):2070–5.

- 215. Niccoli-Sire P, Murat A, Baudin E, et al. Early or prophylactic thyroidectomy in MEN 2/ FMTC gene carriers: results in 71 thyroidectomized patients. The French Calcitonin Tumours Study Group (GETC). Eur J Endocrinol. 1999;141(5):468–74.
- 216. Machens A, Hauptmann S, Dralle H. Prediction of lateral lymph node metastases in medulary thyroid cancer. Br J Surg. 2008;95(5):586–91.
- 217. Dralle H, Machens A. Surgical management of the lateral neck compartment for metastatic thyroid cancer. Curr Opin Oncol. 2013;25(1):20–6.
- 218. Fleming JB, Lee JE, Bouvet M, et al. Surgical strategy for the treatment of medullary thyroid carcinoma. Ann Surg. 1999;230(5):697–707.
- Massoll N, Mazzaferri EL. Diagnosis and management of medullary thyroid carcinoma. Clin Lab Med. 2004;24(1):49–83.
- 220. Gottlieb JA, Hill Jr CS. Chemotherapy of thyroid cancer with adriamycin. Experience with 30 patients. N Engl J Med. 1974;290(4):193–7.
- 221. Martinez SR, Beal SH, Chen A, Chen SL, Schneider PD. Adjuvant external beam radiation for medullary thyroid carcinoma. J Surg Oncol. 2010;102(2):175–8.
- 222. Gild ML, Bullock M, Robinson BG, Clifton-Bligh R. Multikinase inhibitors: a new option for the treatment of thyroid cancer. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2011;7(10):617–24.
- 223. Wells Jr SA, Robinson BG, Gagel RF, et al. Vandetanib in patients with locally advanced or metastatic medullary thyroid cancer: a randomized, double-blind phase III trial. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(2):134–41.
- 224. Schoffski PER, Müller S, Brose MS, et al. An international, double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled phase III trial (EXAM) of cabozantinib (XL184) in medullary thyroid carcinoma (MTC) patients (pts) with documented RECIST progression at baseline [abstract]. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30.
- 225. Smit J. Treatment of advanced medullary thyroid cancer. Thyroid Res. 2013;6 Suppl 1:S7.
- 226. Bargellini T, Cantelli G, Bruscino A, et al. Left laparoscopic adrenalectomy for pheochromocytoma in MEN 2B: case report. G Chir. 2011;32(3):132–4.
- 227. Fassbender WJ, Krohn-Grimberghe B, Gortz B, et al. Multiple endocrine neoplasia (MEN)– an overview and case report–patient with sporadic bilateral pheochromocytoma, hyperparathyroidism and marfanoid habitus. Anticancer Res. 2000;20(6C):4877–87.
- 228. Nguyen L, Niccoli-Sire P, Caron P, et al. Pheochromocytoma in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2: a prospective study. Eur J Endocrinol. 2001;144(1):37–44.
- 229. Eisenhofer G, Rivers G, Rosas AL, et al. Adverse drug reactions in patients with phaeochromocytoma: incidence, prevention and management. Drug Saf. 2007;30(11):1031–62.
- Bilezikian JP, Khan AA, Potts Jr JT. Guidelines for the management of asymptomatic primary hyperparathyroidism: summary statement from the third international workshop. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2009;94(2):335–9.
- 231. Twigt BA, Scholten A, Valk GD, Rinkes IH, Vriens MR. Differences between sporadic and MEN related primary hyperparathyroidism; clinical expression, preoperative workup, operative strategy and follow-up. Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2013;8:50.
- 232. Moley JF, Debenedetti MK, Dilley WG, Tisell LE, Wells SA. Surgical management of patients with persistent or recurrent medullary thyroid cancer. J Intern Med. 1998;243(6):521–6.
- 233. Kahraman T, de Groot JW, Rouwe C, et al. Acceptable age for prophylactic surgery in children with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2a. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2003;29(4):331–5.
- 234. Szinnai G, Meier C, Komminoth P, Zumsteg UW. Review of multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2A in children: therapeutic results of early thyroidectomy and prognostic value of codon analysis. Pediatrics. 2003;111(2):E132–9.
- 235. Hansford JR, Mulligan LM. Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2 and RET: from neoplasia to neurogenesis. J Med Genet. 2000;37(11):817–27.
- Neumann HP, Bausch B, McWhinney SR, et al. Germ-line mutations in nonsyndromic pheochromocytoma. N Engl J Med. 2002;346(19):1459–66.
- 237. Gimenez-Roqueplo AP, Lehnert H, Mannelli M, et al. Phaeochromocytoma, new genes and screening strategies. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2006;65(6):699–705.

- 238. Erlic Z, Rybicki L, Peczkowska M, et al. Clinical predictors and algorithm for the genetic diagnosis of pheochromocytoma patients. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15(20):6378–85.
- Punales MK, Graf H, Gross JL, Maia AL. RET codon 634 mutations in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2: variable clinical features and clinical outcome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2003;88(6):2644–9.
- 240. Gimm O, Neuberg DS, Marsh DJ, et al. Over-representation of a germline RET sequence variant in patients with sporadic medullary thyroid carcinoma and somatic RET codon 918 mutation. Oncogene. 1999;18(6):1369–73.
- 241. Romeo G, Ceccherini I, Celli J, et al. Association of multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2 and Hirschsprung disease. J Intern Med. 1998;243(6):515–20.
- 242. Aiello A, Cioni K, Gobbo M, et al. The familial medullary thyroid carcinoma-associated RET E768D mutation in a multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2A case. Surgery. 2005;137(5): 574–6.
- 243. Jimenez C, Habra MA, Huang SC, et al. Pheochromocytoma and medullary thyroid carcinoma: a new genotype-phenotype correlation of the RET protooncogene 891 germline mutation. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2004;89(8):4142–5.
- 244. Gibelin H, Bezieau S, Misso C, Bouin-Pineau MH, Marechaud R, Kraimps JL. Germline RET V804M mutation associated with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2A. Br J Surg. 2004;91(11):1458–9.
- 245. Feldman GL, Edmonds MW, Ainsworth PJ, et al. Variable expressivity of familial medullary thyroid carcinoma (FMTC) due to a RET V804M (GTG→ATG) mutation. Surgery. 2000;128(1):93–8.
- Frohnauer MK, Decker RA. Update on the MEN 2A c804 RET mutation: is prophylactic thyroidectomy indicated? Surgery. 2000;128(6):1052–7; discussion 57–58.
- 247. Rothberg AE, Raymond VM, Gruber SB, Sisson J. Familial medullary thyroid carcinoma associated with cutaneous lichen amyloidosis. Thyroid. 2009;19(6):651–5.
- 248. Moline J, Eng C. Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2: an overview. Genet Med. 2011;13(9):755-64.

Thyroid Cancer

E. Nilüfer Güler, Murat Fani Bozkurt, Serdar Ozbas, and Suayib Yalcin

21.1 Introduction

Thyroid carcinoma is the most common endocrine malignancy (95 % of all endocrine malignancies) accounting for approximately 2 % of all cancers diagnosed worldwide [1]. Recent reports describe a continuous increase in thyroid cancer incidence worldwide; this increase is as high as 250 % in some areas, especially in the United States of America (USA) [2]. The American Cancer Society (ACS) estimates that there will be about 60,220 new thyroid cancer cases, and 1,850 people will die of thyroid cancer in 2013, in the USA [3]. Despite the generally good prognosis of thyroid carcinoma, 5–10 % of patients will die of the disease [4, 5]. Thyroid carcinoma is responsible for the 66 % of the deaths due to endocrine cancers.

Thyroid cancer is two- to threefold more common in females than males, although the latter gender dies of cancer more often than women (45,310 and 14,910 new thyroid cancer cases and 810 and 1,040 deaths from thyroid cancer in women and men, respectively, estimated in 2013 in the USA) [3]. It is now the fifth most

M.F. Bozkurt, MD, FEBNM Department of Nuclear Medicine, Hacettepe University, Faculty of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey e-mail: fanibozkurt@yahoo.com

S. Ozbas, MD, FEBS Breast and Endocrine Surgery, Ankara Guven Hospital, Ankara, Turkey e-mail: sozbas@yahoo.com

S. Yalcin, MD Department of Medical Oncology, Hacettepe University Institute of Cancer, Ankara, Turkey

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015 S. Yalcin, K. Öberg (eds.), *Neuroendocrine Tumours: Diagnosis and Management*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-662-45215-8_21

E.N. Güler, MD (🖂)

Professor Emeritus, Department of Medical Oncology, Hacettepe University Institute of Oncology, Ankara, Turkey e-mail: nguler@hacettepe.edu.tr

common cancer (6 % of all female cancers) among women in the USA [3]. Papillary cancer is the most common type in the USA and has excellent prognosis.

The peak incidence of thyroid cancer diagnosis is 45–49 years in women and 65–69 years in men; it also affects young people. Thyroid cancer accounts for approximately 10 % of malignancies diagnosed in individuals aged 15–29 years [6].

Thyroid carcinoma can arise from either follicular or nonfollicular thyroid cells. Follicular cancers include papillary thyroid cancer (PTC) and follicular thyroid cancer (FTC), Hürtle cell cancer or oncocytic cancer (HCC), and anaplastic thyroid cancer (ATC). Medullary thyroid cancer (MTC) arises from nonfollicular thyroid cells (other names are parafollicular C cells and calcitonin-producing cells) and accounts for 5 % of thyroid cancers. PTC and FTC are commonly referred together as differentiated thyroid cancer (DTC) which account for 94 % of thyroid cancers. Less than 1–3 % of thyroid cancers are ATC [7, 8].

21.2 Etiology

21.2.1 External Radiation

The only well-established risk factor for differentiated thyroid cancer, specifically PTC, is external head and neck radiation during infancy, childhood period, and young adulthood [6, 7]. The younger the patient was at the time of exposure, the higher the risk of developing cancer. Iodine deficiency increases the risk for radiation-induced thyroid cancer [9]. From the 1920s to 1960s, external low-dose radiation therapy had been used for the treatment of a variety of benign diseases such as acne, tonsillitis, enlarged thymus, and fungal disease of the scalp [10–12]. Treatment of malignant diseases with high-dose radiation therapy to the head and neck (>20 Gy), such as Hodgkin's disease, non-Hodgkin's lymphoma treated with mantle-field irradiation, Wilms' tumor, and neuroblastoma, especially at young ages, is also together with increased benign and malign thyroid neoplasm [10, 13]. Epidemiologic studies show that between 7 and 9 % of patients who received 5-10 Gy external radiation develop thyroid cancer [14]. Relative risk is linearly related to exposure dose, starting as low as 0.1 Gy and at least up to 30 Gy [14]. Exposure to ionizing radiation results in a 30 % risk for thyroid cancer.

The average time duration between irradiation and thyroid tumor is 10–20 years; however, periods from 5 to 50 years have been reported [14–16]. The majority of cases occur between 20 and 40 years after exposure. Exposure to the external sources of radiation, radioisotopes of iodine after atomic bombing, and the Chernobyl nuclear accident led to an increased incidence of PTC in fallout regions, especially in younger children [17]. In some regions of Japan, the incidence of thyroid cancer in a screened population is as high as 0.1 %, 10-fold higher than expected on US incidence rates. Within the first decade after the Chernobyl accident, some regions of Belarus showed a 100-fold increase in thyroid cancer in individuals, below the age of 15 at the time of exposure [18]. In one of the last publications from Japan, the excess thyroid cancer risk associated with childhood exposure has persisted for >50 years after atomic-bomb exposure [19].

There was no evidence that the diagnostic use of ¹³¹I increased the risk of thyroid cancer. The therapeutic use of ¹³¹I for ablation of thyroid tissue to treat hyperthyroid-ism seems to be associated with a very modest increased risk of thyroid cancer [20].

21.2.2 Dietary Factors

Thyroid cancer incidence is different in different geographic areas. Dietary influences have primarily focused on the level of iodine in the diet [21]. In some regions with high dietary iodine intake due to shellfish, such as Iceland, Norway, and the Pacific Rim, PTC incidence is higher. However, more recent data suggest that the relatively elevated levels of fish consumption do not appreciably increase thyroid cancer risk [22]. Iodine deficiency is associated with follicular and anaplastic thyroid carcinomas.

21.2.3 Prolonged Thyroid-Stimulating Hormone (TSH) Stimulation

The association of thyroid cancer and Hashimoto's thyroiditis, Graves' disease, and multinodular goiter has been reported. However, any causative relationship between these diseases remains poorly documented [7]. There is no increased incidence of thyroid cancer among patients with primary hypothyroidism.

21.2.4 Familial-Hereditary Factors

Familial cases have been reported in 5 % of all patients with PTC, and they have more aggressive disease course [7]. Epidemiologic studies have demonstrated a four- to tenfold increased risk of DTC in first-degree relatives of the patients [23]. DTC can both be inherited in an autosomal dominant fashion as the main part of some syndromes (PTC with papillary renal neoplasia, familial non-medullary thyroid carcinoma, and familial thyroid tumors with cell oxyphilia) or have an increased incidence in other tumor susceptibility syndromes (familial adenomatous polyposis, Cowden disease, and Carney complex 1) [6, 7, 24]. Family history is important for MTC. Multiple endocrine neoplasia (MEN) 2A and 2B syndromes and familial MTC (FMTC) syndrome associated with germline mutation of *RET* proto-oncogene. In these syndromes, prophylactic thyroidectomy should be undertaken in at-risk individuals at young ages [25].

21.2.5 Other Factors

Oral contraceptive use, late menarche, late age at first birth, and benign thyroid nodules have been studied. But the results are mixed, and there is no clear association [26, 27].

21.3 Pathology

There are four major types of thyroid carcinomas according to morphology and biological behavior [6, 7]: papillary, follicular, medullary and anaplastic carcinomas. Papillary and follicular carcinomas are called as DTC. The WHO (World Health Organization) classification of thyroid carcinomas is shown in Table 21.1 [28].

21.3.1 Differentiated Thyroid Carcinomas (DTC)

88 % of all thyroid carcinomas are DTC. Papillary tumors arise from thyroglobulin (Tg)-producing follicular cells (thyrocytes), and 85 % of DTC are PTC in developed countries where sufficient iodine is present in the diet [6, 7, 29]. PTC is the most well-differentiated histology. It usually presents as multifocal lesions, with a high incidence of regional lymph node metastases [30]. They vary in size from

| Tumors | Frequency % | 10-year survival (%) |
|------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------|----------------------|
| Papillary carcinoma | 80 | 93 |
| Classic papillary | | |
| Follicular variant | | |
| Macrofollicular variant | | |
| Oncocytic variant | | |
| Clear cell variant | | |
| Diffuse sclerosing variant | | |
| Solid variant | | |
| Cribriform carcinoma | | |
| Papillary carcinoma with focal insular component | | |
| Papillary carcinoma with squamous cell and mucoepidermoid carcinoma | | |
| Papillary carcinoma with spindle and giant cell carcinoma | | |
| Combined papillary and medullary carcinomas | | |
| Papillary microcarcinomas | | |
| Follicular carcinoma | 11 | 85 |
| Minimal and widely invasive | | |
| Oncocytic variant (Hürtle cell) | 3 | 76 |
| Clear cell variant | | |
| Poorly differentiated carcinoma | | 34 |
| Undifferentiated (anaplastic) carcinoma | 2 | No data |
| Medullary thyroid carcinoma | 4 | 75 |
| Follicular adenoma | | |

Table 21.1 Tumors of the thyroid according to the WHO classification, distribution, and survival[29, 60]

microscopic cancer to large tumor. They may invade the thyroid capsule and contiguous structures and lymphatics. But blood vessel invasion is rare. Cystic changes, calcifications, and even ossification may be identified. Psammoma bodies, calcified scarred remnants of tumor papillae, are commonly seen in about 50 % of PTC and pathognomonic for PTC [6, 7, 29, 30]. Pure PTC has very good prognosis. But the insular, tall cell, columnar cell, and diffuse sclerosing variants are more aggressive forms of PTC [28] (Table 21.1). PTC less than 1 cm are often referred to as microcarcinomas [6, 7, 29]. Papillary thyroid carcinoma seems closely related to the activation of trk and RET proto-oncogenes. The trk proto-oncogene codes for the tyrosine kinase receptor; the ret shows a paracentric inversion of chromosome 10 and 11 in 30–35 % of the cases. Activating RET mutations may be the result of ionizing radiation [31]. RET/PTC gene rearrangements or RAS, BRAF, or MEK-ERK pathway mutations are present in 70 % of PTCs, and the upregulation of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) signaling is also common in metastatic disease [6, 7, 32]. RET/PTC genetic alterations are the most common mutation found in the Chernobyl radiation-induced thyroid carcinomas [33, 34]. The most common were *RET/PTC1* and *RET/PTC3*, and the latter was associated with the more aggressive form of PTC. BRAF mutation is the most common genetic alteration in thyroid cancer, particularly in PTC. BRAF mutation is associated with poor clinicopathologic characteristics of PTC. Detection of BRAF mutation on FNA specimen before surgery is recommended as a useful diagnostic marker and prognostic indicator for PTC and thus influences the surgeon's decision on the management of PTC [35]. The prevalence of genetic alterations in patients with various thyroid carcinomas is outlined in Table 21.2 [36].

FTC is 12 % of DTC. True FTC is an unusual tumor comprising approximately 5–10 % of thyroid malignancies in non-endemic goiter areas of the world [29]. Prior to the introduction of iodinated salt, follicular carcinoma was much more frequently diagnosed. Follicular tumors although frequently encapsulated, microscopically vascular and capsular invasion commonly present. This histologic finding distinguishes benign neoplasms from malignant follicular neoplasm. Cytology alone cannot be used to diagnose follicular carcinoma [6, 7]. FTC may be associated with *RAS* mutations and mutations on chromosome 3 (PAX8-PPAR) [6, 36] (Table 21.2).

| | Poorly differentiated | Papillary thyroid | Follicular thyroid | Anaplastic thyroid |
|--------------|-----------------------|----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|
| Altered gene | thyroid carcinoma (%) | carcinoma (%) | carcinoma (%) | carcinoma (%) |
| RET/PTC | 0 | 20 | 0 | 0 |
| TP53 | 20–30 | 0 | 0 | 65–70 |
| BRAF | 15 | 45 | 0 | 20–25 |
| RAS | 30–35 | 10–15 | 4 | 50-55 |
| Beta-catenin | 20–25 | 0 | 0 | 65 |
| PAX8-PPARy | 0 | 0 | 35 | 0 |

Table 21.2 Prevalence of genetic alterations in patients with various thyroid carcinomas [36]

HCC or oncocytic carcinoma is a histological variant of FTC often of more aggressive behavior and accounts for 3 % of DTCs [6, 7].

Many tumors have both papillary and follicular elements histologically, and they are called follicular variants of papillary carcinoma and classified as papillary carcinoma. Because the clinical behavior of these tumors are not different from pure PTC [7, 37]. DTCs most often secrete thyroglobulin, and it can be used as a tumor marker.

Poorly differentiated thyroid carcinoma (PDTC) was introduced and defined by Sakamoto et al. and Carcangiu et al. in the 1980s [38, 39]. PDTC has aggressive histologic behavior with necrosis, increased mitotic rate, and vascular invasion. They account for 4-7 % of all thyroid cancers [36]. *RET/PTC* genetic alterations are 0 %, and *TP53* mutations are present in 20–30 % of cases [36] (Table 21.2). PDTC is more aggressive than DTC and less aggressive than ATC.

Other very rare forms of PTC and FTC are seen in Table 21.2.

21.3.2 Medullary Thyroid Carcinoma (MTC)

MTCs are derived from parafollicular cells or calcitonin-secreting C cells. RET proto-oncogene mutations are characteristic, with germline activating *RET* mutations as seen in FMTC and MEN 2A predisposing factor. Calcitonin and carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) can be used as tumor markers [6, 7, 36, 37] (Table 21.2).

21.3.3 Anaplastic Thyroid Cancer (ATC)

ATC is the most aggressive form of thyroid carcinomas and typically the cause of death within 6 months. One-year survival is about 20 %. This type is less than 3 % of thyroid malignancies in the USA [6, 7, 37]. ATC can occur de novo or has arisen from more differentiated cancer that went undiagnosed for many years. In some cases there is a spectrum from papillary to anaplastic cancer [40]. ATC is distinguished from poorly differentiated (grade 3) thyroid carcinoma in part by loss of TTF-1 expression and abnormalities in p53 signaling pathway [6, 36] (Table 21.2). *BRAF* and *RAS* mutations are also shown in ATC [36] (Table 21.2).

21.3.4 Other Cancers of the Thyroid Gland

Thyroid lymphoma (5 %), thyroid sarcoma (<1 %), and squamous carcinoma of the thyroid (<1 %) are the other very rare cancers of the thyroid gland [6, 7, 29, 30, 37]. Breast, lung, and kidney cancers are the most frequent cancers that metastasize to the thyroid.

21.4 Diagnosis

The majority of patients with thyroid cancer present with a clinically or ultrasonographically (USG) detectable solitary nodule. All thyroid nodules in the general population have a 5–8 % chance of malignancy [6, 7, 29, 41, 42]. History, physical examination, USG, and FNA are the four most important diagnostic methods. History is very important: history of dyspnea, dysphagia, and persistent dysphonia and male sex, age <14 years or >70 years, personal thyroid cancer history with lobectomy, radiation exposure in childhood or adolescent period, first-degree relative with thyroid cancer or MEN2, personal history of familial adenomatous polyposis, Carney complex, Cowden syndrome, FDG avid on PET scan are the high risk clinical features for malignancy. Firm and hard fixed nodule/s or rapidly growing nodules on physical examination and cervical lymph node/nodes palpation are important findings for malignancy [6, 7, 29, 30, 37, 42, 43].

Neck and thyroid USG and fine needle aspiration (FNA) are very important in the differential diagnosis of thyroid nodules: sonographic features and thresholds for FNA, according to the National Cancer Center Network (NCCN) guideline, are outlined in Table 21.3 [42]. The rate of carcinoma of a suspicious nodule is about 20 %. The false-positive and false-negative FNA cytology rates for all nodules are less than 5 % [7, 29, 37]. The Bethesda system suggests a six-category classification system to report thyroid FNA biopsy (FNAB) results [44]. In one of the last studies, the authors reviewed eight published studies including 25,445 thyroid FNABs [45]. Twenty-five percent of the patients (6,362 pts) subsequently underwent thyroidectomy. The final pathology results were compared to the FNAB results.

| Sonographic features | Threshold for FNA |
|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------|
| Solid nodule | |
| With suspicious sonographic features (hypoechoic, increased central vascularity, infiltrative margins, microcalcifications, taller than wide in transverse plane) | ≥1.0 cm |
| Without suspicious sonographic features | ≥1.5 cm |
| Mixed cystic-solid nodule | |
| With suspicious sonographic features (hypoechoic, increased central vascularity, infiltrative margins, microcalcifications, taller than wide in transverse plane) | ≥ 1.5–2.0 cm |
| Without suspicious sonographic features | ≥2.0 cm |
| <i>Spongiform nodule</i> (aggregation of multiple microcystic components in more than 50 % of the volume of the nodule) | ≥2.0 cm |
| Purely cystic nodule | Not indicated except as therapeutic modality |
| Abnormal cervical lymph nodes | FNA node±FNA-associated thyroid nodule(s) |

Table 21.3 Thyroid carcinoma: nodul evaluation according to the sonographic features and thresholds for fine niddle aspiration [42]

NCCN thyroid cancer guideline, v.2.2013

- 1. Nondiagnostic/unsatisfactory: 13 % of all FNABs; of those 16.8 % were cancer at final pathology
- 2. Benign/noncancerous: 59 % of all FNABs; of those only 3.7 % were cancer at final pathology
- 3. Indeterminate: 9.6 % of all FNABs; of those 15.9 % were cancer at final pathology
- 4. Suspicious for follicular cancer: 10.1 % of all FNABs; of those 26.1 % were cancer at final pathology
- 5. Suspicious for cancer: 2.6 % of all FNABs; of those 75.2 % were cancer at final pathology
- 6. Positive for cancer: 5.4 % of all FNABs; of those 98.6 % were cancer at final pathology

As a result, in patients with benign or inadequate FNAB results, other factors, such as USG findings (Table 21.3), personal history, and nodule size, should be considered for the decision to do surgery. The author researchers recommend to repeat FNAB when the diagnosis is indeterminate [45]. In this group, molecular markers (*BRAF*, *RET/PTC*, *RAS*, *PAX8/PPAR* mutations) (Table 21.2) may help to find out in which patients surgery is necessary [35, 46, 47]. Gene mutations are very rare in benign FNABs (approximately ≤ 5 %).

All patients suspicious for cancer category should undergo surgery because of the very high (75 %) possibility of cancer [41, 45].

Papillary, medullary, and anaplastic carcinomas can be easily diagnosed with FNA cytology, but it is difficult to distinguish benign from malignant follicular lesions. Histologic examination showing capsular and vascular invasion is necessary to classify a lesion as malignant for follicular and Hürtle cell neoplasia [7, 29, 37]. Molecular diagnostics may be useful to allow reclassification of follicular lesions, such as follicular neoplasm or follicular lesions with undetermined significance [48]. In the diagnosis of follicular lesion with undetermined significance (other terms are atypia of undetermined significance, rule out neoplasm, atypical follicular lesion, and cellular follicular lesion, and the estimated risk of malignancy is 5–10 %), FNA can be repeated or surgery can be considered according to the clinical and USG findings [42].

Another diagnostic method is radionuclide scan: In the last years, it is not used in the initial evaluation of thyroid nodule, except for suppressed TSH levels. In this situation, radionuclide scan is done to assess for a functioning (hot) adenoma. Malignant lesions usually are documented as hypofunctioning or cold lesions. The overall incidence of cancer in a cold nodule is 12–15 %, but it is higher in people younger than 40 years and in people with calcifications present on preoperative USG [49, 50].

Serum calcitonin measurement may be helpful for the diagnosis of MTC [51]. According to the American Association of Clinical Endocrinologist/Associazione Medici Endocrinologi/European Thyroid Association (AACE/AME/ETA) guideline, assessment of serum thyroglobulin is not recommended in the differential diagnosis of thyroid nodules. In patients undergoing surgery for malignancy, serum thyroglobulin (Tg) measurement may be useful to detect potential false-negative results. Measurement of basal serum calcitonin level may be a useful test in the initial evaluation of thyroid nodules [43].

21.5 Staging and Prognosis

There are many prognostic factors for DTC. Age, sex, histologic type, tumor size, tumor grade, multicentricity, extrathyroidal extension, type of surgery, ploidy, lymph node metastases, vascular invasion, and ¹³¹I RAI ablation therapy are important prognostic factors [6, 7, 29, 30, 37, 52–55]. Also there are multiple prognostic scoring systems for DTC. These are AGES (age, grade, extent, size), AMES (age, metastases, extent, size), DAMES (ploidy + AMES), MACIS (metastases, age, completeness of resection, invasion, size), and the AJCC-TNM staging system 2010 7th edition (age, stage) (Tables 21.4 and 21.5) [52, 56–59]. Prognoses according to the type of cancer and stage are outlined in Table 21.6 [59, 60]. Age, size, and extent of the tumor are present in all prognostic scoring systems. Adverse prognostic factors included age older than 45 years, follicular histology, primary tumor size larger than 4 cm, extrathyroidal extension, and distant metastases.

21.5.1 Age and Sex

Age is the most important prognostic factor for thyroid cancer mortality [6, 7, 29, 37, 52, 56–59]. Thyroid carcinoma is more lethal in patients older than 40 years. The mortality rate increases dramatically after the age of 60. Recurrence frequencies are highest (40 %) in patients younger than 20 years or older than 60 years. Thyroid cancer is more aggressive in men than in women. The five-year survival rate is 85 % for females and 74 % for males [60].

21.5.2 Tumor Characteristics

The most important prognostic tumor characteristics are tumor histology, tumor size, vascular invasion, necrosis, *BRAF* mutation, local invasion, and metastases.

PTC has the most favorable prognosis. But tall cell, columnar cell, and diffuse sclerosing variants and anaplastic tumor transformation have worse prognosis. The follicular variant of PTC has the same prognosis with pure PTC [6, 7, 28, 29, 37].

FTC is more aggressive than PTC. Vascular invasion is a bad prognostic factor. Many FTCs are minimally invasive tumors, exhibiting only slight tumor capsule penetration without vascular invasion. They are less likely to produce distant metastases and prognosis is good. Highly invasive FTCs are much less common. Up to 80 % make metastases and cause death in about 20 % of the patients [6, 7, 29, 37, 52, 61].

| | Primary tumor (T) | | | |
|----------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--|--|--|
| Tx | All categories may be subdivided into (s) solitary tumor and (m) multifocal tumor | | | |
| T0 | Primary tumor cannot be assessed | | | |
| T1 | No evidence of primary tumor | | | |
| T1a | Tumor 2 cm or less in greatest dimension, limited to the thyroid | | | |
| T1b | Tumor 1 cm or less, limited to the thyroid | | | |
| T2 | Tumor more than 1 cm but not more than 2 cm in greatest dimension, limited to the | | | |
| T3 | thyroid | | | |
| T4a | Tumor more than 2 cm but not more than 4 cm in greatest dimension, limited to the | | | |
| T4b | thyroid | | | |
| T4a | Tumor more than 4 cm in greatest dimension, limited to the thyroid, or any tumor | | | |
| T4b | with minimal extrathyroidal extension (e.g., extension to the sternothyroid muscle | | | |
| | or perithyroid soft tissues) | | | |
| | Moderately advanced disease | | | |
| | Tumor of any size extending beyond the thyroid capsule to invade the subcutaneous soft | | | |
| | tissues, larynx, trachea, esophagus, or recurrent laryngeal nerve | | | |
| | very advanced disease | | | |
| | Tumor invades the prevertebral fascia or encases the carotid artery or mediastinal vessels | | | |
| | All anaplastic carcinomas are considered 14 tumors | | | |
| | A population correspondent to the second sec | | | |
| Anapiastic carcinoma witi gross extrainyroidai extension | | | | |
| | Regional lymph nodes (N) | | | |
| NX | Regional lymph nodes are the central compartment, lateral cervical, and upper | | | |
| N0 | mediastinal lymph nodes | | | |
| N1 | Regional lymph nodes cannot be assessed | | | |
| N1a | No regional lymph node metastasis | | | |
| N1b | Regional lymph node metastasis | | | |
| | Metastasis to level VI (pretracheal, paratracheal, and prelaryngeal/Delphian lymph | | | |
| | nodes) | | | |
| | Metastasis to the unilateral, bilateral, or contralateral cervical (levels I, II, III, IV, or | | | |
| | v) or retropharyngeal or superior mediastinal lymph nodes (level VII) | | | |
| | Distant metastases (M) | | | |
| M0 | No distant metastasis | | | |
| M1 | Distant metastasis | | | |

 Table 21.4
 American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) 2010: thyroid cancer TNM staging [59]

| | Papillary or | Papillary or | | |
|-------|--------------|-----------------------------|--------------------------|-----------------------|
| | follicular | follicular | Medullary carcinoma, any | Anaplastic carcinoma, |
| Stage | Age<45 | Age>45 | age | any age |
| Ι | M0 | T1, N0, M0 | T1, N0, M0 | |
| II | M1 | T2, N0, M0 | T2, N0, M0 T3, N0, M0 | |
| III | - | T3, N0, M0 T1–3, N1a, M0 | T1–3, N1a, M0 | |
| IVA | - | T4a, N0–1a, M0 | T4a, N0–1a, M0 | T4a, any N, M0 |
| IVB | | T1–3; N1b, M0 | T1–3; N1b, M0 | T4b, any N, M0 |
| IVC | | T4a, N1b, M0 | T4a, N1b, M0 | Any T, any N, M1 |
| | | T4b, any N, M0 | T4b, any N, M0 | |
| | | Any T, any N, M1 | Any T, any N, M1 | |

 Table 21.5
 Pathologic TNM staging system for thyroid cancer (AJCC) [59]

| Stage | Papillary | Follicular | Medullary | Anaplastic |
|-------|-----------|------------|-----------|------------|
| Ι | 100 | 100 | 100 | - |
| II | 100 | 100 | 98 | - |
| III | 93 | 71 | 81 | - |
| IV | 51 | 50 | 28 | 7 |

Table 21.6 Five-year survival rates (%) for thyroid cancer per TNM stage [60]

HCC is an aggressive variant of FTC. Vascular invasion and older age are together with worse prognosis. HCC more frequently metastasizes than FTC [62]. Ten-year survival rates were 85 % for FTC and 76 % for HCC [63].

PTCs smaller than 1 cm are termed microcarcinoma or incidentaloma [29, 30, 37]. The risk of recurrence ranges from 1 to 2 % in unifocal papillary microcarcinoma, and 4–6 % in multifocal papillary microcarcinoma [64, 65]. Their cancer-specific mortality rates are near zero. DTC tumors, with size less than 1.5 cm and confined to the thyroid, almost never cause distant metastases. Thirty-year recurrence rates are one third of >1.5 cm tumors; 30-year cancer-specific mortality is 0.4 % compared to 7 % for \geq 1.5 cm tumors [52]. There is a linear relationship between tumor size and recurrence and mortality for both PTC and FTC [52, 56–58].

BRAF mutation is associated with poor clinical outcome in patients with PTC [35].

PDTCs are more aggressive than DTC and less aggressive than ATC [36, 38, 39]. They are typically diagnosed in patients between the age of 55 and 63 years, a 2/1 female predominance. Extrathyroidal extension and extensive local invasion are typically present at the diagnosis. Regional lymph node metastases (50–83 %) and distant metastases (36–85 %), most commonly to the lungs and bones, are frequently seen in PDTC. Five-, ten-, and fifteen-year survival rates are 50, 34, and 0 %, respectively [36, 66, 67].

MTC is the intermediate differentiated thyroid carcinoma (Table 21.1). Overall, the 5-year survival is 80–86 % and the 10-year survival is 75 % [59, 60] (Table 21.6). In patients with sporadic MTC, a somatic *RET* oncogene mutation confers an adverse prognosis [68].

ATC has the worst prognosis [6, 7, 29, 37, 40]. Median survival is 4 to 5 months after diagnosis. Favorable prognostic features seem to be unilateral tumors, tumor size less than 5 cm, no invasion of adjacent tissue, and absence of nodal involvement or distant metastases [69]. Older age and high white blood cell count are bad prognostic factors [29].

21.5.3 Tumor Invasion

Local tumor invasion are present in nearly 10 % of DTC patients. It has a worse prognosis [52, 70]. Local invasion may be microscopic or gross. Recurrence rates are 2 times higher with locally invasive tumors. One third of these patients die of cancer within 10 years [52].
21.5.4 Regional Lymph Node Metastases

The prognostic significance of lymph node metastases is controversial [71, 72]. Lymph node metastases are frequent in PTC, especially multifocal PTC. The lymph node metastases rate is 35 % in adults with PTC and 80 % in children with PTC. The lymph node metastases ratio is 15 % in FTC, and together with worse prognosis. Older patients (>45 years) with PTC and The lymph node metastases ratio also have decreased survival [73]. In one study, the size of the metastatic lymph nodes (>3 cm vs <1 cm) and number of metastatic lymph nodes (<5 vs >5–10 involved lymph nodes) were found significant for prognosis [74].

21.5.5 Distant Metastases

Distant metastases are the main cause of death from DTC [6, 7, 29, 30, 37, 61]. Ten percent of patients with PTC and 25 % of patients with FTC develop distant metastases. The lungs, bones, soft tissues, and central nervous system are the most frequent metastatic sites. The main predictors of outcome for patients with distant metastases are the patient's age, site of metastases, and ¹³¹I RAI uptake of the metastatic site. Younger patients have better prognosis. Bone metastases have worse prognosis. RAI-refractory metastases have worse prognosis.

21.5.6 Extent of Surgery

The extent of surgery is one of the important prognostic factors for patients with >1 cm DTC [52, 55]. The relapse rate and cancer-specific mortality rate of subtotal thyroidectomy are 40 and 9 % respectively. These numbers are 26 and 6 % with near-total or total thyroidectomy and statistically significant.

21.6 Differentiated Thyroid Carcinoma

21.6.1 Treatment of Differentiated Thyroid Carcinoma

There are three major components in the treatment of DTC:

- Surgery
- Postoperative ¹³¹I RAI ablation therapy
- TSH suppression with thyroid hormone therapy

External beam radiotherapy (EBRT) can be used in the adjuvant treatment of some patients and in the metastatic disease, such as bone and brain metastases.

21.6.1.1 Surgical Management of DTC

Total thyroidectomy is generally the standard surgical approach for most patients with DTC. Except for low-risk cancer found incidentally on the final pathology, most of the endocrine surgeons advocate for total thyroidectomy as the procedure of choice [50]. Arguments favoring total thyroidectomy are the presence of multiple foci in bilateral lobes in more than 60 % of patients, the adjuvant therapy using radioactive ¹³¹I, and the specificity of serum Tg concentration as a tumor marker.

Some institutions still advocate unilateral surgery, especially for patients whose primary tumor is <1 cm, due to the lack of survival benefit with more extensive surgery and the apparent lower risk of hypoparathyroidism and recurrent laryngeal nerve injury; these latter two complications of thyroidectomy occur in 1 % or less of total thyroidectomies when done by experienced endocrine surgeons. However, many consensus guidelines state that a total thyroidectomy is indicated if the primary tumor is >1 cm, there are contralateral thyroid nodules, regional or distant metastases are present, the patient has a personal history of radiation therapy to the head and neck, or the patient has first-degree family history of DTC [55]. Older age (>45 years) may also be a criterion for recommending near-total or total thyroidectomy even with tumors <1–1.5 cm, because of higher recurrence rates in this age group [58, 75–78].

Increased extent of primary surgery may improve survival for high-risk patients [79–81] and low-risk patients [55]. Other studies have also shown that rates of recurrence are reduced by total or near-total thyroidectomy among low-risk patients [76, 82, 83].

Thyroid lobectomy alone may be a sufficient treatment for small (<1 cm), lowrisk, unifocal, intrathyroidal papillary carcinomas in the absence of prior head and neck irradiation or radiologically or clinically involved cervical nodal metastases.

For patients with cytologically suspicious follicular neoplasm, a unilateral lobectomy and isthmusectomy are the initial procedures of choice. If a malignant follicular lesion is confirmed on histopathology, then a completion thyroidectomy is warranted to allow for treatment with radioiodine therapy. Nodal metastases represent an uncommon finding in follicular carcinoma, but when present may indicate decreased survival.

In patients with papillary thyroid cancer, 20–90 % have central (or level VI) lymph nodes involved at the time of initial presentation, even in low-risk patients [84–88]. The presence of lymph node metastases increases risk for disease recurrence; however, it is only a minor risk factor for mortality. The common practice is to perform therapeutic central lymph node dissection when these lymph nodes are involved. However, it is controversial to perform routine prophylactic central lymph node dissection during total thyroidectomy. Major doubts are focused on whether lymph node metastasis poses impact on overall survival, whether it can reduce the recurrence rate, and whether the extension of surgery may bring more complications. Therefore, several compelling reasons exist to consider the routine clearance of the central lymph nodes at the time of initial thyroid surgery, including improvement in disease-free survival, accurate staging, decreased local recurrence rate, and utilization as an indication for adjuvant ¹³¹I ablative therapy [89]. According to data from

the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) program, lymph node metastasis increases mortality by 68 % in patients over 45 years of age with papillary thyroid cancer [90]. Accurate staging is important in treatment planning, and routine clearance of the central lymph nodes facilitates the nodal status determination.

As some reports have implicated, central lymph node dissection may increase morbidity such as transient hypoparathyroidism and recurrent laryngeal nerve injury [91, 92]. However, in experienced hands, it (therapeutic or prophylactic) can be achieved with low morbidity [93–97] and may upstage some patients from clinical N0 to pathologic N1a [98]. In addition, selective unilateral paratracheal central compartment node dissection increases the proportion of patients who appear disease-free with unmeasurable Tg levels 6 months after surgery [99]. Other studies of central lymph node dissection have demonstrated higher morbidity, primarily recurrent laryngeal nerve injury and transient hypoparathyroidism, with no reduction in recurrence [92, 100]. In another study, comprehensive (bilateral) central compartment dissection demonstrated higher rates of transient hypoparathyroidism compared to selective (unilateral) dissection with no reduction in rates of undetectable or low Tg levels [101]. Although some lymph node metastases may be treated with radioactive iodine, several treatments may be necessary, depending upon the histology, size, and number of metastases [102].

Lymph nodes in the lateral neck (compartments II–V), in level VII (anterior mediastinum), and rarely in level I may also be involved by thyroid cancer [85, 103]. Although unilateral and bilateral therapeutic lateral cervical lymph node dissection with curative intent is widely recognized, prophylactic lateral neck dissection is controversial. For those patients in whom nodal disease is clinically evident, surgical resection may reduce the risk of recurrence and possibly mortality [104–106]. Functional compartmental en bloc neck dissection is favored over isolated lymphadenectomy ("berry picking") with limited data suggesting improved mortality [107–110].

21.6.1.2 Postoperative RAI Ablation Therapy

Radioiodine therapy with iodine-131 isotope (¹³¹I) is a well-established adjuvant therapy, which is performed after surgery for DTC patients. The principle of the therapy is that ¹³¹I is preferentially taken up and trapped by thyroid follicular cells, with just the same mechanism as its chemical analogue nonradioactive (cold) iodine. Contrary to cold iodine, ¹³¹I emits beta radiation as well as high energetic gamma radiation. Beta radiation from ¹³¹I is responsible for its therapeutic effect, while imaging can be done with the use of its gamma radiation. Therefore, postoperative radioiodine allows the identification of residual regional and/or distant metastatic disease as well as it exerts therapeutic effect to destroy tumor foci by internal radiation exposure.

The major aims of postoperative radioiodine therapy are:

- 1. To destroy any postoperative microscopic residual tumor foci, with internal radiation exposure by beta particles. The destroy process of residual regional tissue is preferably called "ablation."
- 2. To ablate residual normal thyroid tissue and therefore to increase the specificity of subsequent ¹³¹I scintigraphy in the follow-up to detect any recurrence or metastasis.

- 3. To provide the use of serum Tg as a tumor marker for thyroid cancer in the follow-up of patients. After ablation of residual tissue postoperatively, any increase in Tg level would represent the presence of recurrent or metastatic disease.
- 4. To assess the postoperative staging of the patient. Whole-body scintigraphic imaging after administration of high dose of ¹³¹I for postoperative ablation makes it possible for the unexpected metastases to be detected easily. Therefore, the patients would be upstaged and additional ¹³¹I or other treatment options could be planned sequentially.

Some previous retrospective studies conclude that remnant ablation reduces long-term, disease-specific mortality in patients with primary tumors which are 1 cm or larger in diameter, those with multicentric disease, and those in whom there is evidence of soft tissue invasion at initial presentation [52, 80]. A meta-analysis on the effectiveness of ablative therapy reported that the risk of 10-year locoregional recurrence was lowered from 10 to 4 % and the rate of distant metastases was decreased from 4 to 2 % following ¹³¹I ablation therapy [111]. According to the results from a prospective study on 2936 patients in the National Thyroid Cancer Treatment Cooperative Study Group, postoperative ¹³¹I therapy improved overall survival in patients with stage II and higher stages of the disease [112]. Despite these data, there are some recent studies which show that some low-risk patients may not benefit from ¹³¹I therapy and that it should not be recommended for intrathyroidal solitary primary tumors <1 cm in diameter unless high-risk parameters or metastases exist. According to another recent study, the benefits of the therapy are more evident in tumors >1.5 cm or with residual disease following surgery, while patients with lower risk appear not to benefit [113].

Basically, the efficacy of ¹³¹I therapy depends on several factors such as patient preparation, tumor characteristics, extent and sites of disease, and the therapeutic dose of ¹³¹I. Iodine uptake by thyroid follicular cells, whether it is radioactive or not, is closely and directly related to the serum TSH level, while it is inversely related to the level of iodine pool within the body. Therefore, the patient should be off thyroxine (T4) at least for 3-4 weeks until the serum TSH level reaches 30 mU/l at minimum. To avoid some serious symptoms of hypothyroidism for especially older patients, liothyronine (T3) medication can be prescribed to be stopped 2 weeks before the administration of ¹³¹I. During 2 weeks before ¹³¹I administration, the patient is put on a low-iodine diet, in order to decrease the level of iodine pool, which has the potential to competitively inhibit ¹³¹I uptake and decrease the treatment efficiency. Radiocontrast media and some other agents such as hair dyes, which are very rich in iodine, are strictly forbidden to avoid competitive inhibition with ¹³¹I. Since ¹³¹I is orally administered, the patient should be in a fasting state at least for 4 h and continue to fast a few hours to establish a good gastric absorption, following the oral administration of the therapeutic dose. Then, the patient is encouraged to be well hydrated, especially at the first day of the therapy, in order to both decrease radiation exposure from the unbound ¹³¹I by increasing excretion and lower the glandular tissue exposure which may cause some side effects such as sialadenitis. To overcome such side effects, saliva stimulants like lemon juice or sour candies as well as antacids to protect the gastric mucosa are recommended.

The therapy dose varies between 30 and 100 mCi of ¹³¹I for postoperative ablation setting. A short-term individual hospitalization of the patient in specifically radiation-protected (shielded) rooms is usually needed for radiation protection, although it depends on legislative and regulatory issues which change from one country to another. Whole-body scintigraphic imaging is performed at the day of discharge or within a week from dose administration, to detect ¹³¹I uptake. Recently, SPECT/CT hybrid imaging has increased its use, given the advantages of providing sectional anatomic data of the sites with ¹³¹I uptake.

¹³¹I is known as a quite safe treatment option, with relatively low major side effects or complications [6, 7, 29, 37]. Short-term complications such as radiation thyroiditis, neck edema, sialadenitis, and tissue hemorrhage are rare and mostly occur in bulky residual tissue. Long-term complications are even more rare and increase with cumulative doses. These include xerostomia, lacrimal gland obstruction, pulmonary fibrosis if pulmonary metastases are present and treated with higher doses, and secondary malignancies, like leukemia and salivary gland, breast, and colon cancer, although there is conflicting data in literature. The only contraindication of ¹³¹I therapy is pregnancy and most of centers recommend their female patients not to get pregnant for at least 6 months, to avoid possible teratogenic effects to fetus growth. Similarly, male patients are strongly encouraged to use birth control methods at least for 4–6 months, following treatment, to avoid potential teratogenic effects.

21.6.1.3 TSH Suppression with Thyroid Hormone Therapy

Patients have to receive thyroid hormone therapy after surgery and ¹³¹I RAI ablation therapy for two reasons [7, 29, 37, 42, 50]: (a) for the correction of iatrogenic hypothyroidism and (b) because TSH is a trophic hormone that can stimulate the growth of cells derived from follicular epithelium. TSH suppressive therapy in patients with DTC has been shown to increase two-to threefold especially in high-risk patients. However, the optimal serum levels of TSH have not been defined because of a lack of specific data. The NCCN panel recommends tailoring the degree of TSH suppression to the risk of recurrence and death from thyroid cancer for each individual patient [42]. For low-risk patients and patients with excellent response to initial therapy, thyroid hormone should be given to suppress the TSH level to 0.1-0.5 mU/L. For high-risk patients and patients with known residual disease, the recommended TSH level is below 0.1 mU/L. The risk and benefit of TSH suppression therapy must be balanced for each individual patient. The average dosage needed to attain the serum TSH level in the euthyroid range is higher in patients with operated thyroid carcinoma (2.11 mcg/kg/day) than in patients with primary hypothyroidism (1.62 mcg/kg/day) [114]. Higher doses are necessary for TSH suppression. Osteopenia, possible cardiac hypertrophy, and atrial fibrillation are some of the complications of TSH suppression therapy. For patients whose TSH levels are chronically suppressed, particularly postmenopausal patients, an adequate daily intake of calcium 1200 mg/day and vitamin D 1000 units/day is recommended [42]. Excessive TSH suppression (into the undetectable level or thyrotoxic level) is not required to prevent disease progression in all DTC patients.

21.6.1.4 Adjuvant EBRT

There is no prospective randomized trial, but EBRT has a role in the treatment of locally invasive PTC [7, 29, 30, 37, 42]. Two retrospective studies have shown that it may be an effective adjuvant therapy to prevent local-regional recurrences in patients 45 years and older with locally invasive PTC (T4 tumor, N1 disease) [115, 116]. In the first study, 10-year local relapse-free rates were 93 to 78 %, and disease-specific survival rates were 100 % versus 95 % and were significantly improved in a subgroup of patients with microscopic disease treated with EBRT [115].

Doses in the range of 40–50 Gy EBRT may be included in the treatment of PTC patients who are older than 45 years, gross extrathyroidal extension, microscopic residual disease, and incomplete resection near the aerodigestive tract, to increase local-regional control. Patients younger than 45 years generally were not treated with EBRT because of their better prognosis and the possible late side effects, especially secondary malignancies [7].

21.6.2 Assessment and Management After Initial Treatment

After initial surgery and ¹³¹I RAI ablation therapy, the patient needs lifelong followup with clinical and radiologic data. Serum Tg, neck USG, and whole-body ¹³¹I RAI scan detect recurrent or residual disease in most patients who have undergone total thyroid ablation [7, 42, 50]. If the patients have no total thyroidectomy and remnant ablation, serum Tg and RAI scan is not useful for the detection of recurrent disease.

21.6.2.1 RAI Scan in the Follow-Up

The follow-up of patients after total thyroidectomy and radioiodine ablation includes clinical examination, laboratory, and imaging procedures. Many consensus guidelines recommend radioiodine scintigraphy 6–12 months after initial radioiodine ablation where radioiodine scintigraphy at the 6th month has been reserved only for patients with some poor prognostic factors or some suspicious clinical, laboratory, or ultrasonographic findings according to many recent guidelines [50, 117–119]. The predictive value for 10-year disease-free survival is reported to be approximately 90 %, if the first follow-up scintigraphy is normal. However, radioiodine scintigraphy after the first follow-up is not recommended routinely for all thyroid cancer patients and depends on patient characteristics as well as the center's preference [120]. A risk-stratified approach for the follow-up of thyroid cancer is recommended since low-risk thyroid cancer is associated with low recurrence rates and mortality compared to other groups, and for the patients younger than 45 years at diagnosis with stage 1 disease, there is no proven survival benefit from lifelong follow-up following primary treatment and first follow-up [121]. Neck ultrasonography is the imaging method of choice at long-term follow-up of all thyroid cancer patients, to detect recurrent disease and more importantly lymph node metastases even with millimetric size. Neck ultrasonography in the 3-to-12 month monitoring of the patients with extrathyroidal invasion and/or regional lymph node metastases is recommended on a routine basis in some recent consensus guidelines [42, 50,

117, 118]. Whenever a suspicious finding is encountered, fine needle aspiration biopsy is strongly advocated to confirm diagnosis. During follow-up, serum Tg and anti-Tg antibody levels should also be monitored. Any increase in serum Tg levels should be accepted as suspicious for recurrence or metastasis and should lead to other modalities.

Radioiodine scintigraphy can be performed by oral administration of either 2–5 mCi of ¹³¹I or ¹²³I, which has some dosimetric and imaging advantages over ¹³¹I. given that it only emits gamma radiation, despite its high cost and low availability as a disadvantage. On the other hand, the major disadvantage of ¹³¹I is its potential for "stunning," defined as the phenomenon that the diagnostic dose of ¹³¹I administered before the treatment decreases the therapeutic dose uptake of thyroid cancer cells, possibly as a result of the downregulation of the sodium/iodide symporter. However, there are some recent studies which conclude that when a low-activity diagnostic dose is used and therapeutic dose is given within the following 3 days, stunning does not occur, even if there is still controversy [122]. The patient needs to be off T4 medication for a period of 3-4 weeks for serum TSH level to be at least 30 mU/l. Alternatively, recombinant human TSH can be administered, without the need of ceasing T4 medication, especially for the patients who cannot tolerate hypothyroidism. Whole-body imaging and spot views from various body parts are acquired 4-24 and 48 h after ¹²³I and ¹³¹I administration, respectively (Fig. 21.1). Additional delayed images are acquired when needed. Recently, SPECT/CT hybrid imaging modality has been introduced to provide cross-sectional lesion detection with a more precise anatomic localization at radioiodine scintigraphy.

21.6.2.2 Imaging Techniques

Neck USG

It is a useful method to detect the as small as 3 mm lesions. Neck USG contains thyroid bed and cervical lymph nodes. It can distinguish benign lesions from malign lesions; at that point, FNA is most helpful to definitively prove recurrent disease. Consensus guidelines recommend the routine use of neck USG in the 3–12-month monitoring of patients with extrathyroidal invasion or local-regional nodal metastases [42, 50, 123]. About half of the patients with recurrent disease with USG may have negative RAI scanning or may have undetectable serum Tg level.

Other Imaging Techniques

Other imaging techniques are CT scan or MRI (magnetic resonance imaging) of the neck, CT scan of the chest, chest X-ray, and FDG-PET imaging [6, 7, 42]. Chest X-ray may show macronodular lung metastases. Chest CT scan shows micronodular lung metastases. CT scan and MRI are not more sensitive than neck USG, but are much less operator dependent.

Positron Emission Tomography with F-18: Fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG-PET) FDG-PET serves as a molecular in vivo imaging modality to show glycolytic activity, which is the preferred metabolic pathway for most of the tumors. Current hybrid



Fig. 21.1 Diagnostic I¹³¹ scintigraphy anterior and posterior whole-body and spot planar images of a 64-year-old female patient with papillary thyroid carcinoma (TSH, 98 uIU/ml; Tg, 278 ng/ml; anti-Tg Ab<20 IU/ml) shows radioiodine uptake consistent with residual disease in the neck region (*arrowhead*) as well as bilateral lung metastases (*arrows*). *ant* anterior, *post* posterior

imaging systems combine PET with CT to provide the advantages of both functional and morphological imaging. In differentiated thyroid cancer, FDG-PET/CT is reserved only for patients with high serum Tg levels along with no uptake on radioiodine imaging during follow-up [124]. There is a "flip-flop mechanism" that FDG uptake in differentiated thyroid cancer cells increases as the tumor grade increases and as contrary radioiodine uptake increases as the grade decreases. Therefore, FDG acts as a marker of dedifferentiation and its degree of uptake correlates with poor prognosis. The possibility of detecting metastases on FDG-PET/CT increases as serum Tg increases; thus, it is generally recommended at a setting of serum Tg > 10 ng/l along with negative radioiodine scintigraphy (Fig. 21.2a, b). A positiveFDG-PET/CT result can lead to surgery, especially when there are isolated lymph node or soft tissue metastases around the neck region, also allowing the use of PET probe-guided surgery, just like gamma probe-guided approaches. It also leads to other therapeutic modalities such as external radiation therapy for unexpected bone metastases which show no radioiodine uptake and some other systemic therapy options in advanced cases. The patient should be fasting for at least 4 h and the



serum glucose level should not be over 200 mg/dl on the day of FDG i.v. injection. Thyroid hormone withdrawal is encouraged by most of the literature data, given that the hypothyroid state increases glycolytic activity and increases the diagnostic efficacy of FDG-PET/CT imaging.

21.6.2.3 Monitoring Serum Thyroglobulin (Tg)

Thyroglobulin is a protein synthesized only by thyroid follicular cells (benign or malignant) [6, 7, 29, 37]. After total thyroidectomy and ablation therapy, Tg should be undetectable. Therefore, it is a good marker to assess the presence of recurrent, residual, or metastatic disease. The nadir should be reached within 3 months posttreatment, but it may take as long as 1-2 years. Tg and TSH must be measured together, because Tg production is dependent on TSH secretion. The sensitivity of Tg is only 50 % under TSH suppression therapy. After thyroid hormone withdrawal and TSH elevation, the sensitivity to detect cancer is increased to 85-95 % [42, 50]. Anti-Tg antibodies are present in nearly 25 % of thyroid carcinoma. The presence of antibodies after total thyroidectomy and RAI ablation therapy may be indicative of the presence of cancer, but it can take years for the antibodies to disappear even in the absence of cancer. Antibodies to Tg can falsely lower the Tg concentrations, and it is also important to measure Tg in the same laboratory with the same assay to avoid misinterpretations [125, 126]. If patients have negative neck USG, stimulated Tg level <2 ng/ml with negative anti-Tg antibodies and negative RAI imaging after RAI ablation therapy may be followed with unstimulated Tg annually and with periodic neck USG [42, 50].

21.6.3 Metastatic Disease

Nearly 15–20 % of patients with DTC will recur locoregionally (80 %) or have distant metastases (20 %). Five percent of the patients will die with the disease. There are different treatment options for metastatic DTC. These are surgery, RAI therapy, systemic therapy, and supportive therapy. Only about 50–80 % of primary tumors and their metastases take up ¹³¹I RAI [6, 7, 29, 30, 37, 61].

Metastatic disease may be encountered as either local-regional recurrences, such as lymph node metastases or distant metastatic disease. The most common sites of metastases are the lungs (49 %), bones (25 %), bone and lung (15 %), and other soft

Fig.21.2 (a) Follow-up diagnostic I¹³¹ scintigraphy of a 38-year-old female patient with the diagnosis of diffuse sclerosing type of thyroid cancer does not show any uptake consistent with recurrent or metastatic disease. (b) The same patient underwent FDG-PET/CT imaging since Tg is 46,7 ng/ml (anti-Tg Ab<20 IU/ml, TSH>100 uIU/ml) with a negative radioiodine scintigraphy, which displays focal FDG hypermetabolism of a middle-jugular lymph node (*arrow*). The biopsy was consistent with thyroid cancer metastasis and the patient was referred to surgery

tissues and rarely the brain (10%). Other rare metastatic sites are the parapharyngeal region, parotid, breast, liver, renal and adrenal glands, ovary, muscle, and skin [127]. One of our patients presented with hemoptysis due to endobronchial metastases [128]. Older patients have a higher risk of distant metastases [129]. Lung metastases were most frequent in patients with HCC and were least common in patients with PTC. Pulmonary metastases may be micronodular or macronodular [130]. Macronodular metastases are more frequent and RAI uptake is usually not present. Micronodular metastases have diffuse reticular and miliary pattern and show diffuse RAI accumulation. These lesions predominantly localized in the lower lobes of the lungs. Patients with the age less than 40 years and RAI uptake in lung metastases have better prognosis (5-year survival 60% for ¹³¹I RAI-nogitive metastases and 30% for ¹³¹I RAI-negative metastases). ¹³¹I RAI dose in the range of 150–175 mCi is used to treat pulmonary metastases; higher doses may cause pulmonary fibrosis.

21.6.3.1 ¹³¹I RAI Therapy in Metastatic Disease

DTC especially the papillary type can metastasize to the lymph nodes, whereas the follicular type tends to metastasize to distant organs more. Although distant metastases are detected in only less than 1 % of all differentiated thyroid cancer patients at initial presentation, they can be encountered with various frequencies during the disease course in the lungs, bones, soft tissues, and brain. The risk of distant metastases increases as the patient's age at presentation increases. Although DTC can most of the time be treated with radioiodine therapy successfully and is one of the few curable malignancies, up to one third of patients who develop recurrence and metastases during the disease course may become radioiodine refractory due to the loss of differentiation [118, 131].

The most common treatment option for lymph node metastases is surgical excision and neck dissection, whenever possible, followed by radioiodine therapy for microscopic residual disease. Surgery decreases tumor burden significantly and thus increases the effectiveness of radioiodine therapy. Gamma probe-guided surgical techniques can also facilitate nodal excision in a reoperated neck, which would be technically difficult for most of the surgeons. The dose of ¹³¹I in nodal metastases is generally 150 mCi as a fixed-dose approach. In addition to the fixed-dose approach, there are some dosimetric methods, in which basically the pharmacokinetics of ¹³¹I for each individual patient is studied to define a more precise therapeutic dose. However, these techniques are usually cumbersome and not easy to be standardized, hampering their routine use.

The preferred therapeutic dose for lung metastasis is about 200 mCi of ¹³¹I, where it can be lowered to 175 and even to 150 mCi for patients with high risk of pulmonary fibrosis as a major complication. Lung metastases can be encountered as a macronodular (Fig. 21.3a, b) or micronodular pattern, which is seen more often in pediatric patients (Fig. 21.4a, b). Micronodular metastases present a miliary pattern mostly located in the lower part of the lungs and tend to show more diffuse and higher amount of ¹³¹I uptake compared to macronodular metastases. Patients with radioiodine uptake in lung metastases are reported to have a more favorable 5-year survival rate of 60 % compared to that of 30 % in patients without radioiodine uptake [130].



Fig. 21.3 (a) Post-therapy scintigraphy which was performed 4 days after the administration of 200 mCi of I¹³¹ in a 40-year-old woman with papillary thyroid cancer along with low differentiated thyroid cancer (TSH, 31 uIU/ml; Tg, 4508 ng/ml; anti-Tg Ab<20 IU/ml) displays prominent radioiodine uptake around the neck region consistent with recurrent disease (*arrowhead*) as well as faint radioiodine uptake suggesting macronodular lung metastases (*arrows*). (b) Macronodular lung metastases are better delineated on SPECT/CT transaxial images (*arrows*)

Bone metastases are more frequently seen in follicular-type cancer compared to the papillary type, where the preferred ¹³¹I dose should be about 250 mCi or at least 200 mCi as a fixed-dose approach. Bone lesions mostly show high ¹³¹I uptake; how-ever, complete resolution is achieved in only about 10 % of the patients. Surgical therapy especially to avoid vertebral collapse along with external radiation therapy is usually accompanied with radioiodine therapy in this setting.

Before the administration of high dose of ¹³¹I, premedication with glucocorticoids to decrease edema and to avoid compression symptoms is strongly recommended for the treatment of brain metastases as well as soft tissue metastatic recurrences around the midline neck region, which potentially may block respiration.



Fig. 21.4 (a) Diffuse lung uptake consistent with micronodular lung metastases (*arrows*) on posttherapy whole-body imaging following 200 mCi I¹³¹ therapy dose to a 5-year-old girl with the diagnosis of papillary thyroid carcinoma (TSH>100 uIU/ml; Tg, 695 ng/ml; anti-Tg Ab<20 IU/ ml). (b) SPECT/CT I¹³¹ images of the same patient displays diffuse lung uptake especially in the posterobasal parts of both lungs, consistent with micronodular lung metastases



Fig. 21.4 (continued)

Radioiodine serves as a good therapeutic option also for pediatric patients with metastatic disease, where therapy doses are usually set on an individual patient basis, given that there are not much data in the literature [132].

Recombinant Human TSH

Recombinant human TSH (rhTSH) administration can alternatively be used instead of thyroid hormone medication withdrawal in order to reach high serum TSH levels which are needed for adequate stimulation of both radioiodine uptake for scintigraphic imaging and serum Tg concentration. rhTSH is mostly preferred for patients who have major risks for prolonged hypothyroidism in order to avoid serious complications and also for the patients in whom endogenous TSH level cannot be increased due to hypopituitarism or due to the presence of functioning bulky metastases. It is administered intramuscularly on two consecutive days, followed by radioiodine administration on the third day and imaging on the fifth day. Literature data mostly conclude that rhTSH administration results with almost the same sensitivity and accuracy ratios compared to endogenous TSH stimulation in diagnostic setting regarding both ¹³¹I and Tg level stimulation. However, there are still conflicting results with regard to its use in the therapeutic setting, given that the residency time of ¹³¹I after rhTSH in the body is shorter than endogenous TSH stimulation at the hypothyroid state, which may potentially result in less therapeutic effectiveness, although a recent study favors its use in ablation therapy setting [133]. The other drawbacks of rhTSH are its relatively high cost and less availability, especially in developing countries which hamper its wide use.

21.6.3.2 Systemic Treatment of Metastatic Disease

Metastatic DTC can be stable and silent for many years. Because of this, only patients with symptomatic or progressive disease should be treated with systemic treatment. RAI therapy is the first option for patients with RAI uptake-positive distant metastatic disease except for local therapies such as surgery and EBRT. In RAI-refractory (¹³¹I refractory) disease, clinical trials should be considered as first-line therapy for those patients. If clinical trial is not available or patient is not suitable for one, offlabel use of cytotoxic chemotherapy or sorafenib should be considered.

¹³¹I-refractory DTC is 5-15 % of the DTC patients [134, 135]. Different chemotherapeutic agents have been used as a single agent or in a combination regimen, with response rates of 25–38 %, mostly partial responses. These agents are doxorubicin, paclitaxel, docetaxel, cisplatin, carboplatin, and epirubicin. Response durations are very short with high toxicity [6, 7, 29, 30, 37].

A key molecular element in the biology of DTC is the tyrosine kinase RAS/RAF/MEK MAPK/ERK pathway [134]. The PI3K/Akt pathway is also involved in the pathogenesis of DTC. Targeted therapies to these pathways, tyrosine kinase and other antiangiogenic inhibitors have been studied in various phase II trials [134, 135]. Their response rates are similar to cytotoxic agents, but they have more durable responses, higher stable response rate, and less toxicity. These agents are outlined in Table 21.7. Two of them, sorafenib and lenvatinib, are currently in phase III trials in patients with I-131-refractory DTC. Sunitinib, sorafenib, and pazopanib (category 2B for pazopanib) therapies are recommended in the NCCN 2013 guideline, in the treatment of clinically progressive, symptomatic, and nonradioiodineresponsive DTC patients [42]. In this year, in the ASCO meeting, the sorafenib study (DECISION trial) results were explained [136]: The primary endpoint of the trial was progression-free survival (PFS). The DECISION trial enrolled 417 patients with locally advanced or metastatic RAI-refractory DTC. Patients were randomly assigned 1:1 to 400 mg sorafenib orally twice daily or to placebo. PFS was 10.8 months vs 5.8 months, respectively. No complete response was seen, the partial response (PR) rate was 12.2 %, and the median PR duration was 10.2 months. The most frequent adverse reactions were hand and foot skin reaction, diarrhea, alopecia, rash, fatigue, and hypertension.

Other targeted agents are lenvatinib and, sunitinib, pazopanib, vemurafenib, gefitinib, axitinib, vandetanib, everolimus, motesanib, and cabozantinib are under clinical investigations [135]. There are phase II studies with thalidomide and

| Compound | Class | Thyroid cancers | |
|-----------------------|----------------------------|-----------------------------------------|--|
| Axitinib | TKI ^a | DTC, MTC, ATC | |
| Motesanib diphosphate | ТКІ | DTC | |
| Pazopanib | ТКІ | DTC | |
| Sorafenib | ТКІ | DTC (phase III) | |
| Sunitinib | ТКІ | DTC, MTC, ATC | |
| Gefitinib | ТКІ | Advanced thyroid cancer | |
| Vandetanib | ТКІ | DTC | |
| Lenvatinib | ТКІ | DTC (phase III) | |
| Cabozantinib | ТКІ | MTC | |
| Everolimus | m-TOR inhibitor | m-TOR inhibitor Advanced thyroid cancer | |
| Thalidomide | Angiogenesis inhibitor | Angiogenesis inhibitor DTC, MTC | |
| Lenalidomide | Angiogenesis inhibitor DTC | | |

 Table 21.7
 Targeted agents under clinical evaluation for the treatment of advanced thyroid cancer

 [8, 134, 135]

^a*TKI* tyrosine kinase inhibitor, *DTC* differentiated thyroid cancer, *MTC* medullary thyroid cancer, *ATC* anaplastic thyroid cancer

lenalidomide; these are angiogenesis inhibitors; in RAI-refractory DTC cases, with some partial responses (Table 21.7). Redifferentiation therapy is another treatment option for these patients (6.3.4)

21.6.3.3 Surgery, EBRT, and Supportive Therapy

Surgery is a useful treatment option for local-regional recurrences, localized painful bone lesions, spinal-cord-compressing lesions, and one or more brain metastases and localized soft tissue metastases. Bone metastases are more frequent in FTC than in PTC. Bone lesions are generally osteolytic. ¹³¹I RAI therapy, EBRT, intravenous bisphosphonates therapy, and denosumab are effective treatment options for bone metastases. EBRT is a useful treatment in patients with unresectable, grossly invasive, or metastatic disease to the neck [29, 37].

21.6.3.4 Redifferentiation Therapy in RAI-Refractory DTC

Although DTC is a well-treated and even curable malignancy for most of the patients, approximately 10–15 % of them present with recurrence during the disease course, and about 30 % of thyroid cancer patients with recurrence and/or metastases show dedifferentiation of tumor cells with regard to morphology and function [118, 131]. As tumor cell dedifferentiation proceeds, sodium/iodide symporter system expression decreases and the tumor cell loses its ability to take up radioiodine, which eventually results with a radioiodine therapy-resistant thyroid cancer [137].

Redifferentiating pharmaceuticals can potentially reactivate the radioiodine uptake of tumor cells and thus make the radioiodine therapy possible. Retinoic acid derivatives, which are chemically similar to vitamin A, are the first agents used in redifferentiation therapy. Therapy includes oral administration of 1-1.5 mg/kg/day of isotretinoin or 13-cis-retinoic acid for 5-8 weeks. Some

studies in the literature using similar therapy protocols reported that retinoids could cause a slight increase in the radioiodine uptake; however, the increased rate of radioiodine uptake was not always correlated with therapy efficacy [138–140]. In a more recent study where incorporation of oral isotretinoin redifferentiation therapy with radioiodine therapy was investigated, the overall therapy response rate at 6-month follow-up was 21.3 % [141]. An antidiabetic pharmaceutical thiazolidinedione which acts a peroxisome-proliferator-activated receptor agonist was also reported to have both redifferentiating and antiproliferative effects and thus can potentially be used as a redifferentiating agent. In an open phase II study on 20 patients with radioiodine-refractory thyroid cancer, five patients had overall partial response with regard to the decrease in Tg levels and increase in radioiodine uptake on scintigraphy, even though no partial or complete response regarding the RECIST criteria was reported [142].

Due to their limited benefits and some side effects (e.g., cardiac side effects for thiazolidinedione and dermal/mucosal effects for retinoids) which may decrease patient compliance and may even cause cessation of therapy, routine use of redifferentiating pharmaceuticals have not gained wide acceptance and further studies are warranted.

21.7 Anaplastic Thyroid Carcinoma (ATC)

ATC is a rare but highly lethal form of thyroid cancer. It is both a locally and systemically aggressive undifferentiated tumor derived from follicular cells. Geographically, the prevalence of ATC ranges from 1.3 to 9.8 %, and patients have a median survival of 5 months and a 20 % 1-year survival rate [69]. More than 90 % of patients with this disease are over the age of 50 years, and a male/ female ratio is 2:3. The incidence of ATC is decreasing in the last years.

The patient uniformly presents with a rapidly progressive palpable mass, frequently in a preexisting goiter. The median tumor size is 8–9 cm, with a range of 3–30 cm [29]. In 50 % of cases, this disease arises from preexisting DTC [143]. Tg immunoreactivity is absent in the pathology specimens. *TP53* (65–70 %) and *RAS* (50–55 %) mutations are frequently present in ATC [36]. *Beta-catenin* gene alterations are present in 65 % of the cases [36]. In one study, *PI3K* mutations were found in 14 % of the cases, but the *PI3K* gain of copy number was found in 39 % [144]. This is an important finding for future clinical trials.

All patients are classified by the American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) TNM system as stage IV (A, B, or C) at presentation [59]. The diagnosis of ATC can often be suspected clinically. The diagnosis of thyroid pathology involves the correlation of clinical, biochemical, radiographic, and morphological features of the individual case [145].

Approximately 10 % of patients with ATC present with only an intrathyroidal tumor, whereas 40 % have extrathyroidal invasion and/or lymph node metastasis, with the remainder of patients presenting with widely metastatic disease [146, 147]. The lungs and the pleura are the most common metastatic sites (>90 %). Other

frequent metastatic sites are bones (5-15 %) and brain (5 %). Bone metastases are usually lytic.

21.7.1 Treatment of ATC

21.7.1.1 Surgery

The initial approach to patients with stage IVA or IVB disease depends on whether the tumor is resectable or unresectable at the time of diagnosis. In patients with locoregional disease, the determination of whether the tumor is resectable should be based on what structures are involved, whether a satisfactory resection can be achieved (R0/ R1), and whether the resection of the involved structure results in significant morbidity or mortality. Gross tumor resection, not debulking, is the goal of surgery.

Patients with locoregional disease should be offered a resection if gross tumor resection can be achieved with minimal morbidity. This is because most studies suggest that complete resection (R0/R1) is associated with prolonged disease-free survival and/or overall survival with or without combination chemotherapy and radiotherapy [146, 148–158]. There are insufficient data to determine if there is a difference in disease-free survival rates between patients who have grossly negative margins (R1 resection) and those with microscopic negative margins (R0 resection). Patients with unresectable stage IVB disease may also respond to aggressive multimodal therapy. In patients with systemic disease, resection of locoregional disease for palliation may be considered if there is impending airway or esophageal obstruction. Patients with distant metastases (stage IVC) only rarely have responded to traditional therapies, and if an aggressive approach is desired by the patient, a clinical trial should be considered. Hospice or palliative care is also an important component of managing patients with stage IVC disease.

21.7.1.2 Chemotherapy, Radiotherapy, and Targeted Therapies

RAI therapy has no role in this tumor. Except for surgery, chemoradiotherapy with paclitaxel/carboplatin combination, paclitaxel, docetaxel, cisplatin (C), and doxorubicin (D) weekly or three-weekly can be used in local-regional disease control [145, 148–151]. D-based chemotherapy is the most appropriate therapy by many physicians and the only drug approved by the FDA in the treatment of ATC [42]. Paclitaxel is also one of the effective drugs. According to one trial, DC combination is more effective than D alone [159]. Clinical trials with chemotherapy and targeted agents (combretastatin, fosbretabulin, and crinobulin, which are vascular disrupting agents; CS-71-07 and oral PPAR gamma agonist; TKIs such as sorafenib, sunitinib, pazopanib, and imatinib; bevacizumab) and biologic response modifiers aimed at restoring the dedifferentiated functions of thyroid tissue in combination with chemotherapy are under clinical investigation [29, 37]. In one study, one of three patients survived more than 6 months with fosbretabulin therapy [160]. In another study, paclitaxel/ carboplatin combination compared with paclitaxel/carboplatin/fosbretabulin combination. Median survival was 4 months to 8.2 months respectively without statistical significance [161]. Clinical trials are ongoing.

References

- Sipos JA, Mazzaferri EI (2010) Thyroid cancer epidemiology and prognostic variables. Clin Oncol 22:395–404
- Kilfoy BA, Zheng T, Holford TR et al (2009) International pattern and trends in thyroid cancer incidence, 1973-2002. Cancer Causes Control 20:525–531
- 3. Siegel R, Naishadham D, Jemal A (2013) Cancer statistics, 2013. CA Cancer J Clin 63:11–30
- Gilliland FD, Hunt WC, Morris DM et al (1997) Prognostic factors for thyroid carcinoma. A population based study of 15,698 cases from the Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results (SEER) program 1973–1991. Cancer 79:564–573
- 5. Sherman SI (2003) Thyroid carcinoma. Lancet 361:501-511
- Abu-Lebdeh HS, Menefee ME, Bible KC (2011) Thyroid and adrenal carcinomas. In: Skeel RT, Khleif SN (eds) Handbook of cancer chemotherapy. Wolters Kluwer, Philadelphia, pp 258–276
- Busaidy NL, Habra MA, Vassilopoulou-Selin R (2011) Endocrine malignancies. In: Kantargian HM, Wolff RA, Koller CA (eds) The MD Anderson manual of medical oncology. Mc Graw Hill, New York, pp 1040–1056
- Brown RL, de Sauza JA, Cohen EEW (2011) Thyroid cancer: burden of illness and management of disease. J Cancer 2:193–199
- Cardis E, Kesminiene A, Ivanov V et al (2005) Risk of thyroid cancer after exposure to 1311 in childhood. J Natl Cancer Inst 97:724–732
- Tucker MA, Jones PH, Boice JR Jr et al (1991) Therapeutic radiation at a young age is linked to secondary thyroid cancer. The Late Effect Study Group. Cancer Res 51:2885–2888
- 11. Shore RE, Hildreth N, Dvoretsky P et al (1993) Thyroid cancer among persons given X-ray treatment in infancy for an enlarged thymus gland. Am J Epidemiol 137:1068–1080
- 12. Ron E, Lubin JH, Shore RE et al (1995) Thyroid cancer after exposure to external radiation: a pooled analysis of seven studies. Radiat Res 141:259–277
- Hancock SL, Cox RS, Mc Dougall IR (1991) Thyroid disease after treatment Hodgkin's disease. N Engl J Med 325:599–605
- Mc Dougall IR (1992) Radiation and the thyroid. In: Mc Dougall I (ed) Thyroid disease in clinical practice. Chapman&Hall, London, pp 304–321
- Schneider AB, Sarne DH (2005) Long-term risk for thyroid cancer and other neoplasm after exposure to radiation. Nat Clin Pract Endocrinol Metab 1:82–91
- DeGroot L, Paloyan E (1973) Thyroid carcinoma and radiation. A Chicago endemic. JAMA 225:487–491
- Robbins J, Schneider AB (2000) Thyroid cancer following exposure to radioactive iodine. Rev Endocr Metab Disord 1:197–203
- Ron E (2007) Thyroid cancer incidence among people living in areas contaminated by radiation from the Chernobyl accident. Health Phys 93:502–511
- Furukawa K, Preston D, Funamoto S et al (2013) Long-term trend of thyroid cancer risk among Japanese atomic-bomb survivors: 60 years after exposure. Int J Cancer 132:1222–1226
- 20. Dicman PW, Holm LE, Lundell G et al (2003) Thyroid cancer risk after thyroid examination with 1311: a population-based cohort study in Sweden. Int J Cancer 106:580–587
- Horn-Ross PL, Morris JS, Lee M et al (2001) Iodine and thyroid cancer risk among women in a multiethnic population: the Bay Area Thyroid Cancer Study. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 10:979–985
- Bosetti C, Kolonel L, Negri E et al (2001) A pooled analyses of case-control studies of thyroid cancer. VI. Fish and shellfish consumption. Cancer Causes Control 12:375–382
- Galanti MR, Ekbom A, Grimelus L, Yuen J (1997) Parental cancer and risk of papillary and follicular thyroid carcinoma. Br J Cancer 75:451–456
- Malchoff CD, Malchoff DM (2006) Familial nonmedullary thyroid carcinoma. Cancer Control 13:106–110

- You YN, Lakhani V, Wells SA Jr et al (2006) Medullary thyroid cancer. Surg Oncol Clin North Am 15:639–660
- Negri E, Dal Maso L, Ron E et al (1999) A pooled analysis of case-control studies of thyroid cancer.II. Menstrual and reproductive factors. Cancer Causes Control 10:143–155
- Franceschi S, Preston-Martin S, Dal Maso L et al (1999) A pooled analysis of case-control studies of thyroid cancer IV. Benign thyroid diseases. Cancer Causes Control 10:583–595
- Eszlinger M, Krohn K, Hauptmann S et al (2008) Perspectives for improved and more accurate classification of thyroid epithelial tumors. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 93:3286–3294
- Carling T, Udelsman R (2011) Thyroid tumors. In: DeVita VT, Lawrence TS, Rosenberg SA (eds) Cancer principles & practice of oncology, 9th edn. Wolters Kluwer, Philadelphia, pp 1457–1472
- Winikoff SE, Brown CK (2005) Thyroid cancer. In: Brown CK, Rini BI, Connell PP, Posner MC (eds) Holland-Frei manual of cancer medicine. Pmph, USA, pp 258–274
- Bounacer A, Wicker R, Caillou B et al (1997) High prevalence of activating ret protooncogene rearrangements, in thyroid tumors from patients who had received external radiation. Oncogene 15:1263–1273
- Fagin JA (2004) How thyroid tumors start and why it matters: Kinase mutant as targets for solid cancer pharmacotherapy. J Endocrinol 183:249–256
- 33. Jhiang SM (2000) The RET proto-oncogene in human cancers. Oncogene 19:5590-5597
- 34. Jhiang SM, Sagartz JE, Tong Q et al (1996) Targeted expression of the *ret/PTC1* oncogene induces papillary thyroid carcinomas. Endocrinology 137:375–378
- Li X, Abdel-Mageed AB, Kandil E (2012) BRAF mutation in papillary thyroid cancer. Int J Clin Exp Med 5:310–315
- 36. Hannallah J, Rose J, Guerrero MA (2013) Comprehensive literature review: recent advances in diagnosing and managing patients with poorly differentiated thyroid carcinoma Article ID:317487, 7 pages http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2013/317487
- 37. Lal G, O'Dorisio T, McDougal R, Weigel RJ (2008) Cancer of the endocrine system. In: Abeloff MD, Armitage JO, Niederhuber JE, Kastan MB, Mc Kenna WG (eds) Abeloff's clinical oncology, 4th edn. Churchill Livingstone Elsevier, Philadelphia, pp 1271–1305
- Sakamoto A, Kasai N, Sugano H (1983) Poorly differentiated carcinoma of the thyroid. A clinicopathologic entity for a high-risk group of papillary and follicular carcinoma. Cancer 52:1849–1855
- Carcangiu MI, Zampi G, Rosai J (1984) Poorly differentiated insular thyroid carcinoma. A reinterpretation of Langhans 'Wuchernde Stroma'. Am J Surg Pathol 8:655–668
- Matias-Guiu X, Cuatrecasas M, Musulen E et al (1994) p53 expression in anaplastic carcinomas arising from thyroid papillary carcinomas. J Clin Pathol 47:615–629
- Jamshid F (2013) Thyroid nodules. The Bethesda classification for thyroid biopsies is effective for clinical management of thyroid nodules. Clin Thyroidology Patients 6:6–7
- 42. NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology. Thyroid carcinoma Version 2. 2013. NCCN.org
- Gharip H, Papini E, Paschke R (2010) AACE/AME/ETA thyroid nodule guidelines. Endocr Pract 2010:16–43
- Cibas ES, Ali SZ (2009) The Bethesda System for reporting thyroid cytopathology. Am J Clin Pathol 132:658–665
- Bongiovanni M (2012) The Bethesda System for reporting thyroid cytopathology: a metaanalysis. Acta Cytol 56:333–339
- 46. Nikiforov YE, Ohori NP, Hodak SP et al (2011) Impact of mutational testing on the diagnosis and management of patients cytologically indeterminate thyroid nodules: a prospective analyses of 1.056 FNA samples. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 96:3390–3397
- Nikiforov YE, Steward DL, Robinson-Smith TM et al (2009) Molecular testing for mutations in improving the fine-needle aspiration diagnosis of thyroid nodules. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 94:2092–2098
- 48. Ohori NP, Nikiforova MN, Schoedel KE et al (2010) Contribution of molecular testing to thyroid fine-needle aspiration cytology of follicular lesion of undetermined significance/ atypia of undetermined significance. Cancer Cytopathol 118:17–23

- 49. Hegedus L (2004) Clinical practise. The thyroid nodule. N Engl J Med 351:1764–1771
- 50. Cooper DS, Doherty GM, Haugen BR et al (2009) Revised American Thyroid Association management guideline for patients with thyroid nodules and differentiated thyroid cancer. Thyroid 19:1167–1214
- Henry JF, Denizot A, Puccini M et al (1996) Early diagnosis of sporadic medullary cancers of the thyroid: value of systematic assay of calcitonin. Presse Med 25:1583–1588
- Mazzaferri EL, Jhiang SM (1994) Long-term impact of initial surgical and medical therapy on papillary and follicular thyroid cancer. Am J Med 97:418–428
- Staunton MD (1994) Thyroid cancer: a multivariate analysis on influence of treatment on long term survival. Eur J Surg Oncol 20:613–621
- 54. Shah JP, Loree TR, Dharker D et al (1992) prognostic factors in differentiated carcinoma of the thyroid gland. Am J Surg 164:658–661
- 55. Bilimoria KY, Bentrem DJ, Ko CY (2007) Extent of surgery affects survival for papillary thyroid cancer. Ann Surg 246:375–384
- Hay ID, Grant CS, Taylor WF, Mc Conahey WM (1987) ipsilateral lobectomy versus bilateral lobar resection in papillary thyroid carcinoma: a retrospective analysis of surgical outcome using a novel prognostic scoring system. Surgery 102:1088–1095
- 57. Sherman SI, Brierley JD, Sperling M et al (1998) Prospective multicenter study of thyroid carcinoma treatment: initial analysis of staging and outcome. National Thyroid Cancer Treatment Cooperative Study Registry Group. Cancer 83:1012–1021
- 58. Hay ID, Bergstralh EJ, Goellner JR et al (1993) Predicting outcome in papillary thyroid carcinoma: development of a reliable prognostic scoring system in a cohort of 1779 patients surgically treated at one institution during 1940 through 1989. Surgery 114:1050–1058
- Edge SB, Byrd DR, Compton CC et al (2010) AJCC cancer staging manual, 7th edn. Springer, New York, pp 1–646
- 60. Görges R (2005) The changing of epidemiology of thyroid cancer. In: Biersack HJ, Grünwald F (eds) Thyroid cancer, 2nd edn. Springer, Berlin, pp 3–28
- Shaha AR, Loree TR, Shah JP (1995) Prognostic factors and risk group analysis in follicular carcinoma of the thyroid. Surgery 118:1131–1136
- 62. Lopez-Penabad L, Chiu AC, Hoff AO et al (2003) Prognostic factors in patients with Hurtle cell neoplasm of the thyroid. Cancer 97:1186–1194
- Hundahl SA, Fleming ID, Fremgen AM, Menck HR (1998) A National Cancer Data Base report on 53,856 cases of thyroid carcinoma treated in the U.S. 1985–1995. Cancer 83:2638–2648
- 64. Baudin E, Travagli JP, Ropers J et al (1998) Microcarcinoma of the thyroid gland: the gustave-Roussy Institute experience. Cancer 83:553–559
- Roti E, Degli-Uberti EC, Bondanelli M, Braverman LE (2008) thyroid papillary microcarcinoma. A descriptive and meta-analysis study. Eur J Endocrinol 159:659–673
- 66. Sanders EM Jr, LiVolsi VA, Brierley J et al (2007) An evidence-based review of poorly differentiated thyroid cancer. World J Surg 31:934–945
- Patel KN, Shaha AR (2006) Poorly differentiated and anaplastic thyroid cancer. Cancer Control 13:119–128
- Elisei R, Cosci B, Romei C et al (2008) Prognostic significance of somatic RET oncogene mutations in sporadic medullary thyroid cancer. A 10 year follow-up study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 93:682–687
- Smallridge RC, Copland JA (2010) Anaplastic thyroid carcinoma.pathogenesis and emerging therapies. Clin Oncol 22:486–497
- Emerick GT, Duh QY, Siperstein AE et al (1993) Diagnosis, treatment, and outcome of follicular thyroid carcinoma. Cancer 72:3287–3295
- Coburn MC, Wanebo HJ (1992) prognostic factors and management considerations in patients with cervical metastases of thyroid cancer. Am J Surg 164:671–676
- 72. Sellers M, Beenken S, Blankenship A et al (1992) Prognostic significance of cervical lymph node metastases in differentiated thyroid cancer. Am J Surg 164:578–581
- 73. Voutilainen PE, Multanen MM, Leppaniemi AK et al (2001) Prognosis after lymph node recurrence in papillary thyroid carcinoma depends on age. Thyroid 11:953–957

- 74. Randolph GW, Duh QY, Heller KS et al (2012) The prognostic significance of nodal metastases from papillary thyroid carcinoma can be stratified based on the size and number of metastatic lymph nodes, as well as the presence of extranodal extension. Thyroid 22:1144–1152
- van Heerden JA, Hay ID, Goellner JR et al (1992) Follicular thyroid carcinoma with capsular invasion alone: a nonthreatening malignancy. Surgery 112:1130–1136
- 76. Hay ID, Thompson GB, Grant CS et al (2002) Papillary thyroid carcinoma managed at the Mayo Clinic during six decades (1940–1999): temporal trends in initial therapy and longterm outcome in 2444 consecutively treated patients. World J Surg 26:879–885
- Lin JD, Chao TC, Huang MJ et al (1998) Use of radioactive iodine for thyroid remnant ablation in well-differentiated thyroid carcinoma to replace thyroid reoperation. Am J Clin Oncol 21:77–81
- Rubino C, de Vathaire F, Dottorini ME et al (2003) Second primary malignancies in thyroid cancer patients. Br J Cancer 89:1638–1644
- Mazzaferri EL, Young RL (1981) Papillary thyroid carcinoma: a 10 year follow-up report of the impact of therapy in 576 patients. Am J Med 70:511–518
- DeGroot LJ, Kaplan EL, Mc Cormick M, Straus FH (1990) Natural history, treatment, and course of papillary thyroid carcinoma. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 71:414–424
- Samaan NA, Schultz PN, Hickey RC et al (1992) The results of various modalities of treatment of well differentiated thyroid carcinomas: a retrospective review of 1599 patients. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 75:714–720
- Shaha AR, Shah JP, Loree TR (1997) Differentiated thyroid cancer presenting initially with distant metastasis. Am J Surg 174:474–476
- Sanders LE, Cady B (1998) Differentiated thyroid cancer: reexamination of risk groups and outcome of treatment. Arch Surg 133:419–425
- Nam-Goong IS, Kim HY, Gong G et al (2004) Ultrasonography-guided fine needle aspiration of thyroid incidentaloma: correlation with pathological findings. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 60:21–28
- Grebe SK, Hay ID (1996) Thyroid cancer nodal metastases: biologic significance and therapeutic considerations. Surg Oncol Clin N Am 5:43–63
- Scheumann GF, Gimm O, Wegener G et al (1994) Prognostic significance and surgical management of locoregional lymph node metastases in papillary thyroid cancer. World J Surg 18:559–567
- 87. Ito Y, Uruno T, Nakano K et al (2003) An observation trial without surgical treatment in patients with papillary microcarcinoma of the thyroid. Thyroid 13:381–387
- Chow SM, Law SC, Chan JK et al (2003) Papillary microcarcinoma of the thyroid-prognostic significance of lymph node metastasis and multifocality. Cancer 98:31–40
- Tisell LE, Nilsson B, Molne J et al (1996) Improved survival of patients with papillary thyroid cancer after surgical microdissection. World J Surg 20:854–859
- 90. Podnos YD, Smith D, Wagman LD et al (2005) The implication of lymph node metastasis on survival in patients with well-differentiated thyroid cancer. Am Surg 71:731–734
- Bilimoria KY, Zanocco K, Sturgeon C (2008) Impact of surgical treatment on outcomes for papillary thyroid cancer. Adv Surg 42:1–12
- 92. Cavicchi O, Piccin O, Caliceti U et al (2007) Transient hypoparathyroidism following thyroidectomy: a prospective study and multivariate analysis of 604 consecutive patients. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 137:654–658
- Olson JA Jr, DeBenedetti MK, Baumann DS, Wells SA Jr (1996) Parathyroid autotransplantation during thyroidectomy. Results of long-term follow-up. Ann Surg 223:472–478
- Gimm O, Rath FW, Dralle H (1998) Pattern of lymph node metastases in papillary thyroid carcinoma. Br J Surg 85:252–254
- 95. Henry JF, Gramatica L, Denizot A et al (1998) Morbidity of prophylactic lymph node dissection in the central neck area in patients with papillary thyroid carcinoma. Langenbecks Arch Surg 383:167–169
- Cheah WK, Arici C, Ituarte PH et al (2002) Complications of neck dissection for thyroid cancer. World J Surg 26:1013–1016

- White ML, Gauger PG, Doherty GM (2007) Central lymph node dissection in differentiated thyroid cancer. World J Surg 31:895–904
- Bonnet S, Hartl D, Leboulleux S et al (2009) Prophylactic lymph node dissection for papillary thyroid cancer less than 2 cm: implications for radioiodine treatment. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 94:1162–1167
- 99. Sywak M, Cornford L, Roach P et al (2006) Routine ipsilateral level VI lymphadenectomy reduces postoperative thyroglobulin levels in papillary thyroid cancer. Surgery 140:1000–1007
- 100. Roh JL, Park JY, Park CI (2007) Total thyroidectomy plus neck dissection in differentiated papillary thyroid carcinoma patients: pattern of nodal metastasis, morbidity, recurrence, and postoperative levels of serum parathyroid hormone. Ann Surg 245:604–610
- 101. Lee YS, Kim SW, Kim SW et al (2007) Extent of routine central lymph node dissection with small papillary thyroid carcinoma. World J Surg 31:1954–1959
- 102. Kozak OV, Muzichenko LV, Trembach AM et al (2006) First treatment activity and outcome of radioiodine therapy in thyroid cancer patients with metastases in lymph nodes: mathematical correlation and clinical implications. Exp Oncol 28:75–79
- Machens A, Hinze R, Thomusch O, Dralle H (2002) Pattern of nodal metastasis for primary and reoperative thyroid cancer. World J Surg 26:22–28
- 104. Ito Y, Tomoda C, Uruno T et al (2004) Preoperative ultrasonographic examination for lymph node metastasis: usefulness when designing lymph node dissection for papillary microcarcinoma of the thyroid. World J Surg 28:498–501
- 105. Kouvaraki MA, Shapiro SE, Fornage BD et al (2003) Role of preoperative ultrasonography in the surgical management of patients with thyroid cancer. Surgery 134:946–954
- 106. Gemsenjager E, Perren A, Seifert B et al (2003) Lymph node surgery in papillary thyroid carcinoma. J Am Coll Surg 197:182–190
- 107. Wang TS, Dubner S, Sznyter LA, Heller KS (2004) Incidence of metastatic well-differentiated thyroid cancer in cervical lymph nodes. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 130:110–113
- 108. Kupferman ME, Patterson M, Mandel SJ et al (2004) Patterns of lateral neck metastasis in papillary thyroid carcinoma. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 130:857–860
- Kupferman ME, Patterson DM, Mandel SJ et al (2004) Safety of modified radical neck dissection for differentiated thyroid carcinoma. Laryngoscope 114:403–406
- Goropoulos A, Karamoshos K, Christodoulou A et al (2004) Value of the cervical compartments in the surgical treatment of papillary thyroid carcinoma. World J Surg 28:1275–1281
- 111. Sawka AM, Thephamongkhol K, Brounwers M et al (2004) Clinical review 170: a systematic review and meta-analysis of the effectiveness of radioactive iodine remnant ablation for welldifferentiated thyroid cancer. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 89:3668–3676
- 112. Jonklaas J, Sarlis NJ, Litofsky D et al (2006) Outcomes of patients with differentiated thyroid carcinoma following initial therapy. Thyroid 16:1229–1242
- 113. Momesso DP, Vaisman F et al (2012) Small differentiated thyroid cancer: Time to reconsider clinical management and treatment. Surg Oncol 21:257–262
- 114. Burmeister LA, Goumaz MO, Mariash CN, Oppenheimer JH (1992) Levothyroxine dose requirements for thyrotropin suppression in the treatment of differentiated thyroid cancer. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 75:344–350
- 115. Tsang RW, Brierley JD, Simpson WJ et al (1998) The effects of surgery, radioiodine, and external radiation therapy on the clinical outcome of patients with differentiated thyroid carcinoma. Cancer 82:375–388
- 116. Farahati J, Reiners C, Stuscke M et al (1996) Differentiated thyroid cancer. Impact of adjuvant external radiotherapy in patients with perithyroidal tumor infiltration (stage pT4). Cancer 77:172–180
- 117. Luster M, Clarke SE, Dietlein M et al (2008) Guidelines for radioiodine therapy for differentiated thyroid cancer. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 35:1941–1959
- 118. Pacini F, Schlumberger M, Dralle H et al (2006) European consensus for the management of patients with differentiated thyroid carcinoma of follicular epithelium. Eur J Endocrinol 154:787–803

- 119. Genevieve R, Tuttle RM (2011) Similarities and differences in follicular cell-derived thyroid cancer management guidelines used in Europe and the United States. Semin Nucl Med 41:89–95
- 120. Caminha LS, Momesso DP, Vaisman F et al (2013) Long-term follow-up of patients with differentiated thyroid cancer who had negative 131I whole body scan at first evaluation after treatment. Clin Nucl Med 38:765–769
- 121. Garas G, Jarral O, Tolley N et al (2013) Is there a survival benefit from life-long follow-up after treatment for differentiated thyroid cancer? Int J Surg 11(2):116–121
- 122. Norden MM, Larsson F, Tedelind S et al (2007) Down-regulation of sodium/iodide symporter explains 131I-induced thyroid stunning. Cancer Res 67:7512–7517
- 123. Grigsby PW, Baglan K, Siegel BA (1999) Surveillance of patients to detect recurrent thyroid carcinoma. Cancer 85:945–951
- 124. Lee JW, Lee SM, Lee DH, Kim YJ (2013) Clinical utility of 18 F-FDG PET/CT concurrent with 1311-therapy in intermediate-to-high risk patients with differentiated thyroid cancer: Dual-center experience with 286 patients. J Nucl Med 54:1230–1236
- 125. Spencer CA, Lopresti JS (2008) Measuring thyroglobulin and thyroglobulin antibody in patients with differentiated thyroid cancer. Nat Clin Pract Endocrinol Metab 4:223–233
- 126. Spencer CA, Bergoglio LM, Kazarosyan M et al (2005) Clinical impact of thyroglobulin(Tg) and Tg autoantibody method differences on the management of patients with differentiated thyroid carcinoma. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 90:5566–5575
- 127. Song HJ, Xue YL, Xu YH et al (2011) Rare metastases of differentiated thyroid carcinoma: pictorial review. Endocr Relat Cancer 18:R165–R174
- Ulger Z, Karaman N, Pişkinpaşa SH et al (2006) Endobronchial metastases of thyroid follicular carcinoma. J Natl Med Assos 98:803–806
- 129. Ruegemer JJ, Hay ID, Bergstralh EJ et al (1988) Distant metastases in differentiated thyroid carcinoma: a multivariate analysis of prognostic variables. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 67:501–508
- 130. Samaan NA, Schultz PN, Haynie TP et al (1985) Pulmonary metastases of differentiated thyroid carcinoma: treatment results in 101 patients. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 60:376–380
- 131. Kim WG, Kim EY, Kim TY et al (2009) Redifferentiation therapy with 13-cis retinoic acid in radioiodine resistant thyroid cancer. Endocr J 56:105–112
- 132. Kıratlı PO, Volkan-Salancı B, Günay EC et al (2013) Thyroid cancer in pediatric age group: an institutional experience and review of the literature. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol 35:93–97
- 133. Molinaro E, Giani C, Agate L et al (2013) Patients with differentiated thyroid cancer who underwent radioiodine thyroid remnant ablation with low activity 131I after either recombinant human TSH or thyroid hormone therapy withdrawal showed the same outcome after a 10-year follow-up. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 98:2693–2700
- 134. Pacini F, Ito Y, Luster M (2012) Radioactive iodine-refractory differentiated thyroid cancer: unmet needs and future directions. Expert Rev Endocrinol Metab 7:541–554
- 135. Wong KP, Lang BHH (2012) New molecular targeted therapy and redifferentiation therapy for radioiodine refractory advanced papillary thyroid carcinoma: literature review. Journal of Thyroid Research, Article ID:818204, 9 pages, http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2012/818204
- 136. Brose MS, Nutting C, Jarzab B, et al (2013) Sorafenib in locally advanced or metastatic patients with radioactive iodine refractory differentiated thyroid cancer: the phase III DECISION trial. J Clin Oncol 31 (Suppl):abstr 4
- 137. Filetti S, Bidart JM, Arturi F et al (1999) Sodium/iodide symporter: A key transport system in thyroid cancer cell metabolism. Eur J Endocrinol 141:443–457
- 138. Grüning T, Tiepolt C, Zöphel K et al (2003) Retinoic acid for redifferentiation of thyroid cancer-does it hold its promise? Eur J Endocrinol 148:395–402
- 139. Short SC, Suovuori A, Cook G et al (2004) A phase II study using retinoids as redifferentiation agents to increase iodine uptake in metastatic thyroid cancer. Clin Oncol 16:569–574
- 140. Simon D, Körber C, Krausch M et al (2002) Clinical impact of retinoids in redifferentiation therapy of advanced thyroid cancer: results of a pilot study. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 29:775–782

- 141. Oh SW, Moon SH, Cho BY et al (2011) Combined therapy with I-131 and retinoic acid in Korean patients with radioiodine refractory papillary thyroid cancer. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 38:1798–1805
- 142. Kebebew E, Lindsay S, Clark OH et al (2009) Results of rosiglitazone therapy in patients with thyroglobulin positive and radioiodine negative advanced thyroid cancer. Thyroid 19:953–956
- 143. Are C, Shaha AR (2006) Anaplastic thyroid carcinoma: biology, pathogenesis, prognostic factors, and treatment approaches. Ann Surg Oncol 13:453–464
- 144. Santarpia L, El-Naggar AK, Cote GJ et al (2008) Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/akt and ras/ raf-mitogen activated protein kinase pathway mutations in anaplastic thyroid cancer. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 93:278–284
- 145. Smallridge RC, Ain KB, Asa SL et al (2012) American Thyroid Association guidelines for management of patients with anaplastic thyroid cancer. Thyroid 22:1104–1139
- 146. McIver B, Hay ID, Giuffrida DF et al (2001) Anaplastic thyroid carcinoma: a 50-year experience at a single institution. Surgery 130:1028–1034
- 147. Chen J, Tward JD, Shrieve DC, Hitchcock YJ (2008) Surgery and radiotherapy improves survival in patients with anaplastic thyroid carcinoma: analysis of the surveillance, epidemiology, and end results 1983–2002. Am J Clin Oncol 31:460–464
- 148. Passler C, Scheuba C, Prager G et al (1999) Anaplastic (undifferentiated) thyroid carcinoma (ATC). A retrospective analysis. Langenbecks Arch Surg 384:284–293
- 149. Tan RK, Finley RK 3rd, Driscoll D et al (1995) Anaplastic carcinoma of the thyroid: a 24-year experience. Head Neck 17:41–47
- Junor EJ, Paul J, Reed NS (1992) Anaplastic thyroid carcinoma: 91 patients treated by surgery and radiotherapy. Eur J Surg Oncol 18:83–88
- 151. Pierie JP, Muzikansky A, Gaz RD et al (2002) The effect of surgery and radiotherapy on outcome of anaplastic thyroid carcinoma. Ann Surg Oncol 9:57–64
- 152. Swaak-Kragten AT, de Wilt JH, Schmitz PI et al (2009) Multimodality treatment for anaplastic thyroid carcinoma-treatment outcome in 75 patients. Radiother Oncol 92:100–104
- 153. Haigh PI, Ituarte PH, Wu HS et al (2001) Completely resected anaplastic thyroid carcinoma combined with adjuvant chemotherapy and irradiation is associated with prolonged survival. Cancer 91:2335–2342
- 154. Goutsouliak V, Hay JH (2005) Anaplastic thyroid cancer in British Columbia 1985–1999: a population-based study. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol) 17:75–78
- 155. Brignardello E, Gallo M, Baldi I et al (2007) Anaplastic thyroid carcinoma: clinical outcome of 30 consecutive patients referred to a single institution in the past 5 years. Eur J Endocrinol 156:425–430
- 156. Kihara M, Miyauchi A, Yamauchi A, Yokomise H (2004) Prognostic factors of anaplastic thyroid carcinoma. Surg Today 34:394–398
- 157. De Crevoisier R, Baudin E, Bachelot A et al (2004) Combined treatment of anaplastic thyroid carcinoma with surgery, chemotherapy, and hyperfractionated accelerated external radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 60:1137–1143
- 158. Schlumberger M, Parmentier C, Delisle MJ et al (1991) Combination therapy for anaplastic giant cell thyroid carcinoma. Cancer 67:564–566
- 159. Shimaoka K, Schoenfeld DA, DeWys WD et al (1985) A randomized trial of doxorubicin versus doxorubicin plus cisplatin in patients with advanced thyroid carcinoma. Cancer 56:2155–2160
- 160. Mooney CJ, Nagaiah G, Fu P et al (2009) A phase II trial of fosbretabulin in advanced anaplastic thyroid carcinoma and correlation of baseline serum-soluble intracellular adhesion molecule1 with outcome. Thyroid 19:233–240
- 161. Sosa JA, Balkissoon J, Lu SP et al (2012) Thyroidectomy followed by fosbretabulin(CA4P) combination regimen appears to suggest improvement in patient survival in anaplastic thyroid cancer. Surgery 152:1078–1087

Medullary Thyroid Cancer

22

Aydin Ciltas, Yusuf Gunaydin, and Mustafa Benekli

22.1 Introduction

Thyroid cancer is the most common endocrine cancer particularly frequent in women. Medullary thyroid cancer (MTC) accounts for only 5 % of all thyroid malignancies [1, 2]. MTC is a neuroendocrine tumor (NET) arising from parafollicular C cells [3–6]. The C cells originate from embryonic neural crests and constitute 1 % of thyroid cells. Initial C-cell hyperplasia progresses to microinvasive carcinoma and finally to macroscopic carcinoma with elevated calcitonin levels. Calcitonin secretion from tumor cells is the typical feature of MTC. *Rearranged during transfection (RET)*, proto-oncogene mutations play an important role in pathogenesis [7, 8]. Clinical signs and symptoms vary, but frequently MTCs share clinical characteristics of other NETs.

22.2 Genetic Basis of MTC

The majority of the cases are sporadic [9–14]. However, 25–30 % of all cases occur as part of an autosomal dominant hereditary syndrome, multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2 (MEN-2), which is composed of three distinct variants: MEN-2A, MEN-2B, and familial MTC (Table 22.1) [3–6, 9–14]. MEN-2A constitutes majority of the hereditary cases. MEN-2A is characterized with association of MTC with pheochromocytoma and parathyroid hyperplasia. Cutaneous lichen amyloidosis and Hirschsprung disease are the other rare possible clinical manifestations of MEN-2A. Unlike MEN-2A, MEN-2B includes marfanoid habitus and mucosal

Department of Medical Oncology,

Gazi University Faculty of Medicine, Besevler, Ankara 06500, Turkey e-mail: drciltas@hotmail.com; drygunaydin@gmail.com; mbenekli@gmail.com

A. Ciltas • Y. Gunaydin • M. Benekli, MD (🖂)

[©] Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

S. Yalcin, K. Öberg (eds.), Neuroendocrine Tumours:

Diagnosis and Management, DOI 10.1007/978-3-662-45215-8_22

| | Frequency (%) | Features of MTC | Associated diseases |
|-----------------|---------------|---------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Sporadic MTC | 70 | Unifocal | |
| MEN-2A | 20 | Autosomal dominant Multifocal, bilateral | Pheochromocytoma Primary parathyroid hyperplasia Cutaneous lichen planus amyloidosis (rare) Hirschsprung disease (rare) |
| MEN-2B | 5 | Autosomal dominant Multifocal, bilateral | Pheochromocytoma Multiple mucosal ganglioneuromatosis Marfanoid body habitus |
| FMTC | 5 | Autosomal dominant Multifocal, bilateral | None |

Table 22.1 Clinical characteristics of medullary thyroid carcinoma subtypes

MTC medullary thyroid carcinoma, *MEN-2A and MEN-2B* multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2A and 2B, *FMTC* familial medullary thyroid carcinoma

ganglioneuromatosis instead of parathyroid hyperplasia. Familial MTC does not have any other clinical manifestations of MEN syndromes.

RET gene is a proto-oncogene with 21 exons located on chromosome 10 (10q11.2) [7, 8, 15–17]. The RET gene encodes a transmembrane protein tyrosine kinase receptor for the glial cell line-derived neurotropic factor (GDNF) family members and their ligands such as artemin, neuturin, and persephin. The RET protein is composed of three functional domains involved in a variety of signaling pathways to regulate differentiation, proliferation, survival, and migration of the enteric neural progenitor cells and renal cells [7, 8]. Although the RET gene itself was initially discovered in 1985, its mutations were linked to inherited MTC in the early 1990s. Genetics of hereditary MTC syndromes is based on a series of missense germline mutations in different parts of the *RET* gene with autosomal dominant pattern and high penetrance. Frequently, a point mutation is the cause of malignant transformation. Several germline mutations have been found across 7 exons. Most of the mutations occur in exons 8, 10, 11, and 13–16. These mutations have different penetration rates to produce a variety of disease phenotypes. The most common mutation in MEN-2 patients is in exon 11 codon 634 (85 %) followed by mutations in codons 609, 611, 618, and 620 (10-15 %). Each of them has different importance for risk of developing MTC. C634 and M918T mutations in MEN-2A and MEN-2B, respectively, are associated with aggressive tumors and metastasis in early childhood within months from birth. Germline RET mutations are detected rarely in sporadic cases in 6–7 % of all patients [15].

Inherited forms of MTC occur in younger ages. Therefore, genetic counseling plays an important role in the detection of MTC risk. Genetic testing must be done in all patients with MTC. If germline mutation is detected in one case, all family members should be screened with proper genetic counseling and treatment, as necessary. Early or prophylactic thyroidectomy potentially cures this life-threatening disease in the affected kindreds [18].

On the other hand, about half of sporadic cases have acquired somatic *RET* mutation which were detected in the tumor cells [16, 17]. These mutations cannot be detected using regular genetic testing of leukocyte DNA, because these do not have

any inheritance pattern and do not affect clinical management of an individual patient, routine genetic testing of all tumor samples is not recommended outside of an academic incentive.

22.3 Clinical Presentation

Patients with sporadic MTC are usually diagnosed in the fifth or sixth decades of life [9-13]. However, hereditary forms present in younger ages. There is a trend to be more frequent in female sex. MTC is an indolent disease and overall survival of 15–20 years is possible even in disseminated disease. Most patients present with metastatic disease at initial diagnosis. Common sites of distant metastatic spread include the bones, lungs, liver, and brain [9-13].

Asymptomatic thyroid mass or enlarged lymph nodes are typically the most common initial symptoms seen in 75–95 % of the patients. Because parafollicular C cells originating from neural crest are usually located in the upper thyroid lobes, masses are usually detected there [9–13]. These tumors are unilateral in sporadic MTC. However, hereditary forms usually present with bilateral and multifocal disease. Cervical lymph node involvement is detected in about half of the cases. Multifocality is an important risk factor for the lymph node metastasis [19]. Approximately 10 % of the patients experience local invasion or compression of aerodigestive tract causing hoarseness or dysphagia. Rarely, symptoms may occur due to distant metastases such as shortness of breath, bone pain, or fractures. Several hormones such as calcitonin, serotonin, and vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP) are released from the tumor tissue. Flushing, sweating, weight loss, and diarrhea may occur due to these hormones.

Symptoms of the other diseases such as hyperparathyroidism and pheochromocytoma may be the initial presentation of hereditary MTC.

22.4 Diagnosis

Fine-needle aspiration cytology (FNAC) is the gold standard technique for the diagnosis of MTC [20]. The pooled estimate of FNAC detection rate in MTC patients is 56 % in a recent meta-analysis. Sometimes, pathological features cannot be easily discriminated from other malignancies. In those cases, immunohistochemical staining for calcitonin, carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA), and chromogranin A might be useful. Another recent approach is to measure aspiration needle washout fluid calcitonin levels [21].

Basal serum calcitonin and CEA levels are usually elevated [22–24]. Some authors suggest that serum calcitonin has a higher sensitivity compared to FNAC in the diagnosis of MTC [22, 23]. Calcitonin levels are correlated with tumor burden and multifocality. Calcitonin levels greater than 3,000 pg/mL generally indicate metastatic disease [23]. Besides confirming diagnosis, serial measurement of calcitonin is useful for confirming treatment efficacy and monitoring disease progression or recurrence. Similarly, high CEA level above 100 ng/mL is associated with lymph

| Stage | TNM classification | Definition |
|-----------|--------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Stage I | T1,N0,M0 | Tumor ≤ 2 cm in greatest dimension and is limited to the thyroid gland (T1) |
| Stage II | T2-T3,N0 | Tumor >2 cm, limited to the thyroid, or any tumor with minimal extrathyroidal extension (T2–T3) |
| Stage III | T1–T3,N1a,M0 | Any tumor limited to the thyroid, or any tumor with minimal extrathyroidal extension (T1–T3) <i>and</i> presence of nodal metastasis in level VI (N1a) |
| Stage IV | T4,N0–N1a,M0 T1–T4,N1b,M0 Any T, any N, M1 | Tumor with gross extrathyroidal soft tissue extension (T4), or lymph node involvement outside of level VI (N1b), or distant metastases (M1) |

Table 22.2 Staging of medullary thyroid cancers

node and distant metastasis [24]. Calcitonin and CEA levels are useful for postoperative surveillance. Preoperative high level of CEA is a prognostic factor. Serum calcitonin stimulation test is useful in familial MTC patients without RET mutation and pathological borderline cases.

After diagnosis, neck ultrasonography is used to evaluate lymph nodes. Chest and abdomen contrast-enhanced computerized tomography must be done for staging, especially in patients with lymph nodes in the neck or basal calcitonin levels >400 pg/mL. 18-fluoro-2-deoxyglucose positron emission tomography (FDG-PET/ CT) is not routinely recommended for initial staging [25–27]. Its sensitivity is modest and may be recommended for a small subset of more biologically aggressive MTCs or detecting metastasis with elevated calcitonin levels >1,000 pg/mL [25, 26]. Tumor–node–metastasis (TNM) staging system suggested by the Union International Contre le Cancer (UICC) and the American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) is recommended for staging (Table 22.2) [28].

22.5 Treatment

Surgical resection remains the mainstay of primary treatment for MTC [29, 30]. There is limited evidence for external beam radiotherapy (EBRT) as a local therapeutic modality [31]. Treatment options for patients with advanced MTC are limited. Cytotoxic chemotherapy has negligible efficacy with poor response rates and short duration of response [29, 30]. Partial response (PR) rates of single-agent regimens such as doxorubicin, dacarbazine, capecitabine, and 5-fluorouracil have been <30 %. There is an obvious "unmet medical need" for novel therapeutic approaches in advanced MTC. Recent years have witnessed remarkable advances in the understanding of the molecular biology of MTC leading to introduction of novel agents directed to these targets.

22.5.1 Surgery

There is general consensus that the only curative treatment of MTC is meticulous total thyroidectomy with removal of any visible tumoral tissue from the cervical region coupled with ipsilateral modified radical neck dissection provided that there is no advanced disease [32, 33]. Inherited MTC is almost always multicentric and bilateral, and about 5–6 % of patients with sporadic MTC turn out to be familial and multicentric. Furthermore, intraglandular lymphatic spread is possible in sporadic cases. Therefore, partial thyroidectomy is not recommended.

Because presence of lymphatic spread is of prognostic significance, optimal lymph node dissection is mandatory with "compartmental hierarchy" concept [34, 35]. Prognosis depends on age at diagnosis, stage of disease, and extent of initial thyroid or neck surgery [36]. Interestingly, some reports failed to show that the extent of lymphadenectomy improves the outcome in patients with MTC [37]. Lymph nodes in the central compartment between the hyoid bone and the innominate vessels, laterally to both internal jugular veins and carotid arteries, and posteriorly to the tracheal esophageal groove should be dissected. If central nodes are involved with metastasis, an ipsilateral modified neck dissection should be performed with removal of the contralateral central nodes. If central nodes are negative for metastasis, biopsy of the lateral lymph nodes is not required, but some authors recommend routine initial contralateral neck dissection. Mediastinal dissection with sternotomy may be considered in cases with gross detectable disease contained within the mediastinum. The role of salvage neck surgery remains controversial in MTC [34, 35]. Palliative re-operation may be performed for compressive symptoms or risk for imminent compression or invasion of the trachea or major vessels. Lymphadenectomy should be very restrictive in the presence of locally advanced and/or metastatic disease. Anticipated complications of surgery include vocal cord paralysis, airway obstruction, and hemoptysis.

22.5.2 Radiotherapy

EBRT may be suggested as adjuvant treatment in patients with less than optimal lymph node dissection or with extrathyroidal disease [31]. Clinical studies warrant the use of postoperative adjuvant EBRT in patients at high risk for locoregional recurrence such as locally invasive tumor, grossly positive surgical margins, extranodal tumor extension, and detectable calcitonin after surgery. In this setting, adjuvant RT may reduce the 10-year local recurrence rate by half [38]. Some MTC patients treated with EBRT might enjoy prolonged survival duration [39]. However, some authors argued against treating MTC with EBRT because they consider MTC to be relatively radioresistant [40, 41]. EBRT is best suited for palliative purposes such as symptomatic central nervous system and bone metastases or irresectable local neck recurrences [42].

22.5.3 Chemotherapy

Treatment with either single-agent or combination cytotoxic chemotherapy has been generally inadequate. Experience in this field is largely limited to small case series or phase II studies with no phase III studies available to date. Single agents with some antitumor activity in MTC include dacarbazine, doxorubicin, DTIC, cisplatin, cyclophosphamide, streptozotocin, fluorouracil, and vincristine [43–45]. Various combinations of these chemotherapeutic drugs resulted in PR of 15–20 % with no documented complete responses. In spite of inducing short-lived PRs in <30 % of the advanced MTC patients, doxorubicin treatment is approved by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for the treatment of metastatic thyroid cancer including MTC. Among other cytotoxics, DTIC is the only agent recommended by the National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) for symptomatic or progressive MTC patients despite to its modest activity in non-controlled trials [46].

Because chemotherapy in advanced MTC has an insufficient efficacy, it should be reserved for patients with progressive disease refractory to targeted agents.

22.5.4 Somatostatin Analogues

Somatostatin analogues have been used with some success in (NETs), especially in symptomatic patients for symptom palliation. Octreotide, synthetic analogue of somatostatin, has been tried in MTC patients [47]. There is no randomized controlled study, but only case series or non-controlled studies which were not able to demonstrate any consistent antitumor effect. All studies showed subjective and biological PR in about 25 % of the MTC patients with no improvement in tumor load. It seems that somatostatin analogues are only helpful in alleviating symptoms.

22.5.5 Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitors

Targeted therapies with small molecule inhibitors of tyrosine kinases (TKI) have been used in cancers with demonstrated driving mutations involved in the pathogenesis. The better defined is the target, the better is the response to treatment with its inhibitors. These molecules target several tyrosine kinases involved in a variety of steps of the signal transduction pathways regulating proliferation, survival, gene expression, angiogenesis, and migration functions. Therefore, these "multikinase" inhibitors have successfully been used in thyroid cancers including MTC directed to RET, vascular endothelial growth factor receptor (VEGFR), and the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR). It has been proposed that inhibition of a single kinase receptor may result in upregulation of compensatory signaling pathways to sustain cell growth. Multikinase inhibitors have been developed to bypass this potential resistance mechanism.

22.5.5.1 Cabozantinib

Cabozantinib (XL184) is an oral TKI with activity against c-MET, VEGFR-2, and RET [48, 49]. Activation of these receptors has been implicated in both development and progression of MTC. Inhibition of c-MET, which is the receptor for hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), may confer additional activity against MTC.

A phase I open-label dose-escalation study of cabozantinib was performed in patients with advanced solid tumors including 37 patients with MTC [50]. An objective PR was achieved in 10 of 35 patients with measurable disease in the MTC cohort. Stable disease (SD) of 6 months or longer was observed in 15 patients. Overall 68 % of the patients experienced SD+PR at the sixth month of assessment. Documented responses were independent of the *RET* mutation status of the tumors, suggesting that antineoplastic effects of the drug were due to inhibition of targets other than RET pathway [50]. Following the remarkable results of phase I study, a double-blind, randomized phase III EXAM study of cabozantinib 140 mg daily was conducted in 330 patients with progressive MTC [51]. Randomization was 2:1 (cabozantinib to placebo) and the primary endpoint was progression-free survival (PFS). A statistically significant improvement in estimated median PFS was observed in the cabozantinib group (11.2 vs. 4.0 months) (HR 0.28, 95 % CI 0.19-0.40; p < 0.001). One-year PFS was 47.3 % for cabozantinib and 7.2 % for placebo. Response rate (all PR) for cabozantinib was 28 % (vs. none for placebo) regardless of RET mutation status. There was no statistically significant difference in overall survival (OS).

Side effects were considerable. Of all patients, 79 % required dose reductions and 16 % discontinued cabozantinib permanently. Common adverse events seen in ≥ 10 % of the patients included diarrhea, palmar–plantar erythrodysesthesia, fatigue, nausea, weight loss, loss of appetite, hypertension, hemorrhage, hypocalcemia, and elevated liver function tests. Grade 3 or 4 adverse events were reported in 69 % of cabozantinib-treated patients. Significant electrocardiographic abnormalities (QT prolongation) were not encountered in the trial, as was observed with vandetanib [52].

In a subgroup analysis, cabozantinib markedly improved PFS in the subset of patients whose tumors contained *RET*M918T mutations (61 vs. 17 weeks; HR 0.15, 95 % CI 0.08–0.28) or whose tumors contained *RAS* mutations (47 vs. 8 weeks; HR 0.15, 95 % CI 0.02–1.10) [53]. The results of the phase III EXAM trial caused FDA to approve cabozantinib for patients with progressive metastatic MTC in November 2012.

22.5.5.2 Vandetanib

Vandetanib (ZD6474) is an oral small molecule TKI that blocks RET, VEGFR-1, VEGFR-2, and EGFR. The efficacy of vandetanib in hereditary MTC has been assessed in two phase II open-label, single-arm studies. The first phase II clinical trial enrolled 30 patients with hereditary, unresectable, or metastatic MTC to receive vandetanib at 300 mg/day [54]. A PR was achieved in six (20 %) and SD in 16 (53 %) patients. Median PFS was 27.9 months. Common adverse events were diarrhea, rash, fatigue, and nausea. The second phase II study enrolled 19 patients who receive vandetanib at 100 mg/day with escalation after progression to 300 mg/day [55]. Antitumor activity of low-dose vandetanib was verified with similar results (16 % PR and 53 % SD) and similar adverse events despite to lower dose.

In light of these results, phase III ZETA trial was carried out randomizing vandetanib 300 mg/day or placebo in 331 patients with advanced hereditary or sporadic MTC [52]. The primary endpoint was PFS, and secondary endpoints were OS, objective response rate (ORR), disease control rate (DCR) at 24 weeks, duration of response, biochemical response, and time to worsening of pain, safety, and tolerability. Vandetanib showed efficacy in all evaluable endpoints in this trial except OS. At a median follow-up of 24 months, median PFS was not reached with vandetanib (estimated 30 months) and was 19.3 months with placebo [HR, 0.46; 95 % confidence interval (CI), 0.31–0.69; p<0.001]. The 6-month PFS rate was 83 % in the vandetanib group and 63 % in the placebo group. Vandetanib induced a higher ORR than placebo (45 % vs. 13 %; p<0.001) and higher DCR (87 % vs. 71 %; p=0.001). OS data were immature at the time of analysis and revealed no significant difference (HR, 0.89; 95 % CI, 0.48– 1.65). RET mutation was positive in 56.5 % of patients suggesting lack of correlation of RET mutation status with clinical outcome.

Common adverse events associated with vandetanib included diarrhea/colitis (56 %), rash (45 %), nausea (33 %), hypertension (32 %), headache (26%), and fatigue (24 %) [24]. Adverse events \geq grade III were diarrhea (11 %), hypertension (9 %), QT prolongation (8 %), and fatigue (6 %). Because of the potential of QT prolongation, torsades de pointes, and sudden death risk, vandetanib is currently only available through the FDA Vandetanib Risk Evaluation Mitigation Strategy (REMS) Program. Electrocardiogram (ECG) and serum potassium, calcium, magnesium, and thyroid-stimulating hormone levels should be closely monitored and corrected. Vandetanib is the first multitargeted TKI approved by the FDA for advanced MTC.

22.5.5.3 Sorafenib

Sorafenib (BAY-43-9006) is another oral multikinase inhibitor that targets VEGFR-1, VEGFR-2, and VEGFR-3, RET, PDGFR, c-KIT, and BRAF [56]. Sorafenib was approved by the FDA for metastatic renal cell cancer and hepatocellular carcinoma. In vitro studies showed that it inhibits oncogenic RET V804L or RET V804M mutants that are resistant to other TKIs [57].

A phase I trial of sorafenib combined with the oral farnesyl transferase inhibitor tipifarnib to investigate combinations of drugs is synergistically effective, yielding partial response in five patients and stable disease in another five patients, with a median PFS of 15 months [58]. In a phase II trial, sorafenib (400 mg/twice daily) induced a PR in only one patient (6.2 %) and SD \geq 15 months in 50 % of patients reaching a median PFS of 18 months [59]. Ahmed et al. showed 93 % PFS and 100 % OS rates at 1 year in metastatic MTC patients [60]. Response rates of 13 and 25 % were reported at 6 month and 12 months, respectively, suggesting that responses do occur beyond 6 months.

We reported our experience with sorafenib in thyroid cancer patients [61]. In MTC cohort, we observed a PR in 14 % of the patients. Median PFS was 14.5 months and OS was not reached. Adverse events were generally consistent with the known profile of sorafenib. It seems that sorafenib is as active as other FDA-approved TKIs, but lack of a phase III data makes it an unattractive choice.

22.5.5.4 Sunitinib

Sunitinib (SU11248) targets RET; VEGFR-1, VEGFR-2, and VEGFR-3; c-KIT; fms-related tyrosine kinase 3 (FLT3); and PDGFR. Its inhibitory effect on VEGFR and RET makes this drug a rational choice for treating MTC. Objective responses with sunitinib were reported in 6–31 % and SD in 46–80 % of patients [62–64]. In a small trial, sunitinib (37.5 mg/day continuously) induced a PR in three of seven patients with a median follow-up of 15.5 months [64]. Median PFS was 12.8 months. The most common treatment-related adverse events included neutropenia, thrombocytopenia, lymphopenia, hypertension, hand–foot syndrome, fatigue, and gastrointestinal symptoms.

22.5.5.5 Pazopanib

Pazopanib targets the VEGFR-1, VEGFR-2, and VEGFR-3, PDGFR, and c-KIT. Although the above TKIs targeting VEGF receptors also inhibit RET, pazopanib does not have any anti-RET activity [65]. Pazopanib was studied at a dose of 800 mg daily in a phase II study of 35 patients with progressive MTC; five patients (14 %) had partial response [66]. Median PFS and OS were 9.4 and 19.9 months, respectively.

22.5.5.6 Axitinib

Axitinib (AG-013736) is an orally active multikinase inhibitor of the tyrosine kinases VEGFR-1, VEGFR-2, and VEGFR-3, PDGFR, and c-KIT but not RET. A multicenter, open-label, phase II trial with axitinib (5 mg twice daily) induced a PR in 2 of 11 patients, and another three patients had stable disease lasting at least 16 weeks [67]. The most common adverse effect was hypertension.

22.5.5.7 Imatinib

Imatinib (STI571) inhibited RET Y1062 phosphorylation and induced cell cycle arrest and apoptotic cell death in MTC-derived cell lines expressing mutant RET receptors [68]. However, clinical results were disappointing with no tumor response in two trials [69].

22.5.5.8 Motesanib

Motesanib diphosphate (AMG706) targets the VEGFR-1, VEGFR-2, and VEGFR-3, PDGFR, wild-type RET, and stem cell factor receptor (c-KIT). A single-arm phase II trial using motesanib diphosphate 125 mg once daily was conducted in 91 advanced MTC patients with a dismal PR rate (2 %) [70]. However, median PFS was 48 weeks because of disease stabilization beyond 24 weeks in 48 % of the patients.

Conclusion

MTC is a rare NET derived from the calcitonin-secreting C cells of the thyroid gland. Almost 30 % of the patients have an autosomal dominant hereditary syndrome called MEN2 with three distinct subtypes: MEN-2A, MEN-2B, and familial MEN. RET proto-oncogene mutations are responsible for the

pathogenesis. Hereditary forms of MTC have germline mutations of the RET gene. Majority of the sporadic cases harbor somatic RET gene mutation, whereas about 5 % of the sporadic cases also have germline RET gene mutations. These mutations have different penetration rates causing a diversity of disease phenotypes. Identification of patients genetically at high risk is critical, because affected individuals may benefit from an early diagnosis and prophylactic thyroidectomy. The only curative treatment modality is aggressive surgical resection with inadequate impact of radiotherapy and chemotherapy. Prognosis of progressive and metastatic MTC is dismal. Better understanding of the molecular biology has led to the discovery of specific targeted inhibitors against tyrosine kinases that have changed the way metastatic disease is treated. Two of these agents are approved by the FDA in the treatment of advanced MTC.

References

- 1. Siegel R, Ma J, Zou Z, Jemal A (2014) Cancer statistics, 2014. CA Cancer J Clin 64:9-29
- National Cancer Institute, Surveillance Epidemiology and End Results. http://seer.cancer.gov/ statfacts/html/thyro.html. Accessed 1 Nov 2014
- 3. Moley JF (2003) Medullary thyroid carcinoma. Curr Treat Options Oncol 4:339-347
- Pacini F, Castagna MG, Cipri C, Schlumberger M (2010) Medullary thyroid carcinoma. Clin Oncol 22:475–485
- 5. Wu LS, Roman SA, Sosa JA (2011) Medullary thyroid cancer: an update of new guidelines and recent developments. Curr Opin Oncol 23:22–27
- Roy M, Chen H, Sippel RS (2013) Current understanding and management of medullary thyroid cancer. Oncologist 18:1093–1100
- Cakir M, Grossman AB (2009) Medullary thyroid cancer: molecular biology and novel molecular therapies. Neuroendocrinology 90:323–348
- Krampitz GW, Norton JA (2014) RET gene mutations (genotype and phenotype) of multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2 and familial medullary thyroid carcinoma. Cancer 120:1920–1931
- Saad MF, Ordonez NG, Rashid RK, Guido JJ, Hill CS Jr, Hickey RC, Samaan NA (1984) Medullary carcinoma of the thyroid. A study of the clinical features and prognostic factors in 161 patients. Medicine (Baltimore) 63(6):319–342
- Dottorini ME, Assi A, Sironi M (1996) Multivariate analysis of patients with medullary thyroid carcinoma. Prognostic significance and impact on treatment of clinical and pathologic variables. Cancer 77:1556–1565
- Girelli ME, Nacamulli D, Pelizzo MR et al (1998) Medullary thyroid carcinoma: clinical features and long-term follow-up of seventy-eight patients treated between 1969 and 1986. Thyroid 8(6):517–523
- Kebebew E, Ituarte PH, Siperstein AE, Duh QY, Clark OH (2000) Medullary thyroid carcinoma: clinical characteristics, treatment, prognostic factors, and a comparison of staging systems. Cancer 88:1139–1148
- Pelizzo MR, Boschin IM, Bernante P et al (2007) Natural history, diagnosis, treatment and outcome of medullary thyroid cancer: 37 years experience on 157 patients. Eur J Surg Oncol 33(4):493–497
- Brandi ML, Gagel RF, Angeli A et al (2001) Guidelines for diagnosis and therapy of MEN type 1 and type 2. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 86(12):5658–5671
- Eng C, Mulligan LM, Smith DP et al (1995) Low frequency of germline mutations in the RET proto-oncogene in patients with apparently sporadic medullary thyroid carcinoma. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 43:123–127

- Marsh DJ, Learoyd DL, Andrew SD et al (1996) Somatic mutations in the RET protooncogene in sporadic medullary thyroid carcinoma. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 44(3): 249–257
- 17. Romei C, Elisei R, Pinchera A et al (1996) Somatic mutations of the RET protooncogene in sporadic medullary thyroid carcinoma are not restricted to exon 16 and are associated with tumor recurrence. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 81(4):1619–1622
- Frank-Raue K, Buhr H, Dralle H et al (2006) Long-term outcome in 46 gene carriers of hereditary medullary thyroid carcinoma after prophylactic thyroidectomy: impact of individual RET genotype. Eur J Endocrinol 155:229–236
- Machens A, Hauptmann S, Dralle H (2007) Increased risk of lymph node metastasis in multifocal hereditary and sporadic medullary thyroid cancer. World J Surg 31(10):1960–1965
- 20. Trimboli P, Treglia G, Guidobaldi L et al (2014) Detection rate of FNA cytology in medullary thyroid carcinoma: a meta-analysis. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). doi:10.1111/cen.12563
- Kudo T, Miyauchi A, Ito Y, Takamura Y, Amino N, Hirokawa M (2007) Diagnosis of medulary thyroid carcinoma by calcitonin measurement in fine needle aspiration biopsy specimens. Thyroid 17:635–638
- 22. Elisei R, Bottici V, Luchetti F et al (2004) Impact of routine measurement of serum calcitonin on the diagnosis and outcome of medullary thyroid cancer: experience in 10,864 patients with nodular thyroid disorders. J Clin Endocrinol Metabol 89:163–168
- Cheung K, Roman SA, Wang TS, Walker HD, Sosa JA (2008) Calcitonin measurement in the evaluation of thyroid nodules in the United States: a cost-effectiveness and decision analysis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 93(6):2173–2180
- Machens A, Ukkat J, Hauptmann S, Dralle H (2007) Abnormal carcinoembryonic antigen levels and medullary thyroid cancer progression: a multivariate analysis. Arch Surg 142: 289–293
- 25. Oudoux A, Salaun PY, Bournaud C et al (2007) Sensitivity and prognostic value of positron emission tomography with F-18-fluorodeoxyglucose and sensitivity of immunoscintigraphy in patients with medullary thyroid carcinoma treated with anticarcinoembryonic antigen-targeted radioimmunotherapy. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 92:4590–4597
- Wong KK, Laird AM, Moubayed A et al (2012) How has the management of medullary thyroid carcinoma changed with the advent of 18F-FDG and non-18F-FDG PET radiopharmaceuticals. Nucl Med Commun 33:679–688
- Cheng X, Bao L, Xu Z, Li D, Wang J, Li Y (2012) 18F-FDG-PET and 18F-FDG-PET/CT in the detection of recurrent or metastatic medullary thyroid carcinoma: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Med Imaging Radiat Oncol 56:136–142
- 28. Edge S, Byrd DR, Compton CC, Fritz AG, Greene FL, Trotti A (eds) (2010) American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) cancer staging manual, 7th edn. Springer, New York
- Sippel RS, Kunnimalaiyaan M, Chen H (2008) Current management of medullary thyroid carcinoma. Oncologist 13:539–547
- Maxwell JE, Sherman SK, O'Dorisio TM, Howe JR (2014) Medical management of metastatic medullary thyroid cancer. Cancer 120:3287–3301
- Brierley JD, Tsang RW (2006) External radiation therapy of MTC. In: Wartofsky L, Van Nostrand D (eds) Thyroid cancer: a comprehensive guide to clinical management. Humana, Totowa, pp 605–607
- Russell CF, Van Heerden JA, Sizemore GW et al (1983) The surgical management of medullary thyroid carcinoma. Ann Surg 197:42–48
- Block MA (1990) Surgical treatment of medullary carcinoma of the thyroid. Otolaryngol Clin North Am 23:453–473
- 34. Dralle H (2002) Lymph node dissection and medullary thyroid carcinoma. Br J Surg 89:1073–1075
- Fialkowski EA, Moley JF (2006) Current approaches to medullary thyroid carcinoma, sporadic and familial. J Surg Oncol 94:737–747
- Roman S, Lin R, Sosa JA (2006) Prognosis of medullary thyroid carcinoma: demographic, clinical, and pathologic predictors of survival in 1252 cases. Cancer 107:2134–2142
- 37. Kandil E, Gilson MM, Alabbas HH, Tufaro AP, Dackiw A, Tufano RP (2011) Survival implications of cervical lymphadenectomy in patients with medullary thyroid carcinoma. Ann Surg Oncol 18:1028–1034
- 38. Brierley J, Tsang R, Simpson WJ et al (1996) Medullary thyroid cancer: analyses of survival and prognostic factors and the role of radiation therapy in local control. Thyroid 6:305–310
- Schwartz DL, Rana V, Shaw S et al (2008) Postoperative radiotherapy for advanced medullary thyroid cancer – local disease control in the modern era. Head Neck 30:883–888
- 40. Williams CR, Brewer DB (1969) Medullary carcinoma of the thyroid. Br J Surg 56:437-443
- Samaan NA, Schultz PN, Hickey RC (1988) Medullary thyroid carcinoma: prognosis of familial versus sporadic disease and the role of radiotherapy. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 67:801–805
- 42. Kloos RT, Eng C, Evans DB et al (2009) American Thyroid Association Guidelines Task Force. Medullary thyroid cancer: management guidelines of the American Thyroid Association. Thyroid 19:565–612
- 43. Nocera M, Baudin E, Pellegriti G, Cailleux AF, Mechelany-Corone C, Schlumberger M (2000) Treatment of advanced medullary thyroid carcinoma with an alternating combination of doxorubicin-streptozocin and 5 FU-dacarbazine. Groupe d'Etude des Tumeurs a Calcitonine (GETC). Br J Cancer 83:715–718
- 44. De Besi P, Busnardo B, Toso S et al (1991) Combined chemotherapy with bleomycin, adriamycin, and platinum in advanced thyroid cancer. J Endocrinol Invest 14:475–480
- 45. Shimaoka K, Schoenfeld DA, DeWys WD et al (1985) A randomized trial of doxorubicin versus doxorubicin plus cisplatin in patients with advanced thyroid cancer. Cancer 56:2155–2160
- 46. NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology. Thyroid carcinoma, Version 2.2014. http:// www.nccn.org/professionals/physician_gls/pdf/thyroid.pdf. Accessed 1 Nov 2014
- 47. Vainas I, Koussis C, Pazaitou-Panayiotou K, Drimonitis A, Chrisoulidou A, Iakovou I, Boudina M, Kaprara A, Maladaki A (2004) Somatostatin receptor expression in vivo and response to somatostatin analog therapy with or without other antineoplastic treatments in advanced medullary thyroid carcinoma. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 23:549–559
- 48. Hart CD, De Boer RH (2013) Profile of cabozantinib and its potential in the treatment of advanced medullary thyroid carcinoma. Onco Targets Ther 6:1–7
- Nagilla M, Brown RL, Cohen EE (2012) Cabozantinib for the treatment of advanced medullary thyroid carcinoma. Adv Ther 29:925–934
- 50. Kurzrock R, Sherman SI, Ball DW et al (2011) Activity of XL184 (cabozantinib), an oral tyrosine inhibitor, in patients with MTC. J Clin Oncol 29:2660–2666
- Elisei R, Schlumberger M, Muller S et al (2012) Cabozantinib in progressive medullary thyroid cancer. J Clin Oncol 31:3639–3646
- 52. Wells SA Jr, Robinson BG, Gagel RF et al (2012) Vandetanib in patients with locally advanced or metastatic medullary thyroid cancer: a randomized, double-blind phase III trial. J Clin Oncol 30:134–141
- 53. Sherman SI, Cohen EEW, Schoffski P et al (2013) Efficacy of cabozantinib (Cabo) in medulary thyroid carcinoma (MTC) patients with RAS or RET mutations: results from a phase III study. ASCO annual meeting. Chicago, IL, Abstr 6000
- 54. Wells SA, Gosnell JE, Gagel RF et al (2010) Vandetanib for the treatment of patients with locally advanced or metastatic hereditary medullary thyroid cancer. J Clin Oncol 28:767–772
- 55. Robinson BG, Paz-Ares L, Krebs A, Vasselli J, Haddad R (2010) Vandetanib (100 mg) in patients with locally advanced or metastatic hereditary medullary thyroid carcinoma. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 95:2664–2671
- 56. Wilhelm SM, Carter C, Tang L et al (2004) BAY 43–9006 exhibits broad spectrum oral antitumor activity and targets the RAF/MEK/ERK pathway and receptor tyrosine kinases involved in tumor progression and angiogenesis. Cancer Res 64:7099
- Carlomagno F, Anaganti S, Guida T et al (2006) BAY 43–9006 inhibition of oncogenic RET mutants. J Natl Cancer Inst 98(5):326–334
- 58. Cabanillas ME, Kurzrock R, Sherman SI, Tsimberidou AM, Waguespack S, Naing AN et al (2008) Phase I trial of combination sorafenib and tipifarnib: the experience in advanced dif-

ferentiated thyroid cancer (DTC) and medullary thyroid cancer (MTC). J Clin Oncol 28(15 Suppl):5586

- Lam ET, Ringel MD, Kloos RT et al (2010) Phase II clinical trial of sorafenib in metastatic MTC. J Clin Oncol 28:2323–2330
- 60. Ahmed M, Barbachano Y, Riddell A et al (2011) Analysis of the efficacy and toxicity of sorafenib in thyroid cancer: a phase II study in a UK based population. Eur J Endocrinol 165:315–322
- 61. Benekli M, Yalcin S, Ozkan M, Elkiran ET, Sevinc A, Cabuk D, Coskun HS, Oksuzoglu B, Bayar B, Akbulat A, Ozet A (2015) Efficacy of sorafenib in advanced differentiated and medullary thyroid cancer: experience in a Turkish population. OncoTargets Ther 8:1–5
- 62. Cohen EE, Needles BM, Cullen KJ et al (2008) Phase 2 study of sunitinib in refractory thyroid cancer. J Clin Oncol 26 Suppl:Abstr 6025
- 63. Ravaud A, Fouchardière C, Courbon F et al (2008) Sunitinib in patients with refractory advanced thyroid cancer: the THYSU Phase II trial. J Clin Oncol 26 Suppl:Abstr 6058
- 64. Carr LL, Mankoff DA, Goulart BH et al (2010) Phase II study of daily sunitinib in FDG-PETpositive, iodine-refractory differentiated thyroid cancer and metastatic medullary carcinoma of the thyroid with functional imaging correlation. Clin Cancer Res 16:5260–5268
- 65. Bible KC, Suman VJ, Menefee ME, Smallridge RC et al (2012) Mayo Clinic Endocrine Malignancies Disease Oriented Group. A multiinstitutional phase 2 trial of pazopanib monotherapy in advanced anaplastic thyroid cancer. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 97:3179–3184
- 66. Bible KC, Suman VJ, Molina JR et al (2014) A multicenter phase 2 trial of pazopanib in metastatic and progressive medullary thyroid carcinoma: MC057H. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 99:1687–1693
- 67. Cohen EE, Rosen LS, Vokes EE, Kies MS, Forastiere AA, Worden FP et al (2008) Axitinib is an active treatment for all histologic subtypes of advanced thyroid cancer: results from a phase II study. J Clin Oncol 26:4708–4713
- 68. de Groot JW, Plaza Menacho I, Schepers H et al (2006) Cellular effects of imatinib on MTC cells harboring multiple endocrine neoplasia Type 2A and 2B associated RET mutations. Surgery 139:806–814
- Frank-Raue K, Fabel M, Delorme S, Haberkorn U, Raue F (2007) Efficacy of imatinib mesylate in advanced medullary thyroid carcinoma. Eur J Endocrinol 157:215–220
- Schlumberger MJ, Elisei R, Bastholt L et al (2009) Phase II study of safety and efficacy of motesanib in patients with progressive or symptomatic, advanced or metastatic medullary thyroid cancer. J Clin Oncol 27:3794–3801

Diagnosis and Management of Adrenocortical Carcinomas

23

Bulent Orhan, Omer Dizdar, and Suayib Yalcin

23.1 Introduction

Adrenal tumors are becoming increasingly common with the improvement in imaging techniques. Prevalence of incidental adrenal lesions detected by computed tomography (CT) or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) exceeds 5 % with an estimated incidence of 7.3 % from autopsy series [1-3]. Although the majority of those lesions are benign adrenocortical adenomas, some of the lesions are malignant, known as adrenocortical carcinoma (ACC). ACC is a rare and highly aggressive tumor and is usually resistant to most of the conventional chemotherapeutics [4]. Overall 5-year survival is less than 40 % [5, 6]. Significant progress has been made in delineating the pathogenesis of ACC over the past 20 years. Surgery is the preferred treatment for localized ACC with the aim to achieve complete resection with clear margins. Unfortunately current treatment options other than surgery have limited efficacy in the adjuvant and advanced setting. Given the low incidence of the disease, a number of clinical trials in patients with ACC are limited and mostly retrospective; therefore treatment recommendations are generally based on retrospective data or expert opinions. In order to understand molecular mechanisms underlying the disease and develop more effective treatment for ACC, clinical and translational studies with international collaboration are needed.

B. Orhan, MD

O. Dizdar, MD Preventive Oncology Department, Institute of Cancer, Hacettepe University, Ankara, Turkey

S. Yalcin, MD (⊠) Medical Oncology Department, Institute of Cancer, Hacettepe University, Sihhiye, Ankara, Turkey e-mail: suayibyalcin@gmail.com

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

S. Yalcin, K. Öberg (eds.), Neuroendocrine Tumours: Diagnosis and Management, DOI 10.1007/978-3-662-45215-8_23

Medical Oncology Department, Acibadem University, Bursa, Turkey e-mail: bulentorhan@gmail.com

23.2 Epidemiology

The incidence of ACC is approximately 1-2 cases per million, and ACC accounts for 0.02-0.2 % of all cancer deaths. ACC can occur at any age. The disease has a bimodal incidence peak, with a larger peak in the 4–5th decade of life and another peak in the first decade of life. The incidence is slightly higher in females [6, 7].

In the largest published series of ACC (n=3.982), the median age at diagnosis was 55 years, median tumor size was 13 cm, and distant metastases were found on presentation in 21.6 % of patients [6, 8]. ACCs may be nonfunctional and may present with symptoms due to mass-forming effects of the tumor, such as abdominal discomfort, pain, or indigestion, or can be functional with hormone-secreting features in up to 34-62 % of the patients. Presentation and clinical symptoms are based on the type of produced hormone. Cortisol secretion and resulting Cushing's syndrome is the most common presentation followed by either virilization or a combination of both [7-10]. Feminizing syndrome due to the secretion of estradiol, prolactin, and testosterone and hyperaldosteronism are also seen. In the later phases of the disease with the growing mass in the abdomen, approximately one-third of the patients experience nonspecific abdominal discomfort. Advances in the imaging techniques may have increased the frequency of asymptomatic presentations which may also translate into the improved survival rates. Kasperlik-Zaluska et al. reported that 28.5 % of their 63 patients with ACCs presented as incidentalomas [11]. The mean duration from the onset of symptoms to diagnosis of ACC varies from 6 to 16 months and appears to be independent of whether it is functional or clinically silent [12, 13].

23.3 Pathogenesis

The etiopathogenesis of ACC is rather complex; there is no identified causative environmental agent described yet. Although ACCs are mostly sporadic, certain inherited cancer syndromes may present with ACC. Detailed description of these hereditary cancer syndromes and involved genes will be very important in the future for describing carcinogenic pathways and development of new targeted therapies. Hereditary tumor syndromes associated with ACC are Li–Fraumeni syndrome, Beckwith–Wiedemann syndrome, Carney complex, multiple endocrine neoplasia (MEN1), congenital adrenal hyperplasia, and familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP) [10].

There are some genes involved in the pathogenesis of ACC and one of them is TP53; TP53 is a tumor suppressor gene; it causes cell cycle arrest or cell death in response to DNA-damaging agents. TP53 mutations in exons 5–8 may be seen in ACCs and patients having these mutations have shortened survival. The prevalence of TP53 gene mutation in adult patients with ACC was found to be 3.9 % [14]. Genetic counseling with germline testing for TP53 is recommended to all patients with ACC, particularly if age <40 [15].

Another important gene implicated in the pathogenesis of ACC is insulin-like growth factor-2 (IGF2) gene. Rearrangements, loss of heterozygosity (LOH), and abnormal imprinting of the 11p15.5 locus are associated with elevated IGF2 mRNA expression in ACC [16, 17]. IGF2 overexpression could be used as a diagnostic tool for discriminating benign from malignant adrenal masses because IGFR 2 overexpression is a consistent finding in ACCs [18–20]. Higher IGF2 levels are associated with a malignant phenotype, and overexpression of IGF2 is associated with an increased risk of ACC recurrence [21]. Demethylation of IGF2 is also found more frequently in ACCs and correlates with IGF2 mRNA expression [17, 18]. Furthermore, LOH of the 11p15 locus has been demonstrated more frequently in ACC (67 %) compared to adrenal adenomas (13 %). It has been postulated that this leads to overexpression of IGF2 because the maternal allele is lost with duplication of the paternal allele leading to a double dose of the expressed allele [17].

Activating somatic mutation of the *CTNNB1* (beta-catenin) gene has also been identified in ACCs. Wnt/beta-catenin pathway activation was linked to decreased disease-free and overall survival in patients with resected adrenal carcinoma [22]. Other genes potentially involved in the pathogenesis of ACC are *ZNRF3*, *CDKN2A*, *RB1*, *MEN1*, CYP21B, PRKAR1A, and GNAS genes [23].

A number of studies have assessed the use of molecular markers in discriminating ACCs from adrenal adenomas. Immunohistochemistry with Ki-67/MIB1 has been found to be useful in differentiating ACCs from adrenal adenomas [24-26] with a reported sensitivity of 87.5 % and specificity of 95.5 % [25]. Combining IGF2 with Ki-67/MIB1 IHC improved sensitivity and specificity for differentiating ACCs from adrenal adenomas to 100 and 95.5 %, respectively [25]. IHC with p53 has not been found to be particularly helpful because even though it is highly specific for ACCs, its sensitivity is low, ranging from 5.4 to 73 % [24-26]. Protein expression of matrix metalloproteinase type 2 (MMP2, also known as gelatinase A) has been found to be high in ACCs but low in adrenocortical adenomas. MMP2 protein expression in ACCs was focal in two-thirds of cases and diffuse in the remainder. More diffuse expression of MMP2 in ACCs was associated with shorter overall and disease-free survival [27]. Interestingly, while MMP2 mRNA was found more frequently in ACCs compared to adrenal adenomas, mRNA was actually found in surrounding stromal tissue and not the neoplastic cell itself [28]. Serum levels of MMP2 have not been found to be useful in predicting either ACCs or adrenal adenomas [29].

None of the mentioned markers have been validated in prospective studies or tested in clinical routine.

23.4 Clinical Presentation and Diagnosis

Approximately 60–70 % of adult patients with ACC present with clinical findings of hormone excess, mostly with Cushing's syndrome. Weight gain, weakness, virilization, feminization, or hyperaldosteronism may occur depending on the hormone

secreted. Diagnosis is based on clinical, laboratory, and radiologic findings. Signs and symptoms of Cushing's syndrome, hyperandrogenism, pheochromocytoma, and hyperaldosteronism should be assessed. Laboratory evaluation should include corticotropin (ACTH), serum cortisol, 24-h free cortisol in urine, total testosterone, dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate, and estradiol. Complete blood count and serum chemistries should also be obtained [10]. The European Network for the Study of Adrenal Tumors recommends plasma aldosterone and renin measurement if hypertension or hypokalemia is present and plasma metanephrine or urinary metanephrine and catecholamine measurement in all patients to exclude pheochromocytoma [30]. Excessive amounts of adrenal steroid precursors are detected in urine in recent studies; these markers may aid in the diagnosis and follow-up to detect the presence of tumor recurrence in patients with ACC [31].

Computed tomography (CT) is widely used in the diagnosis and differentiation of benign from malignant lesions. The size of the tumor is important as increased size of the adrenal mass usually is a sign of malignancy (>5 cm tumors are usually malignant). An adrenal tumor diameter of 5 cm identifies ACC with a sensitivity of 93 % and a specificity of 64 % [32]. Second, the radiologic appearance of the suspected mass is decisive; benign adenomas usually have higher lipid content, and this results in a low attenuation on CT scans (i.e., <10 Hounsfield unit). Another feature of benign adenomas is rapid contrast enhancement and rapid washout. Irregular shape and margins, presence of hemorrhage, and heterogeneity are features suggesting malignancy [33–35].

Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and FDG-PET scans are helpful in evaluating adrenal carcinoma. MRI may show high lipid content of the adrenal mass as well as hemorrhage and heterogeneity of the tumor. A recent meta-analysis showed that FDG-PET had 97 % sensitivity and 91 % specificity in discriminating benign from malignant adrenal masses. Integrated PET/CT scans have even higher sensitivity and specificity. Therefore PET/CT is an important diagnostic tool for ACC, particularly for evaluation of indeterminate masses [36–38].

23.5 Pathology

The only definitive criterion for malignant adrenal tumors is the presence of local invasion or distant metastases. Fine-needle aspiration biopsy cannot discriminate between adrenal adenoma and ACC but may be useful in distinguishing adrenal metastases. On macroscopic examination, ACCs are often large, with a tan-yellow cut surface, and areas of hemorrhage and necrosis may be seen. The tumors are usually encapsulated or lobulated and can be solid or cystic [39]. On microscopic examination, the tumor usually displays sheets of atypical, eosinophilic cells with some resemblance to the cells of the normal adrenal cortex. Polygonal cells are arranged in sheets, nests, trabeculae, or ribbons and may contain anaplastic features. Other signs of malignancy are increased mitotic activity and vascular and capsular invasion. Immunohistochemistry may help to differentiate ACCs from adrenal adenomas. ACCs usually show immunostaining with Ki-67 (>10 %) and overexpression of insulin-like growth factor 2. The presence of invasion and

increased mitotic activity helps differentiate small cancers from adrenocortical adenomas [39, 40].

Differential diagnostic scores have been developed for pathological diagnosis; currently the Weiss and modified Weiss scores are the most widely accepted scoring systems and are based on histological findings. The updated Weiss score consists of five criteria including mitotic rate >5 mitoses/50 high-power fields, cytoplasm (clear cells comprising 25 % or less of the tumor), abnormal mitoses, necrosis, and capsular invasion. Each criterion is scored 0 when absent or 2 for the first two criteria and 1 for the last three when present; a total score ≥ 3 is highly suggestive of ACC [41, 42].

There are several relatively rare variants of ACC. These histologic variants are oncocytic adrenal cortical carcinoma, myxoid adrenal cortical carcinoma, carcinosarcoma, adenosquamous adrenocortical carcinoma, and clear cell adrenal cortical carcinoma [39].

23.6 Staging

There are several staging systems in use. Macfarlane et al. proposed a staging system in 1958 [43]. This staging system has been later modified by Sullivan et al. in 1978 [44] and later by Lee et al. in 1995 [45] (Table 23.1). Based upon the definitions of this staging system, the American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC)/UICC staging scheme was developed [46] (Tables 23.2, 23.3, 23.4, and 23.5). According to this scheme, the stage of ACC is determined by the size of the primary tumor, the extent of local invasion, and whether it has spread to regional lymph nodes or distant sites. Stage I–II disease is confined to the adrenal gland with a tumor size of less than or greater than 5 cm, respectively. Stage III disease is defined as invasion into adjacent organs or regional lymph nodes, while stage IV disease denotes distant metastatic disease [43, 44].

In addition to the abovementioned AJCC staging, the European Network for the Study of Adrenal Tumors (ENSAT) staging system is widely used internationally [47]. The ENSAT staging system is essentially the same as the AJCC system, but this staging proposals tend to limit stage IV patients with distant metastasis. Presence of local invasion, venous tumor thrombosis, or local lymphadenopathy is

| Stage | Macfarlane [43] | Lee et al. [45] | | | |
|-------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--|--|--|
| Ι | T1 (<5 cm) N0M0 | T1 (<5 cm) N0M0 | | | |
| Π | T2 (>5 cm) N0M0 | T2 (>5 cm) N0M0 | | | |
| III | T3 (local invasion without involvement of the adjacent organs) or mobile positive lymph nodes | T3/T4 (local invasion as shown by histological evidence of adjacent organ invasion, direct tumor extension to IVC, or tumor thrombosis within IVC or renal vein), and/or N1 (positive regional lymph nodes). M0 | | | |
| IV | T4 (invasion of the adjacent organs) or fixed positive lymph nodes or M1 (distant metastases) | T1-4, N0-1, M1 (distant metastases) | | | |

Table 23.1 Staging of ACCs

| Primary tumor (T) ^a | | | | |
|--------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--|--|--|
| TX | Primary tumor cannot be assessed | | | |
| T0 | No evidence of primary tumor | | | |
| T1 | Tumor ≤5 cm in greatest dimension, no extra-adrenal invasion | | | |
| T2 | Tumor >5 cm, no extra-adrenal invasion | | | |
| Т3 | Tumor of any size with local invasion, but not invading adjacent organs ^b | | | |
| T4 | Tumor of any size with invasion of adjacent organs ^b | | | |

Table 23.2 Definitions of TNM

^aAdopted from [90]

^bAdjacent organs include the kidney, diaphragm, great vessels, pancreas, spleen, and liver

| Table 23.3 | Definitions | Regional lymph nodes (N) ^a | | | | | |
|------------|-------------|-----------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------|-----------------------|----|-------------|--|
| of TNM | | NX | Regional lymph nodes cannot be assessed | | | be assessed | |
| | | NO | No regional lymph node metastasis | | | | |
| | | N1 | Metastases in regional lymph node(s) | | | | |
| | | ^a Adopted from [90] | | | | | |
| Table 23.4 | Definitions | Distant metastasis (M) ^a | | | | | |
| of TNM | | M0 | | No distant metastasis | | | |
| | | M1 | | Distant metastasis | | | |
| | | ^a Adopted from [90] | | | | | |
| Table 23.5 | Definitions | Anatomic stage/prognostic groups ^a | | | | | |
| of TNM | | Stage | <u>т</u> | | N | М | |
| | | I | T1 | | NO | M0 | |
| | | П | T2 | | NO | M0 | |
| | | III | T1 | | N1 | M0 | |
| | | | T2 | | N1 | M0 | |
| | | | T3 | | NO | M0 | |
| | | IV | T3 | | N1 | M0 | |
| | | | T4 | | N0 | M0 | |
| | | | T4 | | N1 | M0 | |
| | | | Any T | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |

^aAdopted from [90]

defined as stage III. Most contemporary studies use this staging system because of superior prognostic stratification compared to AJCC scheme. According to the ENSAT scheme, 5-year disease-specific survival rates are 82 % for stage I disease, 61 % for stage II, 50 % for stage III, and 13 % for stage IV [48].

Proper staging should include CT of the abdomen and chest. Magnetic resonance imaging may increase specificity of CT evaluation. In-phase and out-of-phase T1-weighted imaging may be the most effective noninvasive method to differentiate benign from malignant adrenal masses. Extracapsular tumor invasion, extension into the vena cava, or metastases may be detected more accurately with MRI. Patency of surrounding vessels can often be demonstrated with gadolinium-enhanced sequences or flip-angle techniques [33, 35, 49].

23.7 Treatment

23.7.1 Surgical Resection

Complete surgical resection is the mainstay of treatment for ACC. Open surgical technique for adrenalectomy is recommended. Complete, en bloc, margin-negative resection should be the surgical goal [50, 51]. Lymph node dissection is recommended [52]. Resection of adjacent organs including the spleen, kidney, liver, or pancreas might be required if local invasion is present. Tumor extension into the inferior vena cava is not a contraindication to surgery, and resection can be performed by cardiopulmonary bypass. The role of laparoscopy is controversial; a number of previous studies showed that laparoscopic surgery for ACC increased the risk of local recurrence, peritoneal dissemination, and metastases [53–57], while others reported comparable results with open surgery particularly if the adrenal tumor is small [58]. Open surgery is currently the preferred approach by NCCN guidelines. Completeness of surgical resection is the most important factor that influences outcome [32, 59]. If resection is incomplete, repeated surgery for achieving clear margins should be considered.

Patients who undergo complete repeat resection of local recurrence or distant metastasis also have improved survival. One study showed that patients who had a complete second resection of local or distant recurrence had a median survival of 74 months (5-year survival, 57 %), whereas those with incomplete second resection had a median survival of 16 months (5-year survival, 0 %) [60]. Therefore surgery is still an important treatment in advanced disease when complete resection of recurrence and all metastases is feasible. Selected patients with uncontrollable symptomatic hormone excess might be candidates for debulking surgery.

The benefit of neoadjuvant systemic therapy prior to surgery for locally advanced disease is not known, and this is not considered a standard approach.

23.8 Systemic Therapy

23.8.1 Mitotane

Adrenocortical carcinoma is a rare tumor; thus there are no randomized trials of adjuvant therapy. Up to 80 % of the patients experience disease recurrence after radical resection; this forms the rationale behind adjuvant therapy. The only treatment which showed benefit in terms of disease-free and overall survival in retrospective reports is mitotane. Mitotane is a derivative of the insecticide dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane (DDT or rothane). Mitotane is metabolized to an active metabolite which leads to necrosis of the zona fasciculata and reticularis of the adrenal cortex and inhibition of adrenocortical hormone production (blocking adrenal 11-beta-hydroxylation and cholesterol side-chain cleavage) [61]. The largest series of adjuvant mitotane use after surgery compared to surgery alone in 177 patients with ACC from 8 centers in Italy and 47 centers in Germany was published recently. All patients had radical resection with a follow-up of up to 10 years.

Forty-seven of the 177 patients received adjuvant mitotane after surgery, while the rest of the patients had surgery alone. Median recurrence-free survival was 42 months in the mitotane group, 10 months in the Italian control group (p<0.001), and 25 months in the German control group (p=0.005). Median overall survival was 110 months in the mitotane group, as compared with 52 months in the Italian control group (p=0.01) and 67 months in the German control group (p=0.1). Mitotane treatment had a significant advantage for recurrence-free survival in multivariate analysis [62]. The median duration of treatment was 29 months. Twenty-seven patients received 1–3 g/day and 20 patients received 3–5 g/day. Serum levels of mitotane were not assessed. Grade 3 gastrointestinal (nausea or vomiting or elevated serum GGT) or neurologic events (confusion, ataxia, vertigo) were observed in 15 and 20 % of the patients, and all occurred in patients who received the higher-dose mitotane regimen.

Adjuvant mitotane is indicated in patients with high risk of recurrence; however the definition of high risk is not uniform. This controversial topic was discussed in 2008 by an international panel of specialists for the treatment of patients with ACC. On these grounds, the panel unanimously stated that patients with potential residual disease (R1 or Rx resection) and/or Ki67 more than 10 % should be offered adjuvant mitotane, whereas adjuvant therapy was not considered mandatory in patients fulfilling all of the following criteria: stage I or II disease (based on the new European Network for the Study of Adrenal Tumors), histologically proven R0 resection, and Ki67 expressed in <10 % of neoplastic cells. The panel did not express a unanimous position with respect to whether or not patients with stage III ACC with R0 disease after surgery should receive adjuvant therapy in clinical routine [63]. Fassnacht et al. propose tumor size >8 cm and microscopic evidence of invasion of blood vessels or the tumor capsule as additional risk factors which require consideration of adjuvant therapy [4]. NCCN guidelines suggest that mitotane be "considered" (category 3 recommendation, with major disagreement that the intervention is appropriate) for all patients with resected low-grade or highgrade localized ACC regardless of stage or tumor size [52]. Intraoperative tumor spillage or fracture is also suggested by some authors as indication for adjuvant mitotane [64]. A large international randomized trial in 200 patients with low- to intermediate-risk resected disease [stage I to III, microscopically complete (R0) resection, Ki67 < 10 %] is currently ongoing (the ADIUVO trial, NCT00777244).

Response rates to single-agent mitotane in metastasized ACC are between 13 and 31 %. Responses are mostly partial and generally short-lived [65]. However these were early studies, mitotane doses were suboptimal, and response evaluations were not up to date. Median survival was less than 1 year. The main benefit of mitotane in patients with advanced disease is reduction in hypercortisolism symptoms. Mitotane is almost always administered in combination with cytotoxic chemotherapy in metastatic disease given the higher response rates.

Side effects including anorexia, nausea, vomiting, and diarrhea are common and can limit adjuvant mitotane use as a long-term treatment. Also monitoring for the blood level of mitotane is essential for effective treatment. Mitotane treatment starts 1 g twice daily orally and the dose is escalated up to 10 g/day. Patients

metabolize mitotane to different degrees. Optimum dose of the drug can be safely and accurately delivered by monitoring the blood levels. Therefore monitoring of plasma levels of mitotane is required, and a target serum level between 14 and 20 mg/L should be achieved for obtaining optimal response and decreased toxic side effects [66].

Use of mitotane routinely induces atrophy and/or steroidogenic inhibition of the normal adrenal glands, thereby necessitating replacement therapy for cortisol deficiency; the zona glomerulosa is more resistant to the adrenolytic effect of mitotane, and aldosterone deficiency may occur after several months of therapy. Monitoring of blood sodium, potassium, creatinine, and 24-h urinary free cortisol levels is mandatory to assess adrenal insufficiency. Higher doses than the routine maintenance can be needed to avoid adrenal insufficiency. If signs or symptoms of mineralocorticoid deficiency (i.e., postural hypotension, hyperkalemia, etc.) develop, fludrocortisone should be added. Patients should also be monitored for hypogonadism and hypothyroidism. The most common side effects are fatigue, nausea, vomiting, and anorexia, but skin rash, diarrhea, lethargy, sedation, confusion, dizziness, ataxia, gynecomastia, arthralgias, leukopenia, prolonged bleeding time, hematuria, and reversible growth arrest in children also occur. Mitotane has significant drug interactions and can reduce efficacy of some calcium channel antagonists, opioids, benzodiazepines, macrolide-type antibiotics, and many other drugs [67].

There is no evidence for the role of cytotoxic chemotherapy in the adjuvant treatment of ACC. However, Fassnacht et al. from the German consortium suggest 3 cycles of 90 mg/m² cisplatin in addition to mitotane in patients with Ki67 >30 % and a large tumor thrombus in the vena cava [68].

23.9 Chemotherapy

Unfortunately recurrences are seen very often in ACC after complete surgical resection with reported rates of 21–91 %. Recurrences are generally treated with chemotherapy–mitotane combination. Response rates of ACC to various chemotherapy agents are reported to be between 10 and 40 %. Chemotherapeutic agents should be used in combination rather than monotherapy as ACCs usually express multidrug resistance gene MDR-1 and develop resistance to chemotherapeutic agents over time.

Regarding the data in the literature, combination of mitotane with etoposide, doxorubicin, and cisplatin (m-EDP) and combination of mitotane with streptozotocin [69, 70] are the two reasonable options for the management of patients with advanced ACC [71]. These two promising combinations were compared in the FIRM-ACT trial (which is still the only published randomized trial in ACC), results of which was published in 2013. A total of 304 patients were enrolled. Response rates were 23 % in the EDP-mitotane group versus 9 % in the strepto-zocin-mitotane group (p < 0.001). The first group had a 5-month progression-free survival compared to 2 months for the streptozotocin-mitotane group (p < 0.001), and overall survival was similar (14.8 vs 12 months, p = 0.07) [72]. Thus, evidence-based first-line treatment of choice is m-EDP in advanced ACC. However, the following comments were made by the investigators of this trial; as median PFS was 5 months and overall survival was 14.8 months, the outcome was actually poor. M-EDP regimen had similar activity in the second-line treatment as it was in the first line in previous studies. Therefore, patients with presumably less aggressive disease (slow tumor growth, long disease-free interval after initial surgery) might receive mitotane monotherapy in the first line followed by combination chemotherapy upon progression. Second, this patient group might also be good candidates for up-front experimental therapies as efficacy of several drugs is diminished once mitotane is used due to increased drug metabolism [68].

Patients receiving mitotane with or without chemotherapy should be assessed at 2-month intervals for tumor progression. Patients who show tumor regression or stable disease should be considered for surgical resection or continuation of therapy. Patients with progressive disease should consider other chemotherapy regimens or be enrolled in a clinical trial. There are currently no established second- or third-line chemotherapy regimens for systemic disease. However, there are phase II trials of gemcitabine plus capecitabine, and this combination has shown response rates as high as 46 %. Treated patients had stable disease for more than 4 months. This combination might represent a promising second-/third-line regimen [73].

Patients should be considered for clinical trials if they have progressive disease with conventional treatment.

23.10 Radiotherapy

Radiotherapy is not routinely used in the treatment of ACC. Formerly ACC was considered radioresistant. However, recent retrospective data showed efficacy of RT both in adjuvant and advanced setting, although no prospective randomized trials exist. Older radiotherapy techniques had higher toxicity because of the proximity of the adrenal bed to radiosensitive organs such as the kidney, liver, spinal cord, and small bowel [74]. Conformal radiotherapy techniques resulted in better efficacy and less toxicity; nevertheless optimal dose delivery may not always be possible in every patient depending on anatomic extension of the tumor.

Adjuvant radiotherapy to tumor bed after surgical excision is a controversial issue in ACC. Fassnacht et al. reported outcomes of 14 patients from the German ACC registry who received adjuvant radiotherapy to the tumor bed with a matched control group of 14 patients who did not. Local recurrence was significantly lower in the radiotherapy group, 14 % compared to 79 % in the control group. Disease-free and overall survival, however, were not significantly different [75]. Sabolch et al. reported 4.7 times higher risk of local recurrence in patients with ACC who did not receive adjuvant RT, again with no difference in DFS or OS [76] compared to those who did. On the other hand, a recent report from MD Anderson Cancer Center showed no benefit of adjuvant radiotherapy compared with surgery alone

[77]; however radiotherapy indications were not uniform, and RT was applied in various community centers in this study.

Guidelines proposed by the German ACC consortium recommend adjuvant radiotherapy within 3 months of surgery for patients with microscopically involved or indeterminate resection margins and stage III disease regardless of resection status. In addition, radiotherapy should be considered for tumors greater than 8 cm, with a Ki-67 Index >10 % or invasion of adjacent vasculature [48].

In patients with locally advanced disease not amenable to surgical resection, definitive radiotherapy represents an applicable option [76]. Radiotherapy has been shown to effectively palliate symptomatic bone, brain, and inferior vena cava disease [48, 76, 78].

In conclusion, adjuvant RT in high-risk patients seems to reduce local recurrence rate without any improvement in DFS or OS. Definitive radiotherapy is an option in inoperable cases. Palliative radiotherapy may be used for symptomatic tumoral lesions.

23.11 Radiofrequency Ablation

Percutaneous image-guided radiofrequency ablation (RFA) is a minimally invasive and reasonable method for unresectable localized disease. Previous studies have shown that RFA can produce local control of primary ACC particularly for tumors less than 50 mm in size and is anatomically suitable. Among 8 patients with 15 ACC primary or recurrences, RFA resulted in decrease in tumor size or loss of enhancement on imaging in 53 % of patients. Smaller tumors had better response (<50 mm), with up to 67 % demonstrating complete ablation [79]. RFA, alone or in combination with surgical resection, may allow for better disease control in local and isolated systemic recurrences.

RFA is not an effective method of treatment in tumors near blood vessels as the vessels act as a "coolant" while RF ablation. Bleeding, infection, and injury to adjacent organs can occur. With advancing technology and growing experience, RFA has the potential to have a role in treatment options of recurrent and/or unresectable ACC in selected patients [78, 80].

23.12 Targeted Therapies

The results of studies with targeted therapies including antiangiogenic drugs, multityrosine kinase inhibitors, and epidermal growth factor receptor inhibitors are largely disappointing. Epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) is highly expressed in ACC; however the combination of erlotinib and gemcitabine in salvage treatment showed limited activity with low response rates [81]. Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) is upregulated in ACC tumor tissue, but bevacizumab plus capecitabine also failed to show any benefit [82]. Although there are case reports of sustained clinical response with antiangiogenic drugs sunitinib or sorafenib, clinical trials yielded disappointing results [83, 84]. Inefficacy of tyrosine kinase inhibitors in ACC may be secondary to significant interaction with mitotane, given the very long half-life of mitotane. Therefore, clinical trials using these drugs in first-line treatment (before mitotane) should be designed to overcome drug interaction.

Insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor (IGF-1R) is overexpressed commonly in ACC. A study of the oral tyrosine kinase inhibitor (OSI-906) which targets IGF-1R has shown promising results in phase I, with stabilization of disease seen in five out of 16 patients [85]. An international phase III trial of OSI-906 in patients with ACC has been recently completed and results are awaited (NCT00924989). mTOR is a downstream signaling node for a number of receptor tyrosine kinases including IGF-1R [86]; Fraenkel et al. studied an mTOR inhibitor, everolimus, as a single agent in salvage treatment of ACC, but there was no response. Inhibition of mTOR alone possibly leads to compensatory activation of other pathways, and this may limit the use of everolimus as a single agent for the treatment of ACC [87]. In a recent phase I trial, combination of everolimus with an IGF-1R antibody cixutumumab resulted in disease stabilization in 42 % of the patients for a minimum of 6 months [88]. This type of combinations warrants further clinical research.

Steroidogenic factor 1 is a nuclear receptor expressed virtually by all ACCs, and in vitro studies using inverse agonists of this receptor showed activity against ACC cell lines [89]. Heat shock protein inhibitors and proteosome inhibitors are other agents with promising in vitro study results [68].

Conclusion

In recent years, major progress has been made in understanding the pathogenesis and treatment of ACC. Molecular profiling studies in patients with ACC showed that ACC is a very heterogeneous disease. Exon-sequencing studies identified recurrent alterations in known driver genes and in genes not previously reported in ACC [23]. Chemotherapy does not seem to work but still needs further trials mototan treatment adjuvantly and in metastatic disease shows promising results. However, overall prognosis is still poor. International collaboration is needed to design translational research and prospective clinical trials. New insights into the pathogenesis of ACC and identification of potential "driver" pathways will highlight the opportunity for more personalized treatment strategies in the future.

References

- Abecassis M, McLoughlin MJ, Langer B, Kudlow JE (1985) Serendipitous adrenal masses: prevalence, significance, and management. Am J Surg 149(6):783–788
- Bovio S, Cataldi A, Reimondo G et al (2006) Prevalence of adrenal incidentaloma in a contemporary computerized tomography series. J Endocrinol Invest 29(4):298–302
- Vassilopoulou-Sellin R, Schultz PN (2001) Adrenocortical carcinoma. Clinical outcome at the end of the 20th century. Cancer 92(5):1113–1121
- Fassnacht M, Libe R, Kroiss M, Allolio B (2011) Adrenocortical carcinoma: a clinician's update. Nat Rev Endocrinol 7(6):323–335
- Allolio B, Fassnacht M (2006) Clinical review: adrenocortical carcinoma: clinical update. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 91(6):2027–2037

- 6. Bilimoria KY, Shen WT, Elaraj D et al (2008) Adrenocortical carcinoma in the United States: treatment utilization and prognostic factors. Cancer 113(11):3130–3136
- Crucitti F, Bellantone R, Ferrante A, Boscherini M, Crucitti P (1996) The Italian Registry for Adrenal Cortical Carcinoma: analysis of a multi-institutional series of 129 patients. The ACC Italian Registry Study Group. Surgery 119(2):161–170
- Icard P, Goudet P, Charpenay C et al (2001) Adrenocortical carcinomas: surgical trends and results of a 253-patient series from the French Association of Endocrine Surgeons study group. World J Surg 25(7):891–897
- Kasperlik-Zaluska AA, Migdalska BM, Zgliczynski S, Makowska AM (1995) Adrenocortical carcinoma. A clinical study and treatment results of 52 patients. Cancer 75(10):2587–2591
- Busaidy NL, Habra MA, Sellin RV (2011) Endocrine malignancies. In: Kantarjian Hahop M, Wolf Robert A, Charles Koller A (eds) Manual of medical oncology, 2nd edn. MCGraw Hill, New York, USA, pp 1039–1076
- Kasperlik-Zeluska AA, Roslonowska E, Slowinska-Srzednicka J et al (1997) Incidentally discovered adrenal mass (incidentaloma): investigation and management of 208 patients. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 46(1):29–37
- Henley DJ, van Heerden JA, Grant CS, Carney JA, Carpenter PC (1983) Adrenal cortical carcinoma–a continuing challenge. Surgery 94(6):926–931
- Luton JP, Cerdas S, Billaud L et al (1990) Clinical features of adrenocortical carcinoma, prognostic factors, and the effect of mitotane therapy. N Engl J Med 322(17):1195–1201
- Herrmann LJ, Heinze B, Fassnacht M et al (2012) TP53 germline mutations in adult patients with adrenocortical carcinoma. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 97(3):E476–E485
- Raymond VM, Else T, Everett JN, Long JM, Gruber SB, Hammer GD (2013) Prevalence of germline TP53 mutations in a prospective series of unselected patients with adrenocortical carcinoma. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 98(1):E119–E125
- Gicquel C, Bertagna X, Gaston V et al (2001) Molecular markers and long-term recurrences in a large cohort of patients with sporadic adrenocortical tumors. Cancer Res 61(18):6762–6767
- Gicquel C, Bertagna X, Schneid H et al (1994) Rearrangements at the 11p15 locus and overexpression of insulin-like growth factor-II gene in sporadic adrenocortical tumors. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 78(6):1444–1453
- 18. de Fraipont F, El Atifi M, Cherradi N et al (2005) Gene expression profiling of human adrenocortical tumors using complementary deoxyribonucleic acid microarrays identifies several candidate genes as markers of malignancy. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 90(3):1819–1829
- Giordano TJ, Thomas DG, Kuick R et al (2003) Distinct transcriptional profiles of adrenocortical tumors uncovered by DNA microarray analysis. Am J Pathol 162(2):521–531
- Slater EP, Diehl SM, Langer P et al (2006) Analysis by cDNA microarrays of gene expression patterns of human adrenocortical tumors. Eur J Endocrinol 154(4):587–598
- Boulle N, Logie A, Gicquel C, Perin L, Le Bouc Y (1998) Increased levels of insulin-like growth factor II (IGF-II) and IGF-binding protein-2 are associated with malignancy in sporadic adrenocortical tumors. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 83(5):1713–1720
- 22. Gaujoux S, Grabar S, Fassnacht M et al (2011) β-catenin activation is associated with specific clinical and pathologic characteristics and a poor outcome in adrenocortical carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res 17(2):328–336
- Assie G, Letouze E, Fassnacht M et al (2014) Integrated genomic characterization of adrenocortical carcinoma. Nat Genet 46(6):607–612
- 24. Gupta D, Shidham V, Holden J, Layfield L (2001) Value of topoisomerase II alpha, MIB-1, p53, E-cadherin, retinoblastoma gene protein product, and HER-2/neu immunohistochemical expression for the prediction of biologic behavior in adrenocortical neoplasms. Appl Immunohistochem Mol Morphol 9(3):215–221
- 25. Schmitt A, Saremaslani P, Schmid S et al (2006) IGFII and MIB1 immunohistochemistry is helpful for the differentiation of benign from malignant adrenocortical tumours. Histopathology 49(3):298–307
- 26. Stojadinovic A, Brennan MF, Hoos A et al (2003) Adrenocortical adenoma and carcinoma: histopathological and molecular comparative analysis. Mod Pathol 16(8):742–751

- 27. Volante M, Sperone P, Bollito E et al (2006) Matrix metalloproteinase type 2 expression in malignant adrenocortical tumors: diagnostic and prognostic significance in a series of 50 adrenocortical carcinomas. Mod Pathol 19(12):1563–1569
- Kjellman M, Enberg U, Hoog A et al (1999) Gelatinase A and membrane-type 1 matrix metalloproteinase mRNA: expressed in adrenocortical cancers but not in adenomas. World J Surg 23(3):237–242
- 29. Kolomecki K, Stepien H, Bartos M, Kuzdak K (2001) Usefulness of VEGF, MMP-2, MMP-3 and TIMP-2 serum level evaluation in patients with adrenal tumours. Endocr Regul 35(1):9–16
- Fassnacht M, Allolio B (2009) Clinical management of adrenocortical carcinoma. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab 23(2):273–289
- Arlt W, Biehl M, Taylor AE et al (2011) Urine steroid metabolomics as a biomarker tool for detecting malignancy in adrenal tumors. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 96(12):3775–3784
- 32. Dackiw AP, Lee JE, Gagel RF, Evans DB (2001) Adrenal cortical carcinoma. World J Surg 25(7):914–926
- Caoili EM, Korobkin M, Francis IR, Cohan RH, Dunnick NR (2000) Delayed enhanced CT of lipid-poor adrenal adenomas. AJR Am J Roentgenol 175(5):1411–1415
- 34. Lee MJ, Hahn PF, Papanicolaou N et al (1991) Benign and malignant adrenal masses: CT distinction with attenuation coefficients, size, and observer analysis. Radiology 179(2): 415–418
- Pena CS, Boland GW, Hahn PF, Lee MJ, Mueller PR (2000) Characterization of indeterminate (lipid-poor) adrenal masses: use of washout characteristics at contrast-enhanced CT. Radiology 217(3):798–802
- 36. Boland GW, Dwamena BA, Jagtiani Sangwaiya M et al (2011) Characterization of adrenal masses by using FDG PET: a systematic review and meta-analysis of diagnostic test performance. Radiology 259(1):117–126
- Boland GW, Goldberg MA, Lee MJ et al (1995) Indeterminate adrenal mass in patients with cancer: evaluation at PET with 2-[F-18]-fluoro-2-deoxy-D-glucose. Radiology 194(1): 131–134
- Erasmus JJ, Patz EF Jr, McAdams HP et al (1997) Evaluation of adrenal masses in patients with bronchogenic carcinoma using 18F-fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography. AJR Am J Roentgenol 168(5):1357–1360
- Cote R, Suster S, Weiss L, Weidner N (eds) (2002) Modern surgical pathology (2 volume set). W B Saunders, London
- 40. Soon PS, Gill AJ, Benn DE et al (2009) Microarray gene expression and immunohistochemistry analyses of adrenocortical tumors identify IGF2 and Ki-67 as useful in differentiating carcinomas from adenomas. Endocr Relat Cancer 16(2):573–583
- Aubert S, Wacrenier A, Leroy X et al (2002) Weiss system revisited: a clinicopathologic and immunohistochemical study of 49 adrenocortical tumors. Am J Surg Pathol 26(12): 1612–1619
- 42. Weiss LM (1984) Comparative histologic study of 43 metastasizing and non-metastasizing adrenocortical tumors. Am J Surg Pathol 8(3):163–169
- 43. Macfarlane DA (1958) Cancer of the adrenal cortex; the natural history, prognosis and treatment in a study of fifty-five cases. Ann R Coll Surg Engl 23(3):155–186
- 44. Sullivan M, Boileau M, Hodges CV (1978) Adrenal cortical carcinoma. J Urol 120(6): 660–665
- 45. Lee JE, Berger DH, el-Naggar AK et al (1995) Surgical management, DNA content, and patient survival in adrenal cortical carcinoma. Surgery 118(6):1090–1098
- 46. Edge SB, Byrd DR, Compton CC et al (eds) (2010) In adrenal. AJCC cancer staging manual, 7th edn. Springer, New York, pp 515–520
- 47. Fassnacht M, Johanssen S, Quinkler M et al (2009) Limited prognostic value of the 2004 International Union Against Cancer staging classification for adrenocortical carcinoma: proposal for a Revised TNM Classification. Cancer 115(2):243–250

- Polat B, Fassnacht M, Pfreundner L et al (2009) Radiotherapy in adrenocortical carcinoma. Cancer 115(13):2816–2823
- Doppman JL, Reinig JW, Dwyer AJ et al (1987) Differentiation of adrenal masses by magnetic resonance imaging. Surgery 102(6):1018–1026
- Kopf D, Goretzki PE, Lehnert H (2001) Clinical management of malignant adrenal tumors. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 127(3):143–155
- Shen WT, Sturgeon C, Duh QY (2005) From incidentaloma to adrenocortical carcinoma: the surgical management of adrenal tumors. J Surg Oncol 89(3):186–192
- 52. Neuroendocrine tumors. NCCN Guidelines Version 2.2014. Accessed 22 Aug 22 2014
- Iino K, Oki Y, Sasano H (2000) A case of adrenocortical carcinoma associated with recurrence after laparoscopic surgery. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 53(2):243–248
- Schlamp A, Hallfeldt K, Mueller-Lisse U, Pfluger T, Reincke M (2007) Recurrent adrenocortical carcinoma after laparoscopic resection. Nat Clin Pract Endocrinol Metab 3(2):191–195; quiz 1 p following 5
- 55. Ushiyama T, Suzuki K, Kageyama S, Fujita K, Oki Y, Yoshimi T (1997) A case of Cushing's syndrome due to adrenocortical carcinoma with recurrence 19 months after laparoscopic adrenalectomy. J Urol 157(6):2239
- Gonzalez RJ, Shapiro S, Sarlis N et al (2005) Laparoscopic resection of adrenal cortical carcinoma: a cautionary note. Surgery 138(6):1078–1085; discussion 85–86
- Miller BS, Ammori JB, Gauger PG, Broome JT, Hammer GD, Doherty GM (2010) Laparoscopic resection is inappropriate in patients with known or suspected adrenocortical carcinoma. World J Surg 34(6):1380–1385
- Brix D, Allolio B, Fenske W et al (2010) Laparoscopic versus open adrenalectomy for adrenocortical carcinoma: surgical and oncologic outcome in 152 patients. Eur Urol 58(4):609–615
- Terzolo M, Berruti A (2008) Adjunctive treatment of adrenocortical carcinoma. Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes 15(3):221–226
- 60. Schulick RD, Brennan MF (1999) Long-term survival after complete resection and repeat resection in patients with adrenocortical carcinoma. Ann Surg Oncol 6(8):719–726
- van Ditzhuijsen CI, van de Weijer R, Haak HR (2007) Adrenocortical carcinoma. Neth J Med 65(2):55–60
- Terzolo M, Angeli A, Fassnacht M et al (2007) Adjuvant mitotane treatment for adrenocortical carcinoma. N Engl J Med 356(23):2372–2380
- Berruti A, Fassnacht M, Baudin E et al (2010) Adjuvant therapy in patients with adrenocortical carcinoma: a position of an international panel. J Clin Oncol 28(23):e401–e402; author reply e3
- Bourdeau I, MacKenzie-Feder J, Lacroix A (2013) Recent advances in adrenocortical carcinoma in adults. Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes 20(3):192–197
- Zini L, Porpiglia F, Fassnacht M (2011) Contemporary management of adrenocortical carcinoma. Eur Urol 60(5):1055–1065
- 66. Baudin E, Pellegriti G, Bonnay M et al (2001) Impact of monitoring plasma 1,1-dichlorodiphenildichloroethane (o, p'DDD) levels on the treatment of patients with adrenocortical carcinoma. Cancer 92(6):1385–1392
- Kroiss M, Quinkler M, Lutz WK, Allolio B, Fassnacht M (2011) Drug interactions with mitotane by induction of CYP3A4 metabolism in the clinical management of adrenocortical carcinoma. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 75(5):585–591
- 68. Ronchi CL, Kroiss M, Sbiera S, Deutschbein T, Fassnacht M (2014) EJE prize 2014, current and evolving treatment options in adrenocortical carcinoma: where do we stand and where do we want to go? Eur J Endocrinol 171(1):R1–R11
- 69. Berruti A, Terzolo M, Sperone P et al (2005) Etoposide, doxorubicin and cisplatin plus mitotane in the treatment of advanced adrenocortical carcinoma: a large prospective phase II trial. Endocr Relat Cancer 12(3):657–666
- 70. Khan TS, Imam H, Juhlin C et al (2000) Streptozocin and o, p'DDD in the treatment of adrenocortical cancer patients: long-term survival in its adjuvant use. Ann Oncol 11(10): 1281–1287

- Schteingart DE, Doherty GM, Gauger PG et al (2005) Management of patients with adrenal cancer: recommendations of an international consensus conference. Endocr Relat Cancer 12(3):667–680
- Fassnacht M, Terzolo M, Allolio B et al (2012) Combination chemotherapy in advanced adrenocortical carcinoma. N Engl J Med 366(23):2189–2197
- 73. Sperone P, Ferrero A, Daffara F et al (2010) Gemcitabine plus metronomic 5-fluorouracil or capecitabine as a second-/third-line chemotherapy in advanced adrenocortical carcinoma: a multicenter phase II study. Endocr Relat Cancer 17(2):445–453
- Lebastchi AH, Kunstman JW, Carling T (2012) Adrenocortical carcinoma: current therapeutic state-of-the-art. J Oncol 2012:234726
- Fassnacht M, Hahner S, Polat B et al (2006) Efficacy of adjuvant radiotherapy of the tumor bed on local recurrence of adrenocortical carcinoma. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 91(11): 4501–4504
- 76. Sabolch A, Feng M, Griffith K, Hammer G, Doherty G, Ben-Josef E (2011) Adjuvant and definitive radiotherapy for adrenocortical carcinoma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 80(5): 1477–1484
- 77. Habra MA, Ejaz S, Feng L et al (2013) A retrospective cohort analysis of the efficacy of adjuvant radiotherapy after primary surgical resection in patients with adrenocortical carcinoma. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 98(1):192–197
- Glover AR, Ip JC, Zhao JT, Soon PS, Robinson BG, Sidhu SB (2013) Current management options for recurrent adrenocortical carcinoma. Onco Targets Ther 6:635–643
- Wood BJ, Abraham J, Hvizda JL, Alexander HR, Fojo T (2003) Radiofrequency ablation of adrenal tumors and adrenocortical carcinoma metastases. Cancer 97(3):554–560
- Datrice NM, Langan RC, Ripley RT et al (2012) Operative management for recurrent and metastatic adrenocortical carcinoma. J Surg Oncol 105(7):709–713
- Quinkler M, Hahner S, Wortmann S et al (2008) Treatment of advanced adrenocortical carcinoma with erlotinib plus gemcitabine. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 93(6):2057–2062
- Wortmann S, Quinkler M, Ritter C et al (2010) Bevacizumab plus capecitabine as a salvage therapy in advanced adrenocortical carcinoma. Eur J Endocrinol 162(2):349–356
- Berruti A, Sperone P, Ferrero A et al (2012) Phase II study of weekly paclitaxel and sorafenib as second/third-line therapy in patients with adrenocortical carcinoma. Eur J Endocrinol 166(3):451–458
- 84. Kroiss M, Quinkler M, Johanssen S et al (2012) Sunitinib in refractory adrenocortical carcinoma: a phase II, single-arm, open-label trial. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 97(10): 3495–3503
- 85. Carden CP, Frentzas S, Langham M (2009) Preliminary activity in adrenocortical tumor (ACC) in phase I dose escalation study of intermittent oral dosing of OSI-906, a small-molecule insulin-like growth factor-1 receptor (IGF-1R) tyrosine kinase inhibitor in patients with advanced solid tumors. J Clin Oncol 27(15S):abstr 3544
- Memmott RM, Dennis PA (2009) Akt-dependent and -independent mechanisms of mTOR regulation in cancer. Cell Signal 21(5):656–664
- Fraenkel M, Gueorguiev M, Barak D, Salmon A, Grossman AB, Gross DJ (2013) Everolimus therapy for progressive adrenocortical cancer. Endocrine 44(1):187–192
- Naing A, Lorusso P, Fu S et al (2013) Insulin growth factor receptor (IGF-1R) antibody cixutumumab combined with the mTOR inhibitor temsirolimus in patients with metastatic adrenocortical carcinoma. Br J Cancer 108(4):826–830
- Doghman M, Cazareth J, Douguet D, Madoux F, Hodder P, Lalli E (2009) Inhibition of adrenocortical carcinoma cell proliferation by steroidogenic factor-1 inverse agonists. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 94(6):2178–2183
- Edge SB, Byrd DR, Compton CC et al (2010) AJCC Cancer Staging Manual: Adrenal. 7th ed. New York, NY: Springer, 2010, pp. 515–520

Pheochromocytoma and Paraganglioma

24

Eleonora P. Corssmit and Leonie T. van Hulsteijn

24.1 The Paraganglion System

Paragangliomas (PGLs) are rare vascular, neuroendocrine tumors of paraganglia, cell clusters originating from the neural crest that have co-migrated with the autonomic nervous system [1]. PGLs derive from either sympathetic tissue in adrenal and extra-adrenal locations (the latter known as sympathetic PGLs or sPGLs) or parasympathetic tissue of the head and neck (HNPGL, formerly called glomus tumors) [1]. Approximately 70–80 % of PGLs arise from the adrenal medulla and are referred to as pheochromocytoma (PCC) [1, 2]. PGLs can be found from the skull base to the sacrum, with a predilection for the middle ear (tympanic PGL), the dome of the internal jugular vein (jugular PGL), the bifurcation of the common carotid arteries (carotid body PGL), along the vagus nerve (vagal PGL), in the mediastinum (from the aortopulmonary body or the thoracic sympathetic chain), in the adrenal medulla, and in the abdominal and pelvic para-aortic regions, including the organ of Zuckerkandl.

24.2 Pathology

PGLs are usually well demarcated and often encapsulated. PGLs are characterized by their architecture, the tumor cells being arranged in distinctive cell balls, or Zellballen. These cell balls are separated by a fibrovascular stroma. The Zellballen are composed of clusters of chief cells that are surrounded by supportive sustentacular cells at the periphery. The chief cells, which are neuroendocrine cells, express neuron-specific enolase, serotonin, and chromogranin, and the sustentacular cells

Department of Endocrinology, Leiden University Medical Center, P.O. Box 9600, Leiden 2300 RC, The Netherlands e-mail: E.P.M.van_der_Kleij-Corssmit@lumc.nl; L.T.van_Hulsteijn@lumc.nl

Diagnosis and Management, DOI 10.1007/978-3-662-45215-8_24

E. P. Corssmit (🖂) • L. T. van Hulsteijn

[©] Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

S. Yalcin, K. Öberg (eds.), Neuroendocrine Tumours:

express S-100 protein [3]. Membrane-bound electron-dense neurosecretory granules may be seen on electron microscopy [4, 5]. These neurosecretory granules vary in size, configuration, and electron density of their cores [5]. PGLs originate from chief cells. The sustentacular cells are spindled and devoid of granules. The histologic features of malignant PGLs are basically identical to those of benign tumors, but may exhibit the following features: central necrosis of Zellballen, vascular and lymphatic invasion, and the presence of mitotic spindles [6]. Because there are no accepted pathological or immunohistochemical markers that distinguish malignant from benign tumors, malignancy is only diagnosed when metastasis to non-neuroendocrine tissue is demonstrated [7, 8]. From a prognostic point of view, relative risk factors for malignancy are PGLs larger than 5 cm with necrotic areas, extra-adrenal localization, the presence of an *SDHB* mutation [9], a PASS score (pheochromocytoma of the adrenal gland scale score) >6 [10] and a Ki-67 index >3 % [11].

24.3 Clinical Presentation

PGLs are rare tumors. Their prevalence is unknown but has been estimated to lie between 1:6,500 and 1:2,500 in the United States [12]. Their prevalence is higher in autopsy series (1:2,000), suggesting that many tumors remain undiagnosed [13]. The annual incidence has been reported to be two to ten cases per million [14]. The tumors may occur in all ages but have the highest incidence between 40 and 50 years, with an approximately equal sex distribution [15, 16]. From all PGLs, PCCs have the highest relative incidence. In 340 unselected PGL patients, about 73 % of the patients had PCC, 9 % had sPGL, and 20 % had HNPGL [16].

HNPGLs usually grow slowly; the majority has a tumor doubling time of more than 10 years [17]. Because of this slow growth rate, HNPGLs may remain clinically silent for years. Although these tumors are usually benign and only a minority produces catecholamines [18], their location in the close proximity of nerves and vascular structures often results in considerable morbidity due to compression or infiltration of the adjacent structures, causing symptoms like hearing loss, tinnitus, dysphagia, and cranial nerve palsy. Carotid body tumors are the most common HNPGL, usually presenting as a painless cervical mass [19]. Large compressive tumors may result in cranial nerve paralysis. Vagal body tumors present as painless neck masses, located behind the angle of the mandible, occasionally accompanied by dysphagia and hoarseness [20]. Tympanic and jugular foramen tumors most commonly present as a vascular middle ear mass causing pulsatile tinnitus and hearing loss. Difficulties in speech, swallowing, and airway function may be the result of dysfunction of cranial nerves traversing the jugular foramen [21].

The majority of PCCs and sPGLs produce catecholamines, causing symptoms of catecholamine excess. The clinical presentation is highly variable due to different profiles of catecholamines secreted, secretion of different other vasoactive peptides (e.g., neuropeptide Y, adrenomedullin, atrial natriuretic peptide), presentation of symptoms related to tumor mass or other organ involvement in syndromic forms, and desensitization of adrenoreceptors (most likely due to long-term exposure to

high circulating catecholamine levels) [22]. Hypertension, continuous or paroxysmal, is the most common feature of PCCs and sPGLs. Hypertensive crises are frequently associated with the classic triad of severe headache, palpitations, and diaphoresis. Paroxysms can last minutes to hours, vary in interval, and occur spontaneously or be triggered by direct stimulation of the tumor (e.g., bladder localization), physical activity, diagnostic procedures, or certain drugs (e.g., metoclopramide) [23]. Other symptoms may include anxiety, nausea, vomiting, dyspnea, and weakness [24, 25]. In addition, hyperglycemia, resulting from metabolic actions of catecholamines, may be the presenting symptom, which could lead to delayed diagnosis [26]. Morbidity and mortality in PCC/sPGL patients are predominantly the result of cardiovascular complications (e.g., sudden death, myocardial infarction, heart failure, and cerebrovascular accidents). In addition, malignant PGLs may also present with systemic symptoms such as weight loss or clinical manifestations related to metastatic spread such as pain in bones.

24.4 Spectrum of Hereditary Syndromes

PGLs can occur either sporadically or hereditary, as part of a familial syndrome [27]. The major features related to predisposition for inherited disease are familial antecedents of the disease, multiple primary tumors in the same individual, and early age of onset [28]. Sporadic PGLs are usually diagnosed in patients older than 40-50 years, whereas hereditary forms are diagnosed in younger patients. Until 2000, only 10 % of PGLs were associated with hereditary syndromes: von Hippel-Lindau disease (VHL), multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2 (MEN2), and neurofibromatosis type 1 (NF1), resulting from, respectively, a germ-line mutation in tumor suppressor gene VHL [29], proto-oncogene RET [30, 31], and tumor suppressor gene NF1 [32]. PGLs occurring in these syndromes are predominantly (bilateral) PCCs. In the last years it has been demonstrated that about 30 % of the apparently sporadic PGLs are due to a germ-line mutation in one of 10 susceptibility genes [33]. In addition to the abovementioned mutations in VHL, RET, and NF1, mutations have been found in one of the four subunits (A, B, C, and D) of the succinate dehydrogenase gene (SDH) [34–37], SDHAF2, which is responsible for the flavination of the SDHA subunit [38], TMEM127 [39], and MAX [40]. Germ-line mutations in SDHA, SDHB, SDHC, SDHD, and SDHAF2 genes are responsible for the occurrence of syndromes named PGL5, PGL4, PGL3, PGL1, and PGL2, respectively. SDHA, C, D, and SDHAF2 mutations are associated with (multiple) HNPGL, SDHD and B with sPGLs, and TMEM127 and MAX with (bilateral) PCCs [41] (Table 24.1). SDHB mutations are generally associated with a higher malignancy rate than mutations in the other SDHx genes. Recent reviews and a meta-analysis of studies involving SDHB-mutated patients have documented that 17-31 % of their tumors were malignant [42, 43]. In addition, also MAX mutations have been associated with malignant tumors [40]. Besides abovementioned hereditary syndromes, a small fraction of PCC/PGLs is associated with other syndromes, including Carney triad, Carney-Stratakis syndrome, and multiple endocrine neoplasia type

| Syndrome | Gene | HNPGL | sPGL | PCC | Multiple PGL | Bilateral PCC | Malig- nancy risk | Parent of origin preference |
|----------|---------|----------------|------|-----|-----------------|------------------|----------------------|-----------------------------------|
| MEN2 | RET | Extremely rare | - | ++ | - | ++ | ± | - |
| VHL | VHL | Rare | + | ++ | + | ++ | + | - |
| NF1 | NF1 | - | - | + | - | - | + | - |
| PGL1 | SDHD | +++ | ++ | + | +++ | + | + | Paternal |
| PGL2 | SDHAF2 | +++ | - | | ++ | - | Not known | Paternal |
| PGL3 | SDHC | ++ | + | ± | + | - | ± | - |
| PGL4 | SDHB | ++ | +++ | ++ | ++ | + | ++ | - |
| PGL5 | SDHA | + | + | - | - | - | Not known | - |
| - | TMEM127 | ± | ± | +++ | ± | ++ | + | - |
| - | MAX | - | - | ++ | - | ++ | + | Paternal |

Table 24.1 Genotype-phenotype correlations in hereditary PCC/PGL

+, present; -, absent

HNPGL head and neck paraganglioma, *sPGL* sympathetic paraganglioma, *PCC* pheochromocytoma, *PGL* paraganglioma, *MEN2* multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2, *VHL* von Hippel-Lindau disease, *NF1* neurofibromatosis type 1, *PGL1*–5 familial paraganglioma syndrome type 1–5

1 (MEN1) [44, 45]. In addition, other tumors have been documented in *SDH* mutations, like gastrointestinal stromal tumors [46], renal cell carcinomas [47], and a growth hormone-producing pituitary adenoma [48]. Apart from *RET*, which is a proto-oncogene, all the other susceptibility genes for PCC/PGL are tumor suppressor genes. All familial PGL syndromes have an autosomal dominant mode of inheritance; interestingly, *SDHD*, *SDHAF2*, and *MAX* are characterized by paternal transmission only of the disease [41, 49–51]. This observation strongly suggests that these genes are subject to genetic imprinting, although the exact molecular mechanism remains unknown [51, 52].

24.5 Etiology

Transcriptomic studies have shown that sporadic as well as hereditary PGLs can be divided in two main clusters linked to two different signaling pathways [53]. Cluster 1 contains all *VHL* (cluster 1A)- and *SDHx* (cluster 1B)-related tumors and is characterized by activation of the hypoxia-angiogenesis pathway in normoxia [54]. Consistent with Knudson's two-hit hypothesis for tumorigenesis involving a tumor suppressor gene, a heterozygous germ-line mutation in an *SDHx* gene is usually associated with somatic loss of the nonmutant allele in the tumor, i.e., loss of heterozygosity, resulting in inactivation of SDH enzymatic activity. Inactivation of SDH has been shown to result in accumulation of succinate which acts as an inhibitor of prolyl hydroxylase (PHD) enzymatic activity. PHDs are enzymes that are

required for the degradation of hypoxia-induced factor (HIF). As a consequence, even in the presence of oxygen, HIF cannot be destroyed via proteasome-mediated degradation driven by VHL protein and is stabilized to induce angiogenesis and tumorigenesis [55–57]. The latter also happens in *VHL* mutations. Cluster 2 contains all *RET-*, *NF1-*, *TMEM127-*, and *MAX-*mutated tumors and is associated with abnormal activation of kinase-signaling pathways, such as RAS/RAF/MAPK and PI3K/AKT/mTOR, leading to abnormal cell growth and diminished apoptosis capacity [39, 40, 58–61]. Another theory interlinking the pathogenesis of different hereditary forms of PGL is based on data from Lee et al. and Schlisio et al., showing escape from apoptosis of sympathoadrenal progenitor cells at the end of the embryonic period in case of mutations in *RET*, *NF1*, *VHL*, and *SDH*, thereby bearing the potential to form PCC/PGL in later life [62, 63]. Abovementioned data have increased overall knowledge on molecular defects in PGLs and could be used for development of new effective molecular-targeted therapies.

24.6 Diagnosis

24.6.1 Biochemistry

Synthesis of catecholamines is primarily regulated by the cytoplasmic enzyme tyrosine hydroxylase (TH), which converts tyrosine to 3,4-dihydroxyphenylalanine (DOPA) (Fig. 24.1) [64]. Tissue expression of this enzyme is largely confined to dopaminergic and noradrenergic neurons of the central nervous system, sympathetic nerves, and chromaffin cells of the adrenal medulla and extramedullary paraganglia. The following step is the production of dopamine (DA) by decarboxylation of DOPA by L-amino acid decarboxylase. DA formed in cytoplasm is transported into vesicular storage granules and is converted to norepinephrine (NE) by dopamine β -hydroxylase (DBH). In adrenal medullary chromaffin cells, NE is metabolized to epinephrine (E) by the enzyme phenylethanolamine-N-methyltransferase (PNMT). E is then translocated into chromaffin granules, where the amine is stored awaiting release. Expression of PNMT in extra-adrenal PGLs is negligent, which explains the preferential production of NE by these tumors, compared to the production of both NE and E by PCCs [65].

Catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT) is a major player in catecholamine metabolism, catalyzing O-methylation of E to metanephrine, NE to normetanephrine, and DA to methoxytyramine.

The diagnosis of PCC/sPGL depends on the demonstration of excessive amounts of catecholamines (E, NE, DA) or their *O*-methylated metabolites metanephrine, normetanephrine, and methoxytyramine [66]. Since metanephrines have a longer half life and are produced continuously within tumor cells, whereas catecholamines are converted to metanephrines by the high methyltransferase activity of chromaffin tissue, measurement of plasma-free metanephrines and/or 24 h urinary excretion of fractionated metanephrines provides the best test with an excellent sensitivity of >96 % for detecting PCC/sPGL [67]. Since dietary constituents (especially caffeine and



nicotine) or medication (especially acetaminophen, antihypertensive, and tricyclic antidepressant medication) can interfere with the analysis of or impact on levels of catecholamines or its metabolites, urine and plasma samples can best be collected while abstaining from these substances and/or timely stopping or changing medication (calcium entry blockers are relatively safe), with plasma being sampled in the supine position, to minimize sympathoadrenal activation [23, 68, 69]. PGLs exhibit different biochemical properties as PCCs mainly produce E and NE, sPGLs NE, and malignant PCCs NE or DA due to a dedifferentiation of the enzymatic machinery [70, 71]. Chromogranin A (CgA) is secreted from neurosecretory vesicles, along with catecholamines [72]. Plasma CgA level is often elevated in functioning and nonfunctioning PGLs [73]. The levels correlate with tumor mass, making CgA a useful tumor marker [74]. Sensitivity for identifying PGLs is 83–89 %, false-positive results however occur often due to liver or kidney failure or use of proton pump inhibitors [75]. Plasma CgA levels are particularly elevated in patients with malignant PCC [76].

24.6.2 Anatomical and Functional Imaging

Once a biochemical diagnosis of sPGL has been established, the source of catecholamine excess is subsequently localized by anatomical and functional imaging studies. Anatomical imaging such as computed tomography (CT) or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) has an excellent sensitivity (77–98 % and 90–100 %, resp.) but lacks specificity (29–92 % and 50–100 %, resp.) for detecting PCC/ sPGL [77, 78]. On CT, PCCs usually present as homogenous tumors with soft tissue density of more than 10 Hounsfield units (HU) and uniform enhancement with contrast; however, larger PCCs may undergo hemorrhage and necrosis resulting in areas of low density [79]. On MRI, PCCs present as a mass absent of fat on chemical shift, with a high signal on T2 sequences as a result of their hypervascularity [80]. MR imaging with pre- and post-contrast-enhanced 3D time-of-flight (TOF) MR angiography sequence represents the most important imaging technique for evaluation and characterization of HNPGLs [81]. MR imaging of HNPGL provides more diagnostic information than does CT scanning, because of the better soft tissue contrasts as compared to CT [82]. MRI enables multiplanar imaging of tumor extension and vessel encasement. Ultrasound has a limited diagnostic yield but can be of use in imaging HNPGL [83].

Tumors detected by anatomical imaging can subsequently be identified as PGL by functional imaging agents that specifically target the catecholamine synthesis, storage, and secretion pathway of chromaffin cells. ¹²³I- or ¹³¹I-metaiodobenzylguanidine (MIBG) scintigraphy is the most widely used nuclear technique in first-line functional imaging of PGL (Fig. 24.2). MIBG has chemical similarities to NE and is taken up by the human NE transporter (hNET), which is expressed in most chromaffin cells and is normally responsible for catecholamine uptake [84]. The sensitivity (83–100 % for ¹²³I – and 77–90 % for ¹³¹I-MIBG, resp.) and specificity (95–100 % for both ¹²³I – and ¹³¹I-MIBG) are high for primary tumors; however, sensitivity of MIBG-scintigraphy for metastasis is relatively poor [77, 85, 86]. In patients with negative MIBG-scintigraphy, other tracers may be used.



Fig. 24.2 ¹²³I-MIBG scan of a patient with a left-adrenal pheochromocytoma



Fig. 24.3 ¹¹¹In-Octreoscan of a patient with diffuse metastatic sPGL of the bladder

PGLs have been found to express somatostatin receptor type 2, 3, and 5 on their cell surface. ¹¹¹In-pentetreotide scintigraphy is of limited value in detecting PCC but may be useful in detecting sPGL and MIBG-negative metastases (Fig. 24.3) [77]. In addition, it was shown to have an excellent sensitivity of 97 % and a specificity of 83 % to detect HNPGL [87–89]. Radiolabeled dopamine (DA) or dihydroxyphenylalanine (DOPA) may be used as tracers in positron emission tomography (PET) imaging. ¹⁸F-DOPA PET has been confirmed to be useful in the evaluation of sPGL and HNPGL (Fig. 24.4) [90]. For patients suspected for metastatic PGL, ¹⁸F-FDG or ¹⁸F-FDA PET is recommended in *SDHB* mutation carriers and ¹⁸F-DOPA or ^{18F-FDA} PET in non-*SDHB* mutation carriers [91, 92].

24.7 Treatment

The treatment of choice for PCCs and sPGLs is surgical resection, preferably laparoscopically [93], but in cases of large tumors with a high risk of malignancy, conventional laparotomy should be considered. In order to avoid surgical complications (hypertensive crisis, arrhythmias), all patients should be adequately pretreated with α -blockade (phenoxybenzamine, doxazosin), if necessary followed by β -blockade (propranolol, atenolol) and volume expansion as these patients are in a constant status of volume depletion [27]. This has been shown to reduce operative mortality



Fig. 24.4 ¹⁸F-DOPA PET scan of a patient with a right-adrenal pheochromocytoma

to below 1 % [94]. In patients with bilateral PCC, laparoscopic cortical sparing adrenalectomies must be considered to avoid chronic glucocorticoid deficiency [95]. Preoperative injection of ¹²³I –MIBG in combination with intraoperative use of a gamma probe may localize small lesions that are difficult to find [96, 97]. After resection of ¹²³I –MIBG positive malignant PGL, postoperative ¹³¹I –MIBG treatment for consolidation is recommended [98]. Postoperative follow-up with biannual measurement of blood pressure and annual plasma or urinary metanephrines and anatomical imaging should be performed.

Treatment for HNPGL must be considered in relation to tumor growth velocity, biological activity of the tumor, patient age and medical condition, tumor size and site, and potential for treatment-related morbidity [17]. Because most tumors grow slowly, a wait-and-scan policy is often advised [17]. However, although HNPGLs are indolent tumors, tumor growth may lead to serious morbidity and cranial nerve impairment due to their location in close proximity to important neurovascular structures. The main treatment modalities for HNPGL are surgery and radiotherapy. A multidisciplinary team approach is recommended for the choice of treatment of most HNPGL except for the very small and easy to resect tumors. With surgery, it is possible to remove the tumor without recurrence. Preoperatively, HNPGL should be tested for catecholamine excretion, and pharmacological preparation should be

started in positive cases [99]. The rate of surgical complications rises with the size of the tumor [100]. The most common complications are cranial nerve damage and vascular complications [101–104]. External beam radiotherapy and radiosurgery are alternative treatment modalities for HNPGL patients, resulting in local tumor control and sometimes regression by producing fibrosis and vascular sclerosis. These may be options in patients with large growing tumors, in which resection may result in considerable morbidity, or after incomplete resection of tumor with intra-cranial or skull base invasion [105].

24.8 Malignant Paragangliomas

Because there is no definite histological substrate for malignant PGL [106, 107], malignancy is defined by the presence of metastases: tumor spread in sites where chromaffin tissue is normally absent [7, 8]. Nearly 10 % of PCCs and 10-20 % of sPGLs are malignant [108], whereas HNPGLs are usually benign [109]. Malignant HNPGLs are confirmed by the presence of local metastases in cervical lymph nodes or systemic metastases, usually to bones, lung, and liver [106, 107, 109]. Malignant HNPGLs occur most frequently in patients with *SDHB* gene mutations [110–112]. In patients with SDHD gene mutations, malignant HNPGLs are rare [113, 114]. The primary management of patients with malignant HNPGLs should be directed toward complete surgical resection of the primary tumor and regional lymph nodes. Postoperative radiation may be beneficial in slowing the progression of residual disease [109]. Malignant PCC/sPGLs are especially associated with SDHB and MAX mutations [40, 43]. Treatment for malignant PCCs/sPGLs includes surgical debulking, pharmacological control of catecholamine-induced symptoms, external radiation, and systemic antineoplastic therapy. There is no effective treatment for malignant sPGLs. Although the usefulness of debulking of tumor has not been established, it may reduce catecholamine-related problems and improve response to further treatment. Up to 60 % of malignant PCC shows a positive MIBG uptake [115]. Treatment with therapeutic doses of ¹³¹I-MIBG resulted in an objective tumor response in 30 % of patients, stabilization of disease in 57 % of patients, and progression of disease in 13 % of patients [98, 116]. A reduction in catecholamine secretion has been seen in up to 45 % of patients. In MIBG-negative cases, patients can be treated with combination chemotherapy, of which combination of cyclophosphamide, vincristine, and dacarbazine, the so-called CVD protocol, is the most effective regimen, producing partial remissions and in single cases complete remissions, however no significant change in survival [117, 118]. In the last years, treatment with radiolabeled somatostatin analogues like ⁹⁰Y-DOTATOC and ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATOC has found its way in the battle against malignant PCC/PGL. Forrer et al. reported 13 stable diseases, 2 mixed responses, and 6 patients which remained progressive after treatment of 28 somatostatin receptor-positive patients with metastatic PCC/PGL with DOTATOC, without severe toxicity [119]. In addition, targeted therapies have been employed in patients with malignant PCC/PGL, of which especially sunitinib was promising in small series [120]. Conventional radiotherapy

may provide effective palliation in patients with painful bone metastases; arterial embolization, chemoembolization, or radiofrequency ablation may be useful in case of liver metastases [121, 122]. Catecholamine-induced signs and symptoms can be treated with catecholamine synthesis inhibitors (alpha-methyl-para-tyrosine) or α -receptor-blocking medication. Prognosis in confirmed malignant PGL is difficult to predict but is known to be poor secondary to local recurrence or widespread metastases. Five-year survival rates are only 20–50 %; the outcome is related to tumor size [123, 124].

24.9 Genetic Testing

To date, 10 susceptibility PGL genes have been identified, so that the initial 10 % of cases classified as genetically determined has increased to 30 %. The frequency is likely to increase, as there are still young patients (with a higher likelihood of a mutation) being classified as sporadic and patients from PGL families where no mutation is found in one of the 10 susceptibility genes. Genetic testing can be of great importance for patients and their relatives because it gives the opportunity for early diagnosis through periodical imaging studies in family members of the affected individual [125]. Early detection of a familial PGL allows early detection of potentially malignant PGLs, especially in SDHB and MAX mutation carriers, and early surgical treatment, reducing the complication rate of this operation [126, 127]. Genetic testing algorithms can be made to reduce time and costs. The clinical and biochemical phenotype and SDHB and SDHA immunohistochemistry of the tumor tissue [128, 129] may be valuable tools to guide the order of genetic testing [43]. Mutation-positive carriers need regular clinical follow-up [28, 113], except for the children of female mutation carriers of SDHD, SDHAF2, and MAX, because of maternal imprinting. Although there is currently no international consensus regarding follow-up programs, annual biochemical testing, e.g., plasma-free metanephrines and/or urine fractionated metanephrines, and every 1-2 years radiological imaging of neck and/or thorax/abdomen/pelvis, depending on the mutation, with additional functional imaging in selected cases can be recommended as a surveillance program [113, 130].

References

- 1. De Lellis RA, Lloyd RV, Heitz PU, Eng C (2004) Pathology and genetics of tumours of endocrine organs, World Health Organization Classification of Tumours. IARC Press, Lyon
- Pacak K, Keiser H, Eisenhofer G (2005) Pheochromocytoma. In: DeGroot LS, Jameson JL (eds) Textbook of endocrinology, 5th edn. Elsevier Saunders Inc, Philadelphia, pp 2501–2534
- Kliewer KE, Wen DR, Cancilla PA, Cochran AJ (1989) Paragangliomas: assessment of prognosis by histologic, immunohistochemical, and ultrastructural techniques. Hum Pathol 20:29–39
- 4. Sennaroglu L, Sungur A (2002) Histopathology of paragangliomas. Otol Neurotol 23:104-105
- 5. Warren WH, Lee I, Gould VE, Memoli VA, Jao W (1985) Paragangliomas of the head and neck: ultrastructural and immunohistochemical analysis. Ultrastruct Pathol 8:333–343

- Lack EE, Cubilla AL, Woodruff JM (1979) Paragangliomas of the head and neck region. A pathologic study of tumors from 71 patients. Hum Pathol 10:191–218
- Granger JK, Houn HY (1990) Head and neck paragangliomas: a clinicopathologic study with DNA flow cytometric analysis. South Med J 83:1407–1412
- Scholz T, Schulz C, Klose S, Lehnert H (2007) Diagnostic management of benign and malignant pheochromocytoma. Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes 115:155–159
- Amar L, Baudin E, Burnichon N et al (2007) Succinate dehydrogenase B gene mutations predict survival in patients with malignant pheochromocytomas or paragangliomas. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 92:3822–3828
- Strong VE, Kennedy T, Al-Ahmadie H et al (2008) Prognostic indicators of malignancy in adrenal pheochromocytomas: clinical, histopathologic, and cell cycle/apoptosis gene expression analysis. Surgery 143:759–768
- Liu TH, Chen YJ, Wu SF et al (2004) Distinction between benign and malignant pheochromocytomas. Zhonghua Bing Li Xue Za Zhi 33:198–202
- 12. Chen H, Sippel RS, O'Dorisio MS et al (2010) The North American Neuroendocrine Tumor Society consensus guideline for the diagnosis and management of neuroendocrine tumors: pheochromocytoma, paraganglioma, and medullary thyroid cancer. Pancreas 39:775–783
- McNeil AR, Blok BH, Koelmeyer TD, Burke MP, Hilton JM (2000) Phaeochromocytomas discovered during coronial autopsies in Sydney, Melbourne and Auckland. Aust N Z J Med 30:648–652
- Beard CM, Sheps SG, Kurland LT, Carney JA, Lie JT (1983) Occurrence of pheochromocytoma in Rochester, Minnesota, 1950 through 1979. Mayo Clin Proc 58:802–804
- Cascon A, Pita G, Burnichon N et al (2009) Genetics of pheochromocytoma and paraganglioma in Spanish patients. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 94:1701–1705
- Mannelli M, Castellano M, Schiavi F et al (2009) Clinically guided genetic screening in a large cohort of Italian patients with pheochromocytomas and/or functional or nonfunctional paragangliomas. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 94:1541–1547
- 17. Jansen JC, van den Berg R, Kuiper A et al (2000) Estimation of growth rate in patients with head and neck paragangliomas influences the treatment proposal. Cancer 88:2811–2816
- van Duinen N, Steenvoorden D, Kema IP et al (2010) Increased urinary excretion of 3-methoxytyramine in patients with head and neck paragangliomas. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 95:209–214
- Gardner P, Dalsing M, Weisberger E, Sawchuk A, Miyamoto R (1996) Carotid body tumors, inheritance, and a high incidence of associated cervical paragangliomas. Am J Surg 172:196–199
- Netterville JL, Jackson CG, Miller FR, Wanamaker JR, Glasscock ME (1998) Vagal paraganglioma: a review of 46 patients treated during a 20-year period. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 124:1133–1140
- Jackson CG (2001) Glomus tympanicum and glomus jugulare tumors. Otolaryngol Clin North Am 34:941–970, vii
- Bravo EL (1994) Evolving concepts in the pathophysiology, diagnosis, and treatment of pheochromocytoma. Endocr Rev 15:356–368
- 23. Lenders JW, Eisenhofer G, Mannelli M, Pacak K (2005) Phaeochromocytoma. Lancet 366:665-675
- Kebebew E, Duh QY (1998) Benign and malignant pheochromocytoma: diagnosis, treatment, and follow-up. Surg Oncol Clin N Am 7:765–789
- Werbel SS, Ober KP (1995) Pheochromocytoma. Update on diagnosis, localization, and management. Med Clin North Am 79:131–153
- La Batide-Alanore A, Chatellier G, Plouin PF (2003) Diabetes as a marker of pheochromocytoma in hypertensive patients. J Hypertens 21:1703–1707
- Pacak K, Eisenhofer G, Ahlman H et al (2007) Pheochromocytoma: recommendations for clinical practice from the First International Symposium. October 2005. Nat Clin Pract Endocrinol Metab 3:92–102

- Neumann HP, Erlic Z, Boedeker CC et al (2009) Clinical predictors for germline mutations in head and neck paraganglioma patients: cost reduction strategy in genetic diagnostic process as fall-out. Cancer Res 69:3650–3656
- Latif F, Tory K, Gnarra J et al (1993) Identification of the von Hippel-Lindau disease tumor suppressor gene. Science 260:1317–1320
- Eng C (1996) Seminars in medicine of the Beth Israel Hospital, Boston. The RET protooncogene in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2 and Hirschsprung's disease. N Engl J Med 335:943–951
- Neumann HP, Berger DP, Sigmund G et al (1993) Pheochromocytomas, multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2, and von Hippel-Lindau disease. N Engl J Med 329:1531–1538
- White R, O'Connell P (1991) Identification and characterization of the gene for neurofibromatosis type 1. Curr Opin Genet Dev 1:15–19
- Neumann HP, Bausch B, McWhinney SR et al (2002) Germ-line mutations in nonsyndromic pheochromocytoma. N Engl J Med 346:1459–1466
- 34. Astuti D, Latif F, Dallol A et al (2001) Gene mutations in the succinate dehydrogenase subunit SDHB cause susceptibility to familial pheochromocytoma and to familial paraganglioma. Am J Hum Genet 69:49–54
- Baysal BE, Ferrell RE, Willett-Brozick JE et al (2000) Mutations in SDHD, a mitochondrial complex II gene, in hereditary paraganglioma. Science 287:848–851
- Burnichon N, Briere JJ, Libe R et al (2010) SDHA is a tumor suppressor gene causing paraganglioma. Hum Mol Genet 19:3011–3020
- Niemann S, Muller U (2000) Mutations in SDHC cause autosomal dominant paraganglioma, type 3. Nat Genet 26:268–270
- Hao HX, Khalimonchuk O, Schraders M et al (2009) SDH5, a gene required for flavination of succinate dehydrogenase, is mutated in paraganglioma. Science 325:1139–1142
- Qin Y, Yao L, King EE et al (2010) Germline mutations in TMEM127 confer susceptibility to pheochromocytoma. Nat Genet 42:229–233
- 40. Comino-Mendez I, Gracia-Aznarez FJ, Schiavi F et al (2011) Exome sequencing identifies MAX mutations as a cause of hereditary pheochromocytoma. Nat Genet 43:663–667
- Gimenez-Roqueplo AP, Dahia PL, Robledo M (2012) An update on the genetics of paraganglioma, pheochromocytoma, and associated hereditary syndromes. Horm Metab Res 44:328–333
- van Hulsteijn LT, Dekkers OM, Hes FJ, Smit JW, Corssmit EP (2012) Risk of malignant paraganglioma in SDHB-mutation and SDHD-mutation carriers: a systematic review and metaanalysis. J Med Genet 49:768–776
- 43. Welander J, Soderkvist P, Gimm O (2011) Genetics and clinical characteristics of hereditary pheochromocytomas and paragangliomas. Endocr Relat Cancer 18:R253–R276
- 44. Carney JA, Stratakis CA (2002) Familial paraganglioma and gastric stromal sarcoma: a new syndrome distinct from the Carney triad. Am J Med Genet 108:132–139
- 45. Schussheim DH, Skarulis MC, Agarwal SK et al (2001) Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1: new clinical and basic findings. Trends Endocrinol Metab 12:173–178
- McWhinney SR, Pasini B, Stratakis CA (2007) Familial gastrointestinal stromal tumors and germ-line mutations. N Engl J Med 357:1054–1056
- 47. Vanharanta S, Buchta M, McWhinney SR et al (2004) Early-onset renal cell carcinoma as a novel extraparaganglial component of SDHB-associated heritable paraganglioma. Am J Hum Genet 74:153–159
- Xekouki P, Pacak K, Almeida M et al (2012) Succinate dehydrogenase (SDH) D subunit (SDHD) inactivation in a growth-hormone-producing pituitary tumor: a new association for SDH? J Clin Endocrinol Metab 97:E357–E366
- 49. Baysal BE, Farr JE, Rubinstein WS et al (1997) Fine mapping of an imprinted gene for familial nonchromaffin paragangliomas, on chromosome 11q23. Am J Hum Genet 60:121–132
- 50. Heutink P, van der Mey AG, Sandkuijl LA et al (1992) A gene subject to genomic imprinting and responsible for hereditary paragangliomas maps to chromosome 11q23-qter. Hum Mol Genet 1:7–10

- 51. van der Mey AG, Maaswinkel-Mooy PD, Cornelisse CJ, Schmidt PH, van de Kamp JJ (1989) Genomic imprinting in hereditary glomus tumours: evidence for new genetic theory. Lancet 2:1291–1294
- 52. Hensen EF, Jordanova ES, van Minderhout IJ et al (2004) Somatic loss of maternal chromosome 11 causes parent-of-origin-dependent inheritance in SDHD-linked paraganglioma and phaeochromocytoma families. Oncogene 23:4076–4083
- 53. Dahia PL, Ross KN, Wright ME et al (2005) A HIF1alpha regulatory loop links hypoxia and mitochondrial signals in pheochromocytomas. PLoS Genet 1:72–80
- 54. Favier J, Briere JJ, Burnichon N et al (2009) The Warburg effect is genetically determined in inherited pheochromocytomas. PLoS One 4:e7094
- Favier J, Gimenez-Roqueplo AP (2010) Pheochromocytomas: the (pseudo)-hypoxia hypothesis. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab 24:957–968
- Qin Y, Buddavarapu K, Dahia PL (2009) Pheochromocytomas: from genetic diversity to new paradigms. Horm Metab Res 41:664–671
- Selak MA, Armour SM, MacKenzie ED et al (2005) Succinate links TCA cycle dysfunction to oncogenesis by inhibiting HIF-alpha prolyl hydroxylase. Cancer Cell 7:77–85
- Califano D, Rizzo C, D'Alessio A et al (2000) Signaling through Ras is essential for ret oncogene-induced cell differentiation in PC12 cells. J Biol Chem 275:19297–19305
- 59. Johannessen CM, Reczek EE, James MF, Brems H, Legius E, Cichowski K (2005) The NF1 tumor suppressor critically regulates TSC2 and mTOR. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:8573–8578
- 60. Martin GA, Viskochil D, Bollag G et al (1990) The GAP-related domain of the neurofibromatosis type 1 gene product interacts with ras p21. Cell 63:843–849
- Johannessen CM, Johnson BW, Williams SM et al (2008) TORC1 is essential for NF1associated malignancies. Curr Biol 18:56–62
- 62. Lee S, Nakamura E, Yang H et al (2005) Neuronal apoptosis linked to EglN3 prolyl hydroxylase and familial pheochromocytoma genes: developmental culling and cancer. Cancer Cell 8:155–167
- 63. Schlisio S, Kenchappa RS, Vredeveld LC et al (2008) The kinesin KIF1Bbeta acts downstream from EglN3 to induce apoptosis and is a potential 1p36 tumor suppressor. Genes Dev 22:884–893
- Nagatsu T, Levitt M, Udenfriend S (1964) Tyrosine hydroxylase. The initial step in norepinephrine biosynthesis. J Biol Chem 239:2910–2917
- 65. Eisenhofer G, Kopin IJ, Goldstein DS (2004) Catecholamine metabolism: a contemporary view with implications for physiology and medicine. Pharmacol Rev 56:331–349
- 66. Lenders JW, Eisenhofer G, Armando I, Keiser HR, Goldstein DS, Kopin IJ (1993) Determination of metanephrines in plasma by liquid chromatography with electrochemical detection. Clin Chem 39:97–103
- 67. Lenders JW, Pacak K, Walther MM et al (2002) Biochemical diagnosis of pheochromocytoma: which test is best? JAMA 287:1427–1434
- Eisenhofer G, Goldstein DS, Sullivan P et al (2005) Biochemical and clinical manifestations of dopamine-producing paragangliomas: utility of plasma methoxytyramine. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 90:2068–2075
- Pacak K (2007) Preoperative management of the pheochromocytoma patient. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 92:4069–4079
- Brouwers FM, Eisenhofer G, Tao JJ et al (2006) High frequency of SDHB germline mutations in patients with malignant catecholamine-producing paragangliomas: implications for genetic testing. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 91:4505–4509
- van der Harst E, de Herder WW, de Krijger RR et al (2002) The value of plasma markers for the clinical behaviour of phaeochromocytomas. Eur J Endocrinol 147:85–94
- 72. Montesinos MS, Machado JD, Camacho M et al (2008) The crucial role of chromogranins in storage and exocytosis revealed using chromaffin cells from chromogranin A null mouse. J Neurosci 28:3350–3358
- 73. Guignat L, Bidart JM, Nocera M, Comoy E, Schlumberger M, Baudin E (2001) Chromogranin A and the alpha-subunit of glycoprotein hormones in medullary thyroid carcinoma and phaeochromocytoma. Br J Cancer 84:808–812

- 74. d'Herbomez M, Gouze V, Huglo D et al (2001) Chromogranin A assay and (131)I-MIBG scintigraphy for diagnosis and follow-up of pheochromocytoma. J Nucl Med 42:993–997
- 75. Algeciras-Schimnich A, Preissner CM, Young WF Jr, Singh RJ, Grebe SK (2008) Plasma chromogranin A or urine fractionated metanephrines follow-up testing improves the diagnostic accuracy of plasma fractionated metanephrines for pheochromocytoma. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 93:91–95
- Rao F, Keiser HR, O'Connor DT (2000) Malignant pheochromocytoma. Chromaffin granule transmitters and response to treatment. Hypertension 36:1045–1052
- Ilias I, Pacak K (2004) Current approaches and recommended algorithm for the diagnostic localization of pheochromocytoma. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 89:479–491
- Maurea S, Cuocolo A, Reynolds JC, Neumann RD, Salvatore M (1996) Diagnostic imaging in patients with paragangliomas. Computed tomography, magnetic resonance and MIBG scintigraphy comparison. Q J Nucl Med 40:365–371
- 79. Sohaib SAA, Bomanji J, Evanson J, Reznek RH (2001) Imaging of the endocrine system. In: Grainger R, Allison D, Adam A, Dixon A (eds) Diagnostic radiology: a textbook of medical imaging, 4th edn. Churchill Livingston, London, pp 1367–1399
- Fink IJ, Reinig JW, Dwyer AJ, Doppman JL, Linehan WM, Keiser HR (1985) MR imaging of pheochromocytomas. J Comput Assist Tomogr 9:454–458
- 81. van den Berg R, Verbist BM, Mertens BJ, van der Mey AG, van Buchem MA (2004) Head and neck paragangliomas: improved tumor detection using contrast-enhanced 3D time-offlight MR angiography as compared with fat-suppressed MR imaging techniques. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol 25:863–870
- Olsen WL, Dillon WP, Kelly WM, Norman D, Brant-Zawadzki M, Newton TH (1987) MR imaging of paragangliomas. AJR Am J Roentgenol 148:201–204
- Gritzmann N, Herold C, Haller J, Karnel F, Schwaighofer B (1987) Duplex sonography of tumors of the carotid body. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol 10:280–284
- Shulkin BL, Ilias I, Sisson JC, Pacak K (2006) Current trends in functional imaging of pheochromocytomas and paragangliomas. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1073:374–382
- Nielsen JT, Nielsen BV, Rehling M (1996) Location of adrenal medullary pheochromocytoma by I-123 metaiodobenzylguanidine SPECT. Clin Nucl Med 21:695–699
- 86. van der Harst E, de Herder WW, Bruining HA et al (2001) [(123)I]metaiodobenzylguanidine and [(111)In]octreotide uptake in benign and malignant pheochromocytomas. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 86:685–693
- Bustillo A, Telischi F, Weed D et al (2004) Octreotide scintigraphy in the head and neck. Laryngoscope 114:434–440
- Duet M, Sauvaget E, Petelle B et al (2003) Clinical impact of somatostatin receptor scintigraphy in the management of paragangliomas of the head and neck. J Nucl Med 44:1767–1774
- Myssiorek D, Tronco G (2005) 111Indium pentetreotide imaging in the evaluation of head and neck tumors. Laryngoscope 115:1707–1716
- Hoegerle S, Nitzsche E, Altehoefer C et al (2002) Pheochromocytomas: detection with 18F DOPA whole body PET-initial results. Radiology 222:507–512
- Timmers HJ, Kozupa A, Chen CC et al (2007) Superiority of fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography to other functional imaging techniques in the evaluation of metastatic SDHB-associated pheochromocytoma and paraganglioma. J Clin Oncol 25:2262–2269
- 92. Timmers HJ, Chen CC, Carrasquillo JA et al (2009) Comparison of ¹⁸F-fluoro-L-DOPA, ¹⁸F-fluoro-deoxyglucose, and ¹⁸F-fluorodopamine PET and ¹²³I-MIBG scintigraphy in the localization of pheochromocytoma and paraganglioma. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 94:4757–4767
- Janetschek G, Finkenstedt G, Gasser R et al (1998) Laparoscopic surgery for pheochromocytoma: adrenalectomy, partial resection, excision of paragangliomas. J Urol 160:330–334
- Niemann U, Hiller W, Behrend M (2002) 25 years experience of the surgical treatment of phaeochromocytoma. Eur J Surg 168:716–719
- Diner EK, Franks ME, Behari A, Linehan WM, Walther MM (2005) Partial adrenalectomy: the National Cancer Institute experience. Urology 66:19–23
- Buhl T, Mortensen J, Kjaer A (2002) I-123 MIBG imaging and intraoperative localization of metastatic pheochromocytoma: a case report. Clin Nucl Med 27:183–185

- 97. van Hulsteijn LT, Corssmit EP, van der Hiel B, Smit JW, Stokkel MP (2012) Is there a role for radioguided surgery with iodine-labeled metaiodobenzylguanidine in resection of neuroendocrine tumors? Clin Nucl Med 37:1083–1088
- Mukherjee JJ, Kaltsas GA, Islam N et al (2001) Treatment of metastatic carcinoid tumours, phaeochromocytoma, paraganglioma and medullary carcinoma of the thyroid with (131) I-meta-iodobenzylguanidine [(131)I-mIBG]. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 55:47–60
- 99. van Houtum WH, Corssmit EP, Douwes Dekker PB et al (2005) Increased prevalence of catecholamine excess and phaeochromocytomas in a well-defined Dutch population with SDHD-linked head and neck paragangliomas. Eur J Endocrinol 152:87–94
- Lim JY, Kim J, Kim SH et al (2010) Surgical treatment of carotid body paragangliomas: outcomes and complications according to the shamblin classification. Clin Exp Otorhinolaryngol 3:91–95
- Anand VK, Alemar GO, Sanders TS (1995) Management of the internal carotid artery during carotid body tumor surgery. Laryngoscope 105:231–235
- 102. Bradshaw JW, Jansen JC (2005) Management of vagal paraganglioma: is operative resection really the best option? Surgery 137:225–228
- 103. Luna-Ortiz K, Rascon-Ortiz M, Villavicencio-Valencia V, Granados-Garcia M, Herrera-Gomez A (2005) Carotid body tumors: review of a 20-year experience. Oral Oncol 41:56–61
- Wang SJ, Wang MB, Barauskas TM, Calcaterra TC (2000) Surgical management of carotid body tumors. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 123:202–206
- 105. Hawthorne MR, Makek MS, Harris JP, Fisch U (1988) The histopathological and clinical features of irradiated and nonirradiated temporal paragangliomas. Laryngoscope 98:325–331
- Boedeker CC, Ridder GJ, Schipper J (2005) Paragangliomas of the head and neck: diagnosis and treatment. Fam Cancer 4:55–59
- 107. Persky MS, Setton A, Niimi Y, Hartman J, Frank D, Berenstein A (2002) Combined endovascular and surgical treatment of head and neck paragangliomas-a team approach. Head Neck 24:423–431
- Chrisoulidou A, Kaltsas G, Ilias I, Grossman AB (2007) The diagnosis and management of malignant phaeochromocytoma and paraganglioma. Endocr Relat Cancer 14:569–585
- 109. Lee JH, Barich F, Karnell LH et al (2002) National Cancer Data Base report on malignant paragangliomas of the head and neck. Cancer 94:730–737
- 110. Boedeker CC, Neumann HP, Maier W, Bausch B, Schipper J, Ridder GJ (2007) Malignant head and neck paragangliomas in SDHB mutation carriers. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 137:126–129
- 111. Burnichon N, Rohmer V, Amar L et al (2009) The succinate dehydrogenase genetic testing in a large prospective series of patients with paragangliomas. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 94:2817–2827
- 112. Neumann HP, Pawlu C, Peczkowska M et al (2004) Distinct clinical features of paraganglioma syndromes associated with SDHB and SDHD gene mutations. JAMA 292:943–951
- Benn DE, Gimenez-Roqueplo AP, Reilly JR et al (2006) Clinical presentation and penetrance of pheochromocytoma/paraganglioma syndromes. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 91:827–836
- 114. Havekes B, Corssmit EP, Jansen JC, van der Mey AG, Vriends AH, Romijn JA (2007) Malignant paragangliomas associated with mutations in the succinate dehydrogenase D gene. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 92:1245–1248
- 115. Pacak K, Ilias I, Adams KT, Eisenhofer G (2005) Biochemical diagnosis, localization and management of pheochromocytoma: focus on multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2 in relation to other hereditary syndromes and sporadic forms of the tumour. J Intern Med 257:60–68
- 116. Loh KC, Fitzgerald PA, Matthay KK, Yeo PP, Price DC (1997) The treatment of malignant pheochromocytoma with iodine-131 metaiodobenzylguanidine (131I-MIBG): a comprehensive review of 116 reported patients. J Endocrinol Invest 20:648–658
- 117. Huang H, Abraham J, Hung E et al (2008) Treatment of malignant pheochromocytoma/paraganglioma with cyclophosphamide, vincristine, and dacarbazine: recommendation from a 22-year follow-up of 18 patients. Cancer 113:2020–2028

- Keiser HR, Goldstein DS, Wade JL, Douglas FL, Averbuch SD (1985) Treatment of malignant pheochromocytoma with combination chemotherapy. Hypertension 7:I18–I24
- 119. Forrer F, Riedweg I, Maecke HR, Mueller-Brand J (2008) Radiolabeled DOTATOC in patients with advanced paraganglioma and pheochromocytoma. Q J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 52:334–340
- 120. Joshua AM, Ezzat S, Asa SL et al (2009) Rationale and evidence for sunitinib in the treatment of malignant paraganglioma/pheochromocytoma. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 94:5–9
- 121. Maithel SK, Fong Y (2009) Hepatic ablation for neuroendocrine tumor metastases. J Surg Oncol 100:635–638
- 122. Takahashi K, Ashizawa N, Minami T et al (1999) Malignant pheochromocytoma with multiple hepatic metastases treated by chemotherapy and transcatheter arterial embolization. Intern Med 38:349–354
- 123. Scholz T, Eisenhofer G, Pacak K, Dralle H, Lehnert H (2007) Clinical review: current treatment of malignant pheochromocytoma. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 92:1217–1225
- 124. Edstrom EE, Hjelm Skog AL, Hoog A, Hamberger B (2003) The management of benign and malignant pheochromocytoma and abdominal paraganglioma. Eur J Surg Oncol 29:278–283
- 125. van Gils AP, van der Mey AG, Hoogma RP et al (1992) MRI screening of kindred at risk of developing paragangliomas: support for genomic imprinting in hereditary glomus tumours. Br J Cancer 65:903–907
- 126. Hermsen MA, Sevilla MA, Llorente JL et al (2010) Relevance of germline mutation screening in both familial and sporadic head and neck paraganglioma for early diagnosis and clinical management. Cell Oncol 32:275–283
- 127. van Duinen N, Steenvoorden D, Bonsing BA et al (2010) Pheochromocytomas detected by biochemical screening in predisposed subjects are associated with lower prevalence of clinical and biochemical manifestations and smaller tumors than pheochromocytomas detected by signs and symptoms. Eur J Endocrinol 163:121–127
- 128. Gill AJ, Benn DE, Chou A et al (2010) Immunohistochemistry for SDHB triages genetic testing of SDHB, SDHC, and SDHD in paraganglioma-pheochromocytoma syndromes. Hum Pathol 41:805–814
- 129. van Nederveen FH, Gaal J, Favier J et al (2009) An immunohistochemical procedure to detect patients with paraganglioma and phaeochromocytoma with germline SDHB, SDHC, or SDHD gene mutations: a retrospective and prospective analysis. Lancet Oncol 10:764–771
- Timmers HJ, Gimenez-Roqueplo AP, Mannelli M, Pacak K (2009) Clinical aspects of SDHxrelated pheochromocytoma and paraganglioma. Endocr Relat Cancer 16:391–400

Surgical Approach in the Treatment of Neuroendocrine Tumours

Göran Åkerström, Peter Stålberg, Olov Norlén, and Per Hellman

25.1 Classification

The European Neuroendocrine Tumor Society (ENETS) in 2006 provided a TNM staging for classification of foregut NETs (stomach, duodenum and pancreas), together with a histopathological grading system based on the Ki-67 proliferation index and mitotic counts (MC), which was followed by similar classifications for other NETs (see Chap. 6) [1–3]. Grade 1 were tumours with Ki-67 index $\leq 2\%$, or mitotic counts (MC) <2/10 high-power fields (HPF); grade 2 were tumours with Ki-67 index of 3–20 %, or 2–20 MC/10 HPF; and grade 3 were tumours with Ki-67 index >20 %, or >20 MC/10 HPF).

The WHO 2010 (UICC/AJCC) classification used the ENETS Ki-67- and MC-based grading to distinguish low grade 1 (G1) and intermediate grade 2 (G2) well-differentiated NETs (WDNET) and poorly differentiated grade 3 (G3) neuroendocrine carcinoma (PDNEC), with cutoff Ki-67 index between G1 and G2 changed to <3 % [4, 5]. The ENETS TNM staging, later modified for clinical data, subsequently proved to be superior to the AJCC/WHO staging system by accurately predicting survival [4–7]. Further revision of the Ki-67 cutoff values to 5 % has been suggested to better separate G1 and G2 tumours and to correlate more accurately with prognosis for pancreatic NETs and Si-NETs [6, 8–10]. Distant metastases should be expected also in grade 1 WDNET with the lowest Ki-67 index, but the progression has been less aggressive with the lower grade. Positive effects of surgery can be expected in WDNET of low to intermediate grade (GI and G2), but has been generally considered of little value for PDNEC with expected short survival.

G. Åkerström, MD, PhD (⊠) • P. Stålberg, MD, PhD • O. Norlén, MD, PhD P. Hellman, MD, PhD

Department of Surgical Sciences, University Hospital, Uppsala SE 751 85, Sweden e-mail: goran.akerstrom@surgsci.uu.se; peter.stalberg@surgsci.uu.se; olov.norlen@surgsci.uu.se; per.hellman@surgsci.uu.se

[©] Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

S. Yalcin, K. Öberg (eds.), Neuroendocrine Tumours:

Diagnosis and Management, DOI 10.1007/978-3-662-45215-8_25
25.2 Diagnosis

Ultrasound (US)-guided fine-needle aspiration biopsy (FNAB) has been commonly used for cytologic diagnosis of primary and metastatic NETs. Formalinfixed paraffin-embedded, US-guided semi-fine (1.2 mm)-needle tissue biopsies are now routinely used for final diagnosis (together with surgical tumour specimens) [11, 12]. This allows appropriate immunohistochemistry for diagnostic stainings and evaluation of proliferation by the Ki-67 index, which has become the important parameter for grading [12]. Positive staining for either of the general neuroendocrine markers chromogranin A (CgA) or synaptophysin confirms the NET diagnosis [12]. Positive staining for serotonin (5HT) indicates a primary tumour in the small intestine. Immunoreactivity for the vesicular monoamine transporter type 2 (VMAT2) is used to diagnose ECL (histamine) cell differentiation in gastric carcinoids [12]. Neuron-specific enolase (NSE) has been less specific, but of value for some duodenal and rectal NETs. For poorly differentiated lesions, CgA staining may be variable and involve only subsets of cells, and synaptophysin reactivity is more intense [12].

25.3 Biochemical Markers

25.3.1 Plasma Chromogranin A (CgA)

Plasma CgA levels are sensitive and early markers for NETs with relation to tumour load and have been used to monitor effects of treatment [10, 12, 13]. However, CgA levels are unspecific as they are raised with all types of NETs and some nonendocrine malignancies (as prostate carcinoma). CgA values are also raised due to endocrine cell hyperplasia in chronic atrophic gastritis (CAG) (high levels) and in patients with renal failure, liver failure, heart failure, stress and inflammatory bowel disease and as a result of chronic proton-pump inhibitor (PPI) therapy (moderately raised values). CgA decrease of ≥ 80 % has predicted resolution of symptoms and disease stabilisation [14].

25.3.2 Urinary 5-Hydroxyindole-Acetic Acid (5-HIAA)

Raised levels of the serotonin metabolite 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid (5-HIAA) in 24-h urinary samples are 85 % specific markers for serotonin-producing NETs, but are only seen at advanced disease stage and generally signify presence of liver metastases [12]. Rise may be caused by tryptophan-/serotonin-rich foods (bananas, avocados, plums, eggplant, chocolate, figs, tomatoes, pineapples, pecan nuts, walnuts, and wine), which should be avoided prior to urine collection for the 5-HIAA measurements [10, 12]. Reduction of urinary 5-HIAA concentrations of 80 % or more (or normalisation) has been predictive of symptomatic relief but not of disease stabilisation [15].

25.4 Localisation and Radiology

25.4.1 Endoscopy

Endoscopy is used to detect NETs in the oesophagus, stomach, duodenum and colorectum. It may be complemented by *endoscopic ultrasonography (EUS)* to allow determination of submucosal invasion and presence of regional metastases for staging. EUS-guided biopsy can be performed. Percutaneous US with dynamic i.v. contrast enhancement has been sensitive for detection of liver metastases and commonly used to guide semi-fine- or fine-needle biopsy for tissue sampling [12].

25.4.2 Computed Tomography (CT)

Computed tomography (CT), with i.v. contrast enhancement, is the common method to detect NETs. Primary Si-NETs tumours are often too small to be visualised, though associated mesenteric metastases often show typical features. The presence of a circumscribed mesenteric mass with radiating densities due to fibrotic strands is highly suspicious of Si-NET mesenteric metastasis [12]. For detection of liver metastases, 3-phase CT scans for arterial and venous portal phase studies are needed.

25.4.3 Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI)

Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) may be more sensitive than CT for the detection of small liver metastases, with use of contrast, arterial phase and T-2 weighted images [12]. MRI during follow-up may reduce radiation exposure.

25.4.4 Somatostatin Receptor Scintigraphy (SRS)

Somatostatin receptor scintigraphy (SRS), OctreoScan (with ¹¹¹indium pentetreotide), has been a routine during primary investigations and follow-up of patients with NETs [10]. SRS may detect primary tumours, regional metastases (less often tiny primary tumours of Si-NETs) and liver metastases and has been efficient for detection of extra-abdominal metastases (with more than 80 % sensitivity) [10, 12]. SRS is often routinely done with SPECT and combined with high-contrast diagnostic CT. For detection of liver metastases, SRS has been less sensitive than both CT and MRI. Small tumours or tumours with low somatostatin receptor density may not be visualised, and small liver metastases may be concealed by high background liver uptake [10, 12]. Somatostatin receptors may be expressed in tissues with inflammation, infections and non-endocrine malignancies and then provide falsepositive indications of NETs. The SRS, however, gives information about somatostatin receptor expression, which can be used to predict response to peptide receptor radionuclide therapy (PRRT) with somatostatin analogues [10, 12].

25.4.5 Functional PET Imaging

Positron emission tomography (PET) has been developed with radiotracers for functional imaging, including ¹¹C-5-hydroxytryptophan [¹¹C-5-HTP], ¹⁸F-Ldihydroxy-phenyl-alanine [¹⁸F-DOPA] and ⁶⁸Ga-DOTATOC/PET/CT [10, 12]. These PET studies provide higher resolution and improved sensitivity compared to conventional SRS and have proven to be of considerable value in patients with NETs and negative or inconclusive results on SRS [10, 12, 16]. ¹⁸F-DOPA-PET has been efficient for visualisation of Si-NETs [12]. The recently evolved ⁶⁸Ga-DOTATOC/PET/CT has shown the highest sensitivity and commonly been able to detect additional metastases, especially within the skeletal system (in >30%) [17] and established localisation of unknown primary NETs in up to 39 % of cases [10, 18]. In a recent study ⁶⁸Ga-DOTATOC/PET/CT revealed additional hepatic or extrahepatic metastases in ~50 % of patients planned for liver resection or liver transplantation, which strongly impacted treatment decisions based on CT and/or MRI investigations that had failed to reveal these additional metastases [19]. ¹⁸F-fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG)-PET imaging may be used to detect intermediate and high-grade WDNET or poorly differentiated neuroendocrine carcinoma (PDNEC) (sensitivity of 92 % with Ki-67 >15 %), but will not visualise low-grade, well-differentiated lesions [20].

25.5 Specifics for NETs with Different Location

25.5.1 Oesophageal NETs

Oesophageal NETs are rare (<1 % of all NETs) and reported to occur with male predominance at around 60 years of age [12, 21]. Symptoms are usually similar to adenocarcinoma with dysphagia and retrosternal pain. Most tumours have been located in the lower third of the oesophagus or in the gastro-oesophageal junction. Most have been small cell PDNEC, often with components of adenocarcinoma and with lymph node spread reported in 50 % of patients. The tumours should only be operated if radical resection is possible, and preoperative chemo-radiation has been suggested to improve outcome. Survival depends on disease stage and has been overall poor [12, 21].

25.5.2 Gastric NETs

The WHO guidelines depict three groups of enterochromaffin-like (ECL) cellderived gastric NETs: type 1, type 2 and type 3 [12]. The majority of gastric NETs, type 1 (70–80 %), occurs in patients with hypergastrinaemia due to chronic atrophic gastritis (CAG). Type 2 patients (5–8 %) also have hypergastrinaemia, but due to a Zollinger-Ellison syndrome (ZES) as part of a familial multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 syndrome (MEN1). Type 3 gastric NETs (15–20 %) occur as sporadic, solitary lesions in patients without hypergastrinaemia; rare tumours may be of non-ECL type. The important predictors of gastric NETs are size, type and histology. Rare PDNECs have been named type 4.

25.5.2.1 Type 1 Gastric NETs

Type 1 NETs occur with female predominance (3:1 vs. males) at a mean age of around 65 years [10, 12]. The tumours arise in patients with chronic atrophic gastritis (CAG) with hypo- or achlorhydria due to destruction of acid-secreting parietal cells. CAG may be autoimmune or nonimmune [22]. Hypergastrinaemia occurs because gastrin-secreting g-cells of the antrum are not inhibited in the absence of gastric acid. The excessive gastrin secretion will in combination with other predisposing factors, such as diet or possibly bacteria, further stimulate the ECL cell hyperplasia and development of the ECL cell tumours. Hypergastrinaemia alone does not appear to cause gastric NETs, as tumours occur in a minority of CAG patients and not due to chronic PPI treatment or vagotomy [12, 22-24]. More than half of the patients have vitamin B12 malabsorption and pernicious anaemia, and in this population the NETs have often been accidentally revealed by endoscopy, as the patients have generally been without symptoms. Although CAG is common in elderly individuals, only few patients (1 %) with long duration of markedly raised serum gastrin values develop gastric NETs. The NETs will typically occur as multiple (60 %), small polyps in the gastric body and fundus or in the transitional zone to the antrum, developing in a surrounding atrophic mucosa where ECL cell hyperplasia and dysplasia can be detected. Individual tumours can present as broad-based, round polypoid lesions; some can be flat and broad or appear as discoloured spots or slight mucosal protrusions. The number and size vary from uncountable pinpointsize lesions to few prominent lesions measuring up to 1-1.5 cm and uncommonly up to 2 cm or more [12, 22-24]. Some are solitary and may be difficult to distinguish from adenopolyps, which also occur in CAG patients. Only rare larger lesions may be ulcerated or bleeding. Small type 1 gastric NETs are benign with low proliferation (grade 1) and low risk of invasion beyond the submucosa. Larger lesions (>1 cm) are also predominantly benign, but may occasionally invade the muscularis propria (<10%) or have higher grade. The incidence of regional lymph node metastases is low (<2-5 %), distant liver metastases are exceptional (<2 %) and disease related death is rare, though earlier reports with greater proportion of larger lesions described more frequent metastases [12, 23, 24]. Exceptional CAG patients have had large invasive tumours, representing poorly differentiated NEC or composite endocrine tumours/and adenocarcinoma with unfavourable prognosis.

25.5.2.2 Type 2 Gastric NETs

ECL cell hyperplasia can be detected in 80 % of MEN1 patients with ZES, and 5–30 % of MEN1-ZES patients develop type 2 gastric NETs [12, 22–24]. The patients have high gastric acid secretion and present with typical increased mucosa thickness in contrast to the distinct atrophy of type 1 lesions. Patients with sporadic ZES may also often exhibit ECL cell hyperplasia, but rarely (<1 %) develop gastric NETs. Type 2 gastric NETs occur in the gastric body and fundus and occasionally

Fig. 25.1 Sporadic, solitary gastric NET with lymph node metastasis removed by gastric resection (From Åkerstrom et al. [12])



in the antrum [11, 20, 22]. They are also often multiple and usually small (<1–2 cm), but generally larger than type 1 tumours, and occasionally markedly larger in size of up to 4–5 cm or more. The biopsies from the surrounding gastric mucosa show hypertrophy rather than atrophy. The tumour grade may be 1 or 2, and the malignant potential is intermediate between CAG-associated and sporadic gastric NETs. Lymph node metastases occur in ~30 % of patients and liver metastases in 10–20 % [12, 24]. More aggressive tumours with liver metastases and higher grade have been more frequent with long-standing ZES. Poorly differentiated gastric NECs with local invasion, angioinvasion and high proliferation rate have occasionally been associated with MEN1.

25.5.2.3 Type 3 Sporadic Gastric NETs

Type 3 sporadic gastric NETs occur in patients with normal serum gastrin. The tumours are most common in males, with a mean age around 50 years [12, 22–24]. Determination of serum calcium and the family history helps exclude MEN1. A majority of patients have symptoms as with gastric adenocarcinoma with pain, weight loss and gastrointestinal bleeding.

Majority of type 3 NETs occur in the gastric body and fundus as solitary and often large tumours, usually >2 cm (Fig. 25.1); occasional tumours occur in the antral or pre-pyloric region [12, 22–24]. The tumours develop in non-atrophic gastric mucosa, without ECL cell proliferation; most tumours originate in ECL cells. Uncommon forms generally occurring in the antrum may originate from G (gastrin) cells or

constitute a mixture of EC (serotonin) cells and other cell types and can then be associated with worse prognosis. Most G cell tumours have sparse staining for gastrin. Tumours with intense gastrin reactivity are rare in the stomach, but can occur in the pre-pyloric mucosa and represent an exceptional cause of hypergastrinaemia and ZES.

Two thirds of type 3 tumours have infiltrated the muscularis layer and 50 % have invaded all layers of the gastric wall. Regional lymph node metastases may be present in 20–50 %, also with small tumours, and liver metastases eventually develop in two thirds of the patients [12, 24]. The sporadic gastric NETs can have atypical histology, with pleomorphism, high mitosis rate and high Ki-67 index. The atypical tumours are larger, with mean size around 5 cm, more frequently invasive and have unfavourable survival [12].

25.5.2.4 Atypical Carcinoid Syndrome

The ECL cells have the ability to secrete histamine and disseminated lesions of type 3 gastric NETs may in 5–10 % be associated with an "atypical carcinoid syndrome". The syndrome can occur also in exceptional patients with disseminated type 1 and 2 tumours [12]. The syndrome has a patchy "geographic" flush, urticarial rash, cutaneous oedema, mucous membrane swelling, bronchospasm, salivary gland swelling and lacrimation. Since the syndrome is caused by histamine release from tumour cells, urinary estimates of the histamine metabolite methylmidazole-acetic acid (MelmAA) serve as tumour marker. Most gastric NETs lack the enzyme L-amino acid decarboxylase and few patients have elevated serotonin levels. Due to this decarboxylation defect, the patients will have only minimal elevation of urinary 5-HIAA values [12].

25.5.2.5 Diagnosis

Diagnosis of CAG-related type 1 NETs is based on demonstration of high serum gastrin levels, lack of gastric acid secretion with high pH in gastric aspirate (pH >3 in the gastric aspirate excludes ZES) and confirmation of mucosal atrophy together with ECL cell hyperplasia in endoscopic biopsies from the antrum (two biopsies) and fundus (four biopsies) [12]. Basal and pentagastrin-stimulated gastric acid secretion studies are recommended. Endoscopy is used to evaluate multiplicity and size of the gastric NETs. Tumour biopsies should be stained with endocrine tumour markers (CgA, synaptophysin and VMAT2) and proliferation markers (Ki-67 index) [12]. Multiple NETs in the gastric fundus in an elderly are most likely to represent CAG-associated NETs.

Diagnosis of MEN1-associated type 2 gastric NETs and ZES is based on demonstration of low gastric pH and raised basal acid output in gastric acid secretion studies, generally together with markedly raised gastrin levels [12]. Serum gastrin >1,000 pg/m is diagnostic of ZES if gastric pH is <2. In other patients a secretin test may be required and is diagnostic with paradoxical rise in gastrin, 200 pg/mL over baseline, but 15 % of patients have negative secretin test. The important differential diagnosis is CAG, where patients have high gastrin, without gastric acid (with high gastric pH, pH >3 excludes ZES). Biochemical screening for other MEN1 endocrinopathies includes measurements of serum calcium and parathyroid hormone, pituitary hormones (prolactin and insulin-like growth factor 1, IGF-1), pancreatic hormones and CgA [12]. MEN1 genetic testing is done if the familial disease is not previously recognised.

Diagnosis of the type 3 gastric NETs is essentially settled by the features and by verifying absence of hypergastrinaemia.

Radiology is generally not needed in type 1 gastric NETs without signs of spread. CT with contrast enhancement (3-phase), SRS and PET studies (increasingly ⁶⁸Ga-DOTATOC/PET/CT) are used to determine metastatic spread in type 2 and 3 NETs [12]. For type 3 lesions with higher proliferation, FDG PET may be of value. EUS should be added to the endoscopic examination in type 1 and 2 lesions larger than 1 cm and all type 3 lesions to provide information about invasion and the depth and may reveal regional lymph node metastases (and possibly pancreaticoduodenal lesions in MEN1 patients) [12, 22].

25.5.2.6 Surgical Treatment

Type 1 gastric NETs <1 cm are generally indolent and can be followed with yearly endoscopic surveillance [10, 12, 22–24]. Tumours >1 cm or multiple lesions without invasion can be treated with endoscopic mucosal resection or multiple band mucosectomy [10, 25]. Few large invasive tumours require local surgical excision, and only rare larger, multifocal lesions need gastric resection [11, 23, 24]. Antrectomy combined with tumour excision may be considered in type 1 cases with invasion and repeated recurrence, but the effect on remaining clinically significant lesions may be limited [23]. Treatment with somatostatin analogues has been associated with time-limited regression of type 1 lesions, but disease progression has been noted at follow-up 5 years after termination of therapy [10, 26–29].

Surgical treatment in type 2 gastric NETs is focused on removing the source of hypergastrinaemia, generally by excision of duodenal gastrinomas via duodenotomy, together with clearance of lymph node metastases (see below) [22, 24, 26]. The type 2 gastric NETs per se require endoscopic or surgical excision that should be radical. Gastric resection or gastrectomy combined with regional lymph node clearance is recommended for larger and multifocal tumours or those with deep gastric wall invasion or angioinvasion [22, 24]. If hypergastrinaemia has not been reversed by surgery for gastrinoma, somatostatin analogue treatment may be used to reduce tumour growth, especially in cases with multiple gastric NETs, though proton-pump inhibitors are the most often suggested therapy [26, 30–32].

Type 3 sporadic gastric carcinoids should be radically treated with gastric resection and regional lymph node clearance. Tumours larger than 2 cm and those with atypical histology or gastric wall invasion are most appropriately treated with gastrectomy [12, 23, 24]. Endoscopic resection is only occasionally performed for small non-metastasised tumours [10, 12]. The overall 5-year survival for patients with type 3 lesions has been ~50 %, but only 10 % in cases with distant metastases [10, 12].

25.5.2.7 Gastrinoma

Tumours with sparse staining for gastrin may occur in association with CAG. Tumours with intense staining for gastrin are rare in the stomach and have been located in the pre-pyloric mucosa close to the duodenum. Few gastric NETs have caused hypergastrinaemia and peptic ulcer disease, but they still represent an exceptional but possible origin of gastrin excess and ZES [12]. Rare tumours may present with ectopic Cushing's syndrome due to ACTH secretion [12].

25.5.3 Duodenal NETs

NETs of the duodenum are rare and comprise less than 2 % of all GEP-NETs [12, 22]. Duodenal adenomas or adenocarcinomas are more frequent. Duodenal NETs comprise gastrinomas (48 %) (not described here; see Chap. 6), somatostatinomas (44 %), non-functioning tumours, staining for serotonin (28 %) or calcitonin (9 %) and rare gangliocytic paragangliomas or carcinomas [22, 33, 34]. The duodenal NETs generally present in the sixth decade of life. The majority (>90 %) occurs in the first and second part of the duodenum and 20 % in the periampullary region. The tumours are characteristically small (<1.5 cm); most are T1, but lymph node metastases has been reported to occur in around 50 % and liver metastases in <10 %.

25.5.3.1 Somatostatin-Rich NETs

NETs with somatostatin reactivity occur in the ampullary or periampullary region, almost exclusively in the ampulla of Vater, causing obstructive jaundice, pancreatitis or bleeding [22, 34, 35]. A clinical somatostatinoma syndrome is very rare. The tumours appear as 1–2 cm homogeneous ampulla nodules, which only occasionally are polypoid, larger or ulcerated. Regional lymph node or liver metastases are present in nearly 50 % of patients. Unlike conventional NETs, the tumours have a glandular growth pattern and may characteristically contain special laminated psammoma bodies. The lesions are often associated with von Recklinghausen's neurofibromatosis (neurofibromatosis type 1, NF1) and occasionally with pheochromocytoma [22, 34, 35]. The ampullary somatostatin-rich NETs may be locally excised, together with clearance of regional lymph glands, but since there is no established correlation between tumour size and metastases, pancreaticoduodenectomy has been recommended in younger patients [32].

25.5.3.2 Gangliocytic Paragangliomas

Gangliocytic paragangliomas are rare tumours, occurring almost exclusively in the second portion of the duodenum, and are sometimes associated with NF1 [33]. The tumours consist of a mixture of paraganglioma, ganglioneuroma and NET tissue, with reactivity for somatostatin and pancreatic polypeptide (PP). The tumours may be recognised incidentally or because of bleeding. They may be large but are generally benign and often have an excellent prognosis following surgical excision [33].

25.5.3.3 Other Duodenal NETs

More unusual WDNETs have reactivity for other hormones, such as calcitonin, PP and serotonin [12, 22, 33, 36, 37]. Most of these tumours occur as small polyps (<2 cm) in the proximal duodenum. Multiple tumours should raise suspicion of an associated MEN 1 syndrome. The majority are low-grade malignant and often suitable for endoscopic mucosal resection or local surgical excision, only rare large tumours require pancreaticoduodenectomy [33, 36, 37].

A distinct group of duodenal NETs without release or staining for hormones is also recognised. These tumours have a somewhat different biology and have less often metastasised than the gastrinomas and somatostatinomas [22, 33, 36, 37]. Some are asymptomatic and incidentally found at endoscopy, others present with non-specific abdominal symptoms, gastrointestinal bleeding and sometimes vomiting or weight loss. Most tumours are located in the first portion of the duodenum, occasionally in the second part and rarely in the third portion (horizontal duodenum). The majority stains for CgA and some for synaptophysin and/or NSE [36, 37]. Up to one-third of the patients have had other primary malignancies as well, including adenocarcinomas of the gastrointestinal tract, prostate or other organs [36, 37]. More than half of the tumours are smaller than 2 cm and generally have a good prognosis after resection. Lesions smaller than 1 cm can be endoscopically excised, but re-examination with follow-up endoscopy is required to ensure complete removal. Size >2 cm, invasion beyond the submucosa and presence of mitotic figures are independent risk factors for metastases (grade 2 tumours). Tumours with these risk factors are likely to recur also after apparently curative surgery, even if no lymph node metastases have been detected, whereas lesions smaller than 2 cm rarely metastasise [36, 37]. Rare duodenal tumours may cause an ectopic Cushing's syndrome due to ACTH secretion [33].

The treatment suggested for larger tumours is segmental duodenal resection or pancreaticoduodenectomy in order to decrease the risk of recurrence [36, 37]. Periampullary tumours behave in malignant fashion and need more radical surgery. Patients with metastasising duodenal NETs may survive for decades, substantiating that NETs are less aggressive than adenocarcinomas.

25.5.3.4 Poorly Differentiated Duodenal Neuroendocrine Carcinomas (PDNECs)

PDNECs (large or small cell) in the duodenum are exceptionally rare, occurring most often in the ampulla of Vater, and the patients present with obstructive jaundice and invariably with a rapidly fatal course [36, 37].

(For excellent review including endoscopic management of gastroduodenal NETs, see [22]).

25.5.4 Pancreatic NETs

(Pancreatic islet cell tumours are reported in Chap. X). Exceptional PNET stain intensely for serotonin (and may also contain other biogenic amines) [12, 38]. They appear histologically as classical GEP-NETs, but few have been associated with the

carcinoid syndrome. The tumours are managed surgically according to guidelines similar to those for non-functioning malignant pancreatic NETs. Hepatic metastases and a carcinoid syndrome may be treated with somatostatin analogues and interferon or with chemotherapy in the presence of higher proliferation rate [38].

25.5.5 Jejunoileal Small Intestinal (Si-NETs)

The jejunoileal small intestinal NETs (Si-NETs), also named "classical" midgut carcinoids, originate from intestinal enterochromaffin (EC) cells in intestinal crypts and can be recognised by typical tumour cell serotonin immunoreactivity. Carcinoids may be detected in up to 1/150 of routine autopsies, indicating that the tumours may remain silent throughout life [39, 40]. The Si-NETs account for 25 % of small bowel neoplasms and have been diagnosed with slight male predominance at a mean age of 65 years.

The primary Si-NETs occur most often in the distal ileum, within 60–80 cm of the ileocaecal valve, less often in the proximal ileum or the jejunum. Occasional tumours in the caecum with serotonin immunoreactivity are classified as Si-NETs [21, 41, 42]. The primary tumour is typically a small, flat and fibrotic submucosal lesion; occasional tumours may be polypoid and fungating [43]. The tumours may be difficult to detect at surgery, often appearing only as a localised fibrosis or thickening of the intestinal wall (Fig. 25.2a), but may even with minimal fibrosis cause intestinal obstruction (Fig. 25.2b) [43]. In an own series more than 30 % of patients subjected to surgery were found to have multiple, submucosal tumour nodules in the small intestinal wall close to the primary tumour, likely to represent local lymphatic spread [43, 44]. Rare cases have had additional larger polyps in the proximal intestine, possibly representing additional primary tumours [43, 44]. Mesenteric metastases occur in high frequency, irrespective of tumour size, and microscopic spread has been almost invariably present [43]. When growing close to the intestinal wall, the metastases may be easily mistaken to represent primary tumours, and some



Fig. 25.2 (a) Si-NET primary tumour visible as a localised fibrotic thickening of the intestinal wall; (b) Si-NET primary tumour with minimal fibrosis causing partial intestinal obstruction

primaries have extended directly into node metastases [43, 45]. The mesenteric metastases have often grown larger than the primary tumour and evoked a desmoplastic reaction with a typical pronounced mesenteric fibrosis (Fig. 25.3). The fibrosis may be due to local effects of serotonin, growth factors and other substances released from the Si-NET metastases [12, 45–47].

Larger metastases and more extensive fibrosis have sometimes caused mesentery contraction and tethered the mesenteric root to the retroperitoneum, with fibrous binding to the horizontal duodenum [43, 45]. The mesenteric tumours may extend high in the mesenteric root and may sometimes grow into the duodenal wall or into the pancreas or spread to the hepatoduodenal ligament or to the retroperitoneum/ and para-aortal spaces [42, 43, 45, 48]. The fibrotic adhesions may kink and entrap the intestines and cause partial or complete small bowel obstruction and at advanced stage occasionally duodenal obstruction [43, 45, 48]. With extended mesenteric tumour growth and fibrosis, mesenteric vessels may be encased, and intestinal segments of variable length will appear blue-reddish due to incipient venous ischaemia (Fig. 25.4). The patient may experience diarrhoea or functional obstruction and occasionally abdominal angina [12, 43, 45, 48, 49]. A specific angiopathy, named vascular elastosis, with elastic tissue proliferation in the adventitia and marked thickening of mesenteric vessel walls has been reported with advanced Si-NETs [50], though in our experience tumour compression and fibrosis has been the obvious cause of intestinal ischaemia [43, 45].

Cases with higher mesenteric root tumours and central mesenteric vein or artery occlusion may have longer involved intestinal segments with blue pale cyanosis or occasionally absent arterial circulation (Fig. 25.5). Rare patients with occlusion of a larger mesenteric vein branch may experience a WDHA syndrome-like condition, severe watery diarrhoea, malnutrition and emaciation [51, 52]. If the tumour and fibrosis have remained for longer time, bowel adhesions and kinking have often created a conglomerate of intestinal loops fixed to the abdominal walls, which sometimes need to be removed en bloc [12, 43, 45]. The incidence



Fig. 25.3 CT image of a mesenteric metastasis from a Si-NET surrounded by fibrosis (appearing like a "hurricane centre") (From Åkerström et al. [45])

segment with venous





Fig. 25.5 Longer ischaemic intestinal segment with compromised mesenteric vein and artery circulation, due to a high Si-NET mesenteric tumour

of mesenteric metastases at time of diagnosis has been 36–39 % in reports based on imaging studies [53].

In the recent own large series of Si-NET patients, 93 % of operated patients had mesenteric metastases at operation [42]. Distant metastases in retroperitoneal/para-aortal location or more occasionally in the hepatoduodenal ligament were identified in 18 % of patients. Liver metastases were present at diagnosis or discovered at operation in 61 % of patients and occurred during follow-up in an additional 16 % [42]. The majority of patients had bilateral and multiple liver metastases; around 14 % had fewer than five metastases in one liver lobe; occasional metastases were dominant with conspicuous growth [42]. Around 10 % of patients presented with liver metastases without identified mesenteric lesions. Peritoneal carcinomatosis was revealed in 20 % of operated patients, ovarian metastases in 4 % and pancreatic or splenic metastases each occurred in 0.5 % [42]. Extra-abdominal spread to lymph nodes occurred at diagnosis in 4.0 % and to other sites in 6.1 % including bone, breast and skin [42]. Many patients had multiple sites of extra-abdominal spread, most often to mediastinal and peripheral lymph nodes (including neck lymph glands, which occasionally was the first presentation) and bone [42]. During follow-up of our patient series, another 12 % developed extra-abdominal spread [42]. Especially bone metastases have been previously associated with poor prognosis [41, 54].

25.5.5.1 Clinical Symptoms

Many patients with Si-NETs have experienced long periods of unspecific episodic abdominal pain and diarrhoea, often misinterpreted as irritable bowel syndrome or food allergy before the disease has been clinically diagnosed [10, 43, 45, 55]. Others have had unrecognised features of the carcinoid syndrome with discrete flush misinterpreted as menopausal complaints or palpitations and intolerance for specific food or alcohol [10, 43, 45, 56]. Intestinal bleeding has generally been rare with Si-NETs due to the submucosal location of the primary tumour and has been more likely to occur with more rare, larger, polypoid, fungating primary tumours [43, 45]. Bleeding may also occur when mesenteric metastases have grown into the horizontal duodenum or in the presence of intestinal venous stasis and incipient ischaemia [12, 43, 45]. Intermittent pain attacks have been common and often increased in frequency until the patient has developed subacute or acute intestinal obstruction requiring surgery. In around 50 % of patients, the Si-NET diagnosis has become evident after needle biopsy of liver metastases [12, 43, 45].

25.5.5.2 Carcinoid Syndrome

The carcinoid syndrome, described in 1954 by Thorson, has been reported to occur in approximately 20 % of patients with jejunoileal NETs, though the frequency may be higher at referral centres [12, 40–43, 53]. The syndrome includes flushing, diarrhoea, right-sided heart valve disease and bronchoconstriction. Serotonin (5-hydroxytryptamine), derived from the amino acid tryptophan, has been identified as the major cause of the syndrome [10, 41, 45]. Serotonin is inactivated by mono-amine oxidase in the liver and in the kidney converted to 5-HIAA, which is excreted

in the urine. Presence of the carcinoid syndrome generally implies that the patient has liver metastases, with secretion directly into the systemic circulation [12, 41, 45]. Occasionally the syndrome may occur in patients with large retroperitoneal or ovarian lesions, where the secretion exceeds the capacity of the monoamine detoxification or can bypass the liver and drain directly into the systemic circulation [12, 41, 45]. The syndrome is related to release also of other vasoactive factors tachykinins (substance P, neuropeptide K), prostaglandins and occasionally norepinephrine [12, 45, 57].

Secretory diarrhoea is the most common feature of the syndrome (reported in around 70 %), but may initially be mild and unspecific. Diarrhoea tends to be most prevalent in the morning and is often meal related. The diarrhoea may have other causes in NET patients, especially when previously operated upon or having advanced disease [12, 40, 45]. The commonly performed distal small intestinal resection leads to reduced bile salt absorption; treatment with bile acid-binding agents (cholestyramine) may provide relief. Somatostatin analogues in high doses may cause malabsorption diarrhoea, with foamy, floating diarrhoea after meals, which can be treated with pancreatic enzymes (Creon). Patients with long-standing poorly controlled carcinoid syndrome may develop niacin deficiency and pellagra (a syndrome with diarrhoea, dementia and dermatitis), which can be prevented by niacin supplementation. Other causes are a short bowel after surgery and partial intestinal obstruction. In patients with the large mesenteric tumours, intestinal venous stasis or ischaemia may contribute significantly to stool frequency. Occlusion of main mesenteric vein branches may cause severe watery diarrhoea and malnutrition, due to severely oedematous, fluid-leaking intestinal segments [12, 41, 45, 51, 52].

Cutaneous flushing (reported in around 65 %) affects the face, neck and upper chest and is the most characteristic feature of the carcinoid syndrome [12, 41, 45, 56]. Flushing may nevertheless easily be overlooked, especially in females at menopause. The flush may be provoked by stress, alcohol, certain food, aged cheese or coffee. It is often of short duration, lasting for 1–5 min, but may occasionally be prolonged for hours or even days. Flushing may occasionally be severe and long-standing, and with chronic flush, the patients may develop telangiectasies and persistent blue-cyanotic discolouration of the skin on the nose and chins.

Heart valve fibrosis, with plaque-like fibrotic endocardial thickening, affects the tricuspid and pulmonary valves, as a late consequence of a severe and long-standing carcinoid syndrome and high serotonin levels [12, 41, 45, 58–60]. This will cause retraction and fixation of the heart valves and subsequently regurgitation and stenosis, leading to tricuspid regurgitation and pulmonary valve stenosis. Tricuspid valve abnormalities was in one series reported in 65 % of patients with the carcinoid syndrome, and 19 % had pulmonary valve stenosis [60]. In less than 10 % the fibrosis may involve also the left-sided heart valves, in case of a patent oval foramen or when the pulmonary monoamine oxidase activity is exceeded, and then possibly contribute to bronchoconstriction.

The carcinoid heart disease may lead to progressive right-sided heart failure and severe lethargy and used to be the cause of death in 50 % of patients with the carcinoid syndrome [12, 40, 48, 58–60]. Nowadays, after introduction of somatostatin

analogues, patients more often die from progressive tumour disease. Affected patients may require heart surgery and prostheses replacement of fibrotic heart valves [59, 60]. The operation may lead to substantial improvement, but can especially in older persons be associated with complications [60]. The heart disease is efficiently diagnosed by echocardiography, which should invariably be performed prior to major abdominal surgery.

Bronchial constriction as part of the carcinoid syndrome caused by small intestinal NETs is relatively rare, but may occur during anaesthesia.

25.5.5.3 Imaging

The primary Si- NETs generally escape detection by conventional *bowel contrast studies* because of limited size [10, 12, 21, 61]. Typical arcading of entrapped intestines, with segments of partial obstruction, may be revealed with advanced disease and occasionally the signs of chronic obstruction, with dilatation, and oedematous thickened bowel wall. In the presence of large bowel symptoms, entrapment of the sigmoid or transverse colon may be important to identify prior to surgery. Concomitant colorectal adenocarcinoma has been reported, and it may be necessary to exclude coexisting recto-sigmoidal adenocarcinoma by endoscopy, prior to surgery or during follow-up of Si-NETs.

CT can rarely visualise a primary Si-NET, but will often reveal mesenteric lymph node metastases, retroperitoneal extension of such masses and liver metastases. The presence of a circumscribed mesenteric mass with radiating densities is highly suspicious for an Si-NET mesenteric metastasis. Dynamic CT with contrast enhancement is important prior to operation, by possibility to reveal relation between the mesenteric metastases and the main mesenteric vessels [12, 45]. In cases with intestinal ischaemia, CT may show a characteristic image of dilated peripheral veins (Fig. 25.6) and oedematous loops of intestine. CT with contrast enhancement is often the primary method for visualisation of liver metastases, but fails to identify the smallest lesions. *MRI* can sometimes be

13:55:25.35 TP - 290.0 IMA 91 SP1 4 R kV 120 mA 240 TI 0.75 GT 0.0 S1 8.0/12.0

Fig. 25.6 CT image of Si-NET case with intestinal ischaemia showing mesenteric tumour surrounded by dilated peripheral mesenteric veins

more efficient than CT for demonstration of liver metastases. *Percutaneous US* with power Doppler enhancement, and use of US contrast, may increase sensitivity for the detection of liver metastases and is mainly used to visualise liver metastases and to guide fine or semi-fine-needle biopsy of the liver or mesenteric metastases for histological diagnosis and grading.

OctreoScan[®]

In nearly 90 % of cases, Si-NETs express somatostatin receptor types 2 and 5, for which the somatostatin analogue octreotide has high affinity [12, 21, 45]. Somatostatin receptor scintigraphy, SRS (OctreoScan[®]), has detected Si-NETs with a sensitivity of 90 % and has been commonly utilised to determine metastatic spread. OctreoScan[®] is especially efficient for detection of extra-abdominal spread and can visualise bone metastases better than isotope bone scan, which may miss osteolytic metastases.

Positron Emission Tomography (PET)

PET with the serotonin precursor 5-hydroxytryptophan, labelled with ¹¹C (5HTP-PET), or gallium-68 (⁶⁸Ga) PET can identify the Si-NETs with the highest sensitivity and has been increasingly used to diagnose stage and monitor effects of therapy [12, 17–19, 45, 62]. ⁶⁸Ga-DOTATOC/PET/CT has revealed additional hepatic or extrahepatic metastases in more than 60 % of patient planned for liver resection or liver transplantation, which strongly impacted treatment decisions based on CT and/ or MRI investigations that had failed to reveal these additional metastases [19]. FDG-PET imaging may be used to detect intermediate and high-grade poorly differentiated neuroendocrine carcinomas (PDNECs) (sensitivity of 92 % with Ki-67 >15 %), but will not visualise low-grade well-differentiated lesions [20].

25.5.5.4 Diagnosis

Needle biopsy specimens from metastases are often used for diagnosis. The NET cells stain immunocytochemically with neuroendocrine tumour markers, mainly CgA and synaptophysin, and reactivity with serotonin-specific antisera implies that a primary tumour should be searched for in the midgut [12, 21, 45]. Most jejunoileal NETs show a mixed insular and glandular growth pattern; occasional tumours have a pure insular and trabecular pattern and have been reported to have slightly less favourable prognosis [12, 21]. Proliferation rate determined with the Ki-67/MIB antibody has often been very low <2 % in classical Si-NETs. Occasional tumours have higher proliferation rate (grade 2) or may change to higher grade during the disease course [12, 21]. Very rare lesions present as PDNEC with poorly differentiated pattern and high proliferation rate with poor prognosis and sparse effects of surgery.

25.5.5.5 Surgery

Since Si-NETs patients may be subjected to acute laparotomy due to abdominal pain or intestinal obstruction with unknown diagnosis, it is important that surgeons in general learn that the Si-NETs are common small bowel neoplasms and also come to recognise the typical features of a small ileal tumour and conspicuously larger mesenteric metastases with surrounding fibrosis [12, 43, 45, 48, 49, 63, 64]. Since an intestinal bypass may complicate more radical surgery, the locoregional tumour should if possible be removed by mesenteric wedge resection and intestinal resection, with clearance of lymph node metastases around the mesenteric artery and vein branches [12, 49]. The procedure is generally justified also in patients with moderately spread liver metastases. If the surgery has been inadequately performed, reoperation for removal of a remaining mesenteric tumour may be considered, as the patient may otherwise risk future abdominal complications [12, 43, 45, 48, 49, 63]. If grossly radical locoregional tumour removal has been accomplished, the Si-NETs patients often remain symptom-free for long periods from treatment with somatostatin analogues and interferon (IFN- α). However, the Si-NETs are markedly tenacious and recurrence with liver metastases should be expected in the vast majority of patients (60-80 %) if follow-up is long enough [43, 45, 48, 49, 63]. Since the Si-NETs are slow-growing tumours, clinically overt recurrence may occur after long duration of up to 10-25 years [45, 49, 63]. Earlier recurrence may be diagnosed by serum CgA estimates, rather than the urinary 5-HIAA measurements.

Many Si-NETs patients present with liver metastases and sometimes also features of the carcinoid syndrome. Life expectancy used to be poor in patients with liver metastases and the carcinoid syndrome; now symptoms may be efficiently controlled with somatostatin analogues and IFN-a, which together with other new treatment modalities have markedly increased life expectancy and life quality [21, 45, 49, 63]. The carcinoid heart disease used to be a principal death cause in Si-NETs patients, together with abdominal complications, which played a significant role in 40 % of patients [12, 63]. Possibly due to treatment with efficient biotherapy, the heart disease has become less common, and a majority of patients now die with spread malignancy or liver failure after an extended disease course [41, 61, 63]. Improved survival by somatostatin analogue treatment documented by the PROMID study has widened indications for locoregional tumour removal in patients with advanced Si-NETs [41, 63-65]. Because partial intestinal obstruction or incipient intestinal ischemia may cause similar symptoms of feeding-related abdominal pain, laparotomy can be needed to distinguish these causes.

Abdominal pain is unlikely to be caused merely by the carcinoid syndrome, and complications of the mesenteric tumour are important to recognise since considerable long-term palliation may be achieved by appropriate surgery [63, 64]. Not all mesenteric metastases will cause extensive fibrosis, and the course of the mesenterico-intestinal disease can be variable, but elective surgery at an early stage may allow removal of the mesenteric tumours with more limited intestinal resection before involvement of major mesenteric vessels becomes too extensive [12, 63, 64]. The authors advocate removal of the mesenterico-intestinal tumour also in asymptomatic patients and suggest liberal surgical consultations when abdominal symptoms occur during periods of medical treatment [63]. Too late surgical consultation may allow the disease to be increasingly difficult or impossible to manage surgically. **Fig. 25.7** The extension below or above the horizontal duodenum (depicted with coronal CT) is crucial for evaluation of operability of an Si-NET mesenteric metastasis, as this can determine if metastases are regional or located high in the mesenteric root



25.5.5.6 Surgical Technique for Removal of Mesenteric Metastases

The extension below or above the horizontal duodenum (as can be depicted with coronal CT) is crucial for preoperative evaluation, as this can determine if metastases are regional or located high in the mesenteric root (Fig. 25.7). At operation the advanced Si-NETs may appear inoperable, if high mesenteric metastases with surrounding fibrosis appear to encase the mesenteric root and the major intestinal vascular supply [12, 43, 45, 49, 63]. Incautious wedge resection in the fibrotic and contracted mesentery may risk to seriously compromise the intestinal circulation. It is recommended to begin the operation with palpation of the small bowel from the Treitz ligament to the caecum, to identify the primary tumour, exclude the presence of multiple intestinal tumours and allow judgement of the length of the small intestine that needs to be removed. Ischaemic changes and venous stasis can be found to comprise limited intestinal segments, and the locoregional tumour can then be safely removed by a distal intestinal resection. This is preferably combined with caecal resection or right hemicolectomy, with proximal vascular ligature, and extended wedge resection for improved clearance of regional metastases [49]. For tumours originating in the proximal intestine, segmental small intestinal resection is performed.



Fig. 25.8 CT image with contrast enhancement in a patient with Si-NET, where a large and high mesenteric tumour has caused intestinal ischaemia, with oedema in the terminal ileum

With advanced growth of bulky mesenteric tumours with higher location in the mesenteric root, above the horizontal duodenum, the management can be more complex (Fig. 25.8) [12, 45, 49]. The majority of these metastases originate from distal intestinal tumours and tend to be deposited onto the right side of the main mesenteric vessels. A method has been proposed (Fig. 25.9), where the right colon and the mesenteric root are mobilised from adhesions to the retroperitoneum to the level of the horizontal duodenum and the pancreas [12, 45, 49]. Staple transection of the right colon then allows visualisation of the mesenteric artery and vein from the right side and possibility for vascular control above the mesenteric tumour during excision. With posterior view in the lifted mesenteric root, fibrotic bands can be transected and the tumour dissected from the serosa of the horizontal duodenum, occasionally, with duodenal wall excision or short duodenal resection in case of tumour invasion. It may then be possible to free-dissect the mesenteric tumour from the major vessels and carefully preserve the arcades of collateral circulation along the intestine and limit the required intestinal resection [12, 45, 49] (Fig. 25.10).

An own arbitrary staging of the mesenteric metastases has been suggested (Fig. 25.11) to describe the extension in the mesenteric root. Mesenteric tumours with very high extension, encircling major vessels with severe fibrosis, or with growth into the pancreas or the retroperitoneal/para-aortal spaces have in our experience been unresectable. The median colic artery circulation should be carefully preserved [12, 45, 49]. Some of the cases with circumferential involvement have originated from jejunal tumours.

Repeated surgery may sometimes be required in Si-NET patients with chronic or intermittent abdominal main due to partial or complete intestinal obstruction or segmental intestinal ischaemia [12, 45, 49]. These operations may be difficult due to fibrosis and carcinoidosis between loops of intestine. Reoperations, and indeed any surgery in patients with Si-NETs, should be done with caution, since mistakes may cause intestinal fistulation or creation of a short-bowel syndrome [12, 45, 49]. It is recommended that the surgery for the difficult Si-NETs is referred to colleagues with experience.



Fig. 25.9 Method for resection of the Si-NET primary tumour and mesenteric metastases. (a) The mesenteric tumour may extensively involve the mesenteric root and appear impossible to remove; (b) mobilisation of caecum, terminal ileum and the mesenteric root by separation of retroperitoneal attachments allows the tumour to be lifted, approached from a posterior angle and separated from the duodenum and main mesenteric vessels; and (c) tumour removed with preservation of collateral circulation along the intestine can maintain the intestinal length; the bowel can then be anastomosed and the mesenteric defect repaired (Redrawn from Åkerström et al. [45])



Fig. 25.9 (continued)

25.5.5.7 Peritoneal Carcinomatosis

NET peritoneal carcinomatosis (PC) has been most commonly encountered in the Si-NET patients (reported to occur in 10–30 %) and has often been incidentally detected at operation (or by histopathology), as a few millimetre large tumour nodules on peritoneal surfaces [42, 66, 67]. In some patients CT may have revealed larger tumour nodules within the omentum or between the intestines, which occasionally have caused intestinal obstruction. Lateral deposits have rarely caused ureter block and hydronephrosis (the right ureter may also be blocked by a mesenteric lymph node metastasis with fibrosis). Larger deposits may also occur in the rectouterine pouch (Douglas pouch), on the uterus and on the rectum and may then threaten to obstruct the rectum and both ureters. Occasional Si-NET patients have been operated in Uppsala for pelvic NET deposits with hystero-salpingo-oophorectomy and anterior resection for pain relief and palliation. Ovarian deposits have been frequently noted in some series [41, 54].

Fig. 25.10 Image from operation in Si-NET patient with alleviation of intestinal ischaemia after removal of a high mesenteric tumour, which was possible to free-dissect from the mesenteric root, the pancreas and the duodenum. Maintenance of collateral circulation along the intestine allowed a limited resection of the ischaemic part of the small bowel (From Öhrvall et al. [49])



A common Gilly classification of PC is based on nodule size (>5 to >2 cm) and whether extent of involvement has been localized or diffuse [66]. The ENETS has proposed an abdominal gravity PC scoring system (GPS), which incorporates the Gilly classification, together with the extent of lymph node and liver metastases [66]. Scoring may then be done at the first laparotomy, by digital and visual exploration of subdiaphragmatic spaces, the large and small omentum and lateral abdominal spaces, and can be combined with intraoperative US and palpation of the liver. PC was revealed as a strong prognostic factor, with markedly negative effect on survival in the Uppsala series of Si-NET patients [42], and it is obviously important to have this spread diagnosed concomitant with the primary surgery.



Fig. 25.11 Surgical/anatomical stages of Si-NET mesenteric metastases. Stage I tumours located close to the intestine; stage II tumours higher in the mesentery; stage III tumours extending along, but without encircling the mesenteric trunk; stage IV tumours growing around the mesenteric trunk, involving origins of the proximal jejunal arteries and median colic artery or extending to the retroperitoneal/para-aortal spaces (have been inoperable) (From Öhrvall et al. [49]. Springer Science and Business Media)

The ENETS guidelines have provided a low-grade recommendation that peritoneal cytoreductive surgery may be considered in Si-NETs patients, if they can be judged to be fit enough to undergo this somewhat extensive procedure [66]. Study evidence of the long-term outcome of peritoneal cytoreductive surgery for NET is still lacking, and there is a need to emphasise a risk for high morbidity, especially if treating peritoneal metastases and liver metastases at the same operation [66, 67]. A multistep procedure may be recommended if either operation is expected to be extensive [66]. The peritoneal cytoreductive surgery implies cautious dissection of all abdominal quadrants (right and left diaphragmatic peritoneum, small and great omentum, posterior face of stomach, mesenteric axes and the pelvis) [66]. It has been recommended to remove both ovaries in females older than 55 years [66]. The PC resection should be reported as completeness of cytoreduction (CCR) [66]. Perioperative hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) has been performed for other malignancies, but remains experimental for Si-NETs, where most systemic chemotherapy has been inefficient [66].

25.5.6 Liver Metastases

Presence of liver metastases is crucial for the prognosis of NETs [10, 12, 68]. The most common origin of NET liver metastases is the small intestine, and liver spread

is also often seen with pancreatic and colonic NETs and less often with appendiceal, gastric and rectal NETs [12, 68]. Metastases are found at diagnosis or develop during follow-up in about 40–90 % of Si-NETs, pancreatic NETs and colonic NETs, in contrast to gastric, rectal and appendiceal NETs, which in 85–90 % remain as local tumours (these latter tumours have often been incidentally discovered) [68]. The Ki-67 index is prognostic for progression of pancreatic NETs, whereas jejunoileal NETs have high probability of developing liver metastases despite the low grade and low Ki-67 index (<3 %) [10, 42, 68–70].

Biopsy for grading with Ki-67 index should exclude presence of PDNEC, where liver surgery should not be considered due to poor survival. In patients with low- to intermediate-grade (G1 and G2) WDNETs, surgical treatment of liver metastases should be considered in the absence of unresectable extrahepatic disease [12, 68]. The benefit would be to achieve grossly complete (R0 resection) or efficient debulking leading to reduction of hormone levels and palliation of symptoms and thereby reduce the risk to develop long-term complications such as the carcinoid heart disease. Long-term palliation of the carcinoid syndrome has been reported after removal of unilateral, large or dominant liver metastases and if 70-90 % of the tumour burden has been removed. There has not been consensus on how extensive the surgical debulking must be to achieve symptomatic or survival benefit [71]. Liver surgery has proved to be safe and postresection 5-year survival has at specialised centres reached 85-94 %, but early recurrence should be expected, with 5-year disease free survival of <50 % reported in most series [72–76]. A recent "thin slice" pathology examination could reveal that numerous small metastases often accompanied the larger resected liver metastases, and only half of these additional metastases had been detected by preoperative imaging [77]. Liver resections combined with radiofrequency ablation (RFA) has been increasingly used in patients with multiple, bilateral liver metastases [72], but could in a propensity score-matched study not be demonstrated to have positive effects on survival [78].

Alternatives to surgical debulking of liver metastases are hepatic artery embolisation/chemoembolisation, peptide receptor radionuclide therapy (PRRT) with ¹⁷⁷Lu-labelled DOTA-Tyr3-octreotate, the use of selective intrahepatic radiotherapy (SIRT) or medical treatment with long-acting somatostatin analogues (and IFN- α) [79–82]. Due to high incidence of multifocal and bilateral liver metastases, radical liver resection is possible in less than 10–20%, and the majority of patients with advanced NETs are therefore mainly considered for other treatment modalities [79–82].

Before liver surgery it has often appeared wise to "stabilise" the tumour situation with somatostatin analogue treatment, which can control hormone release and time to progression (PROMID and CLARINET studies) [65, 83]. In cases with large colon or rectal NET metastases, PRRTs with Lu-labelled somatostatin analogues have occasionally provided successful preoperative treatment [81, 84].

25.5.6.1 Liver Surgery

A classification of NET liver metastases based on morphological features has been proposed to facilitate patient selection: type I (simple) depicts single or multiple metastases confined to one lobe or adjacent segments; type II (complex), one major focus but with contralateral smaller satellites; and type III, disseminated spread with both lobes involved [72]. In cases with solitary, unilateral or grossly dominant liver

metastases, formal hepatic lobectomy or parenchyma-saving liver resections should be undertaken, and this may be combined with RFA, wedge resections or simple enucleations of superficially located and even bilateral lesions [75, 78, 85].

Two-stage surgical resection may be performed to allow regeneration of the contralateral lobe to avoid liver insufficiency, and preoperative portal embolisation may be used to induce regeneration of a hepatic lobe that is planned to remain after hepatic lobectomy for removal of metastatic tumour. The two-step surgery has allowed safe resection of bilateral tumours, though high recurrence has been evident [2, 12, 71, 74]. Substantial amount (up to 75 %) of the liver parenchyma may be resected if the remaining liver parenchyma is healthy.

Outcome of liver surgery is difficult to assess on a larger cohort basis, but individual benefit occurs, which has sometimes been difficult to demonstrate in prospective studies. However, retrospective analyses with statistical enhancement methods have shown benefit on symptoms and increased the time to progression in G1 and G2 tumours, if the total liver involvement has been less than 50 % [78, 86]. A number of reports have described series of patients who have undergone successful liver surgery with long survival without evidence of disease and with significant long-term symptom alleviation [87–90]. On the other hand, virtually every patient will recur with new metastases after liver resection or RFA or microwave ablation, if follow-up time is long enough. Five-year survival has been around 75–80 % whether liver surgery was performed or not. Thus, although survival has not proved to be increased in G1 or G2 tumours after treatment of liver metastases with surgery or RFA, symptomatic improvement and palliation of the carcinoid syndrome and reduction of tumour markers are regularly seen [78, 86].

25.5.6.2 Radiofrequency or Microwave Ablation

RFA or microwave ablations are safe and efficient methods for moderately large NET liver metastases (<4 cm) [91, 92]. An ultrasound-guided insertion of the ablation needle and application of RFA or microwave energy lead to ablation of an area surrounding the needle tip. This may be performed either percutaneously or intraoperatively (open or laparoscopically). Somewhat larger tumours may be coagulated by overlapping treatment or by applying a Pringle's manoeuvre to reduce the hepatic circulation during the procedure. While RFA can treat somewhat larger tumours than microwave, the latter is theoretically more efficient if the metastasis is situated close to larger vessels, due to less negative heat-sink effects, and microwave has like RFA been proven to provide symptom relief [93].

The use of RFA, microwave and surgery in combinations has allowed treatment of more or bilateral metastases. Although there has been no absolute maximum, we have advocated a highest number for this treatment of approximately 7 metastases, before choosing alternative methods (liver embolisation, PRRT, etc.) [94–97]. The optimal method of assessing the number of metastases appears to be ⁶⁸Ga-DOTATOC/ PET/CT [17–19]. However, also this investigation may underestimate the number of metastases that can be detected intraoperatively and by intraoperative ultrasound. Therefore, the proper treatment for each patient may have to be decided during surgery. Since large vessels reduce the efficiency and bile ducts seem to be the most

vulnerable structures, RFA and microwave should be avoided for tumours located in the hepatic hilum. Also, patients who have undergone hepatico-jejunostomy or papillotomy are more prone to develop cholangitis or hepatic abscesses afterwards and should be covered with proper antibiotic prophylaxis during the procedure and be carefully monitored afterwards.

25.5.6.3 Liver Transplantation

Liver transplantation may be considered for few selected patients with liver metastases from Si-NETs, with slow disease progression and threatening liver involvement [12, 98–101]. Meta-analysis of patients with neuroendocrine tumours subjected to liver transplantation revealed a nearly 50 % 1-year survival, but varying 5-year survival (24–48 %), possibly due to different selection procedures between centres [101]. Si-NETs have been reported with more favourable survival (69 % at 5 years) than pancreatic NETs. Recent results indicate reduced operative risks and improved results after transplantation in NETs, with up to 77 % 1-year tumour-free survival and 90 % overall 5-year survival, but only around 20 % 5-year tumour-free survival [98–101]. A recent study demonstrated favourable survival of nontransplanted patients with Si-NETs and liver metastases subjected to conventional oncologic therapy that overall theoretically appeared to exceed the expected survival of patients of the same age groups subjected to liver transplantation [102].

Important for selection of patients for transplantation have been a low Ki-67 proliferation index (<5-10 %) and absence of other markers for aggressive tumours [12]. Patients should have extra-abdominal metastases excluded by sensitive imaging (68 Ga-DOTATOC/PET/CT), but even with this investigation, spread disease may not always be detected. The new liver will often become the site for new metastases, emphasising a possible need to combine with other treatments.

25.5.6.4 Prophylaxis Against Carcinoid Crisis

A carcinoid crisis with hyperthermia, shock, arrhythmia, excessive flush or bronchial obstruction is always a risk during treatment of patients with Si-NETs [103]. Initiation of somatostatin analogue treatment is recommended before surgery (patient's regular dose or daily 100 μ g×3 s.c.), and prophylaxis has to be given during operation, or any other intervention, preferably with octreotide (i.v. octreotide 500 μ g in 500 mL saline, 50 μ g/h), with possibility to increase the dose (to 100 μ g/h) if carcinoid syndrome should not resolve [103]. Adrenergic drugs should be avoided if hypotension should occur during surgery. Patients with foregut NETs and an atypical carcinoid syndrome may be treated with octreotide, histamine blockade and cortisone, with recommendation to avoid histamine-releasing agents during anaesthesia (morphine and tubocurarine).

25.5.6.5 Survival

Survival data from the Uppsala series of 603 Si-NET patients admitted to various operations and treatments in Uppsala, between 1985 and 2010, were recently reported [42]. Median survival was related to stage and grade and was overall 8.4 years, with 67 % 5-year survival. With adjustments for co-morbidity by

multivariate analyses, survival advantage could be demonstrated in patients subjected to mesenteric tumour removal, with low mortality for the primary surgery (<1 %) [42]. Previously recognised prognostic factors were carcinoid heart disease, old age at diagnosis, liver tumour load and extra-abdominal metastases; new prognostic factors were remaining mesenteric metastases, distant abdominal metastases (para-aortal/retroperitoneal) and peritoneal carcinomatosis. A recent US series of 691 Si-NET patients also showed strong relation to tumour stage and grade and also substantiated higher survival in patients with resectable compared to unresectable mesenteric tumours [104].

The ENET Ki-67 grading appears increasingly important for long-term outcome and for results of surgery. Suggestions have been forwarded for further improvement of grading for pancreatic NETs, by change of Ki-67 to 5 % to separate grade 1 and grade 2, and this has been suggested to be valid also for Si-NETs [6, 8, 9]. A further proposal for pancreatic as well as Si-NETs has been to change the Ki-67 index for separation of G2 and G3 WDNET to 15 %, because lesion with Ki-67 >15 % may respond to platinum-based chemotherapy [105]. The PDNECs are rare among Si-NETs (1 %). It has been emphasised that different metastases sites in the same patient may express different Ki-67 levels [9, 42]. Upgrading may occur in Si-NET metastases, and if carefully examined, there may be variable grading within metastases [9].

25.5.7 Appendiceal NETs

Appendiceal NETs constitute ~5 % of GEP-NET and have a recently estimated annual incidence of 0.5/100,000, which is increasing. However, all NETs have rising incidence, and the share of appendiceal NETs is probably decreasing. It is found in approximately 1/300 appendectomies and constitutes up to 80 % of all types of appendix tumours [106, 107]. The majority of appendiceal NETs originate from serotonin-producing EC cells, but have a more benign course than other GI-NETs [108].

Appendiceal NETs are usually an incidental finding at surgery [104]. The majority is located in the tip of the appendix, and only few cases have had appendicitis due to an occluded appendix lumen [12, 108]. The mean age for discovery of appendiceal NETs is between 38 and 41 years, somewhat younger than for other NETs. Also children are affected, in some series with higher incidence, which has lead to the assumption that some appendiceal NETs undergo involution with age. The overall rate of metastases has been 3.8 %, with distant metastases in 0.7 % [53].

Appendiceal NETs are usually small, <1 cm, and only few metastasise with a risk increasing with size. Therefore, small NETs in the tip of the appendix may be treated with simple appendectomy [12, 109]. According to ENETs guidelines, tumours <1 cm, with a maximum invasion of 3 mm into the mesoappendix and with clear surgical margins, have no risk of recurrence and appendectomy is sufficient [109]. Invasion of the serosa is not correlated with lymph node metastases and is not correlated to survival. Lesions >2 cm, as well as cases with residual tumour at

resection margins or with lymph gland metastases, should be treated with right hemicolectomy and lymph node clearance. Tumours between 1 and 2 cm in size are treated according to associated risk for metastases, where the pathology report about vascular invasion is crucial [109]. Vascular invasion is associated with a 30 % risk of metastases and negatively influences survival [107]. Tumours in the base of the appendix require hemicolectomy since they may represent colon- rather than appendix-derived tumours.

The prognosis for appendiceal NETs is good, with a 5-year survival rate of 100 % for the majority without metastases, 84 % for patients with regional metastases and 28 % for the few patients with distant metastases (which presumably include patients with adenocarcinoid appearance) (see below) [107–109].

After surgery, regular CT scanning, somatostatin receptor scintigraphy or ⁶⁸Ga-DOTATOC/PET/CT PET may reveal residual disease, since somatostatin receptors may be expressed. The only tumour marker is CgA, which has low sensitivity. The carcinoid syndrome is absent, as well as hormone secretion, and there is no indication for urinary 5-HIAA measurements.

25.5.7.1 Atypical Goblet-Cell NET/Adenocarcinoid/MANEC

A more malignant variant of appendiceal NETs is the goblet-cell variant, sometimes included in other terms as adenocarcinoid or recently as MANEC (mixed adenocarcinoma neuroendocrine carcinoma) [110, 111]. These tumours are rare (annual incidence 0.01-0.05/100,000). Generally, they should be treated as adenocarcinomas and have similar survival rates. The mean patient age is the sixth decade, i.e. 10 years later than classical appendiceal NETs. Recent 5-year survival has varied between 40 and 75 %, and subtypes appear to determine the outcome. Although classical appendiceal NETs may have low expression of CgA as well as somatostatin receptors, the atypical goblet-cell variant does not express these receptors and cannot be visualised by somatostatin receptor scintigraphy or PET. Goblet-cell NETs may spread to the mesentery or the peritoneal surface and may, besides standard hemicolectomy with lymph node clearance, also benefit from aggressive surgery including peritonectomy and heated intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) in analogy with colorectal cancers [112, 113]. However, although several treatment strategies have been reported in recent reports, no systematic study exists concerning either treatment (surgery, RFA, extent of surgery, chemotherapy, timing of different treatments, etc.). The overall 10-year survival is around 60 %.

25.5.8 Colon NETs

Colon NETs are rare and constitute only about 7 % of GEP-NETs and 1–5 % of colorectal neoplasms [12, 53, 114]. The incidence varies highly between different registers (0.06/100,000 in Europe and 0.2/100,000 in the USA). The 5-year survival rate for colon NETs has averaged around 40–50 %, slightly better than the survival for colon adenocarcinoma [115]. The colon NETs are more common in elderly age groups compared to other NETs and have been most often located in

the proximal colon. A fraction of colon NETs originating in the caecum appear with serotonin immune-reactivity and should be regarded and treated as Si-NETs, as they have similar behaviour. The carcinoid syndrome is rare, and secretion of hormones measurable in serum or urine is absent. The majority of colon NETs are non-serotonin reactive and generally have more aggressive behaviour, but are still slow growing, and the primary tumour may reach conspicuous size and lead to obstruction, bleeding or even a palpable mass as initial symptoms. With these tumours metastases are common at diagnosis. The lower differentiation state is noted by higher Ki-67 index and risk for presenting with spread disease at diagnosis [115]. Diagnosis may be difficult, but synaptophysin immunostaining is usually positive, supporting the neuroendocrine origin. Left colon NETs may mimic rectal NETs (see below) with an accompanying L cell expression and other histopathological profiles.

Colon NETs are divided according to Ki-67 proliferation index – G1 < 2%, G2 = 3-20% and G3 > 20% – and should be staged according to TNM. Treatment is usually similar as for colon adenocarcinoma, due to the presence of very few G1 tumours. G3 tumours are denoted PDNEC and should be treated according to special protocols. Due to their generally slow growth rate, palliative tumour debulking, before or after down-staging treatment, may also be undertaken.

25.5.9 Rectal NETs

Rectal NETs have previously been regarded as uncommon, but the incidence is increasing, according to SEERS 0.86/100,000/year. They constitute 25 % of all GEP-NETs, but there is a similar difference between Europe and the USA as for colon NETs, with higher incidence in the USA [116]. The generally increased incidence compared with earlier reports may be due to improved awareness of the diagnosis and the increased use of new diagnostic methods including endosonography. The overall prognosis is favourable, with 5-year survival varying in different series between 45 and 88 %.

25.5.9.1 Presentation and Diagnosis

Rectal NETs usually occur in the sixth decade, about 10 years earlier than non-NET rectal tumours. The rectal NETs are generally small and polypoid, located between 4 and 20 cm above the dentate line (75 % within 8 cm, reachable for palpation by a finger) [12, 114, 115], and may be discovered after presenting symptoms such as perianal pain or discomfort or haematochezia that may lead to the endoscopic investigation. However, the small rectal NETs are generally not the cause of symptoms and therefore more often an incidental finding. Diagnosis is made after histopathological evaluation of biopsies or after removal of the whole nodule. The most sensitive histological tumour markers are NSE (being positive in 87 %) and prostate-specific acid phosphatase (positive in 80–100 %), which can make differentiation from prostatic carcinoma difficult [117]. Other markers are glicentin and glucagon. Classical tumour markers like CA19-9, CA50 and alpha-fetoprotein are poorly expressed or

absent, while carcino-embryonic antigen (CEA) has been demonstrated in up to 25 % of cells. The CEA expression is possibly related to the occasional rectal NET with histopathological signs of both adenocarcinoma and NET.

Rectal NETs generally show focal and patchy multi-hormonal expression, where glucagon, somatostatin, pancreatic polypeptide, substance P and β -endorphins may be detected. A small and limited fraction of cells generally are positive for CgA, synaptophysin or serotonin, but measurable release of these hormones in the circulation (or as urinary 5-HIAA) is extremely rare, as is the carcinoid syndrome. These tumours have rarely metastasised at diagnosis.

Some patients have more aggressive disease with larger tumours and more local symptoms, such as obstruction or bleeding. With these larger tumours hormonal release or the carcinoid syndrome is also extremely rare. Occasional large tumours can be fixed to perirectal tissues and may initially be difficult to distinguish from rectal adenocarcinoma. Metastases are common, and the larger the tumour, the higher the risk for presentation of metastases. As with appendiceal NETs, tumours smaller than 1 cm rarely metastasise (<2 %), while those >2 cm frequently do (60–80 %). Patients with 1–2 cm large tumours have an intermediate risk for metastatic spread (10–15 %). The main sites for tumour spread are regional lymph nodes and the liver and less commonly lung and bone.

25.5.9.2 Surgical Treatment

The size separation of tumours is followed in the treatment recommendations. Patients with tumours <1 cm seldom have symptoms, have favourable outcome and are generally cured by local excision. Thus, the smaller (<1 cm) and the larger (>2 cm) tumours have predictable outcome, whereas the intermediate tumours measuring 1-2 cm in diameter are unpredictable. These latter tumours need to be carefully followed and examined. Transrectal endosonography should be used for more precise assessment of tumour extension (possible infiltration into the muscularis propria layer) and to reveal regional lymph node metastases. CT or MRI can clarify local tumour growth in the pelvis and also the presence of lymph node and liver metastases. Due to a general lack, or presence, of few somatostatin receptors, scintigraphy or PET with somatostatin analogues is insensitive. Only occasional cases may express high somatostatin receptor density leading to additional treatment options and imaging possibilities. Presence of local invasion or regional metastases favours aggressive approach with abdominoperineal or anterior resection with total mesorectal excision (TME). Incompletely removed polyps that are found to be NETs after removal may be re-excised using the same techniques.

However, results have documented more favourable survival rates than previously depicted, and local tumour removal may be advocated also in the presence of metastases. Five-year survival for rectal NETs with distant metastases is about 20–32 %, which favours an aggressive approach for this group of patients, even in the presence of local pelvic invasion or distant lymph node, liver, lung or skeletal metastases.

Our experience of individual patients with large tumours and distant metastases supports this view. Thus, we suggest surgery in these patients, often in combination with preoperative down-staging by chemotherapy, or in cases with scintigraphically documented somatostatin receptor expression PRRT with ¹⁷⁷lutetium-labelled somatostatin analogues, which can be highly effective in some patients. However, patients with atypical histopathological features are less likely to benefit from the aggressive surgical treatment.

IFN- α and paclitaxel have in some patients resulted in reduced disease progression and also regression of metastases. Occasional patients with liver metastases may benefit from hepatic artery chemoembolisation. In carefully selected cases liver resection may be indicated, with the understanding, however, that these patients generally have poor outcome and short survival.

25.5.9.3 Recommendations

Patients with rectal NETs measuring 1.0–1.9 cm and those >2 cm should be thoroughly investigated (MRT, CT, transrectal endosonography) for evidence of spread disease, e.g. local or distant metastases [12]. These patients should generally undergo surgery to achieve regional tumour clearance, and the specimens should be carefully investigated for signs of atypical histopathology. The larger the tumour, the higher will the risk be for metastatic disease. No studies have demonstrated benefit of preoperative medical or irradiation treatment. Patients with rectal NETs >1 cm, including those with infiltrative or disseminated disease, need follow-up and if not removed may require palliation against pelvic pain. Selected individuals may be offered more aggressive medical (and surgical) treatment for distant metastases.

References

- 1. Rindi G, Kloppel G, Ahlman H et al (2006) TNM staging of foregut (neuro) endocrine tumors: a consensus proposal including a grading system. Virchows Arch 449:395–401
- Rindi G, Kloppel G, Couvelard A et al (2007) TNM staging of midgut and hindgut (neuro) endocrine tumors: a consensus proposal including a grading system. Virchows Arch 451: 757–762
- Öberg K, Åkerström G, Rindi G, Jelic S (2010) Neuroendocrine gastroenteropancreatic tumours: ESMO clinical practice guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol 21(Suppl 5):v223–v227
- Bosman FT, World Health Organization, International Agency for Research on Cancer (2010) WHO classification of tumours of the digestive system, 4th edn. International Agency for Research on Cancer, Lyon, p 417
- Klimstra DS, Modlin IR, Coppola D et al (2010) The pathologic classification of neuroendocrine tumors. A review of nomenclature, grading and staging systems. Pancreas 39: 707–712
- Scarpa A, Mantovani W, Capelli P, Beghelli S, Bonisegna L, Bettini R et al (2010) Pancreatic endocrine tumors: improved TNM staging and histopathological grading permit a clinically efficient prognostic stratification of patients. Mod Pathol 23(6):824–833
- Rindi G, Falconi M, Klersy C, Albarello L, Boninsegna L, Buchler MW, Capella C, Caplin M, Couvelard A, Doglioni C, Delle Fave G, Fischer L, Fusai G, de Herder WW, Jann H, Komminoth P, de Krijger RR, La Rosa S, Luong TV, Pape U, Perren A, Ruszniewski P, Scarpa A, Schmitt A, Solcia E, Wiedenmann B (2012) TNM staging of neoplasms of the endocrine pancreas: results from a large international cohort study. J Natl Cancer Inst 104(10):764–777. doi:10.1093/jnci/djs208.36

- Khan MS, Luong TV, Watkins J, Toumpanakis C, Caplin ME, Meyer T (2013) A comparison of Ki67 and mitotic count as prognostic markers for metastatic pancreatic and midgut neuroendocrine neoplasms. Br J Cancer 108(9):1838–1845
- Miller HC, Drymousis P, Flora R, Goldin R, Spalding D, Frilling A (2014) Role of Ki-67 proliferation index in the assessment of patients with neuroendocrine neoplasias regarding the stage of disease. World J Surg. doi:10.1007/s00268-014-2451-0
- Frilling A, Åkerström G, Falconi M, Pavel M, Ramos J, Kidd M, Modlin I (2012) Neuroendocrine tumor disease – an evolving landscape. Endocr Relat Cancer 19:R163–R185
- 11. Elvin A (1993) Therapy evaluation and diagnostic accuracy in neuroendocrine tumours: assessment of radiological methods. Acta Radiol Suppl 390:1–25
- Akerstrom G, Hellman P, Hessman O (2009) Gastrointestinal carcinoids. In: Lennard T (ed) Endocrine surgery, 4th edn. Saunders Elsevier, London, pp 147–176
- Lawrence B, Gustafsson BI, Chan A, Svejda B, Kidd M, Modlin IM (2011) The epidemiology of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am 40:1–18
- 14. Granberg D, Wilander E, Stridsberg M et al (1998) Clinical symptoms, hormone profiles, treatment, and prognosis in patients with gastric carcinoids. Gut 43:223–228
- Jensen EH, Kvols L, McLoughlin JM et al (2007) Biomarkers predict outcomes following cytoreductive surgery for hepatic metastases from functional carcinoid tumors. Ann Surg Oncol 14:780–785
- 16. Koopmans KP, Neels OC, Kema IP, Elsinga PH, Sluiter WJ, Vanghillewe K, Brouwers AH, Jager PL, de Vries EG (2008) Improved staging of patients with carcinoid and islet cell tumors with ¹⁸F-dihydroxy-phenyl-alanine and ¹¹C-5-hydroxy-tryptophan positron emission tomography. J Clin Oncol 26:1489–1495. doi:10.1200/JCO.2007.15.1126
- Buchmann I, Henze M, Engelbrecht S, Eisenhut M, Runz A, Schafer M, Schilling T, Haufe S, Herrmann T, Haberkorn U (2007) Comparison of ⁶⁸Ga-DOTATOC PET and ¹¹¹In-DTPAOC (Octreoscan) SPECT in patients with neuroendocrine tumours. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 34:1617–1626. doi:10.1007/s00259-007-0450-1
- Prasad V, Ambrosini V, Hommann M, Hoersch D, Fanti S, Baum RP (2010) Detection of unknown primary neuroendocrine tumours (CUP-NET) using (68)Ga-DOTA-NOC receptor PET/CT. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 37:67–77. doi:10.1007/s00259-009-1205-y
- Frilling A, Sotiropoulos GC, Radtke A, Malago M, Bockisch A, Kuehl H, Li J, Broelsch CE (2010) The impact of ⁶⁸Ga-DOTATOC positron emission tomography/computed tomography on the multimodal management of patients with neuroendocrine tumors. Ann Surg 252:850– 856. doi:10.1097/SLA.0b013e3181fd37e8
- Binderup T, Knigge U, Loft A et al (2010) Functional imaging of neuroendocrine tumors: a head-to-head comparison of somatostatin receptor scintigraphy, 123I-MIBG scintigraphy, and 18F-FDG PET. J Nucl Med 51:704–712
- Modlin IM, Kidd M, Latich I, Zikusoka MN, Shapiro MD (2005) Current status of gastrointestinal carcinoids. Gastroenterology 128:1717–1751
- O'Toole D, Delle Fave G, Jensen RT, Delle Fave G, Jensen RT (2012) Gastric and duodenal neuroendocrine tumours. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 26(6):719–735. doi:10.1016/j. bpg.2013.01.002
- Borch K, Ahren B, Ahlman H, Falkmer S, Granerus G, Grimelius L (2005) Gastric carcinoids: biologic behavior and prognosis after differentiated treatment in relation to type. Ann Surg 242:64–73. doi:10.1097/01.sla.0000167862.52309.7d
- Ruszniewski P, Delle Fave G, Cadiot G, Komminoth P, Chung D, Kos-Kudla B, Kianmanesh R, Hochhauser D, Arnold R, Ahlman H et al (2006) Well-differentiated gastric tumors/carcinomas. Neuroendocrinology 84:158–164. doi:10.1159/000098007
- Hopper AD, Bourke MJ, Hourigan LF, Tran K, Moss A, Swan MP (2009) En-bloc resection of multiple type 1 gastric carcinoid tumors by endoscopic multi-band mucosectomy. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 24:1516–1521. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1746. 2009.05909.x
- Burkitt MD, Pritchard DM (2006) Review article: pathogenesis and management of gastric carcinoid tumours. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 24:1305–1320. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2036.2006.03130.x

- Fykse V, Sandvik AK, Qvigstad G, Falkmer SE, Syversen U, Waldum HL (2004) Treatment of ECL cell carcinoids with octreotide LAR. Scand J Gastroenterol 39:621–628. doi:10.1080/00365520410005225
- Campana D, Nori F, Pezzilli R, Piscitelli L, Santini D, Brocchi E, Corinaldesi R, Tomassetti P (2008) Gastric endocrine tumors type I: treatment with long-acting somatostatin analogs. Endocr Relat Cancer 15:337–342. doi:10.1677/ERC-07-0251
- Jianu CS, Fossmark R, Syversen U, Hauso O, Fykse V, Waldum HL (2011) Five-year followup of patients treated for 1 year with octreotide long-acting release for enterochromaffin-like cell carcinoids. Scand J Gastroenterol 46:456–463. doi:10.3109/00365521.2010.539255
- Richards ML, Gauger P, Thompson NW, Giordano TJ (2004) Regression of type II gastric carcinoids in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 patients with Zollinger–Ellison syndrome after surgical excision of all gastrinomas. World J Surg 28:652–658. doi:10.1007/s00268-004-7345-0
- Tomassetti P, Migliori M, Caletti GC, Fusaroli P, Corinaldesi R, Gullo L (2000) Treatment of type II gastric carcinoid tumors with somatostatin analogues. N Engl J Med 343:551–554. doi:10.1056/NEJM200008243430805
- 32. Lew EA, Pisegna JR, Starr JA, Soffer EF, Forsmark C, Modlin IM, Walsh JH, Beg M, Bochenek W, Metz DC (2000) Intravenous pantoprazole rapidly controls gastric acid hypersecretion in patients with Zollinger–Ellison syndrome. Gastroenterology 118:696–704. doi:10.1016/S0016-5085(00)70139-9
- 33. Kaehler G, Grobholz R, Langner C, Suchan K, Post S (2006) A new technique of endoscopic full-thickness resection using a flexible stapler. Endoscopy 38:86–89. doi:10.105 5/s-2005-921181
- Jensen RT, Rindi G, Arnold R, Lopes JM, Bechstein WO et al (2006) Well-differentiated duodenal tumor/carcinoma (excluding gastrinomas). Neuroendocrinology 84:165–172
- Wheeler MH, Curley IR, Williams ED (1986) The association of neurofibromatosis pheochromocytoma, and somatostatin-rich duodenal carcinoid tumor. Surgery 100:1163–1169
- Burke AP, Sobin LH, Federspiel BH et al (1990) Carcinoid tumors of the duodenum. A clinicopathologic study of 99 cases. Arch Pathol Lab Med 114:700–704
- Zyromski NJ, Kendrick ML, Nagomey DM et al (2001) Duodenal carcinoid tumors: how aggressive should we be? J Gastrointest Surg 5:588–593
- Wilson RW, Gal AA, Cohen C et al (1991) Serotonin immunoreactivity in pancreatic endocrine neoplasms (carcinoid tumors). Mod Pathol 4:727–732
- Berge T, Linell F (1976) Carcinoid tumours. Frequency in a defined population during a 12-year period. Acta Microbiol Scand 84(4):322–330
- 40. Eriksson B, Klöppel G, Krenning E, Ahlman H, Plöckinger U, Wiedenmann B et al (2008) Consensus guidelines for the management of patients with digestive neuroendocrine tumorswell-differentiated jejunal-ileal tumor/carcinoma. Neuroenedocrinology 87:8–19
- Strosberg J (2012) Neuroendocrine tumours of the small intestine. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 26:755–773
- 42. Norlen O, Stalberg P, Oberg K, Eriksson J, Hedberg J, Hessman O, Janson ET, Hellman P, Åkerström G (2012) Long-term results of surgery for small intestinal neuroendocrine tumors at a tertiary referral center. World J Surg 36:1419–1431
- Makridis C, Öberg K, Juhlin C, Johansson H, Lörelius LE, Åkerström G (1990) Surgical treatment of midgut carcinoid tumors. World J Surg 14:377–385
- 44. Guo Z, Li Q, Wilander E et al (2000) Clonality analysis of multifocal carcinoid tumours of the small intestine by X-chromosome inactivation analysis. J Pathol 190:76–79
- Åkerström G, Hellman P, Öhrvall U (2001) Midgut and hindgut carcinoid tumors. In: Doherty GM, Skogseid B (eds) Surgical endocrinology. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia, pp 447–459
- 46. Funa K, Papanicolaou V, Juhlin C, Rastad J, Åkerström G, Heldin C, Oberg K (1990) Expression of platelet-derived growth factor β-receptors on stromal tissue cells in human carcinoid tumors. Cancer Res 50:748–753
- Kidd M, Modlin IM (2011) Small intestinal neuroendocrine cell pathobiology: 'carcinoid' tumors. Curr Opin Oncol 23(1):45–52. doi:10.1097/CCO.0b013e328340d006
- Makridis C, Ekbom A, Bring J et al (1997) Survival and daily physical activity in patients treated for advanced midgut carcinoid tumors. Surgery 122:1075–1082

- Öhrvall U, Eriksson B, Juhlin C et al (2000) Method of dissection of mesenteric metastases in mid-gut carcinoid tumors. World J Surg 24:1402–1408
- Eckhauser FE, Argenta LC, Strodel WE et al (1981) Mesenteric angiopathy, intestinal gangrene and midgut carcinoids. Surgery 90:720–728
- Knowlessar OD, Law DH, Sleisinger MH (1959) Malabsorption syndrome associated with metastatic carcinoid tumor. Am J Med 27:673–677
- Vinik AI, McLeod MK, Fig LM, Shapiro B, Lloyd RV, Cho K (1989) Clinical features, diagnosis, and localization of carcinoid tumors and their management. Gastroenterol Clin North Am 18(4):865–896. Review
- Modlin IM, Lye KD, Kidd M (2003) A 5-decade analysis of 13,715 carcinoid tumors. Cancer 97:934–959
- Strosberg J, Gardner N, Kvols L (2009) Survival and prognostic factor analysis of 146 metastatic neuroendocrine tumors of the mid-gut. Neuroendocrinology 89(4):471–476
- Jacobs C (2009) Neuroendocrine tumors a rare finding: part I. Clin J Oncol Nurs 13:21–23. doi:10.1188/09.CJON.21-23
- 56. Mooney E (1985) The flushing patient. Int J Dermatol 24:549-554
- Matuchansky C, Launay JM (1995) Serotonin, catecholamines, and spontaneous midgut carcinoid flush: plasma studies from flushing and nonflushing sites. Gastroenterology 108:743–751
- Pellikka PA, Tajik AJ, Khandheria BK, Seward JB, Callahan JA, Pitot HC, Kvols LK (1993) Carcinoid heart disease. Clinical and echocardiographic spectrum in 74 patients. Circulation 87:1188–1196
- Lundin L, Hansson HE, Landelius J et al (1990) Surgical treatment of carcinoid heart disease. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 100:552–561
- Westberg G, Wängberg B, Ahlman H et al (2001) Prediction of prognosis by echocardiography in patients with midgut carcinoid syndrome. Br J Surg 88:865–872
- Öberg K (1998) Carcinoid tumors: current concepts in diagnosis and treatment. Oncologist 3:339–345
- Öhrlefors H, Sundin A, Ahlström H et al (1998) Positron emission tomography with 5-hydroxytryptophan in neuroendocrine tumors. J Clin Oncol 16:2534–2541
- Makridis C, Rastad J, Öberg K et al (1996) Progression of metastases and symptom improvement from laparotomy in midgut carcinoid tumors. World J Surg 20:900–907
- Hellman P, Lundström T, Öhrvall U et al (2002) Effect of surgery on the outcome of midgut carcinoid disease with lymph node and liver metastases. World J Surg 26:991–997
- 65. Rinke A, Muller HH, Schade-Brittinger C, Klose KJ, Barth P, Wied M, Mayer C, Aminossadati B, Pape UF, Blaker M et al (2009) Placebo-controlled, double-blind, prospective, randomized study on the effect of octreotide LAR in the control of tumor growth in patients with meta-static neuroendocrine midgut tumors: a report from the PROMID Study Group. J Clin Oncol 27:4656–4663. doi:10.1200/JCO.2009.22.8510
- 66. Kianmanesh R, Ruszniewski P, Rindi G, Kwekkeboom D, Pape UF, Kulke M, Sevilla Garcia I, Scoazec JY, Nilsson O, Fazio N, Lesurtel M, Chen YJ, Eriksson B, Cioppi F, O'Toole D (2010) ENETS consensus guidelines for the management of peritoneal carcinomatosis from neuroendocrine tumors. Neuroendocrinology 91(4):333–340. doi:10.1159/000286700
- Elias D, Sideris L, Liberale G, Ducreux M, Malka D, Lasser P, Duvillard P, Baudin E (2005) Surgical treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis from well-differentiated digestive endocrine carcinomas. Surgery 137:411–416
- Frilling A, Modlin IM, Kidd M et al (2014) Recommendations for management of patients with neuroendocrine liver metastases. Lancet Oncol 15(1):e8–e21. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(13)70362-0
- 69. Jann H, Roll S, Couvelard A et al (2011) Neuroendocrine tumors of midgut and hindgut origin: tumor-node-metastasis classification determines clinical outcome. Cancer 117:3332–3341
- Landerholm K, Zar N, Andersson RE, Falkmer SE, Jarhult J (2011) Survival and prognostic factors in patients with small bowel carcinoid tumour. Br J Surg 98:1617–1624
- Knigge U, Hansen CP (2012) Surgery for GEP-NETs. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 26(6):819–831
- 72. Steinmuller T, Kianmanesh R, Falconi M, Scarpa A, Taal B, Kvekkebom DJ et al (2008) Consensus guidelines for the management of liver metastases from (digestive) neuroendocrine tumors: foregut, midgut, hindgut and unknown primary. Neuroendocrinology 87:47–62

- 73. Mazzaferro V, Pulvirenti A, Coppa J (2007) Neuroendocrine tumors metastatic to the liver: how to select patients for liver transplantation? J Hepatol 47:460–466. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2007.07.004
- 74. Kianmanesh R, Sauvanet A, Hentic O, Couvelard A, Levy P, Vilgrain V, Ruszniewski P, Belghiti J (2008) Two-step surgery for synchronous bilobar liver metastases from digestive endocrine tumors: a safe approach for radical resection. Ann Surg 247:659–665. doi:10.1097/SLA.0b013e31816a7061
- Frilling A, Li J, Malamutmann E, Schmid KW, Bockisch A, Broelsch CE (2009) Treatment of liver metastases from neuroendocrine tumours in relation to the extent of hepatic disease. Br J Surg 96(2):175–184
- 76. Scigliano S, Lebtahi R, Maire F, Stievenart JL, Kianmanesh R, Sauvanet A, Vullierme MP, Couvelard A, Belghiti J, Ruszniewski P et al (2009) Clinical and imaging follow-up after exhaustive liver resection of endocrine metastases: a 15-year monocentric experience. Endocr Relat Cancer 16:977–990. doi:10.1677/ERC-08-0247
- 77. Elias D, Lefevre JH, Duvillard P, Goere D, Dromain C, Dumont F et al (2010) Hepatic metastases from neuroendocrine tumors with a "thin slice" pathological examination: they are many more than you think. Ann Surg 251(2):307–310
- Norlen O, Stalberg P, Zedenius J, Hellman P (2013) Outcome after resection and radiofrequency ablation of liver metastases from small intestinal neuroendocrine tumours. Br J Surg 100(11):1505–1514
- Kennedy A, Coldwell D, Sangro B, Wasan H, Salem R (2012) Integrating radioembolization into the treatment paradigm for metastatic neuroendocrine tumors in the liver. Am J Clin Oncol 35(4):393–398
- Lewis MA, Jaramillo S, Roberts L, Fleming CJ, Rubin J, Grothey A (2012) Hepatic artery embolization for neuroendocrine tumors: postprocedural management and complications. Oncologist 17(5):725–731
- Oberg KE (2012) The management of neuroendocrine tumours: current and future medical therapy options. Clin Oncol 24(4):282–293
- van Essen M, Krenning EP, Bakker WH, de Herder WW, van Aken MO, Kwekkeboom DJ (2007) Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy with 177Lu-octreotate in patients with foregut carcinoid tumours of bronchial, gastric and thymic origin. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 34(8):1219–1227
- 83. Caplin M, Ruszniewski P, Pavel M, Cwikla J, Phan A, Raderer M et al (2013) A randomized, double-blind, placebo-Controlled study of Lanreotide Antiproliferative Response in patients with gastroenteropancreatic NeuroEndocrine Tumors (CLARINET). The European Cancer Congress, Amsterdam
- 84. Garske U (2012) 177Lu-DOTA-octreotate radionuclide therapy of neuroendocrine tumours dosimetry-based therapy planning and outcome. Dissertation, Uppsala University
- 85. Krausch M, Raffel A, Anlauf M, Schott M, Lehwald N, Krieg A et al (2014) "Cherry picking", a multiple non-anatomic liver resection technique, as a promising option for diffuse liver metastases in patients with neuroendocrine tumours. World J Surg 38(2):392–401
- Eriksson J, Stalberg P, Nilsson A, Krause J, Lundberg C, Skogseid B et al (2008) Surgery and radiofrequency ablation for treatment of liver metastases from midgut and foregut carcinoids and endocrine pancreatic tumors. World J Surg 32(5):930–938
- Ahlman H, Westberg G, Wangberg B, Nilsson O, Tylen U, Schersten T et al (1996) Treatment of liver metastases of carcinoid tumors. World J Surg 20(2):196–202
- McEntee GP, Nagorney DM, Kvols LK, Moertel CG, Grant CS (1990) Cytoreductive hepatic surgery for neuroendocrine tumors. Surgery 108(6):1091–1096
- Norton JA, Kivlen M, Li M, Schneider D, Chuter T, Jensen RT (2003) Morbidity and mortality of aggressive resection in patients with advanced neuroendocrine tumors. Arch Surg 138(8): 859–866
- 90. Touzios JG, Kiely JM, Pitt SC, Rilling WS, Quebbeman EJ, Wilson SD et al (2005) Neuroendocrine hepatic metastases: does aggressive management improve survival? Ann Surg 241(5):776–783; discussion 783–785

- Akyildiz HY, Mitchell J, Milas M, Siperstein A, Berber E (2010) Laparoscopic radiofrequency thermal ablation of neuroendocrine hepatic metastases: long-term follow-up. Surgery 148(6):1288–1293; discussion 1293
- Hellman P, Ladjevardi S, Skogseid B, Akerstrom G, Elvin A (2002) Radiofrequency tissue ablation using cooled tip for liver metastases of endocrine tumors. World J Surg 26(8):1052–1056
- Groeschl RT, Pilgrim CH, Hanna EM, Simo KA, Swan RZ, Sindram D et al (2013) Microwave ablation for hepatic malignancies: a multiinstitutional analysis. Ann Surg 259(6):1195–1200. PMID:24096760
- 94. Strosberg JR, Choi J, Cantor AB, Kvols LK (2006) Selective hepatic artery embolization for treatment of patients with metastatic carcinoid and pancreatic endocrine tumors. Cancer Control 13(1):72–78
- Schell SR, Camp ER, Caridi JG, Hawkins IF Jr (2002) Hepatic artery embolization for control of symptoms, octreotide requirements, and tumor progression in metastatic carcinoid tumors. J Gastrointest Surg 6(5):664–670
- Lewis MA, Hubbard J (2011) Multimodal liver-directed management of neuroendocrine hepatic metastases. Int J Hepatol. doi:10.4061/2011/452343
- 97. Granberg D, Eriksson LG, Welin S, Kindmark H, Janson ET, Skogseid B et al (2007) Liver embolization with trisacryl gelatin microspheres (embosphere) in patients with neuroendocrine tumors. Acta Radiol 48(2):180–185
- 98. van Vilsteren FG, Baskin-Bey ES, Nagorney DM, Sanderson SO, Kremers WK, Rosen CB et al (2006) Liver transplantation for gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine cancers: defining selection criteria to improve survival. Liver Transplant: Off Publ Am Assoc Study Liver Dis Int Liver Transplant Soc 12(3):448–456
- Pascher A, Klupp J, Neuhaus P (2006) Endocrine tumours of the gastrointestinal tract. Transplantation in the management of metastatic endocrine tumours. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 19(4):637–648
- 100. Olausson M, Friman S, Herlenius G, Cahlin C, Nilsson O, Jansson S et al (2007) Orthotopic liver or multivisceral transplantation as treatment of metastatic neuroendocrine tumors. Liver Transplant: Off Publ Am Assoc Study Liver Dis Int Liver Transplant Soc 13(3):327–333
- 101. Lehnert T (1998) Liver transplantation for metastatic neuroendocrine carcinoma: an analysis of 103 patients. Transplantation 66(10):1307–1312
- 102. Norlen O, Daskalakis K, Oberg K, Akerstrom G, Stalberg P, Hellman P (2013) Indication for liver transplantation in young patients with small intestinal NETs is rare? World J Surg 38(3):742–747
- 103. Akerström G, Falconi M, Kianmanesh R et al (2009) ENETS Consensus guidelines for the standards of care in neuroendocrine tumors: pre- and perioperative therapy in patients with neuroendocrine tumors. Neuroendocrinology 90:203–208
- 104. Strosberg J, Weber JM, Feldman M, Coppola D, Meredith K, Kvols LK (2013) Prognostic validity of the American Joint Committee on Cancer staging classification for midgut neuroendocrine tumors. J Clin Oncol 31(4):420–425. doi:10.1200/JCO.2012.44.5924
- 105. Hentic O, Couvelard A, Rebours V, Zappa M, Dokmak S, Hammel P et al (2011) Ki-67 index, tumor differentiation, and extent of liver involvement are independent prognostic factors in patients with liver metastases of digestive endocrine carcinomas. Endocr Relat Cancer 18(1):51–59
- 106. Yao JC, Hassan M, Phan A, Dagohoy C, Leary C, Mares JE et al (2008) One hundred years after "carcinoid": epidemiology of and prognostic factors for neuroendocrine tumors in 35,825 cases in the United States. J Clin Oncol 26(18):3063–3072
- 107. In't Hof KH, van der Wal HC, Kazemier G, Lange JF (2008) Carcinoid tumour of the appendix: an analysis of 1,485 consecutive emergency appendectomies. J Gastrointest Surg 12(8):1436–1438
- 108. Goede AC, Caplin ME, Winslet MC (2003) Carcinoid tumour of the appendix. Br J Surg 90(11):1317–1322
- 109. Plockinger U, Couvelard A, Falconi M, Sundin A, Salazar R, Christ E et al (2008) Consensus guidelines for the management of patients with digestive neuroendocrine tumours:
well-differentiated tumour/carcinoma of the appendix and goblet cell carcinoma. Neuroendocrinology 87(1):20–30

- 110. Pape UF, Perren A, Niederle B, Gross D, Gress T, Costa F et al (2012) ENETS Consensus Guidelines for the management of patients with neuroendocrine neoplasms from the jejunoileum and the appendix including goblet cell carcinomas. Neuroendocrinology 95(2):135–156
- 111. Cashin P, Nygren P, Hellman P, Granberg D, Andreasson H, Mahteme H (2011) Appendiceal adenocarcinoids with peritoneal carcinomatosis treated with cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal chemotherapy: a retrospective study of in vitro drug sensitivity and survival. Clin Colorectal Cancer 10(2):108–112
- 112. O'Donnell ME, Badger SA, Beattie GC, Carson J, Garstin WI (2007) Malignant neoplasms of the appendix. Int J Colorectal Dis 22(10):1239–1248
- 113. Bucher P, Gervaz P, Ris F, Oulhaci W, Egger JF, Morel P (2005) Surgical treatment of appendiceal adenocarcinoid (goblet cell carcinoid). World J Surg 29(11):1436–1439
- 114. Ramage JK, Goretzki PE, Manfredi R, Komminoth P, Ferone D, Hyrdel R et al (2008) Consensus guidelines for the management of patients with digestive neuroendocrine tumours: well-differentiated colon and rectum tumour/carcinoma. Neuroendocrinology 87(1):31–39
- Vogelsang H, Siewert JR (2005) Endocrine tumours of the hindgut. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 19(5):739–751
- 116. Kang H, O'Connell JB, Leonardi MJ, Maggard MA, McGory ML, Ko CY (2007) Rare tumors of the colon and rectum: a national review. Int J Colorectal Dis 22(2):183–189
- 117. Kimura N, Sasano N (1986) Prostate-specific acid phosphatase in carcinoid tumors. Virchows Arch A Pathol Anat Histopathol 410(3):247–251

Liver-Directed Therapies in Neuroendocrine Tumors

Magaly Zappa, Annie Sibert, Mohamed Abdel-Rehim, Olivia Hentic, Maxime Ronot, Marie-Pierre Vullierme, Valérie Vilgrain, and Philippe Ruszniewski

26.1 Introduction

Liver metastases (LM) represent the most crucial prognostic factor for gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors (GEP NET), altering both quality of life and prognosis regardless the primary site [1]. Liver is the predominant site for NET metastases besides regional lymph nodes [1]. At diagnosis, about 65–95 % of GEP NET (excluding appendiceal, gastric, and rectal NET) are associated with liver metastases [1]. Studies based on histological cohorts of untreated patients with NET have shown a dismal prognosis in patients with LM compared to patients without (0–40 % vs. 75–99 %) [2–4]. Surgery of LM is the standard of care and the sole curative treatment. Surgery is recommended when complete resection or debulking more than 90 % seems feasible [5]. This option justifies aggressive surgical approach which could require either 2-step surgery in synchronous bilobar LM or patient preparation

M. Zappa (🖂) • M. Ronot • V. Vilgrain

 A. Sibert • M. Abdel-Rehim • M.-P. Vullierme
Department of Radiology, Hôpital Beaujon, Assistance Publique-Hôpitaux de Paris, 100, boulevard du Général Leclerc, 92110 Clichy, France

O. Hentic

P. Ruszniewski

Department of Gastroenterology, Hôpital Beaujon, Assistance Publique-Hôpitaux de Paris, 100, boulevard du Général Leclerc, 92110 Clichy, France

Univ Paris Diderot, Sorbonne, Paris Cité, CRB3 Inserm U773, 75018 Paris, France e-mail: philippe.ruszniewski@bjn.aphp.fr

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

S. Yalcin, K. Öberg (eds.), *Neuroendocrine Tumours: Diagnosis and Management*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-662-45215-8_26

Department of Radiology, Hôpital Beaujon, Assistance Publique-Hôpitaux de Paris, 100, boulevard du Général Leclerc, 92110 Clichy, France

Univ Paris Diderot, Sorbonne, Paris Cité, CRB3 Inserm U773, 75018 Paris, France e-mail: magaly.zappa@bjn.aphp.fr

Department of Gastroenterology, Hôpital Beaujon, Assistance Publique-Hôpitaux de Paris, 100, boulevard du Général Leclerc, 92110 Clichy, France

to surgery as portal vein ligation or embolization [6]. Complete resection of LM is definitely the goal to achieve with a 5-year survival of 80 % [7]. Yet, overall survival is still satisfactory in R1 resection with a 5-year survival of 70 % [7].

In a large retrospective series of patients with LM from NET of the jejunum/ ileum and pancreatic origin who were treated with best supportive care or hepatic arterial embolization or liver resection, the only significant factor on multivariate analysis was curative intent to treat [8]. Furthermore, the 5-year survival rates for patients treated with medical therapy, hepatic arterial embolization, and operation were <25, 50 and 76 %, respectively [8].

However, surgery cannot be proposed to all patients, especially to those with diffuse LM. In Chamberlain's paper, only 34 patients out of 85 had surgical resection [8]. Hence, for unresectable lesions, optimal selection of palliative nonsurgical treatments is crucial. Liver-directed treatments have a place of choice and are discussed in tumor boards for many of these patients.

26.2 Thermal Ablative Techniques

Thermal ablative ablation is based on the cytotoxic effects of nonphysiologic temperature that are locally administrated by probes placed within the liver. Radiofrequency ablation (RFA) has been the most widely used and studied, but recent studies using microwave ablation (MWA) seem to report similar results.

26.2.1 Radiofrequency Ablation

With RFA, high-frequency current is transmitted to the liver through one or several electrode needles (uni- or multipolar technique). The ionic vibrations generated by the high-frequency current induce heat which denatures intracellular proteins and leads to apoptosis and cell death. Pathologically, the destroyed tumor is replaced by coagulation necrosis. Thermal ablation zone should include the tumor and sufficient margins to prevent from local recurrence (Fig. 26.1).

RFA can be performed percutaneously under CT or US guidance or intraoperatively mostly in combination with liver resection using either laparoscopic or open approach.

Classical indications of RFA are LM fewer than five lesions and tumor size less than 5 cm [5]. Yet, two other issues should be discussed in LM from NET: the role of RFA in tumor debulking and in controlling functional syndromes due to specific hormones excess. This explains that most series of patients with LM from NET had more than five ablated tumors with intraoperative RFA during one session [9, 10].

In Elias's series, 16 patients had combined liver surgery and RFA [9]. A mean of 15 and 12 LM per patient were surgically removed and RF ablated, respectively. Morbidity was observed in 69 % of the cases. The 3-year overall survival and disease-free survival were similar to their previous experience of liver resection alone of LM from NET.



Fig. 26.1 A 45-year-old man with small bowel neuroendocrine tumor, with left hepatectomy for liver metastasis. (a) Axial CT scan (arterial phase) shows new metastatic liver lesion in the remnant right liver. (b) Axial CT scan (portal venous phase) obtained after radiofrequency ablation of the lesion shows hypoattenuation with no residual lesion

In Akyildiz's series, 119 laparoscopic RFA without liver resection were performed in 89 patients with LM from NET. The mean tumor size was 3.6 cm, and the mean number of tumors was 6 (range 1–16) [10]. Perioperative morbidity was 6 %, and 30-day morbidity was 1 %. Forty-four patients had hormonal symptoms prior the procedure. One week after RFA, 97 % of these patients reported at least partial symptoms relief, and 73 % had significant or complete relief. The symptomatic response lasted for a median of 14 ± 5 months [10]. Median disease-free survival was 1.3 year, and overall survival was 6 years after RFA.

Follow-up by imaging (CT and or MR imaging) is essential to assess complete tumor necrosis. One of the major problems is the recurrence of metastases within the liver as new tumors are reported up to 63 % in the largest series of patients treated with RFA [10]. Conversely, local liver recurrence was observed from 3.3 to 7.9 % per lesion [10, 11]. Interestingly, in a meta-analysis including 5.224 ablated tumors of various origin, the rate of local recurrence was lower in neuroendocrine LM than in others [11]. This might be due to tumor characteristics such as well-circumscribed margins or to natural history of these tumors [11]. As in other liver malignancies, factors predictive of tumor recurrence are tumor size, ablation margin, and blood vessel proximity [12]. In a multivariate analysis, statistically significant determinants of survival were only gender (with males having the worse prognosis) and size of the dominant liver metastasis (a tumor size exceeding 3 cm was associated with a greater mortality) [13].

Complications observed after RFA are not related to tumor type. They include pain, bile leakage, liver abscess, intra-abdominal hemorrhage, bowel perforation, and pulmonary complications [5, 10, 12, 13].

In patients with LM who had previous Whipple procedure and bilioenteric anastomosis, we have to keep in mind that RFA dramatically increases the risk of liver abscess formation (40 % vs. 0.4 %) [12].

In summary, RFA of LM from NETs differs from other liver metastases due to the large number of lesions per patient. Then RFA is mostly palliative aiming at debulking and controlling hormonal symptoms. This explains why intraoperative approach with or without combined liver resection is preferred rather than percutaneous approach.

26.2.2 Microwave Ablation

MWA uses electromagnetic devices with frequencies \geq 900 MHz. The principle of this technique is similar to RFA but has several theoretical advantages. First, the intratumoral temperatures are consistently higher than can be achieved with RFA. Second, MWA is overcoming the "heat-sink" effect observed in RFA due to the cooling effect of blood flow in large vessels close to the tumor, both resulting in a better tumor control.

MWA has not been extensively evaluated in LM from NET. Only one series reported 11 patients with LM from NET out of 100 patients [14]. As with RFA, most procedures were performed intraoperatively either with concomitant hepatic resection (7/11) or concomitant extrahepatic tumor resection (6/11). The median number of ablated LM was 4 ranging from 1 to 13 tumors. Complications were observed in three patients. No local liver recurrence was noticed [14].

26.2.3 Cryotherapy

Cryotherapy is based on the decreased cell viability at low temperatures. The obtained tissue temperature should be -50 °C to achieve necrosis in neoplastic tissue.

To our knowledge, only three series have evaluated cryotherapy in LM from NETs (the largest with 19 patients) [15–17]. As with other thermal ablative techniques, hormonal symptom relief was observed in the vast majority of patients. Notably, postprocedural coagulopathy has been found in all patients of the two main series requiring transfusion of either platelets or fresh frozen plasma [15, 16]. In one of these series, two patients required intra-abdominal packing and transfusion of clotting factors [16]. The authors have not observed similar complications in any other liver malignancies and speculated that the necrosing carcinoid tumors were releasing substances that may disrupt the coagulation cascade [16].

Despite the efficacy on hormonal symptoms, cryotherapy has been gradually replaced by RFA, mainly for safety reasons.

26.3 Transarterial Chemoembolization and Bland Embolization

26.3.1 Rationale and Results

The rationale for transarterial hepatic embolization (TAE) is based on the fact that most LMs from NET are hypervascular and derive their blood supply from hepatic artery. The goal of TAE is to induce ischemia of tumor cells thereby reducing hormone output and causing necrosis. Various particles have been used including gelfoam, polyvinyl alcohol particles, and more recently, microspheres.

In the 1990s, transarterial chemoembolization (TACE) has been developed based on the principle that ischemia of the tumor cells increases sensitivity to chemotherapeutic substances [18]. Another advantage of TACE over TAE is the higher drug concentration obtained by regional delivery of chemotherapy. In TACE, embolization is performed immediately after intra-arterial injection of cytotoxic agents.

Despite the large number of TACE or TAE studies performed in patients with LM from NET, there are no randomized trials. Most of studies have evaluated clinical, biological, and morphological responses. Partial or complete symptom relief was observed in 42–100 % which lasts between 9 and 24 months [19, 20]. Significant decrease in tumor markers occurred in 13–100 % [19, 21]. Morphological response (either complete or partial) was seen in 8–94 % [21, 22]. Yet, imaging criteria for assessing tumor response have not been detailed in all published articles. When evaluated, overall survival since TAE or TACE initiation ranges from 15 to 80 months [23, 24].

Predictive factors of tumor response after TAE or TACE have been identified. Some of them depend on LM characteristics such as tumor liver involvement <30 % and tumor enhancement on arterial phase CT images [25, 26]. Primary tumor of the jejunum/ileum is associated with a better tumor response of the LM than pancreatic tumor [23, 25–28].

26.3.2 Technical Issues

Careful analysis of the literature highlights many disagreements on technical issues.

Such as choice between TAE and TACE is not clear. Several studies have retrospectively compared TAE and TACE in patients with LM from NETs. In all studies but one, treated patients had NET from the jejunum/ileum and NET from pancreatic origin, and no subgroup analysis has been performed. In two studies, no differences have been shown in terms of patient survival and tumor response [29, 30]. In one study, chemoembolization demonstrated trends toward improvement, in time to progression, symptom control, and survival (although not significant) [31]. Furthermore, these authors, as others, have shown that chemoembolization was not associated with a higher degree of toxicity than bland embolization [31, 32]. Gupta et al. have separately analyzed their results in small intestinal tumors and pancreatic

tumors. They have shown that the addition of intra-arterial chemotherapy to embolization did not improve the overall survival nor progression-free survival in patients with small intestinal tumors. Moreover, it had a deleterious effect on the morphologic response rate [27]. In contrast, a tendency toward prolonged survival and improved response rate was noted in patients with pancreatic tumors treated with TACE compared to TAE [27]. A prospective comparison between TAE and TACE in neuroendocrine LM from the midgut has been published recently [29]. Primary endpoint was progression-free survival. The expected number of enrolled patients was not achieved explaining that this study may suffer from a lack of power. Yet, no difference was seen in the two groups [29]. The 1st year progression-free survival rates were 91.6 and 90 % in the TAE and TACE arms, respectively. The median PFS was 24 and 19 months in the TAE and TACE arms, respectively. There results confirm that the addition of intra-arterial chemotherapy to embolization does not prolong PFS. In summary, TACE has not been proved superior to TAE in LM from the jejunum/ileum. The question is still open in LM from neuroendocrine tumors of the pancreas.

It is known that embolization stimulates release of VEGF into the circulation. Authors have speculated that sunitinib, an oral VEGFR inhibitor, could be administered following embolization [33]. They observed high rates of PFS (15.2 months) and OS (95 and 59 % at 1 and 4 years, respectively) associated with this sequence of therapies.

Most cytotoxic drugs that have been injected during TACE procedure are drugs that are currently used with systemic chemotherapy. Various drugs have been used: doxorubicin and streptozotocin being the most common injected and, alone or in combination, mitomycin C, cisplatin, and gemcitabine. Even some teams have injected a mixture of doxorubicin, mitomycin, and cisplatin. Most teams recommend doxorubicin in small intestinal tumors and streptozotocin in pancreatic tumors [24, 25]. As drug assignment was not controlled nor randomized, it is not possible to determine which drug is more efficient. However, authors see potential advantage in using streptozotocin, especially in LM from the pancreas, which may save doxorubicin for subsequent use and chemotherapy [25] (Fig. 26.2). As injection of streptozotocin has been reported to be painful, the procedure is then performed under general anesthesia [34].

No comparison between absorbable and nonabsorbable particles has been made in LM from NETs. Moreover, most studies have included patients treated with absorbable and nonabsorbable particles [27, 30, 35, 36] (Fig. 26.3). Only one study has focused on TAE with trisacryl gelatin microspheres (Embosphere[®]) (Fig. 26.4). Hepatic embolization was performed using either particles sized 300–500 μ m, 500– 700 μ m, and/or 700–900 μ m. Absence of disease progression was seen in 91 % of the cases, and 35 % of the patients had partial response on imaging using RECIST criteria despite the fact that some patients had extensive tumor necrosis [19]. No major complications occurred in this series. Notably, all patients with bilobar involvement were treated sequentially [19].

Studies have compared the conventional TACE technique and the drug-eluting beads technique and have shown a more prolonged retention of drug within



Fig. 26.2 A 76-year-old man with pancreatic neuroendocrine tumor and multiple liver metastases. (a) Axial CT scan shows hypervascular lesions at the arterial phase. (b) Axial CT scan after chemoembolization using streptozotocin shows a major lipiodol uptake of lesions with no residual hyperarterial tumor suggesting complete response



Fig. 26.3 A 56-year-old man with resected small bowel neuroendocrine tumor. (**a**) Axial CT scan shows hypoattenuating liver metastases (portal venous phase). (**b**) Axial CT scan at the portal phase after bland embolization of the right liver with sponge shows partial response with important necrosis and decrease in size of all lesions

hepatocellular carcinoma in the latter [37]. Drug-eluting beads are particles which are preloaded with any chemotherapeutic agent. The principle is to deliver high dose and more sustained release of drug into the tumor compared to systemic chemotherapy [38, 39]. Recently, three trials have evaluated drug-eluting beads with doxorubicin in LM from NETs. Preloaded in LM from neuroendocrine tumors is doxorubicin (DC Bead, Terumo, Japan) [38, 39]. Stabilization or partial response on imaging was observed in 95 and 100 % of cases. The mean PFS was 14 and 15 months, respectively [38, 39]. Again, no comparison has been made with conventional TACE in those patients. Yet, the PFS rates were in the range of the others.



Fig. 26.4 A 67-year-old woman with resected small bowel neuroendocrine tumor. (a) Axial CT scan shows big hypoattenuating liver metastases with little area of necrosis (portal venous phase). (b) Axial CT scan at the portal venous phase after bland-selective embolization of this lesion with microspheres shows a possible complete response with major necrosis and decrease in size of the lesion

Interestingly, biliary and liver injuries such as dilated bile ducts, portal vein narrowing, portal venous thrombosis, and biloma/liver infarcts have been reported in patients with LM from neuroendocrine tumors and are more often observed than in patients with hepatocellular developed on cirrhosis [40]. This first observation was largely confirmed by a study which showed that 7/13 (54 %) patients with LM from neuroendocrine tumors developed bilomas which forced interruption of the trial. Notably, all of these patients had multiple small LM [41]. It is hypothesized that hypertrophied peribiliary plexus observed in cirrhosis could protect against the ischemic/chemical insult of bile ducts suggesting caution when using drug-eluting beads in noncirrhotic liver [40].

26.3.3 Complications, Toxicity, and Exclusion Criteria

In a retrospective series of 72 patients with neuroendocrine LM, the median length of stay was 4 days [42]. The most common and classical complication is the postembolization syndrome which is seen in up to 80–90 % of the patients [27, 43]. It includes fever, leukocytosis, abdominal pain, nausea, and a transient increase in liver enzymes. Some of the severe complications are also observed in other liver malignancies such as liver failure, cholecystitis, gastric ulcers and bleeding, whereas some others such as carcinoid crisis are specific of LM from neuroendocrine origin [5].

TAE and TACE can be repeated safely in patients with LM from neuroendocrine tumors and especially in patients with disease progression [44]. The complication rate after repeat TACE is lower than after the first TACE [44]. As in other indications, TACE used to be performed at fixed delays whatever the tumor response. The trend is now to adapt the number of sessions and the interval between sessions to the tumor response.

Portal vein thrombosis and hepatic insufficiency are considered exclusion criteria for both TAE and TACE [1]. As the odds ratio of developing abscess in patients with bilioenteric anastomosis is very high (894), TACE should be avoided in those patients [45]. In a retrospective series of 489 TACE performed in various tumors, the three patients who developed abscess formation had a neuroendocrine tumor and a bilioenteric anastomosis [46]; in another retrospective series, 48 % of patients (12/25) with bilioenteric anastomosis developed an abscess, and two of them died [47]. If it must be performed, very broad-spectrum prophylactic antibiotics and bowel preparation before the procedure should be considered [45].

Tumoral liver involvement is an important issue for both efficacy and toxicity. Best morphological responses are obtained in patients with limited liver involvement (<30 or <50 %) [22, 26]. On the other hand, toxicity is increased in major liver involvement (>70 or 75 %) [22, 26, 27, 48]. This threshold has been first used as an exclusion criterion by many teams. However, Gupta et al. have been able to treat many patients with >75 % liver involvement successfully and safely by treating only a small portion of the liver in each embolization session [27].

26.4 Radioembolization

Radioembolization is defined as the injection of micron-sized embolic particles loaded with radioisotope by use of percutaneous transarterial techniques. Radioembolization with yttrium-90 microspheres involves infusion of embolic microparticles of glass or resin impregnated with the isotope yttrium-90 through a catheter directly into the hepatic arteries. Yttrium-90 is a pure β -emitter and decays to stable Zr-90 with a physical half-life of 64.1 h.

The efficacy of this radioembolization technique, as for the chemoembolization, is based on the fact that intrahepatic malignancies derive their blood supply almost entirely from the hepatic artery, as opposed to the normal liver, which mainly depends on the portal vein. The microspheres are injected selectively into the proper hepatic artery and subsequently become lodged in the microvasculature surrounding the tumor. Very high irradiation doses are delivered to the tumors, whereas the surrounding liver parenchyma is largely spared. Sommer et al. have shown that the only baseline imaging parameter statistically associated with the progression-free survival (PFS) was the hypervascular pattern [49].

The use of yttrium-90 for the treatment of primary and secondary liver malignancies is no longer investigational or experimental, and both devices have got FDA and European approval.

The technique comprises two steps: The first step is patient eligibility and conditioning. Selective mesenteric and hepatic angiography and scintigraphy are performed to isolate the hepatic circulation by occluding extrahepatic vessels with prophylactic embolization of extrahepatic arteries (e.g., right gastric, gastroduodenal artery). The second step is the radioembolization therapy itself. Several days after patient eligibility and conditioning, treatment is performed with microsphere infusion proceeding at flow rates similar to that of the native hepatic artery. Treatment of the contralateral lobe, if needed, is usually performed 30–60 days.

The largest series of selective interval radiation therapy (SIRT) of LM from NET is a retrospective review of 148 patients from ten institutions. Complete and partial tumor response were seen in 2.7 and 60.5 % of the cases according to RECIST criteria, respectively [50]. Stable disease was observed in 22.7 % of the cases, and progressive disease occurred in only 4.9 % of the cases [50]. Similar results were reported in the other series including a prospective one [51–56]. Paprottka et al. have observed that 97.5 % of liver metastases become necrotic or hypovascular explaining the high rate of overall response when using imaging criteria which aim to depict tumor changes such as EASL or mRECIST criteria [54]. For Ceelen et al., the post-procedural MR parameters associated with a longer PFS were a both decrease in sum of diameters and arterial enhancement and an increase in necrosis [57].

Symptomatic responses were observed in 55–100 % [53, 58, 59]. Disease control rate was 93 %, much better than for other types of malignancy (59 % for colorectal primaries and 63 % for other primaries) [60].

Low toxicity is another advantage of radioembolization. Side effects are mainly represented by fatigue, nausea or vomiting, and abdominal pain; no Grade 4 toxicities but one were seen in articles which detail complications after the procedure. Moreover, no radiation-induced liver failure was described in those patients [50, 54, 58].

26.4.1 Embolization and Chemoembolization vs. Radioembolization

To date, there has been no randomized trial but two review papers and a multicenter, prospective treatment registry with radioembolization which have evaluated the efficacy of radioembolization and TAE/TACE in neuroendocrine LM [61–63]. Treatment efficacy seems similar. Time to progression (TTP) was not different from the groups [61]. TAE/TACE seems more appropriate in patients with bulky and large tumors which require a segmental targeted approach whereas radioembolization could be more advantageous in patients with small LM that have a miliary bilobar distribution.

26.5 Indications of Liver-Directed Treatments

Presence of liver metastases largely influences prognosis in all types of neuroendocrine tumors [64]. Prognosis has improved with significant overall survival increasing in both patients with LM from the jejunum/ileum and the pancreas undergoing multidisciplinary treatment [64]. This includes hepatobiliary surgery, locoregional, and/or medical therapies.

Patient management depends on LM characteristics (tumor pattern and tumor burden), tumor differentiation and proliferative activity, and natural history of LM.

LM may be defined according to three different macroscopic patterns: (1) a *simple* pattern corresponding to LM confined to one liver lobe or limited to two adjacent segments, (2) a *complex* pattern assessed when LM primarily affect one lobe but with smaller satellites contralaterally, and (3) a *diffuse* pattern corresponding to diffuse, multifocal liver metastases [64].

Tumor differentiation and proliferative activity are also important factors for patient management. In this article, we will only consider liver-targeted therapy in Grade 1 and 2 neuroendocrine LM as systemic chemotherapy is the recommended treatment in Grade 3 tumors.

Last, natural history course is also a key factor. The "watch-and-wait" attitude is recommended in nonprogressive and nonsymptomatic liver metastases in patients with limited tumor burden (30-50 %) [65].

In single pattern LM, the standard of care is surgical resection if possible. Local ablative therapies (mainly RF ablation) play a significant role and are performed when surgery is contraindicated.

In complex pattern of LM, local ablative treatments (mainly intraoperatively) may be used in combination to surgical resection in order to extent the number of patients amenable to complete resection.

In diffuse LM, surgery and local ablative therapies are no longer indicated. The role of transarterial treatment (TAE, TACE, radioembolization) is crucial and particularly in LM from the jejunum/ileum because efficacy of systemic chemotherapy has not been proved in these tumors. In LM secondary to neuroendocrine tumors of the pancreas, transarterial treatments are competing with systemic therapy including targeted therapy.

In conclusion, liver-directed therapies are widely performed in LM from neuroendocrine tumors. As these tumors largely differ from the other LMs (number, imaging findings, prognosis, treatment, etc.), tumor boards dedicated to neuroendocrine tumors are advisable. Interventional radiologists should also be aware of the indications and specific contraindications of liver-directed therapies in these tumors.

References

- Frilling A, Sotiropoulos GC, Li J, Kornasiewicz O, Plockinger U (2010) Multimodal management of neuroendocrine liver metastases. HPB (Oxford) 12(6):361–379. doi:10.1111/j.1477-2574.2010.00175.x, HPB175 [pii]
- 2. Godwin JD 2nd (1975) Carcinoid tumors. An analysis of 2,837 cases. Cancer 36(2):560-569
- McDermott EW, Guduric B, Brennan MF (1994) Prognostic variables in patients with gastrointestinal carcinoid tumours. Br J Surg 81(7):1007–1009
- Zeitels J, Naunheim K, Kaplan EL, Straus F 2nd (1982) Carcinoid tumors: a 37-year experience. Arch Surg 117(5):732–737
- Auernhammer CJ, Goke B (2011) Therapeutic strategies for advanced neuroendocrine carcinomas of jejunum/ileum and pancreatic origin. Gut 60(7):1009–1021. doi:10.1136/ gut.2009.204453, gut.2009.204453 [pii]
- Kianmanesh R, Sauvanet A, Hentic O, Couvelard A, Levy P, Vilgrain V, Ruszniewski P, Belghiti J (2008) Two-step surgery for synchronous bilobar liver metastases from diges-

tive endocrine tumors: a safe approach for radical resection. Ann Surg 247(4):659–665. doi:10.1097/SLA.0b013e31816a7061

- Elias D, Lasser P, Ducreux M, Duvillard P, Ouellet JF, Dromain C, Schlumberger M, Pocard M, Boige V, Miquel C, Baudin E (2003) Liver resection (and associated extrahepatic resections) for metastatic well-differentiated endocrine tumors: a 15-year single center prospective study. Surgery 133(4):375–382. doi:10.1067/msy.2003.114, S0039606003000096 [pii]
- Chamberlain RS, Canes D, Brown KT, Saltz L, Jarnagin W, Fong Y, Blumgart LH (2000) Hepatic neuroendocrine metastases: does intervention alter outcomes? J Am Coll Surg 190(4):432–445, doi:S1072-7515(00)00222-2 [pii]
- Elias D, Goere D, Leroux G, Dromain C, Leboulleux S, de Baere T, Ducreux M, Baudin E (2009) Combined liver surgery and RFA for patients with gastroenteropancreatic endocrine tumors presenting with more than 15 metastases to the liver. Eur J Surg Oncol 35(10):1092– 1097. doi:10.1016/j.ejso.2009.02.017, S0748-7983(09)00077-8 [pii]
- Akyildiz HY, Mitchell J, Milas M, Siperstein A, Berber E (2010) Laparoscopic radiofrequency thermal ablation of neuroendocrine hepatic metastases: long-term follow-up. Surgery 148(6):1288–1293. doi:10.1016/j.surg.2010.09.014; discussion 1293. S0039-6060(10)00506-4 [pii]
- Mulier S, Ni Y, Jamart J, Ruers T, Marchal G, Michel L (2005) Local recurrence after hepatic radiofrequency coagulation: multivariate meta-analysis and review of contributing factors. Ann Surg 242(2):158–171, doi:00000658-200508000-00003 [pii]
- Berber E, Siperstein AE (2007) Perioperative outcome after laparoscopic radiofrequency ablation of liver tumors: an analysis of 521 cases. Surg Endosc 21(4):613–618. doi:10.1007/ s00464-006-9139-y
- Mazzaglia PJ, Berber E, Milas M, Siperstein AE (2007) Laparoscopic radiofrequency ablation of neuroendocrine liver metastases: a 10-year experience evaluating predictors of survival. Surgery 142(1):10–19. doi:10.1016/j.surg.2007.01.036, S0039-6060(07)00201-2 [pii]
- Martin RC, Scoggins CR, McMasters KM (2010) Safety and efficacy of microwave ablation of hepatic tumors: a prospective review of a 5-year experience. Ann Surg Oncol 17(1):171–178. doi:10.1245/s10434-009-0686-z
- Bilchik AJ, Sarantou T, Foshag LJ, Giuliano AE, Ramming KP (1997) Cryosurgical palliation of metastatic neuroendocrine tumors resistant to conventional therapy. Surgery 122(6):1040– 1047; discussion 1047–1048. doi:S0039-6060(97)90207-5 [pii]
- Seifert JK, Cozzi PJ, Morris DL (1998) Cryotherapy for neuroendocrine liver metastases. Semin Surg Oncol 14(2):175–183, doi:10.1002/(SICI)1098-2388(199803)14:2<175::AID-SSU10>3.0.CO;2-2 [pii]
- Shapiro RS, Shafir M, Sung M, Warner R, Glajchen N (1998) Cryotherapy of metastatic carcinoid tumors. Abdom Imaging 23(3):314–317
- Steward MJ, Warbey VS, Malhotra A, Caplin ME, Buscombe JR, Yu D (2008) Neuroendocrine tumors: role of interventional radiology in therapy. Radiographics 28(4):1131–1145. doi:10.1148/rg.284075170, 28/4/1131 [pii]
- Granberg D, Eriksson LG, Welin S, Kindmark H, Janson ET, Skogseid B, Oberg K, Eriksson B, Nyman R (2007) Liver embolization with trisacryl gelatin microspheres (embosphere) in patients with neuroendocrine tumors. Acta Radiol 48(2):180–185. doi:10.1080/02841850601080440, 772611718 [pii]
- Therasse E, Breittmayer F, Roche A, De Baere T, Indushekar S, Ducreux M, Lasser P, Elias D, Rougier P (1993) Transcatheter chemoembolization of progressive carcinoid liver metastasis. Radiology 189(2):541–547
- Carrasco CH, Charnsangavej C, Ajani J, Samaan NA, Richli W, Wallace S (1986) The carcinoid syndrome: palliation by hepatic artery embolization. AJR Am J Roentgenol 147(1): 149–154
- Kress O, Wagner HJ, Wied M, Klose KJ, Arnold R, Alfke H (2003) Transarterial chemoembolization of advanced liver metastases of neuroendocrine tumors–a retrospective single-center analysis. Digestion 68(2–3):94–101. doi:10.1159/000074522, 74522 [pii]

- Eriksson BK, Larsson EG, Skogseid BM et al (1998) Liver embolizations of patients with malignant neuroendocrine gastrointestinal tumors. Cancer 83(11):2293–2301, doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-0142(19981201)83:11
 CNCR8>3.0.CO;2-E [pii]
- 24. Kim YH, Ajani JA, Carrasco CH et al (1999) Selective hepatic arterial chemoembolization for liver metastases in patients with carcinoid tumor or islet cell carcinoma. Cancer Invest 17(7):474–478
- 25. Marrache F, Vullierme MP, Roy C et al (2007) Arterial phase enhancement and body mass index are predictors of response to chemoembolisation for liver metastases of endocrine tumours. Br J Cancer 96(1):49–55. doi:10.1038/sj.bjc.6603526, 6603526 [pii]
- Roche A, Girish BV, de Baere T et al (2004) Prognostic factors for chemoembolization in liver metastasis from endocrine tumors. Hepatogastroenterology 51(60):1751–1756
- Gupta S, Johnson MM, Murthy R et al (2005) Hepatic arterial embolization and chemoembolization for the treatment of patients with metastatic neuroendocrine tumors: variables affecting response rates and survival. Cancer 104(8):1590–1602. doi:10.1002/cncr.21389
- Ruszniewski P, Rougier P, Roche A et al (1993) Hepatic arterial chemoembolization in patients with liver metastases of endocrine tumors. A prospective phase II study in 24 patients. Cancer 71(8):2624–2630
- Maire F, Lombard-Bohas C, O'Toole D et al (2012) Hepatic arterial embolization versus chemoembolization in the treatment of liver metastases of well-differentiated midgut endocrine tumors. A prospective randomized study. Neuroendocrinology 96:294–300
- Pitt SC, Knuth J, Keily JM et al (2008) Hepatic neuroendocrine metastases: chemo- or bland embolization? J Gastrointest Surg 12(11):1951–1960. doi:10.1007/s11605-008-0640-6
- Ruutiainen AT, Soulen MC, Tuite CM et al (2007) Chemoembolization and bland embolization of neuroendocrine tumor metastases to the liver. J Vasc Interv Radiol 18(7):847–855. doi:10.1016/j.jvir.2007.04.018, 18/7/847 [pii]
- 32. Fiore F, Del Prete M, Franco R et al (2014) Transarterial embolization (TAE) is equally effective and slightly safer than transarterial chemoembolization (TACE) to manage liver metastases in neuroendocrine tumors. Endocrine 47:177–182. doi:10.1007/s12020-013-0130-9
- 33. Strosberg JR, Weber JM, Choi J et al (2012) A phase II clinical trial of sunitinib following hepatic transarterial embolization for metastatic neuroendocrine tumors. Ann Oncol 23(9):2335–2341. doi:10.1093/annonc/mdr614, mdr614 [pii]
- 34. Dominguez S, Denys A, Madeira I et al (2000) Hepatic arterial chemoembolization with streptozotocin in patients with metastatic digestive endocrine tumours. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 12(2):151–157
- Ho AS, Picus J, Darcy MD et al (2007) Long-term outcome after chemoembolization and embolization of hepatic metastatic lesions from neuroendocrine tumors. AJR Am J Roentgenol 188(5):1201–1207. doi:10.2214/AJR.06.0933, 188/5/1201 [pii]
- Strosberg JR, Choi J, Cantor AB, Kvols LK (2006) Selective hepatic artery embolization for treatment of patients with metastatic carcinoid and pancreatic endocrine tumors. Cancer Control 13(1):72–78
- 37. Lammer J, Malagari K, Vogl T et al (2010) Prospective randomized study of doxorubicin-eluting-bead embolization in the treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma: results of the PRECISION V study. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol 33(1):41–52. doi:10.1007/s00270-009-9711-7
- de Baere T, Deschamps F, Teriitheau C, Rao P, Conengrapht K, Schlumberger M, Leboulleux S, Baudin E, Hechellhammer L (2008) Transarterial chemoembolization of liver metastases from well differentiated gastroenteropancreatic endocrine tumors with doxorubicin-eluting beads: preliminary results. J Vasc Interv Radiol 19(6):855–861. doi:10.1016/j.jvir.2008.01.030, S1051-0443(08)00183-8 [pii]
- 39. Gaur SK, Friese JL, Sadow CA, Ayyagari R, Binkert CA, Schenker MP, Kulke M, Baum R (2011) Hepatic arterial chemoembolization using drug-eluting beads in gastrointestinal neuroendocrine tumor metastatic to the liver. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol 34(3):566–572. doi:10.1007/s00270-011-0122-1

- 40. Guiu B, Deschamps F, Aho S et al (2012) Liver/biliary injuries following chemoembolisation of endocrine tumours and hepatocellular carcinoma: lipiodol vs. drug-eluting beads. J Hepatol 56(3):609–617. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2011.09.012, S0168-8278(11)00773-2 [pii]
- 41. Bhagat N, Reyes DK, Lin M et al (2013) Phase II study of chemoembolization with drugeluting beads in patients with hepatic neuroendocrine metastases: high incidence of biliary injury. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol 36(2):449–459. doi:10.1007/s00270-012-0424-y
- 42. Lewis MA, Jaramillo S, Roberts L, Fleming CJ, Rubin J, Grothey A (2012) Hepatic artery embolization for neuroendocrine tumors: postprocedural management and complications. Oncologist 17(5):725–731. doi:10.1634/theoncologist.2011-0372, theoncologist.2011-0372 [pii]
- Hoffmann RT, Paprottka P, Jakobs TF, Trumm CG, Reiser MF (2011) Arterial therapies of non-colorectal cancer metastases to the liver (from chemoembolization to radioembolization). Abdom Imaging 36(6):671–676. doi:10.1007/s00261-011-9753-6
- 44. Varker KA, Martin EW, Klemanski D, Palmer B, Shah MH, Bloomston M (2007) Repeat transarterial chemoembolization (TACE) for progressive hepatic carcinoid metastases provides results similar to first TACE. J Gastrointest Surg 11(12):1680–1685. doi:10.1007/ s11605-007-0235-7
- Kim W, Clark TW, Baum RA, Soulen MC (2001) Risk factors for liver abscess formation after hepatic chemoembolization. J Vasc Interv Radiol 12(8):965–968
- 46. de Baere T, Roche A, Amenabar JM, Lagrange C, Ducreux M, Rougier P, Elias D, Lasser P, Patriarche C (1996) Liver abscess formation after local treatment of liver tumors. Hepatology 23(6):1436–1440. doi:10.1002/hep.510230620, S0270913996002315 [pii]
- 47. Woo S, Chung JW, Hur S, Joo SM, Kim HC, Jae HJ, Park JH (2013) Liver abscess after transarterial chemoembolization in patients with bilioenteric anastomosis: frequency and risk factors. AJR Am J Roentgenol 200(6):1370–1377. doi:10.2214/AJR.12.9630
- Brown KT, Koh BY, Brody LA, Getrajdman GI, Susman J, Fong Y, Blumgart LH (1999) Particle embolization of hepatic neuroendocrine metastases for control of pain and hormonal symptoms. J Vasc Interv Radiol 10(4):397–403
- 49. Sommer WH, Ceelen F, Garcia-Albeniz X et al (2013) Defining predictors for long progressionfree survival after radioembolisation of hepatic metastases of neuroendocrine origin. Eur Radiol 23(11):3094–3103. doi:10.1007/s00330-013-2925-8
- Kennedy AS, Dezarn WA, McNeillie P et al (2008) Radioembolization for unresectable neuroendocrine hepatic metastases using resin 90Y-microspheres: early results in 148 patients. Am J Clin Oncol 31(3):271–279. doi:10.1097/COC.0b013e31815e4557, 00000421-200806000-00012 [pii]
- Cao CQ, Yan TD, Bester L, Liauw W, Morris DL (2010) Radioembolization with yttrium microspheres for neuroendocrine tumour liver metastases. Br J Surg 97(4):537–543. doi:10.1002/bjs.6931
- 52. Kalinowski M, Dressler M, Konig A, El-Sheik M, Rinke A, Hoffken H, Gress TM, Arnold R, Klose KJ, Wagner HJ (2009) Selective internal radiotherapy with Yttrium-90 microspheres for hepatic metastatic neuroendocrine tumors: a prospective single center study. Digestion 79(3):137–142. doi:10.1159/000209849, 000209849 [pii]
- King J, Quinn R, Glenn DM, Janssen J, Tong D, Liaw W, Morris DL (2008) Radioembolization with selective internal radiation microspheres for neuroendocrine liver metastases. Cancer 113(5):921–929. doi:10.1002/cncr.23685
- 54. Paprottka PM, Hoffmann RT, Haug A et al (2012) Radioembolization of symptomatic, unresectable neuroendocrine hepatic metastases using yttrium-90 microspheres. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol 35(2):334–342. doi:10.1007/s00270-011-0248-1
- 55. Rhee TK, Lewandowski RJ, Liu DM, Mulcahy MF, Takahashi G, Hansen PD, Benson AB 3rd, Kennedy AS, Omary RA, Salem R (2008) 90Y radioembolization for metastatic neuroendocrine liver tumors: preliminary results from a multi-institutional experience. Ann Surg 247(6):1029–1035. doi:10.1097/SLA.0b013e3181728a45, 00000658-200806000-00017 [pii]

- 56. Saxena A, Chua TC, Bester L, Kokandi A, Morris DL (2010) Factors predicting response and survival after yttrium-90 radioembolization of unresectable neuroendocrine tumor liver metastases: a critical appraisal of 48 cases. Ann Surg 251(5):910–916. doi:10.1097/ SLA.0b013e3181d3d24a
- 57. Ceelen F, Theisen D, de Albeniz XG et al (2014) Towards new response criteria in neuroendocrine tumors: which changes in MRI parameters are associated with longer progression-free survival after radioembolization of liver metastases? J Magn Reson Imaging. doi:10.1002/ jmri.24569
- Memon K, Lewandowski RJ, Mulcahy MF, Riaz A, Ryu RK, Sato KT, Gupta R, Nikolaidis P, Miller FH, Yaghmai V, Gates VL, Atassi B, Newman S, Omary RA, Benson AB 3rd, Salem R (2012) Radioembolization for neuroendocrine liver metastases: safety, imaging, and long-term outcomes. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 83(3):887–894. doi:10.1016/j.ijrobp.2011.07.041, S0360-3016(11)03133-6 [pii]
- Rajekar H, Bogammana K, Stubbs RS (2011) Selective internal radiation therapy for gastrointestinal neuroendocrine tumour liver metastases: a new and effective modality for treatment. Int J Hepatol 2011:404916. doi:10.4061/2011/404916
- 60. Benson AB 3rd, Geschwind JF, Mulcahy MF et al (2013) Radioembolisation for liver metastases: results from a prospective 151 patient multi-institutional phase II study. Eur J Cancer 49(15):3122–3130. doi:10.1016/j.ejca.2013.05.012, S0959-8049(13)00409-7 [pii]
- Engelman ES, Leon-Ferre R, Naraev BG, Sharma N, Sun S, O'Dorisio TM, Howe J, Button A, Zamba G, Halfdanarson TR (2014) Comparison of transarterial liver-directed therapies for low-grade metastatic neuroendocrine tumors in a single institution. Pancreas 43(2):219–225. doi:10.1097/MPA.00000000000030, 00006676-201403000-00007 [pii]
- 62. Whitney R, Valek V, Fages JF, Garcia A, Narayanan G, Tatum C, Hahl M, Martin RC 2nd (2011) Transarterial chemoembolization and selective internal radiation for the treatment of patients with metastatic neuroendocrine tumors: a comparison of efficacy and cost. Oncologist 16(5):594–601. doi:10.1634/theoncologist.2010-0292, theoncologist.2010-0292 [pii]
- Yang TX, Chua TC, Morris DL (2012) Radioembolization and chemoembolization for unresectable neuroendocrine liver metastases – a systematic review. Surg Oncol 21(4):299–308. doi:10.1016/j.suronc.2012.07.001, S0960-7404(12)00054-0 [pii]
- 64. Pavel M, Baudin E, Couvelard A, Krenning E, Oberg K, Steinmuller T, Anlauf M, Wiedenmann B, Salazar R (2012) ENETS Consensus Guidelines for the management of patients with liver and other distant metastases from neuroendocrine neoplasms of foregut, midgut, hindgut, and unknown primary. Neuroendocrinology 95:157–176. doi:10.1159/000335597, 000335597 [pii]
- Cadiot G (2010) Tumeurs endocrines digestives. Thésaurus National de cancérologie Digestive. Available via http://www.snfge.org/data/moduledocument/publication/5/1252.htm

Peptide Receptor Radionuclide Therapy

Murat Fani Bozkurt

27.1 Introduction

The theoretical basis of PRRT depends on delivering therapeutic dose of radiation inside the tumour cells, owing to the internalization of the somatostatin receptor and radiolabelled somatostatin analogue complex. Therefore, PRRT is actually an internal radiation therapy. Since indium-111-labelled octreotide (¹¹¹In-octreotide) was approved by the FDA as a diagnostic imaging agent for neuroendocrine tumours in 1994, studies have begun to assess whether it would be possible to apply radiolabelled somatostatin receptor analogues for therapy on the basis of the same molecular mechanism. The first trial to perform PRRT with radiolabelled octreotide dates back to the early 1990s in a multicentre study in which high doses of diagnostic ¹¹¹In-octreotide were administered to patients with neuroendocrine tumours, in whom somatostatin receptor overexpression was confirmed by a previous ¹¹¹In-octreotide scintigraphy [1]. Although ¹¹¹In is only a gamma emitter radionuclide and does not emit any beta or alpha particles which are necessary for therapy, owing to its relatively high amount of Auger and conversion electrons which act like beta particles, it was expected to exert therapeutic effect if it is administered at high doses. This was the first approach to PRRT. However, ¹¹¹In-octreotide therapy did not result with promising results, and even partial remissions were exceptional. These disappointing results have given rise to use higher-energy and longer-tissue range radionuclides instead of ¹¹¹In, such as yttrium-90 (⁹⁰Y). ⁹⁰Y is a pure beta emitter radionuclide with a high maximum energy (Emax:2.27 MeV), long tissue range (Rmax:11 mm) and a

Department of Nuclear Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Hacettepe University, Ankara, Turkey e-mail: fanibozkurt@yahoo.com; fanibozkurt@gmail.com

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

S. Yalcin, K. Öberg (eds.), Neuroendocrine Tumours:

Diagnosis and Management, DOI 10.1007/978-3-662-45215-8_27

M.F. Bozkurt, MD, FEBNM

relatively long physical half-life (T1/2:64 h) which make this radionuclide a quite suitable agent to be used as a therapeutic radiopharmaceutical. Along with ⁹⁰Y, another radionuclide lutetium-177 (¹⁷⁷Lu) has also been introduced as having suitable therapeutic characteristics (Emax:0.49 MeV, Rmax:2 mm, T1/2:6.7 days). The main difference of ¹⁷⁷Lu from ⁹⁰Y is that ¹⁷⁷Lu is not a pure beta emitter and it emits both beta radiation for therapy and gamma radiation for imaging. Both radionuclides are tagged to somatostatin analogues with bridging macrocyclic chelator 1,4,7,10-tetraazacyclododecane-n, N', N", N"'-tetraacetic acid (DOTA) to form different forms of therapeutic radiopharmaceuticals according to their N-terminal amino acids such as ⁹⁰Y/¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATOC/DOTATATE/DOTANOC. These radiopharmaceuticals have been studied in different trials since the early 2000s to recent years [2, 3].

This chapter focuses on the use of therapeutic radiopharmaceuticals, indications, practical aspects and monitorization of PRRT for neuroendocrine tumours.

27.2 Rationale of PRRT for Neuroendocrine Tumours

Neuroendocrine tumour cells are characteristically regulated by particular hormones that exert their actions by binding some specific transmembrane domain G protein-coupled membrane surface receptors. The most abundant and most studied receptor-ligand system in neuroendocrine tumours is somatostatin receptor system. PRRT basically depends on the presence of overexpression of somatostatin receptors on cell membranes of neuroendocrine tumour cells, and after radiolabelled somatostatin analogue binds to specific receptor; the radiopharmaceutical-receptor complex is internalized into the cell, where therapeutic irradiation from the radiopharmaceutical is emitted. There are a number of somatostatin receptor subtypes, out of which subtype 2 (sstr2) is most frequently expressed on many kinds of neuroendocrine tumour cells. Therefore, radiolabelled somatostatin analogues which have high affinity to sstr2 are preferred as therapeutic use, based on the same rationale for diagnostic imaging [2, 3].

27.3 Indications of PRRT

- 1. Gastroenteropancreatic and bronchial tract neuroendocrine tumours, which mainly overexpress sstr2.
- 2. Pheochromocytomas and paragangliomas, which show uptake on diagnostic somatostatin receptor imaging.
- Medullary thyroid carcinomas which are positive on diagnostic somatostatin receptor imaging.
- Any tumour is to be potentially treated if sstr2 overexpression is confirmed and documented on diagnostic somatostatin receptor imaging and/or confirmed histopathologically.

27.4 Patient Selection and Eligibility for PRRT

Ideally, a tumour board with a minimum number of different specialists including surgeon, pathologist, oncologist, radiologist-interventional radiologist, nuclear medicine physician, radiation oncologist, endocrinologist, gastroenterologist and others who are interested in neuroendocrine tumour management should be established on the first referral of neuroendocrine tumour patients. Decision for PRRT should be made by the tumour board after evaluation of all other therapeutic options starting from surgery, proceeding to systemic and local therapies. A complete clinical history and informed consent should be obtained from all patients referred to PRRT. For patient eligibility, these following information is mandatory:

- 1. Patient has to have histopathologically proven and documented neuroendocrine tumour.
- 2. High somatostatin receptor expression has to be documented by diagnostic somatostatin receptor imaging study and/or by immunohistochemistry.

The density of receptors on tumour tissue versus healthy organs should also be considered. In routine practice, the receptor density can easily be evaluated by diagnostic somatostatin receptor imaging, according to a kind of visual scale known as "Rotterdam scale" [4]. Rotterdam scale is graded as follows:

- Grade 1: Tumours that have an uptake on planar images lower than that of normal liver uptake
- Grade 2: Tumours with uptake equal to the liver uptake
- Grade 3: Tumours which show higher uptake than that of normal liver
- Grade 4: Tumours which show very high uptake, higher than kidneys and spleen (the hottest organs in ¹¹¹In-octreotide scintigraphy)

Generally, tumours with Rotterdam grades 2–4 are candidates for PRRT. Along with Rotterdam scale, the following criteria should also be met [2–4]:

- 1. Karnofsky performance status >60 or ECOG <2.
- 2. Tumour differentiation, preferably in G1–G2.
- 3. Tumour proliferation rate, preferably Ki-67 mitotic index ≤20 %. The rate of tumour growth which is detected by CT and/or MRI may also be helpful. Generally, less differentiated tumours with high proliferation are more eligible to chemotherapy compared to PRRT.

27.4.1 Pretherapy Renal Function Evaluation

For PRRT with ⁹⁰Y-labelled somatostatin analogues, a normal renal function is essential, since this radiopharmaceutical has a potential to deteriorate renal parameters. However, patients with compromised renal function may still be

candidates for PRRT with ¹⁷⁷Lu-labelled somatostatin analogues, since this radiopharmaceutical has much less toxicity on renal function. For ¹⁷⁷Lu-labelled PRRT, a mild to moderate grade of renal impairment (creatinine ≤ 1.7 mg/dl) can be tolerated [2, 3].

Patients' renal function should be assessed by blood biochemistry (creatinine and blood urea nitrogen) and GFR calculation.

27.4.2 Haematological Evaluation

- 1. For PRRT with ¹⁷⁷Lu-labelled somatostatin analogues, white blood cell (WBC) should be >3,000/ μ l, and platelet (Plt) count should be >75,000/ μ l.
- 2. For ⁹⁰Y-labelled somatostatin analogues, WBC>3,000/µl, Plt>90,000/µl and red blood cell count >3,000,000/µl.

27.5 Precautions for PRRT

- 1. Before PRRT, obstructive renal disease should always be ruled, out and if there is, it should be corrected before PRRT.
- 2. Previous myelotoxic chemotherapy and radiation therapy which were given recently (especially in a couple of weeks before PRRT) can constitute a risk for bone marrow failure and serious bone marrow suppression, particularly in repeated therapies or subsequent cycles. Platelet counts after each cycle of PRRT can determine whether an interruption would be needed.
- 3. Before PRRT, hepatic failure should be regarded with caution.

27.6 Contraindications for PRRT

- 1. Pregnancy and breastfeeding (if not quitted)
- 2. Acute or severe concomitant diseases
- 3. Severe psychiatric disorder

27.7 Therapeutic Dose Assessment for PRRT

Ideally PRRT should be given on dosimetry-based regimens. However, this approach is rarely preferred in routine practice since it is cumbersome and needs complex calculations. Therefore, fixed-activity treatment cycles or individualized dosing which is adjusted on the basis of some clinical parameters such as body surface area, clinical status and haematological and renal function are the most preferred dose calculation methods.

For ⁹⁰Y-labelled somatostatin analogues, cumulative activities up to 19 GBq (~500 mCi) can be administered in 2–4 cycles, providing that renal absorbed dose threshold is not exceeded. Reported cumulative activities for ¹⁷⁷Lu-labelled peptides are between 22 and 30 GBq (~600–800 mCi) which can be administered in 3–6 cycles, according to different protocols [2, 3].

27.8 Patient Preparation for PRRT

27.8.1 Withdrawal of Somatostatin Analogues

Somatostatin analogues (cold somatostatin) should be discontinued for a certain period before PRRT. The duration of interruption depends on whether the drug is long or short acting. For long-acting drugs, it is 3–4 weeks; for short-acting ones, 1 day withdrawal is advised, although there is still debate on this subject.

27.8.2 Premedication for PRRT

- 1. Just before dose administration, serotonin 5-HT3 receptor antagonists such as ondansetron, granisetron or tropisetron should be given and can be repeated when necessary.
- Corticosteroids such as dexamethasone 4 mg or more may be given short before PRRT and can be repeated if necessary.

27.8.3 Pretherapy Renal Protection for PRRT

The renal absorbed dose is higher for ⁹⁰Y-labelled peptides compared to ¹⁷⁷Lu-labelled peptides, due to different beta radiation features. Positively charged amino acids such as L-lysine and/or L-arginine are commonly used to competitively inhibit the proximal tubular reabsorption of radiopharmaceutical to reduce renal absorbed radiation dose. At least 25 g of positively charged amino acid solution should be infused before PRRT, in order to exert a protective effect on kidneys. Four amino acid protection methods have been introduced so far as follows [5, 6]:

- 1. Single-day 50 g amino acid protection
- 2. Three-day 25 g amino acid protection
- 3. Three-day 50 g amino acid protection
- 4. Single-day 50 g amino acid plus Gelofusine protocol

| Radiopharmaceutical | Administered activity | Number of cycles | Time interval between cycles (weeks) |
|-------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------|--------------------------------------|
| ⁹⁰ Y-DOTATATE/ ⁹⁰ Y-DOTATOC | 3.7 GBq (100 mCi)/m ² | 2 | 10–12 |
| ⁹⁰ Y-DOTATATE/ ⁹⁰ Y-DOTATOC (another protocol) | 2.78–4.44 GBq (75–120 mCi) | 2–4 | 10–12 |
| ¹⁷⁷ Lu-DOTATATE/ ¹⁷⁷ Lu DOTATOC | 5.55–7.4 GBq (150–200 mCi) | 3–5 | 10–12 |
| ¹⁷⁷ Lu+ ⁹⁰ Y Combination-Cocktail protocol | 5.55–7.4 GBq (150–200 mCi) (for ¹⁷⁷ Lu) 2.5–5 GBq (68–135 mCi) (for ⁹⁰ Y) | 2–6 | 10–16 |

Table 27.1 Different treatment regimens for PRRT

27.9 Treatment Regimens

Treatment regimens according to different radiopeptides for patients with normal bone marrow and renal function are given at Table 27.1.

Treatment doses should be reduced and individualized for compromised patients according to clinical and biochemical parameters.

27.9.1 PRRT for Paediatric Patients

In children, ⁹⁰Y-DOTATOC can be given in 1.5–1.85 GBq/m² activities per cycle in up to 3 cycles. There is no widespread use of 177Lu-DOTATATE in paediatric patients, and activities should be adjusted per body surface area [7].

27.9.2 Retreatment with PRRT

Retreatment should be considered for patients with well-documented disease progression, who previously responded. The decision of retreatment should be taken within tumour board, and the same eligibility criteria apply like the first treatment. Retreatment can be done with the same or a different radiopeptide.

27.10 Imaging After PRRT

Since ¹⁷⁷Lu emits gamma radiation in addition to therapeutic beta particles, scintigraphic imaging using gamma rays should always be done following each treatment cycle to confirm targeting of radiopharmaceutical and to assess functional response. Planar and SPECT and/or SPECT/CT tomographic images are acquired usually on days 1, 4 and 7 after PRRT with ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE (Fig. 27.1a, b).



Fig. 27.1 (a) Whole-body maximum intensity projection (MIP) 68Ga -DOTATATE image of a 56-year-old male patient with the diagnosis of multiple hepatic neuroendocrine tumour metastases from an endobronchial carcinoid tumour primary (*arrow*) shows multiple foci of uptake in the liver, in the bones and in the thorax consistent with extensive metastatic disease and referred to PRRT. (b) Whole-body anterior (*left*) and posterior (*right*) 177Lu-DOTATATE posttherapy images show more number of lesions compared to diagnostic imaging

Since ⁹⁰Y is a pure beta emitter, it does not permit direct scintigraphic imaging, but even if it is poor in quality, Bremsstrahlung (braking radiation) rays can be used to obtain a posttherapy imaging. It is usually done in 24 h following PRRT with ⁹⁰Y-DOTATOC.

27.11 Outcomes of PRRT for Neuroendocrine Tumours

27.11.1 Response

Response evaluation for PRRT includes functional and anatomic images to assess functional and morphological response as well as biochemical and symptomatic response to assess patients' quality of life. Posttherapeutic ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE imaging can successfully be used to assess functional response between therapy cycles and at the end of the therapy. The time period for response evaluation depends on different situations according to clinical needs, but generally the first follow-up is recommended after 3 months and to be continued after 3–6 months.

PRRT for neuroendocrine tumours with ¹⁷⁷ Lu- and ⁹⁰Y-labelled somatostatin analogues has been in clinical use for more than a decade. Most of the studies in the literature conclude that PRRT can give high absorbed doses to neuroendocrine tumours with overexpression of sstr2 which results with partial and complete objective responses in up to 30 % of patients. Gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumours have showed the best objective response rates, with partial responses ranging from 9 to 29 % and complete remission rates from 2 to 9 %. Almost similar response rates have been reported for neuroendocrine tumours of the lungs and neuroectodermal tumours such as paragangliomas. Dedifferentiated thyroid carcinomas, medullary thyroid cancers and neuroendocrine tumours of the thymus have displayed less satisfactory response rates. Besides these, promising results have been reported for other sstr-positive tumour types such as astrocytomas, medulloblastomas and meningiomas [8–12].

27.11.2 Survival

According to some studies in which survival analyses have been reported, patients who have high somatostatin receptor expression at the beginning of PRRT show significantly higher objective responses in correlation with significantly longer survival when compared with similar patients with lower receptor expression [10, 13, 14].

Some studies have reported that biochemical response is also good predictor for the overall survival of patients with dedifferentiated thyroid cancer and medullary thyroid cancer following ⁹⁰Y-DOTATOC therapy [9, 15]. Bushnell et al. concluded that significant symptomatic response after ⁹⁰Y-DOTATOC therapy has had an impact on progression-free survival of patients [16].

27.11.3 Side Effects and Toxicity

The kidney is the dose-limiting organ for PRRT. Pretherapy renal protection protocols are mandatory, and they reduce renal absorbed doses significantly and avoid serious renal dysfunction due to PRRT [5, 17]. Renal toxicity is more frequently seen with 90Y-DOTATOC; especially the patients with the diagnosis of longstanding and poorly controlled hypertension have high risk for renal toxicity [16]. Despite kidney protection, renal dysfunction can occur following PRRT with approximate creatinine clearance loss of 3.8 % per year for ¹⁷⁷ Lu-DOTATATE and 7.3 % per year for ⁹⁰Y-DOTATOC [18]. Acute bone marrow toxicity may be seen in about 10–13 % of patients following ⁹⁰Y-DOTATOC and in 2–3 % following ¹⁷⁷ Lu-DOTATATE PRRT [19]. Most of the bone marrow toxicities are reversible.

PRRT may cause a transient impairment in male fertility, and recovery is commonly complete within 2 years following the last cycle of the therapy [20].

PRRT may cause hepatic failure not in patients with extensive metastatic involvement of the liver. In these patients, ¹⁷⁷ Lu-DOTATATE should be preferred to ⁹⁰Y-DOTATOC and administered activity should be reduced [18, 20].

Although there are somatostatin receptors in healthy pituitary, thyroid and adrenal glands, PRRT has never been reported to alter endocrine function [21].

References

- Valkema R, De Jong M, Bakker WH et al (2002) Phase I study of peptide receptor radionuclide therapy with [In-DTPA]octreotide: the Rotterdam experience. Semin Nucl Med 32(2):110–122
- Bodei L, Ferone D, Grana CM et al (2009) Peptide receptor therapies in neuroendocrine tumors. J Endocrinol Invest 32(4):360–369
- Kwekkeboom DJ, de Herder WW, van Eijck CH et al (2010) Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy in patients with gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Semin Nucl Med 40(2):78–88
- 4. De Jong M, Valkema R, Jamar F et al (2002) Somatostatin receptor-targeted radionuclide therapy of tumors: preclinical and clinical findings. Semin Nucl Med 32(2):133–140
- Bodei L, Cremonesi M, Ferrari M et al (2008) Long-term evaluation of renal toxicity after peptide receptor radionuclide therapy with 90Y-DOTATOC and 177Lu-DOTATATE: the role of associated risk factors. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 35(10):1847–1856
- Rolleman EJ, Valkema R, de Jong M, Kooij PP, Krenning EP (2003) Safe and effective inhibition of renal uptake of radiolabelled octreotide by a combination of lysine and arginine. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 30(1):9–15
- Schmidt M, Baum RP, Simon T, Howman-Giles R (2010) Therapeutic nuclear medicine in pediatric malignancy. Q J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 54(4):411–428
- van Essen M, Krenning EP, Bakker WH, de Herder WW, van Aken MO, Kwekkeboom DJ (2007) Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy with 177Lu-octreotate in patients with foregut carcinoid tumours of bronchial, gastric and thymic origin. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 34(8):1219–1227
- 9. Iten F, Muller B, Schindler C et al (2009) [(90)Yttrium-DOTA]-TOC response is associated with survival benefit in iodine-refractory thyroid cancer: long-term results of a phase 2 clinical trial. Cancer 115(10):2052–2062
- Kwekkeboom DJ, Kam BL, van Essen M et al (2010) Somatostatin-receptor-based imaging and therapy of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Endocr Relat Cancer 17(1):R53–R73
- 11. Bodei L, Handkiewicz-Junak D, Grana C et al (2004) Receptor radionuclide therapy with 90Y-DOTATOC in patients with medullary thyroid carcinomas. Cancer Biother Radiopharm 19(1):65–71
- Bartolomei M, Bodei L, De Cicco C, Grana CM, Cremonesi M, Botteri E, Baio SM, Aricò D, Sansovini M, Paganelli G (2009) Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy with (90)Y-DOTATOC in recurrent meningioma. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 36(9):1407–1416
- Kwekkeboom DJ, de Herder WW, Kam BL, van Eijck CH, van Essen M, Kooij PP, Feelders RA, van Aken MO, Krenning EP (2008) Treatment with the radiolabeled somatostatin analog

[177 Lu-DOTA 0, Tyr3]octreotate: toxicity, efficacy, and survival. J Clin Oncol 26(13):2124–2130

- 14. Imhof A, Brunner P, Marincek N, Briel M, Schindler C, Rasch H, Mäcke HR, Rochlitz C, Müller-Brand J, Walter MA (2011) Response, survival, and long-term toxicity after therapy with the radiolabeled somatostatin analogue [90Y-DOTA]-TOC in metastasized neuroendocrine cancers. J Clin Oncol 29(17):2416–2423
- 15. Iten F, Müller B, Schindler C, Rochlitz C, Oertli D, Mäcke HR, Müller-Brand J, Walter MA (2007) Response to [90Yttrium-DOTA]-TOC treatment is associated with long-term survival benefit in metastasized medullary thyroid cancer: a phase II clinical trial. Clin Cancer Res 13(22):6696–6702
- Bushnell DL Jr, O'Dorisio TM, O'Dorisio MS, Menda Y, Hicks RJ, Van Cutsem E, Baulieu JL, Borson-Chazot F, Anthony L, Benson AB, Oberg K, Grossman AB, Connolly M, Bouterfa H, Li Y, Kacena KA, LaFrance N, Pauwels SA (2010) 90Y-edotreotide for metastatic carcinoid refractory to octreotide. J Clin Oncol 28(10):1652–1659
- Vegt E, de Jong M, Wetzels JF, Masereeuw R, Melis M, Oyen WJ, Gotthardt M, Boerman OC (2010) Renal toxicity of radiolabeled peptides and antibody fragments: mechanisms, impact on radionuclide therapy, and strategies for prevention. J Nucl Med 51(7):1049–1058
- 18. Valkema R, Pauwels SA, Kvols LK, Kwekkeboom DJ, Jamar F, de Jong M, Barone R, Walrand S, Kooij PP, Bakker WH, Lasher J, Krenning EP (2005) Long-term follow-up of renal function after peptide receptor radiation therapy with (90)Y-DOTA(0), Tyr(3)-octreotide and (177) Lu-DOTA(0), Tyr(3)-octreotate. J Nucl Med 46(1):83S–91S
- Kwekkeboom DJ, Mueller-Brand J, Paganelli G, Anthony LB, Pauwels S, Kvols LK, O'dorisio TM, Valkema R, Bodei L, Chinol M, Maecke HR, Krenning EP (2005) Overview of results of peptide receptor radionuclide therapy with 3 radiolabeled somatostatin analogs. J Nucl Med 46(1):62S–66S
- Kwekkeboom DJ, Teunissen JJ, Bakker WH, Kooij PP, de Herder WW, Feelders RA, van Eijck CH, Esser JP, Kam BL, Krenning EP (2005) Radiolabeled somatostatin analog [177Lu-DOTA0, Tyr3]octreotate in patients with endocrine gastroenteropancreatic tumors. J Clin Oncol 23(12):2754–2762
- Teunissen JJ, Krenning EP, de Jong FH, de Rijke YB, Feelders RA, van Aken MO, de Herder WW, Kwekkeboom DJ (2009) Effects of therapy with [177Lu-DOTA 0, Tyr 3]octreotate on endocrine function. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 36(11):1758–1766

Management of Hormonal Symptoms

28

Beata Kos-Kudla

28.1 Introduction

Gastroenteropancreatic (GEP), neuroendocrine neoplasms (NEN), arising from the diffuse endocrine system (DES) cells disseminated in the gastrointestinal tract and in the pancreas, may produce excessive amounts of hormones and/or biogenic amines. In such circumstances, they create clinical symptoms of syndromes specific for oversecretion of particular hormones (Table 28.1).

The most common functional NENs include carcinoid (See Chaps. 12-16), insulinoma, and gastrinoma [1-3].

28.2 Clinical Characteristics

28.2.1 Insulinoma

Insulin-secreting pancreatic tumor is the most common functional pancreatic NEN. In approximately 1 % of patients, extra-pancreatic location is possible (duodenum, stomach, bile ducts, lungs) [4]. Clinical symptoms result from hypoglycemia and neuroglycopenia: skin pallor, increased perspiration, trembling of hands, nausea, palpitations, hunger, headache and vertigo, blurred vision, double vision, changed behavior, confusion, concentration disorders, retrograde amnesia, drowsiness, hallucinations, delusions, convulsions, and loss of consciousness (sometimes accompanied by grandmal convulsions).

B. Kos-Kudla

Division of Endocrinology, Department of Pathophysiology and Endocrinology, Medical University of Silesia, Ceglana Str. 35, Katowice 40-514, Poland e-mail: bkoskudla@sum.edu.pl

[©] Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

S. Yalcin, K. Öberg (eds.), Neuroendocrine Tumours:

Diagnosis and Management, DOI 10.1007/978-3-662-45215-8_28

| Tumor type | Oversecretion of main substances | Clinical syndromes |
|-----------------|----------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| All NENs | CgA | |
| Carcinoid | Serotonin | Carcinoid syndrome |
| Insulinoma | Insulin, C peptide or proinsulin | Hypoglycemia and neuroglycopenia |
| Gastrinoma | Gastrin | Zollinger-Ellison syndrome (ZES) |
| Glucagonoma | Glucagon, enteroglucagon | Necrolytic migratory erythema, weight loss, diabetes mellitus |
| VIPoma | VIP | Verner-Morrison syndrome; pancreatic cholera; WDHA syndrome (watery diarrhea, hypokalemia, achlorhydria) |
| Somatostatinoma | SST | Cholelithiasis, weight loss, steatorrhea, |

Table 28.1 Clinical syndromes in particular functional GEP NENs

Key: CgA chromogranin A, SST somatostatin, VIP vasoactive intestinal peptide

Insulinoma is characterized by Whipple's triad:

- 1. Clinical symptoms suggestive of hypoglycemia
- Decreased blood glucose (<40 mg/dl; 2.2 mmol/l) measured at the time of the symptoms
- 3. Relief of symptoms after intake of carbohydrates [2, 5, 6]

28.2.2 Gastrinoma

They are tumors oversecreting gastrin and thus causing Zollinger-Ellison syndrome (ZES). The most common symptoms of gastrinoma include persistent pain in the upper abdomen, nausea, vomiting, and diarrhea, which disappears after the use of proton pump inhibitors (PPIs) – a very characteristic feature, body weight loss, and gastrointestinal bleeding. There are no differences between the clinical symptoms of pancreatic and duodenal gastrinoma [7].

Helicobacter pylori infection is less frequent in ZES patients compared to idiopathic peptic ulcer disease. Therefore, negative results of Helicobacter pylori tests in pat)ZESients with recurrent peptic ulcer disease who do not receive NSAIDs or acetylsalicylic acid should be suggestive of gastrinoma [2, 8].

28.2.3 VIPoma

VIPoma (Verner-Morrison syndrome, pancreatic cholera, WDHA syndrome): symptoms: diarrhea, hypokalemia, dehydration, acidosis, rarely skin reddening, hypercalcemia, glucose intolerance, and functional gallbladder disorders.

28.2.4 Glucagonoma

Symptoms of glucagonoma are migrating necrolytic erythema, glucose intolerance, body weight loss, stomatitis, diarrhea, and hypoaminoacidemia.

28.2.5 Somatostatinoma

Symptoms of somatostatinoma include cholelithiasis, diabetes, diarrhea, and body weight loss [2, 9–11].

28.3 Diagnostics

28.3.1 Biochemical Diagnostics

Biochemical diagnostics of hormones and markers secreted by neuroendocrine neoplasms may be helpful in:

- Initial diagnosis of a disease
- Assessment of treatment effectiveness
- Prognosis

Biochemical diagnosis of functional NENs (F-NENs) requires the evidence of increased serum concentrations of specific hormonal markers, e.g., gastrin in the ZES or insulin in insulinoma (in combination with 72-h fasting assay), etc. If clinical symptoms indicating the hypersecretion of a given hormone occur, other tests may be performed, for instance, demonstration of excessive secretion of gastric juice in ZES, or secretin test can be done in justified cases [12, 13].

Biochemical diagnostics of rare F-PNEN include confirmation of increased serum concentrations of specific biochemical markers, e.g., glucagon in suspected glucagonoma (positive result>1,000 pg/ml), vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP) (positive result >170 pg/ml), and somatostatin (positive result in pancreatic tumor location is over 50 times higher than the reference values).

Chromogranin A, which is a nonspecific marker, may only be used to confirm the presence of a neuroendocrine tumor and to monitor the course of the disease, but it cannot constitute the basis for the diagnosis of functioning NENs [3, 9].

Detailed guidelines for laboratory diagnostics are discussed in Chapter 7.

28.3.2 Pathomorphological Diagnostics

Pathomorphological diagnostics necessary to diagnose GEP NENs are discussed in other chapters.

It is worth emphasizing that demonstrating expression of specific hormones in an immunohistochemical assay does not justify the diagnosis of functional NEN. Only evidence of high blood concentrations of particular hormones confirms such diagnosis.

28.3.3 Imaging

In the diagnostics of GEP NENs, both anatomic imaging techniques and nuclear medicine tools are used. The choice of imaging examination depends on the primary focus location and the stage of the disease: USG/EUS, CT, MRI, and endoscopy. One of the functional examinations is the somatostatin receptor expression test with ⁶⁸Ga or ⁹⁹Tc-DOTA TOC, which enables the location of the primary lesion, but also assessment of the stage of the disease and qualification for treatment with "hot" somatostatin analogs. PET/CT scan with ¹⁸FDOPA may be an alternative diagnostic method, if the results of the above functional tests are negative. In the diagnostics of insulinoma, the role of a new isotope-labeled GLP-1 analog in detecting small lesions of less than 1 cm is considered [9, 14].

28.4 Treatment

28.4.1 Surgical Treatment

Surgical treatment is the treatment of choice in GEP NENs [1, 2]. Primary tumor resection should be considered even in the presence of metastases, including hepatic metastases, if they are potentially resectable and the patient meets the criteria for the surgery. In advanced functional NENs, cytoreduction is intended to reduce the symptoms and the tumor mass.

Surgical treatment is the therapy of choice in the case of pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms (PNENs), as it is associated with a significantly prolonged patient survival. The development of diagnostic methods has improved the detection of small, asymptomatic tumors. Most nonfunctional neoplasms of ≤ 2 cm in diameter are benign and demonstrate a moderate risk of becoming malignant. Only 6 % of the nonfunctional, accidentally diagnosed PNENs present histopathological characteristics of malignancy. In certain cases, accidentally diagnosed tumors of ≤ 2 cm in diameter may be observed for the first year, with tests performed at 3-month intervals, then every 6 months for the next 3 years. Due to the lack of clear recommendations, the decision on the course of treatment should be taken by a multidisciplinary team of doctors experienced in the management of PNENs, and the surgical procedure should be performed in a center specializing in pancreatic surgery [2, 3].

In multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1), if multiple lesions occur, it is recommended to remove them preventively before they become malignant; however, this approach in the case of small, nonfunctional tumors is still controversial [15].

Liver transplantation is conducted in selected groups of patients with exacerbated symptoms associated with hormonal secretion. Patients who may benefit from transplantation are those under the age of 50 years, without metastases outside the liver, and with a low expression of Ki-67 [16–19].

In MEN1 syndrome, surgical resection of the parathyroids in primary hyperparathyroidism reduces excessive secretion of hydrochloric acid [2].

28.4.2 Locoregional Hepatic Therapies

In each case when resection of hepatic metastases is impossible, the recommended palliative treatment methods include hepatic artery embolization (HAE), transarterial chemoembolization (TACE), or HAE with the use of isotope. Radiofrequency thermoablation (RFA), cryoablation, and microwave ablation (MWA) can be used for tumors \leq 5 cm. With these different modalities, symptoms improve in 40–80 % of patients [2, 17, 20, 21].

28.4.3 Endoscopic Treatment

It is of significant importance, and it may be used for symptomatic treatment of:

- Mechanical jaundice (prosthesis of the biliary duct)
- Obstruction of the gastrointestinal tract (prosthesis of the gastrointestinal tract lumen)
- Control of gastrointestinal bleeding (the use of endoscopic hemostatic methods)

Recently, single cases of using EUS for ablation of functional pancreatic tumors secreting insulin have been reported [22–24]. It is possible that in the future, endo-scopic EUS-controlled ablation of pancreatic NENs, involving administration of cytotoxic agents, alcohol, or using thermoablation, will become an alternative, minimally invasive therapeutic method for patients who cannot be treated surgically [9, 17, 19].

28.4.4 Pharmacological Treatment

It is the main course of action in the management of hormonal syndromes. The main purpose of pharmacological treatment is maintaining the patient's good quality of life for the longest possible time, reduction of clinical symptoms, and, if achievable, prolongation of the patient's survival [8].

Prior to planning the treatment, the tumor size, presence of metastases, histological grading, and the profile of secreted hormones and other markers should be determined. The choice of the treatment method depends on the symptoms, staging of the disease, the level of radiotracer uptake in receptor scintigraphy, and histological characteristics of the tumor [8, 25].

28.4.4.1 Symptomatic Treatment

Symptomatic treatment should be started when the clinical and biochemical symptoms indicate hormonal activity of the NEN, even before the precise location of the primary site or confirmation of metastases. The symptoms associated with excessive secretion of hormones by NENs may impair the patient's quality of life, and in certain cases, they may be life-threatening (e.g., severe diarrhea and hypokalemia in VIPoma or carcinoid crisis) [9].

Insulinoma

Pharmacological treatment of insulinoma is intended to prepare patients for a surgical procedure or to achieve the biochemical control in patients with symptoms of hypoglycemia in case of inoperable metastatic insulinoma.

Patients often require intravenous glucose infusion and multidirectional treatment (see Table 28.2). In most patients, diazoxide proved to be effective in the management of the symptoms of hypoglycemia [2, 6].

Diazoxide has hyperglycemic effect, as it inhibits insulin secretion by a direct action on pancreatic β -cells and activation of glycogenolysis. Recommended daily dose is 50–300 mg, by oral route, up to 600 mg/day. This is usually an effective treatment in controlling the symptoms of hypoglycemia. Adverse events include edema, increased body weight, hirsutism, and renal function disorders.

Diazoxide therapy is often supported with hydrochlorothiazide at a dose of 25 mg/day, which prevents edema and hyperkalemia, and increases the hyperglycemic effect of diazoxide.

Verapamil and diphenylhydantoin (phenytoin) can be used to control glycemia, as an alternative to diazoxide, in some patients with insulinoma.

| Pharmacological treatment of the symptoms of hypoglycemia in insulinoma | | |
|-------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--|
| Diazoxide | 50-300 mg/day, max. dose 600 mg/day | |
| Somatostatin analogs | Can be effective in patients with expression of sstr2 (may intensify hypoglycemia) | |
| PRRT | | |
| Everolimus | | |
| Ca blockers (e.g., Verapamil) | | |
| Diphenylhydantoin | | |
| Glucocorticoids | In cases resistant to treatment (in refractory cases) | |
| Interferon α | In selected, few cases | |
| Systemic chemotherapy | "old": Streptozocin combined with doxorubicin and/5-FU, "new": capecitabine plus temozolomide | |

Table 28.2 Pharmacological treatment of the symptoms of hypoglycemia in insulinoma [6, 9]

Key: PRRT Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy

Corticosteroids, including prednisolone, are usually used in patients with refractory hypoglycemia.

Somatostatin analogs (SSA) (octreotide and lanreotide) are often ineffective in controlling hypoglycemia (50–60 % of insulinomas), and their effect on the blood glucose concentration varies. In some cases they may even intensify hypoglycemia by inhibiting glucagon secretion.

In some patients using *interferon*- α may be beneficial in treating hypoglycemia.

An mTOR inhibitor – *everolimus* – is one of the medications controlling insulin secretion and hypoglycemia in patients with malignant insulinoma [2, 6, 9, 26].

Gastrinoma

Excessive secretion of gastric acid in gastrinoma must be inhibited pharmacologically in all patients with gastrinoma, in order to prevent complications.

The treatment of choice involves proton pump inhibitors (PPIs) (omeprazole, lansoprazole, pantoprazole, rabeprazole, esomeprazole), which reveal similar effectiveness. Administration of PPI once or twice a day is effective in most patients. Recommended initial dose for omeprazole in sporadic forms of ZES is 60 mg once a day. In patients with ZES complications (MEN1 with hypercalcemia, severe gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD) symptoms, preceding Billroth II resection), higher doses of medications are used (e.g., omeprazole 40–60 mg twice a day). During a long-term therapy with PPI, the serum levels of vitamin B12 should be monitored once a year, and more frequent bone fractures in this population should be taken into account.

Histamine H2 receptor antagonists may also be used in patients with ZES. Patients with gastrinoma require higher and more frequent doses than patients with idiopathic peptic ulcer disease.

If oral administration of medications is not possible, PPIs are administered intravenously, as well as histamine H2 receptor antagonists, in large doses, in continuous IV infusion.

Long-acting somatostatin analogs are not first-line medications, and they should be used only in the case of PPI treatment-resistant, malignant gastrinoma.

Loperamide, cholestil, pancreatic enzymes, cholestyramine, bisphosphonates, and corticosteroids may be used for symptomatic treatment, according to clinical indications [8, 9, 13].

VIPoma

Hydration and supplementation of electrolytes are recommended, as they may considerably improve the patient's clinical condition. In patients with VIPoma accompanied by a rare life-threatening syndrome, administration of SSA significantly relieves the symptoms (in 80–90 % of patients) and lowers the concentration of vasoactive intestinal peptide (60–80 %). Biochemical improvement does not always correlate with clinical improvement, so a dose titration based on patient's clinical condition is necessary. Corticosteroids are used in patients with a life-threatening diarrhea which does not respond to the maximum doses of SSA [9, 27].

Glucagonoma

In 80–90 % of patients with glucagonoma, SSA treatment results in a visible clinical improvement of skin lesions due to necrolytic erythema, although the treatment is less effective in the management of diabetes and body weight loss. SSA reduces blood glucagon concentration in approximately 60 % of patients.

Zinc salts may be used in patients with glucagonoma to prevent further skin damage. Antithrombotic prophylaxis should be considered in all patients with NEN associated with an increased risk of thromboembolic complications [9, 28].

Somatostatinoma

Long-acting SSAs are effective in fighting the symptoms of hypersecretion in some cases of somatostatinoma [2].

28.4.4.2 Chemotherapy

Chemotherapy is considered in selected cases when clinical symptoms of functional GEP NENs have not been managed.

The effectiveness of the chemotherapy of well-differentiated or moderately differentiated GEP-NENs is different in case of neoplasms of pancreatic origin, compared to other locations [29].

In well-differentiated pancreatic NENs (PNENs), the highest activity in monotherapy (response rate: 20–40 %) is demonstrated by streptozotocin, doxorubicin, fluorouracil, dacarbazine, and temozolomide. Multidrug regimens are more effective than monotherapy regarding the response and survival rates (median survival: 15–30 months) [29, 30]. Combination of capecitabine and temozolomide demonstrated 70 % objective tumor responses, a median progression-free survival (PFS) of 18 months, and a 2-year survival of 92 % [3].

In palliative treatment of pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms, it is recommended to combine streptozotocin with doxorubicin and 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) and to use a two-drug chemotherapy in patients with a greater risk of complications or not qualifying for the treatment with anthracyclines [9].

28.4.4.3 Targeted Therapies

Another therapeutic option in the management of clinical hormonal syndromes involves targeted therapies using molecularly targeted drugs (sunitinib and everolimus). Sunitinib may be considered in the case of well-differentiated neoplasms (G1), and indications for everolimus comprise well- and moderately differentiated neoplasms (G1 and G2). Recommended dose: everolimus 10 mg/day or sunitinib 37.5 mg/ day in the case of gastrinoma and other GEP NENs: everolimus 10 mg/day [9, 31, 32].

In patients with malignant insulinomas resistant to conventional treatment, using everolimus significantly improved glycemic control [33, 34].

However, using sunitinib and everolimus is associated with a number of unresolved problems (e.g., the order of use for various treatment methods, selection of patients for specific medications, the ability to anticipate the effectiveness and adverse events, as well as possibility of combining the treatment with other methods) [8, 31, 32, 35].

28.4.5 Radioisotope Treatment

Radioisotope therapy may be used for the treatment of hormonal syndromes.

Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy (PRRT) is now a recognized form of palliative treatment which enables stabilization or partial regression of the disease and less often a complete remission [36, 37].

In the case of malignant lesions, it is possible to conduct isotope treatment as a form of symptomatic treatment with temporary therapeutic response. In patients with diffuse gastrinoma and insulinoma, and with positive receptor scintigraphy results, eligibility for PRRT may be considered. However, this therapy requires studies involving a larger number of patients with functional tumors in order to establish its actual therapeutic value. It has been noted that gastrinomas respond to therapy faster, but early progression is relatively frequent [6, 7, 9].

PRRT is used mainly as palliative treatment, without any expectations regarding the impact on partial remission of the disease or patients' survival. If clinical symptoms recur, PRRT may be considered as the second-line therapy in case of disease progression, following stabilization or remission achieved with this method. Re-implementation of isotope treatment at the maintained expression of somatostatin receptors may prolong the patient's survival without a significant exacerbation of adverse reactions associated with this therapy. Radioisotope treatment is frequently combined with "cold" somatostatin analogs [9].

Among different forms of isotope treatment used in the management of the clinical symptoms of NENs, including PNENs, radioembolization with yttrium-labeled microspheres is used, in which the response rate is estimated at 52–66 % and the mean survival is 70 months [21, 38]. According to Ramage et al. [8], a complete remission of the disease is achieved in 2.7 % of patients and a partial remission in 60 %. Since there are no reports on the use of radioembolization in a larger group of patients, further studies in this field are necessary.

28.5 Summary

In functional NENs, the basic form of treatment is surgery. In the case of nonsurgical functional tumors, or tumors progressing after the surgical treatment, the therapy involves using "cold" somatostatin analogs. Isotope treatment may be considered as the second-line treatment. Chemotherapy may be introduced as the second-line treatment if the disease progresses, especially when somatostatin receptor expression is lost.

Targeted therapies using molecularly targeted drugs (mostly everolimus) may be used for symptomatic treatment of GEP-NENs.

If symptomatic refractory disease develops, this can be an indication to consider liver-directed therapies (embolization, chemoembolization, RFA, radiolabeled microspheres) which are reported to improve symptomatic control in many patients.

Management of hormonal symptoms is difficult, but fortunately with quite a number of new promising diagnostic and treatment options.

In order to determine best sequence and multimodality combinations of procedures to be applied, clinical trials need to be performed. Until then, choice must be based on decisions made by a multidisciplinary team of experts.

References

- Oberg K, Knigge U, Kwekkeboom D, Perren A (2012) Neuroendocrine gastro-enteropancreatic tumors: ESMO clinical practice guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol 23:124–130
- Jensen RT, Cadiot G, Brandi ML et al (2012) ENETS consensus guidelines for the management of patients with digestive neuroendocrine neoplasms: functioning pancreatic endocrine tumor syndromes. Neuroendocrinology 95:98–119
- 3. Kos-Kudła B, Blicharz-Dorniak J, Handkiewicz-Junak D et al (2013) Diagnostic and therapeutic guidelines for gastro-entero-pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms (recommended by the Polish Network of Neuroendocrine Tumours). Endokrynol Pol 64(6):418–443
- 4. Le Roith D (1999) Tumor-induced hypoglycemia. N Engl J Med 341:757-758
- 5. Oberg K (2010) Pancreatic endocrine tumors. Semin Oncol 37:594-618
- de Herder WW, van Schaik E, Kwekkeboom D, Feelders RA (2011) New therapeutic options for metastatic malignant insulinomas. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 75(3):277–284
- 7. Jensen RT, Niederle B, Mitry E et al (2006) Gastrinoma (duodenal and pancreatic). Neuroendocrinology 84:173–182
- Ramage JK, Ahmed A, Ardill J et al (2012) Guidelines for the management of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine (including carcinoid) tumours (NETs). Gut 61:6–32
- Kos-Kudła B, Hubalewska-Dydejczyk A, Kuśnierz K et al (2013) Pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms – management guidelines (recommended by the Polish Network of Neuroendocrine Tumours). Endokrynol Pol 64(6):459–479
- 10. Ekeblad S (2010) Islet cell tumours. Adv Exp Med Biol 654:771-789
- O'Toole D, Salazar R, Falconi M et al (2006) Rare functioning pancreatic endocrine tumors. Neuroendocrinology 84:189–195
- 12. Vannella L, Sbrozzi-Vanni A, Lahner E et al (2011) Development of type I gastric carcinoid in patients with chronic atrophic gastritis. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 33:1361–1369
- Rydzewska G, Cichocki A, Cwikła JB et al (2013) Gastroduodenal neuroendocrine neoplasms including gastrinoma – management guidelines (recommended by the Polish Network of Neuroendocrine Tumours). Endokrynol Pol 64(6):444–458
- Sahani DV, Banaffini PA, Del Castillo CF, Blake MA (2013) Gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors: role of imaging in diagnosis and management. Radiology 266(1):38–61
- Falconi M, Bartsch DK, Eriksson B et al (2012) ENETS consensus guidelines for the management of patients with digestive neuroendocrine neoplasms of the digestive system: welldifferentiated pancreatic non-functioning tumors. Neuroendocrinology 95:120–134
- 16. Milan SA, Yeo CJ (2012) Neuroendocrine tumors of the pancreas. Curr Opin Oncol 24:46–55
- 17. Akyildiz HY, Mitchell J, Milas M et al (2010) Laparoscopic radiofrequency thermal ablation of neuroendocrine hepatic metastases: long-term follow-up. Surgery 148:1288–1293
- Pavel M, Baudin E, Couvelard A et al (2012) ENETS Consensus Guidelines for the management of patients with liver and other distant metastases from neuroendocrine neoplasms of foregut, midgut, hindgut, and unknown primary. Neuroendocrinology 95:157–176
- Kianmanesh R, Ruszniewski P, Rindi G et al (2010) ENETS consensus guidelines for the management of peritoneal carcinomatosis from neuroendocrine tumors. Neuroendocrinology 91:333–340
- 20. Zhao YP, Zhan HX, Zhang TP et al (2011) Surgical management of patients with insulinomas: result of 292 cases in a single institution. J Surg Oncol 103:169–174
- 21. Bester L, Meteling B, Pocock N et al (2013) Radioembolisation with yttrium-90 microspheres: an effective treatment modality for unresectable liver metastases. J Med Imaging Radiat Oncol 57(1):72–80
- Jürgensen C, Schuppan D, Neser F et al (2006) EUS-guided alcohol ablation of an insulinoma. Gastrointest Endosc 63:1059–1062
- Deprez PH, Claessens A, Borbath I et al (2008) Successful endoscopic ultrasound guided ethanol ablation of a sporadic insulinoma. Acta Gastroenterol Belg 71:333–337
- Muscatiello N, Salcuni A, Macarini L et al (2008) Treatment of a pancreatic endocrine tumor by ethanol injection guided by endoscopic ultrasound. Endoscopy 40:E258–E259
- Rosiek V, Kunikowska J, Kos-Kudła B (2012) A non-functioning pancreatic neuroendocrine tumour: a case report. Endokrynol Pol 63(1):59–64
- Rosiek V, Kos-Kudła B (2010) Guidelines for the management of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Gastroenterol Pract 2(6):28–34
- Nikou GC, Toubanakis C, Nikolaou P et al (2005) VIPomas: an update in diagnosis and management in a series of 11 patients. Hepatogastroenterology 52:1259–1265
- Tomassetti P, Migliori M, Corinaldesi R et al (2000) Treatment of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumours with octreotide LAR. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 14:557–560
- Vilar E, Salazar R, Pérez-Garcia J, Cortes J, Öberg K, Tabernero J (2007) Chemotherapy and role of the proliferation marker Ki-67 in digestive neuroendocrine tumors. Endocr Relat Cancer 14:221–232
- Moertel CG, Lefkopoulo M, Lipsitz S et al (1992) Streptozocin-doxorubicin, streptozocinfluorouracil or chlorozotocin in the treatment of advanced islet-cell carcinoma. N Engl J Med 326:519–523
- Raymond E, Dahan L, Raoul JL et al (2011) Sunitinib malate for the treatment of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. N Engl J Med 364:501–513
- Yao JC, Shah MH, Ito T et al (2011) Everolimus for advanced pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. N Engl J Med 364:514–523
- Kulke MH, Bergsland EK, Yao JC (2009) Glycemic control in patients with insulinoma treated with everolimus. N Engl J Med 360:195–197
- 34. Bourcier ME, Sherrod A, DiGuardo M et al (2009) Successful control of intractable hypoglycemia using rapamycin in an 86-year-old man with a pancreatic insulin secreting islet cell tumor and metastases. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 94:3157–3162
- Wiedenmann B, Pavel M, Kos-Kudla B (2011) From targets to treatments: a review of molecular targets in pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Neuroendocrinology 94:177–190
- Kwekkeboom D, Kam B, van Essen M et al (2010) Somatostatin receptor-based imaging and therapy of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Endocr Relat Cancer 17:R53–R73
- Krenning EP, Kwekkeboom DJ, Valkema R et al (2004) Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1014:234–245
- Paprottka P, Hoffmann R, Haug A et al (2011) Radioembolization of symptomatic, unresectable neuroendocrine hepatic metastases using Yttrium-90 microspheres. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol 35(2):334–342

Carcinoid Syndrome

Saadettin Kilickap and Suayib Yalcin

29.1 Background

Carcinoid tumor was firstly described as a group of small, benign-appearing tumor in the intestinal tract by Oberndorfer [1]. Carcinoid tumors are rare, slow-growing, well-differentiated endocrine tumors and mostly originated from three different sites including the bronchus, small intestine, or colon/rectum. They are malignancies originating from the enterochromaffin cells in the neuroendocrine system. The most common location of carcinoid tumors is the gastrointestinal tract. They account for 1.2–1.5 % of all gastrointestinal tract neoplasms [2, 3].

Carcinoid syndrome, which was described in 1953 by Rosenbaum [4], occurs in less than 10 % of patients with carcinoid tumors. It affects men and women equally. A number of symptoms including flushing, wheezing, diarrhea, asthma-like symptoms, abdominal pain, diaphoresis, skin lesions, hypotension, and valvular heart disease, especially pulmonary or tricuspid valve involvement, are principal features of the carcinoid syndrome. The signs and symptoms occur due to hormone and peptide and their metabolites secreting from the tumor cells into the bloodstream. Most cases only occur after metastatic spread to the liver [5].

S. Kilickap, MD, MSc (🖂) Department of Preventive Oncology, Hacettepe University Cancer Institute, Sıhhiye, Ankara 06100, Turkey e-mail: skilickap@yahoo.com

S. Yalcin, MD Medical Oncology Department, Cancer Institute, University of Hacettepe, Sihhiye, Ankara, Turkey e-mail: suayibyalcin@gmail.com

29.2 Symptoms

The most common signs and symptoms of carcinoid tumors are shown in Table 1.1. A number of chemical substrates secreting from neuroendocrine tumor cells such as serotonin and its metabolites account for the majority of symptoms of carcinoid syndrome. Symptoms are also triggered by physical exertion, stress, or foods and drinks such as chocolate, blue cheese, or red wine. Sometimes carcinoid syndromes are diagnosed as acute appendicitis due to tumor-related obstruction.

The two most common symptoms of carcinoid tumors are flushing and diarrhea. Both of them associate with releasing serotonin and its metabolites into the blood-stream. Flushing occurs in about 85 % of patients with carcinoid syndrome and usually is of sudden onset. It is observed on the skin of the face, neck, upper chest, and the nipple line, and the skin color varies from pink to red. Although the flush may be provoked by stress, exercise, some foods such as chocolate and cheese, drinking alcohol, certain drugs such as serotonin reuptake inhibitors, and catechol-amines, sometimes it may happen spontaneously [6–8].

Foods that triggered the flush usually contain tyramines. Flushing episodes are usually brief and last a few minutes. The flushes observed with gastric and bronchopulmonary tumors tend to be more intense, and they may continue several hours or days but are not permanent. In these cases, the involvement of the upper trunk is uncommon.

Diarrhea occurs in 75-80 % of cases with carcinoid syndrome, and in 85 %, it is accompanied by flushing. The diarrhea observed in patients with carcinoid syndrome is a secretory diarrhea, and the episodes are up to 20 per day. The diarrhea is described as watery. Thus, it may cause fluid and electrolyte depletion. Abdominal cramps may be accompanied by a watery diarrhea. The diarrhea is unrelated to nutrition and may continue during fasting.

Other manifestations of carcinoid syndrome include cardiac and pulmonary symptoms and skin lesions. Cardiac disease in patients with carcinoid syndrome

| Table 1.1 Carcinoid symptoms and their frequencies | Symptom | Frequency (%) |
|---------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------|---------------|
| | Flushing | 85 |
| | Telangiectasia | 25 |
| | Cyanosis | 18 |
| | Pellagra | 2–25 |
| | Diarrhea | 75-80 |
| | Abdominal cramp | 75 |
| | Bronchospasm | 20 |
| | Valvular lesions | 50 |
| | Right heart | 40 |
| | Left heart | 13 |
| | Asthenia | <5 |
| | Neuropsychiatric symptoms | <5 |
| | Musculoskeletal | <5 |
| | | |

occurs in about 50 % of the cases and is usually characterized by valvular lesions [9, 10]. The lesions develop due to the formation of fibrotic plaques on the cardiac valves, especially on the right side. Retraction of the valves results in regurgitation and right-sided congestive heart failure [11]. The right-sided involvement in patients with carcinoid syndrome is predominant. Of these patients, 97 % have tricuspid insufficiency, 59 % tricuspid stenosis, 50 % pulmonary insufficiency, 25 % pulmonary stenosis, and 11 % (0–25 %) left-side lesions [12]. These patients may be present with tachycardia, palpitation, low blood pressure, and heart failure symptoms such as dyspnea, edema, and effusion.

The most common pulmonary symptoms in patients with carcinoid syndrome are wheezing, shortness of breath, and asthma-like symptoms developing due to bronchospasm [13]. They occur about 20 % of these patients. These symptoms occur due to hormone and peptide release such as serotonin and its metabolites or pulmonary fibrosis.

Carcinoid syndrome-related skin lesions include facial telangiectasis, pellagralike skin lesions, and purplish areas. They occur about 2–25 % of the patients and appear on the face and upper lip. Other uncommon symptoms in patients with carcinoid syndrome include asthenia, irritability, agitation, aggression, arthritis, arthralgia, myopathy, fatigue, abdominal pain, and tenderness [14].

29.3 Causes

The etiology of carcinoid tumor is unclear. It occurs usually as sporadically but rarely to be hereditary. In small bowel carcinoid tumors, loss of arms 9p and 16q on chromosome 18 has been thought to be associated with these tumors [15]. Also, these tumors may be present as a part of multiple endocrine neoplasia.

Although most of carcinoid tumors are asymptomatic and silent tumor, they become symptomatic disease when carcinoid tumors metastasized to the liver. In this stage, serotonin and other vasoactive substances secreted by the tumor cells escape hepatic metabolization and reach to the systemic circulation. Thus, they are called as carcinoid syndrome. The principal chemical substrates which are responsible for these symptoms and signs are presented in Table 1.2. Some carcinoid tumors secrete certain and specific vasoactive amines and peptides. For example, gastric carcinoids produce usually histamine, but serotonin and adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) are released by carcinoid tumors arising from the lung. Primary tumor location, peptides secreted from the tumor cells, and frequency of carcinoid syndrome were illustrated in Table 1.3.

29.4 Diagnosis

The first step for the diagnosis is medical history and physical examination. Patients should be questioned for symptoms and signs of carcinoid syndrome, when they have symptoms including unexplained recurrent flushing and severe diarrhea episodes. Secondly, to determine the levels of substances released by tumor cells,

| Table 1.2 Substrates causing carcinoid tumors | Amines |
|-------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------|
| | Serotonin |
| | 5-Hydroxytryptophan |
| | Norepinephrine |
| | Dopamine |
| | Histamine |
| | Polypeptides |
| | Gastrin |
| | Corticotropin (ACTH) |
| | Bradykinin |
| | Pancreatic polypeptide (PP) |
| | Somatostatin |
| | Vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP) |
| | Substance P |
| | Peptide YY |
| | Neurokinin A and B |
| | Motilin |
| | Kallikrein |
| | Growth hormone |
| | Neuropeptide K |
| | Glucagon |
| | Beta-endorphin |
| | Neurotensin |
| | Chromogranin A |

Table 1.3 Primary tumor location, peptides secreted from the tumor cells, and frequency of carcinoid syndrome

| | | Carcinoid |
|----------|------------------------------------------------------|-----------|
| Location | Secretory products | syndrome |
| Foregut | 5-Hydroxytryptophan histamine, multiple polypeptides | Rare |
| Midgut | Serotonin prostaglandins, polypeptides | Often |
| Hindgut | Variable | Rare |

laboratory tests including blood and urine analyses are done. These laboratory tests include the following.

29.4.1 5-HIAA

5-Hydroxyindoleacetic acid (HIAA), a metabolite of serotonin, is extensively used for the diagnosis of the carcinoid syndrome. To measure 24-h urinary excretion of 5-HIAA is the most sensitive test and should be used as an initial diagnostic test. Its sensitivity and specificity is over 90 % for the carcinoid syndrome [16]. To avoid false-positive elevation of urinary excretion of 5-HIAA, patients should prohibit intake of tryptophan- and serotonin-rich foods such as bananas, walnuts, pecans, avocados, and pineapples for 3 days prior to urine collection and discontinue certain drugs containing serotonin reuptake inhibitors, acetaminophen, salicylates, and L-dopa [17]. Reasons of false-positive and false-negative 5-HIAA urinary excretion are shown in Table 1.4. Urinary excretion of HIAA is more sensitive in patients with primary midgut than those with hindgut and foregut which rarely secreted serotonin.

29.4.2 Serotonin

Measurement of serum levels and urinary excretion of serotonin may be beneficial for the diagnosis. The benefit is higher in patients with midgut carcinoid tumor secreting serotonin, but its benefit is limited for the other carcinoids. Blood serotonin concentration may be measured by using different methods, but there is no described standard method to measure serum serotonin level.

| Table 1.4 Reasons of false-positive and false-negative 5-HIAA urinary excretion | False positive | False negative |
|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------|----------------|
| | Drugs | Drugs |
| | Phenobarbital | Corticotrophin |
| | Phentolamine | Levodopa |
| | Nicotine | MAO inhibitors |
| | Acetaminophen | Phenothiazines |
| | Fluorouracil | Aspirin |
| | Melphalan | Isoniazid |
| | Guaifenesin | Ethanol |
| | Ephedrine | Streptozotocin |
| | Phenacetin | Methyldopa |
| | Methamphetamine | Heparin |
| | Foods and drinks | |
| | Pineapples | |
| | Bananas | |
| | Walnuts | |
| | Avocados | |
| | Tomatoes | |
| | Pecans | |
| | Hickory nuts | |
| | Kiwi fruit | |
| | Caffeine | |
| | | |

5-HIAA 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid; MAO monoamine oxidase

29.4.3 Chromogranin A

Chromogranin A, a group of acidic glycoprotein, is stored and released from chromaffin granules of neuroendocrine cells. The measurement of serum chromogranin A is often used to diagnose well-differentiated neuroendocrine tumors. The serum level of chromogranin A is associated with tumor burden [18, 19]. As a tumor marker, chromogranin A is moderately sensitive and nonspecific [17]. Foods and drugs such as proton pump inhibitors may affect serum chromogranin concentration [20]. Due to a nonspecific marker, plasma chromogranin A is useful with urinary excretion of 5-HIAA. For patients who have elevated plasma chromogranin A at the baseline, it is an appropriate marker for detection of recurrence and monitoring of response to different treatments.

29.5 Imaging

Imaging studies including computed tomography, magnetic resonance imaging, and scintigraphy are available for carcinoid tumors. For diagnosis of carcinoid tumors and related syndromes, the first step for imaging tests is computed tomography of the abdomen. Computed tomography is usually recommended to localize the site of primary tumor and to assess the extension of tumor metastases. Carcinoid tumor and its metastasis may appear as a hypervascular lesion. Carcinoid tumor is isodense with liver on a noncontrasted imaging, whereas it appears as a hyperdense lesion at the early arterial phase after the injection of intravenous contrast. Carcinoid tumors originating in the small bowel may not be seen on computed tomography because of their small size.

Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) is a limited advantage for diagnosing and staging carcinoids and related syndromes [21]. MRI should be used for detection of liver metastases of carcinoid tumors because its sensitivity for liver metastasis is higher than computed tomography [22, 23].

Somatostatin receptors have been expressed in patients with carcinoid tumor. Octreotide is a somatostatin analogue, and a radiolabeled octreotide scintigraphy with indium-111 DTPA, called as OctreoScan or somatostatin receptor scintigraphy, is usually used to localize the site of primary tumor and to assess response to therapy and tumor progression or recurrence for carcinoid tumors. The sensitivity and specificity of OctreoScan is higher for the tumors which are highly expressed somatostatin receptors, especially well-differentiated neuroendocrine tumors. However, its sensitivity is lower for lesions smaller than 1.5 cm in diameter [23]. Metaiodobenzylguanidine (MIBG) scintigraphy which is an alternative to Octreoscan for the diagnosis of carcinoid tumor may also be useful to localize the disease. MIBG scans have been found to be positive in about two thirds of all patients with carcinoid tumors [24].

Functional PET imaging techniques including 18-F-dihydroxy-phenyl-alanine (18F-DOPA), 11-C-5-hydroxytryptophan (11-C-5-HTP), and 68-Ga-DOTA- D-Phe¹-Tyr³-Octreotide (68-Ga-DOTATOC) have recently been used for the diagnosis and follow-up of carcinoid tumors. These techniques have higher sensitivity for detection of small tumors. However, 68-Ga-DOTATOC PET may be more sensitive than OctreoScan for detection of the bone and lung carcinoid tumors [25]. It is not clear whether functional PET imaging techniques should be preferred over somatostatin receptor scintigraphy or they should be used for patients whom OctreoScan is negative [26, 27].

29.6 Treatment

The first treatment of carcinoid tumor is surgical resection of the tumor if it is completely removed. For patients whose primary tumor cannot be entirely removed, surgical debulking may be useful. This may reduce the signs and symptoms of carcinoid syndrome. Hepatic resection may be useful for symptomatic palliation and should be considered in patients who have potentially resectable liver metastasis. The benefit of hepatic resection is unclear for patients who have widespread extrahepatic metastases. However, patients with the carcinoid syndrome should be treated with systemic therapies and/or tumor-targeted local therapies including chemo- or radioembolization techniques because the tumor has spread to the liver.

Somatostatin receptors are present in 70–95 % of neuroendocrine tumors [28]. They are extensively expressed by carcinoid tumors, whereas this expression is lower in poorly differentiated tumors. Somatostatin inhibits the release of a majority of bioactive amines by binding to its receptors. Synthetic analogues of somatostatin such as octreotide and lanreotide are widely used agents to improve the symptoms of patients with carcinoid syndrome. Using somatostatin analogues, the symptoms are reduced in over 80 % of these patients [29]. Patients should be treated with monthly intramuscular long-acting octreotide, is a depot form of the drugs, at a dose of 20–30 mg [30]. However, subcutaneous short-acting octreotide should be given as supplementation at the initial therapy or should be used in the treatment of symptomatic patients. Lanreotide, another long-acting somatostatin analogue called as Somatuline Autogel, is available at a dose of 60–120 mg as subcutaneous deep injection for every 4 weeks. Although the efficacy and tolerability of lanreotide are similar with octreotide for treatment of carcinoid syndrome, there are no randomized studies comparing the efficacy of octreotide versus lanreotide in carcinoid syndrome patients [31-36]. The antiproliferative effect of somatostatin analogues has also been shown. The objective response rate of these drugs is less than 5 %. But, they are very effective drugs for symptomatic control of the carcinoid syndrome, and they also improve the biological marker response. Although there are several clinical studies that indicate that higher doses of long-acting somatostatin analogues may be useful, the guidelines have not yet been recommended [37-39].

Interferon stimulates T cell function. Thus, it inhibits angiogenesis and tumor growth. Although an interferon has lower antitumor effect, it has been used to control symptoms of carcinoid syndrome [40]. Symptom control is achieved by 50 % due to be reduced hormonal hypersecretion.

The liver is the most common metastatic site of carcinoid tumors. And the liver metastasis accounts for the symptoms. The use of liver-targeted therapies such as radiofrequency ablation and transhepatic chemoembolization has been considerably increased. Radiofrequency ablation is a minimal invasive treatment delivering heat through a thin needle into the tumor in the liver. Thus tumor cells are destroyed. Cutting off via arterial catheterization the blood supply to tumors that have metastasized to the liver provides symptom control. Infusion of chemotherapy via hepatic arteries also improved symptoms as well as its antitumoral effect.

These therapy options play a vital role for symptomatic improvement. They are repeated in the treatment of the recurrent disease. Similarly, radioembolization using 90Y-labeled resin may be beneficial to reduce symptoms [41]. These procedures should be performed only in experienced medical centers.

Although cytotoxic chemotherapy is very effective in treatment of poorly differentiated neuroendocrine tumors, its benefit is limited in treatment of welldifferentiated tumors. Because these tumors grow slowly, response rate with conventional cytotoxic chemotherapy is less than 10 % in clinical studies. Targeted therapies are novel therapeutic agents used for cancer therapy. A number of targeted therapy agents including sunitinib, bevacizumab, sorafenib, and everolimus have recently been used in the treatment of carcinoid tumors. Antitumoral effect of targeted therapies is lower in carcinoid tumor, but symptomatic improvement and reduction in biochemical response are achieved.

Radiolabeled somatostatin analogues such as ⁹⁰Y-DOTA tyr3-octreotide, ⁹⁰Y-edotreotide, or ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTA⁰, Tyr³⁻octreotate could be beneficial in the treatment of carcinoid tumors expressing somatostatin receptor. Most of the patients treated with radiolabeled somatostatin analogues have been observed with higher response rate and have achieved symptomatic improvement [42].

29.7 Management of Carcinoid Crisis

Carcinoid crisis is characterized by a severe episode of flushing, low blood pressure, arrhythmias, confusion, and shortness of breath and can be a life-threatening form of carcinoid tumors. The crisis may be provoked by tumor manipulation, anesthesia used during surgery, and local therapies and may be life-threatening [43, 44]. Octreotide infusion should be used to prevent and to treat the crisis [45]. Octreotide is administered as a bolus dose of 500–1,000 mcg or a continuous intravenous dose of 50–200 mcg/h [37].

Other symptomatic therapies of carcinoid syndrome include loperamide, ketanserin, and diphenoxylate for treatment of diarrhea, bronchodilators for bronchospasm, serotonin receptor antagonists or somatostatin analogues, and histamine H_1 and H_2 receptor antagonists such as diphenhydramine and cimetidine.

References

- 1. Oberndorfer S (1907) Karzinoide Tumoren des Dünndarmes. Fr Zeitschrift Pathol 1:426-429
- Modlin IM, Lye KD, Kidd M (2003) A 5-decade analysis of 13,715 carcinoid tumors. Cancer 97:934–959
- Yao JC, Hassan M, Phan A et al (2008) One hundred years after "carcinoid": epidemiology of and prognostic factors for neuroendocrine tumors in 35,825 cases in the United States. J Clin Oncol 26:3063–3072
- Rosenbaum FF, Santer DG, Claudon DB (1953) Essential telangiectasia, pulmonic and tricuspid stenosis, and neoplastic liver disease. A possible new clinical syndrome. J Lab Clin Med 42:941–942
- 5. Soga J, Yakuwa Y, Osaka M (1999) Carcinoid syndrome: a statistical evaluation of 748 reported cases. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 18:133–141
- Törnebrandt K, Nobin A, Ericsson M, Thomson D (1983) Circulation, respiration and serotonin levels in carcinoid patients during neurolept anaesthesia. Anaesthesia 38:957–967

- 7. Marsh HM, Martin JK Jr, Kvols LK et al (1987) Carcinoid crisis during anesthesia: successful treatment with a somatostatin analogue. Anesthesiology 66:89–91
- 8. Maton PN (1988) The carcinoid syndrome. JAMA 260:1602–1605
- Lundin L, Norheim I, Landelius J et al (1998) Carcinoid heart disease: relationship of circulating vasoactive substances to ultrasound-detectable cardiac abnormalities. Circulation 77:264–269
- Anderson AS, Krauss D, Lang R (1997) Cardiovascular complications of malignant carcinoid disease. Am Heart J 134:693–702
- Connolly HM, Nishimura RA, Smith HC et al (1995) Outcome of cardiac surgery for carcinoid heart disease. J Am Coll Cardiol 25:410–416
- Jensen RT (2012) Endocrine tumors of the gastrointestinal tract and pancreas. In: Longo DL, Fauci AS, Kasper DL (eds) Harrison's principles of internal medicine, 18th edn. The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc., NewYork, pp 3056–3071
- 13. Warner RRP (1985) Carcinoid tumors. In: Berk JE (ed) Gastroenterology, vol 2, 4th edn. WB Saunders, Philadelphia
- 14. Swain CP, Tavill AS, Neale G (1976) Studies of tryptophan and albumin metabolism in a patient with carcinoid syndrome, pellagra, and hypoproteinemia. Gastroenterology 71:484–489
- Wang WP, Guo C, Berney DM et al (2010) Primary carcinoid tumors of the testis: a clinicopathologic study of 29 cases. Am J Surg Pathol 34(4):519–524
- Sjöblom SM (1988) Clinical presentation and prognosis of gastrointestinal carcinoid tumours. Scand J Gastroenterol 23:779–787
- 17. Modlin IM, Gustafsson BI, Moss SF et al (2010) Chromogranin A-biological function and clinical utility in neuroendocrine tumor disease. Ann Surg Oncol 17:2427–2443
- Campana D, Nori F, Piscitelli L et al (2007) Chromogranin A: is it a useful marker of neuroendocrine tumors? J Clin Oncol 25:1967–1973
- Nehar D, Lombard-Bohas C, Olivieri S et al (2004) Interest of Chromogranin A for diagnosis and follow-up of endocrine tumours. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 60:644–652
- Pregun I, Herszényi L, Juhász M et al (2011) Effect of proton-pump inhibitor therapy on serum chromogranin a level. Digestion 84:22–28
- Petrou A, Papalambros A, Papaconstantinou I et al (2008) Gastric carcinoid tumor in association with hepatocellular carcinoma: a case report. South Med J 101(11):1170–1172
- 22. Pisegna JR, Doppman JL, Norton JA et al (1993) Prospective comparative study of ability of MR imaging and other imaging modalities to localize tumors in patients with Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. Dig Dis Sci 38:1318–1328
- 23. Dromain C, de Baere T, Baudin E et al (2003) MR imaging of hepatic metastases caused by neuroendocrine tumors: comparing four techniques. AJR Am J Roentgenol 180:121–128
- 24. Sippel RS, Chen H (2006) Carcinoid tumors. Surg Oncol Clin N Am 15:463-478
- Buchmann I, Henze M, Engelbrecht S et al (2007) Comparison of 68Ga-DOTATOC PET and 111In-DTPAOC (Octreoscan) SPECT in patients with neuroendocrine tumours. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 34:1617–1626
- 26. Pavel M, Baudin E, Couvelard A et al (2012) ENETS Consensus Guidelines for the management of patients with liver and other distant metastases from neuroendocrine neoplasms of foregut, midgut, hindgut, and unknown primary. Neuroendocrinology 95:157–176
- Ramage JK, Ahmed A, Ardill J et al (2012) Guidelines for the management of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine (including carcinoid) tumours (NETs). Gut 61:6–32
- Ramage JK, Davies AH, Ardill J (2005) UKNETwork for neuroendocrine tumours: guidelines for the management of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine (including carcinoid) tumours. Gut 54:iv1–iv16
- Kvols LK, Moertel CG, O'Connell MJ et al (1986) Treatment of the malignant carcinoid syndrome. Evaluation of a long-acting somatostatin analogue. N Engl J Med 315:663–666
- Rubin J, Ajani J, Schirmer W et al (1999) Octreotide acetate long-acting formulation versus open-label subcutaneous octreotide acetate in malignant carcinoid syndrome. J Clin Oncol 17:600–606

- Faiss S, R\u00e4th U, Mansmann U et al (1999) Ultra-high-dose lanreotide treatment in patients with metastatic neuroendocrine gastroenteropancreatic tumors. Digestion 60:469–476
- 32. Wymenga AN, Eriksson B, Salmela PI et al (1999) Efficacy and safety of prolonged-release lanreotide in patients with gastrointestinal neuroendocrine tumors and hormone-related symptoms. J Clin Oncol 17:1111
- 33. O'Toole D, Ducreux M, Bommelaer G et al (2000) Treatment of carcinoid syndrome: a prospective crossover evaluation of lanreotide versus octreotide in terms of efficacy, patient acceptability, and tolerance. Cancer 88:770–776
- 34. Ducreux M, Ruszniewski P, Chayvialle JA et al (2000) The antitumoral effect of the longacting somatostatin analog lanreotide in neuroendocrine tumors. Am J Gastroenterol 95:3276–3281
- 35. Faiss S, Pape UF, Böhmig M et al (2003) Prospective, randomized, multicenter trial on the antiproliferative effect of lanreotide, interferon alfa, and their combination for therapy of metastatic neuroendocrine gastroenteropancreatic tumors – the International Lanreotide and Interferon Alfa Study Group. J Clin Oncol 21:2689–2696
- 36. Khan MS, El-Khouly F, Davies P et al (2011) Long-term results of treatment of malignant carcinoid syndrome with prolonged release Lanreotide (Somatuline Autogel). Aliment Pharmacol Ther 34:235–242
- Oberg K, Kvols L, Caplin M et al (2004) Consensus report on the use of somatostatin analogs for the management of neuroendocrine tumors of the gastroenteropancreatic system. Ann Oncol 15:966–973
- Strosberg JR, Fisher GA, Benson AB et al (2013) Systemic treatment in unresectable metastatic well-differentiated carcinoid tumors: consensus results from a modified delphi process. Pancreas 42:397–404
- 39. Strosberg J, Weber J, Feldman M et al (2013) Above-label doses of octreotide-LAR in patients with metastatic small intestinal carcinoid tumors. Gastrointest Cancer Res 6:81–85
- 40. Oberg K, Funa K, Alm G (1983) Effects of leukocyte interferon on clinical symptoms and hormone levels in patients with mid-gut carcinoid tumors and carcinoid syndrome. N Engl J Med 309:129–133
- King J, Quinn R, Glenn DM et al (2008) Radioembolization with selective internal radiation microspheres for neuroendocrine liver metastases. Cancer 113:921–929
- Bushnell DL Jr, O'Dorisio TM, O'Dorisio MS et al (2010) 90Y-edotreotide for metastatic carcinoid refractory to octreotide. J Clin Oncol 28:1652–1659
- Woodside KJ, Townsend CM Jr, Mark Evers B (2004) Current management of gastrointestinal carcinoid tumors. J Gastrointest Surg 8:742–756
- Warner RR, Mani S, Profeta J, Grunstein E (1994) Octreotide treatment of carcinoid hypertensive crisis. Mt Sinai J Med 61:349–355
- 45. Boudreaux JP, Klimstra DS, Hassan MM et al (2010) The NANETS consensus guideline for the diagnosis and management of neuroendocrine tumors: well-differentiated neuroendocrine tumors of the Jejunum, Ileum, Appendix, and Cecum. Pancreas 39:753–766

Somatostatin Analogs and Interferon in the Treatment of Neuroendocrine Tumors

30

Jonathan Strosberg

30.1 Introduction

Biotherapy for neuroendocrine tumors (NET) emerged in the 1980s when somatostatin analogs (SSAs) and interferons (IFNs) were investigated in small series of patients with malignant carcinoid syndrome. While early clinical trials focused on palliation of hormonal symptoms, subsequent studies have been designed to assess the inhibitory effects of SSAs and IFNs on tumor progression. The recognition that biological therapies may be synergistic has led to several randomized studies investigating IFN α in combination with SSAs. This chapter will review the mechanism of action and key clinical trials investigating SSAs and IFNs in advanced, well-differentiated NETs.

30.2 Somatostatin Analogs

Native human somatostatin is a cyclic peptide hormone that exists in two natural forms consisting of 14 and 28 amino acids [1, 2]. It is widely distributed in multiple tissues including the central nervous system, pancreas, and gastrointestinal tract. It has been characterized as a universal endocrine "off switch" due to its inhibitory paracrine, exocrine, and endocrine effects. In the digestive tract, somatostatin inhibits multiple intestinal functions such as bowel motility and absorption [3]. Somatostatin also inhibits secretion of other pancreatic and intestinal hormones including gastrin, glucagon, and serotonin. The physiological actions of somatostatin are mediated through five subtypes of somatostatin receptors (sst_1-sst_5) belonging

J. Strosberg, MD

Neuroendocrine Tumor Program, H. Lee Moffitt Cancer Center and Research Institute, Tampa, FL 33629, USA e-mail: Jonathan.Strosberg@moffitt.org

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

S. Yalcin, K. Öberg (eds.), Neuroendocrine Tumours:

Diagnosis and Management, DOI 10.1007/978-3-662-45215-8_30

to a family of G-protein-coupled receptors with 7 transmembrane domains [4]. Approximately 80 % of well-differentiated NETs express high levels of somatostatin receptors, particularly receptor subtypes 2 and 5 [5].

Native somatostatin is rapidly cleared in the circulation due to enzymatic cleavage sites, limiting its clinical utility [5, 6]. In order to improve somatostatin's pharmacokinetics, synthetic SSAs have been developed by truncating the polypeptide chain while retaining somatostatin receptor binding sites [7, 8]. Two commercially available analogs, octreotide and lanreotide, are cyclic peptide SSAs which bind with high affinity to sst₂ and with moderate affinity to sst₃ and sst₅. SSAs have had a profound impact on neuroendocrine tumor treatment. They were initially developed as antisecretory agents designed to control symptoms such as flushing and diarrhea associated with the carcinoid syndrome. In recent years, high-level data has emerged demonstrating that SSAs can also control neuroendocrine tumor growth [9–11].

The initial formulation of octreotide was as a subcutaneously administered drug with an elimination half-life of approximately 2 h. A landmark phase II trial evaluated octreotide 150 mcg t.i.d. in 25 patients with malignant carcinoid syndrome [12]. Rapid palliation of flushing and diarrhea was reported in 22 patients (88 %), associated with major reductions of urine 5-HIAA in 18 patients (72 %). Multiple subsequent studies have confirmed that both octreotide and lanreotide are effective for palliation of the carcinoid syndrome [13–15]. A crossover study of 33 patients comparing octreotide to lanreotide demonstrated equivalency in control of flushing and diarrhea as well as improvement in quality of life [13]. Both drugs are also effective at controlling hormonal symptoms associated with pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors such as VIPomas, glucagonomas, and gastrinomas [16–20]. Patients with advanced insulinomas may also respond to SSAs [21]; however, there is potential for exacerbation of hypoglycemia due to inhibition of the counter-regulatory hormone glucagon [22].

During the past decade, a long-acting repeatable (LAR) depot formulation of octreotide (Sandostatin LAR[®]) has been available, which releases drug slowly by cleavage of a polymer ester linkage and enables monthly intramuscular dosing. A randomized phase III study compared subcutaneous octreotide every 8 h to octreotide LAR 10, 20, or 30 mg every 4 weeks [23]. Control of diarrhea was comparable in each of the four study arms; however, control of flushing was least effective in the 10 mg LAR cohort. Based on this trial, the recommended starting dose of octreotide LAR was set at 20 mg every 4 weeks with subsequent dose titration suggested for symptom control [24]. A second somatostatin analog, lanreotide, was licensed in Europe in 1998 for the treatment of hormonal symptoms-advanced NETs. A long-acting depot formulation of lanreotide (Somatuline Autogel[®]) has also been developed as a deep subcutaneous injection. It is supplied as a prefilled syringe consisting of a viscous aqueous solution available at doses of 60, 90, and 120 mg every 4 weeks.

Side effects of SSAs are generally mild and include nausea, bloating, and steatorrhea. Most side effects resolve over time. Malabsorptive symptoms caused by SSAs can often be controlled with pancreatic enzyme supplementation. Inhibitory effects of SSAs on gallbladder function increase the long-term risk of gallstones. Therefore, prophylactic cholecystectomy should be considered in patients undergoing abdominal surgery [25]. Other reported side effects include bradycardia, pancreatitis, and hyperglycemia. However, it is important to note that the only randomized trial of octreotide LAR versus placebo did not identify any increase in serious adverse events [26].

30.2.1 Treatment and Prophylaxis of the Carcinoid Crisis

Carcinoid crisis is defined as an episode of severe hypotension caused by an acute release of serotonin and other vasoactive substances into the circulation. It occurs most commonly in the operative setting since triggers include general anesthesia, epinephrine, and physical manipulation of tumors. Patients with carcinoid syndrome or elevated urine 5-HIAA who undergo an invasive procedure should receive a supplementary dose of octreotide 250–500 mcg subcutaneously or intravenously 1 h prior to the procedure [27]. Hypotension occurring in the setting of carcinoid crisis can be managed with bolus intravenous doses of octreotide 500–1,000 mcg until control of symptoms is achieved. Alternatively, continuous intravenous infusion of 50–10 mcg/h may be given after a bolus dose [28].

30.2.2 Antiproliferative Effects of SSAs

In recent years, strong evidence has emerged that SSAs can inhibit the growth of neuroendocrine tumors. Antitumoral activity, also known as the "antiproliferative effect" of SSAs, can occur via direct and indirect mechanisms [6, 9, 29]. Direct mechanisms involve the binding of SSAs to somatostatin receptors on tumor cells leading to activation of intracellular signaling transduction pathways. Multiple in vitro studies using cell lines transfected with somatostatin receptors indicate that all receptor subtypes (sst1-5) can participate in inhibition of cellular proliferation and that specific receptor subtypes (sst2,3) mediate apoptosis [30, 31]. Indirect antiproliferative mechanisms include inhibition of circulating growth factors such as vascular-endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and insulin-like growth factor (IGF) [32], as well as inhibition of tumor angiogenesis through interaction with somatostatin receptors on endothelial cells [33].

30.2.2.1 Direct Antiproliferative Mechanisms

In vitro studies in various cell lines, including breast, pancreatic, and prostate carcinomas, demonstrate that SSA binding to somatostatin receptors activates a subset of phosphotyrosine phosphatases (PTPs), including SHP-1 and SHP-2, leading to cell cycle arrest [34, 35]. In a pituitary adenoma cell line, activation of sst₂ arrested cell proliferation via stimulation of SHP-1 [36]. SHP-1 has also been implicated in sst₃dependent apoptosis in transfected Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells [37]. The precise effects of SSAs on mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAP-kinase) signaling are uncertain since both inhibition and stimulation of this pathway have been linked to the antiproliferative effects of SSAs. In a glioma cell line, the receptor-like PTP, PTPeta, mediated the antiproliferative effects of somatostatin through inhibition of ERK1/2 [38]. In another study, somatostatin activated MAP-kinase in sst₁-expressing CHO cells, thereby stimulating the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p21 and inhibiting cell proliferation [39].

30.2.2.2 Indirect Antiproliferative Mechanisms

Suppression of tumor growth may occur through inhibition of various circulating growth factors, including growth hormone (GH) [40]. Inhibition of GH is thought to be mediated through sst_2 and sst_5 , which are expressed in the anterior pituitary [41]. Octreotide has been shown to suppress circulating levels of IGF-1, both by suppressing pituitary GH and by inhibiting IGF-1 production in the liver [32, 42]. SSAs also appear to have an inhibitory effect on tumor angiogenesis [33, 43]. Octreotide has been shown to inhibit proliferating endothelial cells that express sst_2 and sst_5 [44]. The primary antiangiogenic mechanism may be suppression of endothelial nitric oxide release [45]. Inhibition of circulating vascular-endothelial growth factor (VEGF) appears to also play a role in suppression of peritumoral vessel growth [46].

30.2.3 Clinical Evidence of the Antiproliferative Effect

Multiple phase II and retrospective studies have investigated the effects of SSAs on tumor progression in patients with GEP-NETs. In general, these studies have documented low rates of objective radiographic response (<5 %) but high rates of disease stabilization [11, 14, 47–50]. One of the first prospective studies to report on the antiproliferative effects of SSAs in GEP-NETs was conducted by the German Sandostatin Study Group [51]. In this study, 103 patients with GEP-NETs were treated with octreotide 200 μ g t.i.d. until evidence of radiographic progression. Among patients who had disease progression documented at treatment outset, 37 % experienced disease stability lasting at least 3 months, whereas among patients with stable disease at baseline, disease stability lasting at least 12 months was documented in 54 % of patients. Another phase II clinical trial testing octreotide in 34 patients with progressive metastatic NETs reported disease stabilization rate in 50 % of patients lasting a median of 5 months [49].

The antiproliferative activity of lanreotide was tested in several phase II clinical trials. In a study of 55 patients with GEP-NETs, 7 % of 31 assessable patients achieved a partial response to lanreotide, and 81 % experienced disease stability [17]. In another study of 46 patients with GEP-NETs, 2 patients (4 %) achieved an objective radiographic response, while 19 patients (41 %) had stable disease for a mean duration of 9.5 months [11]. In one study of patients with progressive tumors, participants received either octreotide LAR 30 mg or lanreotide SR 60 mg. Among 31 assessable patients, 14 (45 %) achieved disease stability [52]. In multivariate analysis, tumor control appeared to be significantly higher in small bowel NETs compared to pancreatic NETs. Extrahepatic metastases were associated with a poorer prognosis.

Definitive evidence of the antiproliferative effect of SSAs emerged with the PROMID trial, the first randomized placebo-controlled study performed in the field of neuroendocrine tumors [26]. Eighty-five patients with metastatic welldifferentiated NETs originating in midgut were randomized to receive either octreotide LAR 30 mg or placebo. Patients with severe uncontrolled carcinoid syndrome were excluded. The primary endpoint was time-to-tumor progression. Median timeto-tumor progression (TTP) was 14.3 months in the octreotide LAR 30 mg group versus 6.0 months in the placebo group (P=0.000072). Serious adverse events were nearly evenly balanced (11 patients in the octreotide LAR 30 mg arm and 10 patients in the placebo arm). On multivariate analysis, patients with resected primary tumor and low hepatic tumor burden (<10 %) appeared to benefit most significantly from octreotide treatment versus placebo. The small number of deaths in each treatment arm and the high rate of post-trial crossover precluded any analysis of differences in overall survival. Based on the PROMID data, octreotide LAR therapy is now considered an appropriate first-line treatment for patients with metastatic midgut NETs that are not surgically resectable, regardless of presence or absence of the carcinoid syndrome.

Non-midgut NETs tend to progress more aggressively than midgut NETs and are less likely to express somatostatin receptors. It is still uncertain whether SSAs are appropriate for use as antiproliferative agents in non-midgut NETs. The CLARINET study (clinical trial on nonfunctioning enteropancreatic endocrine tumors) is intended to address this question by randomizing patients with hormonally non-functioning GEP-NETs to treatment with depot-lanreotide versus placebo. The target enrollment of 200 patients has been achieved, and results are pending [53].

30.2.4 Above-Label Doses of SSAs

While the highest dose of octreotide LAR tested prospectively in patients with metastatic NET has been 30 mg every 4 weeks, higher doses and/or frequencies are often prescribed for patients with suboptimal control of hormonal syndromes. Data supporting this practice derive primarily from retrospective studies. In a longitudinal database conducted by the National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) encompassing 7 cancer centers, 40 % of carcinoid tumor patients and 23 % of pancreatic NET patients who received SSAs underwent dose escalations beyond 30 mg every 4 weeks [54]. The most common dose/frequency combinations were 40 mg every 4 weeks and 40 mg every 3 weeks. In one retrospective institutional study, 100 patients out of a total of 338 with metastatic midgut NETs (30 %) received octreotide LAR at doses and/or frequency above the standard label dose of 30 mg every 4 weeks [55]. Indications for dose increase were worsening carcinoid syndrome (60 patients), radiographic progression of tumors (33 patients), and rising urine 5-HIAA (6 patients). Among patients whose doses were increased for refractory carcinoid syndrome, 34 patients (62 %) experienced improvement in diarrhea, and 28 patients (56 %) experienced improvements in flushing. A single prospective trial investigated octreotide LAR 30 mg every 3 weeks among 28 patients with disease

progression on 30 mg every 4 weeks [56]. Complete and partial control of clinical symptoms were observed in 40 and 60 % of treated patients, respectively.

30.2.5 Novel Somatostatin Analogs

Pasireotide is a novel somatostatin analog which binds avidly to four of the five somatostatin receptors (sst_{1,2,3} and sst₅) [57]. Compared with octreotide, pasireotide has a 40-, 30-, and 5-fold higher binding affinity for sst₅, sst₁, and sst₃, but a 2.5-fold lower affinity for sst₂. An open-label trial evaluated the activity of short-acting subcutaneous pasireotide in 45 patients with carcinoid syndrome whose symptoms (flushing and diarrhea) were suboptimally controlled with octreotide LAR [58]. In this trial, 27 % of patients experienced some degree of improvement in their symptoms. However, a randomized phase III trial of long-acting intramuscular pasireotide vs. octreotide LAR in patients with refractory carcinoid syndrome was halted at interim analysis for futility [59]. The main toxicity observed with pasireotide through the binding of pasireotide to sst₅. In the phase III trial of pasireotide vs. octreotide, Grade 3 or 4 hyperglycemic events occurred in 11 % of patients in the pasireotide arm vs. 0 % in the octreotide arm. Clinical trials are currently testing the antiproliferative effects of pasireotide in advanced GEP-NETs.

30.3 Interferon

Interferon- α (IFN α) was first introduced to treatment of midgut NETs in 1983 when a small study reported symptom palliation in 6 patients with carcinoid syndrome treated at doses of three to six million units daily [60]. Subsequent single-arm studies have reported objective response radiographic rates in the range of 5–10 %, with higher rates of disease stabilization and palliation of hormonal symptoms [10, 61, 62]. More recently, randomized studies have offered evidence for the antiproliferative activity of interferon combined with somatostatin analogs.

30.3.1 Mechanisms of Action

Interferons are a complex array of cytokines with antiviral and antitumoral properties. They are divided into several classes. Type I interferons consist of IFN α (leukocyte interferon) and IFN β (fibroblast interferon) which bind to a unique interferon receptor [63]. IFNs activate STAT (signal transducer and activator of transcription) complexes including the Janus-kinase-STAT (JAK-STAT) signaling pathway leading to signaling cascades involving the tumor cell and the host immune system [64]. Immune-related mechanisms of action include induction of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) type I expression in tumor cells which leads to enhanced immune surveillance. Other effects of IFNs include promotion of dendritic cell proliferation and differentiation and alterations of T-cell CD4:CD8 ratios [65]. Angiogenesis inhibition appears to be another indirect mechanism of action. In a study of neuroendocrine tumor xenografts in nude mice, IFN α treatment reduced microvessel density and suppressed vascular-endothelial growth factor (VEGF) gene expression [66].

IFNs may also exert a direct antiproliferative effect on tumor growth through induction of cell cycle arrest; however, the precise mechanism remains elusive. In one in vitro study of lymphoid cell lines, G0/G1 cell cycle arrest was mediated through induction of the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors (CKIs) p21 and p15 and the expression of p27 [67]. However, another in vitro study of neuroendocrine tumor cells demonstrated that IFN α delayed progression from S-phase to G2 due to reduction of cyclin B levels and inhibition of Cdc2 kinase activity [68]. A third study demonstrated that IFN α induced apoptosis through activation of caspases-1, -2, -3, -8, and -9 in a variety of malignant cell lines [69].

30.3.2 Studies of IFN α Monotherapy

An early study of IFN α three to six million units/day reported objective tumor responses in 4 of 36 patients (11 %) with advanced carcinoid tumors and major reductions in urine 5-HIAA in 16 patients (53 %) [70]. Another study of 22 patients with pancreatic NETs reported high rates of symptomatic and biochemical responses [71]. A more recent phase II study of 49 patients with advanced NETs evaluated IFN α -2a at a daily dose of six million units daily for 8 weeks followed by the same dose 3 times weekly thereafter [72]. Among 34 patients with carcinoid tumors, partial radiographic responses were observed in 4 patients (12 %), and major improvements in carcinoid syndrome were reported in 64 % of cases. The most frequently observed side effects were fever, flu-like symptoms, and leukopenia. In the United States, Moertel et al. treated 27 patients with metastatic carcinoid tumors with IFN α at a high dose of 24 million units/m² [73]. Despite an objective radiographic response rate of 20 % and major urine 5-HIAA reductions in 39 % of patients, the authors concluded that any therapeutic gains seemed to be outweighed by severity of side effects which included fevers/chills, anorexia, weight loss, leukopenia, and liver function abnormalities.

30.3.3 Studies of IFN α Combined with SSAs

Studies evaluating the combination of IFN α and SSAs emerged in the 1990s, based on in vitro data demonstrating that interferons can upregulate the expression of somatostatin receptors. One trial of patients with carcinoid syndrome who had become refractory to octreotide reported symptomatic improvement in 49 % of patients after addition of IFN α [74]. Another study reported disease stabilization in 14 of 21 patients in whom IFN α was added to preexisting octreotide therapy [75]. A more recent trial investigated pegylated IFN (PEGIFN), a long-acting

formulation which enables weekly dosing. Of 17 patients who progressed on SSA therapy, inhibition of tumor growth was observed in 13 patients. The side effect profile of PEGIFN appeared to be superior to that of IFN α [76].

Several randomized clinical trials have investigated SSAs alone versus in combination with IFNa. One study of 68 patients with metastatic midgut carcinoid tumors who had undergone prior hepatic embolization evaluated octreotide alone versus octreotide combined with IFN α three million units administered five times per week [77]. The 5-year survival in the combination arm was 57 % versus 37 % in the octreotide monotherapy arm. The overall survival results were not statistically significant (p=0.13), possibly due to the small number of patients. However, the hazard ratio of 0.28 for tumor progression was highly significant (p=0.008). Another randomized study of 109 gastroenteropancreatic NET patients compared octreotide alone versus octreotide combined with alpha-interferon 4.5 million units administered three times per week [78]. The median survival was prolonged in the combination arm (51 vs. 35 months), but results did not achieve statistical significance (p=0.38). Objective response rates in both arms were less than 6 %. A three-arm trial of 80 therapy-naïve patients with advanced carcinoid and pancreatic NETs compared subcutaneous lanreotide alone to IFN α five million units three times weekly, or the combination of the two drugs [79]. In this trial, time-to-tumor progression was similar in all three arms. Among 11 patients who were treated with lanreotide monotherapy and crossed over to combination therapy, 1 patient showed measurable inhibition of tumor growth.

Given the underpowered nature of these randomized trials, it is difficult to draw any definitive conclusions regarding the effects of alpha-interferon on overall survival or PFS. The most compelling data favoring IFN α is in midgut NETs where data supports its use in combination with SSAs for palliation of the carcinoid syndrome and inhibition of tumor growth. Enthusiasm for IFN α is somewhat tempered by potential toxicities which include chronic fatigue, flu-like symptoms, and depression. Other abnormalities in laboratory values can include anemia, thrombocytopenia, leukopenia, and increases in liver enzymes. However, it is important to note most neuroendocrine trials have studied low doses of IFN α which are fairly tolerable. Some experts recommend titration of IFN α dose aiming at reduction of leukocyte count to $3 \times 10^9/L$ [80].

Conclusion

Biotherapy plays a vital role in neuroendocrine tumor treatment, both for control of hormonal syndromes and inhibition of tumor growth. SSAs are exceptionally well tolerated and are appropriate as first-line systemic therapy for most patients with advanced well-differentiated midgut NETs. In this setting, they have clearly demonstrated efficacy at palliating the carcinoid syndrome as well as prolonging time to progression. SSAs also have significant activity in other rare hormonal syndromes such as VIPoma and glucagonoma syndromes. Their role in non-midgut NETs remains to be defined, but emerging evidence suggests that they can inhibit tumor growth in low-proliferative tumors.

IFN α can also inhibit tumor growth and control hormonal symptoms, but its use is somewhat more limited by toxicity. It appears to be most highly active in well-differentiated midgut NETs where trials have demonstrated a significant improvement in PFS in combination with SSA. Most guidelines suggest that IFN α be considered as a second-line agent in patients with refractory carcinoid syndrome or tumor progression on SSA; however, consensus has yet to be reached on optimal dose and formulation. Even as progress is made in the targeted therapy of advanced NETs, it is important to regard IFN α as a relevant treatment option for long-term control of tumor growth and symptom control.

References

- 1. Reichlin S (1983) Somatostatin. N Engl J Med 309(24):1495-1501
- Brazeau P et al (1973) Hypothalamic polypeptide that inhibits the secretion of immunoreactive pituitary growth hormone. Science 179(68):77–79
- 3. Evers BM et al (1991) Somatostatin and analogues in the treatment of cancer. A review. Ann Surg 213(3):190–198
- 4. Maurer R, Reubi JC (1985) Somatostatin receptors. JAMA 253(18):2741
- 5. Lamberts SW et al (1996) Octreotide. N Engl J Med 334(4):246–254
- 6. Weckbecker G et al (2003) Opportunities in somatostatin research: biological, chemical and therapeutic aspects. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2(12):999–1017
- 7. Bousquet C et al (2001) Antiproliferative effect of somatostatin and analogs. Chemotherapy 47(Suppl 2):30–39
- Bauer W et al (1982) SMS 201-995: a very potent and selective octapeptide analogue of somatostatin with prolonged action. Life Sci 31(11):1133–1140
- Strosberg J, Kvols L (2010) Antiproliferative effect of somatostatin analogs in gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. World J Gastroenterol 16(24):2963–2970
- Shah T, Caplin M (2005) Endocrine tumours of the gastrointestinal tract. Biotherapy for metastatic endocrine tumours. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 19(4):617–636
- Ducreux M et al (2000) The antitumoral effect of the long-acting somatostatin analog lanreotide in neuroendocrine tumors. Am J Gastroenterol 95(11):3276–3281
- Kvols LK et al (1986) Treatment of the malignant carcinoid syndrome. Evaluation of a longacting somatostatin analogue. N Engl J Med 315(11):663–666
- O'Toole D et al (2000) Treatment of carcinoid syndrome: a prospective crossover evaluation of lanreotide versus octreotide in terms of efficacy, patient acceptability, and tolerance. Cancer 88(4):770–776
- 14. di Bartolomeo M et al (1996) Clinical efficacy of octreotide in the treatment of metastatic neuroendocrine tumors. A study by the Italian Trials in Medical Oncology Group. Cancer 77(2):402–408
- Oberg K et al (2004) Consensus report on the use of somatostatin analogs for the management of neuroendocrine tumors of the gastroenteropancreatic system. Ann Oncol 15(6):966–973
- Maton PN (1993) Use of octreotide acetate for control of symptoms in patients with islet cell tumors. World J Surg 17(4):504–510
- Wymenga AN et al (1999) Efficacy and safety of prolonged-release lanreotide in patients with gastrointestinal neuroendocrine tumors and hormone-related symptoms. J Clin Oncol 17(4):1111
- Kvols LK et al (1987) Treatment of metastatic islet cell carcinoma with a somatostatin analogue (SMS 201-995). Ann Intern Med 107(2):162–168
- O'Dorisio TM et al (1988) Somatostatin and analogues in the treatment of VIPoma. Ann N Y Acad Sci 527:528–535

- 20. Boden G et al (1986) Treatment of inoperable glucagonoma with the long-acting somatostatin analogue SMS 201-995. N Engl J Med 314(26):1686–1689
- Usukura M et al (2007) Medical treatment of benign insulinoma using octreotide LAR: a case report. Endocr J 54(1):95–101
- 22. Healy ML et al (2007) Severe hypoglycaemia after long-acting octreotide in a patient with an unrecognized malignant insulinoma. Intern Med J 37(6):406–409
- Rubin J et al (1999) Octreotide acetate long-acting formulation versus open-label subcutaneous octreotide acetate in malignant carcinoid syndrome. J Clin Oncol 17(2):600–606
- Sandostatin (octreotide acetate) injections prescribing information (PI). Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corp. http://www.pharma.us.novartis.com/product/pi/pdf/sandostatin_lar.pdf
- 25. Eriksson B et al (2008) Consensus guidelines for the management of patients with digestive neuroendocrine tumors-well-differentiated jejunal-ileal tumor/carcinoma. Neuroendocrinology 87(1):8–19
- 26. Rinke A et al (2009) Placebo-controlled, double-blind, prospective, randomized study on the effect of octreotide LAR in the control of tumor growth in patients with metastatic neuroendo-crine midgut tumors: a report from the PROMID Study Group. J Clin Oncol 27(28):4656–4663
- 27. Kvols LK et al (1985) Rapid reversal of carcinoid crisis with a somatostatin analogue. N Engl J Med 313(19):1229–1230
- 28. Caplin ME et al (1998) Carcinoid tumour. Lancet 352(9130):799-805
- 29. Grozinsky-Glasberg S et al (2008) Somatostatin analogues in the control of neuroendocrine tumours: efficacy and mechanisms. Endocr Relat Cancer 15(3):701–720
- 30. Sharma K, Srikant CB (1998) G protein coupled receptor signaled apoptosis is associated with activation of a cation insensitive acidic endonuclease and intracellular acidification. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 242(1):134–140
- 31. Lattuada D et al (2002) The apoptotic effect of somatostatin analogue SMS 201-995 on human lymphocytes. J Neuroimmunol 133(1–2):211–216
- 32. Serri O et al (1992) Octreotide inhibits insulin-like growth factor-I hepatic gene expression in the hypophysectomized rat: evidence for a direct and indirect mechanism of action. Endocrinology 130(4):1816–1821
- 33. Florio T et al (2003) Somatostatin inhibits tumor angiogenesis and growth via somatostatin receptor-3-mediated regulation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase and mitogen-activated protein kinase activities. Endocrinology 144(4):1574–1584
- 34. Zapata PD et al (2002) Autocrine regulation of human prostate carcinoma cell proliferation by somatostatin through the modulation of the SH2 domain containing protein tyrosine phosphatase (SHP)-1. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 87(2):915–926
- Thangaraju M et al (1999) Interdependent regulation of intracellular acidification and SHP-1 in apoptosis. Cancer Res 59(7):1649–1654
- 36. Theodoropoulou M et al (2006) Octreotide, a somatostatin analogue, mediates its antiproliferative action in pituitary tumor cells by altering phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase signaling and inducing Zac1 expression. Cancer Res 66(3):1576–1582
- 37. Sharma K, Patel YC, Srikant CB (1996) Subtype-selective induction of wild-type p53 and apoptosis, but not cell cycle arrest, by human somatostatin receptor 3. Mol Endocrinol 10(12):1688–1696
- Massa A et al (2004) The phosphotyrosine phosphatase eta mediates somatostatin inhibition of glioma proliferation via the dephosphorylation of ERK1/2. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1030:264–274
- Florio T et al (1999) Somatostatin activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase via somatostatin receptor 1 (SSTR1). Mol Endocrinol 13(1):24–37
- 40. Koch BD, Schonbrunn A (1984) The somatostatin receptor is directly coupled to adenylate cyclase in GH4C1 pituitary cell membranes. Endocrinology 114(5):1784–1790
- 41. Schettini G et al (1988) Somatostatin inhibition of anterior pituitary adenylate cyclase activity: different sensitivity between male and female rats. Brain Res 439(1–2):322–329
- 42. Ambler GR et al (1996) The effects of octreotide on GH receptor and IGF-I expression in the GH-deficient rat. J Endocrinol 149(2):223–231

- Woltering EA et al (1997) Somatostatin analogs: angiogenesis inhibitors with novel mechanisms of action. Invest New Drugs 15(1):77–86
- Adams RL et al (2005) Somatostatin receptors 2 and 5 are preferentially expressed in proliferating endothelium. Br J Cancer 92(8):1493–1498
- 45. Arena S et al (2005) Somatostatin receptor subtype-dependent regulation of nitric oxide release: involvement of different intracellular pathways. Mol Endocrinol 19(1):255–267
- 46. Kumar M et al (2004) Antiangiogenic effect of somatostatin receptor subtype 2 on pancreatic cancer cell line: Inhibition of vascular endothelial growth factor and matrix metalloproteinase-2 expression in vitro. World J Gastroenterol 10(3):393–399
- Aparicio T et al (2001) Antitumour activity of somatostatin analogues in progressive metastatic neuroendocrine tumours. Eur J Cancer 37(8):1014–1019
- 48. Arnold R et al (1993) Somatostatin analog sandostatin and inhibition of tumor growth in patients with metastatic endocrine gastroenteropancreatic tumors. World J Surg 17(4):511–519
- 49. Saltz L et al (1993) Octreotide as an antineoplastic agent in the treatment of functional and nonfunctional neuroendocrine tumors. Cancer 72(1):244–248
- 50. Eriksson B et al (1997) High-dose treatment with lanreotide of patients with advanced neuroendocrine gastrointestinal tumors: clinical and biological effects. Ann Oncol 8(10):1041–1044
- Arnold R et al (1996) Somatostatin analogue octreotide and inhibition of tumour growth in metastatic endocrine gastroenteropancreatic tumours. Gut 38(3):430–438
- Panzuto F et al (2005) Prognostic factors and survival in endocrine tumor patients: comparison between gastrointestinal and pancreatic localization. Endocr Relat Cancer 12(4):1083–1092
- 53. Study of Lanreotide Autogel in non-functioning entero-pancreatic endocrine tumours (2006) ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT00326469
- 54. Strosberg J et al (2013) Dosing patterns for Octreotide LAR in Neuroendocrine Tumor Patients. In: Meeting of the American Society of Clinical Oncology, Chicago
- 55. Strosberg J et al (2013) Above-label doses of octreotide-lar in patients with metastatic small intestinal carcinoid tumors. Gastrointest Cancer Res. 6(3):81–5
- 56. Ferolla P et al (2012) Shortened interval of long-acting octreotide administration is effective in patients with well-differentiated neuroendocrine carcinomas in progression on standard doses. J Endocrinol Invest 35(3):326–331
- 57. Schmid HA (2008) Pasireotide (SOM230): development, mechanism of action and potential applications. Mol Cell Endocrinol 286(1–2):69–74
- 58. Kvols LK et al (2012) Pasireotide (SOM230) shows efficacy and tolerability in the treatment of patients with advanced neuroendocrine tumors refractory or resistant to octreotide LAR: results from a phase II study. Endocr Relat Cancer 19(5):657–666
- 59. Wolin E et al (2013) A multicenter, randomized, blinded, phase III study of pasireotide LAR versus octreotide LAR in patients with metastatic neuroendocrine tumors with disease-related symptoms inadequately controlled by somatostatin analogs. J Clin Oncol (31):suppl; abstr4031
- Oberg K, Funa K, Alm G (1983) Effects of leukocyte interferon on clinical symptoms and hormone levels in patients with mid-gut carcinoid tumors and carcinoid syndrome. N Engl J Med 309(3):129–133
- 61. Biesma B et al (1992) Recombinant interferon alpha-2b in patients with metastatic apudomas: effect on tumours and tumour markers. Br J Cancer 66(5):850–855
- 62. Schober C et al (1992) Antitumour effect and symptomatic control with interferon alpha 2b in patients with endocrine active tumours. Eur J Cancer 28A(10):1664–1666
- 63. Pestka S et al (1987) Interferons and their actions. Annu Rev Biochem 56:727-777
- Platanias LC (2005) Mechanisms of type-I- and type-II-interferon-mediated signalling. Nat Rev Immunol 5(5):375–386
- 65. Ferrantini M, Capone I, Belardelli F (2007) Interferon-alpha and cancer: mechanisms of action and new perspectives of clinical use. Biochimie 89(6–7):884–893
- 66. von Marschall Z et al (2003) Effects of interferon alpha on vascular endothelial growth factor gene transcription and tumor angiogenesis. J Natl Cancer Inst 95(6):437–448

- 67. Sangfelt O et al (1999) Molecular mechanisms underlying interferon-alpha-induced G0/G1 arrest: CKI-mediated regulation of G1 Cdk-complexes and activation of pocket proteins. Oncogene 18(18):2798–2810
- Rosewicz S et al (2004) Interferon-alpha: regulatory effects on cell cycle and angiogenesis. Neuroendocrinology 80(Suppl 1):85–93
- Thyrell L et al (2002) Mechanisms of Interferon-alpha induced apoptosis in malignant cells. Oncogene 21(8):1251–1262
- Oberg K et al (1986) Treatment of malignant carcinoid tumors with human leukocyte interferon: long-term results. Cancer Treat Rep 70(11):1297–1304
- 71. Eriksson B et al (1986) Treatment of malignant endocrine pancreatic tumours with human leucocyte interferon. Lancet 2(8519):1307–1309
- 72. Bajetta E et al (1993) Treatment of metastatic carcinoids and other neuroendocrine tumors with recombinant interferon-alpha-2a. A study by the Italian Trials in Medical Oncology Group. Cancer 72(10):3099–3105
- Moertel CG, Rubin J, Kvols LK (1989) Therapy of metastatic carcinoid tumor and the malignant carcinoid syndrome with recombinant leukocyte A interferon. J Clin Oncol 7(7): 865–868
- 74. Janson ET, Oberg K (1993) Long-term management of the carcinoid syndrome. Treatment with octreotide alone and in combination with alpha-interferon. Acta Oncol 32(2):225–229
- 75. Frank M et al (1999) Combination therapy with octreotide and alpha-interferon: effect on tumor growth in metastatic endocrine gastroenteropancreatic tumors. Am J Gastroenterol 94(5):1381–1387
- 76. Pavel ME et al (2006) Efficacy and tolerability of pegylated IFN-alpha in patients with neuroendocrine gastroenteropancreatic carcinomas. J Interferon Cytokine Res 26(1):8–13
- 77. Kolby L et al (2003) Randomized clinical trial of the effect of interferon alpha on survival in patients with disseminated midgut carcinoid tumours. Br J Surg 90(6):687–693
- Arnold R et al (2005) Octreotide versus octreotide plus interferon-alpha in endocrine gastroenteropancreatic tumors: a randomized trial. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 3(8):761–771
- 79. Faiss S et al (2003) Prospective, randomized, multicenter trial on the antiproliferative effect of lanreotide, interferon alfa, and their combination for therapy of metastatic neuroendocrine gastroenteropancreatic tumor--he International Lanreotide and Interferon Alfa Study Group. J Clin Oncol 21(14):2689–2696
- Oberg K (2000) Interferon in the management of neuroendocrine GEP-tumors: a review. Digestion 62(Suppl 1):92–97

Chemotherapy

31.1 Introduction

31.1.1 Epidemiology and Classification

Neuroendocrine neoplasms (NENs) are relatively rare and constitute a heterogenous group of tumors with a wide range of morphologic, functional, and biological behavior. According to the North American Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) database, NENs occur most frequently in the gastrointestinal (GI) tract (60.9 %) with the second most common location in the bronchopulmonary tract (27.4 %), followed by less frequent locations such as the ovaries, testes, hepatobiliary system, and pancreas [1]. The incidence of GEP-NENs has been increasing over the last decades, and because of the long survival of patients with NENs compared to other GI cancers, they are now the second most prevalent GI cancer after colon cancer [2].

The major negative factors which affect patient survival are the presence and extent of metastases (tumor–node–metastasis (TNM) stage) [3, 4], degree of differentiation (well or poorly differentiated), Ki-67 index, tumor size, angioinvasion, slope of tumor growth, and site of the primary tumor. The pancreas, right hemicolon, and small intestine are the most frequent primary tumors associated with distant metastases at initial diagnosis. In European and US referral centers, up to 77 % of pancreatic NENs and 91 % of small intestinal NENs present distant metastases, i.e., have TNM stage IV at diagnosis [5, 6]. The new World Health Organization (WHO) classification from 2010 categorizes NENs of the gastrointestinal tract according to Ki-67 index into well-differentiated neuroendocrine tumors (NETs)

Department of Medical Sciences, University Hospital, Uppsala SE-75185, Sweden

B. Eriksson, MD, PhD

Department of Endocrine Oncology, University Hospital, Uppsala SE-75185, Sweden e-mail: barbro.eriksson@medsci.uu.se

[©] Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

S. Yalcin, K. Öberg (eds.), Neuroendocrine Tumours:

Diagnosis and Management, DOI 10.1007/978-3-662-45215-8_31

G1 (Ki-67 $\leq 2\%$) and G2 (Ki-67 3–20%) and neuroendocrine carcinomas (NECs) G3 (Ki-67>20%) [7]. Ki-67 is a proliferation antigen, present in G1, S, G2, and M phases of the cell cycle, and is probably the best available prognostic marker. For pancreatic NETs a Ki-67 cutoff level of 5% has been suggested as a better prognostic marker than 2% [8]. Bronchial NENs are classified according to WHO [9] into typical and atypical "carcinoids": typical should have <2 mitoses per 2 mm² (10 high-power fields (HPF)) and no necroses, whereas atypical have 2–10 mitoses per 2 mm² (10 HPF) and necroses present. A comparison between mitotic count and Ki-67 index in bronchial NETs has not been performed yet.

The discussion of this chapter will focus on chemotherapy in well-differentiated NETs G1 and G2. Poorly differentiated tumors or NEC will be discussed in another chapter (see Chap. 26).

31.1.2 Therapeutic Considerations

Therapeutic options for the management of metastatic disease include surgical, locoregional procedures, nuclear medicine modalities, and medical treatment including chemotherapy, somatostatin analogs (SSA), interferon, and new molecular targeted therapies, mainly everolimus and sunitinib. Therapeutic decisions should be made by a multidisciplinary team consisting of specialists in oncology, endocrinology, gastroenterology, endocrine surgery, pathology, radiology, and nuclear medicine. The initiation of chemotherapy can be controversial because of the slow growth of the tumors and the fact that only palliative treatment is available. When palliative treatment is offered, it is extremely important to weigh the expected side effects and quality of life against the expected response to treatment. Because of the heterogeneity and varying degree of aggressiveness, there is no standard approach to medical or chemotherapeutic management. In addition to the above mentioned negative factors affecting survival, also functionality, performance status, and age of the patient should be considered in the therapeutic decision. Most of the published studies describing the use of chemotherapy in NEN patients have been single-center, retrospective series, using inconsistent response criteria, including tumors with different primary sites and histopathologies.

31.2 Response Criteria

In earlier studies of chemotherapeutic agents, the so-called WHO criteria were used to evaluate the efficacy [10]: *complete remission* (*CR*) was defined as a complete disappearance of tumor lesions on conventional imaging; *objective or partial remission* (*OR or PR*) was defined as a decrease of more than 50 % in tumor size. Tumor size was defined as the product of the maximum diameter and its perpendicular. *Stable disease* was defined as a decrease of less than 50 % in tumor size and *progressive disease* (*PD*) an increase of more than 25 % in tumor size or the appearance of new metastases. In earlier studies, in addition, a reduction by >50 % of biochemical markers was reported as part of the overall response (OR).

In most clinical trials currently performed, the so-called Response Evaluation Criteria in Solid Tumors (RECIST) are being employed [11]: *partial remission* (*PR*) is defined as a reduction of at least 30 % in the tumor load estimated as the sum of the longest diameters of all measurable lesions, taking as the reference the baseline sum of the longest diameter. *Progressive disease* (*PD*) is defined as at least a 20 % increase in the tumor load, taking as the reference the smallest sum of longest diameter recorded since the start of treatment. *Stable disease* (*SD*) is defined as a less than 30 % decrease or less than 20 % increase in the sum of the longest diameters.

If one compares the WHO and RECIST criteria, PR with both methods will require approximately the same tumor volume reduction, whereas PD will require a much greater increase in tumor volume with RECIST than with WHO criteria. This fact should be kept in mind when results of clinical trials are compared.

With the introduction of new biological and molecular targeted therapies, which exert cytostatic rather than cytotoxic effects on tumors, the concept of "disease control" or progression-free survival (PFS) is becoming accepted, whereby stable disease or a delay in progression is considered as a positive response to treatment. Using disease control or progression-free survival (PFS) as a criterion/primary end point should require demonstration of disease progression within 3–12 months of entry for inclusion into phase II and III trials [12]. Treatment may also produce symptomatic relief and reduction in hormone levels, and there is an ongoing debate whether biochemical response should also be an end point. In addition, health-related quality of life should be assessed during treatment, possibly as part of a so-called composite score [12].

31.3 Systemic Chemotherapy in Well-Differentiated NEN

A number of chemotherapeutic agents have been tested in metastatic welldifferentiated G1 and G2 NETs, mainly pancreatic and other foregut tumors. Results with systemic chemotherapy in well-differentiated small intestinal NETs have until now been poor with response rates of about 15 % [13], and therefore, these patients have not generally been recommended for chemotherapy. There is also limited data on systemic chemotherapy in "hindgut" NETs.

Strategies on when to start treatment are sometimes difficult to define, but patients with bulky, symptomatic tumor burden and progressive tumors are candidates for treatment. In addition, patients with locally advanced tumors, which may be down-staged for resection, should be considered. Not all patients will respond, and patient selection is essential to increase the chance of response and therapeutic benefit and minimize unnecessary side effects. Primary tumor location and tumor proliferation, and differentiation have been used to guide therapeutic decisions, and therefore, histological characterization has been assessed using WHO criteria and Ki-67 index. Ki-67 has been shown to predict biological behavior and correlate with survival [14]. It has, however, not yet been established at which Ki-67 index different chemotherapy protocols should be chosen, and the predictive value

for sensitivity of treatment is unknown. In the future, hopefully other predictive markers for sensitivity to chemotherapeutic agents will be developed. For neuro-endocrine G1/G2 tumors (Ki-67 \leq 20 %), streptozotocin-based combinations have been used as first-line treatment for more than 3 decades.

31.3.1 Single Agents

31.3.1.1 Streptozotocin

The alkylating agent streptozotocin, later renamed as streptozocin (STZ), has been used since 1967, when Murray-Lyon et al. reported improvement in hypoglycemic symptoms and tumor load in a malignant pancreatic NET in 1968 [15]. The US Food and Drug Administration approved the use of STZ for "islet cell" carcinoma in 1982. STZ binds to DNA and inhibits DNA repair, which leads to a blockade of DNA and RNA synthesis and fragmentation of DNA [14]. It blocks cells in all stages of the cell cycle, but it particularly blocks progression from G2 to M phase [16]. STZ does not seem to produce any significant clinical diabetogenic effect in humans, which is in contrast with findings in animal species [16].

31.3.1.2 Other Single Agents

Other old-generation cytotoxic DNA-damaging agents, 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) and doxorubicin (Dox) [17], have been administered with low efficacy. A phase II trial conducted by the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) assessed the efficacy of dacarbazine (DTIC) [18] in 50 patients with pancreatic NETs. The partial response (PR) rate was 34 %, but a total of 16 patients (30 %) developed grade 3–4 toxicities and 2 (4 %) lethal toxicity.

31.3.1.3 Temozolomide

Temozolomide (TMZ) is a relatively new oral chemotherapeutic agent with clinical activity in metastatic melanoma and glioma [19, 20]. It is an alkylating agent, sharing its active metabolite with DTIC, with a rapid penetration through the bloodbrain barrier. The very first patient who received this drug in our department in 1999 had recurrent brain metastases of a thymic NET after conventional radiotherapy of the brain. The brain metastases and metastases in other locations decreased significantly in size, and the response lasted for more than a year. Subsequently, 36 patients with different types of the so-called foregut NETs (12 pancreatic, 13 bronchial (10 typical), 7 thymic, 1 gastric, 1 "foregut," 1 paraganglioma, 1 cecal) received TMZ as monotherapy as second- to fourth-line treatment [21]. The first cycle of TMZ was administered orally at 150 mg/m² for 5 consecutive days. In subsequent cycles repeated every 28 days, the dose was increased to 200 mg/m², if treatment was well tolerated. Partial response according to RECIST was seen in 5/36 patients (14 %): 1 pancreatic NETs (8%) and 4 bronchial NETs (31%). Stable disease was noted in 19/36 (53 %): 8 pancreatic (67 %), 4 bronchial (31 %), and 5 thymic NET (71 %). Median time to progression was 7 months. Chromogranin A (CgA) was reduced by >50% in 5 patients (19\%) and stabilized in 10 (37\%). The treatment was

well tolerated; grade 3/4 anemia occurred in 1 patient (3 %), thrombocytopenia in 5 (14 %), leukopenia in 1 (3 %), neutropenia in 1 (3 %), and fatigue in 3 (9 %). Gastrointestinal bleeding occurred in one patient (with tumor growth into the duodenum) and hormonal crisis in one patient with a metastatic VIP-producing tumor after the first dose of TMZ. There was a tendency that tumors with a low expression of the DNA repair enzyme, O^6 -methylguanine DNA methyltransferase (MGMT) assessed by immunohistochemistry (IHC), had a higher response rate than those with a medium or high expression. The results were promising, considering that patients had received a mean of 2.4 palliative treatments and were given TMZ as salvage treatment. Bronchial and thymic NET, for which there is no established systemic treatment, showed a clinical benefit (response or stabilization) in 62 and 71 % of cases, respectively. Median overall survival from the start of treatment was 16 months, but 23 patients were still alive at the end of clinical follow-up.

The safety and efficacy of single-agent TMZ was explored in another study of 21 patients with progressive (within the past 3 months) digestive NETs [22]. All patients except one had received prior treatment (chemotherapy, hepatic resection). TMZ was administered orally at 200 mg/m²/day for 5 days every 28 days. According to RECIST criteria, PR was obtained in 1 patient (5%) and SD in 17 patients (81%), and the median time to progression was 9 months. Grade 3 hematological toxicity occurred in 5 patients.

A recent retrospective update of the efficacy and safety of TMZ in 31 patients with progressive metastatic bronchial NETs (14 typical, 15 atypical, and 2 unclassified) was performed at our center [23]. More than half of the patients had received several lines of treatment. Partial response was seen in 3 patients (14 %) and SD in 11(52 %) with a median progression-free survival (PFS) of 5.3 months. Overall survival from the start of treatment in the whole patient cohort (n=31) was 23.2 months. Notably, all patients with PR had atypical carcinoids with a high proliferative activity (10, 18, and 25 %, respectively). There was no grade 4 toxicity, but grade 3 adverse events were noted in 4 patients (14 %): thrombocytopenia (n=3) and leukopenia (n=1).

31.3.1.4 Other New Chemotherapeutic Agents

Other "newer" chemotherapeutic agents, such as paclitaxel, capecitabine, gemcitabine, and topotecan, have all been inactive as single agents [24–27].

31.4 Combination Chemotherapy: Streptozocin Based

31.4.1 Pancreatic NETs

The advantage of the combination of STZ plus 5-FU over STZ alone was first reported in a small randomized trial in 1980 [28]. STZ was given intravenously (i.v.) at 500 mg/m² and 5-FU at 400 mg/m² i.v. for 5 days every 6 weeks. The overall response rates (RR) were 63 and 36 %, respectively. STZ was subsequently approved by the FDA as a treatment for pancreatic NET. The same investigators

then compared two regimens, STZ plus Dox (given i.v. at 50 mg/m² D1 and D22) and STZ plus 5-FU [28], and STZ/Dox was shown to be superior to STZ/5FU (69 % vs. 45 % overall RR) with a median time to progression (20 vs. 6.9 months) and overall survival (2.2 vs. 1.4 years), respectively [29]. The doxorubicin arm was, however, associated with more side effects, including alopecia, myelosuppression, and cardiotoxicity. No group has since been able to reproduce the same response rates, most likely because of the use of hormonal responses and clinical assessment as response criteria in the Moertel study. The most recent reports of results with STZ/Dox describe RR of 6–36 %, and these are exclusively radiologic responses according to WHO or RECIST [30–32]. The low response rates in some of the recent studies may reflect the fact that in the last 20 years, biotherapy (SSA and interferon) may have been used as first-line or second-line treatment before the initiation of chemotherapy.

In a more recent study, a triple combination of STZ/5-FU/Dox was used, demonstrating an overall RR in 84 pancreatic NETs of 39 % and SD in 50 % with a median duration of response of 9.3 months and a PFS of 18 months [33]. The median interval to response was approximately 4 months, and the median overall survival from the start of treatment was 37 months. Grade 3–4 toxicity was noted in 23 % of patients, mainly leuko-/neutropenia. Analysis showed that metastatic replacement of more than 75 % of the liver and prior chemotherapy were independently associated with inferior PFS.

Our experience of the two combinations in earlier studies is that STZ plus 5-FU (given to 31 patients) is more effective than STZ/Dox (given to 25 patients) with radiologic PR in 35 % vs. 25 % in pancreatic NETs according to WHO criteria [34] and that responses can last for up to 10 years (median 23 months). Median overall survival in patients with liver metastases was 50 months from the start of treatment, some of the patients receiving other therapies after chemotherapy. These results have been confirmed in a recent unpublished update comprising 140 patients. Several centers including ours use an alternative schedule that is less cumbersome for the patient, administrating an induction course (STZ 500 mg/m² i.v. for 5 days and 5-FU 400 mg/m² i.v. D1–3) and then giving a 1-day course every 3 weeks (STZ 1,000 mg/m² and 5-FU 400 mg/m²), which results in the same yearly doses of the drugs as the Moertel regimen [34, 35]. In responding patients, the cycle length is extended to 4–6 weeks after 1 year to allow for long-term treatment.

One problem with the Dox combination is the cardiotoxicity of Dox, which necessitates the withdrawal of the drug at a cumulative dose of 550 mg/m^2 and the replacement with 5-FU. STZ can cause nausea and vomiting, but these side effects can nowadays be almost completely avoided by modern antiemetics, e.g., 5-HT3 receptor blockers. Bone marrow toxicity is not a problem with STZ/5-FU. Renal dysfunction, including proteinuria and decreased creatinine clearance, which occurs in 20 % of patients, is the dose-limiting toxicity, but no grade 3–4 toxicity has been described in recent series [32–35]. Creatinine clearance should be checked before each course, and dehydration during or after the course should be avoided. In some tumors, especially those with production of vasoactive intestinal polypeptide (VIP), chemotherapy may induce hormonal crises, causing severe dehydration, and "protective" SSA treatment should be given.

31.4.2 Other Foregut NETs

There is as yet no established systemic treatment for foregut NETs. STZ combinations have been given with varying results. One publication described PR in 6/17 patients (35 %) and SD in 5/17 patients (29 %) with STZ/5-FU in patients with atypical bronchial carcinoids [36].

31.4.3 Recent Trials of STZ Combinations

The possibility of improving the response rates by adding cisplatin to STZ/5-FU was tested by Turner et al. in a mixed group of 79 patients, mainly pancreatic NETs but also gastrointestinal and lung NETs and in patients with unknown primary NETs [37]. The regimen FCiSt (5-FU 500 mg/m², STZ 1 g/m², and cisplatin 70 mg/m²) was given i.v. on D1 of a 21-day cycle. The RR was 38 % for pancreatic NETs and 25 % for non-pancreatic. Stable disease was seen in 51 % of patients and time to progression was 9.1 months. Their conclusion was that the three-drug regimen was not superior to the two-drug regimen with STZ/5-FU or STZ/Dox.

In the BETTER study [38], bevacizumab (Bv) (7.5 mg/kg i.v. on day 1 every 3 weeks) was combined with STZ/5FU every 6 weeks in 34 patients with progressive, metastatic well-differentiated pancreatic NETs (G1 25 %, G2 75 %). The disease control rate was 100 % (n = 34), including PR seen in 19/34 patients (55.9 %) and SD in 15/34 patients (44.1 %) with a median PFS of 23.7 months. Grade 3–4 toxicity occurred in 67 % of patients, gastrointestinal in 14.7 %, bevacizumab-related hypertension in 20.6 %, and thromboembolism in 11.8 %.

In another study recently performed, the aim was to investigate whether capecitabine (CAP) plus STZ +/– cisplatin warranted further studies [39]. Altogether 86 patients with pancreatic NETs (48 %), foregut (20 %), and unknown primary (33 %) were included (low grade 11 %, intermediate 67 %, and high grade 21 %). Courses were given every 3 weeks with STZ 1 g/m² i.v. D1, CAP 625 mg/m² twice daily D1–21, and cisplatin 70 mg/m² i.v. D1. In the STZ/CAP group (without cisplatin), PR was 8 % and SD 74 %, whereas with the triple combination (with cisplatin), the PR was 14 % and SD 64 %, respectively. PFS for the groups was similar 10.2 vs. 9.7 months. Hence, the response rates were similar between the two groups, but as expected, grade 3–4 adverse events were more frequent with the triple combination.

31.4.4 Current European Neuroendocrine Tumor Society (ENETS) Guidelines

According to current ENETS guidelines [40], STZ combinations should be considered as first-line treatment in patients with advanced unresectable progressive G2 pancreatic NETs. There is currently no cutoff value for Ki-67 for the recommendations of chemotherapy, but STZ could also be considered in G1 pancreatic NETs in case of tumor progression (has historically been used in this subgroup in many centers before the assessment of Ki-67 was introduced). Ki-67 is a prognostic factor for survival and has been used to guide therapeutic decisions, but its predictive value for responsiveness to treatment is unknown. Predictive markers for sensitivity to STZ treatment should be developed in the future. The low or absent expression of MGMT might be such a marker, suggested by older studies in malignant gliomas and melanomas [41]. The cytoplasmic expression of phosphatase and tensin homologue (PTEN) has also been reported to predict sensitivity to STZ treatment [42].

31.5 Combination Chemotherapy: Temozolomide Based

31.5.1 Temozolomide Plus Capecitabine

Based on in vitro data indicating synergistic effects for induction of apoptosis between TMZ and CAP in neuroendocrine tumor cell lines, the combination has been administered to NET patients. In two retrospective series, the response rates have been relatively high. In one such study, 17 patients with mixed NETs, 11 (65 %) having received prior chemotherapy, were treated with TMZ at 150–200 mg/m² D10–14 every 4 weeks and CAP 1,000 mg twice daily D1–14. Complete response (CR) was noted in 1 patient (9 %) and PR according to RECIST in 9 patients (53 %) with a median duration of 9 months [43]. Toxicity was mainly grade 3 thrombocytopenia (*n*=2) and hand–foot syndrome (*n*=1). In the other study, the combination was given as first-line treatment in 30 patients with pancreatic NETs (16 well differentiated, 9 moderately, 5 not graded). TMZ was given at 200 mg/m² D10–14 and CAP 750 mg/m² twice daily D1–14 [44]. Partial response was noted in 21/30 patients (70 %) and SD in 8/30 (27 %) with a median PFS of 18 months and median duration of response of 20 months (responders). Overall survival at 2 years was 92 %.

31.5.2 Temozolomide in Combination with Molecular Targeted Agents

31.5.2.1 TMZ Plus Thalidomide

In a phase II prospective study, TMZ was combined with thalidomide, an agent with postulated antiangiogenic effect in metastatic NETs [45]. A dose-intensive TMZ regimen of 150 mg/m²/d for 7 days every other week was administered together with thalidomide at 50–400 mg daily, median 100 mg. Twenty-nine patients were included (11 pancreatic NETs, 14 carcinoids, 4 pheochromocytomas) of whom 16 (55 %) had received no prior treatment. Radiologic response was seen in 25 % of patients: 5/11 (45 %) of pancreatic NETs and 1 of 14 (7 %) with carcinoids. Stable disease was observed in 68 % of patients, and the duration of response was 13.5 months (median). More than half of the patients had to stop treatment due to side effects, mainly due to thalidomide toxicity (neuropathy). Grade 3–4 lymphopenia occurred in 69 % of patients and 10 % developed opportunistic infections.

31.5.2.2 Temozolomide Plus Bevacizumab

In another phase II study, the efficacy of TMZ in combination with bevacizumab was evaluated in 34 patients with locally advanced or metastatic NETs (carcinoids 19, pancreatic 15) [46]. TMZ was given at 150 mg/m² D1–7 and D15–21 and Bv 5 mg/kg i.v. every other week in a 28-day cycle. Twelve patients had received prior chemotherapy, 7 chemoembolizations, and 17 octreotide (continued during study). At inclusion, 20 % of patients had stable disease. All patients received prophylaxis against *Pneumocystis carinii* and *Varicella zoster*. Overall radiologic response was 15 % (5 of 34), and response rates differed between patients with pancreatic NETs (5/15 (33 %)) and those with carcinoid tumors (0 of 19). The median PFS was 11.0 months (14.3 months for pancreatic NETs vs. 7.3 months for carcinoid tumors). The median overall survival was 33.3 months (41.7 months for pancreatic NETs and 18.8 months for carcinoids). Grade 3–4 adverse events included lymphopenia in 53 % of patients, thrombocytopenia in 18 %, leuko-/ neutropenia in 6 %, and vomiting in 9 %.

31.5.2.3 Temozolomide in Combination with Everolimus

A recently published article described the safety and efficacy of temozolomide in combination with everolimus [47], a mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) inhibitor with single-agent activity in pancreatic NETs associated with improvement in PFS by 6.4 months compared with placebo as shown in the RADIANT-3 trial [48]. Patients with pancreatic NETs were treated with TMZ at a dose of 150 mg/m^2 per day D1–7 and D15–21 in combination with everolimus daily in each 28-day cycle. In cohort 1, TMZ was combined with everolimus at 5 mg daily. Following demonstration of safety in this cohort, subsequent patients in cohort 2 were treated with TMZ plus everolimus 10 mg daily. Patients were followed for toxicity, radiologic and biochemical response, and survival. The majority of patients (77 %) had received no prior systemic treatment with the exception of octreotide (40 % continued during study). Thirty patients (70 %) had evidence of radiologic progression of disease at inclusion. A total of 43 patients were enrolled, 7 in cohort 1 and 36 in cohort 2. Among 40 evaluable patients, 16 (40 %) experienced PR according to RECIST and 21 (53 %) had SD. The median PFS was 15.4 months and median overall survival was not reached. Biochemical responses with >50 % reduction of chromogranin A were seen in 45 % of evaluable patients. Twenty-one patients in cohort 2 discontinued treatment due to disease progression. An additional 9 patients discontinued therapy due to adverse events, including pneumonitis (n = 3), edema (n = 1), rash (n = 2), elevated creatinine (n = 2), and elevated liver enzymes (n = 1). Nearly half of the patients experienced grade 3 or 4 lymphopenia and 16 % grade 3 or 4 thrombocytopenia. One patient had a reactivated hepatitis B infection. Other toxicities included mild mucositis, hyperglycemia, hypercholesterolemia, or hypertriglyceridemia. The authors' conclusion was that patients with advanced pancreatic NETs can be safely and effectively treated with the combination. The optimal dosing schedule of TMZ and everolimus is, however, an open question because of the high toxicity rates.

31.5.2.4 Metronomic TMZ

Interestingly, another recent report described the activity of metronomic TMZ [49]. Administration of protracted low-dose TMZ may deplete MGMT, an important factor in cases of TMZ resistance, and/or inhibit endothelial cell proliferation and formation of tumor vasculature via a so-called metronomic effect [50]. Bevacizumab, an anti-VEGF humanized monoclonal antibody, has been shown to produce objective tumor responses in carcinoid tumors [51]. Preclinical experiments suggest that also somatostatin analogs can exert antiangiogenic effects [52]. Given the high vascularity in NENs, antiangiogenic treatment attacking multiple pathways was the rational for combining metronomic TMZ, bevacizumab, and octreotide in a prospective study of 15 patients with advanced progressive G2 NETs (14 stage IV) (7 pancreatic, 3 small intestine, 1 lung, 1 stomach, 1 rectum, and 1 unknown), of whom 80 % had received prior chemotherapy. TMZ was given at a continuous daily dose of 100 mg before bedtime, Bevacizumab 7.5 mg/m² i.v. every 3 weeks, and octreotide long-acting release (LAR) 30 mg intramuscularly every 4 weeks. Chromogranin A levels were also followed. Radiologic responses included one CR (7 %), eight PR (57 %), three SD (21 %), and 2 PD (14 %). Fifty-seven percent (8/14) of patients achieved PR after a median of 12.5 cycles. The median time to progression (TTP) in evaluable patients was 36 weeks. Among these patients, only five had Ki-67>6 % (6–19%). The overall response rate in this study (CR and PR rate) of 64% should be compared to RR in previous studies, in which higher doses of TMZ were given for fewer days. The high response rate may suggest that protracted administration of TMZ may lead to depletion of MGMT activity. Toxicity was mild compared with earlier trials with higher doses of TMZ. The results warrant further studies with this combination.

31.6 Predictive Value of MGMT Expression

MGMT is a DNA repair enzyme believed to induce cancer cell resistance to O6alkylating agents, e.g., TMZ. The cytotoxic effect of TMZ has been attributed to its ability to induce methylation at the 0^6 position of guanine. Methylation of guanine results in DNA mismatch, which in turn leads to apoptosis and cell death [53]. The sensitivity of tumor cells to alkylating agents, including TMZ, has been associated with decreased levels of MGMT, which through its ability to restore DNA, can prevent chemotherapy-induced cell death [54]. Among patients with advanced melanoma or glioblastoma treated with TMZ, low MGMT expression was associated with longer survival [55, 56]. In a recent study, the prevalence of MGMT deficiency in NENs was evaluated by IHC and correlated to treatment response to TMZ-based regimens [57]. In archival specimen, MGMT deficiency was found in 19/37 of pancreatic NETs (51 %) and none of 60 carcinoid tumors. Among patients having received TMZ-based treatment, 18 of 53 patients (34 %) with pancreatic NETs but only 1 (bronchial carcinoid) of 44 with carcinoid tumors (2 %) experienced CR or PR (p < 0.001). Among 21 patients with evaluable tumor tissue who had received TMZ treatment, 4 of 5 with MGMT-deficient tumor (all pancreatic) and none of 16 patients with tumors showing intact MGMT expression responded to treatment (p = 0.001). We had similar results in our single-arm trial of TMZ in 36 patients, i.e., low expression of MGMT correlated to response [19]. Both studies measured the expression of MGMT using IHC which is more relevant for clinical use. There is, however, controversy regarding the optimal method of MGMT analysis, and a discrepancy between results with IHC and methylation-specific PCR has been described in other tumors.

A standardization of techniques to assess MGMT status in tumor tissue and prospective trials to confirm a correlation between MGMT status and response to treatment with TMZ is warranted. This analysis may also serve as a predictive test for sensitivity to other alkylating agents, e.g., streptozocin and dacarbazine, since they have a common cytotoxic mechanism, i.e., induction of methylation at the O^6 position of guanine, and may have a similar resistance mechanism [57]. All three drugs seem to be more effective in pancreatic NET than in small intestinal tumors.

31.7 Other Chemotherapeutic Combinations

Bajetta et al. reported the result of a trial with the combination of oxaliplatin plus capecitabine in a group of 27 well-differentiated neuroendocrine G2 tumors [58]: oxaliplatin given i.v. 130 mg/m² D1 and CAP 2,000 mg/m² D2–15 every 3 weeks. Partial response was noted in 8/27 patients (30 %) and SD in 13/27 (48 %). Symptomatic improvement was observed in 50 % of patients and biochemical response in 20 %. This combination seems promising but needs further evaluation.

Other triplet chemotherapy regimens such as DTIC, 5-FU plus epirubicin or carboplatin, and gemcitabine plus irinotecan have been tested without achieving better response rates and unacceptable toxicity [59, 60].

31.8 New Molecular Targeted Agents in NETs

Recently, the mTOR inhibitor everolimus and the tyrosine kinase inhibitor sunitinib have been approved for the treatment of well-differentiated pancreatic NETs based on two multicenter placebo-controlled randomized trials [48, 61]. In both trials, the primary end point was PFS, and progression within the past 12 months was required for inclusion. The results were very similar with an improvement in PFS from 4.6 to 11.0 (hazard ratio for disease progression, 0.35; 95 % CI, 0.27–0.45; p <0.001) for everolimus and from 5.5 to 11.4 months (hazard ratio for progression, 0.42; 95 % CI, 0.26–0.66; p <0.001) for sunitinib. Overall survival as a secondary end point could not be assessed since about 70 % of patients crossed over from the placebo to the active arm in both studies. Tumor stabilization was achieved in both trials, but the objective response rates according to RECIST were low, 5 % for everolimus and 9.3 % for sunitinib. The proliferative rate or Ki-67 was not assessed except for a small number of patients in the sunitinib trial. Sunitinib was associated with diarrhea, nausea, asthenia, vomiting, and fatigue in more than 30 % of patients, and grade 3 or 4 neutropenia and hypertension occurred in 12 and 10 %, respectively. With everolimus treatment, stomatitis, rash, diarrhea, and fatigue occurred in at least 30 %, and the most common grade 3 or 4 adverse events were anemia (6 %), hyperglycemia (5 %), stomatitis (7 %), and pneumonitis (2 %). The hyperglycemic effect has turned to be beneficial in patients with hypoglycemia due to malignant insulinoma.

Everolimus was also studied in non-pancreatic NETs with the carcinoid syndrome in combination with octreotide long-acting repeatable (LAR) in the RADIANT-2 trial [62]. Compared with octreotide LAR alone, the PFS improved from 11.3 to 16.4 months (hazard ratio, 0.77; 95 % CI, 0.50–1.00; one-sided log-rank test, p=0.026) with the combination, but this did not reach the prespecified *p*-value of $p \le 0.0246$. The lack of significance may be due to imbalances between treatment arms.

Conclusions

More than half of NENs are metastatic at discovery. Even though the indications for surgery have been broadened to include aggressive surgery of locally advanced disease and cytoreductive procedures to reduce the tumor burden in the liver, the majority of patients will require additional medical/systemic treatment.

As opposed to NETs of other origin, G1/G2 pancreatic NETs have been shown to respond to STZ-based combinations, and these combinations are recommended in current guidelines for patients with symptomatic, bulky, or progressive pancreatic NET. In these tumors, the response rates with STZ combinations are superior to other interventions/options. It should be established at which Ki-67 levels STZ (and other chemotherapies) should be administered. Adverse events, mainly renal toxicity, should be monitored carefully.

Another per oral alkylating agent, TMZ, has demonstrated promising results as monotherapy and in combination with CAP and/or Bevacizumab with higher response rates in pancreatic and bronchial NETs compared to small intestinal NETs. Mode of administration and low toxicity of TMZ are advantageous for the patients.

In the future, randomized phase II trials comparing the efficacy and toxicity of STZ and TMZ should be performed in well-defined patient groups. Additionally, the assessment of antitumor activity and toxicity of TMZ alone or in combination with other agents is warranted.

The combination of new molecular targeted therapies with chemotherapy is another interesting option. Even though the new drugs have been demonstrated to prolong PFS, patients with a high tumor burden may benefit from chemotherapy due to much higher response rates with chemotherapy. In such combinations, assessment of side effects and quality of life is essential. Such combinations could also prevent the development of escape or resistance mechanisms [63].

Progression-free survival should be preferred as an endpoint in future studies, in turn requiring demonstration of progressive disease prior to inclusion. Prolonged survival is the ultimate goal of treatment, but with more options being available, most patients will receive several lines of treatment, and hence, it will be difficult to attribute prolonged survival to any one specific treatment. The treatment algorithm or sequence of therapy should be individualized according to several factors, including primary tumor location, grade and stage of the disease, functionality, and performance status. Tumor grade according to Ki-67 index has been used to guide therapeutic decision, but the appropriate cutoff level of Ki-67 has not been established. With improved knowledge in molecular biology, predictive markers of sensitivity or responsiveness to different therapies may become available to stratify patients optimally. Because all available therapies are palliative and accompanied by more or less severe side effects, early and accurate monitoring is important. In the future, new biomarkers and functional imaging with positron emission tomography (PET) or diffusion-weighted MRI may improve and be integral parts of the response evaluation.

References

- Modlin IM, Lye KD, Kidd M (2003) A 5-decade analysis of 13,715 carcinoid tumors. Cancer 97:934–959
- Schimmack S, Svedja B, Lawrence B et al (2011) The diversity and commonalities of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Langerbeck's. Arch Surg 396:273–298
- 3. Rindi G, Klöppel G, Ahlman H et al (2006) TNM staging of foregut (neuro)endocrine tumors: a consensus proposal including a grading system. Virchows Arch 449:395–401
- 4. Rindi G, Klöppel G, Couvelard A et al (2007) TNM staging of midgut and hindgut (neuro) endocrine tumors: a consensus proposal including a grading system. Virchows Arch 451:757–762
- Garcia-Carbonero R, Capdevila J, Crespo-Herrero G et al (2010) Incidence, patterns of care and prognostic factors for outcome of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors (GEP-NET): results from National Cancer Registry of Spain (RGETNE). Ann Oncol 21:1794–1803
- Pape UF, Berndt U, Koch M et al (2008) Prognostic factors of long-term outcome in gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Endocr Relat Cancer 15:1083–1097
- Rindi G, Arnold R, Bosman FT et al (2010) Nomenclature and classification of neuroendocrine neoplasms of the digestive system. In: Bosman FT, Carneiro F, Hruban H, Theise ND (eds) WHO classification of the digestive system. IARC Press, Lyon, pp 13–14
- Scarpa A, Mantovani W, Capelli P et al (2010) Pancreatic endocrine tumors: improved TNM staging and histopathology grading permit a clinically efficient prognostic stratification of patients. Mod Pathol 23:824–833
- 9. Travis WD, Muller-Hermelink HK, Harris C et al (2004) Tumors of the lung, pleura, thymus and heart. Pathology and genetics, WHO classification of tumors. IARC Press, Lyon
- 10. Miller AB, Hoogstraten B, Staquet M et al (1981) Reporting results of cancer treatment. J Natl Cancer Inst 47:207–214
- 11. Therasse P, Arback SG, Eisenhauer EA et al (2000) New guidelines to evaluate the response to treatment in solid tumors: European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer (EORTC), Nat Cancer Inst of Canada. J Natl Cancer Inst 92:205–216
- Kulke MH, Siu LL, Tepper JE et al (2011) Future directions in the treatment of neuroendocrine tumors; consensus report of the National Cancer Institute Neuroendocrine Tumor Clinical Trials Planning Meeting. J Clin Oncol 29:934–943
- Sun W, Lipsitz S, Catalano P et al (2005) Phase II/III study of doxorubicin with fluorouracil or dacarbazine in the treatment of advanced carcinoid tumors: Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group study E1281. J Clin Oncol 23:4897–4904
- Ekeblad S, Skogseid B, Öberg K et al (2008) Pancreatic endocrine tumors: survival and prognostic factors. Clin Cancer Res 14:7798–7803
- Murray-Lyon IM, Eddleston AL, Williams R et al (1968) Treatment of multiple-hormoneproducing malignant islet-cell tumor with streptozotocin. Lancet 2:895–898
- 16. Weiss R (1982) Streptozocin: a review of its pharmacology, efficacy and toxicity. Cancer 66:427-438
- 17. Moertel CG, Lavin PT, Hahn RG et al (1982) Phase II trial of doxorubicin for advanced islet cell carcinoma. Cancer 61:1567–1569
- Ramanathan RK, Cnaan RG, Hahn G et al (2001) Phase II trial of dacarbazine (DTIC) in advanced pancreatic islet cell carcinoma. Study of Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group – E6282. Ann Oncol 12:1139–1143
- Middleton MR, Grob JJ, Aaronsson N et al (2000) Randomized phase III study of temozolomide versus dacarbazine in the treatment of patients with advanced metastatic melanoma. J Clin Oncol 18:158–166
- Stupp R, Mason WP, Van den Bent MJ et al (2005) Radiotherapy plus concomitant and adjuvant temozolomide for glioblastoma. N Engl J Med 352:987–996
- 21. Ekeblad S, Sundin A, Janson ET et al (2007) Temozolomide as monotherapy is effective in treatment of advanced malignant neuroendocrine tumors. Clin Cancer Res 13:2986–2991
- Maire F, Hammel P, Faiver S et al (2009) Temozolomide: a safe and effective treatment for malignant digestive endocrine tumors. Neuroendocrinology 90:67–72
- Crona J, Fanola J, Lindholm D et al (2013) Effect of temozolomide in metastatic bronchial carcinoids. Neuroendocrinology 98:151–155
- Ansell SM, Pitot HC, Burch PA et al (2001) A phase II study of high-dose paclitaxel in patients with advanced neuroendocrine tumors. Cancer 91:1543–1548
- 25. Krzyzanowska MK, Tsao MS, Oza AM et al (2006) Capecitabine plus rofecoxib show no activity in patients with metastatic neuroendocrine tumors. Clin Oncol 18:88–89
- Kulke MH, Kim H, Clark JW et al (2004) A phase II trial of gemcitabine for metastatic neuroendocrine tumors. Cancer 101:934–939
- 27. Ansell SM, Mahoney MR, Green EM et al (2004) Topotecan in patients with advanced neuroendocrine tumors; a phase II study with significant haematological toxicity. Am J Clin Oncol 27:232–235
- Moertel CG, Hanley JA, Johnson LA et al (1980) Streptozotocin alone compared with streptozotocin plus fluorouracil in the treatment of advanced islet-cell carcinoma. N Engl J Med 303:1189–1195
- Moertel CG, Lefkopoulu M, Lipiz S et al (1992) Streptozotocin-doxorubicin, streptozotocinfluorouracil, or chlorozotocin in the treatment of advanced islet-cell carcinoma. N Engl J Med 326:519–523
- Cheng PN, Saltz LB (1999) Failure to confirm major objective antitumor activity for streptozotocin and doxorubicin in the treatment of patients with advanced islet-cell carcinoma. Cancer 86:944–948
- 31. Mc Collum AD, Kulke MH, Ryan DP et al (2004) Lack of efficacy of streptozotocin and doxorubicin in patients with advanced pancreatic endocrine tumors. J Clin Oncol 27:485–488
- Delaunoit T, Ducreux M, Boige V et al (2004) The doxorubicin-streptozotocin combination for the treatment of advanced well-differentiated pancreatic endocrine carcinoma: a judicious option. Eur J Cancer 40:515–520
- 33. Kouvaraki MA, Ajani JA, Hoff P et al (2004) Fluorouracil, doxorubicin, and streptozotocin in the treatment of patients with locally advanced and metastatic pancreatic endocrine carcinomas. J Clin Oncol 22:4762–4771
- Eriksson B, Öberg K (1993) An update of the medical treatment of malignant endocrine pancreatic tumors. Acta Oncol 32:203–208
- 35. Eriksson B, Annibale B, Bajetta E et al (2009) ENETS consensus guidelines for the standards for care in neuroendocrine tumors: chemotherapy for neuroendocrine tumors. Neuroendocrinology 90:214–219
- 36. Guigay J, Ruffié P, Leboulleux S et al (2007) Response of atypical carcinoids to chemotherapy. J Thoracic Oncol 2(8):5599

- Turner NC, Strauss SJ, Sarker D et al (2010) Chemotherapy with 5-fluorouracil, cisplatin and streptozocin for neuroendocrine tumors. Br J Cancer 102:1106–1112
- Ducreux, M, Seitz JF, Smith D et al (2012) Efficacy and safety of bevacizumab combined with chemotherapy in the treatment of metastatic well-differentiated duodeno-pancreatic endocrine tumors (BETTER study). J Clin Oncol 30(suppl) abstract 4036
- Corrie P, Caplin M Reed N et al (2012) Treatment of advanced neuroendocrine tumors: results of the UKINETS and NCRI randomized phase II NET01 trial. J Clin Oncol 30(suppl) abstract 4121
- 40. Pavel M, Baudin E, Couvelard A et al (2012) ENETS consensus guidelines for the management of patients with liver metastases from neuroendocrine neoplasms of foregut, midgut, hindgut and unknown primary. Neuroendocrinology 95:157–176
- Preuss J, Thust R, Kaina B (1996) Protective effect of O⁶-methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase (MGMT) on the cytotoxic and recombinogenic activity of different antineoplastic drugs. Int J Cancer 65:506–512
- 42. O'Toole D, Couvelard A, Rebours V et al (2010) Molecular markers associated with response to chemotherapy in gastro-entero-pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Endocr Relat Cancer 17:847–856
- Isacoff WH, Moss RA, Pecora AL et al (2006) Temozolomide/capecitabine therapy for metastatic neuroendocrine tumors of the pancreas. J Clin Oncol 24(185) abstract 14023
- 44. Strosberg JR, Fine RL, Choi J et al (2011) First-line chemotherapy with capecitabine and temozolomide in patients with metastatic pancreatic endocrine carcinomas. Cancer 117:268–275
- 45. Kulke MH, Stuart K, Enzinger K et al (2006) Phase II study of temozolomide and thalidomide in patients with metastatic neuroendocrine tumors. J Clin Oncol 24:401–406
- 46. Chan JA, Stuart K, Earle CC et al (2012) Prospective study of bevacizumab plus temozolomide in patients with advanced neuroendocrine tumors. J Clin Oncol 30:2963–2968
- 47. Chan JA, Blaskowsky L, Stuart K et al (2013) A prospective, phase I/II study of everolimus and temozolomide in patients with advanced pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Cancer 119:3212–3219
- Yao JC, Shah MH, Bohas CL et al (2011) Everolimus for advanced pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. N Engl J Med 364:514–523
- 49. Koumarianou A, Antoniou S, Kanakis G et al (2012) Combination treatment with metronomic temozolomide, bevacizumab, and long-acting octreotide for malignant neuroendocrine tumors. Endocr Relat Cancer 19:L1–L4
- Tolcher AW, Gerson SL, Denis L et al (2003) Marked inactivation of O⁶-alkylguanine-DNA alkyltransferase activity with protracted temozolomide schedules. Br J Cancer 88:1004–1011
- 51. Jc Y, Phan A, Hoff PM et al (2008) Targeting vascular endothelial growth factor in advanced carcinoid tumor: a random assignment phase II study of depot octreotide with bevacizumab and pegylated interferon alpha-2b. J Clin Oncol 26:1316–1323
- 52. Grozinski-Glasberg S, Shimon L, Korbonits M et al (2008) Somatostatin analogues in the control of neuroendocrine tumors: efficacy and mechanisms. Endocr Relat Cancer 15:701–720
- Liu I, Gerson SL (2006) Targeted modulation of MGMT: clinical implications. Clin Cancer Res 12:328–331
- 54. Gerson SL (2002) Clinical relevance of MGMT in the treatment of cancer. J Clin Oncol 20:2388–2399
- 55. Hegi ME, Diserens AC, Godard S et al (2004) Clinical trials substantiates the predictive value of O-6-methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase promoter methylation in glioblastoma patients treated with temozolomide. Clin Cancer Res 10:1871–1874
- Hegi ME, Diserens AC, Gorlia T et al (2005) MGMT gene silencing and benefit from temozolomide in glioblastoma. N Engl J Med 352:997–1003
- Kulke MH, Hornick JL, Frauenhoffer C et al (2009) O⁶-methylguanine DNA methyltransferase deficiency and response to temozolomide-based therapy in patients with neuroendocrine tumors. Clin Cancer Res 15:338–345
- Bajetta E, Catena L, Procopiv G et al (2007) Are capecitabine and oxaliplatin (XELOX) suitable treatments for progressing and high-grade neuroendocrine tumors? Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 59:637–642

- 59. Bajetta E, Rimassa L, Carnaghi C et al (1998) 5-fluorouracil, dacarbazine, epirubicin in the treatment of patients with neuroendocrine tumors. Cancer 83:372–378
- 60. de Lima Lopes G, Chiappori A, Simon G et al (2007) Phase I study of carboplatin in combination with gemcitabine and irinotecan in patients with solid tumors: preliminary evidence of activity in small cell and neuroendocrine carcinomas. Cancer 109:1413–1419
- Raymond E, Dahan L, Raoul JL et al (2011) Sunitinib malate for the treatment of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. N Engl J Med 364:501–513
- 62. Pavel M, Hainsworth J, Baudin E et al (2011) Everolimus plus octreotide long-acting repeatable for the treatment of advanced neuroendocrine tumors associated with carcinoid syndrome (RADIANT-2): a randomized, placebo-controlled phase 3 study. Lancet 378:2005–2012
- Frilling A, Åkerstrom G, Falconi M et al (2012) Neuroendocrine tumor disease. An evolving landscape. Endocr Relat Cancer 19:R163–R185

Targeted Therapies

Marianne Ellen Pavel

32.1 Introduction

32.1.1 Special Features of Neuroendocrine Tumours and Rationale to Use Targeted Drugs

Neuroendocrine neoplasms (NEN) represent a widely heterogenous group of tumours with distinct functionality, proliferative activity and growth behaviour. The vast majority of neuroendocrine tumours (NETs) (~90 %) are well to moderately differentiated tumours (NET G1/G2) and display slow to moderate tumour growth. Except for NEN with pancreatic primary tumour site and poorly differentiated NEN, (neuroendocrine carcinoma G3), NET are rather resistant to systemic chemotherapy. Their special features, such as a high degree of vascularity and high density of somatostatin receptors as well as the importance of different signalling pathways involved in neuroendocrine tumour cell proliferation and angiogenesis, make NET patients appear attractive candidates for the use of targeted drugs. Although the genetics and epigenetics of neuroendocrine tumorigenesis have yet to be fully elucidated, some studies have provided important insights.

In contrast to other non-endocrine malignancies, recent molecular studies in NET indicate that somatic mutations are rare, especially in small intestinal NET [1, 2]. Although mutations in MEN-1 gene and DAXX/ATRX gene are frequently found in pancreatic NET (Table 32.1), the significance of these alterations remains unclear, and there is no druggable target related to these alterations. Mutations in the mTOR pathway have been identified in 15 % of patients with pancreatic NET and ~ 2 % of intestinal NET. Genotype-phenotype correlations are, however, still lacking.

Diagnosis and Management, DOI 10.1007/978-3-662-45215-8_32

M.E. Pavel

Department of Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Metabolic Diseases, Charité University Medicine Berlin, Campus Virchow Klinikum, Augustenburger Platz 1, Berlin 13353, Germany e-mail: marianne.pavel@charite.de

[©] Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

S. Yalcin, K. Öberg (eds.), Neuroendocrine Tumours:

| Table 32.1 Somatic | | Pancreatic NET (%) | Intestinal NET |
|-------------------------------|--------|--------------------|----------------|
| mutations in sporadic | Gene | <i>n</i> =48 | (%) n = 68 |
| pancreatic and intestinal NET | MEN-1 | 44 | 2 |
| | DAXX | 25 | 0 |
| | ATRX | 18 | 0 |
| | TSC2 | 9 | 0 |
| | PTEN | 7 | 0 |
| | PIK3CA | 1 | 2 |
| | VHL | 0 | 2 |
| | P53 | 4 | 0 |
| | KRAS | 0 | 0 |

From Jiao et al. [2] and Banck et al. [1]

In the absence of known major genetic drivers of tumour growth, advances in the field of targeted therapies are mostly related to inhibition of known signalling transduction pathways involved in proliferation of tumour cells, angiogenesis and cell survival.

32.1.2 Signalling Transduction Pathways and Targets in NETs

A better understanding of the mechanisms driving secretion and tumour growth has led to the development of several targeted antitumour agents in these rare tumours. NETs express a variety of peptide receptors including somatostatin receptors (sstr) and express interferon (IFN) receptors. Inhibition of sstr and IFN signalling by somatostatin analogues and interferon-alpha is an established approach to control secretion and growth of NET. Introduced in the mid 1980s, both drug classes can be considered as the oldest targeted drugs in the management of NET (see Chaps. 28, 29, 30).

Several growth-promoting targets are expressed in NET cells [3, 4]. These comprise not only growth factor receptors but also their ligands or other molecules, including vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), platelet-derived growth factor- α (PDGFR- α), platelet-derived growth factor- β (PDGFR- β), insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1), transforming growth factor- α (TGF- α) and TGF- β , and their cognate receptors [5]. VEGF-driven angiogenesis may play an important role in neuroendocrine tumorigenesis and tumour progression [6]. High vascularity is however rather a feature of well-differentiated than poorly differentiated NET. The epidermal growth factor (EGF) receptor is frequently expressed in NET, and binding of EGF or TGF- α induces RAF/MAP-ERK signalling in tumour cells; however, mutations of the EGFR tyrosine kinase which are predictive of a response to EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors in other types of cancers are rather uncommon in NET [7]. Activation of the IGF-1R by IGF-1 and IGF-2 plays an important role in tumour cell proliferation, and in NET cell lines (pancreatic

BON cells), it has been demonstrated that IGF-1 stimulates tumour cell growth by an autocrine loop. IGF-1 also plays a role in the upstream activation of the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathway [8, 9].

The protein kinase mTOR exerts a central control function integrating multiple signalling pathways in response to growth factors and intracellular signalling by nutrients. mTOR is involved in the regulation of growth-related cellular functions, and the best known function is the regulation of translation initiation [10]. Inhibiting mTOR pathway may reduce cell growth and proliferation and impair the metastatic potential of tumour cells. It also acts at the endothelial cells. In NET constitutively activated PI3K-Akt-mTOR signalling seems to be a crucial event with 75 % of NET expressing activated Akt and 45 % mTOR [11]. Loss or downregulation of the expression of PTEN or TSC2 has been reported recently in a high percentage of pancreatic NET and may lead by loss of inhibition of mTOR to overactivation of this pathway [12].

In NETs, mTOR inhibitors and angiogenesis inhibitors have been most extensively studied. The following sections focus on the results from clinical trials with both kinds of drugs.

32.2 Targeted Therapies in Pancreatic NET

32.2.1 Inhibitors of the Mammalian Target of Rapamycin (mTOR) Pathway

Temsirolimus and everolimus are inhibitors of mTOR structurally related to rapamycin. Temsirolimus was the first mTOR inhibitor used in NET patients in a phase II study in advanced progressive NET. The objective response rate was less than 6 % and median time to disease progression (TTP) 6 months [13]. However, a significant percentage of patients experienced disease stabilisation (~60 %) with temsirolimus, and the 1-year progression-free rate of 40 % suggests drug activity beyond the natural course of the disease.

In a phase II trial, everolimus in combination with the long-acting SSA octreotide LAR (30 mg q 28 days) led to a tumour response rate of 22 % (with a more favourable response rate in pancreatic NET compared to NET of other origins, 27 % vs. 17 %, respectively). In the majority of the patients (70 %), stable disease was the best response in patients treated with everolimus [14]. The higher remission rate in pancreatic NET might be explained by the pathophysiological findings related to mTOR pathway [12].

Antitumour activity has been confirmed with everolimus in patients with progressive metastatic pancreatic NET after failure of cytotoxic chemotherapy in the phase II RADIANT-1 trial. 160 patients were included in two strata –/+ octreotide. The partial remission rate was low with 9.6 and 4.4 %, respectively. The rate of disease stabilisations was however high with 67.8 and 80 %, respectively. The corresponding figures for progression free survival (PFS) were 9.7 and 16.7 months [15]. Although data of this study are in favour of combination therapy of everolimus with octreotide, it remains

an open issue if combination therapy of everolimus and somatostatin analogues is indeed superior to everolimus alone to inhibit tumour growth.

The benefit of everolimus in advanced pNET was confirmed in a randomised placebo-controlled phase III trial (RADIANT-3) recruiting 410 patients. PFS was 11 months with everolimus, and 5.4 months with placebo [16]. Tumour remissions occurred in 5 % of the patients. Based on these data, everolimus was approved for progressive pNET patients. A survival benefit could not be demonstrated with everolimus compared to placebo; however, there was a high crossover rate from placebo to open-label drug upon progression. Treatment is continuous oral intake of everolimus 10 mg per day. Treatment is stopped if progressive disease or intolerable toxicity occurs. Most frequently reported adverse events include stomatitis (62 %) and rash (37 %). Patients have to be followed carefully for infections (20 %) and pulmonary events (12 %), such as pneumonitis [16] (Table 32.2).

To improve objective response rates and overcome acquired resistance to the drug, multiple combination therapies of everolimus with somatostatin analogues or angiogenesis inhibitors and dual inhibitors targeting upstream and downstream signalling of the mTOR pathway are currently under investigation. Since other treatments are available (somatostatin analogues, chemotherapy with either temozolomide or streptozotocin+5-fluorouracil, angiogenesis inhibitors), it has still to be defined which patients will benefit most of targeted therapy with everolimus and in which sequence everolimus should be used.

32.2.2 Inhibitors of VEGF Receptor Signalling

The antiangiogenic strategies currently used in clinical practice in NET are specific monoclonal antibodies against VEGF (anti-VEGF A), such as bevacizumab and tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) targeting receptors for VEGF or PDGF expressed by tumour vessels. Further antiangiogenic drugs are evaluated in combination with somatostatin analogues (SSA), everolimus or systemic chemotherapy. SSA and everolimus also display antiangiogenic properties that include inhibition of

| Sunitinib | | Everolimus | |
|---------------|---------------|-------------------------------|---------------|
| Adverse event | Frequency (%) | Adverse event | Frequency (%) |
| Diarrhoea | 59 | Stomatitis | 64 |
| Nausea | 45 | Exanthema | 49 |
| Asthenia | 34 | Diarrhoea | 34 |
| Emesis | 34 | Fatigue | 31 |
| Fatigue | 33 | Infections | 23 |
| Grey hair | 29 | Nausea | 20 |
| Leucopenia | 29 | Oedema | 20 |
| Hypertension | 27 | Pneumonitis, lung infiltrates | 17 |

Table 32.2 Frequent side effects (>20 %) of novel targeted agents

Data from Yao et al. [16] and Raymond et al. [21]

endothelial cell proliferation and inhibition of secretion of angiogenic factors such as VEGF synthesised by tumour cells or microenvironment among other mechanisms [6, 17].

32.2.2.1 Tyrosine Kinase Receptor Inhibitors

Several small molecule tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) have been evaluated in NET, including sunitinib, pazopanib, axitinib and sorafenib, all of which have activity against diverse VEGF receptors and PDGF receptors. Some have additional activity against c-kit, RET or FGFR (Table 32.3), thus blocking multiple targets involved in growth, proliferation and metastatic spread of tumour cells [18, 19, 20].

Sunitinib is the only TKI that has been evaluated in a placebo-controlled phase III study based on promising results in a phase II trial including 66 patients with pNET. The objective response rate was 17 % in the latter study, and 68 % had stable disease [18]. In the phase III study, progressive disease was required before enrolment, and the objective response rate was <10 %. The primary endpoint, median PFS, was 11.4 months with sunitinib compared to 5.5 months with placebo. Most frequently reported adverse events include diarrhoea (59 %), nausea (45 %) and asthenia (34 %). Patients need to be followed carefully for hypertension (27 %) and leucopenia (29 %) [21]. Based on these results, sunitinib was approved for the treatment of pancreatic NET. In an updated survival analysis, no survival benefit could be demonstrated; however, most patients crossed over from placebo to open-label drug upon progression, a finding that may have biased these results.

32.2.2.2 Antibody-Based Therapy

Bevacizumab was evaluated in combination with somatostatin analogues, systemic chemotherapy, everolimus and other drugs. Results of larger and comparative studies (e.g. bevacizumab+everolimus vs. everolimus) are still lacking [22]. In small studies promising results were achieved with the combination of bevacizumab with either temozolomide or metronomic capecitabine plus octreotide (Table 32.3) [23, 24]. However, some combination therapies such as sorafenib and bevacizumab seem too toxic [25], and it remains unanswered yet to which extent bevacizumab might increase objective response rates or PFS in pNET.

32.3 Targeted Therapies in Non-pancreatic NET (Carcinoids)

32.3.1 Inhibitors of the Mammalian Target of Rapamycin (mTOR) Pathway

Following promising results from a phase II study, a combined therapy of everolimus plus the somatostatin analogue octreotide LAR was evaluated in a large placebo-controlled phase III trial (RADIANT-2) enrolling 429 patients with progressive NETs from various disease sites with a history of carcinoid syndrome [14, 26]. Due to the heterogeneity of tumour types (the most frequent tumour site was the intestine, followed by the lung) included in this trial but also differences in local

| | | | Study | Patients | Objective | PFS/TTP* |
|------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------|-------|------------|-------------------|--------------|
| Author | Drugs | Targets | phase | <i>(u)</i> | response (%) | (months) |
| Duran et al. [13] | Temsirolimus | mTOR | Π | 15 | 10.6 | 6.7* |
| Yao et al. [14] | Everolimus + octreotide | mTOR | П | 30 | 27 | 12.5 |
| Yao et al. [15] | Everolimus | mTOR | П | 115 | 9.6 | 9.7 |
| | Everolimus + octreotide (RADIANT-1) | SSTR-2/SSTR-5 | | 45 | 4.4 | 16.7 |
| Yao et al. [16] | Everolimus vs. placebo | mTOR | III | 207 202 | 5.0 | 11.04 1.6 |
| | (C-INTERDAN) | | | C07 | 7. 0 | 0.4 |
| B | Everolimus vs. everolimus + bevacizumab | mTOR VEGF | Π | 138 | Results pending | 50 |
| а | Everolimus vs. everolimus + pasireotide | mTOR | Π | 160 | Results pending | 50 |
| | (COOPERATE-2) | SSTR-1, SSTR-2, SSTR-3, SSTR-5 | | | | |
| Kulke et al. [18] | Sunitinib | VEGFR-1, VEGFR-2; PDGFR, c-kit | II | 66 | 17 | 7.7* |
| Raymond et al. [21] | Sunitinib vs. placebo | VEGFR-1, VEGFR-2; PDGFR, c-kit | Ш | 86 | 9.3 | 11.4 |
| | | | | 85 | 0 | 5.5 |
| Hobday et al. [19] | Sorafenib | C-RAF, B-RAF, VEGFR-2, VEGFR- 3, PDGFR-β; c-kit | Π | 41 | 10 | I |
| Ahn et al. [20] | Pazopanib | VEGFR-1, VEGFR-2, VEGFR-3, PDGF-α. PDGF-6. c-kit | П | 12 | 18.9 ^b | 15.5 |
| Chan et al. [23] | Bevacizumab + temozolomide | VEGF MGMT | п | 15 | 33 | 14.3 |
| Castellano et al. | Bevacizumab + sorafenib | VEGF | п | 13 | 7.7 | N.R |
| [25] | | C-RAF, B-RAF, VEGFR-2, VEGFR- 3, PDGFR-β; c-kit | | | | (>15 mo.) |
| Berruti et al. [24] | Bevacizumab + octreotide + metronomic | VEGF | Π | 19 | 26.3 | 14.3 |
| | capecitabine | C-RAF, B-RAF, VEGFR-2, VEGFR- 3, PDGFR-β; c-kit; antimetabolite | | | | |
| ^a www.clinicaltrials.go | Λ | | | | | |

 Table 32.3
 Molecular targeted drugs in pancreatic NETs

^bIncludes other types of NET *Indicates TTP *NR* not reached

and central reading of radiographs, the results of the study are less clear. Median PFS by central reading (primary endpoint) was 16.4 months with everolimus+octreotide, and 11.3 months with placebo+octreotide, but did not reach prespecified statistical significance, probably due to imbalanced informative censoring that occurred following earlier assessment of tumour progression by local reading compared to central reading of radiographs and imbalances in baseline characteristics of the study population. However, despite discrepancies in local and central reading, the risk reduction (hazard ratio) was similar for both assessments [26]. The study provides evidence that subgroups of patients with functioning progressive non-pancreatic NET may have a benefit of everolimus. The activity of everolimus as monotherapy is currently further evaluated in intestinal and lung NET within a placebo-controlled phase III trial (RADIANT-4).

32.3.2 Inhibitors of VEGF Receptor Signalling

All studies are small in size and most deal with mixed patient populations including pancreatic NET and carcinoids. In a phase II study with the multiple tyrosine kinase inhibitor sunitinib, the objective response rate was low (2 %) in the subgroup of carcinoids. Its activity against carcinoid tumours could not be definitively determined in this nonrandomised study [18]. Sunitinib is currently evaluated in combination with lanreotide Autogel in a randomised phase II trial vs. lanreotide Autogel in progressive advanced or metastatic midgut carcinoid tumours (SUNLAND study; www.clinical trials.gov).

The combination therapy of bevacizumab and octreotide was assessed over a limited study period of 18 weeks in carcinoids. The objective response rate was 18 % with this combination and superior to a combination therapy of octreotide and pegylated interferon-alpha [27]. The results of a large US trial including 400 patients with carcinoids to further explore the combination of bevacizumab+octreotide vs. interferon-alpha+octreotide are still pending.

In the absence of results of comparative trials, it remains unclear what the add-on value of bevacizumab therapy might be in distinct types of non-pancreatic NET (Table 32.4).

32.3.3 Other Compounds

Other drugs targeting growth factor receptors or ligands that bind to growth factor receptors have been explored in NET. There are two published negative studies on the use of the insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) receptor inhibitor, a human monoclonal antibody that binds to the IGF-1R (MK-0646), in patients with meta-static well-differentiated NET [28] who had very advanced disease. While the drugs were inactive as single agents in well-differentiated NETs, the outcome of combined use of other IGF-1 receptor inhibitors and octreotide, or IGF-1 receptor inhibitors with octreotide and everolimus, is not reported yet (Fig. 32.1).

| | INTUICCUTAL LAI SCICU ULUSS III HUTI-PAIICICAL | CUTTLE CALCULUTE | (| | | | |
|-------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------|-------------|--------------|------------------|---------------------------|------------------------------|
| Author | Drugs | Targets | Study phase | Patients (n) | Tumour site | Objective response (%) | Median PFS/ TTP* (months) |
| Duran | Temsirolimus | mTOR | II | 21 | Carcinoids | 4.8 | 6.0* |
| et al. [13] | Trunching and and the descent of the | COT. | F | 00 | CT minister | ŗ | 15 0 |
| 140 ct al. | | SSTR-1, SSTR-2 | П | DC. | CII, CAICIII0IUS | 1/ | 0.01 |
| Pavel | Everolimus + octreotide vs. | mTOR | Π | 429 | GI | 2.3 | 16.4 (12.0) [†] |
| et al. [26] | placebo + octreotide | SSTR-1, SSTR-2 | | | Lung Others | 1.9 | 11.3 (8.6) |
| a | Everolimus vs. placebo | mTOR | III | 279 | GI | Results pending | |
| | (RADIANT-4) | | | | Lung CUP | 4 | |
| a | Bevacizumab+octreotide vs. | VEGF | III | 400 | Advanced NET | Results pending | |
| | interferon-alpha + octreotide | SSTR-1, SSTR-2; IFN-R | | | | | |
| | | SSTR-1, SSTR-2 | | | | | |
| Kulke | Sunitinib | VEGFR, PDGFR | п | 41 | Carcinoids | 2.4 | 10.2* |
| et al. [18] | | | | | | | |
| Yao et al. | Bevacizumab + octreotide | VEGF | п | 22 | Carcinoids | 18 | |
| [27] | | SSTR-2, SSTR-5 | | | | | |
| Berruti | Bevacizumab + octreotide + metronomic | VEGF | П | 26 | Intestinal NET; | 11.5 | 14.3 |
| et al. [24] | capecitabine | SSTR-2, SSTR-5 | | | CUP | | |
| Reidy | MK 0646 | IGF-1R | Π | 15 | Carcinoids | 0 | 2.7 |
| et al. [28] | | | | | | | |
| | oltaiolo acco *Ladicotao TYPD | | | | | | |

Table 32.4 Molecular targeted drugs in non-nancreatic NET ("carcinoids")

www.clinicaltrials.gov; *Indicates TTP

 † number in parentheses indicates values of local reading CUP carcinoma of unknown primary

558



Fig. 32.1 Signalling pathways, drug targets and targeted therapies in NET (Modified from Pavel [30])

32.4 Summary and Conclusions

The approval of sunitinib and everolimus for the management of advanced pancreatic NET has extended therapeutic options in this rare type of tumour. In contrast, their role is less clear in NET of other sites, and both drugs are currently evaluated in ongoing clinical trials. Partial tumour remissions occur in less than 10 % of the patients with both molecular targeted drugs; however, stabilisation of the disease including minor tumour shrinkages is more frequently observed, and prolongation of PFS may be achieved and considered as a clinical important outcome parameter. Although prolongation of PFS is the major benefit of these targeted drugs, and an impact on overall survival could not be demonstrated in clinical trials in part due to a high crossover rate from placebo to open-label treatment, the use of these drugs in sequencing different kind of treatments may prolong individual patients' life. However, the clinical results achieved with sunitinib and everolimus in pancreatic NET are limited by de novo or acquired drug resistance. In consequence, treatment strategies utilising combinations of agents targeting multiple pathways have been initiated in an attempt to increase response rates and improve clinical outcomes. One of the major challenges is to improve the molecular understanding of diverse types of NET and to validate biomarkers for the selection and stratification of patients for distinct targeted therapies.

References

- Banck MS, Kanwar R, Kulkarni AA, Boora GK, Metge F, Kipp BR, Zhang L, Thorland EC, Minn KT, Tentu R, Eckloff BW, Wieben ED, Wu Y, Cunningham JM, Nagorney DM, Gilbert JA, Ames MM, Beutler AS (2013) The genomic landscape of small intestine neuroendocrine tumors. J Clin Invest 123(6):2502–2508. doi:10.1172/JCI67963
- Jiao Y, Shi C, Edil BH, de Wilde RF, Klimstra DS, Maitra A, Schulick RD, Tang LH, Wolfgang CL, Choti MA, Velculescu VE, Diaz LA Jr, Vogelstein B, Kinzler KW, Hruban RH, Papadopoulos N (2011) DAXX/ATRX, MEN1, and mTOR pathway genes are frequently altered in pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Science 331(6021):1199–1203. doi:10.1126/ science.1200609
- 3. Chaudhry A, Funa K, Oberg K (1993) Expression of growth factor peptides and their receptors in neuroendocrine tumors of the digestive system. Acta Oncol 32(2):107–114
- Welin S, Fjällskog ML, Saras J, Eriksson B, Janson ET (2006) Expression of tyrosine kinase receptors in malignant midgut carcinoid tumors. Neuroendocrinology 84(1):42–48
- 5. Pavel M, Wiedenmann B (2011) Novel Therapeutic Agents for the Treatment of Gastroenteropancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors. Horm Metab Res 43(12):844–853
- Szoazec JY (2013) Angiogenesis in neuroendocrine tumors: therapeutic applications. Neuroendocrinology 97(1):45–56. doi:10.1159/000338371
- Kidd M, Schimmack S, Lawrence B, Alaimo D, Modlin IM (2013) EGFR/TGFα and TGFβ/ CTGF signaling in neuroendocrine neoplasia: theoretical therapeutic targets. Neuroendocrinology 97(1):35–44. doi:10.1159/000334891
- Wulbrand U, Wied M, Zöfel P, Göke B, Arnold R, Fehmann H (1998) Growth factor receptor expression in human gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumours. Eur J Clin Invest 28(12):1038–1049
- von Wichert G, Jehle PM, Hoeflich A, Koschnick S, Dralle H, Wolf E, Wiedenmann B, Boehm BO, Adler G, Seufferlein T (2000) Insulin-like growth factor-I is an autocrine regulator of chromogranin A secretion and growth in human neuroendocrine tumor cells. Cancer Res 60:4573–4581
- Shaw RJ, Cantley LC (2006) Ras, PI(3)K and mTOR signalling controls tumour cell growth. Nature 441(7092):424–430
- 11. Shida T, Kishimoto T, Furuya M, Nikaido T, Koda K, Takano S, Kimura F, Shimizu H, Yoshidome H, Ohtsuka M, Tanizawa T, Nakatani Y, Miyazaki M (2010) Expression of an activated mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) in gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 65(5):889–893. doi:10.1007/s00280-009-1094-6
- Missiaglia E, Dalai I, Barbi S, Beghelli S, Falconi M, della Peruta M, Piemonti L, Capurso G, Di Florio A, delle Fave G, Pederzoli P, Croce CM, Scarpa A (2010) Pancreatic endocrine tumors: expression profiling evidences a role for AKT-mTOR pathway. J Clin Oncol 28:245–255
- 13. Duran I, Kortmansky J, Singh D, Hirte H, Kocha W, Goss G, Le L, Oza A, Nicklee T, Ho J, Birle D, Pond GR, Arboine D, Dancey J, Aviel-Ronen S, Tsao MS, Hedley D, Siu LL (2006) A phase II clinical and pharmacodynamic study of temsirolimus in advanced neuroendocrine carcinomas. Br J Cancer 95(9):1148–1154
- 14. Yao JC, Phan AT, Chang DZ, Wolff RA, Hess K, Gupta S, Jacobs C, Mares JE, Landgraf AN, Rashid A, Meric-Bernstam F (2008) Efficacy of RAD001 (everolimus) and octreotide LAR in advanced low- to intermediate-grade neuroendocrine tumors: results of a phase II study. J Clin Oncol 26:4311–4318
- 15. Yao JC, Lombard-Bohas C, Baudin E, Kvols LK, Rougier P, Ruszniewski P, Hoosen S, St Peter J, Haas T, Lebwohl D, Van Cutsem E, Kulke MH, Hobday TJ, O'Dorisio TM, Shah MH, Cadiot G, Luppi G, Posey JA, Wiedenmann B (2010) Daily oral everolimus activity in patients with metastatic pancreatic neuroendocrine tumours after failure of cytotoxic chemotherapy: a phase II trial. J Clin Oncol 28:69–76
- Yao JC, Shah MH, Ito T, Bohas CL, Wolin EM, Van Cutsem E, Hobday TJ, Okusaka T, Capdevila J, de Vries EG, Tomassetti P, Pavel ME, Hoosen S, Haas T, Lincy J, Lebwohl D,

Öberg K (2011) Everolimus for advanced pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. N Engl J Med 364:514–523

- Danesi R, Del Tacca M (1996) The effects of the somatostatin analog octreotide on angiogenesis in vitro. Metabolism 45(8 Suppl 1):49–50
- Kulke MH, Lenz HJ, Meropol NJ, Posey J, Ryan DP, Picus J, Bergsland E, Stuart K, Tye L, Huang X, Li JZ, Baum CM, Fuchs CS (2008) Activity of sunitinib in patients with advanced neuroendocrine tumors. J Clin Oncol 26:3403–3410
- Hobday T, Rubin J, Holen K, Picus J, Donehower R, Marschke R, Maples W, Lloyd R, Mahoney M, Erlichman C (2007) MC044h, a phase II trial of sorafenib in patients (pts) with metastatic neuroendocrine tumors (NET): a Phase II Consortium (P2C) study. J Clin Oncol; ASCO Annual Meeting Proceedings 2007; Part I 25 (18S (Suppl)):4504
- Ahn HK, Choi JY, Kim KM, Kim H, Choi SH, Park SH, Park JO, Lim HY, Kang WK, Lee J, Park YS (2013) Phase II study of pazopanib monotherapy in metastatic gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumours. Br J Cancer 109(6):1414–1419. doi:10.1038/bjc.2013.470
- Raymond E, Dahan L, Raoul JL, Bang YJ, Borbath I, Lombard-Bohas C, Valle J, Metrakos P, Smith D, Vinik A, Chen JS, Hörsch D, Hammel P, Wiedenmann B, Van Cutsem E, Patyna S, Lu DR, Blanckmeister C, Chao R, Ruszniewski P (2011) Sunitinib malate for the treatment of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. N Engl J Med 364(6):501–513. doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa1003825
- Abdel-Rahman O, Fouad M (2015) Bevacizumab-based combination therapy for advanced gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms (GEP-NENs): a systematic review of the literature. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 141(2):295–305. doi:10.1007/s00432-014-1757-5
- 23. Chan JA, Stuart K, Earle CC, Clark JW, Bhargava P, Miksad R, Blaszkowsky L, Enzinger PC, Meyerhardt JA, Zheng H, Fuchs CS, Kulke MH (2012) Prospective study of bevacizumab plus temozolomide in patients with advanced neuroendocrine tumors. J Clin Oncol 30:2963–2968
- 24. Berruti A, Fazio N, Ferrero A, Brizzi MP, Volante M, Nobili E, Tozzi L, Bodei L, Torta M, D'Avolio A, Priola AM, Birocco N, Amoroso V, Biasco G, Papotti M, Dogliotti L (2014) Bevacizumab plus octreotide and metronomic capecitabine in patients with metastatic well-tomoderately differentiated neuroendocrine tumors: the XELBEVOCT study. BMC Cancer 14:184. doi:10.1186/1471-2407-14-184
- 25. Castellano D, Capdevila J, Sastre J, Alonso V, Llanos M, García-Carbonero R, Manzano Mozo JL, Sevilla I, Durán I, Salazar R (2013) Sorafenib and bevacizumab combination targeted therapy in advanced neuroendocrine tumour: a phase II study of Spanish Neuroendocrine Tumour Group (GETNE0801). Eur J Cancer 49(18):3780–3787
- 26. Pavel ME, Hainsworth JD, Baudin E, Peeters M, Hörsch D, Winkler RE, Klimovsky J, Lebwohl D, Jehl V, Wolin EM, Oberg K, Van Cutsem E, Yao JC, RADIANT-2 Study Group (2011) Everolimus plus octreotide long-acting repeatable for the treatment of advanced neuroendocrine tumours associated with carcinoid syndrome (RADIANT-2): a randomised, placebo-controlled, phase 3 study. Lancet 378(9808):2005–2012. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(11)61742-X
- 27. Yao JC, Phan A, Hoff PM, Chen HX, Charnsangavej C, Yeung SC, Hess K, Ng C, Abbruzzese JL, Ajani JA (2008) Targeting vascular endothelial growth factor in advanced carcinoid tumor: a random assignment phase II study of depot octreotide with bevacizumab and pegylated interferon alpha-2b. J Clin Oncol 26:1316–1323
- Reidy-Lagunes DL, Vakiani E, Segal MF, Hollywood EM, Tang LH, Solit DB, Pietanza MC, Capanu M, Saltz LB (2012) A phase 2 study of the insulin-like growth factor-1 receptor inhibitor MK-0646 in patients with metastatic, well-differentiated neuroendocrine tumors. Cancer 118(19):4795–4800. doi:10.1002/cncr.27459
- 29. Strosberg JR, Chan JA, Ryan DP, Meyerhardt JA, Fuchs CS, Abrams T, Regan E, Brady R, Weber J, Campos T, Kvols LK, Kulke MH (2013) A multi-institutional, phase II open-label study of ganitumab (AMG 479) in advanced carcinoid and pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Endocr Relat Cancer 20(3):383–390. doi:10.1530/ERC-12-0390
- Pavel M (2013) Translation of molecular pathways into clinical trials of neuroendocrine tumors. Neuroendocrinology 97:99–112

Societies and Guidelines for Neuroendocrine Tumors

Kjell Öberg

33.1 Historical Background

Neuroendocrine tumors (NETs) are increasing considerably in both incidence and prevalence in the last decades [1]. In previous years, the beginning of the 1980s, there was very little interest in this field. There were discussions whether the tumor should be called endocrine tumors or NETs. Although one had the old publications from Obendorfer (1907) on carcinoid tumors and later in the 1950s publications on Zollinger-Ellison syndrome and Verner-Morrison syndrome, there was very little known and written about these so-called rare diseases. In the late 1970s and early 1980s, the most important center in the world for taking care of patients with NETs was the Mayo Clinic in the USA with Professor Charles Moertel and Dr. Larry Kvols with documented interest in managing these patients. The only treatment in metastatic disease at that time was streptozocin plus 5-fluorouracil or doxorubicin which was given to all the different subtypes of neuroendocrine tumors. At the end of the 1970s and early 1980s, the era of radioimmunoassays was established, and a lot of different antibodies to hormones and amines were developed which were used both for immunohistochemistry and for developing radioimmunoassays and Elisa. These developments became a new dawn of the NET field. At the same time, the development of new therapies came along with somatostatin analogues as well as alpha interferon for slow-growing NETs. Later on, in the 1990s, long-acting formulations of somatostatin analogues were developed. New cytotoxic treatments such as temozolomide were presented in the beginning of 2000, and during the most recent days, we have the development of the so-called targeted agents such as everolimus and sunitinib. In parallel, new imaging techniques were developed, somatostatin receptor scintigraphy and positron emission tomography.

K. Öberg

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

S. Yalcin, K. Öberg (eds.), Neuroendocrine Tumours:

Diagnosis and Management, DOI 10.1007/978-3-662-45215-8_33

Endocrine Oncology, Uppsala University Hospital, Uppsala, Sweden e-mail: kjell.oberg@medsci.uu.se

Another development during this last decade was prospective randomized controlled trials: the PROMID study with octreotide for carcinoids, the RADIANT 2 and 3 trials with everolimus, as well as the sunitinib trial for pancreatic NETs. Most recently, we also have the CLARINET study for nonfunctioning enteropancreatic tumors. The most important general biomarker chromogranin A was established worldwide. Molecular imaging paved the way for radioactive treatment with peptide receptor radionuclide therapy (PRRT). All these factors contributed to the accelerated increase in the incidence and prevalence of NETs together with increased awareness. Educational programs and the establishment of societies contributed to the increased interest in NETs. The first professional society that was developed in the field of NETs was the European Neuroendocrine Tumor Society (ENETS) which started as a small discussion group of 30 people in 1995. The aim of this group was to try to establish common diagnostic and therapeutic models. In 2001, this small group decided to establish a society (ENETs) which increased the number of members. The first guidelines were developed in 2005/2006 for different kinds of NETs [2]. This was the first comprehensive guideline that was developed in the field and was also appreciated by WHO which in 2010 made a new classification system [3]. The grading of NETs into NET G1, NET G2, and NEC G3 is based on the ENETS classification system. The work by the ENETS was appreciated by colleagues in North America which in 2006 formed the North American Neuroendocrine Tumor Society (NANETS), which has started to develop their own guidelines, partly based on the previously developed guidelines by the ENETS [4]. Later on, in 2010, the Latin American Neuroendocrine Tumor Society (LANETS) was established, including countries in South America and Mexico. In 2013, the Asia Pacific Neuroendocrine Tumour Society (AP-NETS) was founded in Kuala Lumpur covering the countries in Asia and the Pacific region, including Australia, ranging from India to Japan. All these latter societies are spin-offs from the ENETS, which have had yearly conferences in Europe since 2001. For these conferences, colleges from all over the world have been attending, and last year, almost 2,000 participants were registered at the meeting in Barcelona (2014). Today, the ENETS has around 1,100 members. The sister organizations are significantly smaller, even the North American Neuroendocrine Society which has around 200 members and around 250 participants in their yearly conference, the last one in Nashville, TN (2014). I myself, being a chairman of ENETS (2011-2014), have tried to establish a close collaboration between our sister organizations to develop programs for the management of NETs and to establish common clinical trials and educational programs.

Furthermore, ENETS has developed an accreditation program for hospitals interested in taking care of patients with NETs, so-called centers of excellence. At the moment, 27 centers have been accredited all over Europe. These centers are supposed to follow the ENETS guidelines in terms of diagnosis and treatment of NETs. They are also expected to work in a multidisciplinary way and to have regular tumor boards to discuss the patients. Furthermore, the patient's influence of their management is secured. It is obvious that centers working in multidisciplinary teams significantly improve the outcome for patients with NETs. Not only in Europe but also in the USA. The centers of excellence are reviewed every

3 years by a special organization based in Germany. The work by these specific societies such as the ENETS, NANETS, APNETS, and LANETS to develop guidelines has generated a new interest for NETs in larger oncology organizations such as the European Society for Medical Oncology (ESMO) and American Society for Clinical Oncology (ASCO) to further work on these guidelines and to spread them out to the general oncology practice. Therefore, the ESMO has generated their own guidelines based on the ENETS guidelines [5], and National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) in the USA has developed guidelines that are based on the NANETS guidelines as well as ENETS. Today, NETs are well recognized at different conferences and symposia in the fields of oncology, surgery, gastroenterology, endocrinology, and pathology which usually have large sessions related to neuroendocrine tumors. Besides the international societies, most countries have their own national societies for NETs.

Patient organizations have developed their own societies over the last two decades in parallel with the professional societies. Most countries in Europe have a well-developed patient organization. These European societies are working in networks with other societies in the USA, Latin America, and Australia to form an International Neuroendocrine Cancer Alliance (INCA).

Conclusion

The development of professional societies in the field of NETs with established guidelines for the management of NETs has significantly contributed to the development of the field and also improved the quality of life and the survival of many patients with malignant NETs. The patient organizations are important supporters. Patients with these diseases are regularly in contact with professionals from different organizations to get the latest developments in the field of diagnosis and treatment of NETs. One example of the developments in the management of NETs is that patients with carcinoid tumors and carcinoid syndrome had a median survival in the early 1980s of about 2 years and today, with modern treatment, follow-up, and the availability of different treatment modalities, have a median survival of more than 16 years at centers of excellence.

References

- Yao JC et al (2008) One hundred years after "carcinoid": epidemiology of and prognostic factors for neuroendocrine tumors in 35,825 cases in the United States. J Clin Oncol 26(18): 3063–3072
- Rindi G et al (2006) Consensus guidelines for the management of patients with digestive neuroendocrine tumors: why such guidelines and how we went about It. Neuroendocrinology 84(3):155–157
- 3. Bosman FT, Carneiro F (2010) WHO classification of tumours, pathology and genetics of tumours of the digestive system. IARC Press, Lyon
- 4. Kulke MH et al (2010) NANETS treatment guidelines: well-differentiated neuroendocrine tumors of the stomach and pancreas. Pancreas 39(6):735–752
- Oberg K et al (2010) Neuroendocrine gastroenteropancreatic tumours: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol 21(Suppl 5):v223–v227

Index

A

Abdominal paraganglioma, 104, 106 ACC. See Adrenocortical carcinoma (ACC) Adjuvant external beam radiotherapy (EBRT), 369 Adrenal tumors imaging adrenocortical carcinoma, 99-101 phaeochromocytoma, 101-103 MEN1-related, 328-330 paraganglioma, 103-106 Adrenocortical carcinoma (ACC) chemotherapy, 411-412 clinical presentation and diagnosis, 405-406 CT. 99 epidemiology, 404 mitotane, 409-411 MRI, 99-101 pathogenesis, 404-405 pathology, 406-407 radiofrequency ablation, 413 radiotherapy, 412-413 staging, 407-408 targeted therapies, 413-414 treatment, 409 Afinitor®, 284–285 2009 AJCC-UICC TNM classification, digestive NETs appendix, 67 colon and rectum, 67 intestine, 66-67 pancreas, 66 stomach, 66 T categories, 65-66 Alternative lengthening of telomeres (ALT), 39.277 American Society for Clinical Oncology (ASCO), 565

Anaplastic thyroid cancer (ATC), 357–358, 380–381 Angiography, 111, 188, 243 Antibody-based therapy, 555 Appendiceal NETs, 72, 115, 173, 464–465 Arterial stimulation venous sampling (ASVS), 112 Asia Pacific Neuroendocrine Tumour Society (AP-NETS), 564 ATRX gene mutations, 38–39 Atypical bronchopulmonary carcinoids, 27 Atypical carcinoid syndrome, 443 Axitinib, 397

B

Banting, Frederick, 13, 14 Bayliss, William, 8 Best, Charles, 13, 14 Beta-hydroxybutyrate, 182 Bevacizumab, 543 Black, B.M., 16 Bronchial constriction, 452 Bronchial neuroendocrine tumours, 86, 112–113 Bronchopulmonary NETs, 27

С

Cabozantinib, 394–395 Capecitabine, 542 Carcinoids, 2 Carcinoid syndrome, 450 causes, 515–516 description, 513 diagnosis, 515 chromogranin A, 518 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid, 516–517 serotonin, 517

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015 S. Yalcin, K. Öberg (eds.), *Neuroendocrine Tumours: Diagnosis and Management*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-662-45215-8 Carcinoid syndrome (cont.) imaging, 518 management, 520 symptoms, 514-515 treatment, 519-520 Carcinoid tumors, 10-11, 144 Catecholaminergic and serotonergic pathways ¹¹C-5-hyroxytryptophan, 138-139 ¹⁸F-DOPA, 137–138 18F-FDG, 139 123/131I-MIBG, 138 Catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT), 423 CDKN2A gene codes, 41 CDKN1B, 40 CellSearch® platform, 91 Central nervous system (CNS) tumors, 319, 330 Chemoembolization, 289-290, 484 Chemotherapy, 286-287 combinations, 545 epidemiology and classification, 535-536 molecular targeted agents, 545-546 predictive value of MGMT expression, 544-545 response criteria, 536-537 streptozocin based ENETS guidelines, 541-542 foregut NETs, 541 pancreatic NET, 539-540 trials, 541 temozolomide based bevacizumab, 543 capecitabine, 542 everolimus, 543 metronomic, 544 thalidomide, 542 therapeutic considerations, 536 well-differentiated NEN, 537-538 doxorubicin, 538 5-fluorouracil, 538 streptozotocin, 538 temozolomide, 538-539 Chromatin immunoprecipitation sequencing (ChIP-Seq), 41 Chromogranin A (CgA), 203, 242, 424, 503, 518 ¹¹C-5-hyroxytryptophan, 138–139 CIMP-positive tumors, 41 Circulating biomarkers chromogranins, 79-83 circulating tumour cells, 91 human chorionic gonadotropin, 84 microRNAs, 89-91 neuron-specific enolase, 84 pancreastatin, 83

pancreatic polypeptide, 83-84 pro-gastrin-releasing peptide, 84-85 tumours and secretarial products, 86 bronchial and thymic NETs, 86-87 colorectal NETs, 88 gastro-duodenal NETs, 87 pancreatic NETs, 88-89 small intestinal neuroendocrine tumours, 87-88 Circulating tumour cells (CTCs), 91 CLARINET study, 282, 527, 564 Colonic NETs, 25, 173-175, 465-466 Colorectal NETs, 88 Computed tomography (CT), 186-187, 439 adrenocortical carcinoma, 99 liver metastases, 120 medullary thyroid cancer, 98 midgut neuroendocrine tumours, 115 - 117phaeochromocytoma, 102 pNET, 108-110 Corticosteroids, 507 Coxe, J.R., 11 C-peptide, 182-185 Cryotherapy, 478 64Cu-DOTATATE, 136-137 Cushing, Harvey, 12 Cushing's syndrome, 12-13 Cutaneous flushing, 451 Cutaneous lichen amyloidosis (CLA), 334 Cytokeratin fragments (CKfr), 85 Cytoreductive therapies, 288-289 embolization and chemoembolization, 289-290 radiofrequency ablation and radioembolization, 290 surgery, 289

D

DAXX gene mutations, 38–39
Differentiated thyroid carcinoma (DTC) adjuvant EBRT, 369
BRAF mutation, 357
genetic alterations, 357
metastatic disease (see Metastatic disease)
neck USG, 370
positron emission tomography, 370–373
postoperative RAI ablation therapy, 366–368
RAI scan, 369–371
serum Tg monitoring, 373
surgical management, 365–366
thyroglobulin, 358

TSH suppression, 368 WHO classification, distribution, and survival, 356-357 Diffuse endocrine cell system, 77 Diffuse idiopathic neuroendocrine cell hyperplasia (DIPNECH), 144 Digestive neuroendocrine tumours (DNETs) 2009 AJCC-UICC TNM classification appendix, 67 colon and rectum, 67 intestine, 66-67 pancreas, 66 stomach. 66 T categories, 65-66 categories, 63-64 characteristic histopathological features, 59 histological grading, 61-63 immunohistochemistry, 60 Ki-67 index, 61-63 morphology, 59-60 principle, 61 WHO 2010 classification categories, 63-64 histological grading, 61-63 Ki-67 index, 61-63 principle, 61 3,4-dihydroxyphenylalanine (DOPA), 423-424 Diphenylhydantoin, 190, 506 Distant metastases, 364 DNA methylation, 41 Doxorubicin, 538 Drug-induced hypoglycemia, 184 DTC. See Differentiated thyroid carcinoma (DTC) Duodenal NETs, 70-71, 169-171 gangliocytic paragangliomas, 445 PDNECs, 446 somatostatin-rich, 445

Е

Ellison, Edwin, 15 Embolization, 289–290, 484 Endogenous hyperinsulinism. *See* Noninsulinoma pancreatogenous hypoglycemia syndrome (NIPHS) Endoscopic ultrasound (EUS), 107–108, 187, 207 Endoscopy, 263, 439 Enterochromaffin (EC) cell, 9, 10 Enteroglucagon, 239 Epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), 44, 413 Erdheim, Jakob, 16 European Neuroendocrine Tumor Society (ENETS), 60, 65, 166, 183, 278, 280, 306, 437, 460, 464, 541–542, 564 European Society for Medical Oncology (ESMO), 565 Eustachius, Bartolomeo, 11 Everolimus, 4, 213, 274, 284–285, 543, 553–554 Extra-adrenal phaeochromocytoma. *See* Paragangliomas

F

Factitious hypoglycemia, 184–185 ¹⁸F-2-deoxy-D-glucose (FDG), 139 Feyrter, Friedrich, 11 Fine-needle aspiration cytology (FNAC), 391 First-line chemotherapy cisplatin/etoposide, 306-307 Ki-67, 308, 312 progression-free survival, 306 response rates, 308, 311 survival. 308-310 temozolomide-based chemotherapy, 308 ¹⁸F-L-dihydroxyphenylalanine (¹⁸F-DOPA), 137-138 5-Fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG)-positron emission tomography (PET), 2 5-fluorouracil, 538 Foregut NETs, 541 Frantz, Virginia K., 14 Functional pancreatic NETs, 2 Functional PET imaging, 440

G

68Ga-labeled PET tracers, 134-136 Gall bladder neuroendocrine tumours (GB-NETs), 171 Gamma camera imaging, somatostatin receptors, 132-133 Gangliocytic paragangliomas, 445 Gastric NETs, 113-115, 168-170, 440-441 Gastrinomas, 14-16, 53, 106, 445 clinical characteristics, 502 clinical features and diagnosis, 200, 202 - 203clinical manifestations and diagnosis, 321-322 description, 199-201 genetics, 205-206 imaging, 206-209 location of primary tumors, 204-205

Gastrinomas (cont.) management, 212-215, 323 prognosis and management, localized sporadic disease, 209-211 symptomatic treatment, 507 Gastro-duodenal NETs, 87 Gastroenteropancreatic NETs (GEP-NETs) histology of, 9-10 incidence, 24, 26 MEN-1 patients, 53 primary site, 24 Gastrointestinal NETs (GI-NETs), 2 appendix, 173 bronchial neuroendocrine tumours, 112 - 113classification, 166-167 colon, 173-175 duodenal NETs, 169-170 epidemiology, 165-166 gall bladder and extrahepatic bile ducts, 171 gastric NETs, 113-115, 168-170 hindgut NETs, 118-119 jejenum and ileum, 172 mesenteric masses, 117-118 midgut NETs, 115-117 oesophageal NETs, 167 rectal NETs, 175-176 thymic NETs, 113, 114 Gastrointestinal neuroendocrine axis, discovery of, 7-8 Gastrointestinal neuroendocrine carcinoma (GI-NEC) diagnosis histology, 300-303 procedures, 303-304 epidemiology, 300 palliative chemotherapy first-line chemotherapy, 306-312 second-line chemotherapy, 310-311 peptide receptor radiotherapy, 311-313 postoperative adjuvant chemotherapy, 306 somatostatin analogues, 311 surgery and neoadjuvant treatment, 304-305 Gastrointestinal tract-NETs (GT-NETs), 24 - 26GI-NEC. See Gastrointestinal neuroendocrine carcinoma (GI-NEC) Glucagonomas, 324 clinical features, 237-240, 503 diagnosis, 240-242 epidemiology, 234 histopathology, 234-236

history, 233-234 molecular pathogenesis, 234 pathophysiology, 236-237 prognosis and follow-up, 248-249 staging, 244 symptomatic treatment, 508 treatment, 245-248 tumour localization and diagnosis, 242-243 Glucagon test, 183 Glucose, 181 Goblet cell carcinoid, 72, 173 Gosset, A., 11 Grading system, NETs, 2, 255-256 Growth hormone-inhibiting hormone (GHIH). See Somatostatin

H

Hardy, William, 8 Head and neck paraganglioma, 104 Heart valve fibrosis, 451 Hereditary tumor syndromes, 51, 52, 404 Hindgut NETs, 118-119 Hirschsprung's disease (HSCR), 334 Hormonal symptoms management clinical characteristics gastrinoma, 502 glucagonoma, 503 insulinoma, 501-502 somatostatinoma, 503 VIPoma, 502 diagnostics biochemical, 503 imaging, 504 pathomorphological, 503-504 endoscopic treatment, 505 locoregional hepatic therapies, 505 pharmacological treatment chemotherapy, 508 symptomatic treatment, 505-508 targeted therapies, 508 radioisotope treatment, 509 surgical treatment, 504-505 Human chorionic gonadotropin (HCG), 84 5-Hydroxyindoleacetic acid (HIAA), 438, 516-517 Hypercortisolism, 11–13 Hyperglucagonemia, 237, 241 Hyperglycemia, 13-14, 236 Hyperinsulinemia, 13–14 Hypoaminoacidemia, 237, 238 Hypochlorhydria, 225

I

¹²³I-/¹³¹I-metaiodobenzylguanidine (MIBG), 138, 425 Ileal NETs, 70 Imatinib, 397 Inherited cancer-predisposition syndromes, 36 [111]In-pentetreotide scintigraphy (OctreoScan), 188, 426 Insulin, 13, 14, 181-182, 184-185 Insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1), 552-553, 557 Insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor (IGF-1R), 414 Insulinoma anatomical and functional imaging angiography, 188 computed tomography, 186-187 endoscopic ultrasound, 187 [111]in-pentetreotide scintigraphy, 188 intraoperative ultrasound, 187-188 laparoscopic intraoperative ultrasound, 187-188 magnetic resonance imaging, 187 positron emission tomography, 188 transabdominal ultrasound, 187 clinical characteristics, 180, 501-502 differential diagnosis hyperinsulinemic hypoglycemia, 184-185 reactive functional hypoglycemia, 183-184 histopathological diagnosis, 185-186 laboratory/biochemical diagnosis biomarkers, 182 C-peptide suppression test, 183 glucagon test, 183 plasma glucose and insulin concentrations, 181-182 prolonged (72 h) fast, 182-183 Whipple's triad, 180 medical therapy, 189-191 specific treatments, 191-192 surgical therapy, 189-190 symptomatic treatment, 506-507 Insulinomas, 106, 324 Interferon (IFN), 3, 282-283 Interferon-α (IFN-α), 248 mechanisms of action, 528-529 monotherapy, 529 SSAs. 529-530 Intermediate-grade NETs, 27 International Neuroendocrine Cancer Alliance (INCA), 565

Intraoperative ultrasound (IOUS), 187–188, 209 Islet cell tumors, 14, 15 Islets of Langerhans, 9 Itsenko, Nikolai, 13

J

Jejunal NETs, 70 Jejunoileal NETs, 172 Jejunoileal small intestinal NETs (Si-NETs) carcinoid syndrome, 450–452 clinical symptoms, 450 diagnosis, 453 enterochromaffin cells, 447 imaging, 452–453 limited intestinal segment, 449 longer ischaemic intestinal segment, 449 mesenteric metastasis, 448, 455 peritoneal carcinomatosis, 450, 458–460 primary tumour, 447 surgery, 453–455

K

Kulchitsky, Nikolai, 9

L

Laguesse, Edouard, 9 Langerhans, Paul, 9 Langhans, Theodor, 10 Lanreotide, 247 Laparoscopic intraoperative ultrasound, 187-188 Large-cell neuroendocrine carcinoma (LCNEC), 302-303 clinical presentation, 154 diagnosis, 154 pathology, 153-154 prognosis, 155 treatment, 154 Latin American Neuroendocrine Tumor Society (LANETS), 564 Limited-stage (LS) disease, 157 Liver-directed therapies indications, 484-485 radioembolization, 483-484 thermal ablative techniques cryotherapy, 478 microwave ablation, 478 radiofrequency ablation, 476-478 transarterial chemoembolization and bland embolization

Liver-directed therapies (cont.) complications, toxicity, and exclusion criteria, 482-483 rationale and results, 479 technical issues, 479-482 Liver metastases, 460-461 liver transplantation, 463 nonoperative management, 265-266 prophylaxis, 463 radiofrequency/microwave ablation, 462-463 resection, 265 surgery, 461-462 survival, 463-464 Locoregional hepatic therapies, 505 Lubarsch, Otto, 10 Lung neuroendocrine tumors carcinoid tumorlets, 144 large-cell neuroendocrine carcinoma, 153-155 lung carcinoids biotherapy, 151 chemotherapy, 151 clinical presentation, 147-148 diagnosis, 148-149 differential diagnosis, 149 epidemiology and etiology, 144 genetic alterations, 147 histopathology and immunohistochemistry, 145-147 pathology, 144-145 prognosis, 152-153 radiotherapy, 150-151 surgery, 150 targeted therapy, 151-152 neuroendocrine cell hyperplasia, 144 small-cell lung carcinoma (see Small-cell lung carcinoma (SCLC))

Μ

Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), 187, 439 adrenocortical carcinoma, 99–101 liver metastases, 120–121 medullary thyroid cancer, 98 phaeochromocytoma, 102–103 pNET, 110–111 Malignant paragangliomas, 428–429 Mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathway non-pancreatic NET, 555, 557 pancreatic NET, 553–554 Marfanoid habitus, 336 Masson, P., 11 Matrix metalloproteinase type 2 (MMP2), 405 Medullary thyroid cancer (MTC), 37, 98, 340, 357-358 clinical presentation, 391 diagnosis, 391-392 genetic basis, 389-391 treatment axitinib, 397 cabozantinib, 394-395 conventional chemotherapy, 393-394 imatinib, 397 motesanib, 397 pazopanib, 397 radiotherapy, 393 somatostatin analogues, 394 sorafenib, 396 sunitinib, 397 surgery, 392-393 vandetanib, 395-396 Menin, 36-37 Mesenteric masses, 117-118 Metastatic disease, 373-374 bone metastases, 121 ¹³¹I RAI therapy, 374–378 liver metastases CT, 120 MRI, 120-121 ultrasound, 119-120 lung metastases, 121 lymph node metastases, 121 redifferentiation therapy, 379-380 response to treatment, 122 surgery, EBRT, and supportive therapy, 379 systemic treatment, 378-379 Metronomic TMZ, 544 MicroRNA deregulation, 42-43 Microwave ablation (MWA), 462-463, 478 Midgut carcinoids, 87-88. See also Jejunoileal small intestinal NETs (Si-NETs) Midgut neuroendocrine tumours, 115-117 Mitotane, 409-411 Mixed adenoneuroendocrine carcinomas (MANECs), 64 Molecular biology, NETs clinicotherapeutic management, 35 epigenetic changes, 41 hereditary syndromes, 36-38 microRNA deregulation, 42-43 next-generation sequencing, 38-40 signaling pathways, 43-44 Motesanib, 397

MTC. See Medullary thyroid cancer (MTC) Mucosal neuromas, 335 Multiple endocrine neoplasia (MEN), 16-17 Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1), 36 adrenal tumors, 319, 328-330 central nervous system tumors, 319, 330 clinical phenotype, 52-53 Clinical Practice Guidelines, 54 cutaneous manifestations, 319, 330 and DAXX/ATRX gene mutations, 53 description, 51 gastric NET, 54 genetic testing and screening gene, 330 gene polymorphisms, 331 germline mutations, 330-331 mutational analysis, 331-332 tumors identification, 332 tumor somatic mutations, 331 variants, 331 lung NET, 53 neuroendocrine tumors, 319, 328 pancreatic islet cell neuroendocrine tumors gastrinomas, 321-323 glucagonomas, 324 insulinomas, 324 NF PNETS, 325-326 VIPomas, 324-325 pituitary tumors, 319, 326-327 prevalence, 52 primary hyperparathyroidism clinical features and diagnosis, 318 - 320treatment, 320-321 surgical therapy, 276 thymic NET, 53 thyroid tumors, 330 Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2 (MEN2), 37, 332-333 clinical presentation, 333-336 molecular genetic testing, 339-340 MTC, 336, 337 patient surveillance, 340 pheochromocytoma, 336-338 PHPT, 336, 338 prevention, 338-339

Ν

National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN), 565 Nervism concept, 7, 8 Neural cell adhesion molecule CD56 (NCAM), 60 Neuroendocrine cell hyperplasia, 144 Neuroendocrine neoplasms (NEN), 59-60. See also Digestive neuroendocrine tumours (DNETs) Neuroendocrine tumors (NETs), 319, 328 appendiceal, 464-465 atypical carcinoid syndrome, 443 classification, 437 clinical symptoms, 3 colon, 465-466 computed tomography, 439 diagnosis, 438, 443-444 drug targets and targeted therapies, 557, 559 duodenal gangliocytic paragangliomas, 445 PDNECs, 446 somatostatin-rich, 445 endoscopy, 439 epidemiology age and gender, 28-29 frequency, 23, 24 genetics and family history, 29 incidence, 23, 24 occupational risks, 29 race and ethnicity, 29 survival rates, 23, 24, 28 epidermal growth factor receptor, 552 FDG-PET. 2 features, 551-552 follow-up, 4 functional PET imaging, 440 gastric, 440-441 gastrinoma, 445 grade 1 and 2, WHO classification, 63 grading system, 2 histopathologic characteristics, 2 history carcinoid tumors, 10-11 gastrinoma, 14-16 gastrointestinal neuroendocrine axis, discovery of, 7-8 GEP neuroendocrine system, histology of, 9-10 hypercortisolism, 11-13 hyperglycemia, 13-14 hyperinsulinemia, 13-14 multiple endocrine neoplasia, 16 - 17incidence, 1 insulin-like growth factor 1, 552-553 jejunoileal small intestinal

Neuroendocrine tumors (NETs) (cont.) carcinoid syndrome, 450-452 clinical symptoms, 450 diagnosis, 453 enterochromaffin cells, 447 imaging, 452-453 limited intestinal segment, 449 longer ischaemic intestinal segment, 449 mesenteric metastases, 448, 455-458 peritoneal carcinomatosis, 450, 458-460 primary tumour, 447 surgery, 453-455 liver metastases, 460-461 liver transplantation, 463 prophylaxis, 463 radiofrequency/microwave ablation, 462-463 surgery, 461-462 survival, 463-464 magnetic resonance imaging, 439 mTOR pathway, 553 oesophageal, 440 pancreatic, 446-447 plasma chromogranin A, 438 prevalence, 1 rectal presentation and diagnosis, 466-467 recommendations, 468 surgical treatment, 467-468 signalling pathways, 557, 559 somatostatin receptor scintigraphy, 439 surgical techniques, 3 surgical treatment, 444 systemic chemotherapy, 4 type 1 gastric, 441 type 2 gastric, 441-442 type 3 gastric, 442-443 urinary 5-hydroxyindole-acetic acid, 438 VEGF-driven angiogenesis, 552 WHO classification, 63-64 Neurofibromatosis type 1 (NF1), 38, 55 Neurofibromin, 38, 55, 252 Neuron-specific enolase (NSE), 84 Next-generation sequencing (NGS), 38-40 Nonfunctioning-pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors (NF-PNETs) classification and staging, 278-279 clinical manifestations and diagnosis, 325 clinical trials, 291-292 cytoreductive therapies, 288-289

embolization and chemoembolization. 289 - 290radiofrequency ablation and radioembolization, 290 surgery, 289 epidemiology and genetics, 275-276 follow-up, 290-291 management, 325-326 medical therapies, 281 chemotherapy, 286-287 everolimus, 284-285 interferon, 282-283 somatostatin analogs, 282 sunitinib, 285 molecular biology, 277 peptide receptor radionuclide therapy, 287 - 288prognostic and predictive factors, 279 surgical therapy MEN1 syndrome, 280-281 partial pancreatectomy, 279 tumor enucleation, 279-280 Noninsulinoma pancreatogenous hypoglycemia syndrome (NIPHS), 185 Non-pancreatic NET molecular targeted drugs, 557, 558 mTOR pathway, inhibitors of, 555, 557 VEGF receptor signalling, inhibitors of, 557 Nonspecific abdominal pain, 239 Normochromic-normocytic anemia, 240 North American Neuroendocrine Tumor Society (NANETS), 564 Nuclear medicine imaging catecholaminergic and serotonergic pathways ¹¹C-5-hyroxytryptophan, 138–139 ¹⁸F-DOPA, 137–138 18F-FDG, 139 123/131I-MIBG, 138 PET/SPECT imaging, 133-134 somatostatin receptors (see Somatostatin receptors)

0

Oberndorfer, Siegfried, 10–11 OctreoScan®, 453 Octreotide, 247 Oesophageal NETs, 167, 440 O⁶-methylguanine DNA methyltransferase (MGMT), 41, 310, 539, 544–545 Operative resection, primary tumour, 263–265 curative resection, 264 debulking, 264–265 palliative resection, 264

Р

Palliative chemotherapy first-line chemotherapy cisplatin/etoposide, 306-307 Ki-67, 308, 312 progression-free survival, 306 response rates, 308, 311 survival, 308-310 temozolomide-based chemotherapy, 308 second-line chemotherapy, 310-311 Pancreastatin (PST), 83 Pancreatic cholera, 225 Pancreatic NETs, 2, 26-27, 88-89, 446-447, 539-540 angiography, 111 arterial stimulation venous sampling, 112 clinical features and prognosis, 272-273 CT, 108-110 diagnosis, 273 functional tumours, 67 gastrinomas, 321-323 glucagonomas, 67-68, 324 insulinomas, 324 magnetic resonance imaging, 110-111 medical treatment, 274 microadenomas, 68, 69 molecular targeted drugs, 555, 556 mTOR pathway, inhibitors of, 553-554 NF PNETS, 325-326 non-functioning tumours, 67 somatic mutations in, 551, 552 surgery, 273 transhepatic portal-venous sampling, 112 ultrasound endoscopic, 107-108 intraoperative, 108 transabdominal, 107 VEGF receptor signalling, inhibitors of, 554-555 in VHL disease, 68 VIPomas, 324-325 Pancreatic polypeptide (PP), 83-84, 242 Pan-SEER analysis, 174 Papillary thyroid carcinoma (PTC), 334 Paragangliomas (PGLs) abdominal, 104, 106 clinical presentation, 420-421 diagnosis

anatomical and functional imaging, 424-427 biochemistry, 423-424 etiology, 422-423 genetic testing, 429 head and neck, 104 malignant, 428-429 pathology, 419-420 spectrum of hereditary syndromes, 421-422 thoracic, 104 treatment, 426-428 Pasireotide, 528 Pavlov, Ivan, 7-8 Pazopanib, 397 Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy (PRRT), 150, 263, 564 contraindications, 494 gastrointestinal neuroendocrine carcinoma, 311-313 imaging, 496-497 indications, 492 indium-111-labelled octreotide, 491 outcomes response, 497-498 side effects and toxicity, 498-499 survival, 498 pancreatic NETs, 287-288 patient preparation, 495 selection and eligibility, 493-494 precautions, 494 rationale, 492 therapeutic dose assessment, 494-495 treatment regimens, 496 Peritoneal carcinomatosis, 458-460 PGLs. See Paragangliomas (PGLs) Phaeochromocytoma CT. 102 MRI, 102-103 ultrasound, 102 Phenylethanolamine-N-methyltransferase (PNMT), 423 Pheochromocytomas (PCC), 333-335, 342. See also Paragangliomas (PGLs) PI3K/Akt/mTOR signaling pathway, 43 Pituitary basophilism, 12 Pituitary tumors, 319, 326-327 Plasma chromogranin A (CgA), 438 pNET. See Pancreatic NETs Poorly differentiated duodenal neuroendocrine carcinomas (PDNECs), 446 Positron emission tomography (PET), 188, 263.453

Positron emission tomography with F-18: fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG-PET), 370-373 Postoperative adjuvant chemotherapy, 306 Postoperative RAI ablation therapy, 366-368 PPoma, 228-231 Primary hyperparathyroidism (PHPT), 334, 336, 338, 340 clinical features and diagnosis, 318-320 treatment, 320-321 Proinsulin, 182, 184-185 Prolyl hydroxylase (PHD), 422-423 PROMID study, 564 Prophylactic thyroidectomy, 338-339 PRRT. See Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy (PRRT)

R

Radioembolization, 290, 483–484 Radiofrequency ablation (RFA), 290, 413, 476–478 Radioimmunoassay technique, 15 Ransom, William, 10 *RASSF1A* tumor suppressor gene, 41 Reactive functional hypoglycemia, 183–184 Recombinant human TSH (rhTSH), 377–378 Rectal NETs, 71–72, 175–176 presentation and diagnosis, 466–467 recommendations, 468 surgical treatment, 467–468 Regional lymph node metastases, 364 Richards, Victor, 15–16

S

Sailer, S.Z., 14 Schneider, C.V., 11 Secretory diarrhoea, 451 Selective angiography with secretin injection (SASI), 207 Serotonin, 517 Sipple, John H., 17 Sipple syndrome, 17. See also Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2 (MEN2) Small bowel NETs, 24 Small-cell lung carcinoma (SCLC) clinical presentation, 157 diagnosis, 157 electron microscopy, 156 epidemiology and etiology, 155 genetic alterations, 156–157 immunohistochemistry, 155-156 light microscopy, 155, 156 prognosis, 158

staging, 157 treatment, 158 Small-cell neuroendocrine carcinoma (SCNEC), 302 Small intestinal NETs (SI NETs), 40, 87 - 88appendix, 72 colon/rectum, 71-72 duodenum, 70-71 ileum, 70 jejunum, 70 Somatostatin analogs (SSAs), 3, 247, 262, 282.394 antiproliferative mechanisms above-label doses, 527-528 clinical evidence, 526-527 direct. 525-526 indirect, 526 antisecretory agents, 524 bowel motility and absorption, 523 long-acting repeatable depot formulation, 524 pasireotide, 528 physiological actions, 523-524 treatment and prophylaxis, 525 Somatostatinoma associations, 252 biochemistry, 253 clinical characteristics, 503 incidence, 252 investigation, 257 biochemical and haematological assessment, 258 endoscopy, 263 intraoperative techniques, 263 nuclear medicine imaging, 262-263 radiological imaging, 258-262 management liver metastases, 265-266 medical, 262 operative, 263-265 peptide receptor radionuclide therapy, 263 traditional oncological treatments, 262-263 pathology differentiation, 255 grading, 255-256 immunohistochemistry, 255 macroscopic, 254 microscopic, 254-255 presentation, 256–257 staging, 256-257 surveillance, 266 symptomatic treatment, 508

Somatostatinoma syndrome, 257 Somatostatin receptors gamma camera imaging, 132-133 PET-based imaging 64Cu-DOTATATE, 136 68Ga-labeled PET tracers, 134-136 Somatostatin receptor scintigraphy (SRS), 262, 304, 439 Somatostatin receptor scintigraphy combined with computed tomography (SPECT), 262-263 Somatostatin-rich NETs, 445 Somatotropin release-inhibiting factor (SRIF). See Somatostatin Sorafenib, 396 Src family non-receptor tyrosine kinases, 43-44 sst5TMD4, 43 Starling, Ernest, 8 Steroidogenic factor 1, 414 Streptozocin based chemotherapy ENETS guidelines, 541-542 foregut NETs, 541 pancreatic NET, 539-540 trials, 541 Streptozotocin, 538 Sunitinib, 246, 274, 285, 397, 555 Sutent®, 285

Т

Temozolomide (TMZ) based chemotherapy, 538-539 bevacizumab, 543 capecitabine, 542 everolimus, 543 metronomic, 544 thalidomide, 542 Temsirolimus, 553 Thalidomide, 542 Thermal ablative techniques cryotherapy, 478 microwave ablation, 478 radiofrequency ablation, 476-478 Thoracic paraganglioma, 104 Thymic carcinoids, 87 Thymic neuroendocrine tumours, 113, 114 Thyroglobulin, 373 Thyroid cancer, 330 anaplastic thyroid cancer, 357-358, 380-381 diagnosis, 357, 359-361 differentiated adjuvant EBRT, 369 BRAF mutation, 357

FDG-PET. 370-373 genetic alterations, 357 metastatic disease (see Metastatic disease) neck USG, 370 postoperative RAI ablation therapy, 366-368 RAI scan. 369-371 serum Tg monitoring, 373 surgical management, 365-366 thyroglobulin, 358 TSH suppression, 368 WHO classification, distribution, and survival, 356-357 etiology dietary factors, 355 external radiation, 354-355 familial-hereditary factors, 355 TSH. 355 medullary thyroid carcinoma, 357-358 squamous carcinoma, 358 staging and prognosis age and sex, 361 distant metastases, 364 extent of surgery, 364 five-year survival rates, 361, 363 regional lymph node metastases, 364 TNM staging, 361-362 tumor characteristics, 356, 361, 363 tumor invasion, 363 thyroid lymphoma, 358 thyroid sarcoma, 358 Thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH), 355, 368 Transabdominal ultrasound, 187 Transarterial chemoembolization and bland embolization complications, toxicity, and exclusion criteria, 482-483 rationale and results, 479 technical issues, 479-482 Transhepatic portal-venous sampling (TSPVS), 112 Tuberous sclerosis (TS), 38 Tuberous sclerosis complex (TSC), 55, 276 Typical bronchopulmonary carcinoids, 27 Tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKI) axitinib. 397 cabozantinib, 394-395 imatinib, 397 motesanib, 397 pazopanib, 397 sorafenib, 396 sunitinib, 397 vandetanib, 395-396

U

Ultrasound liver metastases, 119–120 pancreatic endocrine tumours endoscopic ultrasound, 107–108 intraoperative ultrasound, 108 transabdominal ultrasound, 107 phaeochromocytoma, 102 Underdahl, L., 16 Unrelenting weight loss, 239 Urinary 5-hydroxyindole-acetic acid (5-HIAA), 438

V

Vandetanib, 395–396 Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), 413 receptor signalling, inhibitors of non-pancreatic NET, 557 pancreatic NET, 554–555 signaling pathway, 44 Vasoactive intestinal polypeptide (VIP), 225 Verapamil, 506 VIPomas biochemical indicators, 226 clinical characteristics, 225–226, 502 diagnosis, 226–227, 324 epidemiology, 223–224 management, 325 molecular mechanisms, 224–225 symptomatic treatment, 507 treatment options, 227–228 von Hippel–Lindau (VHL) disease, 37, 54–55, 276 von Recklinghausen disease. *See* Neurofibromatosis type 1 (NF1)

W

Well-differentiated gastric NETs, 68–70
Well-differentiated low-grade NETs, 27
Well-differentiated neuroendocrine neoplasms, 537–538
doxorubicin, 538
5-fluorouracil, 538
streptozotocin, 538
temozolomide, 538–539
Wermer, Paul, 16–17
Wermer's syndrome, 52. See also Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1)
Whipple, Allen O., 14
Whipple's triad, 14, 180
Woolner, L., 16

Z

Zollinger, Robert, 15 Zollinger–Ellison syndrome (ZES), 15, 87